

Special Issue Reprint

Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency

Methods and Strategies for the Future

Edited by Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

mdpi.com/journal/plants



Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency–Methods and Strategies for the Future

Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency–Methods and Strategies for the Future

Editors

Przemysław Barłóg Jim Moir Lukáš Hlisnikovský Xinhua He



Basel • Beijing • Wuhan • Barcelona • Belgrade • Novi Sad • Cluj • Manchester

Editors Przemysław Barłóg Poznan University of Life Sciences Poznan, Poland

Xinhua He University of Western Australia Perth, Australia Jim Moir Lincoln University Christchurch, New Zealand Lukáš Hlisnikovský Crop Research Institute Prague, Czech Republic

Editorial Office MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel, Switzerland

This is a reprint of articles from the Special Issue published online in the open access journal *Plants* (ISSN 2223-7747) (available at: https://www.mdpi.com/journal/plants/special_issues/Fertilizer_Use_Efficiency).

For citation purposes, cite each article independently as indicated on the article page online and as indicated below:

Lastname, A.A.; Lastname, B.B. Article Title. Journal Name Year, Volume Number, Page Range.

ISBN 978-3-0365-9582-5 (Hbk) ISBN 978-3-0365-9583-2 (PDF) doi.org/10.3390/books978-3-0365-9583-2

© 2023 by the authors. Articles in this book are Open Access and distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. The book as a whole is distributed by MDPI under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND) license.

Contents

About the Editors
Przemysław Barłóg Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency—Methods and Strategies for the Future Reprinted from: Plants 2023, 12, 3658, doi:10.3390/plants12203658 1
Witold Grzebisz, Jean Diatta, Przemysław Barłóg, Maria Biber, Jarosław Potarzycki, Remigiusz Łukowiak, et al.Soil Fertility Clock—Crop Rotation as a Paradigm in Nitrogen Fertilizer Productivity Control Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022, <i>11</i> , 2841, doi:10.3390/plants1121284113
Przemysław Barłóg, Witold Grzebisz and Remigiusz Łukowiak Fertilizers and Fertilization Strategies Mitigating Soil Factors Constraining Efficiency of Nitrogen in Plant Production Reprinted from: Plants 2022, 11, 1855, doi:10.3390/plants11141855 43
Przemysław Barłóg, Remigiusz Łukowiak and Lukáš HlisnikovskýBand Phosphorus and Sulfur Fertilization as Drivers of Efficient Management of Nitrogen ofMaize (<i>Zea mays</i> L.)Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022, <i>11</i> , 1660, doi:10.3390/plants1113166079
Fengmin Shen, Changwei Zhu, Guiying Jiang, Jin Yang, Xuanlin Zhu, Shiji Wang, et al.Differentiation in Nitrogen Transformations and Crop Yield as Affected by Tillage Modes in aFluvo-Aquic SoilReprinted from: Plants 2023, 12, 783, doi:10.3390/plants12040783
Hemat Mahmood, Jian Cai, Qin Zhou, Xiao Wang, Allan Samo, Mei Huang, et al. Optimizing Nitrogen and Seed Rate Combination for Improving Grain Yield and Nitrogen Uptake Efficiency in Winter Wheat Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 1745, doi:10.3390/plants11131745
Rahmat Budiarto, Roedhy Poerwanto, Edi Santosa, Darda Efendi and Andria Agusta Agro-Physiological Traits of Kaffir Lime in Response to Pruning and Nitrogen Fertilizer under Mild Shading Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2023 , <i>12</i> , 1155, doi:10.3390/plants12051155
Tanmoy Shankar, Ganesh Chandra Malik, Mahua Banerjee, Sudarshan Dutta, Sagar Maitra, Subhashisa Praharaj, et al.Productivity and Nutrient Balance of an Intensive Rice–Rice Cropping System Are Influenced by Different Nutrient Management in the Red and Lateritic Belt of West Bengal, India Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021, 10, 1622, doi:10.3390/plants10081622
Lukáš Hlisnikovský, Ladislav Menšík and Eva Kunzová The Effect of Soil-Climate Conditions, Farmyard Manure and Mineral Fertilizers on Potato Yield and Soil Chemical Parameters Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021 , <i>10</i> , 2473, doi:10.3390/plants10112473
Lukáš Hlisnikovský, Peter Ivičic, Przemysław Barłóg, Witold Grzebisz, Ladislav Menšík and Eva Kunzová The Effects of Weather and Fertilization on Grain Yield and Stability of Winter Wheat Growing on Orthic Luvisol—Analysis of Long-Term Field Experiment Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 1825, doi:10.3390/plants11141825

Witold Grzebisz, Karolina Frąckowiak, Tomasz Spiżewski and Katarzyna Przygocka-Cyna Does Elemental Sulfur Act as an Effective Measure to Control the Seasonal Growth Dynamics of Potato Tubers (<i>Solanum tuberosum</i> L.)? Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 248, doi:10.3390/plants11030248
Jiayu Hu, Yang Yang, Hongyan Zhang, Yuhao Li, Shuhong Zhang, Xinhua He, et al. Reduction in Nitrogen Rate and Improvement of Nitrogen Use Efficiency without Loss of Peanut Yield by Regional Mean Optimal Rate of Chemical Fertilizer Based on a Multi-Site Field Experiment in the North China Plain
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2023 , <i>12</i> , 1326, doi:10.3390/plants12061326 223
Petr Škarpa, Marie Školníková, Jiří Antošovský, Pavel Horký, Iva Smýkalová, Jiří Horáček, et al.
Response of Normal and Low-Phytate Genotypes of Pea (<i>Pisum sativum</i> L.) on Phosphorus Foliar Fertilization
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021 , <i>10</i> , 1608, doi:10.3390/plants10081608
Petr Škarpa, Jiří Antošovský, Pavel Ryant, Tereza Hammerschmiedt, Antonín Kintl and Martin Brtnický
Using Waste Sulfur from Biogas Production in Combination with Nitrogen Fertilization of Maize (<i>Zea mays</i> L.) by Foliar Application
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021 , <i>10</i> , 2188, doi:10.3390/plants10102188
Jarosław Potarzycki, Witold Grzebisz and Witold Szczepaniak Magnesium Fertilization Increases Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Winter Wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> L.)
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 2600, doi:10.3390/plants11192600
Endre Kentelky and Zsolt Szekely-Varga Impact of Foliar Fertilization on Growth, Flowering, and Corms Production of Five <i>Gladiolus</i>
Varieties Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021 , <i>10</i> , 1963, doi:10.3390/plants10091963
Petr Škarpa, Dominika Mikušová, Jiří Antošovský, Milan Kučera and Pavel Ryant Oil-Based Polymer Coatings on CAN Fertilizer in Oilseed Rape (<i>Brassica napus</i> L.) Nutrition Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2021 , <i>10</i> , 1605, doi:10.3390/plants10081605
Tainah Freitas, Lucas Bartelega, César Santos, Mateus Portes Dutra, Leonardo Fernandes Sarkis, Rubens José Guimarães, et al.
Technologies for Fertilizers and Management Strategies of N-Fertilization in Coffee Cropping Systems to Reduce Ammonia Losses by Volatilization
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022, 11, 3323, doi:10.3390/plants11233323
Bruno Maia Abdo Rahmen Cassim, Marcos Renan Besen, Wagner Deckij Kachinski, Celso Rafael Macon, João Henrique Vieira de Almeida Junior, Rodrigo Sakurada, et al. Nitrogen Fertilizers Technologies for Corn in Two Yield Environments in South Brazil
Keprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 1890, doi:10.3390/plants11141890
Xinna Liu, Jie Zhang, Qian Wang, Tingting Chang, Hiba Shaghaleh and Yousef Alhaj Hamoud
Improvement of Photosynthesis by Biochar and Vermicompost to Enhance Tomato (<i>Solanum lucongresium</i> L) Yield under Groenhouse Conditions
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 3214, doi:10.3390/plants11233214

vi

Talles de Oliveira Santos, Fábio Tomaz de Oliveira, Antônio Teixeira do Amaral Junior, Janeo
Eustáquio de Almeida Filho, Rosimeire Barboza Bispo, Marta Simone Mendonça de Freitas,
et al.
Additive and Non-Additive Effects on the Control of Key Agronomic Traits in Popcorn Lines
under Contrasting Phosphorus Conditions
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 2216, doi:10.3390/plants11172216
César Santos, Marcelo Ribeiro Malta, Mariana Gabriele Marcolino Gonçalves, Flávio Meira
Borém, Adélia Aziz Alexandre Pozza, Herminia Emilia Prieto Martinez, et al.
Chloride Applied via Fertilizer Affects Plant Nutrition and Coffee Quality
Reprinted from: <i>Plants</i> 2023, <i>12</i> , 885, doi:10.3390/plants12040885

About the Editors

Przemysław Barłóg

Dr. Przemysław Barłóg has been working at the Poznan University of Life Sciences in Poland for 30 years as an academic teacher and scientist. Currently, he works as a professor in the Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry. Under his supervision, more than 100 students have achieved a Master of Sciences (Msc) degree and three students have achieved a PhD in the field of soil fertilization, plant nutrition, and environmental protection. Dr. Przemysław Barłóg is the author of more than 100 original, peer-reviewed scientific papers, most of which are indexed in world databases such as Scopus. He is also the author of numerous monographs and popular articles concerning the basis of crop plant nutrition and fertilization, addressed to students and advisory staff in agriculture.

Jim Moir

My research focus is soil fertility based, investigating nutrient cycling in grazed grasslands, including plant nutrition. My research expertise is in nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) cycling and soil pH (acidity) issues in soil/plant/animal systems. My aim is to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our grassland farming systems, towards the future sustainability of grazed grasslands. In collaboration with colleagues at Qinghai University I am working on a key project examining nutrient flows and sustainability issues in high altitude Chinese and New Zealand grasslands. In China, we work on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau, which is under high grazing pressure from farmers and threatened by severe degradation as a result. This is the largest grassland. This project aims to increase knowledge of these systems to improve the quality and long-term sustainability of grazed grasslands.

Lukáš Hlisnikovský

Lukáš Hlisnikovský works as a plant nutrition scientist. His focus is on long-term experiments. In these, he studies how different fertilization methods, sowing practices, and weather affect the yield and quality of the crops grown. His interests also include the study of the effect of fertilization on soil chemistry.

Xinhua He

Xinhua He is currently Professor at Sichuan Agricultural University, China, Research Professor at UC Davis and Adjunct Professor at University of Western Australia (UWA). After his PhD study at University of Queensland/Australia in 2002, Xinhua has then worked as Postdoctoral Fellow at UC Davis, University of Tokyo, and UWA; Research Scientist at USDA's Forest Service; and Associate Professor at UWA and University of Sydney. Xinhua has been focusing on carbon and nitrogen cycling in plant-soil-microbe systems, soil beneficial microbes in plant/soil health and interplant C/N movement under global environmental change scenarios, by employing routine ecophysiological and microbial approaches, ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotopes, and high-throughput sequencing, etc.. He has been serving as editorial board/organizing committee members for diverse international peer-reviewed journals/conferences. At present Xinhua has >250 journal papers with 9,400 citations.





Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency—Methods and Strategies for the Future

Przemysław Barłóg

Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 71F, 60-625 Poznan, Poland; przemyslaw.barlog@up.poznan.pl; Tel.: +48-618-48-77-93

Abstract: This editorial introduces our Special Issue entitled "Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency-Methods and Strategies for the Future". The fertilizer use efficiency (FUE) is a measure of the potential of an applied fertilizer to increase the productivity and utilization of the nutrients present in the soil/plant system. FUE indices are mainly used to assess the effectiveness of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) fertilization. This is due to the low efficiency of use of NPK fertilizers, their environmental side effects and also, in relation to P, limited natural resources. The FUE is the result of a series of interactions between the plant genotype and the environment, including both abiotic and biotic factors. A full recognition of these factors is the basis for proper fertilization in farming practice, aimed at maximizing the FUE. This Special Issue focuses on some key topics in crop fertilization. Due to specific goals, they can be grouped as follows: removing factors that limit the nutrient uptake of plants; improving and/or maintaining an adequate soil fertility; the precise determination of fertilizer doses and application dates; foliar application; the use of innovative fertilizers; and the adoption of efficient genotypes. The most important nutrient in crop production is N. Hence, most scientific research focuses on improving the nitrogen use efficiency (NUE). Obtaining high NUE values is possible, but only if the plants are well supplied with nitrogen-supporting nutrients. In this Special Issue, particular attention is paid to improving the plant supply with P and K.

Keywords: ammonia volatilization; controlled-release fertilizers; crop genotypes; elemental sulfur; magnesium; nitrogen use efficiency indices; phosphorus; potassium; root architecture; sustainability; Soil Fertility Clock

1. Introduction—Why Fertilizer Use Efficiency Should Be Improved

According to forecasts, 9.7 billion people will be living on Earth by 2050, and about 10.4 billion by 2100 [1]. Right now, the world has the resources to feed a population of 8 billion. It is, therefore, necessary to seek optimal solutions in both the political and economic areas in order to solve the problem of the ever-growing demand for food. The expansion of agricultural areas at the expense of forests or shrubs, or even barren lands, either requires too much investment or is too risky in terms of the environment and the functioning of the global ecosystem [2-4]. Hence, the only rational direction for agricultural development is to maximize yields from the area already covered by agricultural activity [5,6]. There are some factors that are considered crucial in activities towards yield increase: breeding progress, the effective use of mineral fertilizers and crop protection measures, and farmers and their advisers having sufficient knowledge and skills [7]. The consumption of nitrogen fertilizers plays a special role in achieving this objective [8]. Mogollon et al. [9] presented several simulations showing that the global N input in agriculture in 2050 may fluctuate widely, ranging from 87 to 260 Tg N yr $^{-1}$. One of the main factors differentiating the above range is the nitrogen use efficiency (NUE). Currently, it is assumed that recovery of N from applied fertilizers is at the low level of just 30–50% [10]. As a result, N that is not taken up by plants is dispersed into the environment, reducing the economic profitability of agricultural production and, at the

Citation: Barlóg, P. Improving Fertilizer Use Efficiency—Methods and Strategies for the Future. *Plants* 2023, 12, 3658. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants12203658

Received: 4 October 2023 Revised: 10 October 2023 Accepted: 16 October 2023 Published: 23 October 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). same time, causing a number of adverse changes in the functioning of the biosphere. The most important of these concern such phenomena as greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions, the destruction of the ozone layer, the eutrophication of the environment, or the impoverishment of ecosystems in plant and animal species [11]. An increase in the NUE value can be achieved through the improvement of N fertilization technology, including the use of innovative solutions in the production technology and chemical composition of fertilizers [12]. An important factor shaping the NUE is the presence of appropriate amounts and forms of minerals in the soil, which support the uptake and processing of N into plant crops [7]. This objective can be achieved using P, K, Mg, S, and other fertilizers, separately, or together with N in compound fertilizers. Hence, the term "NUE" can be extended to include the concept of fertilizer use efficiency (FUE). Such a definition allows for a broader approach to the issues related to the effectiveness of the application of all fertilizers and is not limited to only one nutrient. The aim of this Special Issue is to present the latest knowledge and research results regarding the improvement of the FUE/NUE in the cultivation of various plant species.

2. Special Issue Overview—General Topics

2.1. Factors Effecting Fertilizer Use Efficiency (FUE)

The first chapter of the Special Issue comprises two papers that focus on factors limiting the uptake and use of nutrients from fertilizers by crops, as well as on the present strategies and prospects for improving fertilizer use efficiency [12]. The term fertilizer use efficiency (FUE) is not new. It has been widely used for decades, but has become widespread thanks to the use of the FUE indices to assess the global productivity of NPK fertilizers. The number of indices used to characterize the FUE is vast, and their choice depends on the purpose of the analysis and/or comparisons [10,13]. The first article in the presented series of publications shows the concepts and principles of calculating a relatively new index, which is the nitrogen gap (NG). The NG calculation is important for the identification of hotspots in N management for a given crop, including the inadequate supply of nutrients other than N and a set of activities needed to improve the level of soil fertility for a given crop [14,15]. The impact of soil factors on the FUE should be considered as several groups of phenomena and processes [12]. The first group refers to factors affecting the nutrient uptake. However, there is a major challenge for a farmer to synchronize the crop plant requirement for nutrients with their supply from both soil and applied fertilizers. Achieving this goal requires extensive knowledge of plant growth dynamics and the critical phases of crop formation. After recognizing the nutritional requirements of plants, another area of activities aimed at improving the FUE is to create optimal conditions for plant root growth and eliminate all factors limiting the inflow of nutrients to the root surfaces. The most important soil factors shaping the uptake of nutrients and the FUE are the soil texture, water content, soil compaction, temperature, soil reaction, salinity, soil organic matter, and nutrient shortage [12]. Among them, the soil compaction and pH are relatively easy to correct in agricultural practices. The presented literature shows that FUE values can be shaped by building appropriate root architecture (RSA) in crops. This is possible by applying proper fertilization with N and K [16]. Another way to improve the FUE is the use of new and innovative fertilizers [12].

The second overview article presents the concept of effective fertilization, defined as the Soil Fertility Clock (SFC) [7]. At the core of this concept, there are three basic facts: (i) a crop plant in a well-defined geographic area, provided with stable environmental and nutritional conditions, can reach maximum yield (Y_{max}); (ii) the key production factor is N, present in the soil or/and supplied to the plant as fertilizer (organic and mineral, N_f); (iii) all other nutrients, called nitrogen-supporting nutrients (N-SNs), affect the Y_{max} , in relation to their relative deficiency in available form in the plant rooting zone. The classic concepts of N-SNs do not take into account that crop plants differ in their sensitivity to the supply of N-SNs in two crucial aspects: during the growing season and in the course of crop rotation. The Soil Fertility Clock (SFC) is an approach based on three assumptions: (i) the critical soil fertility is the value or range of soil nutrient content that is sufficient to provide an appropriate amount to the plant most sensitive to its supply in a given crop rotation; (ii) the non-sensitive plants in the given crop rotation create the necessary timeframe for the recovery of its original critical content; and (iii) the content of a specific nutrient cannot be a limiting factor in N uptake and utilization for any crop grown. The SFC concept is supported primarily by the yield-promoting role of P and K [7]. A deficiency of both nutrients in the soil during the critical stages of yield formation results in a decreased N_f efficiency, and consequently, a lower yield. Thus, the main goal of P and K application to the soil is to restore their content in the topsoil to the level required by the most sensitive crop in any given crop rotation.

2.2. Improving FUE by Optimizing N Uptake and Rate

One of the most important activities aimed at improving the FUE is the correct selection of the fertilizer dose for specific soil and climatic conditions, the applied agrotechnics, and the plants requirements in crop rotation. This can be achieved using analytical tools such as soil testing, plant tissue analysis, nutrient uptake dynamics, fertilizer rate response modeling, or digital and information technologies [7]. The standard methodology for determining the need for N fertilizers is based on data regarding the mineral nitrogen (N_{min}) content in the soil [17]. Therefore, it is extremely important to identify and classify the factors affecting the mineralization processes of organic nitrogen and the N_{min} content in the soil. The knowledge gained in this area can be translated into conscious control of N_{min}, thus shaping the yield level. The first article included in the subsection discusses the influence of various tillage practices on the content of different forms of N in fluvo-aquic soil from Huang-Huai-Hai Plain in China [18]. The experiment evaluated the effect of five treatments where rotary tillage (RT), deep tillage (DT), and shallow rotary tillage (SRT) were used. The test plant was wheat. The results showed that the rotation tillage with deep tillage increased the total N and the content of the mineral nitrogen forms compared with RT-RT-RT. They especially improved the NO₃-N and NH4-N content in 0-40 cm, with the highest value under DT-SRT-RT. However, the effect of deep tillage on dissolved organic N in deeper layers significantly declined with time. The highest wheat yield was under DT-SRT-RT in 2018 and 2019, with 6346 and 6557 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. The N partial productivity demonstrated a similar trend with the wheat yield, with higher values of 28.98 and 29.94 kg⁻¹, respectively. The authors also obtained the lowest apparent nitrogen loss values in the DT-SRT-RT treatment. It was suggested as the efficiency tillage practice to improve the NUE and the crop yield [18].

In field conditions, plants compete with each other for water and nutrients. Therefore, it is important to recognize the appropriate sowing density (SR) to minimize these effects and, at the same time, consciously combine yield components to obtain the maximum N productivity. The problem of the NUE's dependence on the sowing density in winter wheat cultivation in Jiangsu province (China) was analyzed by Mahmood et al. [19]. The authors put forward the hypothesis that there is an optimum seed rate to compensate the negative effects of decreasing N for balanced high yields and an improved NUE in wheat. The results revealed that the net photosynthetic rate, the stomatal conductance, the chlorophyll content, and the activities of metabolic enzymes significantly increased with increasing N levels and a decreasing seeding rate. The plant tillers, grain yield, dry matter before anthesis and N translocation, N agronomic efficiency (NAE), N recovery efficiency (NRE), and N uptake efficiency (NUPE) were highest in a combined treatment of N235 and SR180. However, N levels beyond 235 kg ha⁻¹ significantly decreased the NAE, NRE, and NUPE. The authors concluded that 1 kg N ha⁻¹ might be replaced by an increase of approximately 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ SR. In addition, by using a combination of N and SR (N235 + SR180), it is possible to obtain the maximum yield of winter wheat and improve the NUE parameters [19].

The objective of another paper was to determine the best pruning level and N dose based on the agro-physiological characteristics of kaffir lime under mild shading [20]. The research was based on the need to fill the information gap regarding growth and yield under mild-shading conditions and specific N recommendations for leaf-orientated production of kaffir lime. The experiment was carried out at the Pasir Kuda experimental field of IPB University, Bogor, Indonesia. The plant materials were nine-month-old seedlings obtained using a grafting technique that combined kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) scions onto rangpur lime (*C. limonia* Osbeck) rootstock. Four levels of N dosage were tested. The optimum N rate was determined based on a regression curve. A N-sufficient condition was achieved as the effect of 20 and 40 g N plant⁻¹ application, producing a great growth and yield performance due to a high carbon assimilation rate. However, that does not automatically mean that a dose of 40 g N plant⁻¹ is the best fertilizer recommendation, as 20 g N plant⁻¹ is more efficient, with a relatively similar effect for increasing kaffir lime leaf production. With respect to pruning, a higher yield was obtained via leaving 30 cm of main stem above the ground, rather than shorter plants with a 10 cm main stem [20].

2.3. Balanced Fertilization as Key to Efficient N Use

Efficient N uptake, transport, and conversion into a crop depends on a good supply of plants with the remaining macro- and micronutrients [7]. The first publication dedicated to balanced fertilization described their results regarding fertilization in a rice-rice cropping system [21]. As rice is a nutrient-exhausting crop, its properly balanced fertilization is important to maintain a high productivity. The two-year experiment in a sub-tropical climate under the red and lateritic belt of the western part of West Bengal, India, was set up in a randomized complete block design with twelve treatments and three replications, with different rates of N:P:K:Zn:S application in both of the growing seasons, namely, Kharif and Boro. The results clearly indicated that imbalanced or insufficient nutrient application affects crop nutrient removal, thus affecting the growth and development of the plant. In addition, inappropriate nutrient supply over a long period reduces soil fertility, especially when a nutrient-exhausting cropping system, such as a rice-rice cropping system, is chosen. In this study, the recommended dose of nutrients was 80:40:40:25:20 and 120:60:60:25:20 kg ha⁻¹ of N:P₂O₅:K₂O:Zn:S in the Kharif and Boro season, respectively. To summarize, balanced nutrient management in cropping systems is a cost-effective and environmentally friendly approach to targeting agricultural sustainability [21].

In another paper, the authors focused on interactions between differentiated fertilization management and environmental factors and their influence on potato yields and selected soil parameters [22]. The fertilization treatments represent different management practices and include: (1) an unfertilized control, (2) the application of cow manure (FYM), (3, 4) a combination of manure and two different mineral nitrogen rates (FYM + N1, FYM + N2), and (5, 6, and 7) a combination of FYM and mineral NPK fertilizers (FYM + N1PK, FYM + N2PK, FYM + N3PK), which represents the combination of manure and all three major mineral fertilizers (against FYM + N treatments). The experiment was carried out on three sites (different soils) and during four growing seasons. Both the growing season and fertilization significantly affected potato yields at all locations. The authors proved that FYM application was always associated with higher yields. However, FYM application did not provide enough nutrients (N) to fulfil the yield potential of potatoes. Therefore, the addition of mineral N significantly increased potato yields, especially at less-fertile sites. The FYM + NPK combinations significantly improved yields compared to the FYM + N treatments. Thus, the obtained results clearly confirm the important role of P and K fertilization in increasing N productivity via both natural and mineral fertilizers.

The role of balanced fertilization in yield formation was also analyzed via two longterm experiments. The first was set up in 1954 in Prague and analyzed the effect of weather and seven fertilization treatments (mineral and manure treatments) on winter wheat grain yield and stability [23]. Winter wheat is one of the most important crops in the world. Hence, analysis of the response of wheat varieties to perennial fertilization is particularly important for food security. The authors analyzed 23 growing seasons. They showed that the grain yield was positively associated with the April precipitation, the mean daily temperature in October, and the daily maximum temperature in February. The yields were most stable between years when two fertilizer treatments were used that supplied a mean of 47 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, 54 kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and 108 kg K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The rate of N at which the grain yield was optimized was determined according to the linear-plateau (LP) and quadratic response models as 44 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the long-strawed varieties and 87 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the short-strawed varieties.

Another article included in this subsection presents the impact of well-balanced fertilization on the effective N fertilization of corn [14]. The objective of the study was the influence of the band application of a di-ammonium phosphate and ammonium sulfate mixture (NPS) on the possibility of lowering the total N dose. In order to assess the impact of fertilizing agents, seven nutrient efficiency indices and eight dry matter and N management indices were used. The total N uptake and NUE indices increased after band application. In addition, a trend of improved N remobilization efficiency and the N contribution of remobilized N to grain as a result of the band application of NP(S) was observed. The most effective use of N by corn was ensured via the use of an NPS mixture during the sowing of corn seeds (band application). From the point of view of the NUE indices, the optimal dose of N was 60 kg ha⁻¹. With broadcast fertilization and/or a further increase in the N dose, without the simultaneous use of P and S, the values of the NUE indices deteriorated, especially in the year with the highest content of N_{min} in the soil. Thus, a positive effect of the interaction of N and P(S) was confirmed in the conditions of soil rich in plant-available P.

Another publication concentrated on the improvement of N use by potato plants through the additional application of elemental sulfur, S⁰ [24]. Potatoes require a good supply of S⁰ for effective growth. Earlier studies showed that, in conditions of good S supply, a simultaneous increase in the NUE was noticed [25]. In this study, two main goals were set: (i) quantify the seasonal growth trends in the biomass of potato organs competing with tubers and (ii) evaluate the impact of S⁰ on the in-season relationships within the biomass of potato organs. The research factors were two doses of N (60 and 120 kg ha⁻¹), elemental sulfur fertilization (control and 50 kg ha⁻¹), and different plant sampling dates (10-day intervals). It was found that the potato growth pattern coded at the onset of tuberization was a decisive factor for the dry matter partitioning between the potato organs during the subsequent tuber growth in stems during the ascending and the descending phase. At harvest, the average biomass of potato tubers on the main plot fertilized only with N was lower by 21% than that on the one receiving sulfur at the rate of 50 kg ha⁻¹.

In a methodological publication by Hu et al. [26], a hypothesis was formulated that the optimal fertilizer doses can be determined via yield–fertilizer rate response modeling. For this purpose, the authors analyzed dozens of experiments with peanut plants located on the North China Plain. Two fertilization treatments, namely, that used by farmers (FP) and optimized fertilization (OPT), allowed for the regional mean optimal rate (ROMR) method to be applied. The authors determined the optimum fertilizer rate using the 2° regression curve. In order to assess the fertilization effectiveness, the authors used a number of indices: the RIEN (N reciprocal internal efficiency), PFPN (N fertilizer partial factor productivity), NUpE (N uptake efficiency), and NUtE (N utilization efficiency). The results of the experiments supported the hypothesis that the FP treatment with the OPT treatment, based on the RMOR method, promoted N use efficiency (PFPN and NUPE) and decreased the nutrient inputs from chemical fertilizer, especially N and P fertilizers, without the loss of peanut yield and NPK uptake. The research clearly shows that the RMOR method can be adopted in many countries and regions with widespread smallholder farms.

2.4. FUE and Foliar Fertilization

One way to provide plants with nutrients during the vegetative phase is foliar fertilization. This treatment allows for interventional (when deficiency symptoms appear) or preventive fertilization, taking into account the growth phases in which plants show the greatest sensitivity to nutrient deficiency. The method bypasses the stage of the transformation of nutrients in the soil, and thus reduces the potential regression of components and/or dispersion into the environment. In addition, through the use of small doses, a high fertilizer productivity is achieved [27]. There are insufficient data in the literature on foliar fertilization with phosphorus and, in particular, on plants of the Fabaceae family. The results published in this Special Issue broaden our knowledge on foliar P application and its influence on selected growth parameters, the production, and the quality of peas [28]. The effect of foliar P application on the photosynthetic parameters, seed yields, and quality of four pea genotypes (two normal-phytate cultivars and two low-phytate) was investigated in a pot experiment in controlled conditions. The effect of the pea lines on the foliar P fertilization was different. In the case of the normal-phytate cultivars, the seed production was enhanced via gradual doses of the P-fertilizer, except for the highest dose of phosphorus (P3). Low-phytate cultivars showed a positive reaction to the P3 dose. The authors concluded that foliar P application could be an effective way to enhance the pea growth in the P-deficient condition, with a direct effect on the seed yield and quality.

The research objective of another publication was to verify the effect of the foliar application of waste elemental sulfur (S^0) from biogas production in combination with conventional liquid UAN fertilizers applied in different ratios [29]. The reaction in maize was studied via a pot experiment. The following fertilization treatments were studied: control, UAN, UANS1 (N:S ratio, 2:1), UANS2 (1:1), and UANS3 (1:2). It showed that the application of UAN increased the N content in the plant and significantly affected the chlorophyll content (the N-tester value). The application of UANS had a lower impact on the N content and uptake than the application of UAN; however, it had a significant effect on the quantum yield of PSII. The authors conclude that the foliar application of UAN fertilizer in combination with S^0 in a 1:1 ratio seems to be a sensible way to optimize the nutritional status of maize, both in terms of the economics of biogas purification, where the waste sulfur is reused as a fertilizer, and for environmental reasons.

Apart from P and S, the most important component for N uptake and metabolism in plants is Mg. In agricultural practice, farmers use two basic Mg fertilization systems: (i) the in-soil application of Mg fertilizer using lime for acidic soils and magnesium sulfate for soils with an optimum pH; and (ii) foliar fertilization. In studies carried out by Potarzycki et al. [30], a hypothesis was formulated that winter wheat fertilized with Mg increases nitrogen fertilizer (Nf) efficiency, regardless of the method of application. In order to achieve this, the authors set a two-factorial experiment with three doses of Kieserite (0, 25, and 50 kg ha^{-1} of Mg) and two stages of foliar fertilization at the rate 2.4 kg Mg ha $^{-1}$ (control; I; II; I + II). A full dose of nitrogen was 190 kg ha⁻¹. Twelve different parameters and indices (the total N accumulation, harvest index, partial factor productivity, nitrogen physiological efficiency, and others) were used to assess the impact of factors on the nitrogen efficiency (NUE) in wheat cultivation. The same set of indicators was used to assess the effectiveness of Mg fertilization. According to the study, the wheat yield increased as a result of the use of Mg. The method of application was of secondary importance. The yield gain, as a result of foliar fertilization with Mg fertilization, ranged from 0.6 to 0.9 t ha⁻¹, while, in the soil, its application resulted in a yield gain in the range of 0.4-0.7 t ha⁻¹. The main action of Mg, regardless of its application method, was the improvement of the index values characteristic for the NUE. The yield-forming effect of the applied Mg on the winter wheat was revealed via the increased N transfer to the grain.

In another publication included in this Special Issue, the authors investigated the effect of three foliar fertilizers (F, B, and C) and the mixture of the three (F + B + C) on the flower quality and the amount of new daughter corms produced by the five Gladiolus varieties in the climate conditions of the Carpathian Basin [31]. The *Gladiolus* genus is a perennial, monocotyledonous, geophyte, semi-rustic ornamental plant and includes about 260 species [32]. These plants are valued for the variety of shapes and colors of their flowers. However, they require appropriate growing conditions and the correct selection of varieties,

in particular for degraded and saline soils. In the study, the authors used multicomponent foliar fertilizers that differed not only in the set of elements and their content but also in the presence of phytohormones. It should also be mentioned that N was included in each fertilizer. During the season, a total of four sprayings were carried out during plant development phases. The results of this experiment show that proper foliar fertilization can support and influence the growth, vase durability, and daughter corm production of some Gladiolus varieties. The highest yield of daughter corm production was observed with the mixture of the three foliar fertilizations (F + B + C). The result confirms that N productivity is stimulated not only via the dose of N but also via the appropriate balance of all nutrients [31].

2.5. FUE and Innovations on the Fertilizer Market

For many years, mineral fertilizers have been used to (i) ensure a good supply of nitrogen to plants, especially in critical phases; (ii) reduce the number of applications; (iii) reduce the nitrate content in plants; and (iv) limit nitrogen loss and reduce its negative impact on the environment [12]. In general, these fertilizers can be divided into two groups: slow-release fertilizers (SRFs) and controlled-release fertilizers (CRFs). With regards to N fertilizers from the CRF group, the effect of delaying N release is achieved through covering the granules with a different type of protective layer. Škarpa et al. [33] assessed the possibility of improving the efficiency of $N_{\rm f}$ and reducing its negative impact on the environment (N leaching) through the use of two CRF fertilizers: calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) fertilizer coated with modified conventional polyurethane and CAN coated with vegetable oils. The influence of the CRF fertilizer was compared to that of the classic CAN. Three types of treatment were tested for both coated fertilizers: divided application (CAN, coated CAN), a single application of coated CAN, and a single application of CAN with coated CAN (1:2). The test plant was winter oilseed rape. The obtained results confirm that the application of coated CAN fertilizers increases the yield to a large extent, improves the efficiency of N fertilization, and reduces N losses, compared to the use of conventional CAN. In this study, a suitable method appears to be the application of a mixture of conventional CAN and coated CAN in a ratio of 1:2 during spring fertilization, ensuring a sufficient amount of rapidly releasing N during the regeneration of rapeseed and its slower release during further developmental stages. In terms of fertilizer production, oil-based polymer coatings on CAN fertilizer can be considered as an adequate replacement for partially modified conventional polyurethane [33].

The second publication on CRF fertilizers in this collection studied the possibility of enhancing the NUE in coffee cultivation (Coffea arabica L.). Freitas et al. [34] formulated a hypothesis that enhanced-efficiency N fertilizers and other fertilizers, such as ammonium nitrate and sulfate and prilled urea diluted in water, are options more suitable than conventional urea for reducing NH₃-N losses in coffee production systems. In order to validate the hypothesis, field experiments were carried out, in which the authors tested the following fertilization treatments: prilled urea, prilled urea dissolved in water, ammonium sulfate (AS), ammonium nitrate (AN), urea + Cu + B, urea + adhesive + CaCO₃, and urea + NBPT (all with three split applications), as well as blended N fertilizer, urea + elastic resin, urea-formaldehyde, and urea + polyurethane (all applied only once). The experiment with fertilizer treatments was conducted in coffee plantations in field conditions for two crop seasons in the Minas Gerais region, in Brazil. The treatments used in this study were applied at the 300 kg N ha⁻¹ dose per year. The authors proved a significant influence of various fertilization combinations on urea losses. Except for urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ (27.9% of NH₃-N losses), all N-fertilizer technologies reduced NH₃-N losses compared to prilled urea. The lowest losses were observed for AS (0.6%) and AN (0.5%). The authors point out, however, that when choosing the right fertilization strategy (choice of treatment), the costs of the fertilizer application must be considered.

The problem of reducing losses of NH_3-N from fertilizers was also studied by Cassim et al. [35]. The authors assessed different nitrogen (N) fertilizer technologies

in corn production systems through the characterization of N sources, NH₃-N volatilization losses, and their effects on the nutrient concentration and yield of corn grown in clayey and sandy soils in south Brazil. The following treatments were tested: control, three conventional N sources (urea, ammonium sulfate, and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate), and three efficiency-enhanced fertilizers (urea treated with NBPT + Duromide, urea formaldehyde, and polymer-coated urea + urea treated with NBPT and nitrification inhibitor, NI). The article features the physical properties of fertilizers obtained using scanning electron microscopy and X-ray diffraction. In general, the effect of N fertilizer technologies on N losses via the volatilization of NH₃-N was ordered as follows: urea > URP + Ur-NBPT + IN > Ur-NBPT + Duromide > Ur-formaldehyde > ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate > ammonium sulfate. The studies confirmed that ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate have the least impact on NH₃-N losses (84 and 80% in relation to urea). Additionally, both fertilizers increased the corn grain yield. The yield increase in the clayey soil did not occur solely due to the reduction in losses via NH₃-N volatilization. Other factors, such as S and B supplementation and N release at a controlled rate to synchronize with the crop demand, also influenced the increase in corn yield. The authors also presented interesting data regarding the effect of fertilizer treatments on the macro-i micronutrient content and the chlorophyll concentration (SPAD) at the R1 phenological stage (silking). The results suggest that the use of nitrification inhibitors in soil, which leads to an increased concentration of NH4⁺, primarily reduces the uptake of Ca²⁺, and then Mg²⁺, to a lesser extent.

Biochars constitute a relatively new fertilizer on the market. In general, biochars are solid materials, rich in carbon, obtained from the thermochemical decomposition of organic biomasses. They may be treated as mineral fertilizers or as a component for the production of CRF fertilizers [12]. The in-soil application of biochars has a positive impact on carbon sequestration in soil and on reducing greenhouse gas emissions [36]. In addition, biochar application improves soil fertility and crop productivity. However, the literature does not provide sufficient data on the effect of biochars on the physiology of tomato yields. This gap is filled by the publication by Liu et al. [37]. The authors assumed that the improved agro-chemical properties of the soil using biochar and vermicompost had a positive effect on plant growth, selected physiological parameters, and the tomato yield. In order to verify this hypothesis, the authors set up an experiment, which scrutinized the effect of biochar (CK0%; BA3, 3%; BA5, 5%; by mass of soil) and vermicompost (VA3, 3%; VA5, 5%) on photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence, and tomato yield under greenhouse condition. A number of parameters specific to photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence in tomato plants were analysed. The optimal parameter values were obtained in the treatment with the highest rate of vermicompost (VA5). The treatments with BA registered lower values, but these were higher, however, than those with CK. In summary, the authors highlight that for one season of tomato production, the application of 3% vermicompost is considered economical with regard to improving photosynthesis, enhancing the WUE, and increasing the tomato yield.

2.6. Phosphor and Potassium Use Efficiency

Besides N, phosphorus is the second most important nutrient in agriculture. The need to improve the use of P from fertilizers by crops stems from two basic factors: (i) the limited resources of raw materials economically viable for exploitation; (ii) the adverse effects of the component's dispersion into the environment [38]. Opportunities to improve the use of P from fertilizers can be explored in various ways. It is important to create not only the optimal conditions for the mobility of $H_2PO_4^-$ ions (e.g., the soil pH) but also the right choice of doses and type of fertilizer. As the research of Santos et al. indicates [39], in order to improve the efficiency of P use, it is crucial to select the right variety to suit the environment /location. The authors investigated the additive and non-additive effects of commercially relevant traits for the popcorn crop (grain yield—GY, popping expansion—PE, and expanded popcorn volume per hectare—PV) in different conditions

of phosphorus (P) availability in two locations in Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil. Six S7 lines previously selected (three efficient and responsive; and three inefficient and non-responsive for P use) were used as testers in crosses with 15 progenies from the fifth cycle of intrapopulation recurrent selection of UENF-14. The 90-hybrid analysis allowed the authors to determine the combination with the highest impact of dominance genes on performance and responsiveness in the use of phosphorus for the GY, PE, and PV traits.

Chlorine is an essential micronutrient for plants. Its content in soils used for agriculture is usually at a much higher level than the nutritional needs of plants. One of the reasons for this condition is the widespread use of potassium in the form of chloride salt (KCl). Excessive Cl content in the soil can reduce the yield and quality of many crops and thus reduce the efficiency of K from fertilizers. The species sensitive to excess chlorine in the soil include coffee plants. High concentrations of Cl are related to an increase in plant water, which favors an undesirable fermentation of coffee fruits [40]. A way to bypass the problem would be to use K₂SO₄. However, this fertilizer increases the cost of fertilization. In the article, the authors proposed a partial replacement of KCl with K_2SO_4 [40]. To achieve this, the authors investigated the effect of blends of KCl and K₂SO₄ fertilizers at different proportions and their influence on the yield, nutritional state, and chemical composition and quality of the coffee beverage. The research clearly shows that the K content in the leaves was not influenced by the application of blends of K fertilizer while the Cl content increased linearly with the KCl applied. Fertilization with KCl reduces the cup quality and the activity of the polyphenol oxidase, probably due to the ion Cl. Taking into account the yield of coffee plants, the optimal ratio of KCl and K₂SO₄ was 1:3. However, the highest score in the cup quality test was observed with 100% K₂SO₄.

3. Conclusions

Improving the use of nutrients from fertilizers (the FUE) is one of the most important goals of modern agriculture in the context of the increasing demand for food and the growing pressure on the environment. This Special Issue presents a number of possibilities and strategies to improve the FUE. According to the presented publications, most of the research focuses on the possibility of improving the use of N by plants through balanced fertilization. Only in a state of equilibrium between the supplies of N and other nutrients to the plant during the growing season is it possible to effectively exploit the yield potential of a cultivated plant. The balanced fertilization of plants is, therefore, the key to sustainable agricultural production. Balanced fertilization should be supported by other activities aimed at improving the FUE, such as shaping the optimal conditions for nutrient uptake, including the effective use of P and K from fertilizers, foliar fertilization, or the application of innovative fertilizers with a controlled release rate of nutrients and/or nitrification inhibitors. At the same time, the development of new technologies and fertilization strategies should be accompanied by progress in plant breeding that better utilizes natural and anthropogenic sources of nutrients.

Conflicts of Interest: The author declares that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- United Nations. Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Prospects 2022: Summary of Results. UN DESA/POP/2022/TR/NO. 3. 2022, New York, USA. Available online: https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www. un.org.development.desa.pd/files/wpp2022_summary_of_results.pdf (accessed on 2 October 2023).
- 2. Gomiero, T. Soil degradation, land scarcity and food security: Reviewing a complex challenge. *Sustainability* **2016**, *8*, 281. [CrossRef]
- Lawrence, D.; Coe, M.; Walker, W.; Verchot, L.; Vandecar, K. The unseen effects of deforestation: Biophysical effects on climate. Front. For. Glob. Change 2022, 5, 756115. [CrossRef]
- Silver, W.L.; Perez, T.; Mayer, A.; Jones, A.R. The role of soil in the contribution of food and feed. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 2021, 376, 20200181. [CrossRef]
- Ray, D.K.; Mueller, N.D.; West, P.C.; Foley, J.A. Yield trends are insufficient to double global crop production by 2050. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8, e66428. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 6. Pradhan, P.; Fischer, G.; van Velthuizen, H.; Reusser, D.E.; Kropp, J.P. Closing Yield Gaps: How Sustainable Can We Be? *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0129487. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grzebisz, W.; Diatta, J.; Barłóg, P.; Biber, M.; Potarzycki, J.; Łukowiak, R.; Przygocka-Cyna, K.; Szczepaniak, W. Soil Fertility Clock—Crop Rotation as a Paradigm in Nitrogen Fertilizer Productivity Control. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 2841. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- FAO—Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. World Fertilizer Trends and Outlook to 2022. 2019, Rome, Italy. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/ca6746en/CA6746EN.pdf (accessed on 2 October 2023).
- Mogollón, J.M.; Lassaletta, L.; Beusen, A.H.W.; van Grinsven, H.J.M.; Westhoek, H.; Bouwman, A.F. Assessing future reactive nitrogen inputs into global croplands based on the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2018, 13, 044008. [CrossRef]
- Fixen, P.; Brentrup, F.; Bruulsema, T.; Garcia, F.; Norton, R.; Zingore, S. Nutrient/fertilizer use efficiency: Measurement, current situation and trends. In *Managing Water and Fertilizer for Sustainable Agricultural Intensification*; Drechsel, P., Heffer, P., Magen, H., Mikkelsen, R., Wichelns, D., Eds.; IFA: Paris, France, 2015; pp. 8–38.
- 11. Galloway, J.N.; Aber, J.D.; Erisman, J.W.; Seitzinger, S.P.; Howarth, R.W.; Cowling, E.B.; Cosby, B.J. The nitrogen cascade. *BioScience* 2003, 53, 341–356. [CrossRef]
- 12. Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Fertilizers and Fertilization Strategies Mitigating Soil Factors Constraining Efficiency of Nitrogen in Plant Production. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1855. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Congreves, K.A.; Otchere, O.; Ferland, D.; Farzadfar, S.; Williams, S.; Arcand, M.M. Nitrogen Use Efficiency Definitions of Today and Tomorrow. Front. Plant Sci. 2021, 12, 637108. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Hlisnikovský, L. Band Phosphorus and Sulfur Fertilization as Drivers of Efficient Management of Nitrogen of Maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1660. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Nitrogen Gap Amelioration is a Core for Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture—A Concept. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 419. [CrossRef]
- Yawson, D.O.; Amoach, K.K.; Asare, P.A.; Techie-Menson, J.; Afutu, E.; Atiah, K.; Sanieri, A.K.; Sare-Larbi, S.; Adu, M.O. A meta-analysis of modifications of root system traits of crop plants to potassium (K) deprivation. In *Plant Roots*; Yildirim, E., Turan, M., Ekinci, M., Eds.; InTech: London, UK, 2021; p. 27.
- 17. Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W. Predicting the content of soil mineral nitrogen based on the content of calcium chloride extractable nutrients. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 2017, 180, 624–635. [CrossRef]
- 18. Shen, F.; Zhu, C.; Jiang, G.; Yang, J.; Zhu, X.; Wang, S.; Wang, R.; Liu, F.; Jie, X.; Liu, S. Differentiation in Nitrogen Transformations and Crop Yield as Affected by Tillage Modes in a Fluvo-Aquic Soil. *Plants* **2023**, *12*, 783. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mahmood, H.; Cai, J.; Zhou, Q.; Wang, X.; Samo, A.; Huang, M.; Dai, T.; Jahan, M.S.; Jiang, D. Optimizing Nitrogen and Seed Rate Combination for Improving Grain Yield and Nitrogen Uptake Efficiency in Winter Wheat. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 1745. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Agro-Physiological Traits of Kaffir Lime in Response to Pruning and Nitrogen Fertilizer under Mild Shading. *Plants* 2023, *12*, 1155. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shankar, T.; Malik, G.C.; Banerjee, M.; Dutta, S.; Maitra, S.; Praharaj, S.; Sairam, M.; Kumar, D.S.; Dessoky, E.S.; Hassan, M.M.; et al. Productivity and Nutrient Balance of an Intensive Rice–Rice Cropping System Are Influenced by Different Nutrient Management in the Red and Lateritic Belt of West Bengal, India. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1622. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Hlisnikovský, L.; Menšík, L.; Kunzová, E. The Effect of Soil-Climate Conditions, Farmyard Manure and Mineral Fertilizers on Potato Yield and Soil Chemical Parameters. *Plants* **2021**, *10*, 2473. [CrossRef]
- Hlisnikovský, L.; Ivičic, P.; Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Menšík, L.; Kunzová, E. The Effects of Weather and Fertilization on Grain Yield and Stability of Winter Wheat Growing on Orthic Luvisol—Analysis of Long-Term Field Experiment. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 1825. [CrossRef]
- 24. Grzebisz, W.; Frąckowiak, K.; Spiżewski, T.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Does Elemental Sulfur Act as an Effective Measure to Control the Seasonal Growth Dynamics of Potato Tubers (*Solanum tuberosum* L.)? *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 248. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Jamal, A.; Moon, Y.-S.; Abdin, M.Z. Sulphur—A general overview and interaction with nitrogen. *Austr. J. Crop Sci.* 2010, *4*, 523–529.
- Hu, J.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, H.; Li, Y.; Zhang, S.; He, X.; Huang, Y.; Ye, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Yan, J. Reduction in Nitrogen Rate and Improvement of Nitrogen Use Efficiency without Loss of Peanut Yield by Regional Mean Optimal Rate of Chemical Fertilizer Based on a Multi-Site Field Experiment in the North China Plain. *Plants* 2023, *12*, 1326. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Niu, J.; Liu, C.; Huang, M.; Liu, K.; Yan, D. Effects of Foliar Fertilization: A Review of Current Status and Future Perspectives. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2021, 21, 104–118. [CrossRef]
- Škarpa, P.; Školníková, M.; Antošovský, J.; Horký, P.; Smýkalová, I.; Horáček, J.; Dostálová, R.; Kozáková, Z. Response of Normal and Low-Phytate Genotypes of Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) on Phosphorus Foliar Fertilization. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1608. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Škarpa, P.; Antošovský, J.; Ryant, P.; Hammerschmiedt, T.; Kintl, A.; Brtnický, M. Using Waste Sulfur from Biogas Production in Combination with Nitrogen Fertilization of Maize (*Zea mays* L.) by Foliar Application. *Plants* 2021, 10, 2188. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Potarzycki, J.; Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W. Magnesium Fertilization Increases Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Winter Wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 2600. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Kentelky, E.; Szekely-Varga, Z. Impact of Foliar Fertilization on Growth, Flowering, and Corms Production of Five Gladiolus Varieties. *Plants* **2021**, *10*, 1963. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 32. Abdel-Kader, H.H.; El-Saady, W.A.; Zaky, H.A. Effect of Magnetized Water and NPK Fertilization Treatments on Growth and Field Performance of Gladiolus. J. Plant Prod. 2020, 11, 627–632. [CrossRef]
- Škarpa, P.; Mikušová, D.; Antošovský, J.; Kučera, M.; Ryant, P. Oil-Based Polymer Coatings on CAN Fertilizer in Oilseed Rape (Brassica napus L.) Nutrition. Plants 2021, 10, 1605. [CrossRef]
- Freitas, T.; Bartelega, L.; Santos, C.; Dutra, M.P.; Sarkis, L.F.; Guimarães, R.J.; Dominghetti, A.W.; Zito, P.C.; Fernandes, T.J.; Guelfi, D. Technologies for Fertilizers and Management Strategies of N-Fertilization in Coffee Cropping Systems to Reduce Ammonia Losses by Volatilization. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 3323. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Besen, M.R.; Kachinski, W.D.; Macon, C.R.; de Almeida Junior, J.H.V.; Sakurada, R.; Inoue, T.T.; Batista, M.A. Nitrogen Fertilizers Technologies for Corn in Two Yield Environments in South Brazil. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1890. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Palansooriya, K.N.; Ok, Y.S.; Awad, Y.M.; Lee, S.S.; Sung, J.K.; Koutsospyros, A.; Moon, D.H. Impacts of biochar application on upland agriculture: A review. J. Environ. Manag. 2019, 234, 52–64. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Liu, X.; Zhang, J.; Wang, Q.; Chang, T.; Shaghaleh, H.; Hamoud, Y.A. Improvement of Photosynthesis by Biochar and Vermicompost to Enhance Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) Yield under Greenhouse Conditions. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 3214. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ros, M.B.H.; Koopmans, G.F.; van Groenigen, K.J.; Abalos, D.; Oenema, O.; Vos, H.M.J.; van Groenigen, J.W. Towards optimal use of phosphorus fertiliser. Sci. Rep. 2020, 10, 17804. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Santos, T.d.O.; de Oliveira, F.T.; Amaral Junior, A.T.D.; de Almeida Filho, J.E.; Bispo, R.B.; de Freitas, M.S.M.; Amaral, J.F.T.D.; Kamphorst, S.H.; de Lima, V.J.; Viana, F.N.; et al. Additive and Non-Additive Effects on the Control of Key Agronomic Traits in Popcorn Lines under Contrasting Phosphorus Conditions. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 2216. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Santos, C.; Malta, M.R.; Gonçalves, M.G.M.; Borém, F.M.; Pozza, A.A.A.; Martinez, H.E.P.; de Souza, T.L.; Chagas, W.F.T.; de Melo, M.E.A.; Oliveira, D.P.; et al. Chloride Applied via Fertilizer Affects Plant Nutrition and Coffee Quality. *Plants* 2023, 12, 885. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.





Witold Grzebisz *, Jean Diatta, Przemysław Barłóg , Maria Biber, Jarosław Potarzycki, Remigiusz Łukowiak, Katarzyna Przygocka-Cyna and Witold Szczepaniak

Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 28, 60-637 Poznan, Poland

* Correspondence: witold.grzebisz@up.poznan.pl; Tel.: +48-618-77-88

Abstract: The Soil Fertility Clock (SFC) concept is based on the assumption that the critical content (range) of essential nutrients in the soil is adapted to the requirements of the most sensitive plant in the cropping sequence (CS). This provides a key way to effectively control the productivity of fertilizer nitrogen (N_f). The production goals of a farm are set for the maximum crop yield, which is defined by the environmental conditions of the production process. This target can be achieved, provided that the efficiency of N_f approaches 1.0. Nitrogen (in fact, nitrate) is the determining yield-forming factor, but only when it is balanced with the supply of other nutrients (nitrogen-supporting nutrients; N-SNs). The condition for achieving this level of N_f efficiency is the effectiveness of other production factors, including N-SNs, which should be set at ≤ 1.0 . A key source of N-SNs for a plant is the soil zone occupied by the roots. N-SNs should be applied in order to restore their content in the topsoil to the level required by the most sensitive crop in a given CS. Other plants in the CS provide the timeframe for active controlling the distance of the N-SNs from their critical range.

Keywords: nitrogen; nitrate-nitrogen; nitrogen use efficiency; nitrogen-supporting nutrients; phosphorus; potassium; maximum attainable yield; soil fertility management

1. Introduction—The Battle for Yield

The required increase in total food production of around 70% in 2050, compared to 2010, will largely depend on increases in the yields of crop plants, which serve as staple food for humans [1,2]. At present, meeting the demand for food in the next 28 years, in connection with the required reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, poses a major challenge for global organizations (e.g., the United Nations), the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), and national governments [3,4]. Russia's war on Ukraine has clearly highlighted the importance of net food producers, such as Ukraine, in stabilizing the global food market. In the 2020/21 season, this country exported 69.8 million tons of all cereals, accounting for 11.8% of the global export. Ukraine's share in global exports of sunflower seeds and oil exceeded 50% (52%). The war collapsed exports from Ukraine, not only of cereals and sunflower products, but also soybeans and rapeseed [5,6]. Strubenhoff [6] has indicated four groups of activities that can be urgently taken by world leaders to save the world from hunger. Concerning the national level, he pointed to the need to change the food policies of the EU and the USA. In the case of the USA, the author suggested reducing the production of biofuels. In the case of the EU, the author indicated the need to move away from policies on reducing the use of mineral fertilizers. The general conclusion formulated by Strubenhoff [6] was as follows: "For the time being, we need more production, not less. Climate objectives are good to save the planet, but we also need to feed the people on the planet". This should be seen as a motto for political and environmental players who truly understand the functioning of Planet Earth in a holistic, not reductionist sense.

The increase in food production by 2050 will in fact be the result of two main drivers, including the increases in arable land area and yields of main staple crops. The first, the

Citation: Grzebisz, W.; Diatta, J.; Barłóg, P.; Biber, M.; Potarzycki, J.; Łukowiak, R.; Przygocka-Cyna, K.; Szczepaniak, W. Soil Fertility Clock—Crop Rotation as a Paradigm in Nitrogen Fertilizer Productivity Control. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 2841. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11212841

Academic Editor: Dimitris L. Bouranis

Received: 29 September 2022 Accepted: 21 October 2022 Published: 25 October 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

main factor in covering the food gap by 2050—is in fact a key constraint, as evidenced by the wide discourse pursued by decision makers in the area of food policy. This goal, in fact, is limited by a lack of fertile soils. The potential resources for expanding arable land area are predominantly in the tropics. However, these soils, despite high natural fertility, require large inputs of the means of production [7,8]. Moreover, the destruction of the rain forest is expected to completely disrupt the Earth's climate [9]. Thus, in order to cover the food gap by 2050, the main challenge facing the world is to increase the yields of crop plants in "old agricultural areas" [10]. The share of the second—but dominant—factor in covering the food gap by 2050 (crop yields), has been estimated at over 80% [11,12]. There are four main factors that are considered crucial in actions oriented toward yield increases. The first is breeding progress. Meeting the 2050 target requires an annual increase in the yield of major crops such as wheat, maize, rice, and soybean at the level of 2.4% annually. This target, as reported by Ray et al. [13], will not easily be met, as the current yield increases of these crops are much below this target, reaching in relative terms only 67% for wheat, 42% for maize, 38% for rice, and 55% for soybean. The second factor is inherent in the effective use of mineral fertilizers and other crop protection measures. The actions taken by farmers should, however, be in line with the main assumptions of the concept known as Intensification of Sustainable Agriculture, which indicates the effective use of production means, including fertilizers [14]. The term "battle for yield," as proposed in the title of this chapter, in the current geopolitical context refers precisely to the productivity of the basic unit of plant production (i.e., a single field) which, in fact, defines the homogenous fertility unit of the field [15].

The third factor—and, indeed, a dominant factor in the food production sector—is the effective use of fertilizer nitrogen (N_f) . The N_f consumption, as forecast for 2050, is 76% higher than in 2000 (181 vs. 103 mln t y⁻¹) [4]. In another study, the increase in the demand for N_f in 2050, compared to 2005, will be in the range of 43–73% [16]. The crucial problem with N_f use by farmers—both for production and, consequently, for the environment—is its low efficiency (recovery). Limiting the effectiveness of N_f to the right N dose, fertilizer approach, and even the timing of its application is a dramatic simplification of a complex problem [17,18]. A reduction in N_f consumption, in light of the drastic increase in N fertilizer prices in 2022, seems more realistic at present [19]. However, the sudden drop in N_f consumption, as observed in 2022 in Europe, could disrupt the global food production chain. The maintenance of the level of N_f consumption is crucial for food production in the old agricultural areas in the world [20]; for example, a simulation regarding reduced N_f consumption in the U.S. for maize and rice indicates a possible decrease in yields of 41% and 27%, respectively [21]. These theoretical considerations from 10 years ago should be considered, in the face of the current fertilizer crisis [6,19].

The fourth factor, which is decisive for the efficient use of production measures in agriculture, is the knowledge and skills of the farmers and their advisers, which are necessary to exploit the yield potential of the currently grown varieties. The real challenge for the farmer in the effective use of N_f is the correct diagnosis of the plant demand for N in the most critical phase(s) of the yield formation. At this particular stage of crop plant growth, a synchronization between the plant's requirements for N with its supply from soil (soil N resources plus controlled Nf application) is crucial for the formation of yield components. The farmer must know and recognize both the phases in which the plant builds up the yield components and the phases in which they are reduced. The importance of this issue can be presented through the examples of three crops. The first example concerns cereals, which deliver about 60% of carbohydrates and 50% of proteins to the world food market [22]. The key yield component determining the grain yield is the number of grains per unit area (grain density; GD). The most critical period of GD formation extends from the heading phase through flowering to the early milk (BBCH 71) [23,24]. Therefore, it can be called "the critical cereals' window". The second primary component of the yield is the grain weight (1000 grain weight; TGW), which is established during the grain filling period (GFP). This period extends from the early milk stage (BBCH 72) to plant maturity (BBCH 90) [25]. Its impact on grain yield is much lower than that of GD [26]. For the second example, maize is a crop producing the greatest amount of food for humans or fodder for livestock [27]. The critical period of the primary yield's component formation is the stage of fifth leaf, in which the cob initials are formed. The key nutrient responsible for this process is the supply of N [28,29]. The third example is potatoes, the importance of which as food for humans has been growing rapidly [30]. The critical period for tuber yield establishment is tuberization [31]. The tuber yield depends on the number and weight of young tubers. These processes are driven by the supply of N, but also require a good supply of potassium (K) and phosphorus (P), at least [32,33]. These three examples allow us to conclude that the farmer's knowledge about the functions of N in plants is the absolute basis for determining an effective technological solution for the cultivated crops.

The basic questions to be asked here are as follows:

- (1) Is the increase in nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) the real challenge for the increase in yields?
- (2) How is the effect of nitrogen-supporting nutrients (N–SNs) on efficiency of N_f manifested?
- (3) What is the required level of N–SNs in the soil, in order to maximize the N_f yieldforming effect?

The third question is essentially sets the goal for this conceptual article.

2. A New Paradigm of Nitrogen Use Efficiency Control-The Basis of the Concept

There are five general assumptions to consider before any discussion or forecast of crop production outcomes (i.e., the yields) by scientists, farmers' advisors, and food policy makers. First, the amount of solar energy reaching any part of the Earth's land surface is determined by its geographical location [34]. In agriculture, the basic unit of analysis is a single field or its homogenous production part, which is directly managed by the farmer [15,35]. Second, the accumulation of dry matter by a plant during its life cycle, its growth rate, dry matter partitioning between plant organs, and subsequent remobilization depend on the water and N supply. Third, the amount of available N in the plant rooting zone during the growing season is critical for the formation of yield components and, consequently, for the yield. Fourth, the uptake and use of N by the plant depends on the availability of other essential nutrients present in the plant's rooting zone. Fifth, the capacity of the soil and its potential to provide these nutrients to plants is limited. Their content in the plant natural growth milieu (that is, soil) is not infinite and, therefore, needs to be both controlled and supplemented by the farmer.

The effects of climatic and soil factors (environmental conditions) on crop growth and yield are manifested in terms of the maximum attainable yield (Y_{attmax}), which can be reached in well-defined geographic locations [36,37]. It is necessary to take into account that the use and impact of non-nutritional production factors on the grown crop is the result of a farmer's decision and/or legal limitations. Thus, on a specific field on a farm, the main issue for the farmer is to consider the effective management of N, which, in fact, depends in the current state of soil fertility. Sustainable management of N in the field should, therefore, be considered as a balance between necessary and sufficient conditions:

- The necessary condition is the actual yield, which is a function of the amount of available N in the rooting zone of the currently grown crop.
- (2) The sufficient condition is the yield-forming functions of nutrients other than N to support the action of N by increasing its uptake and its use by the currently grown plant.

In fact, the necessary condition concerns the control of efficiency, which is the productivity of available N present in the soil zone occupied by plant roots during the growing season. The more detailed assumptions are as follows:

 A crop plant in a well-defined geographic area, provided stable environmental and nutritional conditions, can reach Y_{attmax}.

- (2) The key production factor is N, present in the soil or/and supplied to the plant as fertilizer (natural, manure; mineral, N_f).
- (3) All other nutrients, called nitrogen supporting nutrients (N-SNs), affect the Y_{attmax}, in relation to their relative deficiency in available form in the plant rooting zone. These relationships can be expressed as a set of general formulae:
- 1. Actual yield:

$$Y_a = Y_{attmax} \times EN \tag{1}$$

2. Nitrogen Efficiency (EN):

$$EN = EP \times EK \times EMg \times ES \times \dots \times ETi$$
(2)

where Y_a denotes the actual yield; Y_{attmax} denotes the maximum attainable yield; EN is the fractional value of NUE; and EP, EK, ..., ETi are the fractional efficiencies of various N-supporting nutrients (N-SNs).

When the fractional value of an N-SN's efficiency index approaches 1.0 (\leq 1.0), it indicates a sufficient range of content of the N-SN in available form in the soil. However, any deviation from 1.0 indicates a disturbance in the supply of a given nutrient to the currently grown crop, thereby reducing the NUE. Summarizing the above assumptions, it should be clearly stated that the key challenge for the farmer is to achieve high productivity of N fertilizer (N_f), but without a reduction in yield. This goal is achievable, provided that the critical level (sufficiency range) of soil fertility is achieved for N–SNs. Only at the equilibrium state between the supplies of N and N–SNs to the plant during the growing season—in particular, in the critical phases of yield component formation—is it possible to effectively exploit the yield potential of the currently cultivated plant.

3. Nitrogen—A Unique and Critical Factor in Plant Production

There exists a general consensus that the choice of a cultivar with well-defined yield potential is the basis of crop cultivation. Exploitation of the crop potential, however, essentially depends on the supply of water and N. For these reasons, these production factors are defined as yield-limiting [38,39]. These factors cannot be, however, treated as substitutes [40]. Water is a growth factor that regulates the plant temperature and, as a consequence, its whole metabolism and growth [41]. It has been well-documented that the amount of water available to the plant during the growing season is the result of both the water retention capacity of the soil and current precipitation. These two factors determine the Y_{attmax} under well-defined climate and soil conditions [36]. Water acts as a natural carrier of nutrients, both in soils and in the plant [42].

The plant is an autotrophic organism which, in order to close its life cycle, must be supplied with adequate amounts of both water and nutrients at well-defined stages of growth [43]. Plant growth can be defined as a set of processes in which both the plant and the soil—as its natural growth medium—interact with each other throughout the growing season. The importance of N for plant growth and yield results from its presence in key biological molecules [42]. The key N-dependent enzyme, which is decisive in the survival of life on Earth, is the ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase enzyme, simply called Rubisco (RuBP). Its key function is the capture and subsequent fixation of the CO₂ molecule, which is the basic substrate for the production of elementary sugar compounds [44,45]. The total mass of Rubisco in terrestrial plants has been estimated at ≈ 0.7 Gt. This enzyme constitutes 2.5–3% of the total leaf weight of leaves and about 50% of the total leaf proteins [46]. A hypothesis has recently emerged that Rubisco may also be treated a source of N during protein synthesis. This phenomenon is revealed only under conditions of excessive CO₂ capture by the plant in the circadian cycle [46].

N, mainly as nitrate (N-NO₃), also acts a local and systemic signaling molecule involved in the current regulation of the hormonal status and morphology of the plant [47,48]. For this reason, this inorganic N form has recently been termed a plant morphogen [49]. Clear evidence for the dominant role of N-NO₃ in yield formation is its influence on plant

growth, which affects both the shoot and root system architecture [50]. The effect of N supply to the plant manifests itself in clear, visible changes in the architecture of the plant's canopy. As can be seen in Figure 1a, wheat plants grown on an N control plot (i.e., without N_f supply) presented stunted growth (i.e., dwarf stature), low weight and surface area of leaves, and pale green color. In contrast, plants well-fed with N were characterized by a well-developed shoot, high mass and surface area of leaves, and an intense green color. All of these plants, despite a significant difference in the architecture of shoots, were in the same phase of growth (i.e., booting; BBCH 40–49). This phase is the crucial for the development of yield structure and determines the number of fertile florets [51]. Excess N supply to the plant, as shown for maize, results in the establishment of more cobs per plant (Figure 1b). However, this does not mean a higher yield of grain. Excessive supply of N also results in excessive growth of non-productive plant parts, leading to a reduction in grain per unit area [52,53].



Figure 1. Impact of nitrogen fertilization on nutritional status of winter wheat and maize (photos by W. Grzebisz).

The introduction of new cereal phenotypes in the 1960s, such as varieties with reduced stem length, first for wheat and then for rice, significantly changed the shoot architecture (dwarfism of the shoot). These genetic modifications resulted in an increased harvest index (HI)—that is, the share of grain in the total shoot biomass—at the expense of the stem. Improvement of the harvest index (HI) is the greatest effect of the Green revolution, as it finally led to higher grain yields of cereals, including rice [54]. However, the exposition of dwarf genes has also caused a reduction in the root system size of wheat varieties, which is significantly smaller than that of the classic ones [55,56]. As a consequence, the semi-dwarf or dwarf growth mode of modern cereals varieties result in the higher yield, provided that the supply of nutrients (especially N_f) is high, and that the plants are strongly protected against pathogens [54,57]. It can, therefore, be concluded that the currently grown cereals, due to their high requirements for N on one hand, and their smaller root systems on the other hand, are extremely sensitive to the supply of nutrients responsible for the uptake of N from the soil. One of the proposed solutions aimed at the increase in nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) are new-generation varieties that are capable of developing deep root systems. The proposed ideotype of this root system—referred to as "steep, cheap, and deep"-assumes the effective uptake of water and dissolved nutrients (mainly nitrates) [58,59]. A reorientation of the current breeding approach is urgently required in intensive production systems, where high rates of N_f are typically applied. It can also

provide a good solution in areas with frequent periods of drought, regarding the main phases of plant growth.

4. Nitrogen-Supporting Nutrients

Plant growth and productivity are the result of the action of about 20 elements that must be present in the soil to complete the plant's life cycle. The biophysical functions of plant-related elements have been well-documented and presented extensively in textbooks and review articles [60–62]. Not all of these elements are considered as nutrients, but all of them have a positive impact on the yield of crop plants [63]. A typical example is titanium (Ti), the positive effect of which on many crops has been recently documented [64].

N, considered especially in the form of nitrate (as discussed in the previous section), is the key nutrient, affecting both the rate of plant growth and the formation of yield components. The key evidence, in addition to that discussed above, is the response of the yield to the application of N–P–K fertilizers in various mutual fertilization systems. The effect of the interactions between N and other basic nutrients has been well-presented in long-term static fertilization experiments [65–67]. As shown in Figure 2, winter rye cultivated on Luvisol in a 7-course crop rotation (including two years of alfalfa) for 40 years yielded on plots without K (NP) or P (NK) only 6% and 5% less than on the NPK plot. The lack of both nutrients (i.e., K and P), as evidenced on a plot fertilized only with N, resulted in a yield drop of only 2.5%. The yield on the absolute control (AC) plot (i.e., the plot without application of any fertilizer, mineral or organic) for 40 years, was 30% lower than that on the NPK plot. Moreover, the same level of yield was recorded on plots fertilized only with P or K. Slightly greater differences between fertilization treatments were recorded for spring barley. Relative yield reductions were: -10%, -7%, and -42%, for NP, NK, and AC, respectively, as compared to NPK. The same yield level as for AC was noted on plots fertilized only with P or K. It must be added that the yields on the N plot were lower by 10%, compared to NPK [65]. The above-documented trends of plants grown on the naturally low fertility soil (Luvisol), with respect to different combinations of basic nutrients, have been supported by data from fertile soils, such as Entisol in the Netherlands (calcareous Entisol, containing 30% clay, 10% CaCO₃. The obtained data indicated that a lack of K fertilization over a period of 28 years did not adversely affect the yield of four crops grown in four-course crop rotation (sugar beets, spring barley, potatoes, and winter wheat) over 28 years. The lack of P was much more important, as its lack reduced the yield of sugar beets by 11%, but those of potatoes and spring barley by only 7% [68]. These two examples clearly show that the main source of P and K for crops is soil.



Figure 2. Effect of fertilization variants on yield of winter rye grown in 7-course crop rotation and monoculture (based on [65]). Legend: * Yield on the NPK variant = 100%; ** yield reduction—yield gap due to crop monoculture.

All plant nutrients support plant growth and yield formation through their impact on the productivity of N which, to a great extent, depends on the application of N_f Figure 1a,b. It can be concluded that it is unrealistic to expect an increase in the yield of a modern variety, as discussed above, without delivering N from external sources, whether natural (e.g., manure) or mineral. For these reasons, all nutrients affecting plant growth and yield can be called "nitrogen-supporting nutrients" (N-SNs). Based on agronomic practice, the whole set of N-SNs can be divided into four groups: (i) basic macronutrients, such as potassium (K) and phosphorus (P); (ii) secondary macronutrients, including magnesium (Mg), sulfur (S), and calcium (Ca); (iii) micronutrients, such as iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), boron (N), molybdenum (Mo), and chloride (Cl); and (iv) the beneficial group, composed of nickel (Ni), sodium (Na), silicon (Si), and titanium (Ti) [61,69].

The second important stage in the development of an economically and environmentally sound fertilization system using N_f requires knowledge regarding the patterns of accumulation of N-SNs during the growing season. The classic pattern for high-yielding winter oilseed rape (WOSR) is presented in Figure 3. There are some characteristics "hotpoints" in N-SN in-season patterns that require special attention by the farmer, based on the course of N accumulation. The most important points are:

- (1) The higher accumulation of K over N during the whole season of WOSR growth:
 - a. Starting with the rosette stage in Spring;
 - Achieving the maximum K uptake over N at the full flowering stage (K₂O:N as 1:1.6);
 - c. Declining from flowering to maturity (K₂O:N as 1:1).
- (2) Slow early growth in P uptake, continued up to the inflorescence stage (BBCH 50), followed by rapid ingrowth, lasting until the full flowering stage (BBCH 65), and then smoothly decreasing up to maturity.
- (3) A similar pattern for Mg as for P, but at a much lower level.
- (4) A spectacular pattern of Ca accumulation. Its uptake increases sharply at inflorescence, reaching a maximum at the end of the pod growth stage.



Figure 3. Patterns of nutrient accumulation during the growing season by high-yielding winter oilseed rape (simulation based on [70]).

The presented patterns of N, P, and K accumulation by WOSR during the growing season, obtained at the end of the 20th century, were very similar to their trends observed in

the 1980s [71]. The same pattern has been observed for high-yielding rice [72]. The effective production of maize depends on the supply of K and N during the period preceding flowering, but requires stabilization of K accumulation up the milk stage [73]. It can be concluded that the high yield of the seed crops can be achieved, provided that the K:N ratio is higher than 1.0 during the vegetative phases for seed plant growth. In the light of the available data, the maximum K:N should be revealed for the high-yielding crop just before the end of the linear phase of its growth [74]. The seasonal pattern of basic nutrient accumulation by legumes is only slightly different. As observed for soybean, the maximum K was at the late vegetative stages, and the level then decreased smoothly, while the accumulation of N, P, Ca, Mg, and S progressed through to maturity. Moreover, the maximum K:N ratio was 0.6:1 [75].

5. Potassium

The biophysical functions of K are well recognized and described [76,77]. The most important functions of K in crop production are those that affect (i) nitrate-nitrogen uptake, (ii) protein synthesis, (iii) water management (i.e., control of the stomata circadian rhythm), (iv) growth of vegetative organs (i.e., transport of assimilates from leaves to the new buds and tissues), and (v) yield formation (i.e., transport of assimilates from leaves to growing fruits). All of these functions are inherent in the plant's growth cycle [72,78,79].

The deficiency of K during the growing period of the cultivated plant adversely affects N uptake and, thus, photosynthesis, leading to a reduction in assimilate production [80]. K deficiency in the first stages of plant growth reduces the growth of single cells. As a consequence, the growth rate of new tissues and organs is reduced (Figure 4a); this applies to both roots and shoots. The reduction in shoot biomass is slightly lower than that in root biomass [80,81]. As documented for sugar beet, the growth rate of fibrous roots is much faster in soil rich in available K, compared to the soil with medium content [82]. The rate of plant cell expansion depends on the action of auxins, the concentration of which in the plant and transfer to the roots is strongly related to the availability of N-NO₃ in the soil [49,83]. The stunted stature of crop plants is the most striking visual symptom of K deficiency (Figure 4). In maize, the length of internodes is drastically reduced during the phase of shoot intensive growth (Figure 4b). In cereals, the classical symptom is the same (i.e., reduced length of the stem). The secondary outcome, which is important in grain production, is the reduced density of ears (Figure 4a). This yield component will not be compensated for by a larger number of grains per ear or weight, thus directly leading to a significant decrease in grain density [24,84].

Crop plants differ in their demand for K. A proposed grouping of crop plants, according to K accumulated at harvest, and proposed recently by White et al. [85], has significant weaknesses. In general, it is true that cereals or legumes accumulate less K than dicotyledonous crops (leafy, root, or tuberous plants). It cannot, however, be concluded from this that cereals are tolerant of low soil K fertility level. It has been well-documented that cereals and cruciferous crops develop a large and intensive root system which, in turn, increases the absorption area of the plant for K uptake [86,87]. This specific plant feature determines the rate of K uptake under critical conditions, such as low content of available K or mild water stress. Sandy soils, as compared to loamy soils, as a rule are poorer in available K. Moreover, a decrease in the content of available water results in a much faster decrease in the coefficient of K effective diffusion [82,88,89]. The greater sensitivity of dicotyledonous plants to the level of soil K fertility is the result of two reasons [74,86]:

(1) Higher demand for K in the linear phase of growth;

(2) Much smaller root system, especially root length density.



Figure 4. The stunted stature of plants due to potassium deficiency is the primary signal of yield depression in crop plants. (photos by W. Grzebisz).

Numerous scientific articles and even academic textbooks have presented—seemingly true—opinions regarding the quantitative dominance of N uptake over K accumulated by crops during the growing season [61,90]. This opinion can be applied to low-yielding crops, due to the deficiency of K in the linear phase of the plant growth [91]. In the case of high-yielding crops (i.e., those which are able to exploit the potential of cultivated varieties), the dominance of K uptake over N has been well-documented (Figure 3; [72,82]). The classic example is maize [53]. This crop takes more K than N during the vegetative growth. This opinion is also in accordance with a study on nutrient accumulation by wheat in India [92]. The authors clearly showed that the unit accumulation of K was higher than N, and the optimal N:P:K ratio in the plant dry matter for high-yielding wheat was as 6.6:1:8.1.

Based on the amounts of key nutrients accumulated by winter oilseed rape (WOSR), three regression models of the seed yield have been developed [93]. It is necessary to emphasize that the yield of WOSR ranged from 2.223 to 5.807 t ha^{-1} . The obtained regression models were as follows:

$$N \rightarrow Y = 0.12N + 1.192$$
 for $n = 18$, $R^2 = 0.69$ and $p \le 0.01$, (3)

$$K \rightarrow Y = 0.007K + 1.6$$
 for $n = 18$, $R^2 = 0.89$ and $p \le 0.01$, (4)

$$Mg \rightarrow Y = -0.005 Mg^2 + 0.39 Mg - 2.242$$
 for n = 18, R² = 0.61 and $p \le 0.01$ (5)

The final K uptake, regardless of the seed yield and weather conditions during the research, always exceeded that of N. The linear course for N and K clearly indicates that both nutrients were limiting factors for the yield. Moreover, the strength of the effect of N on WOSR yield, according to the R² coefficient, was much weaker compared to that of K. This model of N and K accumulation by seed crops is not new, having been defined about 40 years ago for winter wheat and WOSR [71,94].

The seemingly contradictory opinion regarding the impact of N and K on yield is explained in Figure 5. The amount of K in winter wheat (WW) during the Yield Formation Period (defined by the linear increase in dry matter)—a mega-phase covering the main phases such as stem elongation, booting, and heading—exceeded, regardless of the water conditions, the amount of N taken up. Moreover, the K:N ratio up to the beginning of

wheat flowering for irrigated wheat was higher than 1.0. A sharp drop in K accumulation was revealed during the grain filling period. The course of N was significantly different from that of K, showing a net increase in its accumulation up to the early milk stage (BBCH 72), then decreasing slightly. These two (partly opposing) trends resulted in the K:N ratio narrowing at wheat maturity. The same trend of K accumulation has been recently observed in barley [95]. The presented data clearly explain the discrepancy in published data regarding the trend of K accumulation by high-yielding crops.



Figure 5. Nitrogen (N) and potassium (K) accumulation by winter wheat in critical stages of yield formation under various water conditions; means of three growing seasons (Grzebisz, not published). Legend: The different letters indicate significant differences between the treatments ($p \le 0.05$); * irrigation and ** non-irrigation conditions of wheat cultivation, respectively; K, N, potassium and nitrogen, respectively.

The importance of K for yield formation is to be considered through the expression of yield components. It has been well-documented that K accumulation in seed crops reaches its maximum before flowering (Figures 3 and 5). In seed crops, this period is crucial for establishing the seed/grain density, which is treated as the key yield component [96]. It should be clearly stated that an adequate K supply to the seed crop during the Yield Formation Period (YFP) supporting N supply is the prerequisite of high yield. The presented opinion is neither a hypothesis nor an assumption, but a conclusion from our own studies and supported by available literature sources. The excessive uptake of K by wheat may result, however, in GD reduction, consequently leading to a decrease in grain yield [97]. This phenomenon has also been observed in maize and dicotyledonous plants, such as potato [52,98–100]. The unexpected effect of excessive K uptake can be explained by the accelerated supply of N to plants due to co-transport of NO_3^- and K⁺ ions through the plasma membrane [62,80].

The role of K in the transportation of assimilates in the phloem has been welldocumented [60]. The survival of seeds/grain in the period from setting up to the watery stage is inherently related to the supply of assimilates [101]; therefore, it can be concluded that K is responsible for the final seed/grain set. This concept is supported by the impact of the accumulated K on yield components, as shown in Equation (1). As recorded by Grzebisz at al. [93], K uptake at the beginning of WOSR flowering was the key factor, positively affecting the seed density (SD), while negatively affecting Thousand Seed Weight (TSW) at the same time:

$$SD = 203.3K + 3462$$
 for $n = 18$, $R^2 = 0.92$, $p \le 0.01$ (6)

$$TSW = -0.04K + 691 \text{ for } n = 18, R^2 = 0.48, p \le 0.05$$
(7)

The first equation fully corroborates the opinion of Pan et al. [102], who clearly stated that a deficiency of K reduces the sink size capacity. The second equation clearly confirms the phenomenon known as the dilution effect [103], concerning the dilution of nutrients in seeds, including N. Most important is the fact that the productivity of 1 kg of N_f increased from 14 to 24 kg seeds kg⁻¹ N_f for K uptake of 178 and 504 kg ha⁻¹ and seed yield of 3.0 and 5.14 t ha⁻¹, respectively [93]. Potatoes are considered to be a K-sensitive crop, in terms of both yield and tuber quality [104]. Studies on the effect of the N × K interaction on tuber yield have clearly shown that an increased dose of K fertilizer can significantly increase N productivity. This is an important premise for reducing the N_f dose [105,106].

6. Phosphorus

As in the case of K, the biophysical functions of P in plants are well-known and understood [60]. Three of its key functions can be treated as essential in agricultural practice. The first one concerns the biochemical energy (i.e., adenosine triphosphate; ATP), which is a high-P-energy compound. The synthesis of ATP is completely dependent on the supply of P to a plant. The generated energy is used in all plant energy transformation processes, starting with uptake of nutrients, and then their transport and transport of assimilates between the plant's organs. At the end of this (energy and matter) transformation chain, the accumulation of organic compounds takes place in the main crop products (e.g., seeds, grains, roots, tubers, fruits) [107,108]. The second key function of P is the synthesis of nucleic acids (DNA and RNA), constituting 40–60% of the organic P pool in the plant. These compounds are components of genes and chromosomes, constituents of the plant's genetic code. For this reason, they are responsible-among other aspects-for crop production; that is, the production of new generations of plants through seeds and grains [109]. The third crucial function of P, which is important in plant production, is phytin. This is a P storage compound in seeds/grains. The content of P in seeds is important, stimulating their germination and plant vitality in the early stages of growth [110,111].

Phosphorus is taken up by the plant from the soil solution as an orthophosphate ion (H₂PO₄⁻, Pi) [112]. The amount of P needed to maintain the optimum rate of plant growth is much smaller, compared to N and K [85]. In general, the P requirements of non-seed plants is much lower that of the seed- or fruit-producing plants, ranging from 14 to 40 kg P ha⁻¹ [107]. As with nitrates, the uptake of orthophosphate ions is an energy-dependent process. The key reason is the high P concentration gradient of 10,000 between its concentration in the plant cell (cytosol) and the soil solution [113]. The uptake of P from the soil is, first of all, a function of the plant root density (RLD; cm roots cm⁻³ soil). The content of available P in the soil solution is the second factor determining its acquisition from the soil [114,115]. The mechanisms of P extraction from the soil are diverse, depending on the current P nutritional status in the plant. Plants deficient in P trigger a number of processes, such as investment in the RLD and root surface area, symbiotic associations with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, rhizosphere acidification, and activation of phosphate transporters in the plasma membrane. All of these processes undergo acceleration when Pi concentration in the soil solution decreases [116–118].

Phosphorus deficiency results from low Pi supply to the plant root, due to its low content in the soil solution or unfavorable environmental conditions, including low temperature, water shortage/soil drought, and low soil pH, among others [119]. The visual symptoms of P deficiency—regardless of the plant species—can be seen on older leaves as bluish–violet discoloration, leading frequently to plant death due to disturbances to basic physiological processes (Figure 6a). These symptoms, appearing in the early stages of plant

growth, are an indirect signal of a deep disturbance in N metabolism [120]. Crop responses to P deficiency manifest as growth inhibition, even leading to a failure in development of reproductive organs, which is often observed in maize (Figure 6b). A mild deficiency causes a temporary, short-term slowdown in plant growth [121]. The first plant response to a slight P deficiency is very specific, being manifested by the ingrowth of roots at the expense of the shoot biomass [108,122]. In a P_i-rich growth milieu, plants take up excess P to their needs, accumulating it an inorganic form. This pool is used during the growth of reproductive organs, such as seeds, grains, and tubers/roots [109,123].



Figure 6. Symptoms of phosphorus deficiency in two different species grown in humid climate zone: (**a**) violet plants of winter oilseed rape are not able to conduct photosynthesis); and (**b**) violet maize plants at BBCH 33 often fail to develop a cob. (Photos by W. Grzebisz.)

Phosphorus yield-forming functions are best recognized for seed crops for which two critical stages have been identified. The first, minor function refers to all plants, and appears in the early stages of plant growth, being an important factor influencing the growth rate of roots and shoots [111,118]. For this reason, in plant production, a starting dose of P fertilizer is suggested to be applied, regardless of the content available P in the soil [124]. The second critical period for P uptake by dicotyledonous crops is poorly understood. In root and tuber crops, the increase in P accumulation is associated with the stage of intensive sugar or starch accumulation (Figure 7; [123,125,126]). As has been reported by Barłóg et al. [126], $\frac{1}{4}$ of the recommended P rate for sugar beets is sufficient to achieve a moderate yield (\approx 60 t ha⁻¹ FW); however, in order to exploit the sugar beet yield potential in Poland (\approx 80 t ha⁻¹ FW of storage roots)—which significantly depends on weather-the full P rate is needed. The key reason for this is that the storage yield depends on the supply of P to the plant during the late stages of growth. The advantage of a lower P dose (as shown in Figure 4) is the cessation of N accumulation in storage roots, resulting in both earlier sugar beet technological maturity and a lower content of so-called harmful N compounds [126].

In the case of seed plants, the main period of P requirement begins at the onset of flowering (Figure 3; [71,94]). Most of the P accumulated in the vegetative parts of these plants is then stored in seeds/grains. In a mature seed crop, between 85–95% of the total accumulated P is in seeds/grains [127,128]. The P remobilization efficiency ranges from 60–85% [129]. The degree of depletion of P in vegetative plant parts by the growing seeds/grain is not limited by its content in those organs, as has been suggested by Veneklass et al. [109]. In fact, it depends on the number of seeds/grains per plant that act as a physiological sink [127]. The key reason for the excess of P in vegetative plant parts is not the low rate of P remobilization from vegetative plant parts, as suggested by Wang et al., [130], but the low requirements of the growing seeds/grains [127].



Figure 7. Effect of NPK fertilization systems on nitrogen accumulation in storage roots of sugar beets (based on Szczepaniak et al. [125]). Legend: PK—NPK100—the applied amount of P and K; N control; NP25K25—P and K applied at a dose of 25% compared to NPK100.

For low-yielding seed plants, and such a model dominates in the world, the P plant resources accumulated before flowering are sufficient to ensure even a moderate yield. The essence of the matter is the dilution effect that P is subject to in the reproductive organs of the plant [127,131,132]. However, a completely different model of the P management functions in high-yielding seed plants. In the first stage of reproductive organs growth, P is effectively re-mobilized and then re-translocated from the vegetative plant parts to the growing seeds/grains. The P resources accumulated in the plant before flowering, as a rule, are sufficient to cover the needs of the reproductive plant's organs. One of the reasons for this is the high P plasticity in seeds/grains, expressed by a very high rate of its dilution. This phenomenon has been observed for maize, wheat, rice, and winter oil seed rape [108,127]. In the second stage of seed/grain growth, the increased demand for P can be covered by P taken up by the plant from the soil [108,133]. This strategy is especially important for rice, which takes up 40–70% of the total P from the soil during the grain-filling period [129].

The reliability of long-term experiments for the assessment of P management by plants is limited by too high doses of P fertilizers used annually [65–67]. As a result, the recovery of P, even assessed over a long period, is typically low. As has been reported by Buczko et al. [66], the annual rate of P ranged from 10 to 210 (with an average of 60.7) kg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. The relative increase in yield, even on soil naturally poor in the available P, did not exceed 10%. Consequently, these data cannot be used to determine the sufficiency level of available P (P-SL) in the soil for the tested plants. A high P recovery (P-R) is usually expected in soils poor in available P. As shown in Figure 8, wheat responded to P fertilization up to 45 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹. This P dose increased the content of available P in the soil to a level sufficient for the maximum yield of wheat in this particular study. There was no increase in the yield above the range of 16–18 mg P kg $^{-1}$ soil. Above this range, there was no response of wheat to an increase in the content of available P just before flowering [134]. In the presented example, the P recovery was 65% in the variant with 15 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹, 50% in the variant with 45 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹, and only 16% in the variant fertilized with 150 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹. Moreover, in P-R, starting from a plot of 45 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹, this perfectly fits into the power function:

$$P - R = 1751 P_f^{-0.94}$$
 for $R^2 = 0.999$ and $n = 8$ (8)
This example clearly demonstrates that P_f rates above that required for P–SL do not affect crop yield. Excessive P content in vegetative wheat parts, above P–SL, indicates insufficient size of wheat sink (the number of grain per unit area) to utilize these resources. This means that, for current wheat varieties, it is necessary to prepare new plant nutrition standards. Those that were developed 40–50 years ago are not reliable in current agricultural practice [135]. In the presented case, however, the most important fact is that the partial factor productivity of N_f (PFP- P_f) increased from 28 to 45 kg grain kg N_f^{-1} in the control P plot and 45 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹, thus determining the appropriate P-SL range.

Two conclusions summarize this section: first, the shortage of P significantly reduces, while its excess supply does not affect, N productivity; second, the P_f rate should adjusted to the soil level of availability that maximizes the productivity of N_f of the currently grown plant.



Figure 8. Yield of wheat response to the content of available phosphorus (based on [134]). Legend: * SR, ** SL, phosphorus sufficiency range, sufficiency level of the content of available P (determined by Olsen method).

7. Efficient Nitrogen Management—The Soil Fertility Clock Concept

7.1. Definition of the Concept

The role of N_f in crop production, which is the absolute basis of food production, results from its effects on the rate of plant growth, partitioning of assimilates between plant parts, formation of yield components, and quality of plant products [136]. The dominant impact of N on the life cycle of crop plants, as presented above, is justified at three levels of organization of the plant production process: (i) biochemical, (ii) physiological, and (iii) agronomic.

The key productive function of all other nutrients is to support the actions of N and, in fact, to control its productivity. The nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) is defined as the amount of main product per unit of N taken up by the plant during its growing season [137]. For this reason, any sophisticated attempt to calculate efficiency indices for K, P, or even for other nutrients is useless for a farmer. The calculation is useful, but only for understanding basic biophysical processes in crop plants [85,138,139]. The supply of N-SNs to the currently grown plant should be maintained at the level that maximizes—and not reduces—the yield-forming effects of N. It is necessary to take into account that the farmer cultivates plants in a specific sequence, called crop rotation. Therefore, the key goal of the farmer is to determine the critical level of soil fertility, not for all crops in rotation, but for the most sensitive plant to the nutrient, decisive for N productivity. This is the key challenge for the

farmer, which should be treated as a necessary condition aimed at the development of an effective N_f management system for both farm economics and without imposing negative pressure on the health of the environment.

7.2. Maximum Attainable Yield—A Farm Production Goal

The potential yield of the grown plant—that is, the yield achieved under optimal environmental conditions (climate + soil) and rational management of the applied resources—is a theoretical term. This term, however, defines the production target, which may not be achievable in real production conditions [140,141]. Despite this, farmers need data on the maximum yields of crops that are grown in the geographical area of their production activity. This forms the basis for assessing the distance from the actual yield (Y_a) to the realistic production target, namely, the maximum attainable yield (Y_{attmax}). There are several ways to calculate or forecast Y_{attmax} and Y_a . There is no doubt that the most important factor determining N uptake from the soil solution is water, the carrier of ions arriving at the root surface [60]. Therefore, one of the most frequently used methods for Y_a determination relies on water productivity, in terms of water use efficiency (WUE). This method assumes a fixed amount of yield per unit of water [142]:

$$WUE = \frac{Y_a}{ET_a}$$
(9)

where Y_a is the actual yield (kg, t ha⁻¹) and ET_a is the water use (i.e., water transpired by a plant or evaporated from the bare soil; mm, m³);

This method assumes that a plant's yield increases with an increasing amount of available water. Hence, the yield defined in this way is called "the water-limited yield" (WLY) [142]. This method has been modified by Grzebisz et al. [82], as follows:

$$WLY = TE (R - \Sigma E_s) + WR$$
(10)

where TE is the transpiration efficiency (TE = k/VPD; k is the biomass transformation ratio), VDP is the vapor pressure deficit (hPa), R is the total sum of rainfall during the growing period of the cultivated crop (mm, m³), E_s is the seasonal soil evaporation (equal to 110 mm), and WR denotes the water reserves in the rooted soil zone (mm, m³).

The main component of this equation is TE. Its value for wheat in Australia has been estimated at 20 kg grain mm^{-1} of water, with a maximum of 30 kg grain mm^{-1} [143]. However, this index depends on the amount of water available during the growing season; for example, as reported for spring triticale grown in a humid climate (Poland), the TE value ranged from 15 to 39 kg grain mm^{-1} [93]. This wide range clearly indicates the high sensitivity of this index to soil fertility and, consequently, to the effect of nutritional factors on plant growth and yield. Moreover, WLY cannot be regarded as a constant climatic value, as it largely depends on the amount of available water during the growing season for the currently cultivated crop. As shown in Figure 9, for maize, the WLY ranged from 8.52 t ha^{-1} in a year with a normal pattern of weather conditions to 5.68 t ha^{-1} in a year with drought. The obtained yields, despite the completely different course of weather, were relatively high. The main reason for this was soil fertility (sandy loam, naturally rich in available K and other nutrients). The main conclusions that can be drawn from this Figure are as follows:

- The content of available K (in the medium range) was enough to achieve the highest grain yield.
- (2) The interaction of K and N was observed, regardless of the course of the weather.
- (3) If the available K in the soil (being in the high range) is excessive, the yield will decrease.

The yield drop was accelerated by the increased dose of N_f. This unexpected effect (i.e., yield suppression) was due to the excessive accumulation of N in maize biomass before flowering, which resulted in a reduction in the number of kernels per cob [144,145].

The analysis of the partial factor productivity of the N_f index (PFP-N_f), for the presented case, is even more interesting. In 2001, the highest value of the index (109 kg grain kg N_f⁻¹) was recorded on a plot with high K level and fertilized with 100 kg N ha⁻¹. The highest yield, however, was achieved on a plot with a medium K availability range and with 140 kg N ha⁻¹, resulting in PFP-N_f of 100 kg grain kg N_f⁻¹. Both values are high, compared to the literature data [146]. In the presented case, it is worth discussing the rational choice of both N and K fertilizing systems. Raising the K soil fertility level to the high class resulted in a reduction in the dose of N_f by 40 kg ha⁻¹. It is necessary to take into account the fact that, on the field with the medium K level, the application of 140 kg N ha⁻¹.



Figure 9. Effect of K soil fertility on maize yield in two years differing in water regime (modification based on [144]). Legend: * soil K fertility level: M, medium, D, high; ** Partial factor productivity of N_f (kg grain kg⁻¹ N_f).

The WLY concept is a good tool for scientific studies. In agricultural practice, its use requires a set of data that is not typically readily available to the farmer. Moreover, this method does not explain the action of factors responsible for WUE. A proposed alternative method for determining Y_a is the concept of nitrogen gap (NG) [91]. The main components of this methodological approach for yield gap calculation are the N_f applied to the crop (which is known to the farmer) and the main yield. This data set may be enriched with other environmental and agronomic data that impact the NUE. The calculation procedure consists of the following steps:

Partial Factor Productivity of N_f:
$$PFP_{Nf} = \frac{Y}{N_f} \left(kg kg^{-1} N_f \right)$$
 (11)

Attainable maximum yield : $Y_{attmax} = cPFP_{Nf} \cdot N_f(t, kg ha^{-1})$ (12)

Yield Gap :
$$YG = Y_{attmax} - Y_a(t ha^{-1})$$
 (13)

Nitrogen Gap (N_{uw}):
$$NG = \frac{YG}{cPFP_{Nf}} (kg N ha^{-1})$$
 (14)

where N_f

is the amount of applied fertilizer N (kg ha $^{-1}$);

PFP-N_f is the partial factor productivity of N_f (kg grain/seeds, tubers, etc., per kg N_f);

 Y_{attmax} is the maximum attainable yield (t ha⁻¹); cPFP-N_f is the average of the third quartile (Q3) set of PFP_{Nf} indices, arranged in ascending order (kg grain/seeds, tubers, etc., per kg N_f);

YG is the yield gap (t ha⁻¹);

NG is the nitrogen gap (kg N ha⁻).

The advantage of this method over the WLY is its simplicity in determining both Y_a and Y_{attmax} in a well-defined soil–climatic geographical area. The farmer, having access to data on environmental and agronomic production conditions (e.g., soil texture, soil pH, contents of basic nutrients, plant variety, level of plant protection, date of sowing) in their production region, can determine factors limiting the Y_{attmax} . The Y_a is a function of the formula:

$$Y_a = Y_{attmax} - YG$$
 (15)

The NG values are required to produce a Y_{attmax} diagram, showing the distance between Y_a and Y_{attmax} . The detailed procedure for preparing the NG diagram has been described in recently published papers [147,148]. The distance Y_a for a specific field from Y_{attmax} can also be expressed by the fractional Y_a index (Y_{af}):

$$Y_{\rm af} = \frac{Y_{\rm a}}{Y_{\rm attmax}} \tag{16}$$

A value of Y_{af} approaching 1.0 indicates sustainable management of applied N_f.

١

7.3. Factors Affecting N Fertilizer Use Efficiency

As shown in Equations 1 and 2, the Y_a of the cultivated plant is the result of the interaction between Y_{attmax} and efficiency of applied N_f (EN_f). In turn, the EN_f depends on the effectiveness of other factors that limit or increase the productivity of N_f .

The total number of factors which impact EN_f can be divided into five main groups:

- Farm organization and management;
- Agronomic factors (e.g., cropping sequence ≈ crop rotation, soil tillage, seed bed preparation, cultivar, sowing date, harvest date);
- (3) Plant protection treatments, preventing yield reduction due to pathogens and pests;
- (4) Fertilizing treatments aimed at the correction of soil fertility;
- (5) Fertilizing treatments aimed at the in-season correction of the nutritional status of the grown plant.

The first group of production factors (i.e., organization and management of plant production processes on the farm) should not have a negative impact on the yield. In an economically well-run farm, the effectiveness of this group of factors should be at the level of 1.0—this is, after all, a basic prerequisite of the food production approach, known as the Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture (SIA) [14]. However, its implementation is only apparently easy. In fact, plant production on farms is under deep economic pressure [149]. A classic example is the method of plant cultivation. The economical decision to grow crops in monoculture, instead of crop rotation (a classical example is maize), may significantly reduce production costs, but a farmer must be aware of yield decreases [150]. There remains, however, uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of other production factors, which usually deteriorate. The decrease in yields of classic cereals grown under long-term monoculture is substantial. As shown in Figure 1, for winter rye, it can reach -20% under NPK treatment. The shortage of K resulted in a yield drop by 24% and that of P by 33%. There are also negative environmental effects to such an approach [151].

The farmer must effectively manage all agronomic factors and the health of the plant [61]. The efficiency of these factors, in accordance to the SIA concept, should be also set at 1.0. In this group, tillage and crop rotation are of particular importance for the available N pool and the uptake of its inorganic forms (N_{min}) by plants [152,153]. The main task of soil tillage is to mix plant residues, manure, and mineral fertilizers—especially those containing low-mobility nutrients (P, K)—into the topsoil. No less important is the

loosening of deeper soil layers and elimination of the plow sole [154]. The main production goal of this set of agronomic treatments is to increase the potential of the currently grown plant to penetrate the subsoil with its roots. It cannot be considered as only a source of water, as it is an important source of both N_{min} and N-SNs. Under conditions unfavorable to plant growth, such as drought, the yield is largely determined by water and nutrient resources in the subsoil [155–157]. Unfortunately, the greatest weakness of the current methods for diagnosis of soil fertility and the resulting fertilization recommendations (apart from N) is a lack of methods for assessing the capacity of these resources and the availability of N-SNs. A simple technical and diagnostic solution is the use of extractants for N_{min} [158,159].

The succession of plants grown on a given field is highly important for the effective management of N. A classic, biologically documented pattern of plant succession is the Norfolk rotation, which has been known for about two centuries [54]. As shown in Figure, 1, the cultivation of winter rye, a crop considered by farmers to be tolerant to monoculture, resulted in the significant yield reduction, which was exacerbated by the lack of balance of N with other nutrients. The cultivation of winter wheat (WW) after cereals also leads to yield reduction [67,160]. As has been reported by Babulicova [160], the yield of WW following legume plant was 29% higher than that following cereals. The well-established crop sequence is based on the assumption that dicotyledonous and monocotyledonous crops should be cultivated alternately in successive years. The advantages of crop rotation, regarding the efficient use of N_f are [65,87,161,162]:

- The use of natural sources of N available on the field and farm. This leads to a reduction in the need for N_f.
- (2) Biological subsoil amelioration by the strong root systems of dicots. Expected agronomic effects lead to:
 - a. Mobilization of the soil nutrient resources (root exudates, mycorrhiza);
 - b. Increased soil water capacity, resulting in better infiltration of rainwater;
 - c. Increased exploration of the subsoil (i.e., growth of cereal roots in the root pores of dicots).
- (3) A narrower C:N ratio in manure and residues of legumes. Both sources of organic matter have a positive effect on humus formation and content in the soil.
- (4) The exploitation of soil nutrient resources within and in the soil profile is more sustainable, both qualitatively and quantitatively.

Crop rotation should not be considered by the farmer as a factor that decreases yield. Unfortunately, this is not the case, as has been evidenced in the scientific literature and agricultural practice. The key reasons for yield reduction due to wrongly planned crop succession (or even monoculture), to a great extent, are:

- Insufficient N supply during the critical stages of yield formation, reducing the main components of the yield [67];
- Disturbances in the processes of N transformation and uptake from soil [150];
- c. Disturbances in the uptake of nutrients responsible for NUE (Figure 1; [163]);
- d. Attack by pathogens, reducing the photosynthetic potential of the plant [164].

8. An Efficient System for Management of N-SNs—Principles of the Soil Fertility Clock

8.1. State of K and P Fertility Level and Food Production

The crop production potential of a single field in inherently related to its soil fertility level, presented as the depth of the humus profile and the content of available nutrients [165]. Fertile soil creates conditions for the build-up of a large (extensive) root system, which is crucial for the uptake of non-mobile nutrients, such as phosphorus and potassium [166].

The share of N, P, and K fertilizers in total nutrient uptake by cereals has been assessed as 33% for N, 16% for P, and 19% for K [167]. In China, as reported by Ren et al. [168],

K fertilizer covers less than 20% (18.5%) of the total K in winter oilseed rape at harvest. Khan et al. [169], who studied 1400 field trials fertilized with K, did not observe any significant impact of the applied K (as KCl) on the yield of basic crops. According to MacDonald et al. [170], 29% of the world area of arable soils shows a deficit, while the remaining part shows a surplus of available P. The significant impact of P fertilizer can be revealed, as a rule, on soils with a low content of available P. The yield loss due to deficiency of P supply (P yield gap) to wheat is 22% (18–28%), 55% for maize (47–66%), and 26% for rice (18–46%). Moreover, the application of P fertilizers reduced this production gap to only 17% for wheat, 46% for maize, and 15% for rice [116]. At this point, it is necessary to ask whether the yield gap is actually due to a deficiency of available P, or the ineffectiveness of N_f due to the imbalance of P and other nutrients.

The key question to be formulated is: what is the appropriate level—or rather, the critical range—of N-SNs content in the soil? In the light of the facts presented above, classic P and K management strategies require significant modifications. The basis for these required corrections is the fact that the plants are grown in a cropping sequence determined by the economic goals of the farm. Not all modern crop sequences follow rational principles (i.e., biologically based crop plant succession) [54,171–173]. It has been well-documented, in millions of scientific articles, that the deviation of a particular cropping sequence from biological rules leads to a decrease in yield. The classic example is the Rothamsted long-term experiment with winter wheat [67]. Wheat followed directly by wheat or grown in monoculture yielded a significantly lower level, compared to that following dicotyledonous plants. Second, the maximum grain yield achieved under non-optimal rotation was, in this example, both lower and, at the same time, required a higher N_f rate. These results clearly indicate lower unit N_f productivity due to N immobilization, disturbance in uptake of N-SNs, and stronger pressure by pathogens [150,174–176].

The soil resources of P and K are the main source of nutrients for the cultivated crop. Over-exploitation of available pools of these nutrients leads to the degradation of soil fertility, subsequently resulting in the lower N_f productivity. Moreover, these processes create a multi-level risk, for the yield, farm economics, and the environment (Photos 2 and 3; [177]). The productivity of a particular field is determined by the level of soil fertility, conditioned by water capacity and the content of available N-SNs in the rooting zone of the currently cultivated crop [153,154,157]. At present, the subsoil resources of N-SNs are not included in typical soil fertility status diagnostic procedures. Moreover, there is a frequently presented opinion regarding their low significance for the plant growth and yield [178]. In the light of the published data, the share of P and K from fertilizers for crop plant nutrition is of secondary importance for the maintenance and synchronization of plant needs and nutrient supply from the soil. The logical conclusion to be drawn from these facts is unambiguous: the farmer's goal for effective management of N_f is not to use P and K fertilizers or other carriers of these nutrients for direct feeding of the plant, but to coordinate the soil fertility level to maximize N_f use efficiency.

8.2. Management of Soil Fertility—Oriented to Cropping Sequence

Soil productivity is the ability of arable soil to provide the currently grown plant with air, water, and nutrients in the required amounts, mutual proportions, and ratios, ensuring full expression and development of the yield components [179]. This general property of arable soils has been indicated as one of the most important objectives listed in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by the United Nations in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [180]. This global goal can be achieved, but only through two targeted actions. The first is oriented towards stopping the degradation of soil fertility. This action refers to the world regions where soil fertility has been drastically reduced [10,177]. The second requires a significant correction in N-SN management strategies in areas of the world with advanced crop plant productivity. The so-called Old Agricultural Areas of the world will be decisive for food supply to the growing human population in the coming decades.

At present, two main concepts dominate in soil fertility management. The first—called the maintenance approach—is based on the assumption that the main goal of N-SNs is necessary to maintain the content of available nutrients at a certain level, allowing crop growth and yield. Three phases of soil fertility build-up can be distinguished using this approach: (i) build-up, (ii) maintenance, and (iii) draw-down [181]. In practice, the recommended rates of nutrients increase with the size of the gap between the maintenance level and the actual soil fertility status for a given nutrient. In most countries, using this fertilization approach, the nutrient doses recommended by agrochemical testing laboratories are consistent with the state of its deficiency. A classic example is the K recommendation in China for WOSR yielding at 3.75 t ha⁻¹ [168]. The decreasing content of available K (NH₄OAc-K extraction method) resulted in increasing the dose of applied K from 232 kg ha⁻¹ at low K range to 50 kg ha⁻¹ at high K range. The second approach, called sufficiency ranges, is based on the required (i.e., sufficient) level of the given nutrient for the respective crop [181].

These two fertilization strategies are based on the assumption that low-mobility nutrients are as effective as nitrate nitrogen [147]. The coefficient of effective diffusion for the N form is 2.7×10^{-1} cm² s⁻¹. In comparison, this index for K⁺ and NH₄⁺ ions are about 100-fold lower ($1-28 \times 10^{-8}$ and 6.1×10^{-8} cm² s⁻¹, respectively). For H₂PO₄⁻ ions, this index is 10,000-fold lower, compared to nitrates [182,183]. The differences in the uptake rates of N and K are shown for sugar beets in Figure 7. Within 7 days of sugar beet growth in July, the N-NO₃ resources, but not K, were completely depleted (100%) to a depth of 1.8 m. For K, this level of depletion was reached at a depth of 0.5 m. The most intensive uptake of both nutrients took place in the soil layer (0.0–0.6 m). There are two main conclusions to be drawn from Figure 10:

- (1) The nutrients are exploited from the whole root zone of the currently grown crop plant;
- (2) The faster uptake of nitrates than K⁺ by the fibrous roots of sugar beet means that a significant part of the low-mobility nutrients in the soil will not be taken up (i.e., not used up in the growing season).



Figure 10. Degree of nitrate and potassium utilization in the soil during the maximum stage of K accumulation by sugar beets (based on [74]).

The classic concepts of N-SNs do not take into account two crucial facts; that crop plants differ in their sensitivity to the supply of N-SNs:

During the growing season;

b. In the course of crop rotation.

The efficient management of N-SNs in a soil/plant system should be based on the following principles of crop production:

- (1) Annual crop plants should be cultivated in a fixed sequence (i.e., the crop rotation).
- (2) Cereals have, as a rule, lower requirements for K, but higher requirements for P, compared to non-cereal crops.
- (3) Dicotyledonous plants have higher requirements for K than cereals.
- (4) The architecture of the root system of cereals is, as a rule, extensive compared to dicotyledonous plants. Consequently, cereals are less sensitive to the level of P and K fertility.
- (5) The distribution of low-mobility nutrients varies with depth.
- (6) Plants during the growing season differ significantly in the critical stages of nutrient requirement:
 - a. Seed crops show critical periods, in terms of P requirements, during the vegetative (minor one) and reproductive (main one) periods of growth;
 - b. All crops are sensitive to K during the linear phase of growth.
- (7) The critical period for N requirements by a seed crop is related to stages of seed/grain density formation.
- (8) The key yield-forming function of P in all crops is to accelerate the early rate of the plant growth.
- (9) The exploitation of P resources by seed crops, accumulated in vegetative parts before flowering, depends on seed/grain density.
- (10) The yield-forming function of K in
 - a. Seed crops is to strengthen N action;
 - b. Dicotyledonous crops is acceleration of the early rate of the plant growth (mostly up to the rosette stage).

All of these points should be taken into account by the farmer during the process of development of the fertilization system.

Soil Fertility Clock (SFC) is an approach based on three assumptions which are key to the effective management of N_f :

- Critical soil fertility is the value or range of a soil nutrient's content that is sufficient to provide it in the appropriate amount to the plant most sensitive to its supply in a given crop rotation.
- (2) Other, non-sensitive plants in the given crop rotation create the necessary time-frame for recovery of its original critical content.
- (3) The content of a specific nutrient cannot be a limiting factor in N uptake and utilization for any crop grown. Its fractional use efficiency, regardless of the actual plant in crop rotation, is ≤1.0.

The SFC concept is visualized in graphical abstract and explained in Figure 11 and Table 1. The critical K level for oilseed rape or any other dicotyledonous crop creates favorable conditions for the succeeding crop; that is, cereals, and most often wheat. The K level will still be high enough to cover the K requirement of wheat. A third crop in a certain cropping sequence—for example, maize—requires the farmer's attention to adjust the K content. This is necessary only if the K content drops below the medium level. This is very probable when harvest residues are removed from the field (Table 1). The critical period of K correction, which must be oriented toward the so-called crop rotation critical K level is, in the discussed case, the spring barley growing season. This is a key term in the agronomic clock for determining both the level of K in the soil and determining the fertilization needs for the plant sequence spring barley \rightarrow winter oil-seed rape. Managing P in crop rotation is a bit more complicated. It requires, regardless of the grown crop, the use of a starting dose of P fertilizer. Basic P fertilization complies with the principles presented for K. An additional component of an effective system regarding the full set of nutrients is



foliar fertilization. This method allows for the correction of plant nutritional status—in fact, N action—but only at stages preceding the critical stages of yield formation.

Figure 11. The crop rotation conceptual approach for the sufficient K level and range on sandy loam for sensitive and non-sensitive K plants. Legend: ¹ CL–N-Sc, CL–Sc, CR–N-Sc, ² CR–Sc: critical level and critical range for non-sensitive and sensitive plants to the content of available K (determined by the Egner–Riehm method).

Table 1. Phosphorus and potassium balance in four-course rotation with winter oilseed rape. under full use of straw 1,* , t ha⁻¹.

	Nutrients				
Crop Rotation	Phosphorus, P ₂ O ₅		Potassium K ₂ O		
	Demand	Full Recycling	Demand	Full Recycling	
Winter oilseed rape, $3.5 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1}$					
-seeds	70	-	35	-	
-straw	40	20 **	200	180 **	
Winter wheat, 7.0 t ha ⁻¹					
-grain	55	-	35	-	
-straw	25	12	120	110	
Maize, 8.0 t ha^{-1}					
-grain	60	-	40	-	
-straw	30	15	160	145	
Spring barley, 5.0 t ha ⁻¹					
-grain	45	-	25	-	
-straw	10	5	110	100	
Total sum	335	53	725	535	
Balance	-282		-190		
Total demand	282			190	
Partial demand, kg ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	70.5		47.5		

¹ Simulation based on authors own data; * average range of soil fertility with P and K; ** recovery of P and K from straw during four-course rotation, phosphorus –50%, potassium –90%.

9. Conclusions

Many factors directly and indirectly affect the yield of plants grown on the farm. The dominant one is N, which determines the dynamics of plant growth, partitioning of assimilates between the plant's organs, the expression of yield components, and consequently the yield. Currently, effective plant production is based on the use of Nf. The first step in an efficient management of N_f is to determine the maximum attainable yield of crops grown on the farm. This yield category is defined by the basic environmental factors, i.e., climate and soil fertility, but at the same time it is strongly modified by agronomic factors (crop rotation, soil tillage, plant protection). However, the most important of these factors is the N_f dose. The target yield can be achieved as long as the efficiency of N_f approaches 1.0, but at the same time the N_{f_r} regardless of the dose, does not reduce the yield. The synchronization of N demand, which varies in the plant's life cycle with the rate of its uptake (in fact, nitrate) from the soil, is not dependent on its soil resources. This condition is met, but only when it is balanced with the supply of other nutrients (nitrogen-supporting nutrients; N-SNs). This, it can assumed that effective control of N_f efficiency does not only depend on its applied dose. The yield of high-yielding crops determines the interaction efficiency of N \times P and N \times K. The requirements of crop plants for P and K during the growing season are time-separated. The period of intensive biomass growth is a critical stage in the sensitivity of the plant to the supply of K. In seed plants, the N \times K interaction predefines the development of yield components. The sensitivity of plants to the supply of P is revealed both in the early stages of growth and in the phase of yield realization. The second phase is crucial for seed plants. Phosphorus deficiency results in poor development of fruits, grains and seeds. A deficiency of both nutrients in the soil during the critical stages of yield formation results in both a decreased N_f efficiency, and consequently, a lower yield. The basic production unit on a farm is the field, on which plants are grown in a specific time-sequence, known as crop rotation. The condition for achieving the required level of N_f (\leq 1.0) efficiency is the high effectiveness of other production factors, which is to be set at \leq 1.0. The operational basis of an effective control of N_f efficiency is the content of P and K in the soil, which should be oriented to cover the requirements of the most sensitive plant in a well-defined crop rotation. Thus, the main goal of P and K application to the soil is to restore their content in the topsoil to the level required by the most sensitive crop in a given crop rotation. The other crops grown in this cropping sequence provide the time-frame to actively control the distance between the current P and K content from the required critical ranges.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, W.G.; methodology, W.G.; software, P.B.; validation, W.G., J.D. and P.B.; formal analysis, W.G.; investigation, P.B., M.B., J.P., R.Ł., K.P.-C. and W.S.; resources, J.P. and W.S.; data curation, R.Ł. and K.P.-C.; writing—original draft preparation, J.P. and P.B.; writing—review and editing, W.G.; visualization, J.P.; supervision, J.D.; project administration, M.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Hunter, M.C.; Smith, R.G.; Schipanski, M.E.; Atwood, L.W.; Mortensen, D.A. Agriculture in 2050: Recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. *BioScience* 2017, *67*, 386–391. [CrossRef]
- Beltran-Peña, A.; Rosa, L.; D'Odorico, P. Global food self-sufficiency in the 21st century under sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2020, 15, 095004. [CrossRef]
- Röös, E.; Bajželj, B.; Smith, P.; Patel, M.; Little, D.; Garnett, T. Greedy or needy? Land use and climate impacts of food in 2050 under different livestock futures. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 2017, 47, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Conijn, J.G.; Bindraban, P.S.; Schröder, J.J.; Jongschaap, R.E.E. Can our global food system meet food demand within planetary boundries? *Agric. Ecosys. Environ.* 2018, 251, 244–256. [CrossRef]
- FAO. Impact of the Ukraine-Russia Conflict on Global Food Security and Related Matters under the Mandate of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nation (FAO). CL 170/6. May 2022. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/nj164en/ nj164en.pdf (accessed on 20 August 2022).

- Strubenhoff, H. The War in Ukraine Triggered a Global Food Shortage. 2022. Available online: www.brookings.edu/blog/futuredevelopment/2022/06/14/the-war-in-ukraine-triggered-a-global-food-shortage/ (accessed on 20 August 2022).
- Alexander, P.; Brown, C.; Ameth, A.; Finnigan, J. Human appropriation for land and food: The role of diet. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 2016, 41, 88–98. [CrossRef]
- 8. Gomiero, T. Soil degradation, land scarcity and food security: Reviewing a complex challenge. *Sustainability* **2016**, *8*, 281. [CrossRef]
- 9. Lawrence, D.; Coe, M.; Walker, W.; Verchot, L.; Vandecar, K. The unseen effects of deforestation: Biophysical effects on climate. *Front. For. Glob. Chang.* 2022, *5*, 756115. [CrossRef]
- 10. Silver, W.L.; Perez, T.; Mayer, A.; Jones, A.R. The role of soil in the contribution of food and feed. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 2021, 376, 20200181. [CrossRef]
- 11. Jaggard, K.W.; Qi, A.; Ober, E.S. Possible changes to arable crop yields by 2050. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 2010, 365, 2835–2851. [CrossRef]
- 12. Harvey, M.; Pilgrim, S. The new competition for land: Food, Energy, and climate change. Food Policy 2011, 36, 40–50. [CrossRef]
- Ray, D.K.; Mueller, N.D.; West, P.C.; Foley, J.A. Yield trends are insufficient to double global crop production by 2050. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8, e66428. [CrossRef]
- 14. The Royal Society. *Reaping the Benefits: Science and the Sustainable Intensification of Global Agriculture;* RS Policy Document 11/09; The Royal Policy Center: London, UK, 2009; p. 86.
- Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W.; Ceglarek, J.; Podolski, A.; Kaźmierowski, C.; Piekarczyk, J. Spatial variability of yield and nitrogen indicators—A crop rotation approach. Agronomy 2020, 10, 1959. [CrossRef]
- 16. Pradhan, P.; Fischer, G.; van Velthuizen, H.; Reusser, D.E.; Kropp, J.P. Closing yield gaps: How sustainable can we be? *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0129487. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Houlton, B.Z.; Almaraz, M.; Aneja, V.; Austin, V.T.; Bai, E.; Cassman, K.G.; Compton, J.E.; Davidson, E.A.; Erisman, J.W.; Galloway, J.N.; et al. A world co-benefits: Solving the global nitrogen challenge. *Earths Future* 2019, *7*, 865–872. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Anas, M.; Liao, F.; Verma, K.K.; Sarwar, M.A.; Mahmood, A.; Chen, Z.-L.; Li, Q.; Zeng, X.-P.; Liu, Y.; Li, Y.-R. Fate of nitrogen in agriculture and environment: Agronomic, eco-physiological and molecular approaches to improve nitrogen use efficiency. *Biol. Res.* 2020, 53, 47. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schnitkey, G.; Paulson, N.; Swanson, K.; Colussi, J.; Baltz, J.; Zulauf, C. Nitrogen fertilizer prices and supply in light of the Ukraine-Russia conflict. *Farmdoc Dly.* 2022, 12, 45. Available online: https://farmdocdaily.illinois.edu/2022/04/nitrogenfertilizer-prices-and-supply-in-light-of-the-ukraine-russia-conflict.html (accessed on 20 August 2022).
- 20. Kopittke, P.M.; Menzies, N.W.; Wang, P.; McKenza, B.A.; Lombi, E. Soil and the intensification of agriculture for global food security. *Environ. Int.* 2019, *132*, 105078. [CrossRef]
- 21. Stewart, W.M.; Roberts, T.L. Food security and the role of fertilizer in supporting it. Procedia Eng. 2012, 46, 76–82. [CrossRef]
- Poutanewn, K.S.; Karlund, A.O.; Gomez-Gallego, C.; Johansson, D.P.; Scheers, N.M.; Marklinder, I.M.; Eriksen, A.K.; Silventoinen, P.C.; Nordlund, E.; Sozer, N.; et al. Grains—A major source of sustainable protein for health. *Nutr. Rev.* 2022, *80*, 1648–1663. [CrossRef]
- 23. Kong, L.G.; Xie, Y.; Hu, L.; Feng, B.; Li, S.D. Remobilization of vegetative nitrogen to developing grain in wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Field Crops Res.* **2016**, 196, 134–144. [CrossRef]
- 24. Xie, Q.; Mayes, S.; Sparkes, D.L. Preanthesis biomass accumulation and plant organs defines yield components in wheat. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2016**, *81*, 15–26. [CrossRef]
- 25. Klepper, B.; Rickman, R.W.; Waldman, S.; Chevalier, P. The physiological life cycle of wheat: Its use in breeding and crop management. *Euphytica* **1998**, *100*, 341–347. [CrossRef]
- 26. Slafer, G.A.; Elia, M.; Savin, R.; Garcia, G.A.; Terrile, I.I.; Ferrante, A.; Miralles, D.J.; González, F.G. Fruiting efficiency: An alternative trait to further rise in wheat yield. *Food Energy Secur.* **2015**, *4*, 92–109. [CrossRef]
- Erenstein, O.; Jaleta, M.; Sonder, K.; Mottaleb, K.; Prasanna, B.M. Global maize production, consumption and trade: Trends and R&D implications. *Food Secur.* 2022, *5*, 345–360. [CrossRef]
- 28. Subedi, K.; Ma, B. Nitrogen uptake and partitioning in stay-green and leafy maize hybrids. Crops Sci. 2005, 45, 740–747. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Wrońska, M.; Diatta, J.B.; Szczepaniak, W. Effect of zinc foliar application at early stage of maize growth on the patterns of nutrients and dry matter accumulation by the canopy. Part II. Nitrogen uptake and dry matter accumulation patterns. *J. Elementol.* 2008, 13, 29–39.
- 30. Andre, C.M.; Legay, S.; Iammarino, C.; Ziebel, J.; Guignard, C.; Larondelle, Y.; Hausman, J.-F.; Evers, D.; Miranda, L.M. The potato in the human diet: A complex matrix with potential health benefits. *Potato Res.* **2014**, *57*, 201–214. [CrossRef]
- 31. Jackson, S.D. Multiple signaling pathway control tuber induction in potato. *Plant Physiol.* **1999**, *119*, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Engels, C.; Marschner, H. Allocation of photosynthate to individual tubers of *Solanum tuberosum* L. III. Relationship between growth rate of individual tubers, tuber weight and stolon growth prior to tuber initiation. *J. Exp. Bot.* 1986, 37, 1813–1822. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. The in-season nitrogen concentration in the potato tuber as the yield driver. Agron. J. 2020, 112, 1287–1308. [CrossRef]

- 34. Lewis, N.S.; Nocera, D.G. Powering the planet: Chemical challenges in solar energy utilization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2006, 103, 15729–15735. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Cammarano, D.; Zha, H.; Wilson, L.; Li, Y.; Batchelor, W.D.; Miao, Y. A remote sensing–based approach to management zone delineation in small scale farming systems. *Agronomy* **2020**, *10*, 1767. [CrossRef]
- Licker, R.; Johnston, M.; Foley, J.A.; Barford, C.; Kucharik, C.J.; Monfreda, C.; Ramankutty, N. Mind the gap: How do climate and agricultural management explain the "yield gap" of croplands around the world? *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 2010, 19, 769–782. [CrossRef]
- 37. Iizumi, T.; Ramankutty, N. How do weather and climate influence cropping area and intensity? *Glob. Food Secur.* 2015, *4*, 46–50. [CrossRef]
- 38. Rabbinge, R. The ecological background of food production. In *Crop Production and Sustainable Agriculture*; John Wiley & Sons: Chichester, NY, USA, 1993; pp. 2–29.
- 39. Rubio, G.; Zhu, J.; Lynch, J. A critical test of the prevailing theories of plant response to nutrient availability. *Am. J. Bot.* 2003, *90*, 143–152. [CrossRef]
- 40. Grafton, R.Q.; Williams, J.; Jiang, Q. Food and water gaps to 2050: Preliminary results from the global food and water systems (GFWS) platform. *Food Secur.* 2015, 7, 209–220. [CrossRef]
- Sinclair, T.R.; Rufty, T.W. Nitrogen and water resources commonly limit crop yield increases, not necessarily plant genetics. *Glob. Food Secur.* 2012, 1, 94–98. [CrossRef]
- 42. Marschner, H. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants; Elsevier Ltd.: Amsterdam, The Netherlands; Academic Press: London, UK, 1995; p. 899.
- 43. Reid, R.; Hayes, J. Mechanisms and control of nutrient uptake in plants. Int. Rev. Cytol. 2003, 229, 73–114.
- 44. Kant, S.; Seneweera, S.; Rodin, J.; Materne, M.; Burch, D.; Rothstein, S.J.; Spangenberg, G. Improving yield potential in crop under elevated CO₂: Integrating the photosynthetic and nitrogen utilization efficiencies. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 162. [CrossRef]
- 45. Parry, A.J.; Andralojc, P.J.; Scales, J.C.; Salvucci, M.E.; Carmo-Silva, A.E.; Alonso, H.; Whitney, S.M. Rubisco activity and regulation as targets for crop improvement. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2013**, *6493*, 717–730. [CrossRef]
- 46. Bar-On, Y.M.; Milo, R. The global mass and average rate of rubisco. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2019, 116, 10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Giehl, R.F.H.; Gruber, B.D.; von Wirén, N. It's time to make changes: Modulation of root system architecture by nutrient signals. J. Exp. Bot. 2014, 65, 769–778. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 48. Kurepa, J.; Smalle, J.A. Auxin/cytokinin antagonistic control of the shoot/root growth ratio and its relevance for adaptation to growth and nutrient deficiency stress. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2022, 23, 1933. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Guan, P. Dancing with hormones: A current perspective of nitrate signaling and regulation in *Arabidopsis*. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 1697. [CrossRef]
- 50. Tegeder, M.; Masclaux-Daubresse, C. Source and sink mechanism of nitrogen transport and use. *New Phytol.* 2018, 217, 35–53. [CrossRef]
- 51. Guo, Z.; Chen, D.; Schnurbusch, T. Plant and floret growth at distinct developmental stages during the stem elongation phase in wheat. *Front. Plant. Sci.* 2018, *9*, 330. [CrossRef]
- 52. Potarzycki, J. Influence of balanced fertilization on nutritional status of maize at anthesis. Fertil. Fertil. 2010, 39, 90–108.
- Ciampitti, I.A.; Camberato, J.J.; Murrel, S.T.; Vyn, T.J. Maize nutrient accumulation and partitioning in response to plant density and nitrogen rate. I. Macronutrients. Agron. J. 2013, 10593, 7830. [CrossRef]
- 54. Taiz, L. Agriculture, plant physiology, and human population growth: Past, present, and future. *Theor. Exp. Plant Physiol.* 2013, 25, 167–181. [CrossRef]
- 55. White, C.; Sylvester-Bradley, R.; Berry, P.M. Root length densities of UK wheat and oilseed rape crops with implications for water capture and yield. J. Exp. Bot. 2015, 66, 2293–2303. [CrossRef]
- 56. Fradgley, N.; Evans, G.; Biernaskie, J.M.; Cockram, J.; Marr, E.C.; Oliver, A.G.; Ober, E.; Jones, H. Effects of breeding history an crop management on the root architecture of wheat. *Plant Soil* **2020**, *452*, 587–600. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Milach, S.C.K.; Federizzi, L.C. Dwarfing genes in plant improvement. Adv. Agron. 2001, 73, 35–63.
- 58. Lynch, J.L. Steep, cheap and deep: An ideotype to optimize water and N acquisition by maize root systems. *Ann. Bot.* **2013**, *112*, 347–357. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kell, D.B. Breeding crop plants with deep roots: Their role in sustainable carbon, nutrient and water sequestration. *Ann. Bot.* 2011, 108, 407–418. [CrossRef]
- 60. Marschner, P. (Ed.) Marchnerr's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd ed.; Academic Press: London, UK, 2012; p. 672.
- 61. Benton Jones, J., Jr. Agronomic Handbook: Management of Crops, Soils and Their Fertility; CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2003; 450p.
- 62. Wang, Y.; Wu, W.-H. Genetic approaches for improvement of the crop potassium acquisition and utilization efficiency. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **2015**, *24*, 46–52. [CrossRef]
- 63. White, P.J.; Brown, P.H. Plant nutrition for sustainable development and global health. Ann. Bot. 2010, 105, 1073–1080. [CrossRef]
- 64. Lyu, S.; Wei, X.; Chen, J.; Wang, X.; Pan, D. Titanium as a beneficial element for crop production. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 597. [CrossRef]
- 65. Blecharczyk, A. The reaction of winter rye and spring barley to the plant crop rotation system and fertilization in a long-term experiment. *Rocz. Akad. Rol. Pozn.* 2002, 236, 128, (In Polish with English Summary).

- Buczko, U.; van Laak, M.; Eichler-Löbermann, B.; Gans, W.; Merbach, I.; Panten, K.; Peiter, E.; Reitz, T.; Spiegel, H.; von Tucher, S. Evaluation of the yield response to phosphorus fertilization based on meta-analysis of long term experiments. *Ambio* 2018, 47, 50–61. [CrossRef]
- 67. Johnston, A.E.; Poulton, P.R. The importnance of long-term experiments in agriculture: Their management to ensure continued crop production and soil fertility: The Rothamsted experience. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 2018, 69, 113–125. [CrossRef]
- Janssen, B.H. Crop Yields and NPK Use Efficiency of a Long-Term Experiment on Former Seas Bottom in The Netherlands; Wgageningen University: Wageningen, The Netherlands, 2017; p. 155. ISBN 978-94-6343-130-9.
- 69. Plant Health Association California. Western Fertilizer Handbook, 10th ed.; Waveland Press, Inc.: Long Grove, IL, USA, 2022; 371p.
- Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Diatta, J.B. Effect of timing and nitrogen fertilizers on nutrients content and uptake by winter oilseed rape. Part II. Dynamics of nutrient uptake. *Chem. Agric.* 2005, *6*, 113–123.
- 71. Barraclough, P.B. Root growth, macro-nutrient uptake dynamics and soil fertility requirements of a high-yielding winter oilseed rape crop. *Plant Soil* **1989**, *119*, 59–70. [CrossRef]
- 72. Hirzel, J.; Undurraga, P. Nutritional Management of cereals cropped under irrigation conditions. In *Crop Production*; Goyal, A., Asil, M., Eds.; InTech: London, UK, 2013; pp. 99–130.
- Grzebisz, W. Technology of Crop Plants Fertilization–Yield Physiologu. Part II. Cereals and Maize; PWRiL: Poznań, Poland, 2012; 279p. (In Polish)
- Grzebisz, W.; Diatta, J. Constrains and solutions to maintain soil productivity, a case study from Central Europe. In Soil Fertility Improvement and Integrated Nutrient Management—A Global Perspective; Whalen, J., Ed.; InTech: London, UK, 2012; pp. 159–183.
- Bender, R.R.; Haegele, J.W.; Below, F.E. Nutrient uptake, partitioning, and remobilization in modern soybean varieties. *Agron. J.* 2015, 107, 563–573. [CrossRef]
- Ragel, P.; Raddatz, N.; Leidi, E.O.; Quintero, F.J.; Pardo, J.M. Regulation of K+ nutrition in plants. Front. Plant Sci. 2019, 10, 281. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Murrel, T.S.; Mikkelsen, R.L.; Sulewski, G.; Norton, R.; Thompson, M.L. *Improving Potassium Recommendations for Agricultural Crops*; Springer Nature Switzerland AG: Cham, Switzerland, 2021; 455p.
- 78. Zörb, C.; Senbayram, M.; Peiter, E. Potassium in agriculture. J. Plant Physiol. 2014, 171, 656–669. [CrossRef]
- Sardans, J.; Peñuelas, J. Potassium control of plant functions: Ecological and agricultural implications. *Plants* 2021, 10, 419. [CrossRef]
- Marschner, H.; Kirkby, E.A.; Cakmak, J. Effect of mineral nutrition on shoot-root partitioning of photo-assimilates and cycling of mineral nutrients. J. Exp. Bot. 1996, 47, 1255–1263. [CrossRef]
- Yawson, D.O.; Amoach, K.K.; Asare, P.A.; Techie-Menson, J.; Afutu, E.; Atiah, K.; Sanieri, A.K.; Sare-Larbi, S.; Adu, M.O. A meta-analysis of modifications of root system traits of crop plants to potassium (K) deprivation. In *Plant Roots*; Yildirim, E., Turan, M., Ekinci, M., Eds.; InTech: London, UK, 2021; 27p.
- Grzebisz, W.; Gransee, A.; Szczepaniak, W.; Diatta, J. The effects of potassium fertilization on water-use efficiency in crop plants. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2013, 176, 355–374. [CrossRef]
- Hu, Q.Q.; Shu, J.-Q.; Li, W.-M.; Wang, G.-Z. Role of auxin and nitrate signaling in the development of root system architecture. Front. Plant Sci. 2021, 12, 690363. [CrossRef]
- Duan, J.; Wu, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Ren, X.; Shao, Y.; Feng, W.; Zhu, Y.; Wang, Y.; Guo, T. Grain number response to pre–anthesis dry matter and nitrogen in improving wheat yield in the Huang–Huai Plain. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 7126.
- White, P.J.; Bell, M.J.; Djalovic, I.; Hinsinger, P.; Rengel, Z. Potassium use efficiency of plants. In *Improving Potassium Recommen*dations for Agricultural Crops; Murrel, T.S., Mikkelsen, R.L., Sulewski, G., Norton, R., Thompson, M.L., Eds.; Springer Nature Switrzerland AG: Cham, Switzerland, 2021; pp. 119–146.
- Noordwijk, M. Functional interpretation of root densities in the field for nutrient and water uptake. *Root Ecol. Pract. Appl.* 1983, 207–226. Available online: https://edepot.wur.nl/261865 (accessed on 25 August 2022).
- Fan, J.; McConkey, B.; Wang, H.; Janzen, H. Root distribution by depth for temperate agricultural crops. *Field Crops Res.* 2016, 189, 68–74. [CrossRef]
- Kuchenbuch, R.; Claassesn, N.; Jungk, A. Potassium availability in relation to soil moisture. II. Calculation by means of a mathemantical model simulation model. *Plant Soil* 1986, 95, 233–243. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W.; Potarzycki, J.; Łukowiak, R. Sustainable management of soil potassium—A crop rotation oriented concept. In Soil Fertility; Issaka, R.N., Ed.; InTech: London, UK, 2012; 38p.
- 90. Finck, A. Dünger und Düngung; VCH Verlag-AG: Basel, Switzerland, 1992; 488p.
- 91. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Nitrogen gap amelioration is a core for sustainable intensification of agriculture—A concept. Agronomy 2021, 11, 419. [CrossRef]
- Pathak, H.; Aggarwal, P.K.; Roetter, R.; Kalra, N.; Bandyopadhaya, S.K.; Prasad, S.; Van Keulen, H. Modelling the quantitative evaluation of soil nutrient supply, nutrient use efficiency, and fertilizer requirements of wheat in India. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys.* 2003, 65, 105–113. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W.; Grześ, S. Sources of nutrients for high-yielding winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) during post-flowering growth. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 626. [CrossRef]
- 94. Barraclough, P.B. The growth and activity of winter wheat roots in the field: Nutrient uptakes of high-yielding crops. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 1986, 106, 45–52. [CrossRef]

- Rogers, C.W.; Dari, B.; Hu, G.; Mikkelsen, R. Dry matter production, nutrient accumulation, and nutrient partitioning of barley. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2019, 182, 367–373. [CrossRef]
- Würschum, T.; Leiser, W.L.; Langner, S.M.; Tucker, M.R.; Longin, C.F.H. Phenotypic and genetic analysis of spike and kernel characteristics in wheat reveals long-term genetic trends of grain yield components. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 2018, 131, 2071–2084. [CrossRef]
- Ali, I.; Khan, A.A.; Munsif, F.; He, L.; Khan, A.; Ullah, S.; Saeed, W.; Iqbal, A.; Adnan, M.; Ligeng, J. Optimizing rates and application time of potassium fertilizer for improving growth, grain nutrient content and yield of wheat. *Open Agric.* 2019, 4, 500–508. [CrossRef]
- Kang, W.; Fan, M.; Ma, Z.; Shi, X.; Zheng, H. Luxury absorption of potassium by potato plants. Am. J. Potato Res. 2014, 573–578. [CrossRef]
- Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Pepliński, K.; Szczepaniak, W. Sugar beet response to balanced nitrogen fertilization with phosphorus and potassium. Part I. Dynamics of beet yield development. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* 2013, 19, 1311–1318.
- 100. Szczepaniak, W.; Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. An assessment of the effect of potassium fertilizing systems on maize nutritional status in critical stages of growth by plant analysis. J. Elem. 2014, 19, 533–548. [CrossRef]
- 101. White, P.J. Improving potassium acquisition and utilization by crop plants. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2013, 176, 305–316. [CrossRef]
- Pan, Y.; Lu, Z.; Lu, J.; Li, X.; Cong, R. Effects of low sink demand on leaf photosynthesis under potassium deficiency. *Plant Physiol. Bioch.* 2017, 113, 110–121. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 103. Jarrell, W.M.; Beverly, R.B. The dilution effect in plant nutrition studies. Adv. Agron. 1981, 34, 197–224.
- Westermann, D.; James, D.; Tindall, T.; Hurst, R. Nitrogen and potassium fertilization of potatoes, sugars and starch. Am. Potato J. 1994, 71, 433–453. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Čermák, P.; Rroco, E.; Szczepaniak, W.; Potarzycki, J. Potassium impact on nitrogen use efficiency in potato—A case study from the Central-East Europe. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2017, 63, 422–427.
- 106. Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W.; Bocianowski, J. Potassium fertilization as a driver of sustainable management of nitrogen in potato (*Solanum tuberosum*, L.). *Field Crops Res.* **2020**, 254, 107824. [CrossRef]
- 107. Withers, P.J.A.; Sylvester-Bradley, R.; Jones, D.L.; Healey, J.R.; Talboys, P.J. Feed the crop not the soil: Rethinking phosphorus management in the food chain. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2014**, *48*, 6523–6530. [CrossRef]
- 108. Ajmeria, I.; Hodgman, T.C.; Lu, C. An integrative systems perspective on plant phosphate research. Genes 2019, 10, 139. [CrossRef]
- 109. Veneklass, E.J.; Lambers, H.; Bragg, J.; Finnegan, P.M.; Lovelock, C.E.; Plaxton, W.C.; Price, C.A.; Scheible, W.-R.; Shane, M.W.; White, P.J.; et al. Opportunities for improving phosphorus-use efficiency in crop plants. *New Phytol.* 2012, 195, 306–320. [CrossRef]
- Ros, C.; Bell, R.W.; White, P.P. Effect of seed phosphorus and soil phosphorus applications on early growth of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 1997, 4393, 499–509. [CrossRef]
- 111. Ali, M.; Shuja, M.N.; Zahoor, M.; Quadri, I. Phytic acid: How have we come. Afr. J. Biotech. 2010, 9, 1551–1554.
- 112. Schachtman, D.P.; Reid, R.J.; Ayling, S.M. P uptake by plants: From soil to cell. *Plant Physiol.* 1998, 116, 447–453. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 113. Rauch, C.; Bucher, M. Molecular mechanisms of phosphate transport in plants. Plant 2002, 216, 23–37. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 114. Barber, S.A. Soil Nutrient Bioavailability: A Mechanistic Approach, 2nd ed.; Wiley and Sons: New York, NY, USA, 1995; 432p.
- 115. Kvakić, M.; Pellerin, S.; Ciais, P.; Achat, D.L.; Augusto, L.; Deneroy, P.; Gerber, J.S.; Goll, D.; Mollier, A.; Mueller, N.D.; et al. Quantifying the limitation to world cereal production due to soil phosphorus status. *Glob. Biogeoch. Cycles* 2018, 32, 143–157. [CrossRef]
- Lambers, H.; Shane, M.W.; Cramer, M.D.; Pearse, S.J.; Veneklaas, E.J. Root structure and functioning for efficient acquisition of phosphorus: Matching morphological and physiological traits. *Ann. Bot.* 2006, 98, 693–713. [CrossRef]
- Duarah, I.; Deka, M.; Saikia, N.; Deka Boruachh, H.P. Phosphate solubizers enhance NPK fertilizer use efficiency in rice and legume cultivation. *Biotech* 2011, 1, 227–238.
- 118. Liu, D. Root development responses to phosphorus nutrition. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 2021, 1065–1090. [CrossRef]
- 119. Penn, C.J.; Camberato, J.J. A critical review on soil chemical processes that control how soil pH affects phosphorus availability to plants. *Agriculture* **2019**, *9*, 120. [CrossRef]
- Krouk, G.; Kiba, T. Nitrogen and phosphorus interactions in plants: From agronomic to physiological and molecular insight. *Curr.* Opin. Plant Biol. 2020, 57, 104–109. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 121. Dixon, M.; Simonne, E.; Obreza, T.; Liu, G. Crop response to low phosphorus bioavailability with focus on tomato. *Agronomy* **2020**, *10*, 617. [CrossRef]
- Niu, Y.F.; Chai, R.S.; Jin, G.L.; Wang, H.; Tang, C.X.; Zhang, Y.S. Responses of root architecture development to low phosphorus availability: A review. Ann. Bot. 2012, 112, 391–408. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 123. Potarzycki, J.; Grzebisz, W. Trends in phosphorus concentration in potato organs during the growing season. J. Elem. 2019, 24, 935–952. [CrossRef]
- 124. Grant, C.A.; Flaten, D.N.; Tomasiewicz, D.J.; Sheppard, S.C. The importance of early season phosphorus nutrition. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 2001, *81*, 211–224. [CrossRef]
- 125. Szczepaniak, W.; Barłog, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Pepliński, K. Effect of differentiated fertilizing systems on nitrogen accumulation patterns during the growing season—Sugar beet as an example. J. Elem. 2012, 17, 669–688. [CrossRef]

- 126. Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W.; Pepliński, K. Sugar beet response to balanced nitrogen fertilization with phosphorus and potassium. Part II. Dynamics of beet quality. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* **2013**, *20*, 1326–1333.
- 127. Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W.; Barłóg, P.; Przygocka-Cyna, K.; Potarzycki, J. Phosphorus sources for winter oilseed rape (*Brassica* napus L.)—Magnesium sulfate management impact on P use efficiency. Archiv. Agron. Soil Sci. 2018, 12, 1646–1662. [CrossRef]
- 128. Zhang, W.; Li, H.; Zhang, J.; Shen, J.; Brown, H.; Wang, E. Contrasting patterns of accumulation, partitioning and remobilization of biomass and phosphorus in a maize cultivar. *Crop J.* **2022**, *10*, 254–261. [CrossRef]
- Julia, C.; Wissuwa, M.; Kretzschmar, T.; Jeong, K.; Rose, T. Phosphorus uptake, partitioning and redistribution during grain filling in rice. Ann. Bot. 2016, 118, 1151–1162. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, X.; Shen, J.; Liao, H. Acquisition or utilization, which is more critical for enhancing phosphorus efficiency in modern crops. *Plant Sci.* 2010, 179, 302–306. [CrossRef]
- Maillard, A.; Diquélou, S.; Billard, V.; Laîné, P.; Garnica, M.; Prudent, M.; Garcia-Mina, J.-M.; Yvin, J.-C.; Ourry, A. Leaf mineral nutrient remobilization during leaf senescence and modulation by nutrient deficiency. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2015, *6*, 317. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 132. El Mazlouzi, M.; Morel, C.; Robert, T.; Chesseron, C.; Salon, C.; Cornu, J.-Y.; Molier, A. The dynamics of Phosphorus uptake and remobilization during the grain development period in durum wheat plants. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1006. [CrossRef]
- Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W.; Sassenrath, G.F. New insights into phosphorus management in agriculture—A crop rotation approach. Sci. Total Environ. 2016, 15, 1062–1077. [CrossRef]
- 134. Hu, Z.; Ding, Z.; Al-Yasi, H.M.; Ali, E.F.; Eissa, M.A.; Abou-Elwafa, S.F.; Sayed, M.A.; Said, M.T.; Said, A.A.; Ibrahim, K.A.M.; et al. Modelling of phosphorus nutrition to obtain maximum yield, high P use efficiency and low P-risk for wheat grown in sandy calcareous soils. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 1950. [CrossRef]
- 135. Bergmann, W. Nutritional Disorders of Plants; Verlag Gustav Fisher: Jena, Germany, 1992; 741p.
- 136. Spiertz, J.H.J. Nitrogen, sustainable agriculture and food security. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 2010, 30, 43–55. [CrossRef]
- 137. Congreves, K.A.; Otchere, O.; Ferland, D.; Farzadfar, S.; Williams, S.; Arcand, M.M. Nitrogen use efficiency definitions of today and tomorrow. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2021, 12, 637108. [CrossRef]
- Weih, M.; Hamnér, K.; Pourazari, F. Analyzing plant nutrient uptake and utilization efficiencies: Comparison between crops and approaches. *Plant Soil* 2018, 430, 7–21. [CrossRef]
- 139. Blackwell, M.; Darch, T.; Haslam, R. Phosphorus use efficiency and fertilizers: Future opportunities for improvements. *Front. Agric. Sci. Eng.* **2019**, *6*, 332–340. [CrossRef]
- 140. Evans, L.T.; Fischer, R.A. Yield potential: Its definition, measurement, and significance. Crop Sci. Soc. Am. 1999, 39, 1544–1551. [CrossRef]
- 141. Hay, R.; Porter, J. The Physiology of Crop Yield, 2nd ed.; Blackwell Publishing Ltd.: Oxford, UK, 2006; 314p.
- 142. Agnus, J.F.; van Herwaarden, A.F. Increasing water use and water use efficiency in dryland wheat. Agron. J. 2001, 93, 290–298.
- 143. Passioura, J. Increasing crop productivity when water is scarce—From breeding to field management. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2006, 80, 176–196. [CrossRef]
- 144. Grzebisz, W.; Baer, A.; Barłóg, P.; Szczepaniak, W.; Potarzycki, J. Effect of nitrogen and potassium fertilizing systems on maize grain yield. *Fertil. Fertil.* 2010, 40, 45–56.
- 145. Grzebisz, W.; Barłóg, P.; Szczepaniak, W.; Potarzycki, J. Effect of potassium fertilizing system on dynamics of dry matter accumulation by maize. *Fertil. Pertil.* 2010, 40, 57–69.
- Dobermann, A. Nitrogen use efficiency—State of the art. In Proceedings of the IFA International Workshop on Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers, Frankfurt, Germany, 28–30 June 2005; pp. 1–16.
- 147. Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Fertilizers and fertilization strategies mitigating soil factors constraining efficiency of nitrogen in plant production. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1855. [CrossRef]
- 148. Grzebisz, W.; Niewiadomska, A.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Nitrogen *hotspots* on the farm—A practice-oriented approach. *Agronomy* **2022**, *12*, 1305. [CrossRef]
- 149. Rütting, T.; Aronsson, H.; Delin, S. Efficient use of nitrogen in agriculture. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 2018, 110, 105. [CrossRef]
- 150. Hennessy, D.A. On monoculture and the structure of crop rotations. Agric. Econ. 2006, 88, 900–914. [CrossRef]
- 151. Pasley, H.; Nichols, V.; Castellano, M.; Baum, M.; Kladivko, E.; Helmers, M.; Archontoulis, S. Rating maize reduces the risk and rate of nitrate leaching. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **2021**, *16*, 064063. [CrossRef]
- 152. Van Noordwijk, M.; Cadisch, G. Access and excess problems in soil nutrition. Plant Soil 2002, 247, 25–40. [CrossRef]
- 153. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R.; Sassenrath, G. Virtual nitrogen as a tool for assessment of nitrogen at the field scale. *Field Crops Res.* **2018**, *218*, 182–184. [CrossRef]
- Kautz, T.; Amelung, W.; Ewert, F.; Gaiser, T.; Horn, R.; Jahn, R.; Javaux, M.; Kemna, A.; Kuzyakova, Y.; Munch, J.-C.; et al. Nutrient acquisition from arable subsoils in temperate climates: A review. Soil Biol. Biochem. 2013, 57, 1003–1022. [CrossRef]
- 155. Smucker, A.J.M.; Aiken, R.M. Dynamic root responses to water deficits. Soil Sci. 1992, 154, 281–289. [CrossRef]
- 156. Bodner, G.; Nakhforoosh, A.; Kaul, H.P. Management of crop water under drought: A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 2015, 35, 401–442. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R.; Kotnis, K. Evaluation of nitrogen fertilization systems based on the in-season variability of the nitrogenous growth factors and soil fertility factors—A case of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Agronomy 2020, 10, 1701. [CrossRef]

- Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W. Predicting the content of soil mineral nitrogen based on the content of calcium chlorideextractable nutrients. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2017, 180, 624–635. [CrossRef]
- 159. Łukowiak, R.; Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W. Soil mineral nitrogen and the rating of CaCl₂ extractable nutrients. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2017**, 63, 177–183.
- Babulicova, M. The influence of fertilization and crop rotation on the winter wheat production. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2014, 60, 297–302. [CrossRef]
- 161. Torma, S.; Vilček, J.; Lošák, T.; Kužel, S.; Martensson, A. residual plant nutrients in crop residues—An important resource. Acta Agric. Scand. Sec. B Soil Plant Sci. 2017, 68, 358–366. [CrossRef]
- 162. Kumar, T.K.; Rana, D.S.; Nain, L. Legume residue and N management for improving productivity and N economy and soil fertility in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)—Based cropping system. *Natl. Acad. Sci. Lett.* **2019**, *42*, 297–307. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, W.-P.; Liu, G.-C.; Sun, J.H.; Fornara, D.; Zhang, L.-Z.; Zhang, F.-F.; Li, L. Temporal dynamics of nutrient uptake by neighbouring plant species: Evidence from intercropping. *Func. Ecol.* 2017, 31, 469–479. [CrossRef]
- 164. Macholdt, J.; Piepho, H.P.; Honermeier, B.; Perryman, S.; MacDonald, A.; Poulton, P. The effects of cropping sequence, fertilization and straw management on the yield stability of winter wheat (1986–2017) in the Broadbalk Wheat Experiment, Rothamsted, UK. J. Agric. Sci. 2010, 158, 65–79. [CrossRef]
- 165. Brady, N.C.; Weil, R.R. The Nature and Properties of Soils, 15th ed.; Pearson Education: Boston, MA, USA, 2017; 1071p.
- Usherwood, N.R.; Segars, W.I. Nitrogen interactions with phosphorus and potassium for optimum yield, nitrogen use effectiveness, and environmental stewardship. Sci. World 2001, 1, 57–60. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dhillon, J.; Torres, G.; Driver, E.; Figueiredo, B.; Raun, W.R. World phosphorus use efficiency in cereal crops. Agron. J. 2017, 109, 1670–1677. [CrossRef]
- Ren, T.; Liu, J.; Li, H.; Zou, J.; Xu, H.; Liu, X.; Li, X. Potassium-fertilizer management in winter oilseed-rape production in China. J. Plant Sci. Soil Sci. 2013, 176, 429–440. [CrossRef]
- 169. Khan, S.A.; Mulvaney, R.L.; Ellsworth, T.R. The potassium paradox: Implications for soil fertility, crop production and human health. *Renew. Agric. Food Syst.* 2013, 29, 3–27. [CrossRef]
- MacDonald, G.K.; Bennett, E.M.; Potter, P.A.; Ramankutty, N. Agronomic phosphorus imbalances across the world's croplands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2011, 108, 3086–3091. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 171. Karlen, D.L.; Varvel, G.E.; Bullock, D.G.; Cruse, R.M. Crop Rotations for the 21st Century. Adv. Agron. 1994, 53, 1–45.
- European Commission. Environmental Impacts of Different Crop Rotation in the European Union; Final Report; European Commission, Bio Intelligence Service S.A.S.: Paris, France, 2010; p. 141. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/agriculture/pdf/ BIO_crop_rotations (accessed on 25 August 2022).
- 173. Tanveer, A.; Ikram, R.M.; Ali, H.H. Crop rotation: Principles and practices. Agron. Crops 2019, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 174. Bruns, H.A. Concepts in crop rotations. In Agricultural Science; Alakpui, G., Ed.; InTech: Rijeka, Croatia, 2012; 26p.
- 175. Costa, M.P.; Chadwick, D.; Saget, S.; Rees, R.M.; Williams, M.; Stylres, D. Representing crop rotations in life cycle assessment: A review of legume LCA studies. *Inter. J. Life Cycle Assess.* 2020, 14, 1942–1956. [CrossRef]
- 176. Marini, L.; Stomartin, A.; Vici, G.; Baldoni, G.; Berti, A.; Blecharczyk, A.; Małecka-Jankowiak, I.; Morari, F.; Sawińska, Z.; Bommmaeco, R. Crop rotations sustain cereal yields under a changing climate. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2010, *15*, 124011. [CrossRef]
- 177. Tan, Z.X.; Lal, R.; Wiebe, K.D. Global soil nutrient depletion and yield reduction. J. Sustain. Dev. 2015, 26, 123–146. [CrossRef]
- 178. Siebers, N.; Wang, L.; Funk, T.; von Tucher, S.; Merbach, I.; Schweitzer, K.; Kruse, J. Subsoils—A sink for excess fertilizer P but a minor contribution to P plant nutrition: Evidence from long-term fertilization trials. *Environ. Sci. Eur.* **2021**, 33, 60. [CrossRef]
- 179. Grzebisz, W. Crop Plant Fertilization. Part II. Fertilizers and Fertilization Systems; PWRiL: Poznań, Poland, 2015; 376p. (In Polish)
- Tóth, G.; Hermann, T.; Da Silva, M.R.; Montanarella, L. Monitoring soil for sustainable development and land degradation neutrality. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 2018, 190, 57. [CrossRef]
- Clarkson, D.T. Nutrient interception and transport by root system. In *Physiological Processes Limiting Plant Productivity*; Johnson, C.B., Ed.; Butterworths: London, UK, 2013; pp. 307–330.
- Johnston, A. Soil Testing Philosophy or "How Do We Make Fertilizer Recommendations". In Proceedings of the Direct Seeding Conference: Managing Risk for the Future. 2006. Available online: http://www.ssca.ca/conference/conference2006/Johnston.pdf (accessed on 26 August 2022).
- Raynaud, X.; Leadley, P. Soil characteristics play a key role in modeling nutrient competition in plant communities. *Ecology* 2004, 85, 2200–2214. [CrossRef]





Przemysław Barłóg *, Witold Grzebisz and Remigiusz Łukowiak

Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 71F, 60-625 Poznan, Poland; witold.grzebisz@up.poznan.pl (W.G.); remigiusz.lukowiak@up.poznan.pl (R.Ł.)

* Correspondence: przemyslaw.barlog@up.poznan.pl; Tel.: +48-618-48-77-88

Abstract: Fertilizer Use Efficiency (FUE) is a measure of the potential of an applied fertilizer to increase its impact on the uptake and utilization of nitrogen (N) present in the soil/plant system. The productivity of N depends on the supply of those nutrients in a well-defined stage of yield formation that are decisive for its uptake and utilization. Traditionally, plant nutritional status is evaluated by using chemical methods. However, nowadays, to correct fertilizer doses, the absorption and reflection of solar radiation is used. Fertilization efficiency can be increased not only by adjusting the fertilizer dose to the plant's requirements, but also by removing all of the soil factors that constrain nutrient uptake and their transport from soil to root surface. Among them, soil compaction and pH are relatively easy to correct. The goal of new the formulas of N fertilizers is to increase the availability of N by synchronization of its release with the plant demand. The aim of non-nitrogenous fertilizers is to increase the availability of nutrients that control the effectiveness of N present in the soil/plant system. A wide range of actions is required to reduce the amount of N which can pollute ecosystems adjacent to fields.

Keywords: crop growth rate; fertilizer market; nitrogen use efficiency; nitrogen gap; nutrient uptake; partial factor productivity; root architecture

1. Fertilizer Use Efficiency—A Real Farming Practice

1.1. Nitrogen Gap and the Maximum Attainable Yield

A farmer needs to recognize production boundaries in order to develop an effective production program for each of the crops grown on the farm. The key to the sound management of production processes is a knowledge of the maximum yield that can be achieved in a production area with a well-defined climate and soils. The actual yield (Y_a) of a currently cultivated crop may be simply presented as the difference between the maximum attainable yield (Y_{attmax}) and the yield gap (YG). The relationship between these terms may be expressed as the formula:

$$Y_a = Y_{attmax} - YG \tag{1}$$

 Y_a is a real, harvested yield in the current growing season under actual environmental, agronomic and management practice on the farm. To define the Y_{attmax} of this crop, two conditions must be fulfilled. The first concerns a strictly defined climatic area and the dominating, i.e., standard, weather conditions [1,2]. The second necessary condition is the level of soil fertility, agronomic conditions and management of the production processes on the farm. These factors modify the Y_{attmax} of the grown crop [3,4]. All of these factors must be oriented towards optimizing the supply of nutrients to that particular crop only [5]. The YG is a measure of the ineffectiveness of production factors, in fact expressed in the ineffectiveness of fertilizer nitrogen (N_f), or available N present in the soil/plant system during the growing season of the currently grown crop [6]. The basic and at the same

Citation: Barlóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Fertilizers and Fertilization Strategies Mitigating Soil Factors Constraining Efficiency of Nitrogen in Plant Production. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 1855. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants11141855

Academic Editor: Dimitris L. Bouranis

Received: 29 June 2022 Accepted: 12 July 2022 Published: 15 July 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). time simplest method for calculating both components of the Y_a formula is to use the efficiency index of N_f known as the Partial Factor Productivity of Fertilizer N, PFP_{Nf} [7]. Considering both the yield and the environmental aspects of the on-farm production process, the farmer's goal should not be to determine the YG, but rather the ineffectiveness of the applied N_f . The quantitative expression of N inefficiency is the nitrogen gap (NG) [8]. In fact, two sets of data are needed to determine both the YG and the NG, i.e., (i) the actual yield harvested by the farmer, and (ii) the amount of applied N_f . The calculation procedure consists of a set of formulas:

Partial Factor Productivity of Nf:

$$PFP_{Nf} = \frac{Ya}{N_f} \left(kg kg^{-1} N_f \right)$$
⁽²⁾

Attainable, maximum yield:

$$Y_{\text{attmax}} = \text{cPFP}_{\text{Nf}} \times \text{N}_{\text{f}} \left(\text{t or } \text{kg } \text{ha}^{-1} \right)$$
(3)

Yield Gap:

$$YG = Y_{attmax} - Y_a \left(t ha^{-1} \right)$$
 (4)

Nitrogen Gap:

$$NG = \frac{YG}{cPFP_{Nf}} \left(kg N ha^{-1} \right)$$
(5)

where: PFP_{Nf} —partial factor productivity of N_f , kg grain/seeds, tubers etc. per kg N_f ; Y_a—actual yield of a currently grown crop, t ha⁻¹; N_f —the amount of applied fertilizer N, kg ha⁻¹; Y_{attmax} —the maximum attainable yield, t ha⁻¹; $cPFP_{Nf}$ —the average of the third quartile (Q3) of the set of PFP_{Nf} indices arranged in ascending order, kg grain/seeds, tubers etc. per kg N_f ; YG—yield gap, t ha⁻¹; NG—nitrogen gap, kg ha⁻¹ of N.

The NG calculation is important for the farmer for at least three areas of his production activity: (i) the determination of Y_{attmax} , which determines not only the maximum yield for the production area, but also determines the potential requirements of the cultivated crop for N; (ii) the identification of hotspots in N management for a given crop, including an inadequate supply of nutrients other than N; (iii) the set of actions needed to improve the level of soil fertility for a given crop.

The data on NG is used to construct a diagram of the impact of the NG change on trends in actual and maximum yields (Figure 1). The target of the NG construction is to find the maximum attainable yield (Y_{attmax}) for the geographical area of the farm operation. The Y_{attmax} value is determined by the intersection of Y_{max} and Y_a linear regression models. In this specific case, representing 16 fields located in a small region of central-western Poland, the weather and soil conditions are stable. Y_{attmax} for winter wheat reached 7.99 t ha⁻¹. Moreover, both Y_a and Y_{attmax} showed significant variability in the amount of *notworkable* N_f during the growing season. The course of both models indicates a surplus of N_f on fields No. 13 and 10 as the main reason for its lower use efficiency. The maximum YG on field No. 13 reached 3.729 t ha⁻¹, i.e., it constituted 47% of the actual yield. The diagnostic goal of the NG diagram construction is to identify the key factors responsible for YG appearance as a result of N_f inefficiency. The ranges for the evaluation of the effect of any production factor were constructed using a clear scale: low, medium, high, which were in special cases underlined by "very". The use of this scale to assess the production effect of N_f is shown in Table S1 (Supplementary Material).



Nitrogen Gap (GN), kg ha⁻¹ of N

Figure 1. Diagram of yield trends in response to the nitrogen gap (NG) change. Example for winter wheat (based on Grzebisz and Łukowiak [8]). Key: Y_{attmax}—maximum attainable yield; Y_a—actual yield; 1–16 are the field numbers.

1.2. Fertilizer Use Efficiency—FUE

The term Fertilizer Use Efficiency—FUE is not new. It has been widely used for decades but has become widespread recently thanks to the use of the FUE indexes to assess the global productivity of NPK fertilizers [7,9]. The productivity of nutrients applied in fertilizers can be estimated by the same formula as shown in Equation (2) for fertilizer N. Another methodological way for FUE determination is to use a set of indices used in field experiments such as Apparent Nutrient Efficiency (ANeE) and/or Apparent Nutrient Recovery (ANuR):

$$ANuE = \frac{Y_f - Y_c}{N_r}$$
(6)

$$ANuR = \frac{Nu_f - Nu_c}{N_r}$$
(7)

where: ANuE—Apparent Nutrient Efficiency, kg yield kg⁻¹ nutrient applied; ANuR— Apparent Nutrient Recovery, %; Y_f, Y_c—yield on a plot with and without fertilizer, t or kg ha^{-1} ; N_r—the rate of a nutrient applied as fertilizer, kg or g ha^{-1} ; Nu_f, Nu_c —the uptake of a tested nutrient on a plot with and without fertilizer, kg, g ha^{-1} .

The recorded values of ANuE and ANuR usually show a decreasing trend, with an increase in the rate of the nutrient applied as fertilizer, which is satisfactory for the researcher. Moreover, the values obtained have a tendency opposite to the soil fertility indexes for a given nutrient [7]. It simply means that FUE is highly dependent on the current soil fertility level, which the farmer needs to know. However, the main disadvantage of these two indices is that the farmer does not have a control plot to assess the actual nutrient productivity in the applied fertilizers. The values of the ANuR indices, evaluated on the global scale, are low and amount to 40–65% for N, 15–25% for P, and 30–50% for K used in fertilizers [9]. At this point it is necessary to pose the question, what is the main source of nutrients for the currently grown crop?

The productivity of nutrients taken up by the crop during one growing season can also be estimated by the partial nutrient balance (PNB) method:

$$NuE = \frac{Nu_t}{Nu_f} \times 100\%$$
(8)

where: NuE—Nutrient uptake Efficiency, kg kg⁻¹; Nut—the uptake of a tested nutrient, kg or g ha⁻¹; Nut—the rate of a nutrient applied as fertilizer, kg, g ha⁻¹.

The efficiency of N, P, and K using this method show much higher values or even a surplus of nutrients [10]. The low efficiency of nutrients using the differential methods, but high yield indirectly indicates that the main source of nutrients for crops grown in one growing season is soil [11].

The main problem is the assessment of the production role of nitrogen, which plants take in in two distinct inorganic forms, i.e., as nitrate (NO₃⁻¹) and ammonium (NH₄⁺) [12]. Nitrates affect plant growth in many ways, inducing plant morphology, physiology through hormones and finally metabolism through their influence on the production of organic acids [13–15]. Plants fed with nitrates, compared to ammonium, show a high growth rate, which results in higher yields [16]. The above-identified aspects of the impact of N on plants are fully supported by field experiments and agricultural practice [17,18]. As shown in Figure 2, the yields of winter wheat grown on the control plot (non-fertilized) and on the plots fertilized with K, P in the same way since 1957, did not show large differences. The average yield for these three objects of 4.38 ± 0.14 t ha⁻¹, can be considered as high. The primary reason for such a high yield, despite the lack of N fertilization, was alfalfa as a forecrop. The use of 90 kg N ha⁻¹ increased the yield by 1.94 t ha⁻¹. The same level of yields was also recorded for the NP and NK plots. The lack of response to the P or K application clearly emphasizes the importance of these two nutrients for plant growth and yield. This conclusion was fully confirmed by the yield achieved on the NPK plot. Even more important is the fact that N use efficiency (NUE) increased by 10–13%, compared to incomplete fertilization treatments. The observed interaction was even more important for P use efficiency (PUE), which in the NPK plot increased by 9% and by 73% compared to NP and P treatments, respectively. The same trend was observed for potassium. The importance of the N \times PK interaction on the productivity of N_f is observed for all crops, regardless of the world region [17,19,20]. The complex effect of N on plant growth and yielding clearly indicates the superior function of N in crop production. It can, therefore, be concluded that the production efficiency of nutrients, applied as mineral fertilizers, can be mainly evaluated through their impact on NUE. Thus, the search for indicators of productivity or efficiency for other nutrients is pointless. This is well presented in the analysis of the causes of the NG (Table S1).



Figure 2. Effect of long-term differentiated fertilization on yield of winter wheat, mean of 2005–2008 years (own projection based on Blecharczyk et al. [17]). Key: AC—absolute control; K, P, N—experimental trials since 1957; LSD_{0.05}—Least Significant Difference; 0/0/0*—respective values of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium use efficiency.

1.3. Factors Affecting Fertilizer Use Efficiency

Fertilizer use efficiency is the result of a series of interactions between plant genotype and environment, including both abiotic and biotic factors. Full recognition of these factors is the basis for proper fertilization of plants in farming practice, aimed at maximizing the FUE values. The soil is both the growth environment for plants and their main reservoir of water and nutrients. Hence, the impact of soil factors on nutrient uptake and FUE should be considered at the level of several groups of phenomena and processes (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Fertilizer Use Effectiveness (FUE) indices in response to soil physical and chemical properties and processes responsible for nutrient uptake: (**A**) release of nutrients from solid phase; (**B**) processes of nutrient transport from the soil to the root surface; (**C**) the plant's physiological response to conditions of nutrient supply; (**D**) processes of nutrient transportation to the plant shoot; (**E**) nutrient remobilization and transfer into grain/seeds. Blue arrows—transport processes; red arrows—influencing and feedback responses. FUE indices explanations: PFP_{Nf} —partial factor productivity of nitrogen; ANuE—apparent nutrient efficiency; NG—nitrogen gap; NRE—nitrogen remobilization efficiency; CNR—contribution of remobilized N to grain; ANuR—apparent nutrient recovery; NuE—nutrient uptake efficiency; PE—physiological N efficiency; U_{min}—minimum uptake of a nutrient for the maximum rate of plant growth.

In the first group (A) all of the factors, both abiotic and biotic, that lead to the release of nutrients from their solid phase in the soil to their solution phase should be analyzed. The next group of factors (B) is concerned with the processes of transporting nutrients from the soil to the root surface. The third group (C) of factors influencing FUE concerns plant responses manifested by changes in architecture and root growth rate. This group of factors, also related to plant activity, should consider the composition of the root exudates in the plant root—mycorrhizal system. For the assessment of the effectiveness of fertilizer application, the processes taking place in the plant itself, related to transport, assimilation in the aboveground mass (D), as well as remobilization of components and their transfer from the vegetative parts to the generative crop (E), are also important.

2. Factors Affecting Nutrient Uptake

2.1. Plant Growth and Nutrient Requirement

A major challenge for the farmer is to synchronize the crop plant requirement for nutrients with their supply from both soil and applied fertilizers. The term synchronization refers to the amount of a nutrient that must be taken up by the crop at a certain stage of its growth as a prerequisite for a development of yield components. The expected degree of a given yield component formation depends on the growth rate of the crop, which in turn depends on the supply of N. For example, the critical stage of yield formation by winter oilseed rape (WOSR) reveals itself at the phase of inflorescence development (BBCH 50–59; coding system of growth stages, abbreviation in German: Biologische Bundesanstalt, Bundessortenamt und CHemische Industrie [21]). As shown in Figure 4, WOSR fertilized with N as ammonium nitrate (AN) in two equal rates of 80 kg N ha⁻¹ applied at BBCH 22 (spring restart of WOSR) and BBCH 30/31 reached the maximum growth rate (CGR_{max}, 20.4 g m⁻² day⁻¹) at full flowering. This value was the prerequisite of both the highest yield and the lowest, in its year-to-year variation (coefficient of variation, CV of 5.6%).



Figure 4. Crop growth rate (CGR) of winter oilseed rape (WOSR) during the growing season as affected by nitrogen fertilizer (based on Barłóg and Grzebisz [22]). Key: CGR—crop growth rate, N–0—absolute control, N–80 + 80*–N rate of 160 kg N ha⁻¹ applied at the onset of the growing season restart in Spring; * ammonium nitrate; 30, 51, 62, 69, 79, 89—WOSR growth stages in BBCH scale.

For comparison, plants fertilized with the same N dose, but applied as calcium ammonium-nitrate (CAN), yielded on average at the same level, but showed much higher year-to-year variability. The main reason was a slightly lower CGR_{max} (19.1 g m⁻² day⁻¹), resulting in a higher CV (16%). Moreover, plants fertilized with AN reached the maximum N accumulation at the full flowering stage (BBCH 65), while those fertilized with CAN much later, i.e., at the beginning of pod growth (BBCH 71). The observed delay was due to the excessive growth of secondary branches, which is not always coordinated with higher yield [23]. The lower yield on the N control plot was mainly due to a significantly lower rate of dry matter accumulation, which resulted in a much worse status of the yield components at maturity. The existing relationship between nutrient uptake by a plant and its growth rate can be summarized by the equation [24]:

$$U_{min} = C_c \times \frac{dW}{dt} \times \frac{1}{w} \times \frac{W}{2\pi r L} \text{ or } U_{min} = C_c \times RGR \times \frac{W}{2\pi r L}$$
(9)

where: U_{min} —minimum uptake of a nutrient for the maximum rate of plant growth, g or kg plant⁻¹ or unit area; C_c —critical concentration of a nutrient in a plant, g, mg kg⁻¹ DW; W—aboveground biomass of a plant, g or kg DW; r—root diameter, mm or cm; L—root length, cm or m; $2\pi rL$ —root surface area, mm² or cm² or m⁻²; $\frac{dW}{dt} \times \frac{1}{W}$ —the relative growth rate of a plant, RGR, g g⁻¹ t⁻¹; t—time: day or year.

This equation clearly shows that the minimum amount of a given nutrient taken up by a plant over a specific period of time is necessary to maintain its critical concentration in plant tissues, determining the plant's optimum growth rate. In the numerator of the equation, apart from the nutrient concentration, is the plant biomass, determined by two factors, i.e., the period duration (t—time) and the root surface area, as the denominator.

The first challenge for the farmer in exploiting the yielding potential of the grown crop is to recognize the critical stage(s) of yield formation, or more precisely, the formation of yield components. Plant crop development is usually described on a 100-point scale (stages), divided into 10 phases [25]. Farmers need to know this scale to control the development of yield components. However, its use by the farmer for precise fertilization requires identifying those stages, which are crucial for the development of the main yield component. The degree of its development is closely related to the crop biomass, which is described by the sigmoid crop growth model [26]. The accumulation of crop biomass during the growing season, based on this model, shows variable growth rates in different phases, which fits with exponential, linear, quadratic or linear-plateau regression models (Figure 5). This trait can then be used to determine the three growth mega-phases of crops [8,27]:

- 1. Exponential \rightarrow Crop Foundation Period—CFP;
- 2. Linear \rightarrow Yield Formation Period—YFP;
- 3. Quadratic or linear plateau \rightarrow Yield Realization Period—YRP.



Figure 5. A conceptual pattern of dry matter accumulation by a typical seed/grain crop. Key: CK1, CK2—cardinal stage 1 and 2, respectively [8].

The first mega-phase refers to all crops, but the last one only to seed plants. The intersection points of CFP and YFP as the first pair, and YFP and YRP as the second, termed as cardinal knots (CKs), are two crucial points of the crop yield development [8]. CK1 is the change point at which the crop changes its rate of dry matter accumulation from the exponential to the linear model [26]. CKs are used by farmers as diagnostic steps to assess the crop nutritional status. CK1 is a crucial point at which to correct the nutritional status of all crop plants, regardless of the species [28]. In the case of cereals, CK1 refers to the borderline of tillering and the beginning of the stem elongation phase (BBCH 29–31). For dicots, this cardinal knot is related to the rosette stage. A classic example is winter oilseed rape ([25]; Figure 6). The critical nutrient concentration specified at CK1 is important, mainly for correcting the N status of the currently grown plant. For most crops, CK1 is the date of the maximum relative growth rate (RGR) of the crop. A classic example is maize. As shown in Figure 7, maize reached the maximum RGR on the 48th day after sowing (BBCH 15 to 17) and then its value decreased with increasing maize biomass. This particular period of maize growth is associated with the appearance of inflorescences [29,30]. Thus, the date



when the plant reaches its maximum RGR defines the first cardinal phase of yield formation by the crop, i.e., CK1.





Figure 6. The Cardinal Stage 1 (CK1): winter wheat (monocot) (a) and winter oilseed rape (dicot) (b). Photos by W. Grzebisz.



Figure 7. Relative growth rate (RGR) of maize during the growing season in response to foliar zinc (Zn) application (based on Grzebisz et al. [31]-modified).

Moreover, as shown in Figure 7, the zinc (Zn) foliar treated maize maintained, more strictly extended the duration of the RGR peak. As a consequence of the prolonged biomass growth at BBCH 15–17, a second RGR peak, but much smaller, appeared during flowering. The yield increases due to zinc application before the CK1 resulted in a yield higher by 1.49 t ha⁻¹. The partial factor of N productivity (PFP_{Nf}) increased from 66.7 to 79.3 kg grain per kg of Nf. The direct reason for the yield increase was the uptake of an N increase of 46.4 kg ha⁻¹ [31]. The given example clearly indicates that the use of macronutrient fertilizers requires the precise diagnosis of the critical phase (s) of yield formation by the crop.

The second cardinal phase (CK2) is very well-defined for seed crops. This stage proceeds the date of flowering (Figure 8). For some crops, their nutritional status at CK2 can be used to forecast the yield. A classic example is maize. The nutrient content at this stage in the cob leaf is used to indicate the nutritional status of maize and delivers a highly reliable yield prognosis [32,33]. The same rule is observed for winter oilseed rape. The content of nutrients in leaves at flowering can be used to forecast the seed yield [34]. This relationship explains the opinion of Schulte auf'm Erley et al. [21] on the importance of the inflorescence phase in winter oilseed rape for the yield. However, the latest that the N dressing can be conducted is at the rosette stage [35].







Figure 8. The Cardinal Stage 2 (CK2): winter rye (monocot) (a) and winter oilseed rape (dicot) (b). Photos by W. Grzebisz.

Nitrogen fertilization in cereals, to meet the requirements at CK2, should be conducted in the period between the date of the growth rate change (transition point) and flowering (Figure 5). In fact, in cereals, the last dose of N is applied at the end of the stem elongation phase. This phase precedes the period of the highest rate of ear growth, i.e., booting, which is responsible for the number of grains per unit area [36,37]. A separate case is bread wheat, where the last dose of N is used during the heading stage. The main goal is to increase the protein content in the grain [38].

A relevant and crucial component of nutritional crop status evaluation is a welldefined range of nutrient concentration in indicative plant parts and the relationships between them. Theoretically, there are some sophisticated methods for crop nutritional status assessment. The most commonly used are DRIS (Diagnosis and Recommendation Integrated System) and CND (Compositional Nutrient Diagnosis) [39,40]. In practice, farmers use, the sufficient ranges (SR) method to gain a quick evaluation of the crop nutritional status [41]. The biggest disadvantage of the SR method is the need for a large data set that is required for the calibration of the established ranges [42]. Moreover, most of the current ranges used by farmers were generated in the past for crops yielding at much lower levels than today. Table 1 compares the SRs for maize and sugar beet at CK1. The presented ranges, in spite of elaboration in different regions of the world (Europe, USA), differ only slightly. This suggests their suitability for world-wide application. It is much more difficult to make a reliable assessment of the nutritional status of sugar beets or potato (Table 1). For example, the Bergmann' sufficiency ranges developed at BBCH 41 for

sugar beet are not currently suitable for correcting the nutritional status of currently grown varieties. The last date of this crop fertilization with N must precede BBCH 33 [43,44].

Nutrients – (% or mg kg ⁻¹ of Dry Weight)	Maize		Sugar Beet	
	BBCH 17 Bergmann [28]	BBCH 17 Schulte and Kelling [45]	BBCH 41 Bergmann [28]	BBCH 33 Barłóg [43]
Nitrogen, N, %	3.5-5.0	4.0-5.0	4.5-5.5	3.8-6.0
Phosphorus, P, %	0.35-0.6	0.4–0.6	0.3-0.6	0.27-0.46
Potassium, K, %	3.5-4.5	3.0-5.0	3.8-7.0	3.8-8.6
Magnesium, Mg, %	0.25-0.50	0.3–0.6	0.25-0.8	0.12-0.45
Calcium, Ca, %	0.3-1.0	0.51-1.6	0.6-1.5	0.28-0.85
Zinc, Zn, mg kg $^{-1}$	30–70	25-60	20-80	15-45

Table 1. Sufficient ranges of key nutrient contents in crop plants at the first cardinal stage (CK1).

Maize has been subjected to in-depth studies on its nutritional status at the onset of flowering (Table 2). The presented ranges, despite different origin in terms of geographical region and publication year, differ only slightly. The biggest differences concern the content of Ca and K. The main reason for these variations is the calibration of plant tests under conditions of significant differences in the content of soil Ca and K in the area of the conducted research.

Table 2. Evaluation of maize nutritional status based on nutrient sufficiency ranges for the early leaf—the beginning of flowering—CK2.

Nutrients	Authors				
(% or mg kg ⁻¹ of Dry Weight)	Schulte and Kelling [45]	Jones et al. [46]	Campbell and Plank [41]	Potarzycki [33]	
Nitrogen, N, %	3.0-4.0	2.6-3.6	2.8-4.0	2.1-3.33	
Phosphorus, P, %	0.3-0.45	0.22-0.4	0.25-0.5	0.23-0.35	
Potassium, K, %	2.0-3.0	1.8-4.5	1.8-3.0	1.9-2.5	
Magnesium, Mg, %	0.2-0.8	0.43-1.0	0.25-0.8	0.41-0.67	
Calcium, Ca, %	0.2-1.0	0.27-0.34	0.15-0.6	0.28-0.36	
Zinc, mg kg $^{-1}$	20-70	19–75	20-70	40-70 1	

1 corrected by author.

2.2. The Root System Architecture—RSA

This section may be divided by subheadings. It should provide a concise and precise description of the experimental results, their interpretation, as well as the experimental conclusions that can be drawn. The uptake of nutrients related to the incorporation of ions or molecules into the plant's organism consists of a series of sequential processes that can be divided into three main ones:

- 1. Movement of nutrients along the soil/plant continuum:
 - a. transport of ions/molecules from the soil solution towards the root surface,
 - b. ingrowth of the root into soil patches rich in available nutrients;
- Transport of nutrients adsorbed on the root surface through the plasma membrane into the cytoplasm;
- 3. Direct utilization of the nutrient in the root or its transport via the xylem to active plant tissues.

The processes mentioned in points 2 and 3 are extensively described in scientific books and extended reviews [16,47]. Here, we discuss the key processes related to root system growth during the growing season. The functions of the root system of crop plants can be considered from several points of view [48–50]:

- 1. Anchorage of the plant in the soil;
- 2. Water extraction from the soil to:

- a. stabilize the shoot temperature
- b. transport nutrients to the shoot;
- Nutrient uptake from the soil solution;
- 4. Impact on rhizosphere processes through:
 - a. release of organic compounds \rightarrow a source of energy for microorganisms present in the rhizosphere
 - b. release of protons or chelating agents \rightarrow increase in nutrient availability
 - c. deposition of carbon by dead roots \rightarrow humus build-up;
- 5. Symbiotic associations with bacteria or fungi;
- 6. Storage organs, treated as main yield (sugar beets, cassava, sweet potato).

The root system, despite seasonal dynamics and spatial variability, is a conservative trait of the plant. It can be characterized as a three-dimensional structure, creating the root system architecture (RSA) [51,52]. The components that describe RSA include three main characteristics of the root system:

- 1. Primary root (PR) length, which determines the depth of a plant rooting;
- Root branching patterns, which are represented by a number of characteristics, among others (i) number of lateral roots (LR), number of adventitious roots (AR), (ii) growth angle of LR and AR in relation to the primary root (s), (iii) root diameter, (iv) root length density (RLD);
- 3. Root hairs (RH), including length, diameter, number per root unit length or area.

Generally, on the basis of the plant branching patterns, the root systems of crops, that are botanically justified, are classified as taproots (dicotyledonous species, dicots) and fibrous roots (monocotyledonous species, monocots). The main components of the taproot system are PR, LS, and AR roots. The fibrous root system consists of PR, seminal roots, crown roots and AR roots [53].

The spatial distribution of roots in the soil profile is important for both the current rate of crop growth, as a decisive factor for the uptake of water and nutrients, and for maintaining soil fertility due to allocation of carbon. The spatial arrangement of the root system in the soil profile, in spite of its heterogeneity, can be described by specific parameters or indices. This concerns, first of all, the general shape of the root system profile down to the soil. The key parameters are: (i) distribution of the total root biomass, (ii) plant rooting depth, (iii) root length density [48,54]. Root distribution with depth can be best described using, for example, an exponential model by Gerwitz and Page [55]:

$$Y = A(1 - e^{-cx})$$
 (10)

where: Y—the cumulative fraction of roots between a soil layer of 0-10 cm and the depth x + 10 cm (cm); x—a defined soil layer below 0-10 cm; c—an empirical fitting parameter that determines the root distribution with depth.

This equation or others, more mathematically advanced, are used to define the effective rooting depth (ERD) as the key RSA parameter [56,57]. Most of the root biomass is present in the topsoil, decreasing exponentially with the soil depth. As estimated by Fan et al. [56] for main crops grown in a humid climate 50% of the root biomass is in the top 20 cm. The remainder part of roots, present in the subsoil, is important for water and nutrient uptake. Under conditions of drought, the uptake of water and nutrients from deeper soil layers is critical for both growth and yield maintenance [58]. The ERD is defined as the potential depth of the soil profile from which plant roots can extract the maximum amount of water available to plants from the soil during dry years. The soil layer, extending between the soil surface and the ERD, is known as the effective root zone (ERZ) [59]. This zone, depending on the assumption, covers 80% or even to 95% of the total root mass or root extent. As reported by Fan et al. [56], 50% of wheat root biomass is present within 16.8 cm of the soil surface layer, while 95% reaches down to 103.8 cm of the soil profile. In agricultural practice, the ERD is used to assess both the water resources for the currently

grown crop and/or the dose of irrigation water. For example, the ERZ in the Czech Republic is estimated at 80–100 cm for winter cereals, and at 40–50 cm for potatoes [60].

The role of the subsoil in plant growth and yielding is usually ignored in the diagnosis of crop plant fertilization. This ERD is, in fact, used as a routine diagnostic tool to determine the content of mineral nitrogen (N_{min}). For most crops, this analysis is performed down to a depth of 90 cm [61]. Subsoil is an important storage of other nutrients, including P [62]. Current studies document that these P resources are used by plants, provided that the P balance in the topsoil is negative. This conclusion is probably the result of using powerful extractants to determine the available P [63]. A study by Barłóg et al. [64] clearly showed that extraction solution for N_{min} determination can also be used to determine the resources of other nutrients. As shown in Figure 9, the seasonal pattern of available P (0.01 M CaCl₂ extract; soil: solution ratio as 1:5), regardless of the season (crop), was stable. The P content was in a declining pattern in the soil profile. With the exception of 2005, its content was lower at crop maturity compared to spring. These P resources can be exploited by plants to up to 60% of its total content in the 0.9 m soil layer [65].



Figure 9. The seasonal patterns of available phosphorus distribution within soil layers (based on Łukowiak et al. [65]). Key: WW—winter wheat, OSR—oilseed rape. Letters indicate significant differences between treatments.

2.3. Root System Growth during the Growing Season

The genetically determined root system of plants is heterogeneous both in time and in soil space [48,66]. The first variable is inextricably linked with the plant's life cycle. Generally speaking, the growth of the root system as an integral part of the shoot system, is a result of both organs functional interdependences [67,68]. Maintaining a stable but temporary balance between the supply of water and nutrients to the shoot by the roots and the return supply of assimilates to the roots form the shoots is the basis that determines the plant growth rate, development of yield components, and yield [69].

The relationship between these two organs of the plant during its life cycle is not constant, as expressed by the ratio of the biomass of the shoot to the biomass of the root (S/R). Its value, as a rule, increases with plant growth (Figure 10). A frequently asked question concerns the relationship between shoot growth and the ability of the root system to supply the required amount of nitrogen [67]. In cereals, the highest rate of N uptake by roots occurs in the period from the end of tillering to the stage of full stem elongation (BBCH 29 to BBCH 37; Figure 6). For example, during this period, the rate of N uptake by winter rye plants on a plot fertilized with NPK and manure (long-term static experiment, existing 30 years before the study) was 3- and 10-fold faster compared to plants grown on a plot

fertilized only with manure or on the absolute control [70]. Moreover, the rye root system on the NPK + manure plot was both shallower and more branched than on the absolute control [71]. This is in line with current studies on wheat, highlighting the importance of the early stages of stem elongation for the development of yield components [37]. Moreover, the period of the highest N uptake by winter rye confirms the well-defined CK1 (Figure 5).



Figure 10. The general pattern of the growth of the root and shoot biomass of cereals during the growing season (based on Grzebisz [70]). Legend: R/S—root to shoot biomass ratio.

The second variable affecting the RSA concerns the impact of soil and environmental conditions on the development of the root system during the growing season. The primary factor of root growth is temperature, which determines the rate of all metabolic and physiological processes during a plant's life cycle [12]. The optimum temperature for root growth is much lower for plants from temperate than tropical climates [69]. The second factor is water, the function of which, similarly to temperature, cannot be separated into individual processes [72]. The third factor is soil fertility, which determines the efficiency of water and nitrogen [5]. The effect of soil fertility on RSA depends on the course of temperature and water conditions during the growing season. Any change in the environmental conditions for the worse (temporary water shortage, lower level of soil fertility, low availability of nitrate nitrogen) increases the plant's input into the root system size, mainly increasing its rooting depth—the primary root and root hair length, while reducing the development of lateral roots. The observed morphological changes are due to the actions of hormones, which are dependent on the availability of nitrate nitrogen [73,74].

The maximum demand for nutrients by a plant, as shown in Figures 4 and 5, occurs during the linear phase of the biomass accumulation by the crop. Soil inherent (quasi natural) resources of nutrients can be potentially high, but the plant's nutrient requirements at the maximum growth are higher than their supply to the plant from soil solution [8]. The rate of any given nutrient movement in the soil solution towards the root surface depends, among others, on the value of its diffusion coefficient. In pure water, the differences between diffusion coefficients for nutrients are small compared to their values in the soil solution (Table 3). The coefficients for NH₄⁺ and K⁺ are about 100-fold lower compared to the nitrate ion (NO₃⁻). An even lower value is the attribute of the orthophosphate ion. Moreover, the differences between the values of the diffusion coefficients for all these ions increase with the decrease in the water content in the soil [75].

Nutrient	Ion	D_{w} , $cm^2 s^{-1}$	$\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{eff}}$, $\mathrm{cm}^2~\mathrm{s}^{-1}$
Nitrogen	NH_4^+	$1.96 imes 10^{-5}$	$6.1 imes10^{-8}$
	NO ₃ -	$1.90 imes 10^{-5}$	$2.7 imes 10^{-6}$
Phosphorus	$H_2PO_4^-$	$0.89 imes 10^{-5}$	$0.3 - 3.33 \times 10^{-9}$
Potassium	K^+	$2.00 imes 10^{-5}$	$1-28 \times 10^{-8}$

Table 3. Coefficients of effective diffusion for main nutrients in water and soil solution ¹.

¹ source: Raynaud and Leadley [76]; Clarkson [77].

The absorption of a given nutrient by the plant root results in a decrease in its concentration around the root. This phenomenon is called the depletion zone, which is specific for each individual nutrient [67]. The size of the nutrient depletion zone (NDZ) is determined by two key variables: (i) value of its diffusion coefficient (D_{eff}); (ii) soil exploitation time by the root (t). The influence of both variables on NDZ can presented in the formula:

$$NDZ = (2 \times D_{eff} \times t)^{1/2}$$
(11)

where: NDZ—the size of the depletion zone, cm; D_{eff} —diffusion coefficient of a particular nutrient, cm² s⁻¹; t—time, s.

The NDZ arises when:

- (a) metabolic requirements of the above-ground parts of a plant are higher than the rate of nutrient supply to the plant from the soil solution;
- (b) the effective diffusion of a nutrient is sufficiently high;
- (c) the time of the plant root interaction with the soil in a particular soil zone is long enough.

The uptake of nutrients during the Yield Formation Period (YFP) of plant growth depends on the rooting depth and the root length density (RLD, cm cm $^{-3}$) of the growing crop. The effect of RLD on the size of NDZ is nutrient specific. The rate of nitrate nitrogen ion (NO_3-N) movement to the root is the most rapid of any nutrient, resulting in the fastest increase in NDZ around the root. Competition between neighboring roots occurs when their density exceeds 1-3 cm cm⁻³. Maize with an RLD of 3 cm cm⁻³ absorbs about 70% of NO₃-N present in the soil solution. At the same time, the degree of P and K depletion does not exceed 5% and 10%, respectively [78]. Competition between the roots for P may occur, provided the RLD exceeds 30 cm cm⁻³ [79]. The RLD for crop plants rarely exceeds 2–5 cm cm⁻³. The exception are grasses, for which this parameter is in the range of 3–20 cm cm⁻³ [79]. An apparent paradox for both traits of RSA is that the greatest RLD values in the topsoil, regardless of the crop, decline exponentially with depth [67]. Current studies on winter wheat and winter oilseed rape have shown that the critical RLD of 1 cm cm⁻³ was 32 and 45 cm, respectively [80]. These data indicate that there is no competition between roots for NO₃-N below this depth. However, it can be assumed that the presence of roots in the deeper soil layers has a significant impact on the yield. As recently presented by Grzebisz et al. [35], the content of NO₃-N in the soil layer (0.6–0.9 m) was the key nutritional factor that determined the yield of winter oilseed rape (WOSR). As shown in Figure 11, the greater the decrease in the NO₃-N content during YFP, the greater the WOSR yield obtained. During YFP, the sequential application of $N_{\rm f}$ creates rich N-NO₃ zones in the topsoil, while the deeper soil layers are, as a rule, much poorer in nitrate content. Nevertheless, no reduction in root growth is observed within this mega-phase, either in the topsoil or the subsoil [71,81]. The ingrowth of the primary root in the subsoil and the simultaneous growth of lateral roots in the rich NO₃-N niches in the topsoil can be explained by the *foraging strategy* of a crop [54,82]. This phenomenon entails the synchronization of both the local and systemic signals within a plant in response to the NO₃-N status in the soil profile. The decrease in concentration of NO₃-N in the subsoil, which is a typical phenomenon during YFP, leads to the increased flow of auxin to the apex of the primary root. As a consequence, it stops the growth of lateral roots within a soil zone poor in nitrates. At the same time, the induced systematic signal released by the apex of the primary root results in a compensatory growth of lateral roots in soil zones rich in nitrates [83]. The application of N_f by the farmer during the growing season leads to the formation of soil zones—*foraging patches* for a plant, which temporarily differ in the concentration of NO₃-N. Therefore, it can be concluded that a split N fertilization system is a useful way to increase the efficiency of the applied N_f .



Figure 11. The amount of the soil and fertilizer N depleted during the Yield Formation Period (YFP) depending on nitrogen (N_f) rate. Key: High, Low yield of winter oilseed rape. (Based on Grzebisz et al. [35]).

3. Soil Factors Affecting FUE

3.1. Soil Texture

The most important soil physical properties include: soil texture, density, structure, porosity, consistence, temperature, air and color. Among them, soil texture is the basic physical feature that determines not only the other physical properties of the soil, but also the chemical ones [84]. The percentage and mineralogical composition of the smallest mineral fractions in the parent rock determines the primary soil potential to supply plants with nutrients, which is the function of weathering and transforming primary minerals [85]. In addition, the content of mineral colloids is positively correlated with soil organic matter (SOM), which in turn is a source of organic colloids, which have a great impact on the water retention of the soil, cation exchange capacity, erosion processes, as well as soil microbial activity [86]. SOM sequestration is achieved through various mechanisms which include the formation of clay-humic complexes, sorption of organic matter on clay particles, fixation of organic carbon in the crystal lattices of clays and the formation of organometallic compounds such as Ca, Fe and Al humates through humification processes [87,88]. In general, the greater the SOM concentration, the greater the sorption capacity of the soil, and potential for water retention in soil [89] and nutrients [90]. Numerous studies show that soils with a high proportion of clay particles have a higher content of nutrients than soils with a low content of nutrients, not only in terms of general forms, but also plantavailable forms [91,92]. At the same time, the clay content affects the fixation and de-fixation processes of some nutrients, especially K⁺ [91]. On the one hand, excessive fixation reduces the pool of mobile K^+ ions in the soil and reduces the use of potassium from fertilizers, especially in dry soil conditions. On the other hand, it prevents the leaching of potassium from the soil [93]. Moreover, adsorption and non-exchangeable ammonium nitrogen (NH₄⁺) fixation in soil is highly dependent on clay mineral composition [94]. Another problem with soil texture is water infiltration and the leaching of nitrates (NO_3^{-}) resulting from ammonium nitrification. Coarser-textured soils are more susceptible to soil N loss following the leaching of NO₃⁻, and thus have potentially lower FUE values [64]. Furthermore, soil texture largely affects fertilizer and soil P transformations in soils. In coarser-textured soils the content of labile P fractions after adding phosphorus fertilizers is higher than in

clay and loam soils. Therefore, in these soils there is a high risk of P transfer from soil to water systems [95].

3.2. Water Content

One of the most important factors controlling nutrient uptake and utilization by plants is the water content of the soil. First of all, water determines the processes of nutrient release from the soil solid phase to the solution phase [96,97]. Water deficiency in soil negatively affects microbiological activity and the processes of mineralization/biological fixation [98]. Water is also essential for dissolving and releasing nutrients from mineral fertilizers, including controlled release fertilizer [99]. However, from the point of view of the process of uptake of nutrients by plants, two phenomena deserve special mention: mass flow and diffusion [100]. Water deficiency in the soil reduces the intensity of both processes, and thus leads to a reduction in the amount of nutrients flowing to the root surfaces [101]. In this aspect, the degree of plant reaction to water stress depends on the element and its function. According to Oliveira et al. [102], in maize the proportion of mass flow contribution to Ca, Mg, N, S and K transport was as follows: 100, 63, 56, 45 and 10%, respectively. This series clearly shows that the supply of plants with Ca and Mg may be severely limited in drought conditions, despite their relatively high concentration in the soil compared to other macronutrients [103]. Taking into account the diffusion processes, a water shortage in the soil will primarily limit the mobility of phosphate ions and micronutrients. Moreover, it will lead to the intensification of precipitation processes and the crystallization of amorphous compounds of phosphorus with other cations, depending on the pH [104]. As the water deficit in the soil increases, the proportion of pores filled with air increases, mechanical resistance increases, and the rate of root growth decreases. Under conditions of high soil oxygenation, the potential of the soil to supply plants with some micronutrients is reduced (Fe, Mn), whose higher oxidation state forms are less plant-available than the reduced forms [105]. The second group factors effecting NUE directly relates to the plant response (growth) and its ability to convert in biomass the assimilated/remobilized nutrients, especially nitrogen [106]. Water has a direct effect on root growth. In order to meet the demand for water, the roots constantly explore the soil, building a very complex, branched architecture [107]. An increase in the number of hairs and diameter root tips has been observed in plants under drought conditions. Root hairs greatly increase root-soil contact and the surface area available for adsorbing water and nutrients [108]. However, dense and deep root systems are not always good under all hydrological conditions, for example they poorly capture water from the topsoil under low rainfall conditions [109]. In drought conditions, the above-ground mass is reduced more than the underground mass, which in the case of a long-lasting drought may limit the inflow of assimilations and stop root growth, with all the negative effects of this phenomenon [110]. Lupini et al. [111] reported that water stress in durum wheat reduces the values of NUE, NUPE, and NUtE indices, regardless of the genotype. However, it should be remembered that excess water is just as harmful to plants as is its deficiency. One of the reasons for this is the reduction in the oxygen content in the soil needed for the respiration of plants and microorganisms [98]. In addition, large amounts of iron or manganese are released, which in excess may be toxic or interfere with the absorption of other nutrients. This phenomenon is particularly harmful in the cultivation of rice paddy on acidic soils [112].

3.3. Soil Compaction

Another important physical factor influencing nutrient uptake from soil, as well as their utilization from fertilizers, is soil compaction. Compaction affects plant growth by reducing the content of soil air and plant-available water, and the consequent restricted root growth results in the plant being unable to obtain an adequate amount of nutrients. Soil compaction can be assessed by measuring the following soil properties: bulk density, porosity and mechanical impedance [113]. Mechanical impedance is defined as a physical barrier to developing roots as a result of excessive bulk density. In general, root growth rates decrease sharply for soil mechanical impedance values between 0.8 and 3 MPa. On the other hand, when assessing soil compaction by soil bulk density, most authors give the value of 1.47-1.85 g cm⁻³ as critical for crops, depending on the percentage of clay [114,115]. The turgor in the cells in the elongation part of the roots determines their ability to overcome the mechanical resistance of the soil [116]. The greater it is, the greater the probability of root growth into the zone of compacted soil [117]. At the same time, root elongation is facilitated by root secretions and abraded side cells of the roots, which reduce the effect of the friction force [118]. When the mechanical resistance is too high, changes are observed at the physiological level (accumulation of solutes, reduction in the growth rate, new cell production) as well as anatomical (increase in the root diameter and the share of mechanical tissue in the direction of growth) [119,120]. The entire root system develops into less resistant parts of the soil, often forming a shallow system with the roots parallel to the soil surface [121]. According to Ramalingam et al. [122] the root length density at 30-60 cm soil depth decreased with hard compaction (to 70% of control) and increased with moderate compaction (to 135%). At the same time, the number of roots with a deep angle (i.e., 45° to 90° from the horizontal) correlated with the root length density and its proportion was lower in compacted soil. Considering the root architecture, the studies carried out so far have shown that deeper root growth is more important for N uptake than increased root density [123]. In this respect, it is necessary to remove the soil compaction in the subsoil. On arable land, the use of heavy machinery increases the risk of soil compaction especially in the subsoil [124]. Changes in the root architecture mean that the plant is unable to fully use nutrients, especially those whose main reservoirs are in deeper layers of soil [125]. Regardless of the soil depth, when the soil is characterized by excessive bulk density and/or mechanical impedance, the roots develop mainly in macro-pores [126]. This results in a poor supply of nutrients in plants under soil drought conditions, as the macro-pores in soil water retention only contribute to a small extent [98]. Another important issue with soil compaction is the loss of nitrogen from the soil through the emission of its gaseous forms into the atmosphere. As a result of soil compaction and the oxygen deficiency caused by this process, the activity of denitrifying bacteria increases and the production of N_2O and N_2 increases [127]. The emission of these gases to the atmosphere is favored by the low values of the parameters that define gas diffusivity in compacted soils [128]. According to Ruser et al. [129], high N₂O emissions in compacted soils occurred at a water-filled pore space > 70%. N₂ production took place only at the highest soil moisture level (>90% water-filled pore space) but it was considerably less than the N₂O-N emission in the most compacted areas in a potato field. Soil compaction also increases the volatilization of ammonia, as compared to uncompacted soils [130]. However, for this gas, the emissions are mainly determined by other soil physical and chemical characteristics [131].

3.4. Soil Temperature

Temperature has a substantial effect on some soil properties as well as root growth. Important processes depend on the temperature of the soil, such as: soil structure, aggregate stability, soil moisture content and aeration, soil pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), soil microbial activities and organic matter decomposition [132]. A soil temperature between 2–38 °C increases the decomposition of organic matter by stimulating microbial activities and increasing the solubility of chemical compounds [133]. As a result of decomposition, the resources of N, P, S and other nutrients available to plants increase [134]. From the point of view of the nutritional status of plants, an extremely important temperature-dependent process is the availability of P to plants. Soils with low temperature have low availability of P because the release of P from organic material is limited [135]. Soil temperature also influences the P diffusion coefficient in the soil. Yilvainio and Pettovuori [136] observed that water-soluble P increased with soil temperature from 50 to 250 °C due to the increase in the movement of P in soil controlled by diffusion. Soil temperature also affects nutrient uptake

by changing soil water viscosity and root nutrient transport. At low soil temperature, nutrient uptake by plants is reduced as a result of high soil water viscosity and low activity of root nutrient transport [137]. In general, low temperature decreases both root elongation and branching. However, low temperatures inhibit shoot growth more than root, leading to a high root/shoot dry matter ratio [138]. Vessel lignification can be delayed and axial hydraulic conductivity is higher in roots grown at low temperatures compared to high temperatures [139]. Thus, tomato, for example, showed that low soil temperature results in reduced root growth, tissue nutrient concentrations and, as a consequence, the amount of the component taken from the soil [140]. The unfavorable effect of higher temperature is marked in various ways. Too high a temperature may lower the CEC, and at the same time cause an increase in the concentration of hydrogen protons (increase in soil acidification) due to the high rate of soil organic matter decomposition. The plant's response to temperature changes depends not only on the plant species, but also on the content of nutrients in the soil. According to Xia et al. [141], negative effects of excessive temperature on P content and uptake occur especially in P-poor soils. The authors also found that an overly high root zone temperature reduced root vitality and plant phosphorus content, which in turn affected plant growth and light energy utilization efficiency.

3.5. Soil Reaction

Among a number of chemical parameters describing the chemical properties of soils, the use of nutrients from fertilizers is very much influenced by its pH [142]. This feature directly relates to the concentration of active H⁺ protons in aqueous solutions, and indirectly it is a measure of the acidity or alkalinity of a soil. The influence of soil pH on the nutrient uptake of plants results from many different phenomena and processes. The most important ones include: effecting the content of plant-available forms of nutrients in soil; capacity and proportions between cations in CEC; activity of trace elements and heavy metals; soil microbial activity, biological N₂ fixation; emissions of ammonia and other gases from the soil [143,144]. Both too acidic and alkaline soils have a negative effect on nutrient uptake. However, the phenomena occurring in acidic and alkaline soils differ significantly in terms of processes contributing to their degradation. A significant problem of acidified soils is an increase in exchangeable aluminum (Al^{3+}) [145]. The content of this form of aluminum monomers rapidly increases in soils below pH 5.0-5.5 ([146]; Figure 12). An excessive amount of Al³⁺ ions in the soil negatively affects the nutrient uptake processes and plant growth [147]. Numerous studies show that even at the stage of nutrient uptake, unfavorable phenomena take place, such as the competition of Al^{3+} ions with other ions for attachment sites in the apoplast, in carriers, attachment to the ATPase of cytoplasmic membranes and disruptions in the operation of the proton pump [148,149]. An excessive content of Al^{3+} ions in the soil significantly reduces the uptake of Mg²⁺ ions. This is due to the similar size of the hydrated ions [150]. One of the most important consequences of the presence of exchangeable aluminum in the soil is the disturbance of the growth and development of the root cap, and consequently the shortening of the root length and unfavorable changes in its structure [151]. For most crops, even a small concentration of exchangeable aluminum (in nanomoles) in the root cells is a toxic factor for the metabolic, physiological, genetic and biochemical processes taking place in the plant [152]. The reduction in the root system negatively affects the use of nitrogen in fertilizers and increases the risk of nitrate being washed out from the soil [153]. Moreover, nitrate nitrogen, which is not taken up by plants, is reduced to gaseous compounds, including N_2O [154]. In highly acidic soils, apart from exchangeable aluminum, excessive amounts of manganese (Mn^{2+}) and iron (Fe²⁺) can also appear, which can further disrupt the proper growth and development of plants [155].



Figure 12. Exchangeable aluminum (Al³⁺) content as a function of soil pH measured in suspension of 1 molar KCl (1:2.5, w/v). Sandy soils, western Poland (n = 986). The red lines indicate the critical points for soil pH and Al³⁺ content. Source: Błaszyk [146].

3.6. Soil Salinity

In arid or semi-arid climates, the problem is not soil acidification, but alkalization and salinity [156]. Under low rainfall conditions and a high evaporation rate, Na⁺ ions, as well as various soluble salts, accumulate in the soil. Their excessive accumulation contributes to the significant advantage of OH^{-} ions over H^{+} and, consequently, to an increase in soil pH to the level of 9-10 [157]. Soil alkalinity can also be increased by the addition of water containing dissolved bicarbonates, especially when irrigating with high-bicarbonate water [158]. The low osmotic potential of water in saline soils adversely affects water absorption by plants and nutrient uptake [159]. Salinity of soil significantly decreases P uptake by plants because phosphate ions precipitate with Ca ions contained in saline soils [160]. However, the alkalinity of soils is most often associated with the Na concentration [161]. Alkaline soils are characterized by unfavorable physical conditions, low content of plant-available forms of microelements and phosphorus, components determining nitrogen metabolism in the plant. During nutrient uptake processes, Na⁺ ions compete for carriers with other nutrients in cationic form, in particular with K⁺ ions [162]. This is a negative phenomenon because Na, dissimilar to K, negatively affects the activity of plant enzymes [163]. The reduced uptake of K⁺ ions also means the insufficient or slower transport of NO_3^- from the roots to the above-ground parts, and thus poor efficiency of N from fertilizers [164]. Furthermore, an excess of Cl^{-} ions in the soil has a negative effect on NO_{3}^{-} uptake. However, as recent studies show, optimal NO₃⁻ vs. Cl⁻ ratios become a useful tool to increase crop yield and quality, agricultural sustainability and reduce the negative ecological impact of NO_3^- on the environment and on human health [165]. Under saline soil conditions, plants change their root architecture, which also has negative consequences for nutrient uptake [166].

3.7. Soil Organic Matter

The content of soil organic matter (SOC) in soil is one of the most important features influencing soil fertility [167]. Changes in SOC are associated mainly with changes in macronutrient contents, such as N, P and sulfur (S) which are chemically bound to carbon (C) in organic compounds [168]. Therefore, in systems where SOC content is declining, soil fertility declines over time and soils become increasingly dependent on the use of mineral fertilizers, especially nitrogen [169]. A total loss of organic N directly translates into a weaker potential of soils to release mineral forms that are taken up by plants. At the same time, under such conditions, the demand for N from fertilizers increases. Numerous experiences show that the most effective use of N from fertilizers is observed
in the small dose range [9,170]. Conventional tillage with plowing can reduce SOC stocks by 30–60% [168]. Changes in NUE resulting indirectly from the increase in the degree of SOC degradation are confirmed by research of Luis et al. [171]. The authors calculated that over many years the efficiency of nitrogen fertilization application decreased from 68% in 1961 to 47% in 2010. This means that the use of N from fertilizers deteriorated and N losses to the environment increased by 21%.

In general, the transformation of native soil to agricultural uses leads to a decline in SOC levels [172]. However, agricultural land uses do not always result in losses of SOC. The rate and direction of changes in the C content in soils depend on the soil use system, irrigation, crops, and the level of organic matter return to the soil [173,174]. Failure to plow or use various simplified systems leads to the accumulation of SOC, especially in topsoil [175]. Reduced tillage in comparison with ploughing increased SOC stocks in the surface layer (0-10/15 cm) by 20.8% or 3.8 t ha⁻¹, depleted SOC stocks in the intermediate soil layers to 50 cm soil depth with a maximum depletion of 6.6% or 1.6 t ha^{-1} in 15/20-30 cm and increased SOC stocks in the deepest (70-100 cm) soil layer by 14.4% or 2.5 t ha⁻¹ [176]. However, the use of natural and organic fertilizers is of greater practical importance in maintaining an appropriate SOC [177]. Szajdak et al. [178] reported that a yearly application of 30 t ha^{-1} of manure to light soil over 38 years doubled the SOC content. The increase in plant biomass as a result of the use of NPK fertilizers leads to an increase in the influx of C to the soil. Nevertheless, accumulation of C in soil is not favored by an excess of N in the soil from high fertilizer application rates and/or low plant uptake can cause an increase in the mineralization of organic carbon which, in turn, leads to an increased loss of C from soils [179].

3.8. Nutrient Shortage

Factors responsible for nutrient deficiency in crops can be divided into two main groups: (i) causing an absolute deficiency of nutrients in soil, resulting from low nutrient contents in the parent soil material, low level of SOC, nutrient losses from the soil, e.g., Mg leaching, long-term unbalanced crop fertilization practice neglecting nutrient depletion in soils through crop nutrient removal; (ii) causing an induced deficiency, resulting from factors that disturb the flow of nutrients to the root such as: improper moisture and temperature of soil, ion competition, factors responsible for root system size, etc. [12]. The natural source of most nutrients in the soil are primary and secondary minerals. As a result of weathering, often stimulated by the activity of living organisms, potentially available nutrients are released into the environment. Their reactions in soil and fate in the environment depend on the type of element. Some nutrients are strongly absorbed in the soil, others are easily lost (by leaching or emission). The first group includes K. The ions of this element can be absorbed in the soil in an exchangeable and non-exchangeable form [180]. The second type of adsorption prevents the elution of K⁺ ions from soil, but on the other hand this leads to a reduction in the potential to supply plants with K. This phenomenon is responsible for the poor efficiency of K from fertilizers on soils rich in mineral colloids. The strength of the non-exchangeable K ion fixation increases in dry years, which further aggravates the symptoms of water stress [181]. Non-exchangeable adsorption may also apply to other cations, e.g., Mg. However, in relation to Mg, the degree of soil moisture has a greater practical importance, as this element is assimilated by plants as a result of a mechanism known as mass flow. Contrary to K, Mg is less readily absorbed [103]. This is one of the reasons for the relatively easy leaching of Mg from the soil. An absolute deficiency of K and Mg leads to a poor efficiency of N, as both elements greatly affect the metabolism and transport of N in plants [16]. Studies conducted on sugar beet show that Mg applied to the soil significantly increases the agronomic efficiency of N, but in the range of low doses of N (Figure 13). This indicates that an excess of nutrients in the soil may not lead to better FUE/NUE values. Phosphorus and micronutrient deficiencies in the soil are often the result of an inappropriate pH range in the soil. In an acidic reaction, the adsorption of P on iron and aluminum compounds increases, while in an alkaline pH,

insoluble calcium phosphates precipitate in the soil [104]. An inappropriate soil pH also influences, directly or indirectly, the content of plant-available forms of K, Mg and Ca [144]. Thus, in order to restore the optimal conditions for the uptake of nutrients, it is necessary to regulate and/or constantly control the soil pH. If this does not help, then one option is to enrich the soil with nutrients to eliminate their absolute deficiency, or to support the plants by foliar fertilization.



Figure 13. Effect of nitrogen application (40, 80, 120, 160 and 200 kg N ha⁻¹) on the agronomic efficiency of nitrogen (AEN), calculated for white sugar yield of sugar beet, depending on the availability of magnesium in the soil—kieserite application at a rate of 24 kg Mg ha⁻¹. Mean for two years for sandy soil (**a**) and loamy soil (**b**). Source: Pogłodziński et al. [182].

4. Innovations on the Fertilizer Market

Innovations in the fertilizer market involve two main areas of research activity. The first one concerns the process of obtaining raw materials and the production of fertilizers. The production of fertilizers, especially nitrogen ones, is energy-intensive and is a significant source of greenhouse gases. In this context, two strategies for the production of ammonia are considered: blue hydrogen—steam methane reforming with carbon capture and storage (CCS) and green hydrogen—electrolysis of water, to generate hydrogen and oxygen in a process driven by sustainable energy [183]. The second area of fertilizer production, mainly aimed at improving NUE indicators, concerns a number of application aspects and the chemical composition of fertilizers. Research shows that about 40–70% of N, 80–90% P and 50–70% of K from fertilizers is lost to the environment and cannot be used by plants, thus posing a threat to the environment [184]. For many years, the fertilizer industry has been improving and introducing Slow-Release Fertilizers (SRF) and Controlled-Release Fertilizers (CRF) [185].

The advantages of nitrogen fertilizers from the SRF and CRF groups derive from the following features: (i) they ensure a good supply of nitrogen to plants, especially in critical phases; (ii) they reduce the number of application rates; (iii) they reduce the nitrate content in plants; (iv) they limit nitrogen losses and reduce its negative impact on the environment [186,187]. With regards to nitrogen fertilizers from the SRF group, the delay of action is achieved by the formation of slightly soluble compounds, most often polymers based on urea and aldehydes, e.g., formaldehyde [188]. The condensation products of urea and other compounds can be used as solid (e.g., ureaform) or liquid fertilizers (e.g., urea-triazone). Research shows that liquid slow-release nitrogen fertilizer increases yields and nitrogen use efficiencies (NUE) in rape plants compared with a standard urea fertilizer [189]. For the production of CRF fertilizers, highly water-soluble compounds are used. Dissimilar to SRFs, controlled-release fertilizers (CRFs) are less influenced by soil temperature or texture,

and they are not so dependent on soil microbiology [190]. The effect of delaying N release is achieved by covering the granules with a different type of protective layer (e.g., sulfur coatings, polystyrene, polyethylene, polyurethane, polysulfone resin and waxes coatings, siloxanes, etc.) [191–195]. The protective layers prevent the inflow of water from the soil to the inside of the granules and the dissolution of the contained compounds. The positive effects of different coated urea fertilizers on crop yield and NUE have been observed by many authors [196–198]. Recently, a great deal of attention has been paid to fertilizers using biochar and lignite for coatings, as they allow for the cheap production of CRF fertilizers [186]. Additionally, carbon-based materials, which contain humic acids act on plants such as biostimulants. The results of Wen et al. [199] also suggest that biochar-based slow-release nitrogen fertilizers could significantly improve the water-holding and waterretention capacity of soil. As a result, on the field scale, in rice cultivation, the optimal dose of N in the form of CRF (coated with lignosulfonates) fertilizer was 20% compared to using traditional nitrogen fertilizer [200]. In turn, according to Ghafoor et al. [198], biochar-based CRF fertilizers effectively reduce the nitrogen-release rate (69.8% of nitrogen was released after 30 days) and possess low nitrogen-leaching-loss amounts (10.3%), low nitrogen migrate-to-surface-loss amounts (7.4%), and high nitrogen-use efficiency (64.27%), as compared to other N fertilizers, consequently effectively promoting cotton plant growth. According to Guo et al. [201] fertilization of maize with CRF fertilizer with the addition of humic acids allows not only an increase in NUE, but also significantly reduces the emission of N₂O from the soil to the atmosphere by 29.1-32.6% compared to CRF fertilizer without humic acids. For the production of CRF fertilizers, nitrogen stabilizers are also used: urease and nitrification [185]. Among the various urease inhibitors, the most commonly used are N-(n-Butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) and N-(n-propyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NPPT). The most commonly applied nitrification inhibitors are: 2-chloro-6-(trichloromethyl) pyridine (nitrapyrin), dicyandiamide (DCD) and 3,4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP). The literature shows that the application of these inhibitors has considerably reduced inorganic N leaching, N2, NO and N2O emission while at the same time improving crop yield and N use efficiency [202,203] However, their effect on yield is very variable and depends on many factors. The application of fertilizer with urease inhibitors can increase the content of ammonium nitrogen in the soil by 10-59% compared to treatments without these inhibitors [204]. According to some researchers, it may increase the N resources in the soil and, consequently, gas losses of N (NH₃, N₂O) from the soil [205]. Therefore, the combined application of urease inhibitors with nitrification inhibitors reduces multiple losses associated with volatilization and denitrification [206]. Urea with urease and nitrification inhibitors can be used simultaneously to improve the N uptake, seed yield and grain protein contents, for example in quinoa [207]. Meta-analysis by Yang et al. [208]. showed that among the popular nitrification inhibitors, DCD was more effective than DMPP on increasing plant productivity. An increase in crop yield by DMPP was generally only observed in alkaline soil. This is confirmed by the results of Alonso-Ayuso et al. [209], who on soil with a pH of around 8.0 obtained after DMPP application allowed a 23% reduction in the fertilizer rate without decreasing maize yield and grain quality.

With respect to physical characteristics, in recent years urea has been produced with larger granules, facilitating mixing with fertilizers of similar grain size and bulk density, and allowing a wider spreading width compared to traditionally granulated urea. This is especially suitable for the fertilization of rice [210].

Innovations in the phosphorus fertilizer market also include the production of fertilizers with a controlled phosphorus release rate (CRFs). Their use increases the efficiency of using P from fertilizers (PUE) compared to traditional phosphorus fertilizers, and at the same time they reduce the negative impact of fertilization on the environment [191,211]. The rate of phosphorus release from fertilizers depends on a number of factors, including type and thickness of coating material, soil temperature and pH, humidity and microbial activity [193,212]. According to Fertahi et al. [213], 3 days after the application of phosphorus fertilizers, 100% P was released from water-soluble triple superphosphate (TSP) granular fertilizers, and only 60% from biopolymer coated TSPi. Next, Barbosa et al. [214] reported that biochar-based phosphate fertilizers have potential as a support material to increase the availability and efficiency of N use by plants. It should be mentioned that phosphorus fertilizers with a controlled phosphorus release rate also include: partially acidulated phosphoric (PAPR) and thermophosphates [215,216]. Stabilization of phosphorus transformations in the soil, and thus an increase in the potential P uptake from fertilizers, can be achieved by adding chemicals, the so-called phosphate boosters [217]. Their task is to decrease P-adsorption in soil and increase soluble-P from applied fertilizer-P [218]. Another solution for the future increase in PUE may be the addition of solubilizing bacteria [219]. In the foliar fertilizer market, fertilizers containing P in the form of phosphonates are now available. They have a beneficial effect not only on the nutritional status of plants, but also on their tolerance and resistance to fungal parasites [220].

The introduction of amino acids or other organic compounds of a biostimulating nature to the composition of fertilizers has also been a breakthrough in the foliar nutrition of plants. Amino acid molecules, distinct from technical salts or synthetic chelates, are electrically neutral, therefore the assimilation time of nutrients from fertilizers is short and their use will improve the nutrient use efficiency compared to traditional foliar fertilizers [221-223]. Glutamic acid has a particularly strong complexing effect [224]. On the other hand, some ammonium acids show a typical biostimulating character; for example, tryptophan, which is an auxin precursor. As demonstrated by Gondek et al. [225], NPKS soil fertilizer with the addition of thryptophan increased the maize biomass and the use of N and S from the fertilizer by 27% and 17%, respectively, compared to fertilizer without an amino acid. The incorporation of various organic and mineral substances into the soil together with fertilizers is an important way to improve the efficiency of using nutrients from fertilizers. As reported by Palanivell et al. [218], clinoptilolite zeolite application could contribute to an improved use of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium fertilizers to prevent soil, air, and water pollution. This treatment also improved nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium use efficiency. The use of slow-release fertilizer hydrogels (SRFH) is also of interest. SRFHs are a combination of a super absorbent hydrogel (SAH) and a fertilizer with both water retention and slow-release properties [226]. Polymer super-absorbents are macromolecular compounds capable of absorbing water or physiological fluids in amounts much greater than their mass. They can be added to the soil or to fertilizers [227,228]. Among other things, chitosan-based hydrogels can be used as an additive to fertilizers [229].

The application of nanotechnology to the development of new types of fertilizers is considered to be one of the most promising options to significantly increase global plant production without negatively affecting the environment [230]. According to the European Commission [231], "Nanomaterial" means a natural, randomly generated or manufactured material containing particles in a free state or in the form of an aggregate or agglomerate in which at least 50% or more of the particles in the numerical particle size distribution have one or more dimensions in the range of 1 nm-100 nm. Nanoparticles are 100 to 1000 times larger than the size of the individual ions of nutrients that are involved in biochemical reactions [232]. However, they are in dimensions similar to or smaller than a number of anaotomous structures of plant tissues, e.g., plasmodesmata, cell wall pore sizes, or stomates [233]. Therefore, the presence of nanoparticles in foliar fertilizers improves the bioavailability of nutrients due to the nano-size, large specific surface area and greater reactivity of the compounds [234]. Fertilizers applied to the soil create the possibility that particles in the "nano" size may not be easily fixed between sheets of secondary minerals, and so not easily leached away from the soil [235]. The advantages of nanofertilizers also include the application of nutrients in a relatively smaller amount, ultimately reducing the cost of transport and at the same time improving the ease of application [236]. Nanofertilizers are usually divided into three groups: (i) classic fertilizer, but containing nano-scale particles; (ii) classic, traditional fertilizers with the addition of fertilizers in the form of nanoparticles; (iii) nanoscale coating fertilizer, referring to nutrients encapsulated

by nanofilms or intercalated into nanoscale pores of a host material [237]. The nanocarriers used in the last group, such as zeolites, chitosan, clay and other nanomaterials, can provide plants with an even release of macronutrients during vegetation, which in the case of nitrogen and phosphorus improves their use in fertilizers [238,239]. Currently, the market of foliar fertilizers is developing intensively, which, apart from traditional compounds containing microelements, also contain noble metals, in particular silver ions, showing specific properties as pesticides on the "nano" scale [233,240]. Despite the large amount of literature on the potential use of nanofertilizers, there is little credible scientific evidence to demonstrate their advantage over traditional fertilizers. According to Kottegoda et al. [241] application of urea-coated hydroxyapatite nanohybrids (HA-urea) results in the enhancement of nitrogen use efficiency and reduces the environmental impacts of rice cultivation. Raguraj et al. [242] reported an increase in tea yield by 10–17%, while reducing the urea dose by 50% compared to traditional urea. Li et al. [243] reported that application of P in the formulation of nanoscale hydroxyapatite (nHA) had beneficial effects on soybean P and Ca content upon high precipitation intensities. However, the authors did not record any significant difference in the effect of fertilizers on the soybean biomass. A meta-analysis by Kah et al. [244] found that the median efficacy gain of nanofertilizers over conventional fertilizers was 19, 18 and 29% for categories of macronutrients, micronutrients and nanomaterials acting as carriers for macronutrients, respectively. However, Kopittke et al. [245] are critical of these results. The authors note that numerous researchers describe the positive aspects of nanofertilizers, but the experiments often lack an appropriate control object that would allow an objective assessment of their effects on plants. In terms of the potential use of nanofertilizers in the future, carbon nanotubes (e.g., consisting of 60 atoms of C-fullarens), which may contain nutrients, mainly microelements, or other bioactive compounds, are of interest [230,235,246]. As a result of such a formulation, future nanofertilizers will fully meet the criteria of CRF fertilizers.

5. FUE—A Message for Agricultural Practice

The stagnation in the increase in the crop yields is well-documented [247,248]. Despite considerable progress in breeding and the continual release of new varieties, the real improvement in NUE is small [249]. The challenge for the farmer to exploit the yield potential of the grown variety is:

- Determine the maximum attainable yield (Y_{attmax}). This is the basis for choosing the most suitable variety for the actual climatic and soil conditions of the farm;
- 2. Identify soil conditions that constrain:
 - a. growth and architecture of the root system
 - b. water and nutrient availability;
- 3. Divide the whole field area into units of homogenous productivity;
- 4. Identify Nitrogen Hotspots both on the farm and on the specific field;
- 5. Observe the viability of plants at stages preceding the cardinal phases of yield formation;
- 6. Schedule the correction of the plant nutritional status during the season to exploit its yield potential.

The effective control of the set of factors indicated above is crucial to optimizing NUE. The general formula can be written as:

$$NUE = \frac{\text{Nitrogen Fertilizer Rate}}{\text{growth factors}}$$
(12)

The denominator includes all growth factors that determine the plant's uptake and utilization available N present in the soil-plant system during the growing season. The fractional value of all these factors, excluding N, should be ≤ 1.0 [5,8]. If the fractional value of a given growth factor approaches 1.0, its negative impact on NUE decreases and vice versa. The main challenge for the farmer in using N_f efficiently is to mitigate, or rather eliminate, the cause that leads to its fractional value drop below 1.0. Insufficient recognition of this

value, and worse, the lack of action to control its value, is the main reason for low NUE both on the farm and worldwide [250,251].

The numerator of this equation is not the first but the second step in an effective control of the N_f use efficiency. The amount of N_f applied must meet at plant's requirement for N to exploit its yield potential, taking into account both the stage of growth and the spatial variability in plant N status [252]. The effective determination of the amount of Nf requires the use of appropriate diagnostic tools. The first dose of N_{f} , regardless of the crop, must be based on the content of N_{min} in the effective rooting depth of the currently cultivated plant [61]. A comprehensive view of the nutritional status of a plant in its full vegetation should be based on data on the content of both N_{min} and other nutrients in the soil [64]. The control of the plant nutritional status during the growing season, in fact, is limited to N. The chemometric diagnostic tools are good, but their use is limited. These methods are time-consuming and because of the delay between the sampling time and the delivery of the data to the farmer, they do not show the real condition of the plant N status. Real-time data can be obtained by using remote sensing techniques [253,254]. These methods rely on the absorption and reflection of solar radiation by a plant canopy. From this property of the plant, a number of crop characteristics can be determined in real time, such as (i) plant biomass, (ii) leaf area index, (iii) nitrogen content, (iv) chlorophyll content [255]. Biometric and nutritional data obtained at the cardinal stages of plant growth, combined with the required sum of the physiological effective temperatures at a given stage, form the basis for determining the crop growth rate. These data are used to forecast a plant's demand for N in strictly defined stages of its development. This is the basis for determining the appropriate dose of N_f. The spatial differences in the values of the field spectral indices can be used to develop a zonal map, showing the temporary crop N status. These maps are the basis for the application of Nf according to a plant's requirements in a well-defined field area [36,256].

6. Conclusions

The production efficiency of all nutrients, applied as mineral fertilizers, can be evaluated mainly through their impact on nitrogen use efficiency (NUE). The effectiveness of nitrogen present in the soil/plant system depends on the degree of correction of soil factors limiting plant growth and nitrogen uptake at critical stages of yield formation by the currently cultivated plant by other fertilizers, including lime. There are a number of soil factors that limit nitrogen uptake and reduce NUE indices. Some of them can be easily controlled by the farmer, for example soil compaction, pH, organic matter as well as content of plant-available nutrients that improve metabolism and the use of N by plants. Moreover, regardless of the crop, an N dose must be based on the soil content of N_{min} in the effective rooting depth and/or plant nutrition status at critical growth stages. Improvement of the parameters characterizing FUE/NUE parameters can also be achieved through the proper selection and use of innovative fertilizers. In recent years, slow- and controlled-release fertilizers produced with the use of biochar, lignite or other carbon-containing organic compounds have been of particular interest. In addition to the standard advantages of this type of fertilizer, a positive effect on the physical and chemical properties of the soil, as well as the growth of the root system can be achieved. Nanofertilizers are a new, promising direction of fertilizer development. Of particular interest is the possibility of using fullarens as nutrients carriers. Unfortunately, a reliable assessment of nanofertilizers is limited by a relatively small amount of data from field trials. Summing up, it is worth noting that regardless of the solution used to improve the NUE indicators, each action has a positive effect on the biogeochemical cycle of biogenic elements, and at the same time can help to protect the environment and reduce fertilization costs.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/plants11141855/s1, Table S1: A detailed analysis and evaluation of agronomic factors responsible for nitrogen gap (NG).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.B. and W.G.; methodology, P.B. and R.L.; software, R.Ł.; validation, P.B, W.G. and R.Ł.; formal analysis, P.B. and W.G.; investigation, P.B., W.G. and R.Ł.; resources, P.B. and W.G.; data curation, P.B.; writing—original draft preparation, P.B. and W.G.; writing—review and editing, P.B. and W.G.; visualization, P.B. and R.Ł.; supervision, P.B. and W.G.; project administration, P.B. and W.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank the editor and reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions, which substantially improved the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Licker, R.; Johnston, M.; Foley, J.A.; Barford, C.; Kucharik, C.J.; Monfreda, C.; Ramankutty, N. Mind the gap: How do climate and agricultural management explain the 'yield gap' of croplands around the world? *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 2010, 19, 769–782. [CrossRef]
- Tandzi, N.L.; Mutengwa, S.C. Factors affecting yields of crops. In Agronomy—Climate Change and Food Security; Amanullah, Ed.; IntechOpen: London, UK, 2020; p. 16.
- 3. Sattari, S.Z.; Van Ittersum, M.K.; Bouwman, A.F.; Smit, A.L.; Janssen, B.H. Crop yield response to soil fertility and N, P, K inputs in different environments: Testing and improving the QEFTS model. *Field Crops Res.* **2014**, *157*, 35–46. [CrossRef]
- Lollato, R.P.; Edwards, J.T. Maximum attainable wheat yield and resources-use efficiency in the Southern Great Plains. Crop Sci. 2015, 55, 2863–2875. [CrossRef]
- Wallace, A.; Wallace, G.A. Closing the Crop-Yield Gap through Better Soil and Better Management; Wallace Laboratories: Los Angeles, CA, USA, 2003; p. 162.
- Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R.; Sassenrath, G. Virtual nitrogen as a tool for assessment of nitrogen at the field scale. *Field Crops Res.* 2018, 218, 182–184. [CrossRef]
- Dobermann, A.R. Nitrogen use efficiency—State of the art. In Agronomy & Horticulture Faculty Publications, Proceedings of the IFA International Workshop on Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers, Frankfurt, Germany, 28–30 June 2005; University of Nebraska–Lincoln: Lincoln, NE, USA, 2005; Volume 316, pp. 1–16.
- 8. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Nitrogen Gap Amelioration is a Core for Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture—A Concept. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 419. [CrossRef]
- Fixen, P.; Brentrup, F.; Bruulsema, T.; Garcia, F.; Norton, R.; Zingore, S. Nutrient/fertilizer use efficiency: Measurement, current situation and trends. In *Managing Water and Fertilizer for Sustainable Agricultural Intensification*; Drechsel, P., Heffer, P., Magen, H., Mikkelsen, R., Wichelns, D., Eds.; IFA: Paris, France, 2015; pp. 8–38.
- 10. Oenema, O.; Kros, H.; De Vries, W. Approaches and uncertainties in nutrient budgets: Implications for nutrient management and environmental policies. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2003, 20, 3–16. [CrossRef]
- 11. Pradhan, P.; Fischer, G.; van Velthuizen, H.; Reusser, D.E.; Kropp, J.P. Closing yield gaps: How sustainable can we be? *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0129487. [CrossRef]
- 12. Marschner, H. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants; Elsevier: Cambridge, MA, USA; Academic Press: London, UK, 1995; p. 899.
- 13. Parry, A.J.; Andralojc, P.J.; Scales, J.C.; Salvucci, M.E.; Carmo-Silva, A.E.; Alonso, H.; Whitney, S.M. Rubisco activity and regulation as targets for crop improvement. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2013**, *6493*, 717–730. [CrossRef]
- 14. Guan, P. Dancing with hormones: A current perspective of nitrate signaling and regulation in *Arabidopsis. Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 1697. [CrossRef]
- 15. Luo, L.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, G. How does nitrogen shape plant architecture. J. Exp. Bot. 2020, 71, 4415–4427. [CrossRef]
- 16. Marschner, P. (Ed.) Marchnerr's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd ed.; Academic Press: London, UK, 2012; p. 672.
- 17. Blecharczyk, A.; Zawada, D.; Sawińska, Z.; Małcka-Jankowiak, I.; Waniorek, W. Impact of crop sequence and fetilization on yield of winter wheat. *Fragm. Agron.* 2019, *36*, 27–35.
- Tabak, M.; Lepiarczyk, A.; Filipek–Mazur, B.; Lisowska, A. Efficiency of Nitrogen Fertilization of Winter Wheat Depending on Sulfur Fertilization. Agronomy 2020, 10, 1304. [CrossRef]
- 19. Roberts, T.L. Improving Nutrient Use Efficiency. Turk. J. Agric. For. 2008, 32, 177–182.
- Zhang, F.; Niu, J.; Zhang, W.; Chen, X.; Li, C.; Yuan, L.; Xie, J. Potassium nutrition of crops under varied regimes of nitrogen supply. *Plant Soil* 2010, 335, 21–34. [CrossRef]
- 21. Schulte Auf'm Erley, G.; Behrens, T.; Ulas, A.; Wiesler, F.; Horst, W.J. Agronomic traits contributing to nitrogen efficiency of winter oilseed rape cultivars. *Field Crops Res.* 2011, 124, 114–123. [CrossRef]

- 22. Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W. Effect of timing and nitrogen fertilizer application on winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). I. Growth dynamics and seed yield. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 2004, 190, 305–313. [CrossRef]
- Szczepaniak, W.; Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Nutritional status of winter oilseed rape in cardinal stages of growth as the yield indicator. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2015, 61, 291–296. [CrossRef]
- Wild, A.; Breeze, V. Nutrient uptake in relation to growth. In *Physiological Processes Limiting Plant Productivity*; Johnston, C.B., Ed.; Butterworths: London, UK, 1981; pp. 331–345.
- Meyer, U. BBCH Monograph. In Growth Stages of Mono-and Dicotyledonous Plants, 2nd ed.; Federal Biological Research Center for Agriculture and Forestry: Berlin, Germany, 2001. Available online: http://www.jki.bund.de/fileadmin/dam_uploads/_veroeff/ bbch/BBCH-Skala_Englisch.pdf (accessed on 14 March 2021).
- Yin, X.; Goudriaan, J.; Lantinga, E.A.; Vos, J.; Spiertz, H. A flexible sigmoid function of determinate growth. Ann. Bot. 2003, 91, 361–371. [CrossRef]
- Sylvester-Bradley, R.; Lunn, G.; Foulkes, J.; Shearman, V.; Spink, J.; Ingram, J. Management Strategies for Yield of Cereals and Oilseed Rape. In Proceedings of the 18 HGCA Conference on Agronomic Intelligence: The Basis for Profitable Production, London, UK, 16–17 January 2002. Available online: www.hgca.com/publications (accessed on 14 May 2022).
- 28. Bergmann, W. Nutritional Disorders of Plants; Gustav Fischer Verlag: Jena, Germany, 1992; p. 741.
- 29. Ritchie, S.W.; Hanway, J.J.; Benson, G.O. *How a Corn Plant Develops*; Special Report No. 48; Iowa State University of Science and Technology Cooperative Extension Service: Ames, IA, USA, 1986; p. 21.
- 30. Subedi, K.; Ma, B. Nitrogen uptake and partitioning in stay-green and leafy maize hybrids. Crop. Sci. 2005, 45, 740–747. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Wrońska, M.; Diatta, J.B.; Szczepaniak, W. Effect of zinc foliar application at early stage of maize growth on the patterns of nutrients and dry matter accumulation by the canopy. Part II: Nitrogen uptake and dry matter accumulation patterns. *J. Elem.* 2008, 13, 29–39.
- 32. Elwali, A.M.O.; Gascho, G.J.; Summer, M.E.E. Dris norm for 11 nutrients in corn leaves. Agron. J. 1985, 77, 506–508. [CrossRef]
- Potarzycki, J. Influence of balanced fertilization on nutritional status of maize at anthesis. *Fertil. Fertil.* 2010, 39, 90–108. (In Polish)
 Szczepaniak, W.; Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. An assessment of the effect of potassium fertilizing systems on maize nutritional
- status in critical stages of growth by plant analysis. J. Elem. 2014, 19, 538–548. [CrossRef]
- 35. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R.; Kotnis, K. Evaluation of nitrogen fertilization systems based on the in-season variability of nitrogenous growth factors and soil fertility factors: A case of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Agronomy **2020**, *10*, 1701. [CrossRef]
- 36. Klepper, B.; Rickman, R.W.; Waldman, S.; Chevalier, P. The physiological life cycle of wheat: Its use in breeding and crop management. *Euphytica* **1998**, *100*, 341–347. [CrossRef]
- 37. Guo, Z.; Chen, D.; Schnurbusch, T. Plant and floret growth at distinct developmental stages during the stem elongation phase in wheat. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2018, 9, 330. [CrossRef]
- Belete, F.; Dechassa, N.; Molla, A.; Tana, T. Effect of split application of different N rates on productivity and nitrogen use effciency of bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). Agric. Food Sec. 2018, 7, 92. [CrossRef]
- Beaufils, E.R. Diagnosis and Recommendation Integrated System (DRIS): A General Scheme of Experimentation and Calibration Based on Principles Developed from Research in Plant Nutrition; Soil Science Bulletin 1; University of Natal, Department of Soil Science and Agrometeorology: Pietermaritzburg, South Africa, 1973; p. 132.
- 40. Parent, L.E.; Dafir, M.A. Theoretical concept of compositional nutrient diagnosis. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 1992, 117, 239–242. [CrossRef]
- Campbell, C.R.; Plank, C.O. Reference sufficiency ranges field crops—Corn. In *Reference Sufficiency Ranges for Plant Analysis in the* Southern Region of the United States; Southern Cooperative Series Bulletin 394; Campbell, C.R., Ed.; Southern Region Agricultural Experiment Station: Fayetteville, AR, USA, 2000. Available online: http://www.ncagr.gov/agronomi/saaesd/corn.htm (accessed on 9 June 2022).
- 42. Soltanpour, P.N.; Malakouti, M.J.; Ronaghi, A. Comparison of diagnosis and recommendation integrated system and nutrient sufficiency range for corn. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **1995**, *59*, 133–139. [CrossRef]
- 43. Barłóg, P. Diagnosis of sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) nutrient imbalance by DRIS and CND-clr methods at two stages during early growth. *J. Plant Nutr.* **2016**, *39*, 1–16. [CrossRef]
- 44. Frąckowiak, K.; Potarzycki, J.; Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W. Potato nutritional status at the onset of tuberization—A yield prediction tool. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2020, *66*, 86–92. [CrossRef]
- Schulte, E.E.; Kelling, K.A. Analysis: A Diagnostic Tool; NCH-46 Crop Fertilization 4/91; University of Wisconsin-Madison: Madison, WI, USA, 1992. Available online: http://ces.purdue.edu/extmedia/NCH/NCH-46.html (accessed on 11 May 2012).
- 46. Jones, J.B.; Eck, H.V.; Voss, R. Plant analysis as an aid in fertilizing corn and grain sorghum. In *Soil Testing and Plant Analysis*, 3rd ed.; Westerman, R.L., Ed.; Soil Science Society of America: Madison, WI, USA, 1990; pp. 521–527.
- 47. Reid, R.; Hayes, J. Mechanisms and control of nutrient uptake in plants. Int. Rev. Cytol. 2003, 229, 73–114. [PubMed]
- Kell, D.B. Breeding crop plants with deep roots: Their role in sustainable carbon, nutrient and water sequestration. *Ann. Bot.* 2011, 108, 407–418. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Khan, M.A.; Gemenet, D.C.; Villordon, A. Root system architecture and abiotic stress tolerance: Current knowledge in root and tuber crops. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2016, 7, 1584. [CrossRef]
- 50. Gregory, P.J. Are plant roots only "in" soil or are they "of soil it? Roots, soil formation and function. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 2022, 73, e13219. [CrossRef]

- 51. Lynch, J. Root architecture and plant productivity. Plant Physiol. 1995, 109, 7–13. [CrossRef]
- 52. Fradgley, N.; Evans, G.; Biernaskie, J.M.; Cockram, J.; Marr, E.C.; Oliver, A.G.; Ober, E.; Jones, H. Effects of breeding history and crop management on the root architecture of wheat. *Plant Soil* **2020**, *452*, 587–600. [CrossRef]
- 53. Rich, S.M.; Watt, M. Soil conditions and cereal root system architecture: Review and considerations for linking Darwin and Weaver. J. Exp. Bot. 2013, 64, 1193–1208. [CrossRef]
- 54. Lynch, J.L. Steep, cheap and deep: An ideotype to optimize water and N acquisition by maize root systems. *Ann. Bot.* **2013**, *112*, 347–357. [CrossRef]
- 55. Gerwitz, A.; Page, R.E. An empirical mathematical model to describe plant root systems. J. Appl. Ecol. 1974, 11, 773–781. [CrossRef]
- Fan, J.; McConkey, B.; Wang, H.; Janzen, H. Roots distribution by depth for temperate agricultural crops. *Field Crops Res.* 2016, 189, 68–74. [CrossRef]
- 57. Metselaar, K.; Rodrigues Pinheiro, E.A.; De Jong van Lier, Q. mathematical descriptio of rooting profiles of agricultural crops and its efect on transpiration prediction by a hyrological model. *Soil Syst.* **2019**, *3*, 44. [CrossRef]
- 58. Lynch, J.P.; Wojciechowski, T. opportunities and challegens in the subsoil: Pathways to deeper rooted crops. J. Exp. Bot. 2015, 66, 2199–2210. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Renger, M.; Strebel, O. Jährliche Grundwasserneubildung in Abhängigkeit von Bodennutzung und Bodeneigenschaften. *Wasser Boden* **1980**, *32*, 362–366.
- Haberle, J.; Svoboda, P. Calculation of available water supply in crop root zone ant the water balance of crops. *Contr. Geophys. Geod.* 2015, 45, 285–298. [CrossRef]
- 61. Olfs, H.-W.; Blankenau, K.; Brentrup, F.; Jasper, J.; Link, A.; Lammel, J. Soil- and plant-based nitrogen-fertilizer recommendations in arable farming. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2005, 168, 414–431. [CrossRef]
- 62. Kautz, T.; Amelung, W.; Ewert, F.; Gaiser, T.; Horn, R.; Jahn, R.; Javaux, M.; Kemna, A.; Kuzyakova, Y.; Munch, J.-C.; et al. Nutrient acquisition from arable subsoils in temperate climates: A review. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **2013**, *57*, 1003–1022. [CrossRef]
- Siebers, N.; Wang, L.; Funk, T.; Von Tucher, S.; Merbach, I.; Schweitzer, K.; Kruse, J. Subsoils—A sink for excess fertilizer P but a minor contribution to P plant nutrition: Evidence from long-term fertilization trials. *Environ. Sci. Eur.* 2021, 33, 60. [CrossRef]
- Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W. Predicting the content of soil mineral nitrogen based on the content of calcium chlorideextractable nutrients. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2017, 180, 624–635. [CrossRef]
- 65. Łukowiak, R.; Grzebisz, W.; Sassenrath, G.F. New insights into phosphorus management in agriculture—A crop rotation approach. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2016**, *542*, 1062–1077. [CrossRef]
- Giehl, R.F.H.; Gruber, B.D.; Von Wirén, N. It's time to make changes: Modulation of root system architecture by nutrient signals. J. Exp. Bot. 2014, 65, 769–778. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van Noordwijk, M.; Dde Willigen, P. Root functions in agricultural soils. In *Plant Roots and Their Environment*; Developments in Agricultural and Managed Forest Ecology 24; McMichael, B.L., Persson, H., Eds.; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1991; p. 649.
- 68. Kurepa, J.; Smalle, J.A. Auxin/cytokinin antagonistic control of the shoot/root growth ration and its relevance for adaptation to growth and nutrient deficiency stress. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2022, *23*, 1933. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 69. McMichael, B.L.; Burke, J.J. Soil temperature and root growth. HortScience 1998, 33, 947–951. [CrossRef]
- 70. Grzebisz, W. The sepecific adsorption rate and nitrogen absorption rate of winter rye grown in the long-term fertilization experiment. *Zesz. Probl. Postępów Nauk. Rol.* **1995**, *421*, 123–135. (In Polish)
- Grzebisz, W.; Kryszak, J. Effect of soil fertility on root morphology of winter rye. In *Root Ecology and Its Practical Application*; Kutschera, L., Hübl, E., Lichtenegger, E., Persson, H., Sobotik, M., Eds.; Verein fot Wurzelforschung: Klagenfurt, Austria, 1992; pp. 389–392.
- 72. Passioura, J. Increasing crop productivity when water is scarce—From breeding to field management. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2006, 80, 176–196. [CrossRef]
- 73. Beeckman, T.; Friml, J. Nitrate contra auxin: Nutrient sensing by roots. Dev. Cell 2010, 18, 877–878. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ötvös, K.; Marconi, M.; Vega, A.; O'brian, J.; Johnston, A.; Abualla, R.; Antonielli, L.; Montesinos, J.C.; Zhang, Y.; Yan, S.; et al. Modulation of plant root growth by nitrogen source-defined regulation of polar auxin transport. *EMBO J.* 2021, 40, e106862. [CrossRef]
- Gonzalez-Dugo, V.; Durand, J.-L.; Gastal, F. Water deficit and nitrogen nutrition of crops: A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 2010, 30, 529–544. [CrossRef]
- Raynaud, X.; Leadley, P.W. Soil characteristics play a key role in modeling nutrient competition in plant communities. *Ecology* 2004, 85, 2200–2214. [CrossRef]
- Clarkson, D.T. Nutrient interception and transport by root system. In *Physiological Processes Limiting Plant Productivity*; Johnson, C.B., Ed.; Butterworths: London, UK, 1981; pp. 307–330.
- 78. Barber, S.A. Soil Nutrient Bioavailability: A Mechanistic Approach, 2nd ed.; John Wiley and Sons: New York, NY, USA, 1995.
- 79. Noordwijk, M. Functional interpretation of root densities in the field for nutrient and water uptake. In *Wurzeloekologie and Ihre Nutzwendung*; Instituut voor Bodemvruchtbaarheid: Irdning, Austria, 1983; pp. 207–226.
- 80. White, C.; Sylvester-Bradley, R.; Berry, P.M. Root length densities of UK wheat and oilseed rape crops with implications for water capture and yield. J. Exp. Bot. 2015, 66, 2293–2303. [CrossRef]

- Barraclough, P.B. Root growth, macro-nutrient uptake dynamics and soil fertility requirements of a high-yielding winter oilseed rape crop. *Plant Soil* 1989, 119, 59–70. [CrossRef]
- 82. Krouk, G.; Ruffel, S.; Gutiérrez, R.A.; Gojon, A.; Crawford, N.M.; Coruzzi, G.M.; Lacombe, B. A framework integrating plant growth with hormones and nutrients. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2011, *16*, 178–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hu, Q.-Q.; Shu, J.-Q.; Li, W.-M.; Wang, G.-Z. Role of auxin and nitrate signaling in the development of root system architecture. Front. Plant Sci. 2021, 12, 690363. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 84. Osman, K.T. Soils: Principles, Properties and Management; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2013; p. 271. [CrossRef]
- Kome, G.K.; Enang, R.K.; Tabi, F.O.; Yerima, B.P.K. Influence of Clay Minerals on Some Soil Fertility Attributes: A Review. Open J. Soil Sci. 2019, 9, 155–188. [CrossRef]
- Kopittke, P.M.; Menzies, N.W.; Wang, P.; McKenna, B.A.; Lombi, E. Soil and the intensification of agriculture for global food security. *Environ. Int.* 2019, 132, 105078. [CrossRef]
- Merino, C.; Nannipieri, P.; Matus, F. Soil Carbon Controlled by Plant, Microorganism and Mineralogy Interactions. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2015, 15, 321–332. [CrossRef]
- Sarkar, B.; Singh, M.; Mandal, S.; Churchman, G.J.; Bolan, N.S. Clay Minerals—Organic Matter Interactions in Relation to Carbon Stabilization in Soils. In *The Future of Soil Carbon: Its Conservation and Formation*; Garcia, C., Nannipieri, P., Hernandez, T., Eds.; Academic Press: London, UK, 2018; Chapter 3; pp. 71–86.
- 89. Lal, R. Soil organic matter and water retention. Agron. J. 2020, 112, 3265–3277. [CrossRef]
- 90. Carter, M.R. Soil quality for sustainable land management: Organic matter and aggregation interactions that maintain soil function. *Agron. J.* **2002**, *94*, 38–47. [CrossRef]
- 91. Raheb, A.; Heidari, A. Effects of Clay Mineralogy and Physicochemical Properties on Potassium Availability under Soil Aquic Conditions. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2012, 12, 747–761.
- 92. Moraru, S.S.; Ene, A.; Badila, A. Physical and Hydro-Physical Characteristics of Soil in the Context of Climate Change. A Case Study in Danube River Basin, SE Romania. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 9174. [CrossRef]
- 93. Römheld, V.; Kirkby, E.A. Research on potassium in agriculture: Needs and prospects. Plant Soil 2010, 335, 155–180. [CrossRef]
- 94. Nieder, R.; Dinesh, K.B.; Scherer, H.W. Fixation and Defixation of Ammonium in Soils: A Review. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 2011, 47, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 95. Zheng, Z.; Parent, L.E.; MacLeod, J.A. Influence of soil texture on fertilizer and soil phosphorus transformations in Gleysolic soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 2003, *83*, 395–403. [CrossRef]
- 96. Wilson, M.J. Weathering of the primary rock-formingminerals: Processes, products and rates. *Clay Miner.* 2004, 39, 233–266. [CrossRef]
- 97. Erlandsson Lampa, M.; Sverdrup, H.U.; Bishop, K.H.; Belyazid, S.; Ameli, A.; Köhler, S.J. Catchment export of base cations: Improved mineral dissolution kinetics influence the role of water transit time. *Soil* **2020**, *6*, 231–244. [CrossRef]
- 98. Gavrilescu, M. Water, Soil, and Plants Interactions in a Threatened Environment. Water 2021, 13, 2746. [CrossRef]
- Trinh, T.H.; KuShaari, K.; Basit, A. Modeling the Release of Nitrogen from Controlled-Release Fertilizer with Imperfect Coating in Soils and Water. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2015, 54, 6724–6733. [CrossRef]
- 100. Alaoui, I.; El-ghadraoui, O.; Serbouti, S.; Ahmed, H.; Mansouri, I.; El-Kamari, F.; Taroq, A.; Ousaaid, D.; Squalli, W.; Farah, A. The Mechanisms of Absorption and Nutrients Transport in Plants: A Review. *Trop. J. Nat. Prod. Res.* 2022, *6*, 8–14. [CrossRef]
- Comerford, N.B. Soil Factors Affecting Nutrient Bioavailability. In Nutrient Acquisition by Plants; Ecological Studies; Bassiri, R., Ed.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2005; Volume 181, p. 14.
- Oliveira, E.M.M.; Ruiz, H.A.; Alvarez, V.V.H.; Ferreira, P.A.; Costa, F.O.; Almeida, I.C.C. Nutrient supply by mass flow and diffusion to maize plants in response to soil aggregate size and water potential. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2020, 34, 317–327. [CrossRef]
- 103. Gransee, A.; Führs, H. Magnesium mobility in soils as a challenge for soil and plant analysis, magnesium fertilization and root uptake under adverse growth conditions. *Plant Soil* **2013**, *368*, 5–21. [CrossRef]
- 104. Hinsinger, P.; Brauman, A.; Devau, N.; Gérard, F.; Jourdan, C.; Laclau, J.P.; Le Cadre, E.; Jaillard, B.; Plassard, C. Acquisition of phosphorus and other poorly mobile nutrients by roots. Where do plant nutrition models fail? *Plant Soil* **2011**, *348*, 29–61.
- 105. Rengel, Z. Availability of Mn, Zn and Fe in the rhizosphere. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2015, 15, 397-409. [CrossRef]
- 106. Mauceri, A.; Bassolino, L.; Lupini, A.; Badeck, F.; Rizza, F.; Schiavi, M. Genetic variation in eggplant for nitrogen use efficiency under contrasting NO₃⁻ supply. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 2020, 62, 393–543. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Maurel, C.; Nacry, P. Root architecture and hydraulics converge for acclimation to changing water availability. *Nat. Plants* 2020, 6, 744–749. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Haling, R.E.; Brown, L.K.; Bengough, A.G.; Young, I.M.; Hallett, P.D.; White, P.J.; George, T.S. Root hairs improve root penetration, root-soil contact, and phosphorus acquisition in soils of different strength. J. Exp. Bot. 2013, 64, 3711–3721. [CrossRef]
- 109. Tron, S.; Bodner, G.; Laio, F.; Ridolfi, L.; Leitner, D. Can diversity in root architecture explain plant water use efficiency? A modeling study. *Ecol. Model.* 2015, 312, 200–210. [CrossRef]
- 110. Fang, Y.; Du, Y.; Wang, J.; Wu, A.; Qiao, S.; Xu, B.; Zhang, S.; Siddique, K.H.M.; Chen, Y. Moderate Drought Stress Affected Root Growth and Grain Yield in Old, Modern and Newly Released Cultivars of Winter Wheat. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 672. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 111. Lupini, A.; Preiti, G.; Badagliacca, G.; Abenavoli, M.R.; Sunseri, F.; Monti, M.; Bacchi, M. Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Durum Wheat Under Different Nitrogen and Water Regimes in the Mediterranean Basin. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2021**, *11*, 607226. [CrossRef]

- Becker, M.; Asch, F. Iron toxicity in rice—Conditions and management concepts. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2005, 168, 558–573. [CrossRef]
- 113. Vepraskas, M.J. Plant response mechanisms to soil compaction. In *Plant-Environment Interactions*; Wilkonson, R.E., Ed.; Marcel Dekker Inc.: New York, NY, USA, 1994; pp. 263–287.
- 114. Bengough, A.G.; McKenzie, B.M.; Hallett, P.D.; Valentine, T.A. Root elongation, water stress, and mechanical impedance: A review of limiting stresses and beneficial root tip traits. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2011**, *62*, 59–68. [CrossRef]
- 115. Correa, J.; Postma, J.A.; Watt, M.; Wojciechowski, T. Soil compaction and the architectural plasticity of root systems. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2019**, *70*, 6019–6034. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 116. Clark, L.J.; Whalley, W.R.; Barraclough, P.B. How do roots penetrate strong soil? Plant Soil 2003, 255, 93–104. [CrossRef]
- 117. Whalley, W.R.; Bengough, A.G.; Dexter, A.R. Water stress induced by PEG decreases the maximum growth pressure of the roots of pea seedlings. J. Exp. Bot. 1998, 49, 1689–1694. [CrossRef]
- 118. Iijima, M.; Morita, S.; Barlow, P.W. Structure and function of the root cap. Plant Prod. Sci. 2008, 11, 17–27. [CrossRef]
- Hunbury, C.D.; Atwell, B.J. Growth dynamics of mechanically impeded lupin roots: Does altered morphology induce hypoxia? Ann. Bot. 2005, 96, 913–924. [CrossRef]
- Jin, K.; Shen, J.; Ashton, R.W.; Dodd, I.C.; Parry, M.A.; Whalley, W.R. How do roots elongate in a structured soil? J. Exp. Bot. 2013, 64, 4761–4777. [CrossRef]
- 121. Bengough, A.G. Root elongation is restricted by axial but not by radial pressures: So what happens in field soil? *Plant Soil* **2012**, 360, 15–18. [CrossRef]
- 122. Ramalingam, P.; Kamoshita, A.; Deshmukh, V.; Yaginuma, S.; Uga, Y. Association between root growth angle and root length density of a near-isogenic line of IR64 rice with DEEPER ROOTING 1 under different levels of soil compaction. *Plant Prod. Sci.* 2017, 20, 162–175. [CrossRef]
- 123. Thorup-Kristensen, K.; Cortasa, M.S.; Loges, R. Winter wheat roots grow twice as deep as spring wheat roots, is this important for N uptake and N leaching losses? *Plant Soil* **2009**, 322, 101–114. [CrossRef]
- 124. Batey, T. Soil compaction and soil management—A review. Soil Use Manag. 2009, 25, 335–345. [CrossRef]
- Jobbágy, E.G.; Jackson, R.B. The distribution of soil nutrients with depth: Global patterns and the imprint of plants. *Biogeochemistry* 2001, 53, 51–77. [CrossRef]
- Valentine, T.A.; Hallett, P.D.; Binnie, K.; Young, M.W.; Squire, G.R.; Hawes, C.; Bengough, A.G. Soil strength and macropore volume limit root elongation rates in many UK agricultural soils. *Ann. Bot.* 2012, 110, 259–270. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sitaula, B.K.; Hansen, S.; Sitaula, J.I.B.; Bakken, L.R. Effects of soil compaction on N₂O emission in agricultural soil. *Chemosphere-Glob. Chang. Sci.* 2000, 2, 367–371. [CrossRef]
- 128. Chamindu Deepagoda, T.K.K.; Clough, T.J.; Thomas, S.M.; Balaine, N.; Elberling, B. Density Effects on Soil-Water Characteristics, Soil-Gas Diffusivity, and Emissions of N₂O and N₂ from a Re-packed Pasture Soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 2018, *83*, 118–125. [CrossRef]
- 129. Ruser, R.; Flessa, H.; Russow, R.; Schmidt, G.; Buegger, F.; Munch, J.C. Emission of N₂O, N₂ and CO₂ from soil fertilized with nitrate: Effect of compaction, soil moisture and rewetting. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **2006**, *38*, 263–274. [CrossRef]
- Soane, B.; Van Ouwerkerk, C. Implications of soil compaction in crop production for the quality of the environment. *Soil Till Res.* 1995, 35, 5–22. [CrossRef]
- Sommer, S.G.; Hutchings, N.J. Ammonia emission from field applied manure and its reduction. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2001, 15, 1–15. [CrossRef]
- Onwuka, B.; Mang, B. Effects of soil temperature on some soil properties and plant growth. Adv. Plants Agric. Res. 2018, 8, 34–37. [CrossRef]
- Fang, C.M.; Smith, P.; Moncrieff, J.B.; Smith, J.U. Similar response of labile and resistant soil organic matter pools to changes in temperature. *Nature* 2005, 436, 881–883. [CrossRef]
- Elbasiouny, H.; El-Ramady, H.; Elbehiry, F.; Rajput, V.D.; Minkina, T.; Mandzhieva, S. Plant Nutrition under Climate Change and Soil Carbon Sequestration. Sustainability 2022, 14, 914. [CrossRef]
- 135. Gahoonia, T.S.; Nielsen, N.E. Phosphorus uptake and growth of root hairless barley mutant (bald root barley) and wild type in low and high-p soils. *Plant Cell Environ.* **2003**, *26*, 1759–1766. [CrossRef]
- Yilvainio, K.; Pettovuori, T. Phosphorus acquisition by barley (*Hordeum yulgar*) at suboptimal soil temperature. *Agric. Food Sci.* 2012, 21, 453–461. [CrossRef]
- 137. Lahti, M.; Aphalo, P.; Finér, L.; Ryyppö, A.; Lehto, T.; Mannerkoski, H. Effects of soil temperature on shoot and root growth and nutrient uptake of 5-year-old Norway spruce seedlings. *Tree Physiol.* **2005**, *25*, 115–122. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gavelienė, V.; Jurkonienė, S.; Jankovska-Bortkevič, E.; Švegždienė, D. Effects of Elevated Temperature on Root System Development of Two Lupine Species. *Plants* 2022, 11, 192. [CrossRef]
- Huang, B.R.; Taylor, H.M.; McMichael, B.L. Effects of Temperature on the Development of Metaxylem in Primary Wheat Roots and Its Hydraulic Consequence. Ann. Bot. 1991, 67, 163–166. [CrossRef]
- Falah, M.A.F.; Wajima, T.; Yasutake, D.; Sago, Y.; Kitano, M. Responses of root uptake to high temperature of tomato plants (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) in soil-less culture. J. Agric. Technol. 2010, 6, 543–558.
- Xia, Z.; Zhang, S.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, G.; Fu, Y.; Lu, H. Effects of Root Zone Warming on Maize Seedling Growth and Photosynthetic Characteristics Under Different Phosphorus Levels. Front. Plant Sci. 2021, 12, 746152. [CrossRef]

- 142. Fageria, N.K.; Barbosa Filho, M.B. Influence of pH on Productivity, Nutrient Use Efficiency by Dry Bean, and Soil Phosphorus Availability in a No-Tillage System. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 2008, 39, 1016–1025. [CrossRef]
- 143. Jackson, K.; Meetei, T.T. Influence of soil pH on nutrient availability: A Review. J. Emerg. Technol. Innov. Res. 2018, 5, 708–713.
- 144. Neina, D. The Role of Soil pH in Plant Nutrition and Soil Remediation. Appl. Environ. Soil Sci. 2019, 2019, 5794869. [CrossRef]
- Bojórquez-Quintal, E.; Escalante-Magaña, C.; Echevarría-Machado, I.; Martínez-Estévez, M. Aluminum, a friend or foe of higher plants in acid soils. Front. Plant Sci. 2017, 8, 1767. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 146. Błaszyk, R. Effects of Lime Fertilizer Reactivity on Selected Chemical Properties of Soil and Crop Yielding in Two Different Tillage Systems. Doctoral Thesis, Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Poznań, Poland, 2020; p. 237. (In Polish).
- 147. McCauley, A.; Jones, C.; Jacobsen, J. Soil pH and Organic Matter. Montana State University (MSU) Extension. Available online: https://apps.msuextension.org/publications/pub.html?sku=4449-8 (accessed on 26 June 2022).
- 148. Rangel, A.F.; Madhusudana, R.I.; Johannes, H.W. Intracellular distribution and binding state of aluminum in root apices of two common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) genotypes in relation to Al toxicity. *Physiol. Plant.* **2009**, *135*, 162–173. [CrossRef]
- 149. Rahman, M.A.; Lee, S.H.; Ji, H.C.; Kabir, A.H.; Jones, C.S.; Lee, K.W. Importance of Mineral Nutrition for Mitigating Aluminum Toxicity in Plants on Acidic Soils: Current Status and Opportunities. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2018**, *19*, 3073. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 150. Bose, J.; Babourina, O.; Rengel, Z. Role of magnesium in alleviation of aluminum toxicity in plants. J. Exp. Bot. 2011, 62, 2251–2264. [CrossRef]
- Čiamporová, M. Morphological and Structural Responses of Plant Roots to Aluminium at Organ, Tissue, and Cellular Levels. Biol. Plant. 2002, 45, 161–171. [CrossRef]
- 152. Singh, S.; Tripathi, D.K.; Singh, S.; Sharma, S.; Dubey, N.K.; Chauhan, D.K.; Vaculík, M. Toxicity of aluminium on various levels of plant cells and organism: A review. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 2017, 137, 177–193. [CrossRef]
- 153. Zhao, X.Q.; Shen, R.F. Aluminum–Nitrogen Interactions in the Soil–Plant System. Front. Plant Sci. 2018, 9, 807. [CrossRef]
- Ma, D.; Wang, J.; Xue, J.; Yue, Z.; Xia, S.; Song, L.; Gao, H. Effects of Soil pH on Gaseous Nitrogen Loss Pathway via Fearmox Process. Sustainability 2021, 13, 10393. [CrossRef]
- 155. Faria, J.M.S.; Teixeira, D.M.; Pinto, A.P.; Brito, I.; Barrulas, P.; Carvalho, M. Aluminium, Iron and Silicon Subcellular Redistribution in Wheat Induced by Manganese Toxicity. *Appl. Sci.* **2021**, *11*, 8745. [CrossRef]
- Stavi, I.; Thevs, N.; Priori, S. Soil Salinity and Sodicity in Drylands: A Review of Causes, Effects, Monitoring, and Restoration Measures. Front. Environ. Sci. 2021, 9, 712831. [CrossRef]
- 157. Shrivastava, P.; Kumar, R. Soil salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* 2015, 22, 123–131. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mohanavelu, A.; Naganna, S.R.; Al-Ansari, N. Irrigation Induced Salinity and Sodicity Hazards on Soil and Groundwater: An Overview of Its Causes, Impacts and Mitigation Strategies. *Agriculture* 2021, *11*, 983. [CrossRef]
- Munns, R.; Passioura, J.B.; Colmer, T.D.; Byrt, C.S. Osmotic Adjustment and Energy Limitations to Plant Growth in saline Soil. *New Phytol.* 2019, 225, 1091–1096. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 160. Shahriaripour, R.; Tajabadi Pour, A.; Mozaffari, V. Effects of Salinity and Soil Phosphorus Application on Growth and Chemical Compositiono Pistachio Seedlings. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **2011**, *42*, 144–158. [CrossRef]
- 161. Rengasamy, P. Soil processes affecting crop production in salt-affected soils. Funct. Plant Biol. 2010, 37, 613–620. [CrossRef]
- Maathuis, F.J.M. Sodium in plants: Perception, signalling, and regulation of sodium fluxes. J. Exp. Bot. 2014, 65, 849–858. [CrossRef]
- Kronzucker, H.J.; Coskun, D.; Schulze, L.M.; Wong, J.R.; Britto, D.T. Sodium as nutrient and toxicant. *Plant Soil* 2013, 369, 1–23. [CrossRef]
- Raddatz, N.; Morales de los Ríos, L.; Lindahl, M.; Quintero, F.J.; Pardo, J.M. Coordinated Transport of Nitrate, Potassium, and Sodium. Front. Plant Sci. 2020, 11, 247. [CrossRef]
- 165. Rosales, M.A.; Franco-Navarro, J.D.; Peinado-Torrubia, P.; Díaz-Rueda, P.; Álvarez, R.; Colmenero-Flores, J.M. Chloride Improves Nitrate Utilization and NUE in Plants. Front. Plant Sci. 2020, 11, 442. [CrossRef]
- Acikbas, S.; Ozyazici, M.A.; Bektas, H. The Effect of Salinity on Root Architecture in Forage Pea (*Pisum sativum ssp. arvense L.*). Legume Res. 2021, 44, 407–412. [CrossRef]
- 167. Lal, R. Soil health and carbon management. Food Energy Secur. 2016, 5, 212–222. [CrossRef]
- Kopittke, P.M.; Dalal, R.C.; Finn, D.; Menzies, N.W. Global changes in soil stocks of carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulphur as influenced by long-term agricultural production. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2017, 23, 2509–2519. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sanderman, J.; Hengl, T.; Fiske, G.J. Soil carbon debt of 12,000 years of human land use. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2017, 114, 9575–9580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Huang, S.; Yang, W.; Ding, W.; Jia, L.; Jiang, L.; Liu, Y.; Xu, X.; Yang, Y.; He, P.; Yang, J. Estimation of Nitrogen Supply for Summer Maize Production through a Long-Term Field Trial in China. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 1358. [CrossRef]
- 171. Luis, L.; Gilles, B.; Bruna, G.; Juliette, A.; Josette, G. 50 year trends in nitrogen use efficiency of world cropping systems: The relationship between yield and nitrogen input to cropland. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **2014**, *9*, 105011.
- Wei, X.; Shao, M.; Gale, W.; Li, L. Global pattern of soil carbon losses due to the conversion of forests to agricultural land. *Sci. Rep.* 2014, 4, 4062. [CrossRef]

- 173. Xue, Z.; An, S. Changes in Soil Organic Carbon and Total Nitrogen at a Small Watershed Scale as the Result of Land Use Conversion on the Loess Plateau. *Sustainability* **2018**, *10*, 4757. [CrossRef]
- Livsey, J.; Alavaisha, E.; Tumbo, M.; Lyon, S.W.; Canale, A.; Cecotti, M.; Lindborg, R.; Manzoni, S. Soil Carbon, Nitrogen and Phosphorus Contents along a Gradient of Agricultural Intensity in the Kilombero Valley, Tanzania. Land 2020, 9, 121. [CrossRef]
- 175. Haddaway, N.R.; Hedlund, K.; Jackson, L.E.; Kätterer, T.; Lugato, E.; Thomsen, I.K.; Jørgensen, H.B.; Isberg, P.E. How does tillage intensity afect soil organic carbon? A systematic review. *Environ. Evid.* **2017**, *6*, 30. [CrossRef]
- Krauss, M.; Wiesmeier, M.; Don, A.; Cuperus, F.; Gattinger, A.; Gruberf, S.; Haagsma, W.K.; Peign'e, J.; Chiodelli Palazzoli, M.; Schulz, F.; et al. Reduced tillage in organic farming affects soil organic carbon stocks in temperate Europe. *Soil Tillage Res.* 2022, 2016, 105262. [CrossRef]
- 177. Powlson, D.S.; Bhogal, A.; Chambers, B.J.; Coleman, K.; Macdonald, A.J.; Goulding, W.T.; Whitmore, A.P. The potential to increase soil carbon stocks through reduced tillage or organic material additions in England and Wales: A case study. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2012, 146, 23–33. [CrossRef]
- Szajdak, L.; Życzyńska-Bałoniak, I.; Meysner, T.; Blecharczyk, A. Bound amino acids in humic acids from arable cropping systems. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2004, 167, 562–567. [CrossRef]
- 179. Khalil, M.I.; Rahman, M.S.; Schmidhalter, U.; Olfs, H.-W. Nitrogen fertilizer–induced mineralization of soil organic C and N in six contrasting soils of Bangladesh. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2007, 170, 210–218. [CrossRef]
- Barre, P.; Montagnier, C.; Chenu, C.; Abbadie, L.; Velde, B. Clay minerals as a soil potassium reservoir: Observation and quantification through X-ray diffraction. *Plant Soil* 2008, 302, 213–220. [CrossRef]
- Khan, H.R.; Elahi, S.F.; Hussain, M.S.; Adachi, T. Soil Characteristics and Behavior of Potassium under Various Moisture Regimes. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 1994, 40, 243–254. [CrossRef]
- Pogłodziński, R.; Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W. Effect of nitrogen and magnesium sulfate application on sugar beet yield and quality. Plant Soil Environ. 2021, 67, 507–517. [CrossRef]
- 183. The Royal Society. Ammonia: Zero-Carbon Fertiliser, Fuel and Energy Store: Policy Briefing. 2020. Available online: https: //royalsociety.org/-/media/policy/projects/green-ammonia/green-ammonia-policy-briefing.pdf (accessed on 5 May 2022).
- Duhan, J.S.; Kumar, R.; Kumar, N.; Kaur, P.; Nehra, K.; Duhan, S. Nanotechnology: The new perspective in precision agriculture. Biotechnol. Rep. 2017, 15, 11–23. [CrossRef]
- Trenkel, M.E. Slow- and Controlled-Release and Stabilized Fertilizers: An Option for Enhancing Nutrient Use Efficiency in Agriculture; International Fertilizer Industry Association (IFA): Paris, France, 2010; p. 160.
- Rashid, M.; Hussain, Q.; Khan, K.S.; Alwabel, M.I.; Hayat, R.; Akmal, M.; Ijaz, S.S.; Alvi, S.; Rehman, O.U. Carbon-Based Slow-Release Fertilizers for Efficient Nutrient Management: Synthesis, Applications, and Future Research Needs. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2021, 21, 1144–1169. [CrossRef]
- Wesołowska, M.; Rymarczyk, J.; Góra, R.; Baranowski, P.; Sławiński, C.; Klimczyk, M.; Supryn, G.; Schimmelpfennig, L. New slow-release fertilizers—Economic, legal and practical aspects: A Review. *Int. Agrophys.* 2021, 35, 11–24. [CrossRef]
- 188. Hojjatie, M.M. Urea triazone fertilizers-A slow-release nitrogen fertilizer. J. Agric. Sci. Food Technol. 2021, 7, 272–276.
- Guo, Y.; Zhang, M.; Liu, Z.; Zhao, C.; Lu, H.; Zheng, L.; Li, Y.C. Applying and Optimizing Water-Soluble, Slow-Release Nitrogen Fertilizers for Water-Saving Agriculture. ACS Omega 2020, 5, 11342–11351. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Medina, L.C.; Sartain, J.B.; Obreza, T.A.; Hall, W.L.; Thiex, N.J. Evaluation of a Soil Incubation Method to Characterize Nitrogen Release Patterns of Slow- and Controlled-Release Fertilizers. J. AOAC Int. 2014, 97, 643–660. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Azeem, B.; Kushaari, K.; Man, Z.B.; Basit, A.; Thanh, T.H. Review on materials & methods to produce controlled release coated urea fertilizer. J. Control. Release 2014, 181, 11–21.
- Roshanravan, B.; Soltani, S.M.; Mahdavi, F.; Rashid, S.A.; Yusop, M.K. Preparation of encapsulated urea-kaolinite controlled release fertiliser and their effect on rice productivity. *Chem. Speciat. Bioavailab.* 2014, 26, 249–256. [CrossRef]
- 193. Majeed, Z.; Ramli, N.K.; Mansor, N.; Man, Z. A comprehensive review on biodegradable polymers and their blends used in controlled-release fertilizer processes. *Rev. Chem. Eng.* **2015**, *31*, 69–95. [CrossRef]
- Ma, X.; Chen, J.; Yang, Y.; Su, X.; Zhang, S.; Gao, B.; Li, L.C. Siloxane and polyether dual modification improves hydrophobicity and interpenetrating polymer network of bio-polymer for coated fertilizers with enhanced slow release characteristics. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2018, 350, 1125–1134. [CrossRef]
- Beig, B.; Niazi, M.B.K.; Jahan, Z.; Hussain, A.; Zia, M.H.; Mehran, M.T. Coating materials for slow release of nitrogen from urea fertilizer: A review. J. Plant Nutr. 2020, 43, 1510–1533. [CrossRef]
- Thind, H.S.; Bijay, S.; Pannu, R.P.S.; Yadvinder, S.; Varinderpal, S. Relative performance of neem (Azadirachta indica) coated ureavis-a-vis ordinary urea applied to rice on the basis of soil test orfollowing need based nitrogen management using leaf colour chart. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 2010, 87, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- 197. Shivay, Y.S.; Prasad, R.; Singh, R.K.; Pal, M. Relative efficiency of zinc-coated urea and soil and foliar application of zinc sulphate on yield, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, zinc and iron biofortification in grains and uptake by basmati rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *J. Agric. Sci.* 2015, 7, 161. [CrossRef]
- Ghafoor, I.; Habib-ur-Rahman, M.; Ali, M.; Afza, M.; Ahmed, W.; Gaiser, T.; Ghaffar, A. Slow-release nitrogen fertilizers enhance growth, yield, NUE in wheat crop and reduce nitrogen losses under an arid environment. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2021, 28, 43528–43543. [CrossRef]

- 199. Wen, P.; Wu, Z.; Han, Y.; Cravotto, G.; Wang, J.; Ye, B. Microwaveassisted synthesis of a novel biochar based slow release nitrogen fertilizer with enhanced water-retention capacity. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 7374–7382. [CrossRef]
- Gil-Ortiz, R.; Naranjo, M.A.; Ruiz-Navarro, A.; Atares, S.; García, C.; Zotarelli, L.; Bautista, A.S.; Vicente, S. Enhanced Agronomic Efficiency Using a New Controlled-Released, Polymeric-Coated Nitrogen Fertilizer in Rice. *Plants* 2020, *9*, 1183. [CrossRef]
- 201. Guo, Y.; Ma, Z.; Ren, B.; Zhao, B.; Liu, P.; Zhang, J. Effects of Humic Acid Added to Controlled-Release Fertilizer on Summer Maize Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiency and Greenhouse Gas Emission. *Agriculture* 2022, 12, 448. [CrossRef]
- 202. Shaviv, A. Advances in controlled-release fertilizers. Adv. Agron. 2001, 71, 1–49.
- 203. Lawrencia, D.; Wong, S.K.; Low, D.Y.S.; Goh, B.H.; Goh, J.K.; Ruktanonchai, U.R.; Soottitantawat, A.; Lee, L.H.; Tang, S.Y. Controlled Release Fertilizers: A Review on Coating Materials and Mechanism of Release. *Plants* **2021**, *10*, 238. [CrossRef]
- Panáková, Z.; Slamka, P.; Ložek, O. Effect of nitrification inhibitors on the content of available nitrogen forms in the soil under maize (*Zea mays*, L.) growing. J. Cent. Eur. Agric. 2016, 17, 1013–1032. [CrossRef]
- Khalil, M.J.; Gutser, R.; Schmidhalter, U. Effects of urease and nitrification inhibitors added to urea on nitrous oxide emissions from a loess soil. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2009, 172, 651–660. [CrossRef]
- 206. Chien, S.H.; Prochnow, L.I.; Cantarella, H. Recent developments of fertilizer production and use to improve nutrient efficiency and minimize environmental impacts. *Adv. Agron.* 2009, *102*, 267–322.
- 207. Rehman, H.U.; Alharby, H.F.; Al-Zahrani, H.S.; Bamagoos, A.A.; Alsulami, N.B.; Alabdallah, N.M.; Iqbal, T.; Wakeel, A. Enriching Urea with Nitrogen Inhibitors Improves Growth, N Uptake and Seed Yield in Quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa* Willd) Affecting Photochemical Efficiency and Nitrate Reductase Activity. *Plants* 2022, 11, 371. [CrossRef]
- Yang, M.; Fang, Y.; Sun, D.; Shi, Y. Efficiency of two nitrification inhibitors (dicyandiamide and 3,4-dimethypyrazole phosphate) on soil nitrogen transformations and plant productivity: A meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 22075. [CrossRef]
- Alonso-Ayuso, M.; Gabriel, J.L.; Quemada, M. Nitrogen use efficiency and residual effect of fertilizers with nitrification inhibitors. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2016, 80, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- d'Onofrio, G.; Dupuy, J.; Gaudin, R. Comparative effects of the application of prilled urea and urea supergranules on flooded rice in Madagascar. J. Agric. Stud. 2018, 6, 218–233. [CrossRef]
- Fertahi, S.; Bertrand, I.; Amjoud, M.; Oukarroum, A.; Arji, M.; Barakat, A. Properties of Coated Slow-Release Triple Superphosphate (TSP) Fertilizers Based on Lignin and Carrageenan Formulations. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2019, 7, 10371–10382. [CrossRef]
- 212. Sofyane, A.; Lahcini, M.; El Meziane, A.; Khouloud, M.; Dahchour, A.; Caillol, S.; Raihane, M. Properties of Coated Controlled Release Diammonium Phosphate (DAP) Fertilizers Prepared with the Use of Bio-based Amino Oil. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 2020, 97, 751–763. [CrossRef]
- Fertahi, S.; Bertranda, I.; Ilsouk, M.; Oukarroum, A.; Amjoud, B.; Zerouald, Y.; Barakat, A. New generation of controlled release phosphorus fertilizers based on biological macromolecules: Effect of formulation properties on phosphorus release. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 2020, 143, 153–162. [CrossRef]
- 214. Barbosa, C.F.; Correa, D.A.; Carneiro, J.S.D.S.; Melo, L.C.A. Biochar Phosphate Fertilizer Loaded with Urea Preserves Available Nitrogen Longer than Conventional Urea. *Sustainability* **2022**, *14*, 686. [CrossRef]
- Saied, H.S.H.; Aboelenin, S.M.; Kesba, H.; El-Sherbieny, A.E.A.; Helmy, A.M.; Dahdouh, S.M.; Soliman, M.M. Chemical evaluation of partially acidulated phosphate rocks and their impact on dry matter yield and phosphorus uptake of maize. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* 2022, 29, 3511–3518. [CrossRef]
- Bulina, N.V.; Makarova, S.V.; Baev, S.G.; Matvienko, A.A.; Gerasimov, K.B.; Logutenko, O.A.; Bystrov, V.S. A Study of Thermal Stability of Hydroxyapatite. *Minerals* 2021, 11, 1310. [CrossRef]
- Essah, S.Y.C. Application of Phosphorus Fertilizer with 'NutriCharge' Improves Potato Tuber Yield and Phosphorus Use Efficiency. Available online: https://potatoes.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/2019-Article-for-Spud-Item.pdf (accessed on 13 June 2022).
- Palanivell, P.; Ahmed, O.H.; Omar, L.; Abdul Majid, N.M. Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium Adsorption and Desorption Improvement and Soil Buffering Capacity Using Clinoptilolite Zeolite. *Agronomy* 2021, 11, 379. [CrossRef]
- 219. Rafique, M.; Sultan, T.; Ortas, I.; Chaudhary, H.J. Enhancement of maize plant growth with inoculation of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria and biochar amendment in soil. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2017, 63, 460–469. [CrossRef]
- Ali, M.S.; Sutradhar, A.; Edano, M.L.; Edwards, J.T.; Girma, K. Response of Winter Wheat Grain Yield and Phosphorus Uptake to Foliar Phosphite Fertilization. *Int. J. Agron.* 2014, 2014, 801626. [CrossRef]
- 221. Souri, M.K. Aminochelate fertilizers: The new approach to the old problem; a review. *Open Agric.* 2016, 1, 118–123. [CrossRef]
- 222. Teixeira, W.F.; Fagan, E.B.; Soares, L.H.; Soares, J.N.; Reichardt, K.; Neto, D.D. Seed and Foliar Application of Amino Acids Improve Variables of Nitrogen Metabolism and Productivity in Soybean. Crop. Front. Plant Sci. 2018, 9, 396. [CrossRef]
- 223. Wang, D.; Deng, X.; Wang, B.; Zhang, N.; Zhu, C.; Li, R.; Shen, Q. Effects of foliar application of amino acid liquid fertilizers, with or without Bacillus amyloliquefaciens SQR9, on cowpea yield and leaf microbiota. *PLoS ONE* **2019**, *14*, e0222048. [CrossRef]
- 224. Nargesi, M.M.; Sedaghathoor, S.; Hashemabadi, D. Effect of foliar application of amino acid, humic acid and fulvic acid on the oil content and quality of olive. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* 2022, *29*, 3473–3481. [CrossRef]
- Gondek, K.; Mierzwa-Hersztek, M. Effect of Soil-Applied L-tryptophan on the Amount of Biomass and Nitrogen and Sulfur Utilization by Maize. Agronomy 2021, 11, 2582. [CrossRef]
- 226. Ramli, R.A. Slow release fertilizer hydrogels: A review. Polym. Chem. 2019, 10, 6073–6090. [CrossRef]

- 227. Ullah, F.; Othman, M.B.H.; Javed, F.; Ahmad, Z.; Akil, H.M. Classification, processing and application od hydrogels: A review. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* 2015, 57, 414–433. [CrossRef]
- 228. Kareem, S.A.; Dere, I.; Gungula, D.T.; Andrew, F.P.; Saddiq, A.M.; Adebayo, E.F.; Tame, V.T.; Kefas, H.M.; Joseph, J.; Patrick, D.O. Synthesis and Characterization of Slow-Release Fertilizer Hydrogel Based on Hydroxy Propyl Methyl Cellulose, Polyvinyl Alcohol, Glycerol and Blended Paper. *Gels* 2021, *7*, 262. [CrossRef]
- 229. Michalik, R.; Wandzik, I. A Mini-Review on Chitosan-Based Hydrogels with Potential for Sustainable Agricultural Applications. *Polymers* 2020, 12, 2425. [CrossRef]
- Verma, K.K.; Song, X.-P.; Joshi, A.; Tian, D.-D.; Rajput, V.D.; Singh, M.; Arora, J.; Minkina, T.; Li, Y.-R. Recent Trends in Nano-Fertilizers for Sustainable Agriculture under Climate Change for Global Food Security. *Nanomaterials* 2022, 12, 173. [CrossRef]
- Commission Recommendation of 18 October 2011 on the Definition of Nanomaterial. Available online: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/ legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32011H0696 (accessed on 13 June 2022).
- Shalaby, T.A.; Bayoumi, Y.; Eid, Y.; Elbasiouny, H.; Elbehiry, F.; Prokisch, J.; El-Ramady, H.; Ling, W. Can Nanofertilizers Mitigate Multiple Environmental Stresses for Higher Crop Productivity? *Sustainability* 2022, 14, 3480. [CrossRef]
- 233. El-Saadony, M.T.; Almoshadak, A.S.; Shafi, M.E.; Albagami, N.M.; Saad, A.M.; El-Tahan, A.M.; El-Sayed, M.D.; Elnahal, A.S.M.; Almakas, A.; Abd El-Mageed, A.A.; et al. Vital roles of sustainable nano-fertilizers in improving plant quality and quantity-an updated review. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* 2021, 28, 7349–7359. [CrossRef]
- 234. Babu, S.; Singh, R.; Yadav, D.; Rathore, S.S.; Raj, R.; Avasthe, R.; Yadave, S.K.Y.; Das, A.; Yadav, V.; Yadav, B.; et al. Nanofertilizers for agricultural and environmental sustainability. *Chemosphere* **2022**, *292*, 133451. [CrossRef]
- Bhardwaj, A.K.; Arya, G.; Kumar, R.; Hamed, L.; Pirasteh-Anosheh, H.; Poonam Jasrotia, P.; Kashyap, P.L.; Singh, G.P. Switching to nanonutrients for sustaining agroecosystems and environment: The challenges and benefits in moving up from ionic to particle feeding. J. Nanobiotechnol. 2022, 20, 19. [CrossRef]
- Zulfiqar, F.; Navarro, M.; Ashraf, M.; Akram, N.A.; Munné-Bosh, S. Nanofertilizer use for sustainable agriculture: Advantages and limitations. *Plant Sci.* 2019, 289, 110270. [CrossRef]
- Bernela, M.; Rani, R.; Malik, P.; Mukherjeed, T.K. Nanofertilizers: Applications and Future Prospects. In Nanotechnology: Principles and Applications; Sindhu, R.K., Chitkara, M., Sandhu, I.S., Eds.; Jenny Stanford Publishing Pte. Ltd.: Singapore, 2021; Chapter 9; pp. 289–332.
- 238. Manikandan, A.; Subramanian, K.S. Evaluation of zeolite-based nitrogen nano-fertilizers on maize growth, yield and quality on inceptisols and alfisols. *Int. J. Plant Soil Sci.* 2016, *9*, 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 239. Abdel-Aziz, H.M.M.; Hasaneen, M.N.A.; Omer, A.M. Nano chitosan-NPK fertilizer enhances the growth and productivity of wheat plants grown in sandy soil. *Span. J. Agric. Res.* **2016**, *14*, e0902. [CrossRef]
- 240. Anand, R.; Bhagat, M. Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs): As nanopesticides and nanofertilizers. *MOJ Biol. Med.* 2019, 4, 19–20. [CrossRef]
- 241. Kottegoda, N.; Sandaruwan, C.; Priyadarshana, G.; Siriwardhana, A.; Rathnayake, U.A.; Berugoda Arachchige, D.M.; Kumarasinghe, A.R.; Dahanayake, D.; Karunaratne, V.; Amaratunga, G.A.J. Urea-hydroxyapatite nanohybrids for slow release of nitrogen. ACS Nano 2017, 11, 1214–1221. [CrossRef]
- 242. Raguraj, S.; Wijayathunga, V.M.S.; Gunaratne, G.P.; Amali, R.K.A.; Priyadarshana, G.; Sandaruwan, C.; Karunaratne, V.; Hettiarachchi, L.S.K.; Kottegoda, N. Urea–hydroxyapatite nanohybrid as an efficient nutrient source in *Camelliasinensis* (L.) Kuntze (tea). J. Plant Nutr. 2020, 43, 2383–2394. [CrossRef]
- Li, Q.; Ma, C.; White, J.C.; Xing, B. Effects of Phosphorus Ensembled Nanomaterials on Nutrient Uptake and Distribution in Glycine max L. under Simulated Precipitation. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 1086. [CrossRef]
- 244. Kah, M.; Kookana, R.S.; Gogos, A.; Bucheli, T.D. A critical evaluation of nanopesticides and nanofertilizers against their conventional analogues. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2018, *13*, 677–684. [CrossRef]
- 245. Kopittke, P.M.; Lombi, E.; Wang, P.; Schjoerring, J.K.; Husted, S. Nanomaterials as fertilizers for improving plant mineral nutrition and environmental outcomes. *Environ. Sci. Nano* 2019, *6*, 3513. [CrossRef]
- 246. Husen, A.; Siddiqi, K.S. Carbon and fullerene nanomaterials in plant System. J. Nanobiotechnol. 2014, 12, 16. [CrossRef]
- 247. Ray, D.K.; Ramankutty, N.; Mueller, N.D.; West, P.C.; Foley, J.A. Recent patterns of crop yield growth and stagnation. *Nat. Commun.* 2012, 3, 1293. [CrossRef]
- 248. Schauberger, B.; Ben-Ari, T.; Makowski, D.; Kato, T.; Kato, H.; Ciais, P. Yield trends, variability and stagnation analysis of major crops in France over more than a century. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 16865. [CrossRef]
- Bindraban, P.S.; Dimkpa, C.; Nagarajan, L.; Roy, A.; Rabbinge, R. Revisiting fertilisers and fertilization strategies for improved nutrient uptake by plants. *Boil. Fertil. Soils* 2015, *51*, 897–911. [CrossRef]
- 250. Spiertz, J.H.J. Nitrogen, sustainable agriculture and food security. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 2010, 30, 43–55. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Niewiadomska, A.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Nitrogen *Hotspots* on the farm—A practice-oriented approach. *Agronomy* 2022, 12, 1305. [CrossRef]
- 252. Berbell, J.; Martinez-Dalmau, J. A simple agro-economic model for optimal farm nitrogen application under yield uncertainty. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 1107. [CrossRef]
- Córdova, C.; Barrera, J.A.; Magna, C. Spatial variation in nitrogen mineralization as a guide for variable application of nitrogen fertilizer to cereal crops. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 2018, 110, 83–88. [CrossRef]

- 254. Herath, A.; Ma, B.L.; Shang, J.; Liu, J.; Dong, T.; Jiao, X.; Kovacs, J.M.; Walters, D. On-farm spatial characterization of soil mineral nitrogen, crop growth, and yield of canola as affected by different rates of nitrogen application. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 2018, 98, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 255. Stamatiadis, S.; Schepers, J.S.; Evangelou, E.; Tsadilas, C.; Glampedakis, M.; Dercas, N.; Spyropoulos, N.; Dalezios, N.R.; Eskridge, K. Variable-rate nitrogen fertilization of winter wheat under high spatial resolution. *Precis. Agric.* 2018, 19, 570–587. [CrossRef]
- 256. Vizzari, M.; Santaga, F.; Benincasa, P. Sentinel 2-based nitrogen VRT fertilization in wheat: Comparison between traditional and simple precision practices. *Agronomy* **2019**, *9*, 278. [CrossRef]





Przemysław Barłóg^{1,*}, Remigiusz Łukowiak¹ and Lukáš Hlisnikovský²

- ¹ Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 71F, 60-625 Poznan, Poland; remigiusz.lukowiak@up.poznan.pl
- ² Department of Nutrition Management, Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507, Ruzyně, 161-01 Prague, Czech Republic; l.hlisnik@vurv.cz
- * Correspondence: przemyslaw.barlog@up.poznan.pl; Tel.: +48-618-48-77-88

Abstract: Increasing the efficiency of nitrogen use (NUE) from mineral fertilizers is one of the most important priorities of modern agriculture. The objectives of the present study were to assess the role of different nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and sulfur (S) rates on maize grain yield (GY), crop residue biomass, NUE indices, N concentration in plants during the growing season, N management indices and to select the most suitable set of NUE indicators. The following factors were tested: band application of di-ammonium phosphate and ammonium sulphate mixture (NPS fertilizer at rates 0, 8.7, 17.4, 26.2 kg ha⁻¹ of P) and different total N rates (0, 60, 120, 180 kg ha⁻¹ of N). In each year of the study, a clear trend of increased GY after NP(S) band application was observed. A particularly positive influence of that factor was confirmed at the lowest level of N fertilization. On average, the highest GY values were obtained for N2P3 and N3P1 treatments. The total N uptake and NUE indices also increased after the band application. In addition, a trend of improved N remobilization efficiency and the N contribution of remobilized N to grain as a result of band application of NP(S) was observed. Among various NUE indices, internal N utilization efficiency (IE) exhibited the strongest, yet negative, correlation with GY, whereas IE was a function of the N harvest index.

Keywords: agronomic efficiency; nitrogen gap; nitrogen remobilization efficiency; partial factor productivity; plant nutrient diagnosis; starter fertilization

1. Introduction

Maize is one of the most important crops in the world. Among all cereals, it ranks second in terms of cultivated area (197 million hectares), just behind wheat (216 million hectares). Nevertheless, its global production between 2018 and 2020 was 1137 million tonnes, which was approximately 50% higher than the production of wheat [1]. According to the forecast, the global maize area in 2030 will expand even more (+5%), and the average yield, due to improving technology and cultivation practices, will increase by 10% [2]. In Poland, maize is also one of the dominant species. The area of maize grown for grain is about 1.0 million hectares, and maize for silage covers approximately 0.68 million hectares [3]. The yielding potentials of modern grain crop varieties are 11.6–12.8 t ha⁻¹ [4]. In agricultural reality, however, they are lower (7.0–7.5 t ha⁻¹) and constitute about 60% of the breeding potential. There are many reasons for this state of affairs, one of which is inadequate agro-technology, a low level of fertilization and an imbalance of minerals.

The main factor determining photosynthesis, dry matter distribution and water efficiency is the concentration of soil available nitrogen (N_{min}) as well as the running N fertilization [5,6]. Unfortunately, the recovery of N from applied fertilizers (N_f) ranged from 30 to 50% only [7]. The part of N_f that is not consumed by the currently grown crop undergoes numerous processes that result in its loss to neighboring ecosystems, including both water and air [8,9]. Crop genetic improvements along with agronomic attempts to

Citation: Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Hlisnikovský, L. Band Phosphorus and Sulfur Fertilization as Drivers of Efficient Management of Nitrogen of Maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1660. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11131660

Academic Editor: Dimitris L. Bouranis

Received: 20 May 2022 Accepted: 20 June 2022 Published: 23 June 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). take control of N management in agriculture comprise a set of different strategies, which, in fact, focus on the increase in nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) [10–12].

At the beginning of plant growth, standard broadcast fertilization does not always ensure proper plant nutrition because, depending on soil properties, part of the component introduced into the soil in the form of fertilizer will land in places that are beyond the range of crop roots [13]. An alternative fertilization method is to place the fertilizer in close proximity to the seeds. This type of fertilizer application, also referred to as fertilizer placement, band application or initial, significantly accelerates the growth of maize and improves the plants' nutritional status at the beginning of the growing season [14]. This is due to both the increased concentration of minerals in close proximity of developing seedlings and the shaping of root architecture by N and P in particular [15–17]. In addition, this method of nitrogen application places the nutrient in a deeper, wetter soil layer, resulting in improved N uptake and limited N losses out to the environment [18]. Consequently, band placement not only prompts yield growth but also increases the values of NUE indices [17,19]. In general, fertilizer placement leads to an increase in maize yield in comparison to broadcast irrespective of the N fertilizer type [20]. Nevertheless, the use of ammonium phosphate proves to be the most productive of methods [21–23]. Despite numerous scientific findings on the beneficial impact of band application on maize yield and NUE, the N ratio still poses a problem and is little recognized, especially in conditions of high N demand. Apart from the many advantages of band fertilization, sprouting plants may become damaged, particularly when high rates of N fertilizers are used, where N comes in the form of NH₄-N [24].

Another problem associated with improving the use of N from fertilizers is the correct balance of nutrients. In temperate climate conditions, phosphorus (P) is of particular importance in maize cultivation. The initial growth of maize is slow; the root system is poorly developed, which causes low uptake of nutrients, including nitrogen, and at the same time, periodic temperature drops in the spring cause disruptions in phosphorus uptake and metabolism [13]. In addition, phosphate ion absorption and/or even the formation of insoluble compounds occur in soils, leading to poor use of phosphorus from broadcast fertilizers [25,26]. The risk of insufficient absorption of phosphorus in the spring by young maize plants can be mitigated by early application of the so-called starter fertilization [22,23]. Some authors recommend using this method on soils low in P and/or those with factors that hinder its uptake [27]. However, as research indicates, even in conditions where soil is rich in phosphorus, band application positively affects the grain yield of cereal crops [28]. Some authors also point out that on alkaline soils, the effect of ammonium phosphates on the maize dry matter and the use of P from fertilizers depend on their chemical composition, i.e., the N:P ratio [29]. Thus, a fertilizer containing diammonium phosphate (DAP) with additional sulfur (S) seems interesting and worth investigating. The results of this study suggest that early season growth of maize in some areas of the USA may benefit from S fertilizer application [30]. Most often, the assessment of the effect of ammonium phosphates on nitrogen management is carried out in the phase of physiological maturity of the plant. However, this assessment is an ex-post analysis and allows only for a determination of the sources of the component necessary during the period of growth and pouring of seeds/kernels.

A standard NUE assessment uses partial factor productivity (PNF), agronomic efficiency (AE) and apparent N recovery efficiency (RE) indices [31]. In the author's own study, a relatively new index was also tested, called the nitrogen gap (N_{gap}), in an attempt to determine its viability in the NUE assessment in specific field experiments [32]. The value of the N_{gap} indicates the pool of nitrogen not used in crop formation, resulting either from external (e.g., dry soil) or internal (e.g., imbalance of components) factors. After flowering, the role of soil nitrogen in grain yield formation diminishes, and the importance of N remobilized from green parts increases [5,33]. Therefore, in order to fully understand the impact of phosphorus fertilization on the uptake and use of N from fertilizers, it is also necessary to take into account the growth stages preceding the maturation of plants. The character of

nitrogen management can be assessed by using indicators such as nitrogen remobilization efficiency (NRE) and contribution of remobilized N to grain N content (CNR) [34]. In this research, a hypothesis was formulated that the above-mentioned indicators remain in close relation with the grain yield and nitrogen accumulation in key points of maize growth, i.e., in the sixth–seventh leaf stage and at the beginning of flowering. Furthermore, the research hypothesis states that band application of DAP with added S improves NUE and prompts the reduction in the total N rate. This assumption was based on the following facts: low mobility of P in acidic soil, the specific demand of maize for P in the initial phase of growth and the stimulating effect of S on the metabolism of N compounds [22].

The objectives of the present study were: (i) to determine the maize yield-forming reaction to increasing rates of nitrogen fertilization in comparison to various rates of band application of NP(S); (ii) to evaluate the effect of NP(S) fertilization on the nutritional condition of maize at the seventh leaf stage, beginning of flowering and technological maturity; (iii) to establish the correlation between the level of maize yield, NUE indices and nutrient content with respect to the interaction of N and P(S) fertilizations.

2. Results

2.1. Grain Yield and Crop Residue Biomass

The average grain yield (GY) in both years (2019–2020) was at a similar level of 8.45 and 8.00 t ha⁻¹, respectively. The difference was 5.6%. The higher grain yield in the first year resulted from better weather and soil conditions at the start of the growing season—a damp spring and a high concentration of mineral nitrogen in soil. Unfortunately, in 2019, during intensive maize growth, kernel silking and at the beginning of kernel pouring, in June and July, weather conditions were unfavorable for the formation of the basic elements of the crop structure (Supplementary Materials, Table S1). Later precipitation only increased the dry matter of the vegetative parts, whereas in 2020, summer precipitation did not limit the silking and pouring of kernels. Consequently, the yield of post-harvest residue in 2019 (10.2 t ha⁻¹) was considerably higher (by 34.2%) than in 2020 ($F_{1,78} = 44.9$; p < 0.001).

In the given years, no significant statistical differences between the fertilization treatments were confirmed. However, in each year of the study, a clear and unequivocal trend of increased GY after NP(S) band application was observed (Supplementary Materials, Figure S1). A particularly positive impact of this type of N application was confirmed at the lowest level of nitrogen fertilization (N1). At that level, the greatest GY was obtained after an application of the highest rate of NPS (N1P3 treatment). In 2019, the difference in relation to the absolute control (N0P0) was 22.5%, and in 2020, 24.3%. At N2, high increases in GY were also observed after the application of the highest NP(S) rate (N2P3). For N3, the differences in the years were transparent. In 2019, higher rates of ammonium phosphate lowered GY. In 2020, the highest increase in GY was obtained for the N3P3 treatment. In relation to the control, the difference was 31.8%. For comparison reasons, the maximum growth of GY in the treatment without NPS, but with the highest rate of total N, was only 16.4%.

The analysis of variance showed a significant impact of the fertilizing factor on the mean values of GY for the two years (Figure 1a). Significant differences were recorded between the control (N0P0) and N2P3 and N3P1. Regardless of the N rates (without taking N0P0 into consideration), an average influence of the ammonium phosphate and ammonium sulphate mixture on GY was as follows: P0 (7.82) < P1 (8.10) < P2 (8.54) < P3 (8.81 t ha⁻¹). Meanwhile, the impact of total N rates on GY was as follows: N1 (8.00) < N2 (8.33) < N3 (8.62 t ha⁻¹). In the above series, GY growth as a result of the maximum NP(S) application rate was 12.7%, and the total nitrogen rate was 7.8%.



Figure 1. Maize grain yield, GY (**a**) and crop residues biomass, SDM (**b**) depending on fertilization treatments. Two-year average values. Means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test). Hatched bars represent $2 \times \text{SEM}$ ranges.

The studied factor did not differentiate the dry matter of post-harvest residue—straw yield (SDM)—in any significant way. However, fertilization clearly increased the dry matter of the vegetative parts. In both years, AP application had a positive effect on SDM, especially in N1 and N2 treatments. A difference between the years was registered for the N3 treatment. In the first year (2019), the higher rate of AP did not stimulate SDM at the same level as in 2020 (Figure S1).

On average, over the two years of study, the highest increase in SDM was obtained for N1P3, N2P2 and N2P3 treatments (Figure 1b). The difference in SDM between the nitrogen control (N0 = 7.23 t ha⁻¹) and the highest rate of total nitrogen (N3 = 9.00 t ha⁻¹) was approximately 24.5%, while the difference between the phosphorus control (P0 = 7.93 t ha⁻¹) and P3 treatment (9.22 t ha⁻¹) was approximately 16.3%. Despite this, these differences were not significant.

The biological maize yield (the sum of GY and SDM) also increased as the rates of N and P became higher, regardless of the year (Figure S1). In 2019, the highest biological yield was obtained under the N1P3 treatment, and in 2020, under N3P3.

The studied factor did not exert any major impact on the harvest index (HI). As opposed to GY and SDM, no clear trend was observed in terms of the general effect of fertilization. The parameter for N0P0 was 46.9% and 54.6%, depending on the year, whereas the maize fertilized with N and P showed HI values ranging from 41.0% (N2P2) to 49.5% (N3P2) in the first year, and from 49.7% (N2P2) to 54.7% (N3P0) in the following year.

2.2. Nitrogen Concentration and Accumulation at Maturity

The nitrogen content in maize significantly depended on the growing season, fertilization treatment and the studied part of the plant (Table 1). In the first year (2019), the N content in grain and in straw was higher than in 2020. At the same time, the accumulation of total N was also considerably higher in 2019 (269.9 kg ha⁻¹) than in 2020 (216.9 kg N ha⁻¹). The nitrogen harvest index (NHI) was, in turn, lower in 2019 (55.2%) than in 2020 (60.9%).

The studied factor notably influenced the content of N in grain (Ng) and in crop residues (Ns) in each year (Table S2). On average, for the two years of study, the greatest content of N in grain was registered for the treatment with the maximum fertilization rate of N and P (N3P3). The use of band application of DAP caused a particular increase in Ng at the level of N1. A similar interrelation was also obtained for Ns (Table 2). As a result of

the fertilization impact on N concentration in grain and in crop residues, as well as on dry matter of the earlier mentioned maize parts, real differences in the accumulation of total N (TN) were recorded. A significant increase in TN in comparison to the control (N0P0) was registered in the following treatments: N1P3, N2P2, N2P3, N3P2 and N3P3. Depending on the treatment, the difference was 51.0–56.8%.

Table 1. Nitrogen (N) concentration and accumulation in maize at maturity (harvest) depending on fertilization treatments.

Year Treatment	N in Grain g kg ⁻¹	N in Crop Residues g kg ⁻¹	N in Grain kg ha ⁻¹	N in Crop Residues kg ha ⁻¹	Total N kg ha ⁻¹	N Harvest Index %
			Effect of the year	(Y)		
2019	$17.5\pm0.3~^{\rm a}$	11.9 ± 0.3	148.2 ± 4.0 a	121.7 ± 4.2 a	$269.9\pm7.4~^{\rm a}$	55.2 ± 0.7 a
2020	16.4 ± 0.3 ^b	11.2 ± 0.2	131.5 ± 3.4 ^b	$85.3 \pm 3.0 \ ^{ m b}$	216.9 ± 5.9 ^b	60.9 ± 0.6 ^b
			Effect of the treatme	ent (T)		
N0P0	14.3 ± 0.5 ^b	10.3 ± 0.2	102.1 ± 6.7 ^d	$73.9\pm9.1^{\text{ b}}$	$176.0 \pm 15.3 \ ^{\mathrm{b}}$	58.8 ± 1.6
N1P0	$15.5\pm0.8~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	11.1 ± 0.6	$114.6\pm9.5~\mathrm{cd}$	$92.1\pm16.5~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$206.6\pm25.6~^{ab}$	55.4 ± 2.0
N1P1	$16.4\pm0.5~\mathrm{ab}$	11.6 ± 0.8	$122.1\pm8.6~\mathrm{^{bcd}}$	$95.6\pm14.7~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$217.6\pm21.8~^{\rm ab}$	56.1 ± 2.8
N1P2	$16.8\pm0.6~^{\rm ab}$	10.4 ± 0.7	$141.4\pm7.3~\mathrm{^{abc}}$	90.3 ± 7.3 $^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$231.6 \pm 13.5 \ ^{ab}$	61.0 ± 1.4
N1P3	17.4 ± 0.4 ^{ab}	12.0 ± 0.7	$153.4\pm8.3~\mathrm{ab}$	$121.3\pm11.6~^{\rm a}$	$274.7\pm18.5~^{a}$	55.8 ± 1.6
N2P0	$16.7\pm1.3~\mathrm{ab}$	12.6 ± 0.1	$130.9\pm9.5~\mathrm{^{abc}}$	$104.3\pm9.6~^{\rm ab}$	$235.2\pm18.3~^{\rm ab}$	55.6 ± 1.6
N2P1	17.0 ± 0.7 $^{\mathrm{ab}}$	10.5 ± 0.5	$140.3\pm5.4~^{ m abc}$	99.0 ± 9.9 $^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$239.3\pm14.6~^{\rm ab}$	58.6 ± 1.6
N2P2	$17.7\pm0.7~\mathrm{ab}$	11.8 ± 0.6	$146.9 \pm 11.1^{\rm abc}$	$118.8\pm9.8~^{\rm a}$	$265.7\pm18.1~^{\rm a}$	55.3 ± 2.3
N2P3	$16.7\pm0.7~\mathrm{ab}$	12.2 ± 0.5	$149.8\pm5.1~\mathrm{^{abc}}$	$119.8\pm9.1~^{\rm a}$	$269.6\pm13.7~^{\rm a}$	55.6 ± 1.3
N3P0	17.6 ± 0.6 ^{ab}	11.9 ± 0.9	$145.9\pm6.5~^{ m abc}$	96.8 ± 12.6 ^{ab}	$242.7\pm18.8~^{\rm ab}$	60.1 ± 2.1
N3P1	$17.6\pm1.1~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	10.8 ± 0.5	$151.4\pm8.9~\mathrm{abc}$	$103.1\pm5.8~\mathrm{ab}$	$254.6\pm13.8~^{a}$	59.5 ± 0.9
N3P2	$17.8\pm0.3~\mathrm{ab}$	13.0 ± 0.4	$159.0\pm7.4~^{\rm ab}$	$115.4\pm10.5~^{\rm ab}$	$274.3\pm13.9~^{\rm a}$	57.9 ± 2.4
N3P3	18.5 ± 0.2 a	12.1 ± 0.6	160.5 ± 10.3 a $$	$115.5\pm9.0~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$276.0\pm15.7~^{\rm a}$	58.2 ± 2.1
		AN	OVA results (signific	ance level)		
Year	*	n.s.	***	***	***	***
Treatment	*	n.s.	***	**	***	n.s.
$\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{T}$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.

***, **, * significant at p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—non-significant; means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test).

The average impact of P(S) rates on TN over the two years was as follows: P0 (228.2) < P1 (237.2) < P2 (257.2) < P3 (274.3 kg ha⁻¹). For comparison reasons, the effect of the N rates was as follows: N1 (8.00) < N2 (8.33) < N3 (8.62 t ha⁻¹). The maximum difference for NPS rates was 20.2%, and for the full rate of N, it was 7.8%. The NHI values were not significantly differentiated by the application of NPS fertilization. The study did not prove any notable influence of "year × NP(S) treatments" interaction on the content or accumulation of nitrogen.

2.3. Nitrogen Use Efficiency Indices

The values for nitrogen fertilization efficiency indices are shown in Table 2. It is clear that the NP(S) treatments had a significant effect on indices such as PFP, PNB, RE, IE and N_{gap}. For comparison purposes, the growing season considerably influenced such indices as PNB, IE and N_{gap}. The studies did not confirm any great impact of "year × NP(S) treatments" on the values of the above-mentioned indices, however. In relation to PFP and N_{gap}, it was the total N fertilization that played the vital role. Higher N rates lowered PFP, yet increased N_{gap}. NP(S) fertilization brought the values of PFP up, regardless of the N fertilization levels (except for the N3P3 treatment). In relation to N_{gap}, a reverse interdependence was obtained. Along with the P increase, the N_{gap} value became lower.

Year	PFP	AE	PNB	RE	IE	PE	Ngap
Treatment	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	$ m kg~kg^{-1}$	$ m kg~kg^{-1}$	$\rm kg~N~ha^{-1}$
			Effect of	the year (Y)			
2019	86.3 ± 6.1	10.3 ± 3.4	1.51 ± 0.10 $^{\rm a}$	0.81 ± 0.14	$28.6\pm0.39~^{\rm b}$	13.4 ± 1.8	$53.2\pm7.2\ ^{a}$
2020	80.8 ± 5.3	11.3 ± 2.1	$1.32\pm0.08~^{\rm b}$	0.69 ± 0.07	35.5 ± 0.43 $^{\rm a}$	18.4 ± 1.0	$48.2\pm6.8~^{\rm b}$
			Effect of th	e treatment (T)			
N0P0	-	-	-	-	$41.3\pm1.5~^{\rm a}$	21.3 ± 22.4	-
N1P0	$122.8\pm9.2~^{\rm a}$	3.8 ± 13.3	1.91 ± 0.16 $^{\rm c}$	$0.51\pm0.51~\mathrm{ab}$	$36.9\pm1.7^{\text{ b}}$	-108.6 ± 146.8	$-1.4\pm4.5~^{ m c}$
N1P1	$123.8\pm8.6~^{\rm a}$	4.8 ± 7.8	$2.03\pm0.14~^{\rm bc}$	$0.69\pm0.33~\mathrm{ab}$	$35.2 \pm 2.0 \ ^{\mathrm{bc}}$	28.3 ± 7.5	$-1.8\pm4.0~^{\rm c}$
N1P2	$139.6\pm6.0~^{\rm a}$	20.6 ± 5.7	$2.36\pm0.12~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$0.93\pm0.17~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$36.5\pm1.1~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	20.3 ± 2.8	-9.6 ± 2.3 ^c
N1P3	$146.9\pm7.5~^{\rm a}$	27.9 ± 10.5	2.56 ± 0.14 $^{\rm a}$	1.64 ± 0.30 $^{\rm a}$	$32.4\pm1.2~^{\mathrm{bc}}$	10.1 ± 6.8	$-13.4\pm3.8~^{\rm c}$
N2P0	$65.0 \pm 3.8 \ { m bc}$	5.6 ± 5.8	$1.09\pm0.08~^{\rm de}$	$0.49\pm0.16~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$33.8\pm1.8~^{\mathrm{bc}}$	-197.5 ± 131.6	55.0 ± 3.6 ^b
N2P1	$68.9\pm2.3~\mathrm{bc}$	9.4 ± 5.3	$1.17\pm0.04~^{ m de}$	$0.53\pm0.16~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$35.0\pm1.3~\mathrm{bc}$	15.2 ± 7.6	51.0 ± 2.7 ^b
N2P2	$69.2\pm5.1~\mathrm{^{bc}}$	9.8 ± 7.4	$1.22\pm0.09~^{ m de}$	$0.75\pm0.18~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$31.4\pm1.7~^{ m c}$	-75.5 ± 91.0	50.6 ± 5.2 ^b
N2P3	74.7 \pm 2.4 ^b	15.2 ± 4.1	1.25 ± 0.04 ^d	0.78 ± 0.14 $^{\rm a}$	33.5 ± 0.8 ^{bc}	16.9 ± 3.6	$45.4\pm2.2^{\text{ b}}$
N3P0	$46.0\pm1.7~^{\rm c}$	6.3 ± 3.0	$0.81\pm0.04~^{\rm e}$	0.37 ± 0.12 ^b	$34.9\pm1.6~^{ m bc}$	16.7 ± 5.8	111.1 \pm 2.4 $^{\rm a}$
N3P1	$47.7\pm2.2~^{\rm c}$	8.1 ± 3.4	$0.84\pm0.05~\mathrm{de}$	0.44 ± 0.11 ^b	$33.9\pm0.9~\mathrm{bc}$	4.5 ± 11.1	$108.4\pm3.1~^{\rm a}$
N3P2	$49.7\pm2.2~^{\mathrm{bc}}$	10.0 ± 3.4	$0.88\pm0.04~^{ m de}$	$0.55\pm0.12~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$32.9\pm1.4~^{\mathrm{bc}}$	11.7 ± 8.0	$105.4\pm3.4~^{\rm a}$
N3P3	$48.1\pm3.0~^{\rm c}$	8.4 ± 3.9	$0.89\pm0.06~\mathrm{de}$	$0.56\pm0.12~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$31.4\pm1.1~^{\rm c}$	-10.0 ± 23.6	107.6 ± 5.1 $^{\rm a}$
			ANOVA results	s (significance lev	vel)		
Year	n.s.	n.s.	***	n.s.	***	n.s.	*
Treatment	***	n.s.	***	*	***	***	***
$\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{T}$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.

Table 2. Nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) indices depending on fertilization	treatment
--	-----------

***, * significant at p < 0.001, p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—non-significant; means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test). PFP—partial factor productivity of N; AE—agronomic efficiency of N; PNB—partial N balance; RE—apparent N recovery efficiency; IE—internal N utilization efficiency; Ngap—N gap.

Negative N_{gap} values for N1 prove that N deficiency ensures a maximum yield and, at the same time, potential N soil mining, whereas for N3 and N2, the positive index values confirm the surplus of N that was not transformed into GY. The agronomic efficiency of N (AE) rose as the P rate increased. The highest AE value was obtained for the N1P3 treatment. Moreover, PNB and RE values were the highest for N1P3. The lowest values of both indices were obtained for N3, without a concomitant use of NPS. At the same time, the highest IE value was recorded in the control, while the lowest values were obtained for N2P2 and N3P3 treatments. Out of all the N and P fertilization treatments, the best use of TN was obtained for N1P0 and N1P3. Physiological N efficiency (PE) varied significantly among treatments without phosphorus (N1P0 and N2P0). Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to determine the relationships between the GY and NUE indices. The correlation matrix can be found in the Supplementary Materials (Table S3). The results of the PCA procedure were visualized in biplots (Figure 2). In addition, the interdependencies of the properties were analyzed with Pearson correlation coefficients (Table S4).

Based on the PCA analysis, three main components, representing the GY, SDM, N content and NUE indices, accounted for 89.9% of the total variance. The first principal component (PC1) explained 39.4% of the total variability, and the next two components (PC2 and PC3), respectively, 34.6% and 18.8% of the total variance (Table S3). As the two first principal components dominated, the results of the PCA analysis are presented on the PC1–PC2 biplot. PC1 consisted of variables related to the SDM, TN, RE and IE, as well as the GY and NHI. The loading exerted by PFP, N_{gap} and PNB influenced PC2. As shown in Figure 2, the GY was significantly related to the TN, IE, NHI and SDM. However, the GY showed negative relationships with the IE and NHI. This resulted from the fact that, in 2019, maize developed a greater biomass of crop residues than in 2020, thus lowering the share of N accumulated in grain (NHI) and N utilization efficiency (IE). The second group of parameters consists of such indices as RE, AE, PE, PNB, PFP and N_{gap}. A particularly

strong correlation was noted between PFP and N_{gap} parameters. The year and fertilization treatments modified the values of the investigated parameters, as demonstrated by both PCA biplots. On the PC1–PC2 biplot axes, most of the treatments were grouped closest to the Tukey median (in the bagplot) or in the bagplot cover region. Only two treatments (N3P0 in 2020 and N1P3 in 2019) were separated by a significant distance from the Tukey median. At the same time, both variants were on the opposite side of the axis representing such indices as SDM, RE and NHI. On the axis representing NUE indices on the opposite sides of the median were variants from the N3 group and variants from the N1 group but with phosphorus at the rates of P2 and P3, while on the axis representing GY, on its opposite side, treatments such as N1P0, N1P1 (2020) and N2P2, N3P3 (2019) were placed. Close to the axis but near the Tukey median, treatments such as N2P2 and N3P3 from 2020 were found.



Figure 2. Principal component analysis (PCA) biplot of the maize yield and N use efficiency indices. The dark blue square denotes the Tukey median, the blue square is the bagplot, the light blue square is the bagplot cover. Key: GY—grain yield; SDM—crop residues (straw) biomass; TN—total N accumulation; NHI—N harvest index; PFP—partial factor productivity of N; AE—agronomic efficiency of N; PNB—partial N balance; RE—apparent N recovery efficiency; IE—internal N utilization efficiency; N_{gap}—N gap. The treatments in 2019 are marked in red and the treatments in 2020 in black.

2.4. Nitrogen Status of Maize

The nutritional assessment was carried out in the seventh leaf stage and at the beginning of flowering. The growing season had a significant impact on the maize dry matter in the first term, as well as on its N content (Table 3). No significant interaction was found for "year \times fertilization treatments". Greater dry matter (DM) was obtained in the first year, however, with a slightly lower N content. As a result, N accumulation in plants in 2019 was higher than in 2020.

Neer		Seventh Leaf Stage	!	Beginning of Flowering Stage				
Treatment	DM g Plant ⁻¹	N Content g kg DM ⁻¹	N Content g Plant ⁻¹	DM g Plant ⁻¹	N Content g kg DM ⁻¹	N Content g plant ⁻¹		
	Effect of the year (Y)							
2019	9.57 ± 0.31 $^{\rm a}$	40.0 ± 0.5 ^b	0.39 ± 0.01 a	89.0 ± 2.3 ^b	$26.1\pm0.5~^{\rm a}$	2.33 ± 0.07 $^{\rm a}$		
2020	7.18 ± 0.23 ^b	42.1 ± 0.7 a	$0.30 \pm 0.01 \ ^{ m b}$	114.5 ± 2.9 a	18.0 ± 0.4 ^b	$2.08\pm0.06~^{\rm b}$		
	ANOVA results (significance level)							
Year	***	*	***	***	***	**		
Treatment	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	***		
$\mathbf{Y} imes \mathbf{T}$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.		

Table 3. Effect of the growing season and fertilization treatments on maize dry matter (DM) and nitrogen (N) status at the seventh leaf stage and at the beginning of flowering.

***, **, * significant at p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—non-significant; means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test).

In general, NP(S) application improved maize nutritional status in terms of N content. However, these changes were not statistically significant. The differences in comparison to the control were particularly visible at N1, while for N3, the differences in N content were inconclusive (Table S2).

As opposed to the first term, at the beginning of flowering, fertilization significantly differentiated N accumulation in plants (Figure 3). Both N and P fertilization increased the content of N in plants. For N1, along with the NP(S) rate increase, N accumulation rose by 13.3%. For N2, the maximum accumulation of N was recorded for treatments with P1 and P2 rates, while for N3, the highest N accumulation was registered after an application of the highest NPS rate, i.e., P3. The differences between N accumulation for P0 and other treatments were approx. 12–13%.



Figure 3. Content of nitrogen (N) in maize at the beginning of flowering depending on fertilization treatments. Two-year average values. Means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test). Hatched bars represent $2 \times \text{SEM}$ ranges.

2.5. Dry Matter and N Remobilization Indices

The effect of fertilization on the average values of indices describing the management of dry matter and N after flowering is shown in Table 4. The analysis of the growing season shows that the DMI and NI indices were higher in 2019 than in 2020. At the same time, a reverse interdependence was confirmed in relation to other indices. The values of DMR, DMRE and CDMR indices were negative in the first year of the study. In 2020, the values of the indices were positive. Such correlation resulted from a high growth of vegetative maize parts after flowering. In contrast to DM, the NI and NR indices were positive regardless of the year. NRE and CNR index values also confirm that nitrogen accumulated more in the green plant parts than in grain. The fertilization factor, however, had no significant impact on their values, nor did it exert any real influence in either year of the study. Nevertheless, some real trends emerged worth describing in terms of plants' reaction to the growing season and the NP(S) fertilization (Table S5). In this reference, as a result of the NP(S) application, the value index of NRE increased for N1 but only continued to grow up to the rate of P2. At the higher levels of nitrogen fertilization, the highest values were obtained in the treatments with a lower rate of P (N2P1) or without band application (N3P0), whereas the values of the CNR index were the highest for N1P0, N2P1, N3P0. The lowest CNR values were obtained in the N1P3, N2P3 and N3P1 treatments but without significant differences among treatments.

Table 4. Effect of the growing season and fertilization treatments on maize dry matter (DM) and nitrogen (N) management indices.

Year	Dry Matter Management Indices				Nitrogen Management Indices				
Treatment	DMA	DMA DMR DMRE CDMR		NA	NR	NRE	CNR		
	Effect of the year (Y)								
2019	$165.6\pm7.4~^{\rm a}$	-50.4 ± 5.0 ^b	-61.5 ± 7.0 ^b	-40.6 ± 4.3 ^b	1.35 ± 0.12 a	0.70 ± 0.08 ^b	$26.9\pm3.0~^{\rm b}$	$39.7\pm5.6^{\text{ b}}$	
2020	$93.8 \pm 3.9 {}^{\mathrm{b}}$	14.1 ± 2.9 a	11.3 ± 2.4 ^a	14.1 ± 2.9 ^a	$0.82\pm0.06^{\text{ b}}$	0.98 ± 0.05 $^{\rm a}$	44.7 ± 1.7 $^{\rm a}$	$55.3\pm3.0~^{\rm a}$	
	ANOVA results (significance level)								
Year	***	***	***	***	***	*	***	*	
Treatment	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	
$\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{T}$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	

****, * significant at p < 0.001, p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—non-significant; means within a column followed by the same letter indicate a lack of significant difference between the fertilized treatments (HSD test). DMI—dry matter increase; DMR—dry matter remobilization; NII—nitrogen increase; NR—nitrogen remobilization; DMRE—dry matter remobilization efficiency; CDMR—contribution of DMR assimilates to grain; NRE—N remobilization efficiency; CNR—contribution of remobilized N to grain N content.

In order to determine the interdependencies of the studied factors with the grain yield or the dry matter of the vegetative parts, a PCA analysis was carried out. Consequently, three factors were obtained, which, in combination, explained 94.6% of the total variance (Table S6). However, the first two, PC1 and PC2, explained 62.3% and 20.6% of the variance, which is equal to 82.9% of the total. Therefore, PC1 and PC2 were used to explain the interrelation between the analyzed parameters and the impact of the individual fertilization treatments on the axes representing particular variances (Figure 4). The indices of N nutrient management (CNR, NRE) were significantly, in a positive way, correlated with the DMRE and CDMR indices. The indices correlated more with GY than with DMRE and CDMR. The last two indices, however, negatively correlated with the content of N in plants at the flowering growth stage. That particular parameter, in turn, positively correlated with the dry matter of post-harvest residue and, interestingly, with the plants' dry matter at the seventh leaf stage. The values of correlation coefficients between the various features are included in the materials (Table S7).

The PCA biplot indicates the dominant impact of the seasonal factor on the axes arrangement of the interrelations mentioned above (Figure 4). As the analysis shows, most treatments were grouped near the Tukey median. Along the GY axis, quite a distance from the median, the following treatments were placed: control (N0P0) in 2019 and 2020, and the N1P0 treatment in 2020. On the opposite side of the median, the points representing different treatments were more scattered on both sides of the GY axis and, at the same time, the treatments creating clusters were more determined by the growing season than the fertilizer rate. On the left-hand side of the GY axis, therefore, for the high GY values,

the treatments representing high fertilizer rates in 2020 were present (N2P2, N3P2, N3P3). For the lower GY values, on the right-hand side of the axis, various treatments from 2019 appeared, such as N2P1, N2P2 and N3P3. This result emphasizes the role of the growing season in the modification of the interdependencies among the treatments.



Figure 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) biplot of the maize yield, N content and accumulation, and N management indices. The dark blue square denotes the Tukey median, the blue square is the bagplot, the light blue square is the bagplot cover. Key: GY—grain yield; SDM—crop residues (straw) biomass; TN—total N accumulation; DM1—dry matter of plant at seventh leaf growth stage; Nc1—N concentration at seventh leaf growth stage; Na1—N accumulation at seventh leaf growth stage; DM2—dry matter of plant at flowering; Nc2—N concentration at flowering; Na1—N accumulation at flowering; DMRE—dry matter remobilization efficiency; CDMR—contribution of DMR assimilates to grain; NRE—N remobilization efficiency; CNR—contribution of remobilized N to grain N content. The treatments in 2019 are marked in red and the treatments in 2020 in black.

3. Discussion

The study reveals a lack of a significant impact of the growing season on grain yield. Maize requires between 500 to 800 mm of water depending on the environment [35]. In both growing seasons, the precipitation was approximately 250–300 mm. Taking into consideration the low water retention of the sandy soil and its water demand of 500 mm, it can be assumed that in the years of the study, water deficiency reached about 200–250 mm, and a potential grain yield loss could have reached 4–5 t ha⁻¹ [36]. The stages of maize susceptible to water stress are the vegetative and reproductive stages, where yield loss may be as high as 18.6–26.2% and 41.6–46.6%, respectively [37]. The least favorable weather conditions during flowering were recorded in 2020. They were, however, compensated by heavy precipitation during the grain filling stage, whereas in 2019, the drought in June and early July occurred during the most intensive period for the plant. The negative effect of the drought on GY at that stage is manifested mainly in the reduction in plant height, leaf size and delay in leaf tip emergence [38]. Nevertheless, the drought may have also had a negative impact on the tasseling growth stage and successful pollination. As a result, GY was slightly higher in 2019 than in 2020.

A considerable difference was, however, recorded in the dry matter of post-harvest residues, as the vegetative growth was stimulated by heavy precipitation in 2019. Additionally, a high content of N_{min} in the soil in 2019 largely stimulated the development of vegetative biomass. Bearing in mind the variable weather and soil conditions, the influence of N and P(S) fertilization on the maize yield was quite similar over the years of the study; no statistically significant interaction was recorded. Nonetheless, at a higher level of nitrogen fertilization (N3 = 180 kg ha⁻¹ of N), the degree of plant reaction to the band application of NPS depended on the year. In 2019, the yield-forming impact of the factor on GY and SDM was lower than in 2020, which resulted from a variable N_{min} content in the soil. The optimal N rate in maize cultivation depends on many factors. The most important ones include: soil type, the course of weather, water availability, N_{min} content in soil, as well as the time and method of nitrogen application [12,39,40]. According to the literature, N fertilization greatly increases GY, most often within the rate range of up to 120–220 kg ha⁻¹ N [41–44]. Research carried out in northern China showed that the economically optimal N rate may be considerably higher and depend on the soil type [45]. According to the authors, it was 265 kg ha^{-1} of N in black soil, while in aeolian sandy soil, it was 186 kg N ha⁻¹. Ahmad et al. [46] point out that N applied to the soil in excessive amounts disturbs plant maturation and diminishes GY. In our own studies, the influence of the N rate on GY significantly depended on the ammonium phosphate fertilization level. On average, for the 2 years, the highest GY increase in comparison to the control was obtained for N2P3 (120 kg ha⁻¹ of N) and N3P2 (180 kg ha⁻¹ of N). It should, however, be emphasized that only slightly lower yield in comparison to the above-mentioned treatments was obtained for N1P3 (60 kg ha⁻¹ of N). The difference was only 1.5–1.6%. Concurrently, the result indicates the dominant yield-forming impact of localized placement of NPS in comparison to the broadcast fertilization of N. In the present study, the optimal P rate depended on the level of N fertilization. For N1, the ideal rate was 26.2 kg ha⁻¹ of P. For comparison purposes, during the broadcast application of P, the optimal rate in maize cultivation may reach even up to 100 kg ha^{-1} of P [47]. However, it should be stressed that the impact assessment of a single element P on maize in a ternary fertilizer mixture (N + P + S) is very difficult. Moreover, the fertilizer also included zinc (Zn). Both S and Zn have a positive effect on the uptake and metabolism of N in early growth, and consequently, on maize yielding [30,48]. The study hypothesis states, however, that the main components modifying the level of maize yielding and NUE indices are N and P. The hypothesis was based on the proven role of NH_4^+ and PO_4^{-3} ions in root formation, N uptake and, as a result, maize yield. The plants react much better to N in the form of di-ammonium phosphate (DAP) than to N with ammonium nitrate and urea applied, either before sowing, as fertilizer placement at sowing or at the fifth/sixth leaf growth stage [17,20,22]. Additionally, according to Weiß et al. [23], the starter fertilization DAP increases GY to a greater extent than a simultaneous application of triple superphosphate and ammonium nitrate. The result clearly indicates a synergistic effect of NH_4^+ and PO_4^{-3} ions. It is physically impossible to isolate the N or P effects in a binary fertilizer. The synergistic impact of N and P applied as DAP results from both specific transformations of NH_4^+ and PO_4^{-3} ions in soil, as well as their influence on root morphology [20]. Both ions feature low effective diffusion coefficients in soils [49]. The NH₄⁺ ions readily bind to negative charges on the surface of clay minerals and become fixed [50], while PO_4^{-3} ions are readily fixed by adsorption to aluminum and other metal hydroxides or are precipitated depending on the pH as Fe-, Aland Ca-phosphates [51]. According to Bordoli and Mallarino [27], P increased GY only in very low or low soil testing, and there was no response to P on any site. In our own study, despite high P concentration in the soil, P application may have had a positive impact on the maize yield, as the soil pH was acidic (5.2–5.3), and chemical sorption of P could have taken place [52]. Unlike broadcast fertilization, with or without soil incorporation, banding application reduces the surface area of contact with soil, thereby reducing PO_4^{-3} immobilization by fixation to various cations. Moreover, both ions stimulate the initiation and elongation of lateral roots on the part of the root system that is within or close to their

respective nutrient depots, which is caused by the accumulation of the plant hormone auxin [53,54]. N and P also have a positive effect on root growth in soil zones distant from the nutrient patch [16]. In order to obtain a maximum maize yield, an early supply of adequate amounts of phosphorus to the plants is crucial [13]. Placing a NP mineral fertilizer near the maize seeds leads to a higher plant-available P concentration in the soil, greater uptake by plants and a higher unit production [15,22].

The content of nitrogen in the grain and in the post-harvest residue was higher in 2019 than in 2020. The result can be directly associated with the difference of N_{min} concentration in the soil. Fertilization treatments also exerted a great impact on the N content in grain. However, the experiment did not confirm any significant interrelation between the two factors. The average N content in grain was 17.9 and 16.3 g kg⁻¹ of DM, depending on the year. According to Tenorio et al. [55], the grain of maize cultivated in the northcentral region of the USA ranged from 7.6 to 16.6 g kg⁻¹. Therefore, the N concentration obtained can be considered as being in the optimal range for maize grain. In addition, this level of Ng indicates a high efficiency of the soil (even on the control) as well as fertilization treatments. The high efficiency of N accumulation in grain was assured by high concentration of K and Mg in the soil [56]. Along with the N and P(S) rates, the N concentration increased, reaching the maximum value for the N3P3 treatment. The highest accumulation of TN $(276.0 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ of N})$ was also obtained for this treatment. It resulted from the stimulation of the highest NPS rates, N uptake and dry matter accumulation as a consequence of N absorption of solar radiation during plant maturation [57]. As Figure 3 shows, GY was positively correlated with TN. The regression equation for this correlation is as follows:

$$GY = 4.7591 + 0.0142 \times TN; R^2 = 0.72; p < 0.001; n = 26$$
(1)

In order to assess the efficiency of nitrogen fertilization (NUE), several standard indices were used: partial factor productivity (PFP), agronomic efficiency (AE), partial N balance (PNB), apparent N recovery efficiency (RE), internal N utilization efficiency (IE) and physiological N efficiency (PE). Additionally, a relatively new index was chosen-nitrogen gap (N_{gap})—indicating potential yield losses as a result of imbalanced fertilization [32]. Among them, PFP, RE, IE and Ngap were considerably differentiated by fertilization factors. The values of the first three indices decreased as the N rate became lower. It is a general rule that the indices are higher with a low N rate [58]. PFP is a simple production efficiency expression, calculated in units of crop yield per unit of N applied. The advantage of PFP over others results from its sensitivity both to the course of weather and experimental factors. As the literature shows, the PFP values in maize cultivation for grain stay within the range of 6.1 and 114.9 kg kg $^{-1}$ [14,44,59–61]. Thus, the PFP are within the above-mentioned range, yet they remain quite high. The result confirms the high productivity of the applied nitrogen. The experiment proved that PFP increased as the amount of NPS incorporated into the soil became higher and/or as the N share in the starter rate was greater. The differences were not significant but nevertheless clear for N1 and N2, while for N3, the differences were the smallest, clearly indicating the productivity decrease in high NPS rates when the maximum N rates were used. The other indices closely associated with the N rate—PNB and RE—point to the same trend. The expression of plant N content per unit of fertilizer N applied (PNB) indicates that, for N1, the maize effectively took advantage of the soil resources (the values were higher than 1). For N3, in turn, excessive N fertilization was recorded, expressed through values lower than 1 [62]. Regardless of the fertilization level, N exhibited a positive impact of NPS on the PNB values. With regard to RE, the index values for maize are, on average, 24.3–58.2% N [6,45,61]. Dhakal et al. [44] reported that the mean RE was 70% at the lowest N rate (60 kg ha⁻¹ of N) compared to 50% at the highest N rate (240 kg ha^{-1} of N). The index is often used, as it measures the accumulation of the component in soil and/or the potential N losses to the environment [7]. In the present study, RE values were approximately 76.4% in 2019 and 60.8% in 2020. On average, for N1, N2 and N3, the index was 94.3, 63.7 and 47.7%. The use of NPS increased RE at every treatment level (and, at the same time, lowered potential losses of N to the environment), especially for the N1 treatment. For N1P3, the average value was >100%. The result can also be explained through the soil mining of N. A full confirmation of the hypothesis comes from the Ngap index. At the level of N1, negative values of Ngap were obtained and decreased along with the NPS rate. For N2 and N3, the positive values indicate the excess of N, which is the nitrogen not fully used by the plant. In the experiments, the AE index was also used to evaluate NUE. It reflects more closely the direct production impact of an applied fertilizer. Despite the fact that no statistically significant differences were obtained, a strong and clear trend of improving the index through the band application of NPS was noted. The trend was particularly transparent for N1 and then for N2. Typical AE levels of N for maize range from 1.9 to 29.0 kg grain kg⁻¹ N [6,44,59,61,63]. Unlike this index, IE differentiated substantially between N and P(S) treatments. On average, over the two years of the study, lower values were recorded for N2P2 and N3P3 than for the control or for N1P0. The result indicates that 1 kg of uptaken nitrogen was more effective in terms of yield forming when NPS was being simultaneously applied. In summary, we can conclude that a shortage of P during the early growth stages results in a GY decrease, in turn negatively affecting NUE indices. The advanced procedure of NUE indices evaluation relies on the degree of their sensitivity to indicators of maize GY and N status at harvest. The PCA analysis revealed a number of interesting interrelations among the studied features. GY was positively correlated with TN, NHI and the NUE-IE index. The reliance of GY on IE and IE on NHI is described through the following equations:

$$GY = 12.004 - 0.1094 \times IE; R^2 = 0.42; p < 0.001; n = 26$$
(2)

IE =
$$-10.845 + 0.7819 \times \text{NHI}; \text{ R}^2 = 0.55; p < 0.001; n = 26$$
 (3)

The increase in IE is associated with an increase in NHI, which in turn was associated with a higher N translocation efficiency in later stages of the grain filling period [31,60]. In our experiment, the NPS rate increase did not lead to the improvement of NHI. The plant response to this type of fertilization depended on the level of N fertilization.

The effect of applied fertilization treatments on NUE can be considered on many different levels. There are two stages that deserve special attention: (i) N uptake and accumulation in plants; (ii) remobilization of N from vegetative to generative parts. During the first stage, a phase of intense N accumulation in plants can be distinguished. It starts right after the sixth/seventh leaf growth stage and lasts until the beginning of maize flowering [64]. The optimal N content in maize at the sixth/seventh leaf growth stage ranges from 3.5 to 5.0 g kg $^{-1}$ [65]. In our own study, the N content was therefore within the optimal range. Maize fertilized with NPS showed a higher concentration of that component than without NPS but only for the N1 and N2 treatments. The beneficial influence of NPS was particularly transparent for N1. As for N3, a positive impact of that factor was overshadowed by high rates of N. There are several possible explanations for the positive effect of banding NPS on N uptake and concentration. At the initial growth stage, this phenomenon can be explained by an increased N_{min} and P concentration in the soil solution near the roots [54]. At the same time, ammonium-induced acidification in the rhizosphere resulted in the increased solubility of sparingly soluble P compounds, such as apatite and struvite, resulting in higher P availability compared with the supply of NO₃-N [25,26]. Rhizosphere acidification induced by banding DAP application also increases the uptake of a greatly important element, namely Zn [17]. The authors also observed that there was a higher N uptake rate per unit of maize root biomass in response to band application of DAP compared with other treatments. The rise in the concentration of N in maize may also be explained through the modification of root architecture as a consequence of a high concentration of NH₄-N and P in the soil layer around the developing plants. Weligama et al. [21] report that band application increases total root length and root dry matter, while according to Ma et al. [17], it also positively conditions lateral root development. Ammonium only has a minor effect on root hair length or density, and an excess of phosphorus even reduces those features [66,67]. Earlier research additionally showed

a beneficial effect of DAP application on maize N nutritional status at the sixth/seventh leaf stage, expressed by the plants' dry matter and SPAD index [14]. However, the influence depended on the depth at which the fertilizer granules were placed. In terms of N content, the optimum depth was 5–10 cm. At another critical growth stage, the beginning of flowering, localized NPS fertilization increased the total accumulation of N in plants. This was, among other factors, the consequence of better plant nutrition at an earlier stage. The amount of N at the flowering stage is particularly important, as after that stage, root activity and the ability to uptake N from the soil diminish [64]. According to Pampana et al. [34], before silking, maize uptakes approximately 64–70% of nitrogen from the soil. Most of the N in cereal kernels comes from the remobilization processes. The share of that form of N in kernels may constitute 50–90% of total nitrogen in cereal kernels [68,69]. As the main goal of maize cultivation was grain, therefore, the regression curves were determined to show the dependence of GY on N accumulation at the sixth/seventh leaf stage and flowering:

$$6/7$$
 leaf: GY = 5.436 + 8.092 × Na1; \mathbb{R}^2 = 56; $p < 0.001$; $n = 26$ (4)

Flowering:
$$GY = 5.14 + 1.401 \times Na2$$
; $R^2 = 46$; $p < 0.001$; $n = 26$ (5)

In terms of plant nutrition diagnostics, the first interdependence is vital, because it is the last growth stage to change that in agricultural practice.

In order to determine the impact of N management on maize yielding, several indices were used. As far as the physiology of yielding is concerned, the following factors are considered largely relevant: dry matter remobilization efficiency (DMRE); contribution of DMR assimilates to grain (CDMR); nitrogen remobilization efficiency (NRE); contribution of remobilized N to grain (CNR). Earlier research confirmed that depending on the hybrid maturity class of maize, indices' values DMRE, CDMR, NRE and CNR can be 16.9-24.5%, 24.9-35.8%, 38.0-44.4% and 40.2-50.3%, respectively [34]. In comparison to these values, our own study obtained similar values for NRE and CNR. Nevertheless, DMRE and CDMR were negative. In 2019, the increase in the total maize biomass after anthesis (positive values of DMA) resulted mainly from the rise of the green parts of biomass. Thus, the DMR index was negative and, consequently, so were the DMRE and CDMR indices. This means that in 2019, the current photosynthesis was significantly responsible for the accumulation of DM in kernels. Such a reaction of plants is characteristic for the "stay green" types [5]. Ray et al. [33] also obtained negative results of DM remobilization indices as a consequence of large increases in maize biomass in the post-silking period. Unlike DM management indices, the nitrogen management indices (NRE and CNR) obtained in our studies were positive. These values confirm that N accumulation in kernels mainly relies on N remobilization. At the same time, in 2019, the remobilization index was considerably lower than in 2020, which should be associated with various concentration levels of N_{min} in the soil [5]. When maize N uptake is sustained throughout the grain filling period, less N is mobilized from vegetative organs, thereby increasing leaf area duration, delaying senescence and enhancing dry matter accumulation in grains [70]. In the conducted research, the fertilization factor changed the values of NRE and CNR indices in a particular way, usually making changes only up to a certain level. At the level of N1, the highest NRE value was obtained for the P2 rate, and at the level of N2, for the P1 rate, whereas for CNR, the optimum treatment was N2P1, followed by N1P0. The directions of the index value changes clearly indicate a competition between the main plant parts to obtain nitrogen and carbon, most probably determined by the plants' N nutritional status. This is confirmed by the lack of a positive correlation between the mentioned indices and the grain yield. As the earlier studies confirm, remobilization of N from vegetative plant parts was covered mainly by depletion of stem N at high N supply and by depletion of leaf N at low N supply [34,71]. If the main source of remobilized N was leaves, this brought about early leaf senescence and led to the decreasing accumulation of dry matter in grains from the current photosynthesis [72]. In the present studies, rising NPS rates boosted N accumulation in plants; therefore, the potential of utilizing N from leaves was high, but the real translocation of N to kernels was lower due to a higher metabolic activity of leaves well nourished in N and P(S). Our studies confirm earlier observations, where fertilization treatments without phosphorus (NK), indices of remobilization and contribution activities were higher than in treatments without nitrogen but with phosphorus (PK) [33]. At the same time, our studies indicate that N management indices do not have to have a linear correlation with NPS rates.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Experiment Location and Design

The experiment was carried out in 2019–2020 at Brody, Poznan University of Life Sciences Experimental Station, in Poland (52°26′18″ N 16°17′40″ E). The following factors were tested: band application of ternary fertilizer mixture (NPS) and different total N rates. Treatments of NP(S) fertilization were as follows: P0-control; P1-8.7; P2-17.4; and P_3 —26.2 kg ha⁻¹ of P (17%, 33% and 67% of total P uptake for grain yield = 9.0 t ha⁻¹). The N rates were as follows: N₀—control; N₁—60; N₂—120; and N₃—180 kg ha⁻¹ of N. A nitrogen rate of 180 kg ha⁻¹ corresponded to 100% of maize requirement for this nutrient in mineral fertilizers. The effect of mineral fertilization with NP(S) was compared to the absolute control (AC), without fertilization with these components. NP(S) were applied to the soil using fertilizer NPS(+Zn) in the proportion 20-20-35+0.3 (calculated for N, P₂O₅, SO₃, Zn). The fertilizer is based on two main chemical compounds: di-ammonium phosphate, DAP [$(NH_4)_2$ HPO₄] and ammonium sulfate [$(NH_4)_2$ SO₄]. Therefore, on plots with localized fertilization P_1 , P_2 and P_3 , the doses of ammonium nitrogen (NH₄-N) were 20, 40 and 60 kg ha⁻¹ of N. A detailed summary of the doses of N, P, S and Zn used in the experiment is given in Table 5. In order to simplify the notation of fertilization treatments, the NPSZn rates were recorded as P rates.

Treatment	N (Band Appl. *) kg ha ⁻¹	₽ kg ha−1	S kg ha ⁻¹	Zn g ha ⁻¹
N0P0	0	0	0	0
N1P0	60 (0)	0	0	0
N1P1	60 (20)	8.7	14	300
N1P2	60 (40)	17.4	28	600
N1P3	60 (60)	26.2	42	900
N2P0	120 (0)	0	0	0
N2P1	120 (20)	8.7	14	300
N2P2	120 (40)	17.4	28	600
N2P3	120 (60)	26.2	42	900
N3P0	180 (0)	0	0	0
N3P1	180 (20)	8.7	14	300
N3P2	180 (40)	17.4	28	600
N3P3	180 (60)	26.2	42	900

Table 5. Rates of nutrients (N, P, S and Zn) depending on the fertilization treatment.

* Nitrogen band application of di-ammonium phosphate (DAP) and ammonium sulfate.

The NP(S) fertilizer was applied while sowing the seeds. The fertilizer was banded to 5 cm below and away from the seeds. In treatments without NP(S) fertilization or with low total N rates, the maize requirement for N was supplemented with ammonium nitrate (34% N)—broadcast application immediately before sowing. Potassium fertilization was carried out in early spring in the form of potassium salt K(S, Mg) in proportion 41(15, 6.5) at the rate of 66.4 kg ha⁻¹ of K, regardless of the NPS treatment.

A randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replicates was applied in the experiment. The area of an individual plot was 24.0 m^2 ($3 \times 8 \text{ m}$). The variety *Zea mays* L. "ES Zizou" was used in the experiment (Euralis Semences, Lescar, France), which is a variety of FAO 220 earliness; type of seeds: flint-dent/flint; average early vigor and "stay green" type. Maize was also a forecrop. Sowing was performed on 20 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 with 95,000 seeds per hectare. The row spacing was 0.75 m, while the stem

spacing was 0.14 m. Plant protection included the application of herbicide (mixture of terbuthylazine, S-metolachlor and mesotrione) before the emergence of the plants.

4.2. Soil and Meteorological Conditions

According to the World Reference Base for Soil Resources [73] classification system, the soil in the experiment was classified as Haplic Luvisols. The topsoil was characterized by sandy loam, and the subsoil was characterized by loam texture. The soil organic matter content in the topsoil was around 1.37%. To assess the pH and plant-available nutrient contents, soil samples were collected each year in early spring (March/April), before the application of mineral fertilizers. The soil pH at a depth of 0–0.3 m was acidic in each season. According to the Polish classification [74], the contents of plant-available P in the topsoil were high, irrespective of the year. The content of K in the first year was medium but in the second, very high. The content of Mg was very high; Ca—low; micronutrients—medium; and S—medium. The total content of N_{min} (sum of NH₄-N and NO₃-N in soil depth 0.0–0.9 m) ranged from 33.0 to 93.6 kg ha⁻¹ of N (Table 6).

	Year/Soil Depth (m)					
	2019			2020		
	0.0-0.3	0.3–0.6	0.6-0.9	0.0-0.3	0.3-0.6	0.6-0.9
pH *	5.3	5.6	5.6	5.2	5.2	5.3
$P, mg kg^{-1}$	208.6	132.2	43.8	166.0	62.4	22.0
K, mg kg $^{-1}$	138.4	166.8	120.3	229.4	73.6	69.1
Mg, mg kg $^{-1}$	104.4	120.9	105.9	150.6	129.3	107.6
Ca, mg kg $^{-1}$	719.5	1523.3	1562.0	620.0	716.2	833.2
Cu, mg kg ⁻¹	1.6	1.1	0.7	4.5	1.8	1.1
Fe, mg kg $^{-1}$	252.5	166.6	114.5	211.4	153.4	121.8
Mn, mg kg ⁻¹	45.1	49.6	43.2	85.9	34.5	61.1
Zn, mg kg ⁻¹	3.9	2.5	1.0	2.7	1.8	1.4
NH_4 -N, kg ha ⁻¹	10.9	4.1	9.0	7.2	0.6	0.9
NO_3 -N, kg ha ⁻¹	30.3	19.4	20.0	14.9	5.3	4.1
N _{min} sum, kg ha ⁻¹	41.1	23.5	29.0	22.1	5.9	5.0

Table 6. Agrochemical properties of soil prior to experiment.

* soil pH was determined in suspension of 1 M KCl; plant-available nutrients using the Melich 3 method [75] and mineral nitrogen using 0.01 M CaCl₂ [76].

The characteristics of climatic conditions were based on data from the meteorological station belonging to the Poznan University of Life Sciences Experimental Station in Brody (west Poland). The long-term (1960–2018) average yearly precipitation and temperature in the study area are about 590 mm and 8.5 °C, respectively. In 2019 and 2020, the sum of precipitation was 403 and 496, and the average temperature 12.0 and 11.9 °C. In these years, the sum of precipitation during the growing season (April–September) was 253 and 313 mm, respectively. For comparison, the sum of precipitation for the long-term period was 356 mm. Both growing seasons also differed in their rainfall distribution. In the first year, May had better conditions for maize growth than in 2020. In turn, in the second year, the weather conditions were better in June and August. However, rainfall during flowering was greater in 2019 than in 2020 (Figure 5). Mean temperature during the maize growing season was 16.5 °C in 2019 and 15.7 °C in 2020.



Figure 5. Air temperature and precipitation during 2019–2020 growing seasons of maize (in decades of the month). Key growth stages: BBCH 17—seventh leaf growth stage; BBCH 61—onset of flowering. Source: Poznan University of Life Sciences Experimental Station in Brody.

4.3. Plant Sampling and Analysis

Plant samples were collected at the following growth stages: seventh leaf (BBCH 17—coding system of growth stages, abbreviation (in German): Biologische Bundesanstalt, Bundessortenamt und CHemische Industrie; [77]); beginning of flowering (BBCH 61/62) and technological maturity (BBCH 91/92). Depending on the year (2019 and 2020), the sampling dates were as follows: 8 and 16 June, 19 and 27 July, 27 September and 6 October. In order to obtain the grain yield, maize cobs were hand harvested from an area of 5.25 m^2 (2 rows $\times 3.5 \text{ m}$). Next, the cobs were counted and threshed using the laboratory threshing machine; the moisture of seeds was also determined. The biomass of plant vegetative parts was determined by randomly sampling 5 plants from each plot, regardless of the date of sample collection. The plant samples were dried at 60 °C and ground afterward. Nitrogen contents were determined with the Kjeldahl method using a Kjeltec Auto 1031 Analyzer (Foss Tecator AB, Hoganas, Sweden). Total nitrogen uptake (TN) was calculated by summing up the amount of nitrogen accumulated in grains (GN) and in the post-harvest residues (SN).

4.4. Nitrogen Use Efficiency Indices

In order to assess the effectiveness of nitrogen (N) fertilization, the following standard indices were used [62]:

partial factor productivity of N (PFP) =
$$GY/N_f$$
 [kg seeds kg⁻¹ N_f] (6)

agronomic efficiency of N (AE) =
$$(GY - GY_0)/N_f$$
 [kg seeds kg⁻¹ N_f] (7)

partial N balance (PNB) =
$$TN/N_f [kg N kg^{-1} N_f]$$
 (8)

apparent N recovery efficiency (RE) = $(TN - TN_0)/N_f [kg TN kg^{-1} N_f]$ (9)

internal N utilization efficiency (IE) = GY/TN [kg seeds kg⁻¹ TN] (10)

physiological N efficiency (PE) = $(GY - GY_0)/(TN - TN_0)$ [kg seeds kg⁻¹ TN] (11)

where GY—grain yield (kg ha⁻¹); GY₀—grain yield in treatment without N application (kg ha⁻¹); N_f—input of N in mineral fertilizers (kg ha⁻¹); TN—total N accumulation in above-ground biomass of maize (kg ha⁻¹); TN₀—total N accumulation on control (kg ha⁻¹).

Additionally, the efficiency of N can be determined using the nitrogen gap (N_{gap}) index based on the concept proposed by Grzebisz and Łukowiak [32]. The following set of equations can be used to calculate N_{gap} :

maximum attainable yield $(GY_{max}) = cPFP \cdot N_f [kg ha^{-1}]$ (12)

grain yield gap (
$$GY_{gap}$$
) = $GY_{max} - GY_a [kg ha^{-1}]$ (13)

where cPFP is the third quartile (Q3) of the partial factor productivity (PFP) values measured for each plot with N fertilization (kg seeds kg⁻¹ N_f); N_f—input of N in mineral fertilizers (kg ha⁻¹); GY_a—grain yield on each plot in a particular growing season (kg ha⁻¹).

4.5. Dry Matter and Nitrogen Management Indices

The assessment of the impact of fertilization on the method of dry matter (DM) and N management by maize was based on the following indices [68]:

dry matter increase (DMI) = $DM_H - DM_A [g plant^{-1}]$ (15)

dry matter remobilization (DMR) = $DM_A - DM_S [g plant^{-1}]$ (16)

dry matter remobilization efficiency (DMRE) =
$$(DMR/DM_A) \times 100 [\%]$$
 (17)

contribution of DMR assimilates to grain (CDMR) = $(DMR/DM_G) \times 100 [\%]$ (18)

nitrogen increase (NI) =
$$TN_H - TN_A [g plant^{-1}]$$
 (19)

nitrogen remobilization (NR) =
$$TN_A - N_S [g plant^{-1}]$$
 (20)

nitrogen remobilization efficiency (NRE) =
$$(NR/TN_A) \times 100 [\%]$$
 (21)

contribution of remobilized N to grain (CNR) = $(NR/N_G) \times 100 [\%]$ (22)

where DM_H —total above-ground biomass (dry matter) at maturity (g plant⁻¹); DM_A —total above-ground biomass at anthesis (g plant⁻¹); DM_S —dry matter of crop residues (stems, leaves, husk, corncob) at maturity (g plant⁻¹); DM_G —dry matter of grains at maturity (g plant⁻¹); TN_H —total N content of above-ground biomass at maturity (g plant⁻¹); TN_A —total N content of above-ground biomass at anthesis (g plant⁻¹); N_S —N content of crop residues (stems, leaves, husk, corncob) at maturity (g plant⁻¹); N_G —N content of grains at maturity (g plant⁻¹).

4.6. Statistical Analysis

The effects of individual research factors (year, NP treatments) and their interactions were assessed by means of the two-way ANOVA. If the F-ratio was larger than the critical value (p < 0.05), the differences between the treatments were evaluated by using the HSD (Tukey's) test (for $\alpha = 0.05$). The distribution of the data was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test and the homogeneity of variance with the Bartlett test. Standard error of the mean (SEM) was used to indicate statistical error. Principal component analysis (PCA) was applied for evaluation of the relationships between variables. The Tukey median is surrounded by a bag containing 50% of the data points. The bagplot visualizes the location, spread, correlation, skewness and tails of data. The bagplot cover contains the inliers and outside of the "fence" are outliers [78]. In addition, the relationships between traits were analyzed using Pearson's correlation and linear regression. Statistica 13 software (TIBCO Software Inc., USA) was used for all statistical analyses [79].

5. Conclusions

The effect of nitrogen application on the maize yield and nitrogen management indices depended on the amount of mineral nitrogen in the soil, nitrogen doses and the method

of its application. The most effective use of nitrogen by corn was ensured by the use of ammonium phosphate and ammonium sulphate during the sowing of corn seeds (band application). From the point of view of NUE indices, the optimal dose of N was 60 kg ha⁻¹. With broadcast fertilization and/or a further increase in the N dose, without the simultaneous use of P and S, the values of NUE indices deteriorated, especially in the year with the highest content of N_{min} in the soil. Thus, a positive effect of the interaction of N and P(S) was confirmed in the conditions of soil rich in plant-available phosphorus.

Band application had a particularly positive effect on total N accumulation, nitrogen harvest index and internal N utilization efficiency. These parameters were closely related to the grain yield. For diagnostic purposes, the accumulation of N in the above-ground part of maize at the sixth–seventh leaf stage was important.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/plants11131660/s1, Figure S1. Maize grain yield (GY), crop residues biomass (SDM) and total dry matter (TDM) depending on the year and fertilization treatments; Table S1. Maize yield components depending on the year and fertilization treatments; Table S2. Nitrogen concentration in dry matter (DM); accumulation of N in particular plant organs and total N accumulation by maize depending on the year and fertilization treatment; Table S3. Correlation matrix loadings and variance of the significant principal components (PCs) for grain yield of maize and nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) indices (n = 26); Table S4. Pearson correlation matrix between maize grain yield (GY), crop residues dry matter and nitrogen management indices depending on fertilization treatment; Table S6. Correlation matrix loadings and variance of the significant principal components (PCs) for grain yield components (PCs) for grain yield of maize and nitrogen use indices (n = 26); Table S5. Dry matter and nitrogen management indices depending on fertilization treatment; Table S6. Correlation matrix loadings and variance of the significant principal components (PCs) for grain yield of maize and dry matter and nitrogen management indices (n = 26); Table S7. Pearson correlation matrix between maize grain yield (GY), crop residues dry matter (SDM), total nitrogen accumulation (TN) and nitrogen accumulation (TN) and nitrogen accumulation (TN) and nitrogen accumulation (TN) and nitrogen content at early growth stages and N remobilization and contribution to grain (n = 26).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.B.; methodology, P.B., R.Ł. and L.H.; validation, P.B.; formal analysis, P.B. and R.Ł.; investigation, P.B. and R.Ł.; resources, P.B. and R.Ł.; data curation, R.Ł.; writing—original draft preparation, P.B., R.Ł. and L.H; writing—review and editing, P.B. and R.Ł.; visualization, R.Ł.; project administration, P.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data sharing not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The publication was co-financed within the framework of Ministry of Science and Higher Education programme as "Regional Initiative Excellence" in years 2019-2022, Project No. 005/RID/2018/19. The authors would like to thank Roman Błaszyk from Phosagro Poland for ammonium phosphate supplies and financial support for field research. The authors would like to thank the editor and reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions, which substantially improved the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. FAOStat–Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Statistics. Rome, Italy. 2022. Available online: http://www.fao.org/faostat (accessed on 18 March 2022).
- Erenstein, O.; Chamberlin, J.; Sonder, K. Estimating the global number and distribution of maize and wheat farms. *Glob. Food Secur.* 2021, 30, 100558. [CrossRef]
- GUS–Główny Urząd Statystyczny/Statistics Poland. Statistical Yearbook of the Republic of Poland. Warsaw 2021, Poland. Available online: https://stat.gov.pl/en/topics/agriculture-forestry/agriculture/agriculture-in-2020,4,17.html (accessed on 18 March 2022).
- 4. COBORU Maize. Results of Experiments Conducted in 2020; COBO 61/2020 n. 300; Research Centre for Cultivar Testing: Slupia Wielka, Poland, 2020. (In Polish)
- 5. Subedi, K.D.; Ma, B.L. Nitrogen uptake and partitioning in stay-green and leafy maize hybrids. *Crop Sci.* 2005, 45, 740–747. [CrossRef]
- 6. Su, W.; Ahmad, S.; Ahmad, I.; Han, Q. Nitrogen fertilization affects maize grain yield through regulating nitrogen uptake, radiation and water use efficiency, photosynthesis and root distribution. *PeerJ* **2020**, *8*, e10291. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cassman, K.G.; Dobermann, A.; Walters, D.T. Agroecosystems, nitrogen-use, and nitrogen management. AMBIO 2002, 31, 132–140. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Delgado, J.A.; Shaffer, M.; Hu, C.; Lavado, R.; Cueto-Wong, J.; Joosse, P.; Sotomayer, D.; Colon, W.; Follett, R.; DelGrosso, S. An index approach to assess nitrogen losses to the environment. *Ecol. Eng.* **2008**, *32*, 108–120. [CrossRef]
- 9. Fowler, D.; Coyle, M.; Skiba, U.; Sutton, M.A.; Cape, J.N.; Reis, S.; Sheppard, L.J.; Jenkins, A.; Grizzetti, B.; Galloway, J.N.; et al. The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **2013**, *368*, 20130164. [CrossRef]
- 10. Simons, M.; Saha, R.; Guillard, L.; Clément, G.; Armengaud, P.; Cañas, R.; Maranas, C.D.; Lea, P.J.; Hirel, B. Nitrogen-use efficiency in maize (Zea mays L.): From 'omics' studies to metabolic modelling. J. Exp. Bot. 2014, 65, 5657–5671. [CrossRef]
- 11. Abede, Z.; Feyisa, H. Effects of nitrogen rates and time of application on yield of maize: Rainfall variability influenced time of N application. *Int. J. Agron.* 2017, *3*, 5657–5671.
- 12. Davies, B.; Coulter, J.A.; Pagliari, P.H. Timing and rate of nitrogen fertilization influence maize yield and nitrogen use efficiency. *PLoS ONE* **2020**, *15*, e0233674. [CrossRef]
- 13. Grant, C.A.; Flaten, D.N.; Tomasiewicz, D.J.; Sheppard, S.C. The importance of early season phosphorus nutrition. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 2001, *81*, 211–224. [CrossRef]
- 14. Szulc, P.; Ambroży-Deręgowska, K.; Waligóra, H.; Mejza, I.; Grześ, S.; Zielewicz, W.; Wróbel, B. Dry Matter Yield of Maize (Zea mays L.) as an Indicator of Mineral Fertilizer Efficiency. *Plants* **2021**, *10*, 535. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Alam, M.K.; Bell, R.W.; Salahin, N.; Pathan, S.; Mondol, A.T.M.A.I.; Alam, M.J.; Rashid, M.H.; Paul, P.L.C.; Hossain, M.I.; Shil, N.C. Banding of Fertilizer Improves Phosphorus Acquisition and Yield of Zero Tillage Maize by Concentrating Phosphorus in Surface Soil. Sustainability 2018, 10, 3234. [CrossRef]
- 16. Zhang, M.; Nyborg, M.; Malhi, S.S.; Solberg, E.D. Localized root growth in soil induced by controlled-release urea granule and barley nitrogen uptake. *J. Plant Nutr.* 2000, 23, 413–422. [CrossRef]
- 17. Ma, Q.; Tang, H.; Rengel, Z.; Shen, J. Banding phosphorus and ammonium enhances nutrient uptake by maize via modifying root spatial distribution. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 2013, *64*, 965–975. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Z.; Wang, H.; Liu, X.; Liu, Y.; Gao, S.; Zhou, J. The Effect of N Fertilizer Placement on the Fate of Urea-15N and Yield of Winter Wheat in Southeast China. *PLoS ONE*. 2016, *11*, e0153701. [CrossRef]
- Szulc, P.; Barłóg, P.; Ambroży-Deręgowska, K.; Mejza, I.; Kobus-Cisowska, J. In-Soil Application of NP Mineral Fertilizer as a Method of Improving Nitrogen Yielding Efficiency. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 1488. [CrossRef]
- Nkebiwe, P.M.; Weinmann, M.; Bar-Tal, A.; Müller, T. Fertilizer placement to improve crop nutrient acquisition and yield: A review and meta-analysis. *Field Crop. Res.* 2016, 196, 389–401. [CrossRef]
- 21. Weligama, C.; Tang, C.; Sale, P.W.G.; Conyers, M.K.; Liu, D.L. Localised nitrate and phosphate application enhances root proliferation by wheat and maximises rhizosphere alkalisation in acid subsoil. *Plant Soil* **2008**, *312*, 101–115. [CrossRef]
- Szulc, P.; Barłóg, P.; Ambroży-Deręgowska, K.; Mejza, I.; Kobus-Cisowska, J.; Ligaj, M. Effect of phosphorus application technique on effectiveness indices of its use in maize cultivation. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2020, 66, 500–505. [CrossRef]
- Weiß, T.M.; Leiser, W.L.; Reineke, A.J.; Li, D.; Liu, W.; Hahn, V. Optimizing the P balance: How do modern maize hybrids react to different starter fertilizers? *PLoS ONE*. 2021, *16*, e0250496. [CrossRef]
- 24. Fan, M.X.; MacKenzie, A.F. The toxicity of banded urea to corn growth and yield as influenced by triple superphosphate. *Can. J. Soil. Sci.* **1995**, *75*, 117–122. [CrossRef]
- 25. Hinsinger, P.; Gilkes, R.J. Mobilization of phosphate from phosphate rock and alumina–sorbed phosphate by the roots of ryegrass and clover as related to rhizosphere pH. Eur. J. Soil Sci. **1996**, *47*, 533–544. [CrossRef]
- Gómez-Suárez, A.D.; Nobile, C.; Faucon, M.-P.; Pourret, O.; Houben, D. Fertilizer Potential of Struvite as Affected by Nitrogen Form in the Rhizosphere. Sustainability 2020, 12, 2212. [CrossRef]
- 27. Bordoli, J.M.; Mallarino, A.P. Deep and Shallow Banding of Phosphorus and Potassium as Alternatives to Broadcast Fertilization for No-Till Corn. *Agron. J.* **1998**, *90*, 27–33. [CrossRef]
- Goos, R.J.; Johnson, B.E. Response of spring wheat to phosphorus and sulphur starter fertilizers of differing acidification potential. J. Agric. Sci. 2001, 136, 283–289. [CrossRef]
- 29. Yossif, A.M.; Gezign, S. Influence of Mono-ammonium and Di-ammonium Phosphate on Phosphorus Use Efficiency of Maize and Bread Wheat Plants. *Selcuk. J. Agric. Food Sci.* **2019**, *33*, 99–105. [CrossRef]
- 30. Kovar, J.L. Maize Response to Sulfur Fertilizer in Three Iowa Soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 2021, 52, 905–915. [CrossRef]
- Folina, A.; Tataridas, A.; Mavroeidis, A.; Kousta, A.; Katsenios, N.; Efthimiadou, A.; Travlos, I.S.; Roussis, I.; Darawsheh, M.K.; Papastylianou, P.; et al. Evaluation of Various Nitrogen Indices in N-Fertilizers with Inhibitors in Field Crops: A Review. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 418. [CrossRef]
- 32. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Nitrogen Gap Amelioration is a Core for Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture—A Concept. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 419. [CrossRef]

- 33. Ray, K.; Banerjee, H.; Dutta, S.; Sarkar, S.; Murrell, T.S.; Singh, V.; Majumdar, K. Macronutrient Management Effects on Nutrient Accumulation, Partitioning, Remobilization, and Yield of Hybrid Maize Cultivars. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2020, *11*, 1307. [CrossRef]
- 34. Pampana, S.; Ercoli, L.; Masoni, A.; Arduini, I. Remobilization of Dry Matter and Nitrogen in Maize as Affected by Hybrid Maturity Class. *Ital. J. Agron.* **2009**, *2*, 39–46. [CrossRef]
- FAO–Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Irrigation Water Management: Irrigation Water Needs. Training manual no. 3 Rome, Italy. 1986. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/s2022e/s2022e00.htm#Contents (accessed on 18 March 2022).
- Ceglar, A.; Chukaliev, O.; Duvellier, G.; Niemeyer, S. Water requirements for maize production in Europe under changing climate conditions. In Proceedings of the Impacts World 2013, International Conference on Climate Change Effects, Potsdam, Germany, 27–30 May 2013.
- Mi, N.; Cai, F.; Zhang, Y.S.; Ji, R.P.; Zhang, S.J.; Wang, Y. Differential responses of maize yield to drought at vegetative and reproductive stages. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2018, 64, 260–267.
- 38. Çakir, R. Effect of water stress at different development stages on vegetative and reproductive growth of corn. *Field Crops Res.* **2004**, *89*, 1–16. [CrossRef]
- Mamo, M.; Malzer, G.L.; Mulla, D.J.; Huggins, D.R.; Strock, J. Spatial and Temporal Variation in Economically Optimum Nitrogen Rate for Corn. Agron. J. 2003, 95, 958–964. [CrossRef]
- 40. Feng, G.Z.; Zhang, Y.J.; Chen, Y.L.; Li, Q.; Chen, F.J.; Gao, Q.; Mi, G.H. Effects of nitrogen application on root length and grain yield of rain-fed maize under different soil types. *Agron. J.* 2006, *108*, 1656–1665. [CrossRef]
- Cheetham, H.; Millner, J.; Hardacre, A.K. Effect of nitrogen fertilisation on maize grain quality and yield. Agron. Soc. N. Z. 2006, 36, 71–84.
- 42. Sharma, R.; Adhikari, P.; Shrestha, J.; Acharya, B.P. Response of maize (Zea mays L.) hybrids to different levels of nitrogen. *Arch. Agric. Environ. Sci.* **2019**, *4*, 295–299. [CrossRef]
- Adhikari, K.; Bhandari, S.; Aryal, K.; Mahato, M.; Shrestha, J. Effect of different levels of nitrogen on growth and yield of hybrid maize (Zea mays L.) varieties. J. Agric. Nat. Res. 2021, 4, 48–62. [CrossRef]
- 44. Dhakal, K.; Baral, B.R.; Pokhrel, K.R.; Pandit, N.R.; Gaihre, Y.K.; Vista, S.P. Optimizing N Fertilization for Increasing Yield and Profits of Rainfed Maize Grown under Sandy Loam Soil. *Nitrogen* **2021**, *2*, 25. [CrossRef]
- Wang, X.; Miao, Y.; Dong, R.; Chen, Z.; Kusnierek, K.; Mi, G.; Mulla, D.J. Economic Optimal Nitrogen Rate Variability of Maize in Response to Soil and Weather Conditions: Implications for Site-Specific Nitrogen Management. *Agronomy* 2020, *10*, 1237. [CrossRef]
- 46. Ahmad, S.; Khan, A.A.; Kamran, M.; Ahmad, I.; Ali, S.; Fahad, S. Response of Maize Cultivars to Various Nitrogen Levels. *Eur. Exp. Biol.* **2018**, *8*, 1237. [CrossRef]
- Khan, F.; Khan, S.; Fahad, S.; Faisal, S.; Hussain, S.; Ali, S.; Ali, A. Effect of Different Levels of Nitrogen and Phosphorus on the Phenology and Yield of Maize Varieties. Am. J. Plant Sci. 2014, 5, 2582–2590. [CrossRef]
- 48. Barłóg, P.; Frackowiak-Pawlak, K. Influence of mineral fertilization on yield of maize cultivars differing in maturity scale. *Acta Sci. Pol. Agric.* 2008, 7, 5–17.
- Neumann, G.; Römheld, V. Rhizosphere chemistry in relation to plant nutrition. In *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants*, 3rd ed.; Marschner, P., Ed.; Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2012; pp. 347–360.
- 50. Nieder, R.; Benbi, D.K.; Scherer, H.W. Fixation and defixation of ammonium in soils: A review. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 2010, 47, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 51. Zhang, H.; Schroder, J.L.; Fuhrman, J.K.; Basta, N.T.; Storm, D.E.; Payton, M.E. Path and multiple regression analyses of phosphorus sorption capacity. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 2005, *69*, 96–106. [CrossRef]
- 52. Barrow, N.J. The effects of pH on phosphate uptake from the soil. *Plant Soil.* 2017, 410, 401–410. [CrossRef]
- Anghinoni, I.; Barber, S.A. Predicting the effect of ammonium placement on nitrogen uptake by corn. *Agron. J.* 1990, 82, 135–138. [CrossRef]
- Jing, J.; Zhang, F.; Rengel, Z.; Shen, J. Localized fertilization with P plus N elicits an ammonium-dependent enhancement of maize root growth and nutrient uptake. *Field Crop. Res.* 2012, 133, 176–185. [CrossRef]
- Tenorio, F.A.M.; Eagle, A.J.; McLellan, E.L.; Cassman, K.G.; Howard, R.; Below, F.E.; Grassini, P. Assessing variation in maize grain nitrogen concentration and its implications for estimating nitrogen balance in the US North Central region. *Field Crops Res.* 2019, 240, 185–193. [CrossRef]
- 56. Zörb, C.; Senbayram, M.; Peiter, E. Potassium in agriculture-status and perspectives. J. Plant Physiol. 2014, 171, 656–669. [CrossRef]
- 57. Ciampitti, I.A.; Camberato, J.J.; Murrell, S.T.; Vyn, T.J. Maize Nutrient Accumulation and Partitioning in Response to Plant Density and Nitrogen Rate: I. Macronutrients. *Agron. J.* **2013**, *105*, 783–795. [CrossRef]
- Fixen, P.; Brentrup, F.; Bruulsema, T.; Garcia, F.; Norton, R.; Zingore, S. Nutrient/fertilizer use efficiency: Measurement, current situation and trends. In *Managing Water and Fertilizer for Sustainable Agricultural Intensification*; Drechsel, P., Heffer, P., Magen, H., Mikkelsen, R., Wichelns, D., Eds.; IFA: Paris, France, 2015; pp. 8–38.
- 59. Nduwimana, D. Optimizing Nitrogen Use Efficiency and Maize Yield under Varying Fertilizer Doses in Kenya. *Int. J. Bioresour. Sci.* 2020, *7*, 63–73.
- Wang, X.; Wang, G.; Turner, N.C.; Tao, G. Determining optimal mulching, planting density, and nitrogen application to increase maize grain yield and nitrogen translocation efficiency in Northwest China. BMC Plant Biol. 2020, 20, 282. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Huang, S.; Yang, W.; Ding, W.; Jia, L.; Jiang, L.; Liu, Y.; Xu, X.; Yang, Y.; He, P.; Yang, J. Estimation of Nitrogen Supply for Summer Maize Production through a Long-Term Field Trial in China. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 1358. [CrossRef]
- 62. Congreves, K.A.; Otchere, O.; Ferland, D.; Farzadfar, S.; Williams, S.; Arcand, M.M. Nitrogen Use Efficiency Definitions of Today and Tomorrow. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2021, *12*, 637108. [CrossRef]
- Kuneski, H.F.; Sangoi, L.; Coelho, A.E.; Santini Leolato, L.; Cardoso Martins Junior, M.; de Liz Oliveira, V.; Scherer, R.L. Sowing date and maize response to the splitting of nitrogen side-dressing fertilization. *Agron. Colomb.* 2020, 38, 316–324. [CrossRef]
- 64. Ciampitti, I.A.; Vyn, T.J. A comprehensive study of plant density consequences on nitrogen uptake dynamics of maize plants from vegetative to reproductive stages. *Field Crop Res.* **2011**, *121*, 2–18. [CrossRef]
- 65. Bergmann, W. Nutritional Disorders of Plants: Visual and Analytical Diagnosis; Gustav Fischer Verlag: Jena, Germany, 1992.
- Liu, Y.; von Wirén, N. Ammonium as a signal for physiological and morphological responses in plants. J. Exp. Bot. 2017, 68, 2581–2592. [CrossRef]
- 67. Niu, Y.F.; Chai, R.S.; Jin, G.L.; Wang, H.; Tang, C.X.; Zhang, Y.S. Responses of root architecture development to low phosphorus availability: A review. *Ann. Bot.* **2013**, *112*, 391–408. [CrossRef]
- 68. Masoni, A.; Ercoli, L.; Mariotti, M.; Arduini, I. Post-anthesis accumulation and remobilization of dry matter, nitrogen and phosphorus in durum wheat as affected by soil type. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2007, *26*, 179–186. [CrossRef]
- 69. Masclaux-Daubresse, C.; Reisdorf-Cren, M.; Orsel, M. Leaf nitrogen emobilisation for plant development and grain filling. *Plant Biol.* 2008, 10, 23–36. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 70. Asibi, A.E.; Chai, Q.; Coulter, J.A. Mechanisms of Nitrogen Use in Maize. Agronomy 2019, 9, 775. [CrossRef]
- Paponov, I.A.; Engels, C. Effect of nitrogen supply on carbon and nitrogen partitioning after flowering in maize. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2005, 168, 447–453. [CrossRef]
- 72. Racjan, I.; Tollenaar, M. Source-sink ratio and leaf senescence in maize II. Nitrogen metabolism during grain filling. *Field Crop Res.* **1999**, *60*, 255–265.
- 73. WRB. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014. In Word soil Resources Reports, 106. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy. 2015. Available online: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3794e.pdf (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- 74. Kesik, K.; Jadczyszyn, T.; Lipiński, W.; Jurga, B. Adaptation of the Mehlich 3 procedure for routine determination of phosphorus, potassium and magnesium in soil. *Przemysł Chem.* **2015**, *94*, 973–976. (In Polish)
- 75. Mehlich, A. Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **1984**, *15*, 1409–1416. [CrossRef]
- Houba, V.J.G.; Temminghoff, E.J.M.; Gaikhorst, G.A.; van Vark, W. Soil analysis procedures using 0.01 M calcium chloride as extraction reagents. *Commun. Soil Sci Plant Anal.* 2000, 31, 1299–1396. [CrossRef]
- Meier, M.; Liu, Y.; Lay-Pruitt, K.S.; Takahashi, H.; von Wire 'n, N. Auxin-mediated root branching is determined by the form of available nitrogen. Nat. Plants 2020, 6, 1136–1145. [CrossRef]
- 78. Rousseeuw, J.; Ruts, I.; Tukey, J.W. The Bagplot: A bivariate Boxplot. Am. Stat. 1999, 53, 382–387. [CrossRef]
- 79. TIBCO Software Inc. Data Science Textbook. 2020. Available online: https://docs.tibco.com/data-science/textbook (accessed on 7 March 2021).





Fengmin Shen[†], Changwei Zhu[†], Guiying Jiang^{*}, Jin Yang, Xuanlin Zhu, Shiji Wang, Renzhuo Wang, Fang Liu, Xiaolei Jie and Shiliang Liu^{*}

College of Resources and Environmental Sciences, Henan Agricultural University, Zhengzhou 450002, China * Correspondence: jgy9090@126.com (G.J.); slliu70@163.com (S.L.); Tel.: +86-0371-68555200 (G.J.);

+ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Nitrogen is a vital element for soil fertility and crop productivity. The transformation of nitrogen is directly affected by tillage practices for the disturbing soil. The characteristics of different nitrogen forms under different tillage modes are still unclear. A 3-year cycle tillage experiment was carried out to assess the combination of rotary tillage (RT), deep tillage (DT), and shallow rotary tillage (SRT) on nitrogen transformation and distribution, wheat yield and nitrogen balance in fluvo-aquic soil from Huang-Huai-Hai Plain in China. The results showed the rotation tillage cycle with deep tillage in the first year increased the total nitrogen (TN), and the main nitrogen form content in 0–30 cm compared with continued rotary tillage (RT-RT-RT). Moreover, the nitrate ($NO_3^{-}-N$) and ammonium nitrogen (NH4⁺-N) content were improved in 20-40 cm by deep tillage practice with the highest value as 39.88 mg kg $^{-1}$ under DT-SRT-RT. The time, tillage, and depth significantly affected the different nitrogen forms, but there was no effect on dissolved organic carbon (DON) and soil microbial biomass nitrogen (SMBN) by the interaction of time and tillage. Moreover, compared with RT-RT-RT, the rotation tillage promoted the spike number and kernels per spike of wheat, further increasing the wheat yield and nitrogen partial productivity, and with a better effect under DT-SRT-RT. The NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N trended closer and positively correlated with wheat yield in 0–40 cm in 2019. The rotation tillage with deep tillage improved the different forms of nitrogen in 0–30 cm, wheat yield, and nitrogen partial productivity, and decreased the apparent nitrogen loss. It was suggested as the efficiency tillage practice to improve nitrogen use efficiency and crop yield in this area.

Keywords: rotation tillage; fluvo-aquic soil; wheat-maize system; nitrogen forms; nitrogen distribution

1. Introduction

Nitrogen is the necessary element for the plant, which directly decides the crop yield [1]. The nitrogen transformation is affected by various factors, such as tillage, irrigation, fertilization, and so on. Tillage practice is a common agricultural practice to directly disturb and change the soil's physical properties, further affecting soil nutrient conversion and crop productivity [2]. The disturbance degree on soil varies from different tillage methods. Therefore, the effect of different tillage practices on soil physicochemical properties from different depths is different. Moreover, the tillage not only affects the change in soil nitrogen content, but also affects the profile distribution of soil nitrogen due to the downward shift of nitrogen and the effect of crop roots and may therefore influence crop yield and quality [3,4].

Soil nitrogen exists as organic components, its transformation in the soil is essentially associated with the interconversion of inorganic forms such as ammonium (NH₄⁺-N), nitrate (NO₃⁻-N), and organic components [5], and is regulated by interactive processes of production and consumption [6]. The transformation process is driven by soil microorganisms. Soil microbial biomass nitrogen (SMBN) and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON)

Citation: Shen, F.; Zhu, C.; Jiang, G.; Yang, J.; Zhu, X.; Wang, S.; Wang, R.; Liu, F.; Jie, X.; Liu, S. Differentiation in Nitrogen Transformations and Crop Yield as Affected by Tillage Modes in a Fluvo-Aquic Soil. *Plants* **2023**, *12*, 783. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants12040783

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 30 December 2022 Revised: 28 January 2023 Accepted: 7 February 2023 Published: 9 February 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

^{+86-0371-68555200 (}S.L.)

are important labile soil organic nitrogen (SON) fractions, which are considered actively involved in N mineralization and are potentially more sensitive indicators for agricultural management [7,8]. Although DON only accounts for 0.15-0.19% of soil TN, it is one of the relatively active components of the soil organic nitrogen pool and has important effects on nitrogen transformation and the environment. DON also represents a source of energy and nutrients for microbial growth and activity [9]. Tillage practice directly affects this process by changing the soil microenvironment, such as soil structure, and regulating the soil temperature and moisture, further mediating soil microorganism community and structure, and finally determining the nitrogen transformation. Studies have shown that conservation tillage usually increased soil N content compared to conventional tillage [2,3,10–12], but long-term no-till and reduced tillage produce nutrient accumulation and N mineralization in the soil surface [13], and may also cause topsoil compaction [14], leading to a reduction in the air-filled pore space [15,16], which may decrease the root absorption of soil nutrients and water [17]. Minimum tillage, often in combination with other practices, has been promoted to improve soil health through enhanced microbial activity and increased soil organic matter (SOM) in the surface layer [18–20]. long-term no-till management is a benefit for soil N stocks, N mineralization, and efficient fertilizer N use in corn-based cropping systems on well-drained soils. A meta-analysis by Mahal et al. [21] found that no-till increased potentially mineralizable N relative to moldboard plowing. Tillage can increase rates of soil C and N mineralization by disrupting aggregates and incorporating residue. Yuan et al. [6] found that no-tillage combined with maize straw mulching could simultaneously maintain the retention and availability of soil N to achieve effective N cycling in agroecosystems. Meanwhile, nutrients concentrated near the surface of no-till soils may increase the possibility of loss via erosion, runoff, and volatilization. Nutrient stratification may also reduce the availability and uptake of nutrients by crops.

In contrast, deep tillage can loosen the soil and promote crop roots grow and absorb more soil nutrients, but it may increase the loss of soil nitrogen and other nutrients, and accelerate soil erosion, cause serious environmental pollution and soil degradation thereby affecting ecosystem functions in the field [22,23]. Therefore, rotational tillage with the combination of different tillage practices was suggested to dismiss the disadvantage of long-term mono-conventional tillage [24]. Rotation tillage techniques that reasonably combined different tillage measures can effectively counteract some defects caused by mono-tillage practices [25–27]. In recent years, periodic disturbance of continuous NT systems in the form of occasional tillage, one-time tillage, strategic tillage, targeted tillage, single inversion tillage, one cycle of tillage, etc., has been promoted as a potential strategy to address the challenges of long-term NT management [28–31].

Huang-Huai-Hai Plain is the main agricultural region in China, with mainly wheat and maize double cropping systems. The long-term mono-rotary tillage with soil disturbance depth of around 15 cm in this area leads to a shallow plow layer and thick plow bottom, leading to the uncoordinated supply of soil water, fertilizer, gas, and heat, restricts the extension of crop roots, and impedes the increase in crop yields. Thus, optimum tillage practices are essential for crop production in this area. Therefore, the objectives of this study are (i) to clarify the differentiation in nitrogen transformation and distribution by the different tillage modes (ii) to assess the effect of different tillage modes on crop yield, nitrogen use efficiency, and nitrogen balance (iii) to select the optimum tillage mode according to the above results.

2. Results

2.1. Distribution of Soil Total Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

The total nitrogen content (TN) decreased with soil depth under all tillage treatments during 2017–2019 (Figure 1). The tillage affects the TN in the 0–40 cm soil layer in 2017 and the effect decreased within 0–30 cm in 2018 and 2019. TN content was no different in 0–10 cm and 40–50 cm in 2017 among the treatments, while it was significantly higher under the treatments with deep tillage combination in 20–40 cm than that under RT-RT.

During 2018 and 2019, the deep tillage increased TN content in 0–30 cm soil layer compared with RT-RT-RT, with the higher one under DT-SRT-SRT and DT-SRT-RT as 1.14 g kg^{-1} and 1.13 g kg^{-1} , respectively, in 2018.



Figure 1. Soil total nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).

2.2. Distribution of Soil Alkaline Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

Similar to TN, the alkaline nitrogen content (AN) under all treatments was decreased with the increase in soil depth during 2017–2019 (Figure 2). Compared with RT-RT-RT, the AN was affected by treatments with deep tillage in 0–40 cm in the first year (2017), and the effect decreased within 0–30 cm during the following two years. During the three-year experiment, the AN content was increased under the treatments with deep tillage compared with that under RT-RT-RT. While among the treatments with deep tillage, AN content did not demonstrate a significantly different or clear trend. It indicated that the effect of deep tillage was bigger than the combined other two tillage modes.



Figure 2. Soil alkaline nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).

2.3. Distribution of Soil Nitrate Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

The nitrate nitrogen (NO₃⁻-N) content under all treatments was decreased with the increase in the soil depths, and the effect of tillage on NO₃⁻-N in 0–40 cm during 2017–2019 (Figure 3). In the first year, the NO₃⁻-N content in 0–20 cm soil layer under RT-RT-RT did not differ from that under the treatments with deep tillage, while, which was lower under RT-RT-RT in 0–40 cm during the following two years. Meanwhile, the NO₃⁻-N content in 30–40 cm soil layer under treatment with deep tillage increased with time, the NO₃⁻-N content under DT-SRT-SRT treatments was significantly higher than that under RT-RT-RT treatments, the highest increase was 35.12% in 2018. In 2019, the NO₃⁻-N content in the 0–40 cm soil layer was significantly increased under DT-SRT-RT with the highest value of 39.88 mg kg⁻¹. This indicated that the deep tillage accelerated the NO₃⁻-N leaching into the deeper soil layer.



Figure 3. Soil nitrate nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).

2.4. Distribution of Soil Ammonium Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

The ammonium nitrogen (NH₄⁺-N) content under all treatments decreased with the increasing soil depths, and it slightly increased with time. The effect of tillage on NH₄⁺-N in 0–40 cm during 2017–2019 (Figure 4). Similar to NO₃⁻-N, the NH₄⁺-N content in 0–20 cm soil layer under RT-RT-RT did not differ from that under the treatments with deep tillage, while it was lower under RT-RT-RT in 0–40 cm during the following two years. Meanwhile, the NH₄⁺-N content in 0–30 cm soil layer under treatment with deep tillage significantly increased with time, the NH₄⁺-N content under DT-SRT-SRT treatments was significantly higher than that under RT-RT-RT treatments, the highest increase was 35.12% in 2018. In 2019, the NH₄⁺-N content in the 0–40 cm soil layer was significantly higher under RT-RT-RT with the highest value of 23.82 mg kg⁻¹ in the 0–10 cm soil layer.

2.5. Distribution of Soil Dissolved Organic Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

The soil dissolved organic nitrogen content (DON) under all treatments decreased first and then slightly increased with time. The major change happened in the 10–30 cm soil layer (Figure 5). The DOC content did not differ from all treatments in 0–10 cm in 2017, but it decreased under RT-RT-RT in the following two years. The DOC was no different in the 40–50 cm soil layer in 2017 and 2018, while it was in the 30–50 cm soil layer in 2019. It indicated that the effect of deep tillage decreased in the third year. Although the

DON, generally, was no different among the treatments with deep tillage, the DON under DT-SRT-SRT and DT-SRT-RT was significantly higher than that under RT-RT-RT in 0–30 cm in 2018 and 2019, with the highest value of 23.37 and 25.49 mg kg⁻¹ under DT-SRT-SRT in the 0–10 cm soil layer.



Figure 4. Soil ammonium nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).



Figure 5. Soil dissolved organic nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).

2.6. Distribution of Soil Microbial Biomass Nitrogen under Different Tillage Modes

The microbial biomass nitrogen content (SMBN) under all treatments decreased with soil depth increasing during 2017–2019 (Figure 6). Although the SMBN slightly fluctuated during the three years, it increased under the treatments with deep tillage compared with DT-SRT-RT in the 0–40 cm soil layer in 2017 and 2019, and in 0–30 cm in 2018. Generally, SMBN did not differ from the treatments with deep tillage in all the depths and years. The SMBN was significantly higher under DT-RT-SRT than under RT-RT-RT in the three-year experiment, with the highest values of 61.06, 63.03, and 63.26 mg kg⁻¹ in 0–10 cm in the three years.



Figure 6. Soil microbial biomass nitrogen content in different soil layers under different treatments. Note: Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between different treatments at the same soil layer ($p \le 0.05$).

2.7. The Three-Factor Analysis with Time, Tillage, and Soil Depth on Nitrogen Forms

The multivariate analysis demonstrated that all nitrogen forms were affected by tillage time (year), tillage modes, and soil sample depth, respectively (Table 1). Therein, the effect of soil depth was the most important factor in the different nitrogen forms. All the nitrogen forms were affected by the interaction of tillage time and sample depth, tillage mode, and sample depth. However, there was no interaction effect on DOC and SMBN by tillage time and tillage mode.

Source of Variation	d.f.	TN	AN	DON	SMBN	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO_3^N
Time	2	15.2 **	89.73 **	237.79 **	34.77 **	127.87 **	290.33 **
Tillage	4	4.95 **	20.06 **	22.43 **	28.93 **	6.63 **	21.82 **
Depth	4	2340.33 **	6672.79 **	1218 **	11,731.24 **	6196.85 **	13,686.67 **
Time × Tillage	8	2.84 **	4.93 **	1.86 NS	1.08 NS	7.86 **	10.48 **
Time \times Depth	8	8.7 **	37.96 **	152.92 **	18.12 **	10.06 **	35.38 **
Tillage \times Depth	16	1.76 *	3.06 **	3.33 **	2.18 **	2.94 **	1.92 *
Time \times Tillage \times Depth	32	1.65 *	1.39 NS	1.85 **	2.15 **	3.01 **	3.01 **

Table 1. The three-factor analysis with time, tillage, and soil depth on different nitrogen forms.

The source of variation: "Time" means the tillage duration (year); "Tillage" means the five tillage modes; "Depth" means the five sample depths. * represented $p \le 0.05$; ** represented $p \le 0.01$; NS represented p > 0.05.

2.8. Wheat Yield, Yield Component, and Fertilizer Partial Productivity

The wheat yield, yield components, and nitrogen partial productivity changed over different years (Table 2). In the first year (2017), the spike number and thousand kernel weight did not differ from treatments, the difference in yield was driven by kernels per spike. The higher wheat yield was found under RT-RT-RT and DT-RT-RT with 6717 and 6383 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. In 2018 and 2019, generally, the wheat yield and yield component all showed higher under the treatments with deep tillage compared with RT-RT-RT. The highest wheat yield was under DT-SRT-RT in 2018 and 2019 with 6346 and 6557 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. The N partial productivity demonstrated a similar trend with wheat yield, with a higher value of 28.98 and 29.94 kg kg⁻¹ in 2018 and 2019, respectively.

2.9. The Nitrogen Balance under Different Treatments

The nitrogen balance was calculated in 2019 (Table 3). Although the initial inorganic nitrogen under RT-RT-RT was the lowest one in all the treatments, the nitrogen absorbed

by the crop was also the lowest one. The apparent nitrogen loss was the highest one with 46.11 kg ha⁻¹. This indicated that the rotation tillage modes helped to decrease the apparent nitrogen loss, and increase the nitrogen use efficiency.

Table 2. Wheat yield, yield components, and fertilizer partial productivity.

Year	Treatment	Spike Number (×10 ⁴ ha ⁻¹)	Kernels Per Spike (No.)	Thousand Kernel Weight (g)	Yield (kg·ha $^{-1}$)	N Partial Productivity
	RT-RT-RT	634.80 ± 29.55 a	$29.53\pm3.11~\mathrm{a}$	$50.53\pm2.41~\mathrm{a}$	$6717\pm103~\mathrm{a}$	$30.67\pm0.47~\mathrm{a}$
	DT-RT-RT	602.25 ± 26.25 a	28.83 ± 2.50 a	51.21 ± 1.20 a	$6383\pm208~\mathrm{ab}$	$29.15\pm0.95~\mathrm{ab}$
2017	DT-RT-SRT	586.35 ± 22.95 a	$23.47\pm3.06b$	$49.68\pm1.37~\mathrm{a}$	$5967\pm148~{\rm c}$	$27.25\pm0.68~\mathrm{c}$
	DT-SRT-SRT	$600.75 \pm 19.20 \text{ a}$	$24.77\pm2.67~\mathrm{ab}$	$48.39\pm0.94~\mathrm{a}$	$6163\pm191~{ m bc}$	$28.14\pm0.87\mathrm{bc}$
	DT-SRT-RT	598.50 ± 23.70 a	$26.17\pm2.04~ab$	$49.21\pm1.60~\text{a}$	$6252\pm277~{ m bc}$	$28.55\pm1.27bc$
	RT-RT-RT	$652.50 \pm 31.50 \text{ c}$	$25.33 \pm 1.53 \text{ c}$	$45.5\pm0.68~\mathrm{a}$	$6096\pm148~{\rm c}$	$27.84\pm0.68~\mathrm{c}$
	DT-RT-RT	$701.55\pm20.55~\mathrm{ab}$	$29.00\pm1.73~\mathrm{ab}$	$46.67\pm2.04~\mathrm{a}$	$6465\pm102~\mathrm{ab}$	$29.52\pm0.47~\mathrm{ab}$
2018	DT-RT-SRT	721.35 ± 37.80 a	$30.67\pm2.08~\mathrm{a}$	$45.97\pm1.24~\mathrm{a}$	$6507\pm111~\mathrm{a}$	$29.71\pm0.51~\mathrm{a}$
	DT-SRT-SRT	$677.55 \pm 18.00 \mathrm{bc}$	$26.00\pm2.00~bc$	$47.72\pm2.12~\mathrm{a}$	$6259\pm97\mathrm{bc}$	$28.58\pm0.44~\rm bc$
	DT-SRT-RT	$668.10\pm16.35bc$	$26.83\pm1.04~bc$	$46.43\pm1.50~\mathrm{a}$	$6346\pm79~ab$	$28.98\pm0.36~ab$
	RT-RT-RT	$574.05 \pm 12.75 \text{ d}$	$28.43\pm0.98b$	$41.89\pm1.028~\mathrm{c}$	$5719\pm153~\mathrm{d}$	$26.12\pm0.7d$
	DT-RT-RT	$636.00 \pm 8.85 \text{ b}$	$28.93\pm1.00~\mathrm{ab}$	$43.36\pm1.90~bc$	$6300\pm53~\mathrm{b}$	$28.77\pm0.24\mathrm{b}$
2019	DT-RT-SRT	$604.35 \pm 6.15 \text{ c}$	$26.20\pm1.80~\mathrm{c}$	$48.57\pm1.54~\mathrm{a}$	$6003\pm95~{ m c}$	$27.41\pm0.44~{\rm c}$
	DT-SRT-SRT	$648.30\pm12.30~\text{ab}$	$30.80\pm1.00~\mathrm{a}$	$44.13\pm1.20~bc$	$6477\pm36~\mathrm{ab}$	$29.58\pm0.16~\mathrm{ab}$
	DT-SRT-RT	667.05 ± 8.10 a	$31.00\pm0.59~\mathrm{a}$	$46.22\pm0.95~ab$	$6557\pm67~\mathrm{a}$	$29.94\pm0.31~\mathrm{a}$

Note: Different lowercase letters after the numbers indicate significant differences between different treatments ($p \le 0.05$).

Table 3. The nitrogen balance under different treatments in 2019.

Treatment	Mineral Nitrogen (kg ha ⁻¹)	Initial Inorganic Nitrogen (kg ha ⁻¹)	Nitrogen Absorbed by the Crop (kg ha ⁻¹)	Residue Inorganic Nitrogen (kg ha ⁻¹)	Apparent Nitrogen Loss (kg ha ⁻¹)
RT-RT-RT	219	$81.18\pm0.79~\mathrm{c}$	173.39 ± 9.73 c	$80.93\pm1.40~\mathrm{c}$	46.11 ± 2.22 a
DT-RT-RT	219	83.23 ± 0.24 a	$197.59\pm4.40~\mathrm{ab}$	86.05 ± 0.89 a	$18.62\pm2.54~\mathrm{cd}$
DT-RT-SRT	219	$82.83 \pm 1.23 \text{ a}$	$190.93 \pm 10.26 \text{ b}$	85.55 ± 0.90 a	$25.46\pm2.95~b$
DT-SRT-SRT	219	$86.70\pm0.80\mathrm{bc}$	$200.8\pm5.02~ab$	$83.02\pm0.87\mathrm{bc}$	$21.89\pm1.97\mathrm{bc}$
DT-SRT-RT	219	84.55 ± 0.73 ab	$203.59 \pm 3.22 \text{ a}$	$84.03\pm1.64~ab$	$15.93\pm3.62~d$

Note: Different lowercase letters after the numbers indicate significant differences between different treatments ($p \le 0.05$).

2.10. The Correlation Analysis between Nitrogen Forms and Wheat Yield during 2017–2019

The correlation analysis found that the different nitrogen form in different soil layers was negative in the first year of the three-year rotation, while the correlation increased with time (Figure 7). In 2019, except TN and AN, the other nitrogen forms content was all significantly positively correlated with wheat yield in the 0–10 cm soil layer. Additionally, the NO_3^- -N and NH_4^+ -N were positively correlated with wheat yield in the 0–40 cm soil layer.



Figure 7. The correlation between nitrogen forms and wheat yield under different soil layers.

3. Discussion

3.1. The Effect of Tillage Practice on Total Nitrogen

Soil total nitrogen (TN) is the pool of nitrogen. It is one of the important indicators to assess soil fertility, but the major component of TN is organic nitrogen [32,33], which needs to transform into inorganic nitrogen such as nitrate nitrogen and ammonium nitrogen, to be absorbed by the crop. Soil tillage practices directly change the soil structure to improve the soil microenvironment [34], further mediating the nitrogen transformation process. Although the TN content is not sensitive to agricultural management, the different tillage practices change the TN vertical distribution by the different disturbance degrees of soil [35,36]. The TN content was changed in the 0–40 cm in the first year by different tillage practices, while the effect was decreased in the 0–30 cm during the following two years in this study. In addition, the effect of deep tillage mainly happened in 10–30 cm, and the combination tillage cycle with deep tillage increased TN content compared with RT-RT-RT. This might be because deep tillage helped to mix the surface soil and the deeper soil, the fertilizer, and the nutrient also mixed and provided the source of organic matter, which led to the TN content accumulation in the deeper soil layer [23,37]. The effect of deep tillage on soil nutrients and structure will decline with time [38]. Our results were in accordance with Han et al. [39] and Zhang et al. [23]. While Wang et al. [40] found that subsoiling—no tillage—subsoiling alternately could increase the TN content in the 0-20 cm soil layer, it did not affect the 20–40 cm soil layer. This might be because the soil disturbance by subsoiling was less than that by deep tillage, and the deep tillage takes more source of fertilizer or crop residue from the surface layer into the deeper soil layer [12,41].

3.2. The Effect of Tillage on Nitrogen Components

The nitrogen components were more sensitive than soil total nitrogen to tillage practices. Nitrate and ammonium nitrogen are the major inorganic nitrogen form in the soil, and they are also the main nitrogen form absorbed by the crop [42]. Their content is determined by the transformation between organic and inorganic nitrogen forms [5] and is regulated by interactive processes of production and consumption [43]. Soil microbial biomass nitrogen (SMBN) reflects the microorganism community, it is used to assess the nitrogen transformation process. Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) is part of nitrogen that is relatively easy to transform. Tillage regimes impact the depth distribution of soil organic matter and affect the soil pore architecture which in turn influences soil aeration, and further regulates the nitrification, denitrification, and the relevant microorganic community and structure, finally affecting the NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N, DON, and SMBN content [44,45]. Mondal et al. [46] reported that soil nitrogen status can be improved through no-tillage adoption particularly in the surface soil layer in a global meta-analysis. Minimum tillage, often in combination with other practices, has been promoted to improve soil health through enhanced microbial activity and increased soil organic matter (SOM) in the surface layer [18-20]. In contrast, deep tillage or deep subsoiling was conceived to break up the hard pan in farmland, eliminating soil compaction to boost plant root proliferation, penetration, nutrient uptake, and air permeability [38], improving biological health and physical properties of soil [47], facilitating rain infiltration and water retention [48], and hydraulic conductivity [49]. As a result, deep tillage accelerates the nitrogen transformation and distribution in different soil depths, meanwhile allowing the yield of crops to be continuously enhanced. Our study found that deep tillage promoted NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N transportation into the deeper soil layer, especially for NO_3^{-} -N. However, the effect of deep tillage on DON in deeper layers significantly declined with time. Although the deep tillage significantly increased the SMBN compared with RT-RT-RT, there was no significant change in the same soil layers with time. NO_3^{-} -N cannot be fixed by soil colloid particles, and easily leach with soil water. Deep tillage promotes the soil pore and water storage capacity and helps the soil nitrification and NO_3^{-} -N leaching [48,50]. For DON, although it is relatively easy to transform by the microorganism, there is still part of it belongs to organic form, this might the reason for the shorter affected by the deep tillage.

3.3. The Effect of Tillage on Wheat Yield and Nitrogen Balance

The tillage practices affect the soil structure and nutrient cycle, further regulating crop growth and yield [23]. Previous studies showed that although the no-till or minimal tillage profited to increase the soil nutrient in the surface soil layer [19,20,46], the effect on crop yield was different. Generally, no-till is considered shallow compaction or soil hardening by farm machinery traffic can lead to soil constraints to crop growth [51]. In contrast, most studies reported that deep tillage can increase crop yield by breaking up the hard pan in arable land and eliminating soil compaction to boost plant root proliferation, nutrient uptake, and air permeability [43]. As a result, deep tillage increases the plant availability of subsoil nutrients, which increases crop yield if nutrients are growth-limiting and allows the yield of crops to be continuously enhanced [43]. A similar result was found in this study, the wheat yield was increased under treatment with deep tillage compared with RT-RT-RT. Meanwhile, the nitrogen partial productivity demonstrated a similar trend with wheat yield. This indicated that deep tillage improved the nutrient absorbed by wheat and promoted the yield component and wheat yield. The correlation analysis also supported that it was a closer relationship between the wheat yield and nitrogen forms with time.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Site Description

The field experiment was carried out in 2016 at Yuanyang, Henan, China ($35^{\circ}19'$ N, $113^{\circ}50'$ E). This area is a warm temperate continental monsoon climate. The mean annual air temperature is 14.5 °C, the mean annual precipitation is 615 mm, and the annual sunshine hours are 2324 h. The soil type is sandy fluvo-aquic soil developed from Yellow River alluviation, which is Calcaric Cambisol according to WBR [52]. The initial soil properties before the experiment in the 0–20 cm soil layer were: organic matter content 17.3 g kg⁻¹, total nitrogen 1.00 g kg⁻¹, alkaline nitrogen 71.33 mg kg⁻¹, available phosphorus 21.6 mg kg⁻¹, available potassium 108.0 mg kg⁻¹, pH 7.2. The field experiment was a winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. Zhengmai 369)—summer maize (*Zea mays* L. Xundan 29) crop rotation.

4.2. Experimental Design

The randomized block design with three replicates was carried out. Five treatments with different combinations of tillage modes with three-year cycles were set as (1) continuous rotary tillage (RT-RT-RT); (2) deep tillage–rotary tillage–rotary tillage (DT-RT-RT); (3) deep tillage–rotary tillage–shallow rotary tillage (DT-ST-SRT); (4) deep tillage–shallow rotary tillage (DT-SRT-SRT); (5) deep tillage–shallow rotary tillage (DT-SRT-SRT); (6) deep tillage–shallow rotary tillage (DT-SRT-SRT); (7) deep tillage (DT-SRT-SRT); (7) dee

Treatment	10/2016	10/2017	10/2018
RT-RT-RT	rotary tillage	rotary tillage	rotary tillage
DR-RT-RT	deep tillage	rotary tillage	rotary tillage
DT-RT-SRT	deep tillage	rotary tillage	shallow rotary tillage
DT-SRT-SRT	deep tillage	shallow rotary tillage	shallow rotary tillage
DT-SRT-RT	deep tillage	shallow rotary tillage	rotary tillage

Table 4. The soil tillage practice before winter wheat seeding during 2016–2018.

The tillage practice is detailed as follows. Summer maize straw was incorporated with all tillage practices. For rotary tillage, a rotary tiller was prepared twice with a depth of 13–15 cm. For deep tillage, first moldboard plows with 28–30 cm, then a rotary tiller was prepared twice with 15–18 cm. For shallow rotary tillage, a rotary tiller was prepared twice with 5–8 cm. The winter wheat was seeded by a seeder machine with a rate of 232.5 kg ha⁻¹. The basal fertilizer (N-P₂O₅-K₂O = 20-16-16) was applied 750 kg ha⁻¹, and then applied 69 kg N ha⁻¹ at the regreening stage in the wheat season. The summer maize

and fertilizer were seeded simultaneously with maize density as 67,500 plant ha⁻¹ and 750 ha⁻¹ component fertilizer (N-P₂O₅-K₂O = 28-10-12).

4.3. Soil Sample Collection and Measurement

The soil was sampled after the wheat harvest during 2017–2019. The 0–50 cm depth soil with 10 cm intervals was sampled by the mixture of 5–10 cores. The sample was divided into two parts, one part was stored at 4 °C in the refrigerator to determine soil nitrate nitrogen (NO₃⁻-N), ammonium nitrogen (NH₄⁺-N), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), and microbial biomass nitrogen (SMBN). The other part was air-dried and sieved through 0.85 mm and 0.25 mm to determine the soil alkaline nitrogen (AN) and total nitrogen (TN). The AN was measured by Conway method, and TN was determined by the micro-Kjeldahl method [53]. NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N were extracted from 10 g of fresh soil in 50 mL of 2 mol KCl L⁻¹ (1:10 soil: solution ratio) before filtering [54]. The NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N concentrations in the extract were determined using an automated colorimeter (automatic chemical analyzer, Easychem Plus, Via Fratta Rotonda Vado Largo, Italy, Europe).

The dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) content was extracted using the method presented by Gigliotti et al. [55]. Briefly, 10 g of fresh soil with water at a soil-to-water ratio of 1:2 was shaken for 30 min h at 250 rev/min and 25 °C. Next, the supernatant was centrifuged for 10 min at 4000 rev/min before passing through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter. The filtrate was measured using a TOC analyzer (Leeman, US17192017, Mason, OH, USA).

The soil microbial biomass nitrogen (SMBN) content was estimated using chloroform fumigation extraction according to the method presented by Vance et al. [56]. Briefly, 20 g of fresh soil was fumigated for 24 h at 25 °C with ethanol-free chloroform, the non-fumigated portion was completed simultaneously. Next, the soils were extracted using 60 mL of 0.5 mol K₂SO₄ L⁻¹, shaken at 200 rev/min for 30 min, and filtered using filter paper (12.5 cm diameter). The organic nitrogen contents in the extracts were determined using a TOC analyzer (Lehman US17192017). In addition, the SMBN content was calculated according to Jenkinson et al. [57]. as follows: microbial biomass nitrogen = E_N/k_{EN} , where E_N is the D-value between organic nitrogen extracted from fumigated soils and non-fumigated soils; $k_{EN} = 0.45$.

4.4. Grain Yield, Yield Components, Aboveground Biomass, and Nitrogen Accumulation

Three replicates of wheat samples (each 1 m²) were randomly selected from each plot to measure yield components (spike number per hectare, grain number per spike, and 1000-grain weight) and nitrogen accumulation at the maturity stage. After threshing, drying, and weighing, wheat grain yield, and straw were calculated according to the national wheat grain and straw warehousing standard (at a moisture content of about 14%). The plant samples were oven dried (80 °C) over 48 h and weighed. The grain and straw were divided into two parts, and their nitrogen (N) content was analyzed using the micro-Kjeldahl method (Bao, 2000). Total aboveground nitrogen accumulation was calculated as the grain and straw N content, and the relevant biomass.

We used the certified standard reference materials (bush leaves, GBW07602 (GSV-1); soil, GBW07420), purchased from the National Center of Standard Material in China, to check the measurements.

4.5. Calculation

The nitrogen absorbed by aboveground biomass was calculated according to Lu et al. [58].

$$GNA = GB \times GNC$$
 (1)

 $SNA = SB \times SNC$ (2)

$$ANA = GNA + SNA$$
 (3)

where GNA was grain nitrogen accumulation (kg·ha⁻¹); GB was grain biomass (kg ha⁻¹); GNC was grain nitrogen content (kg kg⁻¹); SNA was straw nitrogen accumulation (kg ha⁻¹);

SB was straw biomass (kg ha⁻¹); SNC was straw nitrogen content (kg kg⁻¹); ANA was aboveground nitrogen accumulation (kg ha⁻¹).

The apparent nitrogen loss (ANL) was calculated based on the ANA according to Xue et al. [59].

ANL = NI - NO (4)

$$NI = IINS + NAR$$
(5)

$$NO = ANA + RINS$$
 (6)

where ANL was apparent nitrogen loss (kg ha⁻¹); NI was nitrogen input (kg ha⁻¹), it was the sum of IINS and NAR; IINS was initial soil inorganic nitrogen storage (kg ha⁻¹) in the 0–20 cm soil layer; NAR was nitrogen application rate in wheat season (kg ha⁻¹); NO was nitrogen output (kg ha⁻¹), it was the sum of ANA and RINS (kg ha⁻¹); ANA was aboveground nitrogen accumulation (kg ha⁻¹); RINS was residue inorganic nitrogen storage (kg ha⁻¹) in the 0–20 cm soil layer after wheat harvest in 2019.

4.6. Statistical Analysis

Microsoft Excel 2020 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA) was used to input and organize the data, using SPSS Software (ver. 20.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) for statistical analysis. The ANOVA analysis was used to compare the difference in different nitrogen forms, grain yield, yield components, nitrogen partial productivity, and nitrogen balance indexes between different tillage modes. The multiple comparisons by the least significant range method (LSD) were to analyze the effect of tillage mode, soil depth, and tillage time on the different nitrogen forms. Origin Pro (ver. 8.5; OriginLab Corporation, Northampton, MA, USA) was used to create the graph. All statistical analyses were performed at a significance level of $p \leq 0.05$.

5. Conclusions

The findings carried out from the 3-year cycle tillage experiment showed that the rotation tillage with deep tillage in the first year increased the total nitrogen and the major nitrogen forms content compared with RT-RT-RT. Especially they improved the NO_3^--N and NH_4^+-N content in 0–40 cm, with the highest value under DT-SRT-RT. The time, tillage, and depth significantly affected the different nitrogen forms, but there was no effect on DON and SMBN by the interaction of time and tillage. Meanwhile, the rotation tillage promoted the spike number and kernels per spike of wheat, further increasing the wheat yield and nitrogen forms such as NO_3^--N , and NH_4^+-N were closely positively correlated with wheat yield in 0–40 cm at with time.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, G.J., F.S. and C.Z.; methodology, F.S. and C.Z.; software, J.Y., X.Z., S.W. and R.W.; validation, X.J. and S.L.; formal analysis, J.Y.; data curation, J.Y., X.Z., S.W., R.W. and F.L.; writing—original draft preparation, F.S. and C.Z.; writing—review and editing, G.J. and S.L.; visualization, J.Y., X.Z., S.W. and R.W.; supervision, G.J. and S.L.; project administration, G.J. and S.L.; funding acquisition, G.J., S.L. and X.J. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The work was financially supported by the National Key Research and Development Program of China (Grant No. 2021YFD1700904), the Key Research Project of Henan Colleges and Universities (Grant No. 23A210014), Innovation Training Project of Henan Agricultural University (Grant No. 2022-171), and Undergraduate Laboratory Opening Project of Henan Agricultural University (Grant No. 2022-A161).

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Zhang, M.M.; Dang, P.F.; Li, Y.Z.; Qin, X.L.; Siddique, K.M. Better tillage selection before ridge–furrow film mulching can facilitate root proliferation, increase nitrogen accumulation, translocation, grain yield of maize in a semiarid area. J. Integr. Agric. 2022, 2095–3119. [CrossRef]
- Xie, J.H.; Wang, L.L.; Li, L.L.; Coulter, J.A.; Chai, Q.; Zhang, R.Z.; Luo, Z.Z.; Carberry, P.; Rao, K.P.C. Subsoiling increases grain yield, water use efficiency, and economic return of maize under a fully mulched ridge-furrow system in a semiarid environment in China. Soil Till. Res. 2020, 199, 104584. [CrossRef]
- 3. Zhang, H.H.; Zhang, Y.Q.; Yan, C.R.; Liu, E.K.; Chen, B.Q. Soil nitrogen and its fractions between long-term conventional and no-tillage systems with straw retention in dryland farming in northern China. *Geoderma* **2016**, *269*, 138–144. [CrossRef]
- Li, G.H.; Cheng, Q.; Li, L.; Lu, D.L.; Lu, W.P. N, P and K use efficiency and maize yield responses to fertilization modes and densities. J. Integr. Agric. 2021, 20, 78–86. [CrossRef]
- Kuypers, M.M.M.; Marchant, H.K.; Kartal, B. The microbial nitrogen-cycling network. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 2018, 16, 263–276. [CrossRef]
- Yuan, L.; Liu, Y.; He, H.; Zhu, T.; Chen, X.; Zhang, X.; Liang, C.; Xie, H.; Zhang, J.; Christoph, M.; et al. Effects of long-term no-tillage and maize straw mulching on gross nitrogen transformations in Mollisols of Northeast China. *Geoderma* 2022, 428, 116194. [CrossRef]
- Sharifi, M.; Zebarth, B.J.; Burton, D.L.; Grant, C.A.; Cooper, J.M. Evaluation of some indices of potentially mineralizable nitrogen in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 2007, 71, 1233–1239. [CrossRef]
- Yoo, G.; Wander, M.M. Tillage effects on aggregate turnover and sequestration of particulate and humified soil organic carbon. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 2008, 72, 670–676. [CrossRef]
- 9. Marschner, B.; Kalbitz, K. Controls of bioavailability and biodegradability of dissolved organic matter in soils. *Geoderma* 2003, 113, 211–235. [CrossRef]
- 10. Lv, L.G.; Gao, Z.B.; Liao, K.H.; Zhu, Q.; Zhu, J.J. Impact of conservation tillage on the distribution of soil nutrients with depth. Soil Till. Res. 2023, 225, 105527. [CrossRef]
- 11. Ding, J.L.; Hu, W.; Wu, J.C.; Yang, Y.H.; Feng, H. Simulating the effects of conventional versus conservation tillage on soil water, nitrogen dynamics, and yield of winter wheat with RZWQM2. *Agric. Water Manag.* **2020**, *230*, 105956. [CrossRef]
- Dikgwatlhe, S.B.; Chen, Z.D.; Lal, R.; Zhang, H.L.; Chen, F. Changes in soil organic carbon and nitrogen as affected by tillage and residue management under wheat–maize cropping system in the north China plain. Soil Till. Res. 2014, 144, 110–118. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, Y.; Wang, S.; Wang, H.; Ning, F.; Zhang, Y.; Dong, Z.; Wen, P.; Wang, R.; Wang, X.; Li, J. The effects of rotating conservation tillage with conventional tillage on soil properties and grain yields in winter wheat- spring maize rotations. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 2018, 263, 107–117. [CrossRef]
- 14. Blanco-Canqui, H.; Hassim, R.; Shapiro, C.; Jasa, P.; Klopp, H. How does no-till affect soil-profile compactibility in the long term? *Geoderma* **2022**, *425*, 116016. [CrossRef]
- 15. Bogunovic, I.; Pereira, P.; Kisic, I.; Sajko, K.; Sraka, M. Tillage management impacts on soil compaction, erosion and crop yield in Stagnosols (Croatia). *Catena* 2018, 160, 376–384. [CrossRef]
- Sun, M.; Ren, A.; Gao, Z.; Wang, P.; Mo, F.; Xue, L.; Lei, M. Long-term evaluation of tillage methods in fallow season for soil water storage, wheat yield and water use efficiency in semiarid southeast of the Loess Plateau. *Field Crop. Res.* 2018, 218, 24–32. [CrossRef]
- Birkas, M.; Jolankai, M.; Gyuricza, C.; Percze, A. Tillage effects on compaction, earthworms and other soil quality indicators in Hungary. Soil Till. Res. 2004, 78, 185–196. [CrossRef]
- 18. Li, Y.; Zhang, Q.P.; Cai, Y.J.; Yang, Q.; Chang, S.X. Minimum tillage and residue retention increase soil microbial population size and diversity: Implications for conservation tillage. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2020**, *716*, 137164. [CrossRef]
- Blanco-Canqui, H.; Wortmann, C.S. Does occasional tillage undo the ecosystem services gained with no-till? A review. Soil Till. Res. 2020, 198, 104534. [CrossRef]
- Krauss, M.; Berner, A.; Perrochet, F.; Frei, R.; Niggli, U.; M\u00e4der, P. Enhanced soil quality with reduced tillage and solid manures in organic farming—A synthesis of 15 years. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 4403. [CrossRef]
- Mahal, N.K.; Castellano, M.J.; Miguez, F.E. Conservation agriculture practices increase potentially mineralizable nitrogen: A meta-analysis. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 2018, 82, 1270–1278. [CrossRef]
- Choudhury, S.G.; Srivastava, S.; Singh, R.; Chaudhari, S.K.; Sharma, D.K.; Singh, S.K. ZTillage and residue management effects on soil aggregation, organic carbon dynamics and yield attribute in rice-wheat cropping system under reclaimed sodic soil. *Soil Till. Res.* 2014, *136*, 76–83. [CrossRef]
- 23. Zhang, Y.J.; Tan, C.J.; Wang, R.; Li, J.; Wang, X.L. Conservation tillage rotation enhanced soil structure and soil nutrients in long-term dryland agriculture. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2021, *131*, 126379. [CrossRef]
- 24. López-Fando, C.; Pardo, M.T. Changes in soil chemical characteristics with different tillage practices in a semi-arid environment. Soil Till. Res. 2009, 104, 278–284. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, Y.J.; Wang, R.; Wang, S.L.; Wang, H.; Xu, Z.G.; Jia, G.C.; Wang, X.L.; Li, J. Effects of different sub-soiling frequencies in corporated into no-tillage systems on soil properties and crop yield in dryland wheat-maize rotation system. *Field Crop. Res.* 2017, 209, 151–158. [CrossRef]

- López-Fando, C.; Dorado, J.; Pardo, M.T. Effects of zone-tillage in rotation with no-tillage on soil properties and crop yields in a semi-arid soil from central Spain. Soil Till. Res. 2007, 95, 266–276. [CrossRef]
- 27. Hou, X.; Li, R.; Jia, Z.; Han, Q. Effect of rational tillage on soil aggregates, organic carbon and nitrogen in the Loess Plateau Area of China. *Pedosphere* 2013, 23, 542–548. [CrossRef]
- Dang, Y.; Moody, P.W.; Bell, M.J.; Seymour, N.P.; Dalal, R.C.; Freebairn, D.M.; Walker, S.R. Strategic tillage in no-till farming systems in Australia's northern grains-growing regions: II. Implications for agronomy, soil and environment. *Soil Res.* 2015, 152, 115–123. [CrossRef]
- 29. Kettler, T.A.; Lyon, D.J.; Doran, J.W.; Powers, W.L.; Stroup, W.W. Soil quality assessment after weed control tillage in a no-till wheat-fallow cropping system. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 2000, *64*, 339–346. [CrossRef]
- Quincke, J.A.; Wortmann, C.S.; Mamo, M.; Franti, T.; Drijber, R.A. Occasional tillage of no-till systems: Carbon dioxide flux and changes in total and labile soil organic carbon. *Agron. J.* 2007, 99, 1158–1168. [CrossRef]
- 31. Vesh, R.T.; Rajan, G.; Wooiklee, S.; Paye, D.V. Soil organic carbon and nitrogen responses to occasional tillage in a continuous no-tillage system. *Soil Till. Res.* 2023, 227, 105619.
- Keuper, F.; Dorrepaal, E.; van Bodegom, P.M.; van Logtestijn, R.; Venhuizen, G.; van Hal, J.; Aerts, R. Experimentally increased nutrient availability at the permafrost thaw front selectively enhances biomass production of deep-rooting subarctic peatland species. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2017, 23, 4257–4266. [CrossRef]
- Carter, C.; Schipanski, M.E. Nitrogen uptake by rapeseed varieties from organic matter and inorganic fertilizer sources. *Plant Soil* 2022, 474, 499–511. [CrossRef]
- Liu, X.Q.; Liu, H.R.; Ren, D.Y.; Liu, C.R.; Zhang, Y.S.; Wang, S.Q.; Li, Z.H.; Zhang, M.C. Interlinkages between soil properties and keystone taxa under different tillage practices on the North China Plain. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 2022, *178*, 104551. [CrossRef]
- Sa, J.C.D.M.; Lal, R. Stratification ratio of soil organic matter pools as an indicator of carbon sequestration in a tillage chronose quence on a Brazilian Oxisol. *Soil Till. Res.* 2009, 103, 46–56. [CrossRef]
- Melero, S.; Lopez-Bellido, R.J.; Lopez-Bellido, L.; Muñoz-Romero, V.; Moreno, F.; Murillo, M.J.; Franzluebbers, A.J. Stratification ratios in a rainfed Mediterranean Vertisol in wheat under different tillage, rotation and N fertilization rates. *Soil Till. Res.* 2012, 119, 7–12. [CrossRef]
- Giller, K.E.; Witter, E.; Corbeels, M.; Tittonell, P. Conservation agriculture and smallholder farming in Africa: The heretics' view. *Field Crop. Res.* 2009, 114, 23–34. [CrossRef]
- Schneider, F.; Don, A.; Hennings, I.; Schmittmann, O.; Seidel, S.J. The effect of deep tillage on crop yield—What do we really know? Soil Till. Res. 2017, 174, 193–204. [CrossRef]
- Han, S.; Wu, J.; Li, M.; Chen, F.; Wang, Y.; Cheng, W.; Tang, S.; Wang, H.; Guo, X.; Lu, C. Deep tillage with straw returning increase crop yield and improve soil physicochemical properties under topsoil thinning treatment. J. Plant Nutr. Fertil. 2020, 26, 276–284.
- 40. Wang, P.; Chen, J.; Xie, C.; Wang, G.; Wen, J.; Zhang, L. Effects of rotation tillage on soil improvement and increasing yield and benefit of spring maize. *Agric. Res. Arid. Areas* **2018**, *36*, 59–67.
- 41. Valboa, G.; Lagomarsino, A.; Brandi, G.; Agnelli, A.E.; Simoncini, S.; Papini, R.; Vignozzi, N.; Pellegrini, S. Long-term variations in soil organic matter under different tillage intensities. *Soil Till. Res.* **2015**, *154*, 126–135. [CrossRef]
- 42. Tho, B.T.; Lambertini, C.; Eller, F.; Brix, H.; Sorrell, B.K. Ammonium and nitrate are both suitable inorganic nitrogen forms for the highly productive wetland grass Arundo donax, a candidate species for wetland paludiculture. *Ecol. Eng.* **2017**, *105*, 379–386. [CrossRef]
- Murphy, D.V.; Recous, S.; Stockdale, E.A.; Fillery, I.; Jensen, L.S.; Hatch, D.J.; Goulding, K. Gross nitrogen fluxes in soil: Theory, measurement and application of ¹⁵N pool dilution techniques. *Adv. Agron.* 2003, *79*, 69–118.
- 44. Gao, Q.Q.; Ma, L.X.; Fang, Y.Y.; Zhang, A.P.; Li, G.C.; Wang, J.J.; Wu, D.; Wu, W.L.; Du, Z.L. Conservation tillage for 17 years alters the molecular composition of organic matter in soil profile. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2021**, *762*, 143116. [CrossRef]
- Jakab, G.; Madarász, B.; Masoudi, M.; Karlik, M.; Király, C.; Zacháry, D.; Filep, T.; Dekemati, I.; Centeri, C.; Al-Graiti, T.; et al. Soil organic matter gain by reduced tillage intensity: Storage, pools, and chemical composition. *Soil Till. Res.* 2023, 226, 105584. [CrossRef]
- 46. Mondal, S.; Chakraborty, D. Soil nitrogen status can be improved through no-tillage adoption particularly in the surface soil layer: A global meta-analysis. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2022, *366*, 132874. [CrossRef]
- Kahlon, M.S.; Khurana, K. Effect of land management practices on physical properties of soil and water productivity in wheatmaize system of Northwest India. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research. *Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res.* 2017, 15, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- 48. Chu, P.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, Z.; Guo, Z.; Yu, S. Winter wheat grain yield, water use, biomass accumulation and remobilization under tillage in the North China Plain. *Field Crop. Res.* **2016**, *193*, 43–53. [CrossRef]
- 49. Jabro, D.J.B.; Stevens, W.M.; Iversen, W.G.; Evans, R. Technical note: Bulk density, water content, and hydraulic properties of a sandy loam soil following conventional or strip tillage. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* **2011**, *27*, 765–768. [CrossRef]
- Wu, F.; Zhai, L.; Xu, P.; Zhang, Z.; Elamin, H.B.; Lemessa, N.T.; Roy, N.K.; Jia, X.; Guo, H. Effects of deep vertical rotary tillage on the grain yield and resource use efficiency of winter wheat in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China. J. Integr. Agric. 2021, 20, 593–605. [CrossRef]
- 51. Peralta, G.; Alvarez, C.R.; Taboada, M.Á. Soil compaction alleviation by deep non-inversion tillage and crop yield responses in no tilled soils of the Pampas region of Argentina. A meta-analysis. *Soil Till. Res.* **2021**, *211*, 105022. [CrossRef]

- 52. IUSS Working Group WRB. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2006, First Update 2007. In World Soil Resources Reports No. 103; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2007.
- 53. Bao, S. Soil Agrochemical Analysis, 3rd ed.; Agricultural Press: Hangzhou, China, 2000.
- Maynard, D.G.; Kalra, Y.P.; Crumbaugh, J.A. Nitrate and Exchangeable Ammonium Nitrogen. In Soil Sampling and Methods of Soil Analysis, 2nd ed.; Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2008; pp. 71–80.
- 55. Gigliotti, G.; Kaiser, K.; Guggenberger, G.; Haumaier, L. Differences in the chemical composition of dissolved organic matter from waste materials of different sources. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **2002**, *36*, 321–329. [CrossRef]
- Vance, E.D.; Brookes, P.C.; Jenkinson, D.S. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biol. Biochem. 1987, 19, 703–707. [CrossRef]
- Jenkinson, D.S. The Determination of Microbial Biomass Carbon and Nitrogen in Soil. In Advances in Nitrogen Cycling in Agricultural Ecosytems; C.A.B. International: Wallingford, UK, 1988; pp. 368–386.
- Lu, Y.; Nie, J.; Liao, Y.; Zhou, X.; Wang, Y.; Tang, W. Effects of urease and nitrification inhibitor on yield, nitrogen efficiency and soil nitrogen balance under double-rice cropping system. J. Plant Nutr. Fertil. 2018, 24, 95–104.
- Xue, L.; Ma, Z.; Du, S.; Feng, S.; Ran, S. Effects of application of nitrogen on melon yield, nitrogen balance and soil nitrogen accumulation under plastic mulching with drip irrigation. *Sci. Agric. Sin.* 2019, *52*, 690–700.

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.





Article Optimizing Nitrogen and Seed Rate Combination for Improving Grain Yield and Nitrogen Uptake Efficiency in Winter Wheat

Hemat Mahmood ^{1,2}, Jian Cai ^{1,*}, Qin Zhou ¹, Xiao Wang ¹, Allan Samo ¹, Mei Huang ¹, Tingbo Dai ¹, Mohammad Shah Jahan ³ and Dong Jiang ¹

- ¹ National Technique Innovation Centre for Regional Wheat Production, Key Laboratory of Crop and Ecophysiology in Southern China, Nanjing Agricultural University, Ministry of Agriculture, Nanjing 210095, China; mahmoodhemat@yahoo.com (H.M.); qinzhou@njau.edu.cn (Q.Z.); xiaowang@njau.edu.cn (X.W.); allansamo@njau.edu.cn (A.S.); huangmei@njau.edu.cn (M.H.); tingbod@njau.edu.cn (T.D.); jiangd@njau.edu.cn (D.J.)
- ² Department of Agronomy, Agriculture Faculty, Ghazni University, Ghazni 2301, Afghanistan
- ³ Department of Horticulture, Sher-e-Bangla Agricultural University, Dhaka 1207, Bangladesh; shahjahansau@gmail.com
- * Correspondence: caijian@njau.edu.cn

Abstract: Nitrogen (N) supply and seed rate (SR) are two essential factors that affect the accumulation and partitioning of N and dry matter (DM) and, therefore, grain yield (GY) and N use efficiency (NUE). The objective of this experiment was to optimize N application and SR to regulate wheat growth and increase both GY and NU_E. The results revealed that net photosynthetic rate (Pn), stomatal conductance (Gs), chlorophyll content, and activities of metabolic enzymes (NR and GS) significantly increased with increasing of N levels while decreasing SR. Plant tillers, GY, DM before anthesis, and N translocation, N agronomic efficiency (NA_E), N recovery efficiency (NR_E), and N uptake efficiency (NUP_E) were highest in a combined treatment of N₂₃₅ and SR₁₈₀. However, N levels beyond 235 kg ha⁻¹ significantly decreased NA_E, NR_E, and NUP_E. By increasing SR from 135 to 180 kg ha⁻¹ an increase of 12.9 % and 9.1% GY and NUPE, respectively, was observed. Based on this result, we estimate that 1 kg N ha⁻¹ might be replaced by an increase of approximately 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ SR. Our study suggested that using a combination of N and SR (N₂₃₅ + SR₁₈₀) could attain maximum GY and improve NU_E parameters.

Keywords: high yield; nitrogen application; N use efficiency; seed rate; winter wheat

1. Introduction

Wheat is the main staple crop globally and plays a crucial role in challenging food security, with a total production of 736.1 million tons. Wheat grain yield is not only dependent on genetic potential (variety) and environmental constraints [1] but also depends on management practices [2,3]. Nitrogen is the essential nutrient for wheat growth and production [4,5] which is necessary for maintaining plant growth, biomass, and grain yield [6]. N deficiency in cereal crops reduces fertile tiller numbers [7–9], grain number, and kernel weight [10,11]. However, overuse of N results in environmental problems including N leaching, runoff, and volatilization [12], and reduces overall N use efficiency (NU_E) [13]. In China, a rapid increase in wheat yield was in parallel with the dramatic use of N fertilizer since the 1950s [14]. Importantly, in the last 20 years, N input beyond the threshold level only caused prolonged yield improvement while severe environmental pollution [12,15,16]. Thus, the China government proposed the Double Reduction Plan [15]. A low dose of N with high NU_E must be one of the main research goals in plant nutrition [16].

However, enhancing crop profitability and NU_E simultaneously is necessary for sustainable agriculture [17] and it is a key challenge to improve viable agriculture in the next

Citation: Mahmood, H.; Cai, J.; Zhou, Q.; Wang, X.; Samo, A.; Huang, M.; Dai, T.; Jahan, M.S.; Jiang, D. Optimizing Nitrogen and Seed Rate Combination for Improving Grain Yield and Nitrogen Uptake Efficiency in Winter Wheat. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 1745. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants11131745

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 17 May 2022 Accepted: 24 June 2022 Published: 30 June 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). decades [18]. N fertilizer is often widely overused to obtain ideal productivity while the adjustment of SR is neglected, which usually synchronously improves productivity and NU_E. When the N rate was decreased or cut, the output would be lost by reducing tillering and fertile tillers, grain number, and kernel weight [19]. The increase in SR could partially compensate for the decrease in fertile tillers and spike numbers and final productivity [20]. Increasing plant density from 135 to 405 plants m⁻² [21] or 75 to 300 plants m⁻² [11] significantly increased grain yield and other parameters. However, there must be an optimum SR to compensate for the negative effects of decreasing N for balanced high yields and improved NU_E in wheat. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the compensatory effect of increasing SR on the decreasing N input on wheat productivity and N use efficiency. It is also necessary to clarify their combination effects on the physiological and agronomical performance of wheat to reveal the underlying rules for balanced high grain yield and improved NU_E in winter wheat.

A field experiment with different N and SR levels in two successive years was carried out to determine the optimum combination of N and the seed rate leading to improvement in grain yield and N use efficiency.

2. Results

2.1. Physiological Traits

2.1.1. Photosynthetic Capacity, Chlorophyll Content, and Leaf Area Index

Pn, Gs, SPAD, and LAI were highest at the anthesis stage, followed by the jointing stage, 10 days after anthesis (10 DAA) and 20 DAA, respectively. N application and SR have significant effects on various physiological traits, viz., leaf photosynthetic capacity, chlorophyll content (SPAD value), as well as leaf area index (LAI) at all growth stages (Figures 1–3). Photosynthetic capacity (Pn), stomatal conductance (Gs), and SPAD were significantly increased by increasing the N rate or decreasing SR. A significant increment was observed as the N application rate increased from 0 to 235 kg ha⁻¹. When N increased from 235 to 290 kg ha⁻¹, there was no significant increase for Pn, Gs, and SPAD in both growing seasons. The Pn, Gs, and SPAD values were decreased significantly when SR increased from 135 to 225 kg ha⁻¹ in both growing seasons at all sampling stages. Moreover, LAI was significantly increased with an increase in both factors (N + SR). A significant effect was observed when N increased up to N₂₃₅ treatment. There was no significant difference between the N₂₃₅ and N₂₉₀ treatments in LAI in both growing seasons (Figure 3). SR also significantly increased the LAI in both growing seasons from SR₁₃₅ to SR₁₈₀, beyond this level there was no significant effect.

2.1.2. Enzymatic Activities of NR and GS

Nitrate reductase (NR) and glutamine synthesize (GS) play an essential role in N metabolism assimilation and regulation. NR and GS's enzyme activities were significantly increased by increasing N and decreasing SR (Figure 4). However, the activities of NR and GS differed at the various levels of N application. Furthermore, there was a significant variation in NR and GS activities between N₀, N₁₈₀, and N₂₃₅, whereas there was no significant difference between the N₂₃₅ and N₂₉₀ treatments. The highest value of the NR and GS activities appeared as the combination of N₂₉₀ and SR₁₃₅ treatments (Figure 4).



Figure 1. Effects of the combination of N and SR on photosynthesis (Pn) and stomatal conductance (Gs) during four different growing stages in 2017–2018 and 2018–2019. Different letters represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots at $p \le 0.05$ levels according to Duncan's test.



Figure 2. Effects of N and SR on chlorophyll content (SPAD) during four different growing stages in 2017–2018 and 2018–2019. Different letters represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots at $p \leq 0.05$ levels according to Duncan's test.



Figure 3. Effects of the combination of N and SR on the values of the leaf area index (LAI) during four different growing stages in 2017–2018 and 2018–2019. Different letters represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots at $p \leq 0.05$ levels according to Duncan's test.



Figure 4. Combination effects of N and SR on nitrate reductase (NR) and glutamine synthesize (GS) activities during four different growing stages in 2018–2019. Different letters represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots at $p \le 0.05$ levels according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

2.2. Grain Yield and Related Agronomic Characteristics

The grain yield (GY) was significantly influenced by N level and seed rate (N and SR), as well as by their interaction in both years (Table 1). With the increase in the N application rate the GY significantly increased. At SR of 180 kg ha⁻¹, GY increased from 6.7 to 8.3 t ha⁻¹ when N application increased from N₁₈₀ to N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹ in 2018–2019. There was no significant difference between N₂₉₀ and N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹ in both growing seasons. SR significantly affected GY in both growing seasons. Under the same amount of N application (N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹), GY increased from 5 to 5.7 t ha⁻¹ in the first growing season and from 7.5 to 8.3 t ha⁻¹ in the second growing season (Table 1). The highest GY 8.3 t ha⁻¹ was obtained

with the combination of $N_{235} + SR_{180}$ kg ha⁻¹ in 2018–2019. N and SR significantly affected the agronomic parameters viz., number of spikes (NS), 1000-grain weight (TGW), number of grains per spike, harvest index (HI), and plant height (PH). All agronomic parameters (NS, TGW, NGS, HI, and PH) were significantly increased with the increasing N application rate. Compared to the treatment with SR_{180} N₀, NS was significantly increased by 13.2%, 23.8%, and 22.4 % and NGS was increased by 21.8%, 36.8%, and 37.8% in treatments SR_{180} N₁₈₀, SR_{180} N₂₃₅, and SR_{180} N₂₉₀, respectively, in the second growing season. Except for the first growing season in which PH was scarcely increased, TGW and HI were decreased when N application rate increased from N₂₃₅ to N₂₉₀. At the second growing season, none of the agronomic characteristics were significantly influenced beyond N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹.

	N kg ha $^{-1}$	${ m SR}~{ m kg}~{ m ha}^{-1}$	TY t ha $^{-1}$	$NS imes 10^4 \ ha^{-1}$	TGW(g)	NGS	HI	PH (cm)
	N ₂₃₅	SR ₁₃₅	5.05 ^b	357 ^c	39.7 ^a	35.63 ^a	0.41 ^c	73.4 ^c
18		SR ₁₈₀	5.78 ^a	414 ^b	39.5 ^{ab}	35.38 ^a	0.44 ^{ab}	74.33 ^{bc}
-20		SR ₂₂₅	5.7 ^a	425 ^{ab}	39.2 ^{bc}	34.27 ^b	0.45 ^a	75.74 ^{ab}
17.	N ₂₉₀	SR ₁₃₅	5.03 ^b	361 ^c	39.1 ^{bc}	35.63 ^a	0.41 ^c	76.43 ^{ab}
20		SR ₁₈₀	5.77 ^a	420 ^{ab}	39 ^{bc}	35.3 ^a	0.43 ^{bc}	77.23 ^a
		SR ₂₂₅	5.77 ^a	434 ^a	38.9 ^c	34.18 ^b	0.42 ^{bc}	77.57 ^a
	F-Value	Ν	0.113	2.475	13.65 **	0.098	7.478 *	19.88 **
		SR	107.1 **	105.9 **	3.38 *	21.65 **	11.46 **	2.999
		N*S	0.331	0.123	0.63	0.025	1.637	0.426
	N ₀	SR ₁₃₅	4 g	391 g	35.7 ^{bc}	28.8 ^d	0.35 ^e	62.93 ^d
		SR ₁₈₀	4.8 ^f	479 ^{ef}	35.6 ^{bc}	28.1 ^d	0.4 ^{cde}	63.62 ^d
		SR ₂₂₅	4.8^{f}	503 ^{de}	35.5 °	27.2 ^d	0.4 ^{cd}	64.07 ^d
	N ₁₈₀	SR ₁₃₅	5.6 ^e	448 f	36.4 ^{ab}	34.5 ^c	0.38 ^{de}	72.87 ^c
19		SR ₁₈₀	6.7 ^d	543 ^{bc}	36.3 ^{abc}	34.1 ^c	0.41 ^{cd}	74.02 ^{bc}
-20		SR ₂₂₅	6.6 ^d	555 ^b	36.3 ^{abc}	33.1 ^c	0.42 ^{bc}	74.47 ^b
-18	N ₂₃₅	SR ₁₃₅	7.5 ^c	518 ^{cd}	36.7 ^a	39.6 ^{ab}	0.45 ^{ab}	73.97 ^{bc}
20		SR ₁₈₀	8.3 ^a	593 ^a	36.7 ^a	38.3 ^{ab}	0.46 ^a	75.15 ^{ab}
		SR ₂₂₅	8.2 ^a	597 ^a	36.5 ^{ab}	37.5 ^b	0.46 ^a	75.75 ^a
	N ₂₉₀	SR ₁₃₅	7.8 ^{bc}	529 ^{bc}	36.6 ^a	40.4 ^a	0.45 ^{ab}	73.95 ^{bc}
		SR ₁₈₀	8.2 ^a	587 ^a	36.4 ^{ab}	38.6 ^{ab}	0.44 ^{ab}	75.22 ^{ab}
		SR ₂₂₅	8.1 ^{ab}	591 ^a	36.4 ^{ab}	37.7 ^{ab}	0.45 ^{ab}	75.97 ^a
	F-Value	Ν	690 **	74.4 **	9.66 **	242.5 **	43.55 **	598.3 **
		SR	60.1 **	83.94 **	0.66	12.19 **	4.48 *	17.8 **
		N*SR	2.64 *	1.36	0.027	0.394	1.77	0.25

Table 1. Effects of N and SR on GY and agronomic characteristics in 2017–2018 and 2018–2019.

Note: N, SR, TY, NS, TGW, NGS, HI, and PH indicate nitrogen application, seed rate, theoretical yield number of spikes, thousand-grain weight, the number of grains per spike, harvest index, and plant height, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots according to Duncan's test; $* p \le 0.05$ and $** p \le 0.001$, respectively.

SR significantly influenced all of the agronomic parameters. Increasing SR significantly increased NS, HI, and PH during both growing seasons and decreased NGS and TGW. As an example, compared with the $N_{235}SR_{135}$ treatment, NS was significantly increased by 10.8% and 11.6%, while NGS was decreased by 4.5% and 6.7% in treatments $N_{235}SR_{180}$ and $N_{235}SR_{225}$, respectively, in the second growing season (Table 1).

Increasing the application of N increased the fodder part and the yield of wheat. Increasing the seed rate can increase the spike number and compensate for reducing the N application rate. Linear regression was used to assess replacing N with SR for balancing GY and NU_E parameters. According to the equations obtained from linear regression, the increase in grain yield by 1 ton ha^{-1} needs to increase the seed rate by 7669 kg ha^{-1} or increase the fertilization with N by 12,807 kg ha^{-1} . This means that 7669 kg ha^{-1} seed rate is equivalent to 12,807 kg N; therefore, 0.598 kg ha^{-1} seed rate would approximately replace 1 kg of N ha^{-1} (Figure 5). Based on our result, increasing SR from 135 to 180 kg ha^{-1} was observed to increase by 12.9% and 9.1% for GY and NUPE, respectively.



Figure 5. Estimating the regression line to compare N and seed rate for balancing grain yield and improving NU_E. * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively. The dots represent the mean value of grain yield under each seed rate (left) or nitrogen rate (right).

2.3. Accumulation, Translation, and Partitioning of DM

DM accumulation (DMA) was significantly affected by the rate of N application and SR (Table 2). Increasing the rate of application of N significantly increased DMA in all growth stages. The highest amount of DMA appeared during the jointing to the anthesis stage. SR significantly increased DMA at all growth stages. The significant effects of SR were up to 180 kg ha⁻¹, and beyond SR₁₈₀ kg ha⁻¹ was not further influenced (Table 2). Similarly, when N fertilizer increased beyond N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹, the values of DMA were not significantly increased. At maturity, the highest increase in DM was found with N₂₃₅SR₁₈₀ treatment.

Table 2. Combination effects of N and SR on DM accumulation, translocation in 2018–2019.

	Total DM Acc	umulation k	g ha ^{_1}			DI	A Translocat	ion	
N kg ha ⁻¹	${ m SR}~{ m kg}~{ m ha}^{-1}$	So-JT	JT-An	An-M	So-M	PTA kg ha $^{-1}$	CPT%	$\rm PAA~kg~ha^{-1}$	CPA%
N ₀	SR ₁₃₅	1959 ^h	6139 ^b	2680 ^c	10778 ^g	1214.1 ^f	30.3 ^a	4256 ^d	69.7 ^e
	SR180	2314 ^g	6514 ^b	3250 bc	12079 ^f	1322.8 ^f	27.6 ^b	5072 ^d	72.4 ^d
	SR225	2401 ^f	6682 ^b	3025 bc	12108 ^f	1439 ^e	29.7 ^a	5018 ^d	70.3 ^e
N ₁₈₀	SR135	2395 ^f	8585 ^a	3708 ^b	14689 ^e	1529.4 ^{de}	27.2 ^{bc}	6053 ^c	72.8 ^{cd}
	SR ₁₈₀	2856 ^b	8904 ^a	4780 ^a	16539 ^{cd}	1633.8 cd	24.3 ^d	7276 ^b	75.7 ^b
	SR225	2488 ^e	8587 ^a	4646 ^a	15721 ^d	1701.4 ^c	25.6 ^{cd}	7164 ^b	74.4 ^{bc}
N ₂₃₅	SR135	2668 ^d	9335 ^a	4731 ^a	16735 °	1918.7 ^{ab}	25.5 ^{cd}	7804 ^{ab}	74.5 ^{bc}
	SR180	3019 ^a	10027 ^a	5130 ^a	18177 ^{ab}	1963.7 ^a	23.6 de	8727 ^a	76.4 ^{ab}
	SR225	3033 ^a	9804 ^a	5064 ^a	17902 ^{ab}	2028.5 ^a	24.9 ^d	8490 ^a	75.1 ^b
N ₂₉₀	SR135	2719 ^c	9477 ^a	5048 ^a	17245 bc	1905.8 ab	24.4 ^d	8141 ab	75.6 ^b
	SR180	2998 ^a	10066 ^a	5418 ^a	18483 ^a	1823.2 ^b	22.1 ^e	8776 ^a	77.9 ^a
	SR225	3010 ^a	9649 ^a	5459 ^a	18119 ^{ab}	1906.7 ^{ab}	24 ^{de}	8518 ^a	76.4 ^{ab}
F-Value	Ν	1817 **	28.1 **	32.1 **	258 **	167.9 **	50.4 **	92.454 **	50.4 **
	SR	84 **	0.9	4.3 *	23.8 **	11.1 **	16 **	9.546 **	16 **
	N*SR	67.1 **	0.1	0.3	0.4	1.9	0.2	0.28	0.2

Note: S₀-JT, JT-An, An-M, S₀–M, PTA, CPT, PAA, and CPA represent sowing to jointing, jointing to anthesis, anthesis to maturity, sowing to maturity, pre-anthesis DM translocation amount, contribution of pre-anthesis translocation to grain, post-anthesis accumulation amount, and contribution of post-anthesis DM accumulation to grain, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

The translocation and contribution of DM were significantly affected by the application rate of N and SR (Table 2). With increasing N rate, pre-anthesis translocation (PTA), post-anthesis accumulation (PAA), and contribution of post-anthesis to grain (CPA) were significantly increased, while the contribution of pre-anthesis translocation to grain (CPT) was significantly decreased. The maximum value of PTA appeared in the N₂₃₅ treatment, which was significantly higher than the N_{290} treatment. Furthermore, the value of PTA increased with increasing SR, while PAA and CPA significantly increased up to SR_{180} kg ha⁻¹. The CPT values first decreased and then increased as the SR increased.

The partition of DM into different parts of the plant differed between the N and SR treatments (Table 3). At the anthesis stage, the DM of culm + sheath was higher than the DM of rachis + glumes and the DM of rachis + glumes was higher than the DM of the leaves. However, at the harvesting stage, the grain DM was higher than the DM of the culm + sheath, the DM of culms + sheaths was higher than the DM of rachis + glumes, and the DM of the rachis + glumes was higher than the DM of rachis + glumes, and the DM of grains, rachis + glumes, culms + sheathes, and leaves ranged from 37.1% to 45.8%, 12.7% to 14.1%, 33% to 41.4%, and 7.8% to 8.5%, respectively, at harvesting.

Table 3. Effects of N and SR on DM accumulation and partitioning at the anthesis and maturity stages in 2018–2019.

NT111	CD 1 h. =1	Gra	ain	Rachis +	Glumes	Culms +	Sheaths	Lea	ves
N kg na	SK kg na	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity
N ₀	SR ₁₃₅		4005 g	1576 ^c	1465 ^f	5442 ^g	4462 ^c	1080 ^f	846 ^f
	SR ₁₈₀		4788 f	1821 ^c	1606 ^e	5631 ^f	4741 ^{bc}	1376 ^e	944 ^e
	SR225		4851 ^f	1994 ^c	1606 ^e	5701 ^f	4682 bc	1389 ^e	968 ^e
N ₁₈₀	SR ₁₃₅		5623 ^e	2344 ^{bc}	1959 ^d	7217 ^d	5932 ^a	1420 ^e	1175 ^d
	SR ₁₈₀		6712 ^d	2496 ^{bc}	2198 ^{bc}	7426 ^c	6299 ^a	1837 ^c	1330 ^c
	SR225		6647 ^d	2517 ^{bc}	2218 bc	6716 ^e	5525 ^{ab}	1841 ^c	1330 ^c
N ₂₃₅	SR135		7535 ^c	3072 ^{ab}	2187 ^c	7156 ^d	5642 ^a	1775 ^d	1370 ^b
	SR ₁₈₀		8324 ^a	3597 ^a	2366 ^a	7375 ^c	6017 ^a	2075 ^a	1468 ^a
	SR ₂₂₅		8152 ^{ab}	3426 ^{ab}	2366 ^a	7341 ^c	5919 ^a	2070 ^a	1464 ^a
N ₂₉₀	SR ₁₃₅		7814 ^{bc}	3092 ^{ab}	2232 ^b	7199 ^d	5807 ^a	1906 ^b	1391 ^b
	SR ₁₈₀		8244 ^a	3358 ^{ab}	2355 ^a	7641 ^a	6425 ^a	2066 ^a	1458 ^a
	SR225		8087 ^{ab}	3058 ^{ab}	2337 ^a	7545 ^b	6241 ^a	2057 ^a	1453 ^a
F-Value	Ν		690 **	14.8 **	2002 **	2858.3 **	18.4 **	955.9 **	1001 **
	SR		60.1 **	0.92	207 **	96.3 **	2.3	324.9 **	85.5 **
	N*SR		2.64 *	0.17	6.29 **	61.7 **	0.58	11.1 **	2.92 *

Note: N and SR represent nitrogen application and seed rate, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences of mean values of three replicate plots at $p \le 0.05$ levels according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

2.4. Accumulation, Translocation, and Partitioning of N

Accumulation of N (NA) at all parts of the plant was significantly increased by increasing N application and SR up to certain levels (N₂₃₅, SR₁₈₀) at both anthesis and maturity stages. At the maturity stage, the total content of N compared to control (N₀) treatment increased by 76.9%, 134%, and 139% in the treatments N₁₈₀, N₂₃₅, and N₂₉₀. The N content compared to SR₁₃₅ was increased by 8.8% and 5% in the SR₁₈₀ and SR₂₂₅ treatments (Table 4). As well, N translocation before anthesis to grain (NTA), N accumulation after anthesis (NAA), and the contribution rate of NA after anthesis to grain (CAG) were significantly increased from N₁₈₀ to N₂₃₅ from N₂₃₅ to N₂₉₀, respectively (average of three SR treatments). Furthermore, the contribution rate of pre-N translocation to grain (CTG) had the same trend as CPT. Furthermore, by increase in SR up to 180 kg ha⁻¹, NTA, NAA, and CAG were significantly increased, while CTG was at first significantly decreased then increased (Table 4).

		To	tal N Accum	ulation kg h	a^{-1}		N Trans	location	
N kg ha ⁻¹	SR kg ha ⁻¹	So-JT	JT-An	An -M	So-M	NTA kg ha $^{-1}$	CTG%	NAA kg ha $^{-1}$	CAG%
N ₀	SR135	25.6 ^h	53.4 ⁱ	12.4 g	91.4 k	48.3 ^j	70.1 ^{ab}	27.4 j	29.9 ^{de}
	SR180	28.5 g	60.4 ^h	14.5 ^f	103.4 ⁱ	55.5 ⁱ	69.4 ^{bc}	31.5 ^ĥ	30.6 ^{cd}
	SR225	28.8 g	60.4 ^h	11 g	100.2 ^j	55.3 ⁱ	71 ^a	29.2 ⁱ	29 ^e
N ₁₈₀	SR135	41.3 ^f	97.2 ^g	23.2 ^e	161.6 ^h	84.3 ^h	68.4 ^{cd}	48.9 ^g	31.6 bc
	SR180	45.6 ^e	108.5 ^e	30.2 ^{cd}	184.3 ^f	97.8 ^f	68.2 ^d	56.5 ^e	31.8 ^b
	SR225	46.1 ^e	100.6 ^f	29.1 ^d	175.8 ^g	94.7 g	68.3 ^{cd}	54.2 ^f	31.7 bc
N235	SR135	57.4 ^d	135.1 ^d	29.7 ^{cd}	222.2 ^e	118.1 ^e	67.5 ^{de}	70 ^d	32.5 ab
	SR180	61.7 ^{ab}	145.3 ^a	31.5 °	238.6 ab	125.9 ab	66.7 ^e	76.9 ^a	33.3 ^a
	SR225	61.6 ^{ab}	136.3 ^d	31.5 °	229.4 ^d	122.1 ^d	67.3 ^{de}	72.7 ^{bc}	32.7 ^{ab}
N ₂₉₀	SR135	59 °	140.1 ^b	31.3 ^c	230.4 ^d	123.2 ^{cd}	67.8 ^{de}	72.1 ^c	32.2 ab
	SR180	61.9 ^a	145.8 ^a	34.2 ^b	241.8 ^a	126.9 ^a	66.6 ^e	77.7 ^a	33.4 ^a
	SR225	61 ^b	138 ^c	36.1 ^a	235 °	124.6 bc	67.4 ^{de}	74.2 ^b	32.6 ab
F-Value	Ν	1159 **	2229 **	628.1 **	6418 **	9584 **	44.2 **	436.6 **	44.2 **
	SR	270.4 **	377.9 **	31.8 **	1283 **	195.7 **	5.7 *	115.6 **	5.7 *
	N*SR	7.1 **	31.7 **	8.72 **	44.3 **	15.81 **	1	3.03 *	1

Table 4. Combination effects of N and SR on total N accumulation and translocation in 2018–2019.

Note: SO-JT, JT-An, An-M, SO–M, NTA, CTG, NAA, and CAG represent jointing, jointing to anthesis, anthesis to maturity, sowing to maturity, pre-anthesis N translocation, contribution rate of N translocation to grain, nitrogen accumulation amount, and contribution rate of N accumulation to grain, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

Plant N partitioning was also influenced by N and SR. Compared with the control treatment (N_0), the N_{180} , N_{235} , and N_{290} treatments increased the N content by 53.8%, 153%, and 144% in the rachis + glumes, by 84.2%, 149.2%, and 157.6% in the culms + sheathes, and by 65.8%, 107.7%, and 109.4% in the part of leaves, respectively, at anthesis stage. However, this increase in N at the harvesting stage was by 78.7%, 140.3%, and 145.6% for grains, by 52.9%, 98.5%, and 103% for rachis + glumes, by 61.5%, 88.1%, and 99% for culms + sheathes, and by 113.7%, 182%, and 186% for leaves in treatments N_{180} , N_{235} , and N_{290} compared to N0 treatment, respectively. Additionally, compared to the SR₁₃₅ treatment, the SR₁₈₀ and SR₂₂₅ treatments increased N content by 8.6% and 1% at the rachis + glumes, by 1.7% and 2% at the culms + sheathes, and by 16% and 3.7% at the parts of leaves, respectively, at anthesis stage. Compared to SR_{135} treatment, the N content of the SR_{180} and SR_{225} treatments increased by 9.8% and 6.2% in grains, by 5.5% and 1.8% in the rachis + glumes, by 5.1% and -2% in the culms + sheathes, and by 5.5% and 2.7% in the leaves, respectively, at the maturity stage (Table 5). The range of the N distribution ratio of different parts, i.e., rachis + glumes, culms + sheathes, and leaves were from 17% to 21.9%, from 39.1% to 47.1%, and from 33.5% to 41.6% at anthesis, respectively. The maturity stage range of N distribution range was 75.4% to 79.2%, from 5.8% to 7.4%, 8.8% to 11.9%, and from 5% to 6.4% for grains, rachis + glumes, culms + sheathes, and leaves, respectively (Table 5).

Table 5. Combination effects of N and SR on N partitioning during anthesis and maturity stages in 2018–2019.

Nilesha-1	CD he he -1	N at	Grain	N at Rachi	s + Glumes	NA at Culm	ns + Sheaths	N at Leaves	
IN Kg na	SK kg na	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity
N ₀	SR ₁₃₅		68.9 ^f	15 g	6.8 ^c	34.9 g	10.9 ^e	29.2 ⁱ	4.9 ^d
	SR180		80 e	17.1 ^f	7.1 ^c	35.1 ^g	11.2 ^e	36.8 g	5.2 ^d
	SR225		77.8 ^{ef}	18.2 ^f	6.6 ^c	34.9 ^g	10.6 ^e	36.1 ^h	5.1 ^d
N ₁₈₀	SR135		123.2 ^d	25.7 ^e	10 ^b	65.2 ^e	18.1 ^{cd}	47.6 ^f	10.3 ^c
	SR180		143.4 ^c	26.2 ^e	10.8 ^b	67.1 ^d	18.8 bc	60.8 ^e	11.3 ^b
	SR225		138.5 ^c	25.1 ^e	10.3 ^b	60.6 ^f	15.9 ^d	60.9 ^e	11 ^{bc}
N ₂₃₅	SR135		174.9 ^b	40.3 ^c	13.2 ^a	87.7 ^b	20.1 abc	64.5 ^d	14 ^a
	SR180		188.9 ^a	45.4 ^a	13.9 ^a	88.4 ^b	21 ^{abc}	73.3 ^a	14.7 ^a
	SR225		181.4 ^{ab}	41.2 ^c	13.4 ^a	85.7 ^c	20.2 abc	70.9 ^b	14.4 ^a

N ka ha-1	SP ka ha-1	N at Grain		N at Rachi	N at Rachis + Glumes		ns + Sheaths	N at Leaves	
IN Kg IIa	SK Kg lla	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity	Anthesis	Maturity
N ₂₉₀	SR135		181.7 ^{ab}	40.8 ^c	13.5 ^a	89.1 ^b	20.7 ^{abc}	69.2 ^c	14.4 ^a
	SR ₁₈₀		190.4 ^a	43.5 ^b	14.1 ^a	91.2 ^a	22.5 ^a	73 ^a	14.8 ^a
	SR ₂₂₅		184.9 ^a	38.1 ^d	13.9 ^a	89.5 ^{ab}	21.7 ^{ab}	71.4 ^b	14.5 ^a
F-Value	Ν		845.1 **	2010.4 **	322.7 **	5132.3 **	83.3 **	24379 **	595 **
	SR		19.80 **	36.8 **	4.35 *	19.9 **	2.02	2256 **	3.63 *
	N*SR		0.98	13.9 **	0.2	5.6 *	0.66	172.9 **	0.3

Table 5. Cont.

Note: N, SR, and NA represent nitrogen application, seed rate, and N accumulation, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively. Revision as above.

2.5. N Use Efficiency (NU_E) Parameters

N rates, SR, and their interaction had a significant effect on N agronomy efficiency (NA_E), N uptake efficiency (NUP_E), and N partial factor productivity (NPFP). Increasing N level up to N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹, NA_E, NUP_E, N recovery efficiency (NR_E), and N harvest index (NHI) were significantly increased. However, increasing N levels beyond N₂₃₅ kg ha⁻¹, NA_E, NR_E, and NUP_E were significantly decreased. The NPFP values were decreased at all N levels. Furthermore, the NA_E, NR_E, NUP_E, NPFP, and NHI values decreased by 12.8%, 10.4%, 17.3%, 13.6%, and 0.4%, respectively, at N₂₉₀ treatment compared to N₂₃₅ treatment. Similarly, SR had a considerable effect on the NU_E parameters, but the effect of SR was less compared to the N treatment. Maximum values for the parameters NA_E, NR_E, and NUP_E were observed from the combination of treatment with N₂₃₅ and SR₁₈₀ (Table 6).

Table 6. Combination effects of N and SR on N use efficiency parameters in 2018–2019.

N.D. (. 1., 1., -1	CD 111	NA _E	NR _E	NUP _E	NPFP	NHI
N Kate kg ha ⁻¹	SK kg na ⁻¹	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	%	$ m kgkg^{-1}$	${ m kg}{ m kg}^{-1}$	%
N ₀	SR ₁₃₅					0.75 ^f
	SR ₁₈₀					0.77 ^{de}
	SR ₂₂₅					0.77 ^{de}
N ₁₈₀	SR ₁₃₅	9.0 ^f	39 ^e	0.9 ^c	31.2 ^c	0.76 ^{ef}
	SR ₁₈₀	10.7 ^{de}	44.9 ^{cd}	1.02 ^a	37.3 ^a	0.78 ^{bc}
	SR ₂₂₅	10 ^e	42 ^{de}	0.98 ^a	36.9 ^a	0.79 ^{ab}
N ₂₃₅	SR ₁₃₅	14.4 ^a	53.4 ^a	0.95 ^b	30.8 ^c	0.79 ^{ab}
	SR ₁₈₀	14.4 ^a	55.2 ^a	1.02 ^a	34 ^b	0.79 ^{ab}
	SR ₂₂₅	13.5 ^b	52.7 ^a	0.98 ^b	33.3 ^b	0.8 ^a
N ₂₉₀	SR ₁₃₅	13.4 ^b	48.8 ^b	0.8 ^d	27.4 ^e	0.79 ^{ab}
	SR ₁₈₀	12.1 ^c	48.6 ^b	0.83 ^d	28.9 ^d	0.79 ^{ab}
	SR ₂₂₅	11.4 ^{cd}	47.3 ^{bc}	0.81 ^d	28.4 ^{de}	0.79 ^{ab}
F-value	Ν	156.4 **	82.6 **	3774.8 **	180.8 **	17.6 **
	SR	6.4 **	4.4 *	20.04 **	55.4 **	7.1 **
	N*SR	8.76 **	2.16	4.27 **	9.12 **	1.88

Note: N, SR, NA_E, NR_E, NUP_E, NPFP, and NHI represent nitrogen rate, seed rate, nitrogen agronomy efficiency, N recovery efficiency, N uptake efficiency, N partial factor productivity, and N harvest index, respectively. Different letters in the same column represent significant differences in mean values of three replicate plots according to Duncan's test; * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

2.6. Correlation Analysis

2.6.1. Correlation of GY with Agronomic and Photosynthesis Traits

The key relationships between the GY-related parameter variables are shown in Table 7. There was a significant positive correlation between GY and NS, NGS, TGW, PH, HI, Pn, Gs, SPAD value, and LAI. However, there was no significant relationship between GY and PH (Table 7).

	GY	NS	NGS	TGW	PH	HI	Pn	Gs	SPAD	LAI
GY	1	0.854 **	0.893 **	0.626 **	0.116	0.879 **	0.917 **	0.788 **	0.889 **	0.961 **
NS		1	0.535 **	0.418 *	0.346*	0.733 **	0.641 **	0.492 **	0.638 **	0.777 **
NGS			1	0.613 **	-0.08	0.804 **	0.942 **	0.860 **	0.909 **	0.900 **
TGW				1	0.212	0.432 **	0.676 **	0.566 **	0.699 **	0.633 **
PH					1	-0.102	0.031	-0.138	0.22	0.117
HI						1	0.747 **	0.660 **	0.673 **	0.821 **
Pn							1	0.852 **	0.951 **	0.923 **
Gs								1	0.813 **	0.814 **
SPAD									1	0.894 **
LAI										1

Table 7. Correlation analysis of grain yield with agronomic and photosynthesis traits.

Note: GY: grain yield; NS: number of spikes; NGS: number of grains per spike; TGW: 1000 grain weight per gram; PH: plant height (cm); HI: harvest index; Pn: net photosynthesis; Gs: stomatal conductance; SPAD: leaf greenness; LAI: leaf area index. * and ** mean significantly correlation at * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

2.6.2. Relationship between GY and Enzyme Activities and NUE Parameters

Grain yield had a significant and positive relationship with nitrogen reductase (NR) and glutamine synthesis (GS) enzymes, N agronomic efficiency (NA_E) , N recovery efficiency (NR_E) , and N uptake efficiency (NUP_E) . However, GY had a significantly negative relationship with N translocation's contribution before anthesis to grain (CTG) (Figure 6).

Increasing N application from 235 to 290 kg ha⁻¹, GY did not increase significantly (0.4%) while NA_E , NR_E , and NUP_E were decreased 12.8%, 10.4%, and 17.3%, respectively. Maximum GY and highest values of NU_E parameters, particularly NA_E , NR_E , and NUP_E , were observed from the combination of treatment with N_{235} and SR_{180} (Tables 1 and 6).



Figure 6. Regression analyses among GY and nitrate reductase (NR)/(**A**) glutamine synthesis (GS)/(P**B**), N agronomy efficiency (NAE)/(**C**), N recovery efficiency (NR_E)/(**D**), N uptake efficiency (NUP_E)/(**E**), and contribution of N translocation to the grain after the anthesis stage (CTG)/(**F**), respectively. * $p \le 0.05$ and ** $p \le 0.001$, respectively.

3. Discussion

DM and N translocation are well-known to greatly contribute to the final GY [22,23]. However, there is a lack of research on the combined effects of N and SR on the DM and N translocation, NU_E parameters, growth physiological parameters, and their relationship with GY in winter wheat. The effects of the excessive rate of N and N's compensation by increasing SR on final GY and NU_E parameters were unknown.

3.1. Physiological Characteristics

The plant leaf's photosynthesis capacity plays a crucial role in plant growth and grain yield [24], and approximately 70% of productivity is derived from post-anthesis photosynthesis. In the present study, increasing N application and decreasing SR, resulted in a significantly increased Pn, Gs, and SPAD values in both growing seasons. Furthermore, LAI was significantly increased by increasing N application and SR (Figures 1–3). However, it has shown that the maximum values for Pn, Gs, and SPAD parameters were exhibited from the combination of $N_{290} + SR_{135}$ treatment but there were no significant differences between the mentioned and $N_{235} + SR_{180}$ treatment. The main reason for decreasing the Pn, Gs, and SPAD values by increasing SR might be due to more competition and the overcrowded shading effect as reported by [25]. In addition, N reductase (NR) and glutamine synthesize (GS) increased significantly with the N application rate and the declaration of SR. Notably, there was no significant difference for the value of both mentioned enzyme activities when N fertilizer amount increased from N_{235} to N_{290} . These findings suggest N and SR's optimization benefits for maintaining strong photosynthesis capacity and N assimilation ability in wheat plants.

3.2. Grain Yield (GY) and N Use Efficiency (NU_E)

Simultaneous improvement in GY and NU_E of wheat is an important objective in modern agriculture management. Here, we investigated the suitable combinations of N and SR to obtain higher GY and NUE. The maximum value was observed with the treatment of $N_{235} + SR_{180}$ kg ha⁻¹ in both growing seasons. The previous finding can explain that too high plant density had no significant effect on wheat grain yield [11,26]. According to our results, yield loss caused by reducing the N rate can be compensated by increasing SR (Figure 2). It was estimated by a linear regression that every decrement of 1 kg N ha⁻¹ can be replaced by adding 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ SR. The GY obtained by adding SR is clearly attributed to the increasing spike number (SN) (Table 1). Moreover, the yield in 2017–2018 (Y1) was much lower than that in 2018–2019 (Y2), which may be due to the adverse weather conditions. There was excessive rainfall and less sunshine during grain filling in the first growing season (Figure 1), leading to lower yield components and GY [1].

 NU_E results from the incorporation of N-uptake efficiency (NUP_E) and N-utilization efficiency (NUT_E) [27]. In detail, NUP_E the plant's capacity to extract N from the soil, and depending on the root structure and the relation of N transporters [28]. In this study, increasing N application from N235 to N290 resulted in a decrease in NAE, NRE, NUPE, and NPFP by 12.8%, 10.4%, 17.3%, and 13.6%, respectively. Similarly, a result was obtained by [29] that treatment with N_{240} and N_{300} compared to treatment with N180, NPFP were decreased by 24.5% and 37.4% and NA_E were decreased by 23.5% and 31.9%, respectively. The decrease in NU_E after the optimal rate might be due to more losses by increasing N application according to the previous finding of [11]. Here, our results further confirmed that NU_E components were significantly increased up to a certain amount of SR (180 kg ha⁻¹), which is in good agreement with the previous study [30]. This increase in the NU_E response to the high SR could be due to an increase in the density of the roots in the soil, which enhanced N from deeper parts of the soil. Therefore, it is not surprising that maximum values of NA_E , NR_E , and NUP_E were also observed from the optimal combined treatment $(N_{235} + SR_{180})$, which was also the case for grain yield (Table 2). Our study thereby provides a practical management method approaching higher GY and NUP_E by the optimization of N and SR.

3.3. Accumulation and Translocation of DM and N

Total dry matter accumulation and partitioning into separate parts of the plant were significantly affected by combined N and SR's combined treatments. The maximum value of total dry matter and individual parts especially grains, rachis + glumes, and leaves, was also obtained from the combination of $N_{235} + SR_{180}$ treatment. Recent studies reported that the contribution of pre-anthesis translocation to grain was significantly decreased when the N application rate increased [31,32]. Similarly, the result of the current experiment showed that the contribution of pre-anthesis DM translocation was significantly decreased with increasing N rate, while pre-anthesis DM translocation, post-anthesis DM accumulation, and contribution of post-anthesis DM accumulation to grain were significantly increased. The main reason for the decreasing contribution of pre-anthesis DM translocation to grain might be that early senescence occurred due to N deficiency, which would speed up the pre-translocation from leaf and stem to spike. Furthermore, increasing seed rate significantly increased pre-anthesis dry matter translocation, postanthesis DM accumulation, and contribution of post-anthesis DM accumulation to the grain. Parallel to our finding, it was reported that post-heading DM and N accumulation was significantly increased with increasing SR [33]. It should be noted that an excessive amount of N application (N_{290} kg ha⁻¹) as well as SR (SR₂₂₅ kg ha⁻¹) did not increase the amount of DM translocation.

Total N accumulation, partitioning, and translocation showed the same trend with the above part of DM. Both N and SR up to optimal levels (N_{235} , SR_{180}) significantly increased the total N content of individual parts. The same finding reported that no further increase was observed in the uptake of N at N fertilizer and the density of the plant beyond 240 kg N ha⁻¹ and 405 plants m⁻² [21,34]. N translocation, postanthesis N accumulation, and postanthesis N accumulation contribution of post-anthesis N accumulation to the grain were higher in the high N treatments compared to control and low N treatment. A similar result was found that N translocation and post-anthesis N accumulation were enhanced with increasing N application rate [23]. In the current experiment, N translocation, N accumulation after anthesis, and contribution of post-anthesis to grain response to seed rate were significantly increased from SR ₁₃₅ to SR ₁₈₀ kg ha⁻¹.

3.4. Relationship of GY with Related Parameters

Our results showed that GY has a significant and positive correlation with Pn, Gs, SPAD value, LAI, and other GY components (Table 7). This is similar to the results from the study by Jiang et al. [24]. Furthermore, the regression analyses also revealed that GY had a positive correlation with NR, GS, NA_E, NR_E, and NUP_E while showing a negative correlation with CTG (Figure 6). It was also observed that NR and GS activities were highly positively correlated with photosynthesis capacity, which is consistent with previous studies [35,36]. Here, we found that GY had a significant positive correlation with NU_E parameters such as NA_{F} , NRE, and NUP_{E} . This was not in agreement with the previous finding that GY showed a negative correlation with NU_E [37,38]. The reason might be due to a certain amount of N + SR (N_{235} + SR₁₈₀), in which both NU_E and GY were significantly higher up to the previous partnership. In conclusion, we found that N and SR's improper rate cannot increase GY, but significantly decreased NU_E . In this regard, to achieve the maximum GY and NU_E, it would be better to use the optimal amount of both N and SR, which is the result of the current experiment, and the suitable combined treatment was N₂₃₅ + SR₁₈₀. Furthermore, by using a suitable combination of N and SR (SR₁₈₀ N₂₃₅), replacing N to SR especially for balancing GY and NU_E would be the best method for sustainable agriculture. According to our findings, we infer that, based on low SR (SR₁₃₅), 1 kg ha⁻¹ N could be saved by increasing approximately 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ SR.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Plant Material and Experimental Site

The field experiment was conducted during two successive growing seasons (2017–18 and 2018–19) at the XuYi Rice and Wheat demonstration center ($118^{\circ}43'$ N and latitude $32^{\circ}59'$ E) in Jiangsu province, China. The winter wheat cultivar Ningmai 13 was used in both growing seasons. The soil type was clay loam and the pH was 6.8. It contained 31.07 g kg^{-1} of organic matter, 2449 g kg⁻¹ of available N, 27.3 mg kg⁻¹ of available phosphate, and 240 mg kg⁻¹ of available potassium. Seeds were sown on 31 October 2017, and 1 November 2018, and the crop was harvested on 3 June 2018, and 6 June 2019, respectively.

4.2. Experiment Design

The experiment was carried out according to the split-plot design with three replicates. The main plot consisted of three seed rates (SR₁₃₅, SR₁₈₀, and SR₂₂₅ kg ha⁻¹) and the subplot comprised two levels of doses of N in the first year (N₂₃₅ and N₂₉₀ kg ha⁻¹) and three N levels in second year of the experiment (N₁₈₀, N₂₃₅, and N₂₉₀ kg ha⁻¹). At the first growing season, there was no significant effect between N₂₃₅ and N₂₉₀ for GY, because of that we added N₁₈₀ kg ha⁻¹ treatment at the second growing season to determine the N effect as well to determine the optimum rate of N for GY. An N-control plot (N₀) was also used at the second growing season per replication for the calculation of NU_E parameters. N fertilizer was applied as urea (46%), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) fertilizer as calcium superphosphate (15%), and potassium chloride (60%) at the rates of 120 (P₂O₅) and 120 (K₂O) kg ha⁻¹. All of the phosphorus and potassium fertilizer and 70% of the total amount of N fertilizer (30%) was applied at the first node (31) according to BBCH. Each plot size was 4 × 3 m and consisted of 12 rows with a row-to-row distance of 25 cm.

In this experiment, the rice–wheat rotation system was undertaken for the long term. Rice cultivation techniques such as puddling, transplanting, and flooding, and the whole amount of straw returned to the field almost in the last decade. Only 5 cm of rice straw remains above the ground. Moldboard plough was followed by rotary plough as primary and secondly tillage. The depth of moldboard tillage was 20 cm and that of the rotary plough was 10 cm. Wheat seeds were sown with a seed drill precise machine with surface stubble plowing and roll compaction. For high-yield production, insects, diseases, and weeds were controlled two times by spraying insecticide (Biscaya), fungicide (Capalo), and herbicide (sulfosulfuron) during both growing seasons.

4.3. Grain Yield and Yield Components

Uniform plants at the flowering stage were tagged with labels and were sampled at a later stage. At the maturity stage, ears/spikes f rom the area of 0.5 m² (without taking a sample) of each plot were collected to determine GY and yield components.

4.4. Photosynthesis, SPAD, LAI, N, and Enzyme Activities in Leaves

Photosynthesis (Pn), stomatal conductance (Gs), SPAD, and LAI were measured at the jointing stage, anthesis, 10 days after anthesis (DAA), and 20 DAA. Pn and GS were measured by a portable gas exchange analyzer (LI-6400XT;LI-COR-Inc., Lincoln NE, USA) at 9:00–11:00 a.m. on a sunny day. The concentration of CO₂ in the leaf chamber, light intensity, and relative humidity were set as 380 µmol mol⁻¹, 1000–1100 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹, and 500 mL min⁻¹, respectively. The SPAD value was determined by Minolta 502 chlorophyll meter (Minolta, Japan). LAI was measured with using a leaf area meter (LI-3100, LI-COR, Lincoln, NE, USA). N concentration was determined by the micro Kjeldahl method [39]. Nitrate reductase (NR) and glutamine synthesis (GS) were determined according to the method previously described by [36] and [40].

4.5. Dry Matter (DM) and N Translocation

DM and N accumulation (DMA and NA), translocation, and their contribution were estimated according to [31] and [41] by using the following equations (Table 8).

Table 8. Equations for estimating dry matter and nitrogen translocation.

Parameters		Equation	T T 1	
Abbreviation	Denotation	Equation	Unit	
РТА	Pre-anthesis DM translocation	DM of vegetative parts at anthesis—at maturity	kg ha ⁻¹	
CPT	Contribution of pre-anthesis DM translocation to grain	PTA \div GY at maturity \times 100	%	
PAA	Post-anthesis DM accumulation	Biomass at maturity- biomass at anthesis	$\mathrm{kg}\mathrm{ha}^{-1}$	
СРА	Contribution of post-anthesis DM accumulation to grain	PAA \div GY at maturity \times 100	%	
NTA	Pre-anthesis N translocation	N of vegetative parts at anthesis—at maturity	$\mathrm{kg}\mathrm{ha}^{-1}$	
CTG	Contribution of pre-anthesis N translocation to grain	NTA \div grain N×100	%	
NAA	Post-anthesis N accumulation	Plant N accumulation at maturity—N accumulation at anthesis	$kg ha^{-1}$	
CAG	Contribution rate of post-anthesis N accumulation to grain	NAA \div grain N ×100	%	

4.6. Use Efficiency (NU_E) Parameters

 NU_E parameters were determined using the following equations described by [17], and [42] (Table 9).

Tab	le 9.	Equations	for estimating	NUE	parameters.
-----	-------	-----------	----------------	-----	-------------

Parameters		Emotion	T T 10
Abbreviation	Denotation	- Equation	Unit
NA _E	N agronomy efficiency	(GY with N—GY without N) ÷ N application rate	${\rm kg}{\rm kg}^{-1}$
NR _E	N recovery efficiency	(total N uptake with N- total N uptake without N) \div N application rate	%
NUP _E	N uptake efficiency	Above-ground N at harvesting ÷ N application rate	%
NPFP	N partial factor productivity	$GY \div N$ application rate	${ m kg}~{ m kg}^{-1}$
NHI	N harvest index	Grain N accumulation at maturity/plant N accumulation at maturity	${ m mg}{ m mg}^{-1}$

4.7. Weather Condition

Monthly average temperature, rainfall, and sunshine at the experimental site over two successive years (2017–2018 and 2018–2019) are presented in Figure 7. There was considerable variation between the two growing seasons. At the active tiller stage (from late January to the end of the first week of February), the minimum temperature in 2017–2018 was lower (-4.5 °C) compared to that of the second growing season (-0.5 °C). At the anthesis stage, the average rainfall in the first growing season was 538 mm, which was 64.02% higher than that in the second growing season (328 mm).



Figure 7. Metrological data: (monthly average temperature, rainfall (mm), and sunshine per hour) in two successive growing season.

4.8. Statistical Analysis

Two-way ANOVA (SPSS version 17.1) was used for analyzing the variance among different treatments. The means were tested with the least significant difference at the 0.05 probability level ($p \le 0.05$ by Duncan's). Pearson's correlation between grain yield and related parameters were calculated through the SPSS version17.1. All graphs and linear regression analyses was done by sigmaplot 14.0 software (Chicago, IL, USA).

5. Conclusions

In summary, the GY, DMA, NAC, NU_E parameters and physiological parameters increased significantly with the combination of N_{235} and SR_{180} . However, the excessive rate of N application cannot increase GY and other parts of plant DM but it decreased NA_E , NR_E , and NUP_E . Our result confirmed that maximum GY and higher NU_E components could be achieved via avoiding excessive use of N, and optimizing the compensation effect of increasing SR for reducing N application.

Author Contributions: M.H., Q.Z. and D.J. designed the experiments. M.H. analysed data, interpreted data, and wrote the original draft of the manuscript. M.H., A.S. and M.S.J. carried out the experiments, curated and analyzed data. M.H., J.C., X.W., Q.Z. and T.D. were involved in the management of the experiment. D.J. participated in supervision of the project. M.S.J., Q.Z. and D.J. participated in the critical reading and discussion of the manuscript, H.M. did formal analysis and methodology. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the projects of National Key Research and Development Program of China (2021YFF1000204, 2020YFE0202900), National Natural Science Foundation of China (32030076, U1803235, 31901458, 32172116), Jiangsu Agriculture Science and Technology Innovation Fund (JASTIF, CX(20)3086), Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20190509), the China Agriculture Research System (CARS-03), Jiangsu Collaborative Innovation Center for Modern Crop Production (JCIC-MCP), Jiangsu 333 program, and the 111 Project (B16026). The first author is thankful to Chinese Government Scholarship Council for providing scholarship to pursue an Msc at Nanjing Agricultural University.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

Slafer, G.A.; Savin, R.; Sadras, V.O. Coarse and fine regulation of wheat yield components in response to genotype and environment. *Field Crops Res.* 2014, 157, 71–83. [CrossRef]

- Lu, D.; Lu, F.; Yan, P.; Cui, Z.; Chen, X. Elucidating population establishment associated with N management and cultivars for wheat production in China. *Field Crops Res.* 2014, 163, 81–89. [CrossRef]
- 3. Efretuei, A.; Gooding, M.; White, E.; Spink, J.; Hackett, R. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer application timing on nitrogen use efficiency and grain yield of winter wheat in Ireland. *Ir. J. Agric. Food Res.* **2016**, *55*, 63–73. [CrossRef]
- Bly, A.G.; Woodard, H.J. Foliar nitrogen application timing influence on grain yield and protein concentration of hard red winter and spring wheat. Agron. J. 2003, 95, 335–338. [CrossRef]
- 5. Fageria, N.; Baligar, V. Enhancing nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants. Adv. Agron. 2005, 88, 97–185.
- Lawlor, D.W.; Lemaire, G.; Gastal, F. Nitrogen, plant growth and crop yield. In *Plant Nitrogen*; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2001; pp. 343–367.
- 7. Wang, Y.; Ren, T.; Lu, J.; Ming, R.; Li, P.; Hussain, S.; Cong, R.; Li, X. Heterogeneity in rice tillers yield associated with tillers formation and nitrogen fertilizer. *Agron. J.* 2016, 108, 1717–1725. [CrossRef]
- Huang, M.; Yang, C.; Ji, Q.; Jiang, L.; Tan, J.; Li, Y. Tillering responses of rice to plant density and nitrogen rate in a subtropical environment of southern China. *Field Crops Res.* 2013, 149, 187–192. [CrossRef]
- Balkcom, K.; Burmester, C. Nitrogen applications for wheat production across tillage systems in Alabama. Agron. J. 2015, 107, 425–434. [CrossRef]
- Terrile, I.I.; Miralles, D.J.; González, F.G. Fruiting efficiency in wheat (*Triticum aestivum L*): Trait response to different growing conditions and its relation to spike dry weight at anthesis and grain weight at harvest. *Field Crops Res.* 2017, 201, 86–96. [CrossRef]
- 11. Yang, D.; Cai, T.; Luo, Y.; Wang, Z. Optimizing plant density and nitrogen application to manipulate tiller growth and increase grain yield and nitrogen-use efficiency in winter wheat. *PeerJ* 2019, 7, e6484. [CrossRef]
- Ju, X.-T.; Xing, G.-X.; Chen, X.-P.; Zhang, S.-L.; Zhang, L.-J.; Liu, X.-J.; Cui, Z.-L.; Yin, B.; Christie, P.; Zhu, Z.-L. Reducing environmental risk by improving N management in intensive Chinese agricultural systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2009, 106, 3041–3046. [CrossRef]
- Mandic, V.; Krnjaja, V.; Tomic, Z.; Bijelic, Z.; Simic, A.; Ruzic Muslic, D.; Gogic, M. Nitrogen fertilizer influence on wheat yield and use efficiency under different environmental conditions. *Chil. J. Agric. Res.* 2015, 75, 92–97. [CrossRef]
- Fan, M.; Christie, P.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, F. Crop Productivity, Fertilizer Use, and Soil Quality in China; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2010; pp. 87–107.
- Ma, G.; Liu, W.; Li, S.; Zhang, P.; Wang, C.; Lu, H.; Xie, Y.; Ma, D.; Kang, G. Determining the optimal N input to improve grain yield and quality in winter wheat with reduced apparent N loss in the North China Plain. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2019, 10, 181. [CrossRef]
- Qingfeng, M.; Shanchao, Y.; Peng, H.; Zhenling, C.; Xinping, C. Improving yield and nitrogen use efficiency simultaneously for maize and wheat in China: A review. *Pedosphere* 2016, 26, 137–147.
- 17. Wu, Y.; Xi, X.; Tang, X.; Luo, D.; Gu, B.; Lam, S.K.; Vitousek, P.M.; Chen, D. Policy distortions, farm size, and the overuse of agricultural chemicals in China. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2018**, *115*, 7010–7015. [CrossRef]
- Hirel, B.; Le Gouis, J.; Ney, B.; Gallais, A. The challenge of improving nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants: Towards a more central role for genetic variability and quantitative genetics within integrated approaches. J. Exp. Bot. 2007, 58, 2369–2387. [CrossRef]
- López-Bellido, L.; López-Bellido, R.J.; Redondo, R. Nitrogen efficiency in wheat under rainfed Mediterranean conditions as affected by split nitrogen application. *Field Crops Res.* 2005, 94, 86–97. [CrossRef]
- Zhai, B.; Li, S. Response to nitrogen deficiency and compensation on growth and yield of winter wheat. *Plant Nutr. Fertilizer Sci.* 2005, 11, 308–313.
- 21. Tian, G.; Gao, L.; Kong, Y.; Hu, X.; Xie, K.; Zhang, R.; Ling, N.; Shen, Q.; Guo, S. Improving rice population productivity by reducing nitrogen rate and increasing plant density. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0182310. [CrossRef]
- 22. Dai, X.; Xiao, L.; Jia, D.; Kong, H.; Wang, Y.; Li, C.; Zhang, Y.; He, M. Increased plant density of winter wheat can enhance nitrogen–uptake from deep soil. *Plant Soil* 2014, *384*, 141–152. [CrossRef]
- 23. Meng, Q.; Yue, S.; Chen, X.; Cui, Z.; Ye, Y.; Ma, W.; Tong, Y.; Zhang, F. Understanding dry matter and nitrogen accumulation with time-course for high-yielding wheat production in China. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e68783. [CrossRef]
- 24. Dordas, C. Dry matter, nitrogen and phosphorus accumulation, partitioning and remobilization as affected by N and P fertilization and source–sink relations. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2009, 30, 129–139. [CrossRef]
- Jiang, D.; Dai, T.; Jing, Q.; Cao, W.; Zhou, Q.; Zhao, H.; Fan, X. Effects of long-term fertilization on leaf photosynthetic characteristics and grain yield in winter wheat. *Photosynthetica* 2004, 42, 439–446. [CrossRef]
- Bhatta, M.; Eskridge, K.M.; Rose, D.J.; Santra, D.K.; Baenziger, P.S.; Regassa, T. Seeding rate, genotype, and topdressed nitrogen effects on yield and agronomic characteristics of winter wheat. Crop Sci. 2017, 57, 951–963. [CrossRef]
- Geleta, B.; Atak, M.; Baenziger, P.; Nelson, L.; Baltenesperger, D.; Eskridge, K.M.; Shipman, M.; Shelton, D. Seeding rate and genotype effect on agronomic performance and end-use quality of winter wheat. *Crop Sci.* 2002, *42*, 827–832.
- 28. Xu, G.; Fan, X.; Miller, A.J. Plant nitrogen assimilation and use efficiency. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* **2012**, *63*, 153–182. [CrossRef]
- Masclaux-Daubresse, C.; Daniel-Vedele, F.; Dechorgnat, J.; Chardon, F.; Gaufichon, L.; Suzuki, A. Nitrogen uptake, assimilation and remobilization in plants: Challenges for sustainable and productive agriculture. *Ann. Bot.* 2010, 105, 1141–1157. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, J.; Dong, S.; Dai, X.; Wu, T.; Wang, X.; Bai, H.; Wang, L.; He, M. Combined effect of plant density and nitrogen input on grain yield, nitrogen uptake and utilization of winter wheat. *Vegetos-Int. J. Plant Res.* 2016, 29, 63–73. [CrossRef]

- 31. Zhang, J.H.; Jian-Li, L.; Zhang, J.-B.; Fu-Tao, Z.; Cheng, Y.-N.; Wei-Peng, W. Effects of Nitrogen Application rates on translocation of dry matter and Nitrogen utilization in Rice and Wheat. *Acta Agron. Sin.* **2010**, *36*, 1736–1742. [CrossRef]
- 32. Ma, D.-H.; Wang, Y.F.; Zhou, H.; Sun, H.J. Effect of Postanthesis Soil Water Status and Nitrogen on Grain Yield and Canopy Biomass Accumulation and Transportation of Winter Wheat. J. Triticeae Crops 2007, 5, 847–851.
- Arduini, I.; Masoni, A.; Ercoli, L.; Mariotti, M. Grain yield, and dry matter and nitrogen accumulation and remobilization in durum wheat as affected by variety and seeding rate. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2006, 25, 309–318. [CrossRef]
- Liu, W.; Wang, J.; Wang, C.; Ma, G.; Wei, Q.; Lu, H.; Xie, Y.; Ma, D.; Kang, G. Root growth, water and nitrogen use efficiencies in winter wheat under different irrigation and nitrogen regimes in North China Plain. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2018, *9*, 1798. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Xu, Z.Z.; Zhou, G.S. Combined effects of water stress and high temperature on photosynthesis, nitrogen metabolism and lipid peroxidation of a perennial grass Leymus chinensis. *Planta* 2006, 224, 1080–1090. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ferrario-Méry, S.; Valadier, M.-H.; Foyer, C.H. Overexpression of nitrate reductase in tobacco delays drought-induced decreases in nitrate reductase activity and mRNA. *Plant Physiol.* 1998, 117, 293–302. [CrossRef]
- 37. Ma, B.-L.; Biswas, D.K. Precision nitrogen management for sustainable corn production. In *Sustainable Agriculture Reviews*; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2015; pp. 33–62.
- 38. Biswas, D.K.; Ma, B.-L. Effect of nitrogen rate and fertilizer nitrogen source on physiology, yield, grain quality, and nitrogen use efficiency in corn. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 2016, *96*, 392–403. [CrossRef]
- Bremner, J.M.; Mulvaney, C. Nitrogen—Total. In Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties; Page, A.L., Miller, R.H., Keeney, D.R., Eds.; American Society of Agronomy, Soil Science Society of America: Madison, WI, USA, 1982; pp. 595–624.
- Zhang, C.; Peng, S.; Bennett, J. Glutamine synthetase and its isoforms in rice spikelets and rachis during grain development. J. Plant Physiol. 2000, 156, 230–233. [CrossRef]
- 41. Wu, H.; Xiang, J.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Peng, S.; Chen, H.; Zhu, D. Effects of post-anthesis nitrogen uptake and translocation on photosynthetic production and rice yield. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 12891. [CrossRef]
- 42. Pask, A.J.D.; Sylvester-Bradley, R.; Jamieson, P.D.; Foulkes, M.J. Quantifying how winter wheat crops accumulate and use nitrogen reserves during growth. *Field Crops Res.* 2012, 126, 104–118. [CrossRef]



Article



Agro-Physiological Traits of Kaffir Lime in Response to Pruning and Nitrogen Fertilizer under Mild Shading

Rahmat Budiarto ^{1,*}, Roedhy Poerwanto ², Edi Santosa ², Darda Efendi ² and Andria Agusta ³

- ¹ Department of Agronomy, Faculty of Agriculture, Universitas Padjadjaran, Jatinangor, Sumedang 45363, Indonesia
- ² Department of Agronomy and Horticulture, Faculty of Agriculture, IPB University, Dramaga, Bogor 16680, Indonesia
- ³ Research Center for Pharmaceutical Ingredient and Traditional Medicine, National Research and Innovation Agency, Cibinong 16911, Indonesia
- Correspondence: rahmat.budiarto@unpad.ac.id

Abstract: Mild shading has been reported to increase leaf production in kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix*) through the improvement of agro-physiological variables, such as growth, photosynthesis, and water-use efficiency; however, there is still a knowledge gap concerning its growth and yield after experiencing severe pruning in harvest season. Additionally, a specific nitrogen (N) recommendation for leaf-oriented kaffir lime is still unavailable due to its lesser popularity compared to fruit-oriented citrus. The present study determined the best pruning level and N dose based on agronomy and the physiology of kaffir lime under mild shading. Nine-month-old kaffir lime seedlings grafted to rangpur lime (*C. limonia*) were arranged in a split-plot design, i.e., N dose as a main plot and pruning as a subplot. Comparative analysis resulted in 20% higher growth and a 22% higher yield in the high-pruned plants by leaving 30 cm of main stem above the ground rather than short ones with a 10 cm main stem. Both correlation and regression analysis strongly highlighted the importance of N for leaf numbers. Plants treated with 0 and 10 g N plant⁻¹ showed N sufficiency; thus, the efficient recommendation for kaffir lime leaf production is 20 g N plant⁻¹.

Keywords: Citrus hystrix; chlorosis; leaf production; photosynthesis; shading

1. Introduction

Citrus is one of the leading, popular horticultural fruit commodities commonly used for fresh food and beverages [1–3]. Published biogeographic, genomic, and phylogenetic analyses determine the Southeast Himalayan foothills as the center of origin for most citrus species [4]. As one of the interesting *Citrus* taxa, lime is reported to have highly polymorphic characteristics, derived from four major *Citrus*, namely *C. medica*, *C. maxima*, *C. micrantha* and *C. reticulata*) [5]. In contrast, the kaffir lime is classified as a relatively minor citrus and apparently wild, native to central Malesia or the Southeast Asian region [6]. This lime is well-designed as a leaf-oriented target due to its aromatic leaves being used as spices in numerous Asian dishes [7–9]. Aside from its fragrance, the bifoliate characteristics of kaffir lime leaves can be used to differentiate this species from others [10,11]. The leaf of the kaffir lime is also famous for producing essential oils [12] that possess several bioactivities, such as antifeedant [13], antibacterial [14], and larvicide [15]. Due to its importance as a spice and an essential oil raw material, the demand for kaffir lime leaves is potentially increased. Thus, some effort is required to meet those needs. General strategies to boost plant production could employ both input intensification and land expansion [16].

Kaffir lime generally grows naturally or is planted in polyculture in the yard by residents with a non-intensive cultivation system [7,9]. In nature, kaffir lime typically grows from seed and shows a high tree appearance, long and large thorns, dense canopy and

Citation: Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Agro-Physiological Traits of Kaffir Lime in Response to Pruning and Nitrogen Fertilizer under Mild Shading. *Plants* **2023**, *12*, 1155. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants12051155

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 5 February 2023 Revised: 24 February 2023 Accepted: 27 February 2023 Published: 3 March 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).
branches, so leaf harvest is less effective and efficient. On the other hand, several local communities in Tulungagung, Indonesia have implemented monoculture and semi-intensive kaffir lime cultivation [9]. Previous research has also proven that modification of cultivation under low-level shading (light reduction of about 23%) can produce beneficial stress, increasing the growth rate and yield of kaffir lime leaves by 84 and 63%, respectively [17]. Although that increasing response has been reported in the first harvest period, further research is urgently needed to confirm yields in the following period.

Kaffir lime experiences heavy pruning during its harvesting season. Heavy pruning is carried out by cutting most of the canopy and leaving a portion of the main stem for successive growth in the next period [9]. The remaining part of the main stem should be studied further since no standard has been set. Based on the results of interviews with several farmers, the previous studies reported a variation in the height of the postharvest main stem of between 10 and 30 cm above ground level [9]. The difference in that height is associated with the severity level of pruning. The height of the remaining main stem should be studied further as it relates to food reserves for growth in further seasons. Pruned plants may likely experience a different source and sink balance condition than unpruned ones. Too severe pruning may result in improper vegetative growth. Earlier studies reported a vegetative growth reduction of mandarin citrus due to heavy pruning [18]. Concerning leaf-oriented citrus such as kaffir lime, vegetative growth inhibition can directly threaten yields and profits. Therefore, there is an urgency to obtain the best pruning level for kaffir lime.

In addition to the importance of determining the pruning severity, optimizing leaf production in kaffir lime agribusiness needs to be supported by the best nitrogen (N) fertilizer doses. N is the imperative macronutrient for normal plant growth and development [19]. More specifically, this nutrient is required for producing chlorophyll, proteins, nucleic acids [20], amino acids, and sugar [21]. Thus, plant productivity highly depends upon N fertilization [22,23]. Previous studies have proven the role of N in increasing the vegetative growth of Eureka lemons and Maltese sweet citrus [24]. Concerning the kaffir lime, previous studies reported a strong and positive correlation between leaf nitrogen status and leaf oil production [25], strengthening the argument that N is urgently needed to produce good quality kaffir lime leaves. Unfortunately, there is no specific N-fertilizer dosage recommendation for leaf-oriented citrus such as kaffir lime. In Indonesia, the citrus research center has issued a recommendation only for fruit-oriented citrus, with a range of 10–20 g N per plant, for 1-year-old plants [26]. This dosage can be used as a reference for compiling specific recommendations for leaf-oriented kaffir lime cases.

Interestingly, there are some knowledge gaps pertaining to kaffir lime leaf production, i.e., the confusion resulting from a variation in the height of the postharvest main stem, the lack of information on the growth and yield in the following post-pruning period under similar mild-shading conditions, and the missing specific N recommendations for leaf-oriented production. Therefore, the present study aimed to determine the best pruning level and N dose based on the agro-physiological characteristics of kaffir lime under mild shading.

2. Results

2.1. Nitrogen Status in Soil, Leaves, and Canopy N Uptake

The present experiment measured both N status in leaves and soil at 90 DAT, and the results showed no significant differences in total soil N levels under different doses of N fertilizer applied (Figure 1A). The total N content of the soil in all the treatments ranged from 0.19 to 0.20%. In contrast, N-fertilizer doses had a noticeable effect on the total N content of the leaf tissue, with the highest N–leaf tissue in the highest N-fertilizer dose (40 g plant⁻¹), while the lowest N–leaf tissue in control/no N fertilizer applied. Compared to the control, the increase in N–leaf tissue was varied, by about 13% on 10 g N plant⁻¹, 17% on 20 g N plant⁻¹, and 34% on 40 g N plant⁻¹. Similarly, the increase in N-fertilizer doses was surely followed by a significant improvement in canopy N uptake (Figure 1B).



Figure 1. (A) Bar chart of nitrogen status on kaffir lime leaves and soil, and (B) regression curve of kaffir lime canopy nitrogen uptake under different nitrogen-fertilizer dosage. Note: mean values followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05.

The results of the regression analysis showed a high coefficient of determination (R²) of 0.99. It was likely that the N-fertilizer dose variable could be used to estimate kaffir lime canopy N uptake by employing the provided mathematical equation. Additionally, correlation analysis also confirmed (i) the insignificant and weak correlation between N–soil and N–leaf tissue; and (ii) the significant, positive, and strong correlation between N–leaf tissue and canopy N uptake (r 0.97) (Table 1). The importance of N, as represented by canopy N uptake, for plant growth and physiological processes was also proved by correlation analysis, since canopy N uptake showed significant, positive, and strong correlation to certain variables of plant growth and physiology, namely relative growth rate, shoot number, leaf numbers, plant fresh weight, and leaf chlorophyll content.

Table 1. Pearson correlation analysis between nitrogen status, characteristics of production and physiology of kaffir lime.

	NTS	NLC	CNU	RGR	PH	SN	LN	LFW	PFW	PR	SC	TR	CA	CB	CT
NLC	0.05														
CNU	0.28	0.97													
RGR	0.42	0.93	0.98												
PH	0.57	0.84	0.94	0.97											
SN	0.15	0.98	0.98	0.96	0.87										
LN	0.39	0.93	0.98	0.99	0.94	0.97									
LFW	0.61	0.82	0.92	0.97	0.97	0.87	0.97								
PFW	0.44	0.92	0.98	0.99	0.97	0.95	0.99	0.98							
PR	0.54	0.82	0.92	0.94	0.99	0.84	0.90	0.93	0.94						
SC	0.40	0.27	0.33	0.43	0.30	0.40	0.50	0.53	0.44	0.17					
TR	0.53	-0.79	-0.65	-0.51	-0.40	-0.71	-0.52	-0.30	-0.50	-0.43	0.19				
CA	0.07	0.98	0.97	0.91	0.86	0.96	0.90	0.80	0.91	0.86	0.13	-0.81			
CB	0.05	0.98	0.96	0.91	0.85	0.96	0.89	0.79	0.90	0.85	0.13	-0.82	0.99		
CT	0.06	0.98	0.97	0.91	0.86	0.96	0.90	0.80	0.90	0.86	0.13	-0.81	1.00	0.99	
ANT	-0.77	0.58	0.37	0.24	0.04	0.50	0.28	0.02	0.22	0.04	-0.04	-0.89	0.53	0.55	0.54

Note: NTS—nitrogen total in soil, NLC—nitrogen content in leaves, CNU—canopy nitrogen uptake, RGR relative growth rate, PH—plant height, SN—shoot numbers, LN—leaf numbers, LFW—fresh weight of leaves, PFW—plant fresh weight, PR—photosynthetic rate, SC—stomatal conductivity, TR—transpiration rate, CA chlorophyll α , CB—chlorophyll β , CT—chlorophyll total.

2.2. Growth Performance under Different Pruning Levels and N Dosages

Growth performance seemed to be significantly affected by the single factor effect, rather than a combination of both N dosage and pruning factor (Table 2). The results of the analysis of correlation highlighted the positive, strong and significant correlation between relative growth rate (RGR) to plant height (r 0.97), number of shoots (r 0.96) and number of leaves (r 0.99) (Table 1). Another statistical analysis, namely DMRT, also

reported that the RGR, plant height, and number of leaves were increased significantly, along with the increase in the dose of N fertilizer given. Plants treated with 40 g N per plant showed the best growth performance, especially compared to the control, by displaying significant improvements of about 99% on RGR, 48% on plant height, and 146% on leaf numbers. However, the best growth performance on the 40 g N plant⁻¹ treatment was not significantly different to the 20 g N plant⁻¹.

 Table 2. Kaffir lime growth performance under different pruning levels and nitrogen-fertilizer dosages.

Treatment	RGR (g week ⁻¹)	Plant Height (cm)	Shoot Number	Leaf Numbers
	N	itrogen fertilizer (N) fac	ctor	
0 g N	$1.71\pm0.27~\mathrm{c}$	53.75 ± 14.75 b	$6.50\pm1.05\mathrm{b}$	$52.50\pm9.07\mathrm{c}$
10 g N	$2.39\pm0.22b$	$58.75 \pm 13.65 \mathrm{b}$	$7.50\pm1.38\mathrm{a}~\mathrm{b}$	$90.50\pm8.55~b$
20 g N	3.15 ± 0.43 a	79.13 ± 24.91 a	$7.83\pm1.72~\mathrm{a}$	117.33 ± 10.31 a
40 g N	$3.40\pm0.38~\mathrm{a}$	$79.29 \pm 23.27 \text{ a}$	$8.67\pm2.34~\mathrm{a}$	$129.17\pm8.40~\mathrm{a}$
		Pruning (P) factor		
SP (10 cm)	$2.42\pm0.65\mathrm{b}$	51.87 ± 8.95 b	$8.92\pm1.56~\mathrm{a}$	$92.92\pm32.54~\mathrm{a}$
HP (30 cm)	$2.90\pm0.78~\mathrm{a}$	$83.59\pm19.41~\mathrm{a}$	$6.33\pm0.65b$	$101.83 \pm 30.69 \text{ a}$
N*P	Ns	Ns	Ns	Ns

Note: mean values within the same column and same factor followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05. RGR—relative growth rate, SP—short pruning, HP—high pruning, N*P—the interaction of nitrogen-fertilizer dosages and pruning levels, Ns—not significant.

Harvesting activity employing a high pruning type (leaving the main stem at 30 cm above the ground) stimulated greater support to subsequent kaffir lime growth, rather than the short pruning type (leaving the main stem at 10 cm above the ground). The high pruning type had 20% greater growth rate than the short ones. However, the short pruning type successfully induced more shoots than the high ones. In terms of leaf numbers, the result was not significantly different between the treatments.

2.3. Plant Production under Different Pruning Levels and N Dosages

The statistical analysis depicted an insignificant interaction effect of N dose and pruning on all the variables observed related to plant production. Kaffir lime production was solely influenced either by N dose or pruning. Concerning N-fertilizer dosage, the best results of plant fresh weight were observed in plants fertilized with 40 g N that experienced an increase of 55.13 g compared to control. However, it was not markedly different from those fertilized with 20 g N (Table 3). The fresh weight of plants fertilized with 10 g N was 30% higher than controls. However, it was still 25% lower than those fertilized with 40 g N. Concerning the pruning levels, the short-pruned type is thought to have a lower assimilated reserve than the high-pruned ones, leading to a lower production response. Pruning by leaving 30 cm of the main stem above the ground resulted in the improvement of plant and leaf production by about 28 and 22%, respectively, compared to the short pruning type.

The present experiment also revealed the partition of biomass in the entire plant body in response to N dose and pruning factor. In the absence of N fertilizer, the stem became the most dominant part, representing more than 50%. In the presence of N fertilizer, the more N applied, the more dominant the leaf biomass, exceeding the stem portion, in contrast to previous case (Figure 2A). Unlike the root and stem parts, the leaves are the most commercially valuable part of the kaffir plant. Therefore, the context of yield in kaffir lime is associated with the number and weight of leaves harvested in a certain unit of growing area. The estimation of leaf production extrapolated from the present findings, showed that plants fertilized with 40 g N and 20 g N received the best treatment, with an increase in yield of more than $2 \times$ compared to control (Figure 2B). In addition, regression analysis also re-confirmed and identified a strong association between (i) leaf fresh weight and N dose (Figure 3A) and (ii) leaf numbers and N dose (Figure 3B). The application of N fertilizers at various doses showed a quadratic pattern on both the fresh weight of leaves ($R^2 = 0.9864$) and leaf numbers ($R^2 = 0.9998$). The fresh weight of leaves in plants fertilized with 10 g N, 20 g N and 40 g N increased over controls, by 82, 174 and 198% respectively. The number of leaves in plants fertilized with 10 g N, 20 g N and 40 g N increased over controls, by 72, 123 and 146% respectively. However, there was no significant difference in fresh weight of leaves and number of leaves between 40 g N plant⁻¹ and 20 g N plant⁻¹.

Table 3. Plant production (fresh weight) of kaffir lime under different pruning levels and nitrogenfertilizer dosages.

T 4 4		Fresh We	eight (g)	
Ireatment	Plant	Leaves	Stem	Root
	Nitr	ogen-fertilizer (N) fa	ctor	
0 g N	$76.36 \pm 13.18 \text{ c}$	$19.33 \pm 3.65 \text{ c}$	$39.29\pm8.\ 21\ \mathrm{c}$	17. 75 \pm 1.73 c
10 g N	$99.10\pm11.74\mathrm{b}$	$35.22 \pm 3.67 \mathrm{b}$	$44.69\pm7.~53~\mathrm{b}$	19. $18\pm1.$ 72 bc
20 g N	124.51 ± 20.15 a	52. 99 \pm 9. 46 a	51. 94 \pm 9. 82 a	21.31 ± 1.83 ab
40 g N	$131.53 \pm 16.56 \text{ a}$	$57.23\pm5.$ 59 a	50. 21 \pm 10.91 a	22. 37 \pm 1.43 a
		Pruning (P) factor		
SP (10 cm)	$94.71\pm20.98b$	37. 12 ± 14.67 b	38. 46 \pm 4. 44 b	19. $13\pm2.~36~\mathrm{b}$
HP (30 cm)	$121.03\pm25.94~\mathrm{a}$	45. 26 \pm 17. 66 a	$54.61\pm6.80~\mathrm{a}$	21. 16 \pm 2. 10 a
N*P	Ns	Ns	Ns	Ns

Note: mean values within the same column and same factor followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05. SP—short pruning, HP—high pruning, N*P—the interaction of nitrogen-fertilizer dosages and pruning levels, Ns—not significant.



Figure 2. (A) Biomass partition and (B) estimated leaf production (ton per ha) of kaffir lime under different nitrogen-fertilizer dosages and pruning levels.



Figure 3. Regression curve of kaffir lime (**A**) fresh weight of leaves and (**B**) leaf numbers under different nitrogen-fertilizer dosages. Note: mean values followed by the same letter within the same curve are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05.

2.4. Physiological Response of Kaffir Lime under Different Pruning Levels and N Dosages

The alteration of growth and production of kaffir lime in response to different N-fertilizer dosages and pruning levels was followed by the variable of plant physiology. Higher leaf production in N-fertilized plants was associated with an increase in the rate of plant photosynthesis. The rate of photosynthesis between plants fertilized with 20 g N and 40 g of N was insignificant; however, there was a noticeable increase of about 15% compared to both control (0 g N) and 10 g N (Table 4). In contrast, there was no significant difference in N-fertilizer dosage on stomatal conductance, transpiration rate, stomatal limitation to CO₂ uptake, and water-use efficiency (WUE) in the kaffir lime plants. Stomatal conductance, transpiration rates, intrinsic WUE and instantaneous LUE in the present experiment varied in the range of 0.37–0.38 mol H₂O m⁻² s⁻¹, 6.25–6.59 mmol H₂O m⁻² s⁻¹, 2.68–3.23 µmol CO₂ mmol H₂O⁻¹, and 0.58–0.98 µg lux⁻¹, respectively.

 Table 4. Kaffir lime physiological response under different pruning levels and nitrogen-fertilizer dosages.

Treatment	Pn	Tr	Sc	WUE	LUE
		Nitrogen-ferti	lizer (N) factor		
0 g N	$17.52\pm1.19~\mathrm{b}$	6.54 ± 1.56	0.371 ± 0.09	2.68 ± 0.76	0.58 ± 1.56
10 g N	$17.63\pm1.22~\mathrm{b}$	6.50 ± 1.85	0.383 ± 0.12	2.74 ± 0.66	0.74 ± 1.85
20 g N	$20.03\pm1.13~\mathrm{a}$	6.59 ± 1.39	0.381 ± 0.09	3.04 ± 0.81	0.92 ± 1.39
40 g N	$20.20\pm0.99~\mathrm{a}$	6.25 ± 0.96	0.376 ± 0.06	3.23 ± 1.03	0.98 ± 0.96
		Pruning	(P) factor		
H10	18.69 ± 1.81	6.70 ± 1.64	$0.397\pm0.10~\mathrm{a}$	$2.81\pm1.\ 10$	0.71 ± 1.64
H30	18.99 ± 1.59	6.24 ± 1.22	$0.358\pm0.08~b$	$3.04\pm1.\ 30$	0.90 ± 1.22
N*P	Ns	Ns	Ns	Ns	Ns

Note: mean values within the same column and same factor followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05. Pn—photosynthetic rate (µmol CO₂ m⁻² s⁻¹), Tr—transpiration rate (µmol H₂O m⁻² s⁻¹), SC—stomatal conductance (mol H₂O m⁻² s⁻¹), SL—stomatal limitation to CO₂ uptake (mol m⁻² s⁻¹), WUE—intrinsic water-use efficiency (µmol CO₂ mmol H₂O⁻¹), LUE—instantaneous light-use efficiency (µmol X⁻¹). Ns—not significant, N*P—the interaction of nitrogen-fertilizer dosages and pruning levels.

As the only variable that was significantly affected by N-fertilizer dose, the rate of photosynthesis in kaffir lime was strong and positively correlated to the content of chlorophyll, i.e., chlorophyll a (r 0.86) and chlorophyll b (r 0.85) (Table 1). The chlorophyll content increased along with the increase in N fertilizer applied to kaffir lime plants and was actually supported by the morphological fact that could be seen directly in the field. Based on field observations, the yellowish color on kaffir lime leaves fertilized with 0 g N and 10 g plant⁻¹ was an early symptom of N-deficiency stress. Meanwhile, plants with 20 g N

and 40 g N plant⁻¹ experienced normal green leaves, presumably not experiencing a Ndeficiency condition (Figure 4). Such external leaf color variations between the N-fertilizer dosages used could be reconfirmed by the results of pigment analysis.



Figure 4. Kaffir lime appearance under different pruning levels and nitrogen-fertilizer dosages.

The statistical analysis of the pigment content of kaffir lime revealed the significant effect of N dosage on plant chlorophyll content, both chlorophyll α and chlorophyll β . The absence of N-fertilizer application on the control treatment showed the lowest pigment chlorophyll content of all (Table 5). The higher the N-fertilizer dose applied, the higher the content of chlorophyll, chlorophyll β and chlorophyll total in kaffir lime leaves. In the 40 g N treatment, the content of chlorophyll α and chlorophyll β and its total chlorophyll increased significantly, by about 1.37 mg g⁻¹, 0.48 mg g⁻¹, respectively and 1.85 mg g⁻¹ compared to the lime without fertilizer.

Treatment	Chlorophyll α (mg g ⁻¹)	Chlorophyll β (mg g ⁻¹)	Chlorophyll Total (mg g^{-1})	Anthocyanin (mg 100 g ⁻¹)
0 g N	$0.319\pm0.12~d$	$0.122\pm0.06~d$	$0.441\pm0.17~d$	$0.063\pm0.04~\mathrm{a}$
10 g N	$0.618\pm0.08~\mathrm{c}$	$0.229\pm0.02~\mathrm{c}$	$0.846\pm0.10~\mathrm{c}$	$0.077\pm0.01~\mathrm{a}$
20 g N	$0.953\pm0.06\mathrm{b}$	$0.337\pm0.02b$	$1292\pm0.09~\mathrm{b}$	$0.051\pm0.01~\mathrm{a}$
40 g N	$1.687\pm0.12~\mathrm{a}$	$0.603\pm0.04~\mathrm{a}$	$2.291\pm0.16~\mathrm{a}$	$0.088\pm0.01~\mathrm{a}$

 Table 5. Kaffir lime leaves' pigment content under different nitrogen-fertilizer dosages.

Note: mean values within the same column followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on DMRT at α 0.05.

3. Discussion

Pruning is the agricultural technique used to regulate plant growth, reduce pest and disease incidence, and increase horticultural management effectiveness [27–31]. Canopy rejuvenation is the foremost important benefit obtained from such a technique. In a rejuvenated canopy, new leaves grew to immediately restore the lost foliage [32] and these leaves possess much more productivity [33] due to the higher potential of carbon assimilation [32]. A previous study reported the use of light pruning in the form of pinching to induce robust canopy growth in early seedlings of kaffir lime [17]. In the postpruning

period, the massive growth of lateral shoots is caused by lowering apical dominance [34–36]. In the fruit-oriented major citrus of mandarin, heavy pruning was applied to rejuvenate the canopy, but as a result, there was a decline of vegetative growth due to a severe decline in plant resource capacity [18]. Thus, mild to moderate pruning was highly recommended for those kinds of citrus [37,38]. However, to harvest the leaf yield of kaffir lime, growers have to apply heavy pruning. Due to the nature of citrus plants which are sensitive to leaf disturbance [17,18], the pruning level should be adjusted to be lighter. Comparative analysis on the pruning factor resulted in a significant increase in growth rate, plant and leaf production by about 20, 28 and 22%, respectively, in the high pruning compared to the short pruning that left only 10 cm of the main stem. The higher assimilate reserve in the existing main stem could likely support a higher growth rate, and final yield, regardless of nitrogen doses. Therefore, the recommendation for pruning in kaffir lime is the high pruning type by leaving the main stem 30 cm above the grafted join spot.

Aside from pruning, nitrogen management was also evaluated to provide the first N-fertilizer recommendations for kaffir lime grown under artificial mild shading. Most citrus growers use leaf tissue rather than soil as the basis for fertilizer application. Leaf tissue is a more representative proxy for estimating a tree's nutritional status for mobile nutrients, such as nitrogen [39–41]. The result of the leaf-based nutritional test should be compared with the optimal range of that nutrient [42,43]; thus, there is an urgency to estimate the optimal range of nutrients for achieving a profitable citrus yield [44]. A previous study [45] found the variation in optimal leaf nutrient contents in four fruit-oriented popular citrus, namely oranges, mandarin, grapefruit and pomelo. The existence of variations in the optimal leaf nutrient content is thought to be related to differences in cultural practices, edaphic, climatic, and genetic factors [44]. In fact, leaf nutrient-based citrus fertilizer recommendation guidelines have been intensively studied for seventy years in the USA [46–48], and have been updated several times by numerous researchers [49–51].

Concerning leaf nitrogen, published studies have produced recommendations based on total leaf-N concentration for popular fruit-oriented citrus species [45,50,52]. Interestingly, the present study proposed the total leaf N range (2.06–2.36% N total) for the leaforiented minor citrus, kaffir lime, grown under mild shading. The correlation and regression analysis were adopted in the present experiment since earlier studies frequently used it to estimate the relationship between citrus yield and leaf nutrient concentrations [45,50,53]. Our findings highlighted the positive and strong correlation between leaf-N status and relative growth rate (r 0.93) and final leaf numbers harvested (r 0.93). Regression analysis also found positive quadratic patterns between (i) N-fertilizer dose and fresh weight of leaves (R² 0.9864) and (ii) N-fertilizer dose and leaf numbers (R² 0.9998).

Due to its quadratic pattern, a dose of 40 g N plant⁻¹ does not automatically become the best fertilizer recommendation. It has already been reported that plants fertilized with both 40 g N and 20 g N doubled the yield of the control. However, 20 g N plant⁻¹ is more efficient with a relatively similar effect to 40 g N plant⁻¹ for increasing growth rate, photosynthetic rate, fresh weight of leaves and leaf numbers of kaffir lime under mild-shading conditions. Mild shading was previously reported to produce a beneficial stress instead of a harmful one [17]. Best practice of N-fertilizer application under lightly shaded conditions may become a combo booster for kaffir lime leaf production. Similarly, the success of N fertilizer and beneficial shading for boosting plant growth performance was also reported by previous researchers, as indicated by larger and broader leaves [54], more dominant vegetative growth [55], and higher yield [56]. In contrast, slower plant growth leading to lower production performance was observed both in the control and the 10 g N plant⁻¹ treatment. Vegetative growth inhibition is a common plant response under N-deficient conditions [57].

Aside from vegetative improvement, another advantage of best N-fertilizing practice is the regulation of assimilate translocation priority. N adequacy seemed to alter the assimilate translocation priority in kaffir lime plants. A N-sufficient plant, treated with both 20 g N plant⁻¹ and 40 g N plant⁻¹, showed a dominant portion of leaves, while a deficient plant likely had a large portion of stem. Concerning agribusiness profit, the leaf part of the kaffir lime is more valuable and profitable than the stem or even the root [7,9,10], due to the content of various beneficial phytochemicals such as citronellal, citronellol, citronellyl acetate, linalool and caryophyllene that contribute to the strong aromatic formed [12,58,59].

The N-sufficient condition in the 20 g N plant⁻¹ and 40 g N plant⁻¹ displayed a good leaf–N total (>2%) associated with proper growth performance. That growth improvement is mainly caused by a higher photosynthetic rate and chlorophyll content. Similarly, the relationship between RGR to photosynthetic and chlorophyll content was confirmed by the correlation results, with coefficients of correlation of about 0.94 and 0.91, respectively. A N-sufficient status is vital for constructing optimal leaf photosynthesis. The leaf-N status represents the protein content for the Calvin cycle and thylakoids that are subsequently associated with leaf photosynthetic capacity [60]. Concerning the normal leaf cells of C₃ plants, including kaffir lime, N is allocated mostly in the chloroplast, at about 75%, with 10% in the cell wall, and 5% in mitochondria [61]. The variation of those partitions may occur in N-deficient conditions.

The N-deficient plant, as observed in the control and 10 g N plant⁻¹, displayed a low leaf-N total (<2%) and exhibited a yellow leaf appearance, implying a chlorosis phenomenon. The data of the chlorophyll test also displayed a significant reduction compared to the N-sufficient plant. Leaf chlorophyll content was previously reported to be crucial for assimilation rate since it positively and strong correlates to leaf photosynthetic rate [62]. The degradation of chlorophyll, called chlorosis, begins to appear on the lower leaves prior to spreading over the entire canopy, and even in severe cases, it can cause necrosis on old leaves [57]. Chlorosis, as a popular N-deficient symptom, is caused by a failure to form chlorophyll pigments [63]. A published study in oranges and pomelo described the main reason behind lowering CO₂ assimilation, i.e., impairment of the thylakoid structure and photosynthetic electron transport chain (PETC) in the leaves and declining leaf photosynthetic pigment levels [64]. Moreover, N-deficient leaves are proven to have smaller chloroplasts and no starch granules. In contrast, N-sufficient leaves have large chloroplasts, with fully formed grana components and larger starch granules for performing greater assimilation [65]. In contrast, mild-shaded and N-fertilized plants may have a more robust photosynthetic apparatus, as evidenced by a large number of thylakoids per granum and an abundance of grana per chloroplast [54].

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Study Site

The experiment was carried out at Pasir Kuda experimental field of IPB University, Bogor, Indonesia (6°36′36″ S, 106°46′47″ E, 263 m above sea level) from November 2018 to March 2019. The soil description of the Pasir Kuda experimental field was a sandy clay latosol soil with an actual pH, C-organic, N total, P total, and K total of about 6.7, 2.37%, 0.19%, 240 mg $P_2O_5 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$, and 160 mg $K_2O 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$. During the study period, the experimental field was exposed to the rainy season, with monthly rainfall intensity ranging from 230 mm to 318 mm (x-bar 289 mm).

4.2. Planting Materials

Plant materials were nine-month-old seedlings obtained by the grafting technique that combined kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) scions onto rangpur lime (*C. limonia* Osbeck) rootstock. Before field transplanting, seedlings underwent initial selection to confirm only selected plants were involved in the present experiment, with certain requirements, such as bifoliate leaves, pest and disease-free, normal growth, dormant apical bud, uniform in leaf numbers (30 ± 2 leaves) and plant height (60 ± 4 cm).

4.3. Research Procedure

The present study employed a split-plot experimental design, with N dosage as the main plot and pruning level as the subplot. Four levels of N dosage were tested, viz.,

0 g N plant⁻¹, 10 g N plant⁻¹, 20 g N plant⁻¹, and 40 g N plant⁻¹. Two levels of pruning were also evaluated, namely short and high pruning. Short pruning was technically defined as leaving only 10 cm of the main stem above the ground, whereas high pruning gave the cutting point at 30 cm from above the ground. Six replications were provided for each combination treatment; thus, 46 experimental units in the form of kaffir lime seedlings were counted in total.

Kaffir lime seedlings were raised in a monoculture cropping system under mildshading conditions that were artificially formed by installing a black shading net 2 m above the soil surface. In a previous, similar study, this treatment resulted in (1) a reduction of sunlight, ambient temperature, and soil temperature of about 23, 6.3, and 6.5%, respectively; and (2) the improvement of ambient relative humidity by about 2%, compared to open field monoculture system [17]. Kaffir lime transplanting to the field was conducted in November 2018, with a 50 cm \times 50 cm planting distance.

Pruning was applied, according to the treatment, in December 2018, or 30 days after planting (DAP). The cutting point for pruning was actually determined based on the grafted join spot. That spot was normally found 15 cm above the stem base of the rootstock variety. However, the joining spot seemed to equal the soil surface due to the soil banking technique for suppressing undesired shoot growth from the rootstock variety.

Inorganic fertilizers, apart from N, such as phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) were applied uniformly at 33 DAP, in the form of 15 g P_2O_5 and 10 g K_2O , following the national citrus agency recommendations [26]. N fertilization was carried out simultaneously with P and K, with a dose adjusted to the treatment. All mentioned fertilizer was delivered in the morning (7.00 am) of a sunny day through a soil drench surrounding the seedling (10 cm away from the main stem). Hand-weeding was routinely applied every month. Pest and disease inspection was conducted weekly, and the damage was chemically managed. Harvesting was scheduled at 120 DAP in March 2019.

4.4. Measured Variables

Measured variables were N status in soil and leaves, canopy N uptake, growth performance, plant production (fresh weight), and physiological responses. The N content in the soil and leaf samples was analyzed by using Kjeldahl method at 115 DAP. Plant production (fresh weight) was measured on harvesting day (120 DAP) by weighing either the whole plant or individual parts in the analytical balance (Hwh, China). Plant samples were then dried using an oven at 80 °C for 3 days to obtain plant dry weight by using a similar analytical balance. Canopy N uptake was obtained from the multiplication of the canopy dry weight and the N content of leaves. The relative growth rate (RGR) was calculated based on the ratio of the increase in plant dry weight to the number of weeks from the 1st pruning (at 30 DAP) to the 2nd pruning (120 DAP), i.e., 13 weeks. Plant height, shoot number, and leaf numbers were also observed on harvest day using a roll meter (Kenmaster, North Jakarta, Indonesia), and hand counter (Kenko, North Jakarta, Indonesia), respectively.

Plant physiological variables such as photosynthetic rate (μ mol CO₂ m⁻² s⁻¹) and transpiration rate (mmol H₂O m⁻² s⁻¹) were measured at 94 HSP at 10.00 am (sunny day) using the Li-6400XT portable photosynthesis system (Licor Inc, Lincoln, NE, USA). In addition, the present experiment also measured (i) intrinsic water-use efficiency (μ mol CO₂ mmol H₂O⁻¹) and (ii) instantaneous LUE (μ g lux⁻¹) by (i) dividing the rate of photosynthesis by the rate of transpiration rate and (ii) dividing the fresh weight of leaves by the perceived sunlight amount, respectively. The amount of perceived sunlight was measured by Lux-28 portable digital lux meter (Danoplus, Hong Kong, China). Leaf pigment was measured at 86 DAT in the present experiment by following the Sims and Gamon method [66].

4.5. Data Analysis

Quantitative data obtained in the present experiment was subjected to the analysis of variance (ANOVA) and any significant difference found was further analyzed by the Duncan's multiple range test (DMRT) at α 0.05. Pearson correlation analysis was carried out to find the closeness of the relationship between the observed variables, such as N status, plant growth, production, and physiological response. In addition, regression analysis was also performed to elucidate the association between N dose and certain important yield-related variables, such as canopy N uptake, fresh weight of leaves and leaf numbers. All statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Tool for Agricultural Research (STAR) version 2.0.1.

5. Conclusions

The present experiment succeeded in determining the best practice for pruning and N fertilizer to boost leaf production under mild-shading conditions. Pruning by leaving 30 cm of the main stem above the ground resulted in a significant improvement of plant and leaf production by about 28 and 22%, respectively, compared to the short pruning that left only 10 cm of the main stem. The higher assimilate reserve in the existing main stem likely produced higher support for recovering the lost foliage. Concerning N management, N-fertilizer dosage had a noticeable effect on the total N content of the leaf tissue, with the highest N-leaf tissue content achieved from the highest N dose. Both correlation and regression analysis confirmed that N is crucial for plant growth and plant yield due to the role of this nutrient in chlorophyll content and photosynthetic rate. Kaffir lime treated with 0 and 10 g N plant⁻¹ experienced N-deficient conditions, as indicated by leaf chlorosis, leading to lower chlorophyll content, photosynthetic rate, relative growth rate and then leaf yield harvested. A N-sufficient condition was achieved as the effect of 20 and 40 g N plant⁻¹ application, producing a great growth and yield performance due to a high carbon assimilation rate. However, a dose of 40 g N plant⁻¹ does not automatically become the best fertilizer recommendation, since 20 g N plant⁻¹ is more efficient with a relatively similar effect for increasing kaffir lime leaf production.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, R.B. and R.P.; methodology, R.B. and E.S.; software, R.B.; validation, D.E. and A.A.; formal analysis, R.B.; investigation, R.B.; resources, D.E. and A.A.; data curation, R.B.; writing—original draft preparation, R.B.; writing—review and editing, R.P., E.S., D.E. and A.A.; visualization, R.B.; supervision, R.P., E.S., D.E. and A.A.; project administration, R.B.; funding acquisition, R.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding. The APC was fully funded by Universitas Padjadjaran.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: Authors acknowledge technical support given by Nandang Hasanudin for assisting with the Li-6400XT test on kaffir lime. In addition, authors would also like to thank all the management team of the Pasir Kuda experimental garden for their administrative support.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. FAO. *Citrus Fruit Statistics* 2015; Market and Policy Analyses of Raw Materials, Horticulture and Tropical (RAMHOT) Products Team Trade and Markets Division; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2016.
- 2. Nicolosi, E. Origin and Taxonomy. In Citrus Genetics, Breeding and Biotechnology; Cabi: Wallingford, UK, 2007; pp. 19–43.
- 3. Qi, L.; Qi, C.J. status quo and development trend of world's citrus industry. *Agric. Outlook* 2016, 12, 46–52.
- Wu, G.; Terol, J.; Ibanez, V.; Lopez-Garcia, A.; Perez-Roman, E.; Borreda, C.; Domingo, C.; Tadeo, F.R.; Carbonell-Caballero, J.; Alonso, R.; et al. Genomics of the origin and evolution of Citrus. *Nature* 2018, 554, 311–316. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Curk, F.; Ollitrault, F.; Garcia-Lor, A.; Luro, F.; Navarro, L.; Ollitrault, P. Phylogenetic origin of limes and lemons revealed by cytoplasmic and nuclear markers. *Ann. Bot.* 2016, 11, 565–583. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mabberley, D.J. Citrus (*Rutaceae*): A review of recent advances in etymology, systematics and medical applications. *Blumea Biodivers. Evol. Biogeogr. Plants* 2004, 49, 481–498. [CrossRef]
- 7. Wongpornchai, S. Kaffir lime leaf. In *Handbook of Herbs and Spices*, 2nd ed.; Peter, K.V., Ed.; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Cambridge, UK, 2012.
- 8. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Sensory evaluation of the quality of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC.) leaves exposed to different postharvest treatments. *J. Trop. Crop. Sci.* **2021**, *8*, 71–79. [CrossRef]
- 9. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Production, post-harvest and marketing of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) in Tulungagung, Indonesia. J. Trop. Crop. Sci. 2019, 6, 138–143. [CrossRef]
- 10. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D. Morphological evaluation and determination keys of 21 citrus genotypes at seedling stage. *Biodiversitas* **2021**, *22*, 1570–1579. [CrossRef]
- 11. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Short communication: Allometric model to estimate bifoliate leaf area and weight of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix*). *Biodiversitas* **2021**, *22*, 2815–2820. [CrossRef]
- 12. Budiarto, R.; Sholikin, M.M. Kaffir lime essential oil variation in the last fifty years: A meta-analysis of plant origins, plant parts and extraction methods. *Horticulturae* 2022, *8*, 1132. [CrossRef]
- 13. Othman, S.N.A.M.; Hassan, M.A.; Nahar, L.; Basar, N.; Jamil, S.; Sarker, S.D. Essential oils from the Malaysian citrus (*Rutaceae*) medicinal plants. *Medicines* **2016**, *3*, 13. [CrossRef]
- Kooltheat, N.; Kamuthachad, L.; Anthapanya, M.; Samakchan, N.; Sranujit, R.P.; Potup, P.; Ferrante, A.; Usuwanthim, K. Kaffir lime leaves extract inhibits biofilm formation by *Streptococcus mutans*. *Nutrition* 2016, 32, 486–490. [CrossRef]
- 15. Ansori, A.N.M.; Supriyadi, A.P.; Kartjito, M.V.; Rizqi, F.; Adrianto, H. Biolarvacidal effectivities of polar and non-polar extract fraction from kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix*) leaf against 3rd instar larvae of *Aedes aegypti. J. Biol. Eng. Res. Rev.* 2015, 2, 14–17.
- Foley, J.A.; Ramankutty, N.; Brauman, K.A.; Cassidy, E.S.; Gerber, J.S.; Johnston, M.; Mueller, N.D.; O'Connell, C.; Ray, D.K.; West, P.C.; et al. Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature* 2011, 478, 337–342. [CrossRef]
- 17. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Agronomical and physiological characters of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) seedling under artificial shading and pruning. *Emir. J. Food Agric.* **2019**, *31*, 222–230. [CrossRef]
- 18. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D. Shoot manipulations improve flushing and flowering of mandarin citrus in Indonesia. J. Appl. Hortic. 2018, 20, 112–118. [CrossRef]
- Leghari, S.J.; Wahocho, N.A.; Laghari, G.A.; Laghari, A.H.; Bhabhan, G.M.; Talpur, K.H.; Bhutto, T.A.; Wahocho, S.A.; Lashari, A.A. Role of nitrogen for plant growth and development: A review. *Adv. Environ. Biol.* 2016, 10, 209–218.
- Muñoz-Huerta, R.F.; Guevara-Gonzalez, R.G.; Contreras-Medina, L.M.; Torres-Pacheco, I.; Prado-Olivarez, J.; Ocampo-Velazquez, R.V. A review of methods for sensing the nitrogen status in plants: Advantages, disadvantages and recent advances. *Sensors* 2013, 13, 10823–10843. [CrossRef]
- 21. Liao, L.; Dong, T.; Qiu, X.; Rong, Y.; Wang, Z.; Zhu, J. Nitrogen nutrition is a key modulator of the sugar and organic acid content in citrus fruit. *PLoS ONE* **2019**, *14*, e0223356. [CrossRef]
- 22. Xu, G.; Fan, X.; Miller, A.J. Plant nitrogen assimilation and use efficiency *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 2012, 63, 153–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Carranca, C.; Brunetto, G.; Tagliavini, M. Nitrogen nutrition of fruit trees to reconcile productivity and environmental concerns. *Plants* 2018, 7, 4. [CrossRef]
- 24. Boughalleb, F.; Mahmoud, M.; Hajlaoui, H. Response of young citrus trees to NPK fertilization under greenhouse and field conditions. *Agric. J.* 2011, *6*, 66–73. [CrossRef]
- Efendi, D.; Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Agusta, A. Relationship among agroclimatic variables, soil and leaves nutrient status with the yield and main composition of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) leaves essential oil. *Metabolites* 2021, 11, 260. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fertilizer Recommendations for Citrus Plants (Rekomendasi Pemupukan untuk Tanaman Jeruk). Available online: http://balitjestro.litbang.pertanian.go.id/rekomendasi-pemupukan-untuk-tanaman-jeruk/ (accessed on 18 December 2021).
- 27. Morales, P.; Davies, F.S. Pruning and skirting affect canopy microclimate, yields and fruit quality of Orlando Tangelo. *Hortscience* 2000, 35, 30–35. [CrossRef]
- Joubert, F.J.; Du Plessis, M.H.; Stassen, P.J.C. Pruning strategies to alleviate overcrowding in higher density citrus orchards. J. Appl. Hortic. 2000, 2, 1–5. [CrossRef]
- 29. Gilman, E.F.; Black, R.J. Pruning Landscape Trees and Shrubs; University of Florida: Gainesville, FL, USA, 2011.
- 30. Pruning Citrus. Available online: http://www.ucanr.edu/sites/placernevadasmallfarms/files/134946.pdf (accessed on 22 December 2022).
- 31. Eissenstat, D.M.; Duncan, L.W. Root growth and carbohydrate responses in bearing citrus trees following partial canopy removal. *Tree Physiol.* **1992**, *10*, 245–257. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Phillips, R.L. Tree size control hedging and topping citrus in high-density plantings. Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc. 1978, 91, 43–46.
- 33. Goldschmidt, E.E. Carbohydrate supply as a critical factor for citrus fruit development and productivity. *Hortscience* **1999**, *34*, 1020–1024. [CrossRef]

- 34. Sharma, S.D.; Singh, M.; Rawls, E.K.; Taylor, J.B., Jr. Defoliation of citrus trees by diquat. Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc. 2007, 120, 120–126.
- Aliyah, M.; Susanto, S.; Sukma, D.; Ardie, S.W. Performance improvement of young pummelo citrus (*Citrus maxima* (Burm.) Merr.) by strangulation application and pinching. *Asian J. Agric. Res.* 2015, *9*, 77–83. [CrossRef]
- Singh, J.; Dashora, L.K.; Bhatnagar, P.; Singh, B. Impact of pruning on rejuvenation of declining Nagpur mandarin (*Citrus reticulata* Blanco.) orchard. *Indian J. Agrofor.* 2016, 18, 53–57.
- Yuan, R.; Alferez, F.; Kostenyuk, I.; Singh, S.; Syvertsen, J.P.; Burns, J.K. Partial defoliation can decrease average leaf size but has little effect on orange tree growth, fruit yield and juice quality. *Hortscience* 2005, 40, 2011–2015. [CrossRef]
- Ingle, I.V.; Athawale, R.B.; Tayde, G.S.; Pakhare, G.B. Effect of severity and time of pruning on flower type fruit set and fruit retention in old acid lime trees (*Citrus aurantifolia*). Agric. Sci. Digest. 2001, 21, 65–66.
- 39. Poerwanto, R.; Susila, A.D. Teknologi Hortikutura; IPB Press: Bogor, Indonesia, 2014.
- 40. Quaggio, J.A.; Cantarella, H.; Van Raij, B. Phosphorus and potassium soil test and nitrogen leaf analysis as a base for citrus fertilization. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* **1998**, *52*, 67–74. [CrossRef]
- Obreza, T.A.; Alva, A.K.; Hanlon, E.A.; Rouse, R.E. Citrus Grove Leaf Tissue and Soil Testing: Sampling, Analysis, and Interpretation; Fact Sheet; Florida Cooperative Extension Service: Gainesville, FL, USA, 1992; Volume 115, pp. 1–5.
- 42. Bennett, W.F. Nutrient Deficiencies and Toxicities in Crop Plants; APS Press: St. Paul, MN, USA, 1993; p. 202.
- 43. Mills, H.A.; Benton-Jones, J., Jr. Plant Analysis Handbook II; Micromacro Publishing: Athens, GA, USA, 1996; p. 422.
- 44. Srivastava, A.K.; Singh, S. Leaf and soil nutrient guide in citrus: A review. Agric. Rev. 2004, 25, 235–251.
- Raveh, E. Citrus leaf nutrient status: A critical evaluation of guidelines for optimal yield in Israel. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2013, 176, 420–428. [CrossRef]
- 46. Bathurst, A.C. New method for estimating the fertilizer requirements of citrus trees. Farming Soc. Afr. 1943, 18, 323–327.
- 47. Chapman, H.D. Citrus leaf analysis. Nutrient deficiencies, excesses and fertilizer requirements of soil indicated by diagnostic aid. *Clif. Agric.* **1949**, *3*, 10–14.
- Reuther, W.; Smith, P.F. Tissue analysis as an aid in evaluating the nutritional status of citrus trees. Proc. Rio Gd. Val. Hort. Inst. 1951, 5, 34–35.
- Embleton, T.W.; Jones, W.W.; Labanauskas, C.; Reuther, W. Leaf analysis as a diagnostic tool and guide to fertilization. In *The Citrus Industry*; Reuther, W., Ed.; University of California Press: Berkeley, CA, USA, 1973; Volume III, pp. 183–210.
- Alva, A.K.; Paramasivam, S.; Obreza, T.A.; Schumann, A.W. Nitrogen best management practice for citrus trees: I. Fruit yield, quality, and leaf nutritional status. Sci. Hort. 2006, 107, 233–244. [CrossRef]
- Obreza, T.A.; Zekri, M.; Hanlon, E.A. Soil and leaf tissue testing. In Nutrition of Florida Citrus Trees, 2nd ed.; Obreza, T.A., Morgan, K.T., Eds.; Soil and Water Science Department, University of Florida Press: Gainesville, FL, USA, 2011; pp. 24–32.
- 52. Bondada, B.R.; Syvertsen, J.P.; Albrigo, L.G. urea nitrogen uptake by citrus leaves. Hortscience 2001, 36, 1061–1065. [CrossRef]
- Kohli, R.R.; Srivastava, A.K.; Huchche, A.D.; Dass, H.C.; Ram, L.; Singh, S. Diagnosis of leaf nutrient level for optimum productivity of Citrus reticulata Blanco grown in black clay soils under a sub-humid tropical climate. *Trop. Agric. Res. Ext.* 1998, 1, 81–86.
- Fahl, J.I.; Carelli, M.L.C.; Vega, J.; Magalhães, A.C. Nitrogen and irradiance levels affecting net photosynthesis and growth of young coffee plants (*Coffea arabica L.*). J. Hortic. Sci. 1994, 69, 161–169. [CrossRef]
- Lin, M.T.; Chen, A.M.; Lin, T.S.; Kuan, C.S.; Lee, C.L.; Yang, W.J. Prevention of natural flowering in pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) by shading and urea application. *Hort Environ. Biotechnol.* 2015, 56, 9–16. [CrossRef]
- Moniruzzaman, M.; Islam, M.S.; Hossain, M.M.; Hossain, T.; Miah, M.G. Effects of shade and nitrogen levels on quality Bangladhonia (leafy green culinary of corriander relatives) production. *Bangladesh J. Agric. Res.* 2009, 34, 205–213. [CrossRef]
- McCauley, A.; Jacobsen, J. Plant Nutrient Functions and Deficiency and Toxicity Symptoms; Montana State University Extension: Bozeman, MT, USA, 2011.
- Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Preliminary study on antioxidant and antibacterial activity of kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) leaf essential oil. *Appl. Res. Sci. Technol.* 2021, 1, 58–65. [CrossRef]
- Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. The effects of preharvest mild shading on the quality and production of essential oil from kaffir lime leaves (*Citrus hystrix*). J. Trop. Crop. Sci. 2022, 9, 15–21. [CrossRef]
- 60. Evans, J.R. Photosynthesis and nitrogen relationships in leaves of C₃ plants. Oecologia 1989, 78, 9–19. [CrossRef]
- 61. Evans, J.R.; Clarke, V.C. The nitrogen cost of photosynthesis. J. Exp. Bot. 2019, 70, 7–15. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Budiarto, R.; Poerwanto, R.; Santosa, E.; Efendi, D.; Agusta, A. Comparative analysis and correlation of young and mature kaffir lime (*Citrus hystrix* DC) leaf characteristics. *Int. J. Plant Biol.* **2022**, *13*, 23. [CrossRef]
- 63. Barker, V.A.; Pilbeam, D.J. Introduction. In *Handbook of Plant Nutrition*; Barker, A.V., Pilbeal, D.J., Eds.; Taylor and Francis Group: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2007.
- Huang, W.T.; Xie, Y.Z.; Chen, X.F.; Zhang, J.; Chen, H.H.; Ye, X.; Guo, J.; Yang, L.T.; Chen, L.S. Growth, mineral nutrients, photosynthesis and related physiological parameters of *Citrus* in response to nitrogen deficiency. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 1859. [CrossRef]

- 65. Bondada, B.R.; Syvertsen, J.P. Leaf chlorophyll, net gas exchange and chloroplast ultrastructure of citrus leaves under different nitrogen status. *Tree Physiol.* 2003, 23, 553–559. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Sims, D.A.; Gamon, J.A. Relationship between leaf pigment content and spectral reflectance across a wide range of species, leaf structures and developmental stages. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2002**, *81*, 337–354. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.



Article



Productivity and Nutrient Balance of an Intensive Rice–Rice Cropping System Are Influenced by Different Nutrient Management in the Red and Lateritic Belt of West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Shankar ¹, Ganesh Chandra Malik ², Mahua Banerjee ², Sudarshan Dutta ³, Sagar Maitra ¹, Subhashisa Praharaj ¹, Masina Sairam ¹, Duvvada Sarath Kumar ¹, Eldessoky S. Dessoky ⁴, Mohamed M. Hassan ^{4,*}, Ismail A. Ismail ⁴, Tarek Saif ⁵, Milan Skalicky ⁶, Marian Brestic ^{6,7} and Akbar Hossain ^{8,*}

- ¹ Department of Agronomy, Centurion University of Technology and Management, Odisha 761211, India; tanmoy.shankar125@gmail.com (T.S.); sagar.maitra@cutm.ac.in (S.M.); subhashisa.praharaj@cutm.ac.in (S.P.); sairammasina52@gmail.com (M.S.); sarathkumarduvvada010@gmail.com (D.S.K.)
- ² Department of Agronomy, Palli Siksha Bhavana, Visva-Bharati, Sriniketan 731204, India; ganeshmalik_2004@rediffmail.com (G.C.M.); mahua.banerjee@visva-bharati.ac.in (M.B.)
- ³ International Plant Nutrition Institute, South Asia (East India and Bangladesh) Program, India and African Plant Nutrition Institute, Benguerir 43150, Morocco; s.dutta@apni.net
- Department of Biology, College of Science, Taif University, P.O. Box 11099, Taif 21944, Saudi Arabia; es.dessouky@tu.edu.sa (E.S.D.); i.ismail@tu.edu.sa (I.A.I.)
- ⁵ National Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries, Kasr ELAiny St. Cairo 101, Egypt; saiftjj@yahoo.com
- ⁶ Department of Botany and Plant Physiology, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food, and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamycka 129, 165 00 Prague, Czech Republic; skalicky@af.czu.cz (M.S.); marian.brestic@uniag.sk (M.B.)
- ⁷ Department of Plant Physiology, Slovak University of Agriculture, Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 949 01 Nitra, Slovakia
- ⁸ Bangladesh Wheat and Maize Research Institute, Dinajpur 5200, Bangladesh
- * Correspondence: m.khyate@tu.edu.sa (M.M.H.); akbarhossainwrc@gmail.com (A.H.)

Abstract: Rice is the lifeline for more than half of the world population, and in India, in view of its huge demand in the country, farmers adopt a rice-rice cropping system where the irrigation facility is available. As rice is a nutrient-exhausting crop, sustainable productivity of rice-rice cropping system greatly depends on appropriate nutrient management in accordance with the inherent soil fertility. The application of an ample dose of fertilizer is the key factor for maintaining sustainable rice yields and nutrient balance of the soil. Considering the above facts, an experiment was conducted on nutrient management in a rice-rice cropping system at the university farm of Visva-Bharati, situated in a sub-tropical climate under the red and lateritic belt of the western part of West Bengal, India, during two consecutive years (2014–2016). The experiment was laid out in a Randomized Completely Block Design with 12 treatments and three replications, with different rates of N:P:K:Zn:S application in both of the growing seasons, namely, kharif and Boro. The recommended (ample) dose of nutrients was 80:40:40:25:20 and 120:60:60:25:20 kg ha⁻¹ of N:P₂O₅:K₂O:Zn:S in the *Kharif* and *Boro* season, respectively. A high yielding variety, named MTU 7029, and a hybrid, Arize 6444 GOLD, were taken in the Kharif and Boro seasons, respectively. The results clearly indicated that the application of a recommended dose of nutrients showed its superiority over the control (no fertilizer application) in the expression of growth characters, yield attributes, yields, and nutrient uptake of Kharif as well as Boro rice. Out of the all treatments, the best result was found in the treatment where the ample dose of nutrients was applied, resulting in maximum grain yield in both the *Kharif* (5.6 t ha^{-1}) and *Boro* (6.6 t ha^{-1}) season. The corresponding yield attributes for the same treatment in the *Kharif* (panicles m⁻²: 247.9; grains panicle⁻¹: 132.0; spikelets panicle⁻¹: 149.6; test weight: 23.8 g; and panicle length: 30.6 cm) and Boro (panicles m^{-2} : 281.6; grains panicle⁻¹: 142.7; spikelets panicle⁻¹: 157.2; test weight: 24.8 g; and panicle length: 32.8 cm) season explained the maximum yield in this treatment. Further, a reduction or omission of individual nutrients adversely impacted on the above traits and resulted in a negative balance of the respective nutrients. The study concluded that the application of a

Citation: Shankar, T.; Malik, G.C.; Banerjee, M.; Dutta, S.; Maitra, S.; Praharaj, S.; Sairam, M.; Kumar, D.S.; Dessoky, E.S.; Hassan, M.M.; et al. Productivity and Nutrient Balance of an Intensive Rice–Rice Cropping System Are Influenced by Different Nutrient Management in the Red and Lateritic Belt of West Bengal, India. *Plants* 2021, *10*, 1622. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants10081622

Academic Editors:

Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukas Hlisnikovsky and Xinhua He

Received: 1 June 2021 Accepted: 3 August 2021 Published: 6 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). recommended dose of nutrients was essential for proper nutrient balance and sustainable yields in the rice–rice cropping system.

Keywords: nutrient management; rice–rice cropping system; growth characters; yield attributes; productivity; nutrient uptake and balance

1. Introduction

Rice is one of the most important cereals consumed across the globe and grown in different environmental conditions. A rice–rice cropping system is usually practiced by farmers where sufficient irrigation is available or in favorable lowland rainfed areas [1,2]. Apart from irrigation availability, high consumer demand, a relatively stable market price, and assurance of a minimum support price by the government encourage the farmers to grow two rice crops continuously in consecutive seasons. Though the rice–rice system seems to be feasible from a farmer's perspective, cereal–cereal cropping systems are often considered unsustainable and are discouraged [3] in terms of nutrient balance in the soil as well as agricultural sustainability [4]. Rice, being a nutrient intensive crop, absorbs a high amount of nutrients. Thus, a rice–rice system is expected to be even more nutrient exhaustive. Unless proper nutrient management practices are followed, soils may develop severe nutrient deficiency over a period of time, negatively affecting agricultural sustainability [5]. Rice–rice cropping systems are most prevalent across a major portion of India as well as South Asia, especially among small and marginal farmers.

Nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) are considered as primary nutrients and are very important for the growth and development of rice [6]. Nitrogen is responsible for vegetative growth, improving the leaf area index, chlorophyll synthesis, and so on [7]; thus, increasing photosynthesis and assimilate production in plants. N is deficient in most of the rice-growing areas, which requires a proper focus on nitrogen nutrition [8]. Phosphorus is known for its role in root growth, root development, and reproduction [9]. P is also known to improve tillering and promotes early flowering. Potassium, though not a constituent of organic structures of plants, is very important for plant strength, resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, and stomatal activity [10]. In addition to primary nutrients, sulphur (S), a secondary plant nutrient, also plays a vital role in plant growth and development as S performs its distinctive role in protein and chlorophyll synthesis [11]. In addition to macronutrients, rice crop also requires micronutrients for completing its life cycle and proper nutrition. Among the different micronutrients, deficiency in zinc (Zn) is commonly observed in rice-growing areas [12], where close to 50% of soils in rice-growing tracts are deficient in Zn [13]. Zinc takes part in the carbohydrate transformation and it is an essential constituent of enzymes such as carbonic anhydrase, superoxide dismutase, and alcohol dehydrogenase [14]. Zinc is also involved in the auxin biosynthesis process. Soil submergence, which is commonly practiced in rice cultivation, results in a deficiency of Zn. Unlike macronutrients, the availability of Zn is higher at a low pH. Alkaline or calcareous soils may result in Zn deficiency [15].

A rice-rice cropping system, when practiced, removes nutrients from the same soil depth continuously. If the crops cultivated in a cropping system have a similar nutrient demand and the removal pattern of nutrients from the soil is also the same, then, unless proper care is taken to replenish the nutrient taken up by the crop, a single or multiple nutrient deficiencies may develop over a period of time [16]. Understanding the role of different nutrients in the growth and yield of rice is essential to provide essential nutrients in the required quantity to obtain higher productivity. However, higher productivity should also be sustainable to achieve long-term food security goals.

Imbalanced nutrient application is one of the most important reasons for multinutrient deficiency [17]. As the application of nitrogen increases plant dry matter production, a high amount of nitrogen is also expected to increase the uptake of other nutrients. Unless a sufficient amount of other nutrients is applied under such conditions, the crop will continuously drain the native soil nutrients. This, when practiced continuously over years, causes a deficiency in nutrients. Application of nutrients in adequate amounts and suitable proportion is the key to crop nutrition. As the application of all the essential nutrients which are yield limiting should be given priority in the nutrient management plan. In addition to those nutrients, nutrients that are expected to be deficient due to huge removal by crops over years in a particular cropping system must be replenished regularly to avoid the development of new nutrient deficiencies. For understanding these phenomena, knowledge regarding the role of important nutrients such as N, P, K, S and Zn in crop growth and yield should be considered. The nutrient balance in the cropping system also should be studied to understand the nutrient removal pattern of the crops under different nutrient combinations.

The soil and agro-climatic conditions of the red and lateritic belt are unique, and the rice-based cropping system is predominant in the region. The improvement of irrigation facilities and adaptation of HYVs and hybrids attracted farmers to adopt a rice–rice cropping system. As this cropping system is nutrient exhaustive, the development of multi-nutrient deficiency has been observed in recent times [18], drawing the attention of researchers. Similar observations on fertility degradation due to the rice-based cropping system were also noted in Southeast Asia [19]. Under these circumstances, there is an urgent need for balanced nutrient management in intensive cropping systems as a cost-effective and environmentally friendly approach to achieve agricultural sustainability in the region. Taking into consideration the above facts, an experiment was performed to evaluate the impact of different nutrients (inclusive of omission of specific nutrients) management on the growth and productivity of rice in a rice–rice cropping system. The uptake and nutrient balance are also studied to understand the necessity of nutrient supplementation to avoid long-term nutrient deficiencies in a rice–rice cropping system.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental Site

The site of the field trial was the university farm of Visva Bharati (20°39' N latitude and 87°42' E longitude, with an altitude of 58.9 m above M.S.L.), situated in a sub-tropical climate under the red and lateritic belt of the western part of West Bengal, India [20]. The soils of the field trial were sandy loam soil belonging to the typical Ultisols. The characteristics and initial fertility of the experimental soil are described in Table 1.

Table 1. Characteristics and initial fertility of the experimental soil and methodologies followed for determination of soil quality.

Particulars	Characters/Value	Status	Methodology	References
Texture	Sandy loam	-	Hydrometer method	[21]
рН	5.65	Acidic	Determined by pH meter in 1:2.5 ratio of soil–water suspension	[22]
Electrical conductivity (EC) (dS m ⁻¹)	0.26	-	Solubridge method	[22]
Organic carbon (%)	0.35	Low	Walkley and Black method	[22]
Available nitrogen (kg ha $^{-1}$)	230.0	Low	Alkaline permanganate method	[23]
Available phosphorous (kg ha $^{-1}$)	11.2	Low	Bray's method	[24]
Available potassium (kg ha ^{-1})	125.2	Medium	Flame photometer method	[25]
			Diethylenetriaminepentaacetate (DTPA) extractable Zn	
Zinc (mg kg $^{-1}$)	0.22	Low	determination by Atomic Absorption spectroscopy	[26]
			(AAS)	
Sulphur (kg ha $^{-1}$)	10.5	Low	Turbidimetric Method	[27]

The location falls in the region of the southwest monsoon, and monsoon rains generally start from the end of June and continue up to mid-October, with an average annual rain of 1377 mm. Out of the total annual rain, monsoon rain constitutes about 80–90%. The meteorological information, such as the maximum and minimum temperature (°C), rainfall (mm), and relative humidity (%) during the period of experimentation (July 2014–June 2016), were received from the meteorological observatory of the Institute of Agriculture, Sriniketan, and is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Meteorological data during the crop season (July 2014 to June 2016).

2.2. Experimental Design and Treatments

The experiment on nutrient management in the rice-rice cropping system was carried out for two years (four cropping seasons): 2014–2015 and 2015–2016. The experiment was laid out in a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with twelve treatments (net plot area of 5 m \times 4 m each) and we repeated all treatments three times. The treatments were in the *Kharif* season: T₁: N₈₀P₄₀K₄₀Zn₂₅S₂₀; T₂: N₄₀P₄₀K₄₀Zn₂₅S₂₀; T₃: N₀P₄₀K₄₀Zn₂₅S₂₀; T₄: $N_{80}P_{20}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_5: N_{80}P_0K4_0Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_6: N_{80}P_{40}K_{20}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_7: N_{80}P_{40}K_0Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_8: N_{80}P_{4$ $N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{12.5}S_{20}; T_9: N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_0S_{20}; T_{10}: N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{10}; T_{11}: N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{0}; T_{10}: N_{11}: N_{11$ and T_{12} : control, (without any fertilizer); whereas in the Boro season: T_1 : $N_{120}P_{60}K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}$; $T_2: N_{60}K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_3: N_0K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_4: N_{120}P_{30}K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_5: N_{120}P_0K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}; T_6: N_{120}P_0K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20};$ N₁₂₀P₆₀K₃₀Zn₂₅S₂₀; T₇: N₁₂₀P₆₀K₀Zn₂₅S₂₀; T₈: N₁₂₀P₆₀K₆₀Zn_{12.5}S₂₀; T₉: N₁₂₀P₆₀K₆₀Zn₀S₂₀; T₁₀: N₁₂₀P₆₀K₆₀Zn₂₅S₁₀; T₁₁: N₁₂₀P₆₀K₆₀Zn₂₅S₀; and T₁₂: control (without any fertilizer). The recommended (ample) dose of nutrients was 80:40:40:25:20 and 120:60:60:25:20 kg ha of N:P₂O₅:K₂O:Zn:S in the Kharif and Boro season rice, respectively, and the treatment T₁ received an ample dose of nutrients in both the seasons. In the case of T₂, P, K, S, and Zn were applied in an ample dose, and 50% of the N was applied. In T₃, N, K, S, and Zn were applied with an ample dose, 0% of N applied, and the same manner was applied for the remaining treatments up to T₁₁, but in T₁₂, no fertilizer was applied and considered as the control. The total amount of P, K, Zn, and S were applied as basal, while nitrogen was applied in three splits. The HYV and hybrid of rice were taken in the Kharif and Boro season with the same duration (Table 2).

Particulars	Kharif	Boro
Cropping system	Rice	Rice
Variety/hybrid	HYV (High yielding variety) rice variety: MTU 7029	Hybrid rice: Arize 6444 GOLD
Date of transplanting	3 August 2014; 2 August 2015	2 February 2015 and 2016
Duration	150 days	150 days

Table 2. Variety/hybrid chosen, date of transplanting, and duration of rice (2014–2016).

2.3. Cultural Practices

The standard procedure of rice cultivation in the locality was adopted for both seasons. The treated seeds (with Carbendazim at the rate of 2 g kg⁻¹ of seed) were sown in the nursery during both seasons and the seeds were covered lightly with soil. For the main field preparation, the soil was first tilled thoroughly cross wise with a tractor-drawn harrow at an optimum moisture condition. Then tillage was done with a mouldboard plough (25 cm deep) to obtain a good tilth and it was followed by planking. The clods and stubbles of previous crops were removed from the land. The field was flooded with water and the puddling was done under saturated moisture conditions prior to three days of transplanting. After proper levelling, the field was laid out by making net plots (5 m \times 4 m each), plot bunds, and channels for irrigation and drainage. After completion of the layout, nutrients were applied as per the treatments. The sources of nitrogen, phosphate, potash, sulphur, and zinc were urea, diammonium phosphate (DAP), muriate of potash (MOP), Bentonite-S (90% of S), and Zn-Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA), respectively. Among the different fertilizers, nitrogen was applied in splits. Half of the nitrogen and a full quantity of the other nutrients were applied as the basal treatment; however, the rest of the N was top-dressed in two equal splits during the maximum tillering and panicle initiation stages for Kharif as well as for Boro rice.

The 21-day old seedlings were transplanted in the main field at a spacing of $20 \text{ cm} \times 15 \text{ cm}$. In each hill, three seedlings were transplanted. The weeds were removed by hand weeding at early tillering (20 days after transplanting (DAT) and late tillering (40 DAT)). After transplanting, the field was kept saturated with moisture for three weeks to facilitate tillering and followed by a water stagnation of 5 ± 2 cm was maintained up to physiological maturity. Before topdressing of N, standing water was removed from the rice field and irrigated again on the next day and water stagnation was maintained. Ten days prior to harvest, stagnant water was removed. In the *Kharif* season, four irrigations were applied, whereas the in *Boro* season, the crop required six irrigations. The crop faced a mild attack of yellow stem borer and recommended protocols of the university were adopted to manage the pest. However, crop damage due to pest attacks were negligible. The crop was harvested from each net plot manually when it reached 80% maturity. The harvested crop was threshed, winnowed, and the sun-dried weight was recorded at 12% moisture.

2.4. Measurements and Analytical Procedures

2.4.1. Growth and Yield Attributes

The third rows from the border of each side of a plot were sampled to record biometric observations. Different growth characters, namely, plant height, dry matter accumulation, leaf area index (LAI), and number of tillers were recorded at different growth stages (20, 40, 60, 80, 100, and 120 days after transplanting, DAT) and the crop growth rate (CGR) was calculated for different periods of the rice–rice cropping system for two consecutive years. For measurement of dry matter accumulation, five randomly selected plants were taken as a destructive sample; the leaves were separated, drying the leaves and the remaining portion of the plant separately in an oven to obtain constant weight (for 48 h at 65 °C). The area of the green leaves taken from the destructive samples was recorded by leaf area meter (Model No: WDY- 500 A, Swastik Scientific Company, India). The ratio of the leaf area weight of these leaves was used to measure the LAI (Equation (1)) [28]. In the case of

yield attributes, ten plants from a plot were randomly marked and at crop maturity; these were harvested, dried, and data on the yield parameters were noted.

Leaf area index =
$$\frac{\text{leaf area}}{\text{ground area}}$$
 (1)

2.4.2. Collection and Analysis of Plant and Soil Samples

N, P, K, S, and Zn content in plant samples was determined by the standard procedures (Table 1). Plant samples required for the determination of P, K, S and Zn were taken treatment wise after noting down the yields data and dried at 65 °C, pulverized, and digested in di-acid (9:4 v/v) of nitric acid (HNO₃)/perchloric acid (HClO₄). The nutrient content in straw and grain of rice was measured and nutrient uptake was determined by multiplying the nutrient content with the corresponding straw and grain yield [21].

Nutrient uptake
$$(kg ha^{-1}) = \frac{\% \text{ nutrient content in grain or straw × dry matter}}{100}$$
 (2)

Initial soil sample (0–15 cm) was collected prior to cultivation of *Kharif* rice in June 2014 and it was considered for determination of soil characteristics and initial fertility. After each harvest again soil samples were collected treatment wise to obtain the post-harvest soil nutrient status and it was further considered as the initial soil fertility for the next crop. Likewise, the final soil samples were collected in May 2016 after the harvest of *boro* rice. Collected soil samples were air-dried and ground to pass through a 2-mm stainless steel sieve for determination of soil parameters by standard methods as mentioned in Table 1. The initial soil fertility has also been mentioned in Table 1, however, the nutrient balance has been calculated crop-wise as well as for the system.

2.4.3. Nutrient Balance

The balance sheet of available nutrients was computed by using the following formulae given by Tandon [29] (Equation (3)). The determined nutrient balance may be positive or negative.

Nutrient balance $(kg ha^{-1}) = Available soil nutrient status – Initial soil status before each crop (3)$

2.5. Calculations and Statistical Analysis

The experimental data were analysed statistically by using analysis of variance (ANOVA). The standard error of the mean (SEm \pm) and critical difference at 5% probability level of significance (CD, $p \le 0.05$) [30] were calculated. The software used in the statistical analysis and drawing figures (including regression curve) was Excel from Microsoft Office Home and Student version 2019-en-us, Microsoft Inc., Redmond, Washington (DC, USA).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Growth Parameters

Different growth characteristics were calculated for the different periods of the ricerice cropping system for two consecutive years. The data on plant height (Table 3) revealed that application of an ample dose of nutrients in *Kharif* rice (i.e., $T_1: N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{20}$) triggered a significant increase in height of the rice plants over the control (i.e., T_{12} : no fertilizer) at different days after transplanting (DAT) in both years. The treatment $N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{20}$ (T_1) produced the tallest rice plants in both years, while the shortest plant was observed in the control plots. However, the treatments T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_8 , and T_{10} were statistically on par with the enhancement of plant height in both years.

Treatments	201	DAT	40 I	DAT	1 09	DAT	80 I	DAT	100	DAT	120	DAT
	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015
						Kharif rice						
T_1	46.3 a	49.9 a	61.7 a	64.8 a	98.0 a	99.5 a	118.0 a	119.4 a	118.9 a	119.6 a	119.7 a	119.5 a
T_2	41.9 ab	46.2 a	59.2 ab	62.4 a	84.9 abc	91.4 ab	108.9 a	111.8 a	110.0 abc	111.9 abc	110.2 a	112.0 a-e
T_3	29.2 cd	26.1 b	40.0 cd	38.4 e	74.5 cd	70.0 c	94.5 a	92.9 a	96.1 bc	93.8 bc	96.8 a	94.0 de
T_4	44.1 a	44.8 a	60.1 ab	60.1 ab	95.0 ab	95.9 ab	115.0 a	116.1 a	116.6 a	116.6 ab	116.8 a	117.2 ab
Т5	38.7 ab	39.4 ab	48.3 bcd	49.2 d	79.9 bcd	80.9 ac	95.9 a	97.6 a	96.2 c	98.6 abc	98.5 a	98.9 cde
T_6	45.3 a	45.4 a	57.9 ab	60.1 ab	94.3 ab	93.6 ab	113.3 a	114.1 a	114.5 ab	114.4 ab	114.7 a	115.4 ab
T_7	41.6 ab	40.2 a	51.8 abc	52.0 bcd	83.0 a–d	81.2 bc	96.3 a	90.8 a	96.4 bc	91.3 bc	96.6 a	92.5 b-e
T_8	43.8 ab	44.4 a	57.1 ab	59.0 abc	91.9 ab	94.7 ab	111.9 a	113.9 a	111.8 abc	114.7 ab	111.7 a	116.6 abc
T ₉	34.8 bcd	34.0 ab	50.8 a-d	51.2 bcd	82.5 a–d	81.1 bc	97.1 a	94.3 a	98.0 bc	95.5 abc	98.9 a	96.7 a-e
T_{10}	41.2 ab	45.6 a	59.2 ab	57.0 a–d	85.0 abc	95.0 ab	115.0 a	110.7 a	116.2 a	112.2 abc	116.3 a	112.1 a–d
T_{11}	37.4 abc	38.7 ab	51.9 abc	50.2 cd	80.7 acd	80.0 bc	98.7 a	93.0 a	98.1 bc	94.6 bc	98.1 a	93.8 a–e
T_{12}	26.1 d	25.6 b	38.3 d	34.5 e	68.3 d	67.0 c	88.3 b	86.3 b	88.5 c	87.5 c	88.6 a	87.6 e
F-test	**	**	**	**	**	* *	*	*	*	**	*	*
SEm (土)	2.5	3.0	3.3	4.2	5.1	6.0	6.5	6.2	6.3	6.3	6.6	6.3
CV (%)	7.12	13.7	8.12	12.3	6.56	7.17	10.0	11.4	8.43	8.18	96.6	8.21
						Boro rice						
T ₁	51.3 a	52.9 a	82.0 a	84.2 a	104.1 a	106.2 a	121.0 a	124.1 a	122.0 a	124.0 a	122.0 a	124.8 a
T_2	46.9 a	48.6 ab	72.3 abc	76.4 abc	103.8 a	104.7 a	116.2 ab	117.4 abc	116.0 ab	118.0 abc	117.0 a	119.0 a
T.	34.1 bc	33.1 c	56.3 de	52.6 e	78.3 b	74.4 b	97.4 a-e	94.6 bcd	98.4 abc	94.3 cd	98.4 ab	94.4 ab
T_4	49.1 a	50.1 ab	74.3 ab	84.9 a	103.6 a	104.4 a	118.9 a	116.1 abc	118.0 ab	117.0 abc	118.0 a	116.8 ab
T_5	44.6 abc	45.2 ab	68.5 bcd	68.3 cd	80.0 b	78.8 b	91.9 cde	93.0 cd	95.4 bc	94.2 cd	95.2 ab	94.5 ab
T_6	47.1 a	47.9 ab	75.1 ab	81.2 a	102.9 a	103.7 a	117.1 ab	117.6 abc	119.0 ab	119.0 ab	120.0 a	118.9 a
T_7	45.1 abc	44.2 abc	69.1 bc	69.0 bcd	84.4 ab	85.4 ab	89.9 de	97.1 bcd	99.1 abc	97.6 bcd	99.3 ab	98.1 ab
T_8	48.8 a	49.4 ab	70.3 abc	78.7 ab	103.1 a	104.3 a	115.1 abc	123.3 a	118.0 ab	125.0 a	118.0 a	124.7 a
T_9	41.8 abc	42.4 abc	70.0 abc	68.1 cd	86.4 ab	78.3 b	91.5 cde	98.2 bcd	101.0 abc	98.6 abc	101.2 ab	98.9 ab
T_{10}	46.2 ab	47.9 ab	75.3 ab	83.7 a	104.5 a	105.3 a	112.3 a–d	119.4 ab	116.0 ab	119.0 ab	115.0 ab	119.2 a
T_{11}	40.2 abc	40.8 bc	60.7 cde	64.0 d	86.9 ab	87.1 ab	93.4 b-e	94.5 cd	100.0 abc	97.9 bcd	100.1 ab	98.2 ab
T_{12}	33.1 c	32.3 с	54.0 e	51.0 e	71.9 b	69.7 b	83.0 e	80.2 d	86.5 c	81.6 d	87.0 b	81.7 b
F-test	**	**	**	**	**	* *	**	**	**	**	**	**
SEm (±)	1.8	2.0	4.1	5.0	5.6	6.4	7.5	7.5	6.5	8.8	6.8	7.5
CV (%)	9.26	9.14	6.26	4.83	7.50	7.77	7.77	7.85	8.09	7.62	9.27	11.5

Kharif sesson: Ti: NasPadkaZha5Sa; T:: NaPadkaZha5Sa; T:: NaPadkaZha5S

Table 3. Effect of nutrient management on the plant height (cm) of Kharif and Boro rice at different growth stages.

In the case of *Boro* rice, the application of T_1 also produced the longest plants at all growth stages amongst all other treatments during the two years of study (2014–2015 and 2015–2016). The observation clearly showed that the application of 100% recommended dose of N:P:K:Zn:S (also termed as ample dose) increased the plant height at the different growth stages of rice irrespective of seasons, probably because of the proper nutrition obtained by the said treatment. Similar findings were also noted by earlier researchers [31], who also revealed that the application of balanced nutrients in a crop improved the growth and development of plants.

Dry matter accumulation of the *Kharif* and *Boro* rice in both years (2014 and 2015) was influenced by different levels of nutrients and there was an enhancement in dry matter with the progression of crops towards maturity (Table 4). A strong interrelationship between dry matter accumulation and yield was observed (R_2 being 0.83 and 0.89, respectively, for the *Kharif* and *Boro* seasons). The treatment T_1 in both the *Kharif* and *Boro* seasons resulted in the production of the maximum dry matter at all growth stages. The treatment T_1 in *Kharif* rice increased the dry matter production significantly in both seasons over T_3 , T_5 , T_7 , T_9 , T_{11} , and the control, but the treatment T_1 was statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_8 , and T_{10} .

A similarity between the two years was noted in *Boro* rice where T_1 expressed its significant superiority over the control (T_{12} , no fertilizer) as observed in different growth stages and T_3 was statistically on par with control at the harvesting stage during both years of study. The ample dose of nutrients (T_1) produced significantly more dry matter than T_3 , T_5 , T_7 , T_9 , T_{11} , and the control. Although, treatment T_1 was statistically on par with the T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , and T_{10} treatments in both seasons. The maximum dry matter in the T_1 treatment was due to the application of 100% of the recommended dose of N:P:K:Zn:S that facilitated access to the required nutrients involving in dry matter production; this assumption was also confirmed by earlier studies [32,33].

The data on *Kharif* and *Boro* rice for LAI was measured at different growth stages, where an ample dose of nutrients enhanced the LAI over the control (T_{12} , no fertilizer); although, an improvement in the LAI did not differ significantly in all the growth stages in both years (Table 5). The LAI value of rice gradually increased for the Kharif and Boro rice during both the years for all treatments and reached its maximum values at 60 DAT, followed by a decline as the crops reached maturity. In the case of Kharif rice, the maximum LAI was noted at 60 DAT with T_1 and it was statistically on par with all treatments in 2014 and 2015. Similar to Kharif rice, the LAI of Boro rice at different growth stages in both years also did not differ significantly for all treatments. Among these treatments, the higher value of LAI was recorded in the T_1 treatment and the minimum LAI value was in the control plots; although, the LAI for all treatments did not differ significantly. Considering the growth stages, the higher LAI was observed at 60 DAT in both years and the minimum value was at 100 DAT (Table 5). The application of the recommended dose of nutrients produced a higher LAI value, due to the proper nutrition in the plant helping it attaining sufficient vegetative growth (LAI) and keeping the crop healthy irrespective of growth stages and year. This assumption was also confirmed by several earlier studies [34,35], who also revealed an increase in LAI with the recommended dose of N:P:K:Zn:S.

The number of tillers m^{-2} of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice was also influenced by nutrient management, observed during two consecutive years (Table 6). Application of an ample dose of nutrients, i.e., $N_{80}P_{40}K_{40}Zn_{25}S_{20}$ in *Kharif* rice and $N_{120}P_{60}K_{60}Zn_{25}S_{20}$ in *Boro* rice, resulted in the production of the maximum number of tillers over the control at all the growth stages. Considering the growth stages, tillers m^{-2} of the *Kharif* rice at 20 DAT were significant in both years, and 40 and 60 DAT only for all treatments; although, the maximum tillers m^{-2} was recorded in T_1 and the lowest was in the T_{12} (control) treatment. With little exception, tillers m^{-2} for T_1 was statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_8 , and T_{10} in increasing the number of tillers during both years; however, T_1 significantly produced more tillers than T_3 , T_5 , T_7 , T_9 , T_{11} , and T_{12} (control).

					Ũ	ry Matter Accu	mulation (g m	-2)				
Treatment	20 L	AT	40 1	DAT	60 1	TAC	80 I	DAT	100	DAT	120 I	AT
	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015
						Kharif rice						
T_1	156.1 a	158.2 a	416.0 a	420.9 a	760.3 a	768.0 a	1170.0 a	1181.5 a	1280.0 a	1290.9 a	1301.1 a	1315.5 a
T_2	150.8 a	153.0 a	390.1 ab	409.5 a	728.9 ab	750.3 a	1134.4 abc	1137.6 a	1240.6 a	1243.8 a	1247.6 a	1257.8 a
T_3	140.8 a	140.3 a	305.9 bc	302.3 ab	510.1 cd	518.9 bc	602.3 d	606.9 c	657.6 b	658.3 d	660.6 bc	662.8 d
T_4	153.6 a	153.8 a	404.0 a	407.3 a	735.4 ab	750.5 a	1132.1 abc	1138.7 a	1225.9 a	1236.6 a	1235.9 a	1249.2 ab
T_5	141.0 a	140.8 a	370.4 ab	373.8 ab	506.7 cd	507.8 bc	900.0 c	906.3 b	1002.9 a	1006.9 c	1009.9 ab	1016.4 c
T_6	155.2 a	157.3 a	407.3 a	409.9 a	745.6 ab	750.7 a	1140.9 ab	1140.0 a	1222.8 a	1233.0 a	1230.8 a	1235.6 ab
T_7	140.7 a	142.9 a	373.9 ab	357.3 ab	521.9 cd	505.2 bc	903.3 c	902.2 b	1000.4 a	1008.8 c	1006.4 ab	1012.4 c
T ₈	155.0 a	159.2 a	406.9 a	410.3 a	742.9 ab	750.5 a	1110.8 abc	1137.6 a	1209.8 a	1225.6 a	1229.8 a	1245.6 ab
T,	140.4 a	147.6 a	374.2 ab	380.6 ab	506.6 cd	508.3 bc	909.8 bc	908.2 b	1002.1 a	1005.3 c	1003.1 ab	1009.7 c
T_{10}	155.7 a	156.5 a	403.5 a	404.8 a	745.5 ab	749.5 a	1108.3 abc	1111.7 a	1210.1 a	1215.9 ab	1220.1 a	1225.5 ab
T_{11}	140.0 a	147.1 a	363.0 ab	370.5 ab	590.0 bc	609.7 ab	950.3 abc	952.7 b	1040.3 a	1040.5 bc	1042.3 a	1045.7 bc
T_{12}	101.7 b	100.5 b	260.0 c	255.3 b	408.8 d	407.5 c	508.3 d	505.3 с	535.2 b	532.3 d	518.0 с	514.5 da
F-test	*	*	**	**	**	**	**	**	*	* *	* *	**
SEm (±)	5.1	3.6	13.7	12.6	33.4	26.4	49.7	47.4	52.3	61.5	57.0	72.3
CV (%)	7.21	5.92	7.96	13.29	8.86	10.04	8.25	4.63	10.30	5.86	11.74	6.43
						Boro rice						
T_1	177.1 a	180.0 a	437.0 a	452.5 a	870.3 a	885.7 a	1370.0 a	1380.7 a	1507.2 a	1511.1 a	1519.3 a	1515.1 a
T_2	175.8 ab	175.4 a	411.1 a	415.8 ab	830.9 a	831.6 a	1300.4 a	1307.0 a	1457.7 a	1408.6 a	1424.7 a	1410.6 a
T_3	155.8 a	154.5 ab	308.9 а	304.6 c	421.1 b	410.5 b	656.3 b	652.6 b	758.4 b	768.6 b	759.2 b	766.7 b
T_4	172.6 ab	168.7 a	425.0 a	426.6 a	846.4 a	847.5 a	1333.1 a	1331.4 a	1492.9 a	1451.8 a	1454.0 a	1451.8 a
T_5	160.0 ab	155.9 ab	383.4 a	387.6 abc	732.7 a	728.2 a	1209.0 a	1215.2 a	1309.5 a	1313.9 a	1325.0 a	1313.9 a
T_6	186.2 a	172.2 a	428.3 a	425.6 ab	849.6 a	848.6 a	1335.9 a	1342.9 a	1493.3 a	1452.8 a	1453.7	1452.8 a
T_7	160.7 ab	153.3 ab	384.9 a	380.6 abc	720.9 a	730.5 a	1208.3 a	1202.8 a	1300.6 a	1300.3 a	1320.9 a	1320.3 a
T_8	176.0 a	173.1 a	417.9 a	441.1 a	840.8 a	845.2 a	1331.8 a	1325.2 a	1491.0 a	1450.8 a	1451.2 a	1450.8 a
T_9	160.4 ab	154.0 ab	389.2 a	383.4 abc	721.6 a	753.4 a	1207.8 a	1202.5 a	1303.5 a	1300.1 a	1306.9 a	1310.1 a
T_{10}	176.7 a	178.1 a	424.5 a	449.1 a	846.5 a	847.7 a	1329.3 a	1331.0 a	1495.0 a	1452.1 a	1457.8 a	1452.1 a
T_{11}	161.0 ab	150.6 ab	389.8 a	384.9 abc	719.0 a	755.9 a	1209.3 a	1205.5 a	1302.7 a	1300.3 a	1325.0 a	1315.3 a
T_{12}	132.7 b	130.1 b	321.0 a	317.0 bc	450.8 b	445.6 b	564.3 b	560.3 b	587.0 b	591.8 b	582.1 b	591.8 b
F-test	*	*	*	**	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
SEm (土)	5.2	4.8	9.6	13.0	37.3	39.8	51.6	55.7	62.2	56.3	62.5	59.3
CV (%)	6.83	7.75	14.10	9.21	7.79	8.05	7.20	5.47	8.35	7.12	8.14	8.31
Treatmen different l	t details of the etters within th	Kharif and Bor re continuous c	o rice are ment	ioned in Table 3 te significant di	3. CV (%) = cot	efficient of vari	ation; ** and * s ohability.	ignificant at p	\leq 0.01 and $p \leq$	0.05, respective	ly; NS = not sig	nificant;

Table 4. Effect of nutrient management on dry matter accumulation (g) of Kharif and Boro rice at different growth stages.

					Leaf Area I	ndex (LAI)				
Treatment	20 L	DAT	40 L	DAT	60 D	AT	80 L	DAT	100 I	DAT
I	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015
					Kharif rice					
T ₁	2.66	2.66	3.07	3.09	4.87	4.88	2.71	2.70	1.44	1.33
T_2	2.66	2.64	3.05	3.04	4.86	4.85	2.69	2.68	1.42	1.30
T_3	1.72	1.39	2.11	1.84	3.85	3.82	1.67	1.71	0.43	0.29
T_4	2.65	2.62	3.04	3.05	4.85	4.86	2.70	2.70	1.40	1.30
T_5	2.61	2.61	3.00	2.99	4.83	4.84	2.70	2.66	1.33	1.22
T_6	2.64	2.62	3.05	3.01	4.86	4.87	2.70	2.69	1.42	1.24
T_7	2.58	2.59	2.98	3.01	4.82	4.84	2.64	2.66	1.32	1.18
T_8	2.62	2.61	3.02	2.99	4.87	4.88	2.64	2.71	1.40	1.20
T_9	1.76	1.76	2.17	2.19	3.97	3.98	1.81	1.80	0.54	0.43
T_{10}	2.65	2.64	3.05	3.06	4.87	4.88	2.69	2.69	1.42	1.27
T_{11}	2.56	2.54	2.97	2.97	4.85	4.87	2.67	2.70	1.36	1.24
T_{12}	1.61	1.36	1.95	1.74	3.52	3.56	1.35	1.38	0.20	0.05
F-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
SEm (土)	0.04	0.07	0.06	0.08	0.08	0.1	0.07	0.08	0.03	0.03
CV (%)	45.49	46.78	39.11	39.82	23.79	23.79	0.2	45.02	86.57	84.88
					Boro rice					
T_1	2.83	2.74	3.38	3.45	5.54	5.53	3.43	3.40	2.91	2.95
T_2	2.68	2.70	3.40	3.42	5.51	5.50	3.40	3.41	2.89	2.91
T_3	1.70	1.66	2.45	2.41	4.48	4.41	2.38	2.43	1.91	1.89
T_4	2.70	2.68	3.40	3.44	5.51	5.45	3.42	3.44	2.80	2.91
T_5	2.60	2.61	3.34	3.37	5.51	5.43	3.41	3.46	2.77	2.88
T_6	2.74	2.72	3.44	3.45	5.52	5.48	3.41	3.47	2.78	2.88
T_7	2.68	2.69	3.40	3.40	5.43	5.48	3.36	3.38	2.78	2.79
T_8	2.74	2.76	3.44	3.45	5.44	5.48	3.36	3.57	2.89	2.88
T_9	1.90	1.84	2.48	2.55	4.64	4.63	2.53	2.50	2.01	2.05
T_{10}	2.70	2.71	3.42	3.42	5.50	5.49	3.40	3.45	2.83	2.89
T_{11}	2.69	2.70	3.41	3.44	5.45	5.47	3.38	3.43	2.77	2.84
T_{12}	1.59	1.56	2.36	2.33	4.14	4.04	1.96	1.94	1.54	1.52
F-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
SEm (土)	0.06	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.1	0.1	0.06	0.07	0.09	0.08
CV (%)	44.41	44.41	34.66	34.39	20.94	21.01	34.94	34.54	42.53	41.72
		The treatment deta	uils for Kharif and	Boro rice are men	tioned in Table 3. C	V (%) = coefficie	nt of variation; N5	5 = not significant.		

Table 5. Effect of nutrient management on the leaf area index of rice at different growth stages.

Plants 2021, 10, 1622

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	H				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	80 DAT		100 DAT	120 I	DAT
Khurj fic Khurj fic T1 298.8 297.7 311.2 315.8 340.7 327.8 T2 286.9 292.1 300.3 308.8 330.2 333.3 305.3 T5 266.9 292.1 300.3 308.8 330.2 295.7 270.5 T5 266.9 292.1 300.3 308.8 330.2 295.7 270.5 T5 266.0 292.1 200.3 308.8 330.2 295.1 370.5 T6 290.1 292.2 280.5 280.1 284.9 280.3 302.3 320.5 370.2 310.2 319.2 T7 206.0 293.7 201.1 282.2 283.7 301.7 313.2 T10 286.3 205.1 283.2 283.7 301.7 318.5 T10 286.1 287.0 273.2 287.7 280.7 280.7 280.7 T10 286.1 286.1	2014	2015 20	14 2015	2014	2015
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	327.8 a	326.8 324	.7 a 310.4	317.3 a	306.8
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	305.3 ab	312 303.0	6 ab 298.3	298.6 ab	295.2
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	270.5 ab	286.3 263.	1 ab 259.4	257.8 ab	259.1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	302.9 ab	312.7 302.5	5 ab 294.3	300.2 ab	291.6
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	281.2 ab	280.2 280.5	9 ab 275.7	280.3 ab	274.0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	319.2 a 3	307.8 313.	.1 a 301.2	310.2 a	296.4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	280.7 ab	299.8 278.9	9 ab 281.2	271.5 ab	277.4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	318.7 a 3	320.2 312.	.1 a 297.7	309.3 a	296.0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	285.0 ab	302.5 280.	5 ab 284.0	274.7 ab	274.1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	313.0 a	309.5 309.	.6 a 296.6	305.3 a	293.1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	282.0 ab	299.4 280.3	3 ab 276.3	275.2 ab	271.3
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	208.7 b	208.0 204.	.5 b 200.8	201.7 b	195.9
	**	* NS	* NS	**	NS
$ \begin{array}{lclcccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10.5	10.4 8.	7 8.4	11.2	9.8
Boro rice Boro rice T1 $340.8a$ 361.2 $362.7a$ $386.3a$ $388.3a$ $380.8a$ T2 $325.1a$ 360.3 $386.3a$ $388.3a$ $375.3c$ T3 $226.9a$ $325.1a$ 30.3 $355.1a$ $386.3a$ $388.3a$ $375.3c$ T4 $325.1a$ 300.3 $316.3a$ $386.3a$ $386.5a$ $375.5a$ T4 $332.1a$ $325.8a$ 339.3 $342.0ab$ $340.3ab$ $337.5a$ T6 $337.1a$ $325.3a$ $346.3ab$ $342.5ab$ $337.2a$ T6 $337.1a$ $322.3a$ $346.3ab$ $342.6ab$ $337.2a$ T8 $333.2a$ $346.3ab$ $342.6ab$ $377.4ab$ $331.2a$ T9 $333.7a$ $346.3ab$ $337.2a$ $330.7a$ $352.3ab$ $342.6ab$ $336.5a$ T9 $333.7a$ $341.3a$ $333.7a$ $332.3ab$ $337.7a$ $337.7a$ $337.31a$ $335.7a$	11.84	11. 11.	98 23.91	12.16	12.42
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	380.8 a	365.7 366.	.7 a 366.0	361.3 a	360.3 a
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	375.3 a	372.3 368.	.6 a 363.0	360.0 a	361.8 a
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	330.5 ab	331.7 321.	.1 a 325.7	300.8 ab	320.3 ab
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	362.5 a	367.3 359.	.9 a 366.0	357.2 a	353.0 a
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	331.2 ab	328.5 326.	.9 a 323.5	320.3 ab	320.3 ab
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	359.2 a	370.0 353.	.1 a 369.2	347.2 a	362.5 a
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	330.7 ab	330.7 325.	.9 a 326.5	321.5 ab	323.3 ab
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	358.7 a	363.6 352	.1 a 361.3	350.3 a	352.7 a
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	338.6 ab	332.0 331.	.5 a 326.5	321.7 ab	323.5 ab
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	353.0 a	365.3 350.	.6 a 363.5	345.3 a	356.9 a
T12 208.3 b 211.3 b 226.0 221.7 b 257.3 b 245.7 b Flact * * * * * * ** </td <td>342.0 a</td> <td>330.7 335.</td> <td>.3 a 322.2</td> <td>315.2 ab</td> <td>320.3 ab</td>	342.0 a	330.7 335.	.3 a 322.2	315.2 ab	320.3 ab
H-Poch * * NIS * ** ** **	245.7 b	240.7 233.	.5 b 228.0	229.7 b	223.3 b
	* *	* SN	NS .	**	* *
$SEm(\pm)$ 10.2 11.3 9.9 10.4 12.2 13.9 12	12	11.4 10	.2 10	13.2	10.8
CV (%) 7.46 8.12 16.50 9.30 9.44 10.90 9.37	9.37	17.68 8.5	56 22.52	9.83	12.30

Table 6. Effect of nutrient management on tillers (m^{-2}) of rice at different growth stages.

A similar trend was also noted in *Boro* rice, where an ample dose of recommended nutrients (T_1) produced maximum tillers per unit area. Treatment T_1 showed its significant superiority to T_3 , T_5 , T_7 , T_9 , T_{11} , and the control (T_{12} , no fertilizer) during both years, but T_1 remained statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_8 , and T_{10} . Omission of all nutrients in T_{12} was totally dependent on inherent soil fertility and, due to lack of sufficient nutrients, it did not produce the desired number of tillers. On the other hand, the treatment T_1 received an ample dose of recommended nutrients that facilitated proper nutrition and resulted in maximum tillers per unit area at different growth stages of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice during both the years of study. The beneficial effects of fertilizers in enhancing tillers were earlier observed by researchers [36,37].

3.2. Yield Attributes and Yield

Yield attributes such as panicles m^{-2} , grains panicle⁻¹, spikelets panicle⁻¹, test weight, and panicle length were recorded for both *Kharif* and *Boro* rice during both seasons (Table 7). Considering both seasons data of these parameters, panicles m^{-2} , grains panicle⁻¹, spikelets panicle⁻¹, and test weight varied significantly only in the first season. The recommended dose of nutrients (T₁) registered higher values than T₃, T₅, T₇, T₉, T₁₁, and T₁₂ (control) in both years. However, the treatment with an ample dose of nutrients (T₁) was statistically on par in increasing the values of the yield attributes.

The yield-attributing characters of *Boro* rice did not differ significantly in both years, where T_1 exerted higher values over T_3 , T_5 , T_7 , T_9 , T_{11} , and the control (T_{12} , no fertilizer) during 2014–2015 and 2015–2016. However, T_1 was statistically on par with the T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_8 , and T_{10} treatments. The results corroborate the findings of earlier studies [34,35], where researchers revealed that balanced doses of all nutrients influence the proper growth and development of plants, leading to improved yield-attributing characters of rice.

The 'R' values of the yield attributes were reflected in the productivity of the *Kharif* and *Boro* rice in terms of grain and straw yields during both the years of study (Figures 2–7). The data showed that the grain yield of *Kharif* rice was at its maximum (5.46 and 5.67 t ha⁻¹ in 2014 and 2015, respectively) with the treatment T₁ (Figure 8). In 2014, the treatment with an ample dose of nutrients (T₁) produced significantly more grain yield than T₂, T₃, and the control (T₁₂); but, in 2015, T₁ yielded significantly more than T₃ and the control. The other treatments were statistically on par with T₁. The grain yield of *Boro* rice was higher with the application of an ample dose of the recommended fertilizer (T₁) that yielded 6.6 t ha⁻¹ in both years. The treatments were statistically on par with the other treatments, except for T₂, T₃, and T₁₂ (unfertilized control), in increasing the grain yield of *Boro* rice yielded more with the ample dose of nutrients application. A similar type of impact of an ample dose of recommended nutrients was earlier noted by Mohapatra [38] and Trivedi et al. [39].

	Lance	es m -2	Grains I	anicle ⁻¹	Spikelets	Panicle ⁻¹	Test We	right (g)	Panicle Lo	ength (cm)
I	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015
					Kharif rice					
T ₁	246.1 a	249.8	131.0 a	133.1	148.3 a	151.0	23.5 a	24.2	30.0	31.2
T_2	241.1 b	244.8	127.0 b	128.2	146.5 ab	146.3	22.6 a	22.8	28.7	29.7
T_3	200.2 f	219.7	110.0 d	110.5	133.0 ef	132.1	22.5 a	22.3	26.0	22.0
T_4	245.0 a	245.9	120.0 c	124.5	143.0 c	148.0	22.8 a	23.2	29.9	30.9
T_5	221.1 b	220.2	111.5 d	112.5	135.1 de	135.5	22.2 a	22.6	26.4	26.8
T_6	232.7 c	236.5	125.2 b	128.6	147.5 ab	150.9	21.8 a	23.8	28.2	29.9
T_7	220.2 d	221.0	112.1 d	114.8	136.5 d	135.1	22.6 a	23.6	26.3	26.1
T_8	245.0 a	247.0	122.2 c	127.6	147.3 ab	148.8	22.5 a	23.2	29.3	30.6
T_9	220.2 d	214.2	112.1 d	113.2	136.2 d	135.0	22.2 a	23.5	26.2	26.7
T_{10}	245.0 a	245.1	111.0 d	125.4	144.9 bc	146.1	22.2 a	23.2	27.0	30.4
T ₁₁	220.6 d	220.2	112.1 d	114.0	131.3 fg	136.0	22.2 a	23.0	25.0	25.7
T_{12}	212.3 e	204.0	65.5 e	61.8	129.7 g	127.1	20.0 b	19.7	21.0	19.1
l-test	**	SS	**	NS	**	NS	*	NS	NS	NS
m (土)	8.8	9.8	6.4	6.1	3.9	5.1	1.7	1	1.1	1.4
V (%)	24.9	28.7	18.8	17.8	11.4	14.9	4.9	2.9	3.4	4.1
					Boro rice					
T,	281.0	282.2	140.0	145.4	155.1	159.4	24.0	25.6	32.5	33.2
T_2^{-}	269.7	280.4	133.0	136.0	151.0	152.2	22.9	22.8	29.9	30.3
T_3	239.8	234.7	90.06	91.5	126.2	125.1	21.0	20.3	26.6	25.3
T_4	260.4	274.3	125.0	140.1	154.9	156.1	23.3	23.5	31.4	33.1
T_5	233.9	236.4	121.2	120.0	131.3	136.0	22.7	22.6	26.4	27.1
T_6	277.6	279.5	130.0	132.3	155.0	158.0	22.3	23.8	30.1	32.3
T_7	232.5	237.7	120.0	121.1	130.4	131.7	23.1	23.4	29.0	28.7
T_8	278.0	281.4	134.9	136.3	150.6	153.0	23.0	23.2	31.5	32.1
T_9	232.0	235.2	120.0	122.0	134.4	137.9	23.8	24.9	22.4	24.1
Γ_{10}	267.0	268.1	137.9	138.2	151.1	155.3	22.6	23.6	25.5	27.2
T ₁₁	236.6	230.2	121.6	121.2	130.7	131.0	22.0	23.1	24.9	26.6
T_{12}	215.3	210.0	80.0	76.0	121.0	120.0	20.2	20.0	22.8	20.3
l-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
m (±)	8	8.5	6.2	6.9	9	5.9	1.8	1	1	1.4
V (%)	23.4	25.1	18.1	20.1	17.6	17.3	5.2	2.8	2.8	4.0

Plants 2021, 10, 1622



Figure 2. Relation between dry matter and yield of Kharif and Boro rice.



Figure 3. Relation between number of panicles m⁻² and yield of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice.



Figure 4. Relation between number of filled grains panicle⁻¹ and yield of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice.



Figure 5. Relation between number of spikelets panicle⁻¹ and yield of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice.



Figure 6. Relation between percentages filled grain and yield of Kharif and Boro rice.



Figure 7. Relation between length of panicle and yield of Kharif and Boro rice.



Figure 8. Effect of nutrient management on the yield of *Kharif* rice. $SE\pm$ in each bar was calculated from three replications for every treatment.

Nutrient levels influenced straw yield in the rice–rice cropping system as noted in the case of grain yield. The treatment comprising recommended dose of N+P+K+S+Zn resulted in significant improvement in straw yield of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice over unfertilized control treatments during both the years of experimentation (Figure 8). In *Kharif* rice, the treatment T₁ produced the maximum straw yield and it was significantly more than T₃ and T₁₂ (unfertilized control) in 2014, but in 2015, the application of T₁, being statistically on par with the other nutrient management treatments, significantly registered more straw yield over the control (T₁₂). The straw yield of *Boro* rice was maximum with T₁ and it remained significantly more than T₃ and T₁₂ (control) during both 2014–2015 and 2015–2016. As the ample dose of nutrient application produced more dry matter than the control, grain and straw yields also followed a similar trend because the maximum biomass production was reflected with said treatment. The results conform with the findings of Trivedi et al. [39], who also noted higher biomass production with the recommended dose of nutrients in rice.

3.3. Nutrient Uptake

The uptake of N, P, K, S, and Zn by the grain and straw of *Kharif* and *Boro* rice were obtained by multiplying the grain and straw yield with the nutrient content of the grain and straw of the respective treatments. The results are presented below (Tables 8–10).

Table 8. Effect of nutrient management on the nutrient uptake (kg ha⁻¹) of *Kharif* rice.

Treatment	N Uptake in Grain		N Uptake in Straw		P Uptak	e in Grain	P Uptake	e in Straw	K Uptake in Grain		
ireatilient	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	
T ₁	68.5	71.7	29.6	31.9	19.3	21.0	11.8	14.1	23.6	24.9	
T ₂	55.7	61.8	25.2	27.4	17.3	18.5	10.4	13.3	20.9	22.8	
T ₃	30.9	28.7	9.7	11	16.1	15.3	10.2	9.7	19.3	14.2	
T_4	64.3	65.5	27.7	28.5	16.5	18.4	10.2	12.2	21.6	22.1	
T ₅	64.3	64.8	28.4	29.7	16.0	15.5	8.8	9.2	20.5	20.9	
T ₆	65.9	65.6	28.4	29.1	17.7	19.2	11.2	12.5	16.4	16.9	
T ₇	65.3	63.8	27.9	29.8	16.9	18.4	10.9	13.2	10.1	9.1	
T ₈	64.5	65.7	27.9	30.8	17.4	18.5	11.3	13.2	22.4	22.7	
T ₉	66.4	63.7	27.7	29.8	16.8	18.0	11.8	13.3	20.9	22.8	
T ₁₀	66.4	67	27.5	30.3	17.0	18.7	11.5	13.1	21.7	22.8	
T ₁₁	65.5	66.5	27.5	30.3	17.9	18.4	11.8	13.3	22.4	22.4	
T ₁₂	20.8	16.4	14.3	9.4	7.57	6.45	4.5	4.6	4.34	3.11	
F-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	
SEm (±)	1.33	2.26	0.83	0.83	0.8	0.83	0.49	0.48	1.2	0.9	
CV (%)	3.91	6.63	2.44	2.43	2.50	2.40	1.40	1.41	3.5	2.65	
Treatment	K uptake	K uptake in straw		e in grain	Zn uptake in straw		S uptake in grain		S uptake	in straw	
ireutificiti	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	2014	2015	
T ₁	47.8	47.9	0.13	0.14	0.29	0.30	6.7	7.0	3.1	3.2	
T ₂	43.0	45.0	0.12	0.12	0.26	0.25	6.6	6.5	2.9	3.0	
T ₃	32.1	32.0	0.07	0.06	0.18	0.17	3.4	3.7	1.7	1.8	
T_4	45.9	47.1	0.13	0.11	0.27	0.26	6.4	6.5	2.7	3.0	
T_5	45.4	44.8	0.10	0.10	0.25	0.23	6.0	6.1	2.5	2.8	
T_6	32.8	36.2	0.12	0.11	0.27	0.28	6.3	6.6	2.8	3.1	
T_7	30.0	38.4	0.11	0.13	0.26	0.29	6.5	6.6	2.9	3.0	
T ₈	45.5	45.7	0.10	0.10	0.20	0.18	6.6	6.9	2.9	2.9	
T ₉	44.5	45.4	0.09	0.08	0.13	0.10	6.6	6.5	2.8	3.0	
T ₁₀	45.1	45.8	0.11	0.12	0.26	0.26	5.7	5.6	2.3	2.5	
T ₁₁	40.8	45.7	0.11	0.11	0.28	0.27	5.3	4.4	2.3	2.1	
T ₁₂	10.9	10.5	0.04	0.03	0.12	0.11	1.98	1.72	1.12	1.1	
F-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	
SEm (±)	1.67	1.92	0.004	0.009	0.01	0.009	0.14	0.19	0.1	0.1	
CV (%)	4.89	5.64	0.012	0.027	0.028	0.027	0.41	0.56	0.28	0.29	

The treatment details for *Kharif* and *Boro* rice are mentioned in Table 3. CV (%) = coefficient of variation; NS = not significant.

Treatments	N Uptake	e in Grain	N Uptake	e in Straw	r uptake	III Grain	r uptake	III SURAW	n Uptake	in Grain
	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016
T ₁	98.9	107.7	57.5	56.4	34.3	38.3 a	28.9 a	30.2 a	28.5	33.0 a
T_2	76.7	81.1	41.2	51.5	28.5	30.8 f	25.3 de	25.8 ef	27.0	30.5 f
T_3	17.3	15.9	18.3	14.2	17.9	17.3 h	15.0 h	17.2 h	15.0	16.3 h
T_4	87.6	100.5	52.4	54.1	25.5	27.8 g	20.8g	24.3 g	27.4	30.8 d
T_5	86.6	6.66	57.2	56.2	15.3	12.8 i	10.2 i	7.0 i	27.7	30.7 de
T_6	90.1	99.3	55.4	54.4	31.0	33.6 e	24.8 ef	25.3 f	19.9	25.1 g
T_7	87.7	97.2	53.2	52.2	30.6	33.7 d	25.8 cd	26.9 cd	12.1	10.0 i
T ₈	88.1	102.4	52.3	54.5	32.1	33.7 d	26.1 c	28.0 b	27.0	31.0 c
T ₉	88.7	98.6	52.1	53.6	32.0	34.0 b	24.7 ef	26.4 de	26.9	30.6 ef
T_{10}	87.3	100.3	52.4	55.3	32.0	33.8 с	27.5 b	27.7 bc	26.6	30.5 f
T_{11}	88.7	95.5	51.4	51.1	31.1	33.8 c	24.2 f	26.6 de	27.9	31.9 b
T_{12}	6.3	12.4	16.9	11	4.86	4.16 j	4.29 j	3.45 j	2.92	2.62 j
F-test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	* *	* *	**	* *	**
SEm (±)	3.5	3.6	1.7	1.9	1.92	1.67	1.67	2.46	0.67	0.83
CV (%)	11.7	10.2	4.9	5.7	5.64	4.89	4.89	7.22	1.96	2.44
Treatments	K uptake	in straw	Zn uptak	e in grain	Zn uptak	e in straw	S uptake	in grain	S uptake	in straw
	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016	2014-2015	2015-2016
T1	53.3 a	64.3 a	0.19	0.19	0.35 a	0.34 ab	9.2 a	9.3 a	6.4 a	6.7 a
T_1	48.5 d	59.5 c	0.18	0.18	0.32 a	0.33 ab	8.6 ab	8.6 ab	6.4 a	6.3 abc
T_2	37.7 f	36.2 h	0.12	0.14	0.20 bc	0.21 bc	4.7 d	4.7 d	4.2 d	4.5 d
T_3	51.6 b	63.4 b	0.18	0.18	0.31 a	0.34 ab	8.6 ab	8.6 ab	6.2 ab	6.5 ab
T_4	48.7 cd	56.9 e	0.16	0.16	0.27 ab	0.32 ab	8.2 b	8.5 ab	5.6 bc	5.7 c
T_5	37.0 f	41.2 g	0.18	0.18	0.31 a	0.32 ab	8.6 ab	8.7 ab	6.0 ab	6.2 abc
T_6	34.9 g	51.0 f	0.18	0.18	0.33 a	0.35 a	8.9 ab	8.8 ab	6.0 ab	6.3 abc
T_7	48.6 d	63.8 ab	0.13	0.12	0.22 b	0.23 abc	8.8 ab	8.8 ab	6.5 a	6.3 abc
T_8	45.5 e	58.6 d	0.10	0.09	0.11 d	0.10 c	8.3 b	8.4 b	5.0 c	5.9 bc
T_9	50.7 b	56.8 e	0.18	0.18	0.3 4 a	0.34 ab	6.8 c	6.9 c	3.1 e	3.5 e
T_{10}	49.6 c	56.8 e	0.18	0.18	0.34 a	0.34 ab	4.9 d	4.6 d	2.0 f	2.1 f
T_{11}	12.6 h	11.98 i	0.03	0.02	0.12 cd	0.11 c	1.62 e	1.51 e	1.23 g	1.08 g
F-test	**	**	NS	NS	**	**	**	**	**	**
SEm (土)	1.8	2.67	0.006	0.007	0.012	0.01	0.23	0.25	0.15	0.17
CV (%)	5.28	7.82	0.018	0.021	0.037	0.03	0.69	0.75	0.43	0.49
The treatme different lett	nt details for <i>Khai</i> ers within the cor	rif and Boro rice al atinuous columns	re mentioned in T indicate significai	able 3. CV (%) = σ nt differences at th	oefficient of variative 1% level of prob	tion; ** and * signi ability.	ificant at $p \leq 0.01$	and $p \leq 0.05$, resp	ectively; NS = not	significant;

Treatment	Initial Soil Status (kg/mg ha ⁻¹)					The 2nd	Nutrient Balance (kg/mg ha ⁻¹)								
menterit	N	Р	К	Zn	S	Ν	Р	К	Zn	S	Ν	Р	K	Zn	S
T ₁	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	290.5	31.7	211.2	0.6	27.2	60.0	20.5	86.0	0.4	16.7
T ₂	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	242.3	27.9	209.2	0.5	24.9	11.8	16.7	84.0	0.3	14.4
T ₃	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	216.4	28.5	208.3	0.4	24.5	-14.1	17.3	83.1	0.2	14.0
T_4	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	286.3	26.6	210.2	0.5	25.5	55.8	15.4	85.0	0.3	15.0
T ₅	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	286.6	9.0	207.8	0.5	24.4	56.1	-2.2	82.6	0.2	13.9
T ₆	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	285.8	30.3	196.0	0.6	24.4	55.3	19.1	70.8	0.3	13.9
T ₇	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	282.8	28.6	112.1	0.6	24.1	52.3	17.4	-13.1	0.3	13.6
T ₈	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	282.7	28.3	207.8	0.4	24.2	52.2	17.1	82.6	0.2	13.7
T ₉	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	280.7	28.7	204.9	0.1	25.0	50.2	17.5	79.7	-0.1	14.5
T ₁₀	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	284.2	29.0	202.4	0.5	16.2	53.7	17.8	77.2	0.3	5.7
T ₁₁	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	276.0	27.2	201.9	0.4	3.4	45.5	16.0	76.7	0.2	-7.1
T ₁₂	230.5	11.2	125.2	0.2	10.5	214.3	8.8	112.4	0.1	3.2	-16.2	-2.4	-12.8	-0.1	-7.3
STDEV	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.99	7.81	36.73	0.17	8.49	27.99	7.81	36.7	0.16	8.49
\pm SEm	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	8.08	2.26	10.60	0.05	2.45	8.08	2.26	10.6	0.05	2.45

Table 10. Effect of nutrient management on the nutrient balance of soil after the second year of Boro rice.

The treatment details for the Kharif and Boro rice are mentioned in Table 3.

3.3.1. Nitrogen Uptake

In 2014, the highest nitrogen uptake in *Kharif* season rice grain (68.5 kg ha⁻¹) was with the treatment T₁, which was significantly higher than T₂, T₃, T₄, T₅, T₈, and the control (T₁₂); however, T₁ remained statistically on par with T₆, T₇, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁ (Table 8). In 2015, T₁ also resulted in the maximum N uptake by grain and, it being statistically on par with T₄, T₆, T₈, T₁₀, and T₁₁, was significantly superior to T₂, T₃, T₅, T₇, T₉, and T₁₂ (control). Similarly, the nitrogen uptake by straw was also maximum with an ample dose of fertilizer application. In the case of nitrogen uptake by rice straw, T₁ removed the maximum nitrogen and it remained statistically on par with T₄, T₅, T₆, T₇, T₈, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁ in 2014 and with T₅, T₇, T₈, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁ in 2015. Interestingly, T₁ remained on par with those treatments that received 80 kg N ha⁻¹ in the *Kharif* season. The least quantity of N was removed by the rice straw with the unfertilized control (T₁₂) during both years of experimentation. Greater values of N uptake by the grain and straw were noted with the recommended dose of N fertilizer application for *Kharif* rice (80 kg ha⁻¹) during both the years, and it was probably the proper utilization of applied N fertilizer by crops into biomass (grain and straw yields) production.

During the *Boro* seasons of 2014–2015 and 2015–2016, the highest nitrogen uptake by rice grain (98.8 and 107.6 kg ha⁻¹) was recorded with the treatment T_1 and the least quantity was noted with the unfertilized control (T_{12}) (Table 9). The result of N uptake by grain in 2014–2015 revealed that 100% RDF (T_1) removed the maximum nitrogen from the soil and it was significantly more than T_2 , T_3 , T_5 , and T_{12} (control). The remaining treatments were statistically on par with T_1 in the expression of nutrient uptake by grains of *Boro* rice in 2014–2015. However, in the case of 2015–2016, T_1 registered more nitrogen uptake by grains of *Boro* rice, which was further significantly more than T_2 , T_3 , T_7 , T_{11} , and T_{12} (control). N uptake by *Boro* rice grains was drastically reduced in T_3 , which was statistically on par with the unfertilized control (T_{12}) during both years of experimentation. Rice is basically a nutrient-draining crop and in the rice-rice cropping system, the second crop (*Boro* rice) did not get any nitrogen in T_3 , probably due to insufficient supply of the primary nutrient (N); thus, the treatment performed poorly.

In 2014–2015, *Boro* rice straw registered its maximum uptake of nitrogen at T_1 and it was statistically on par with T_5 , T_6 , and T_7 . T_{12} (unfertilized control) expressed the least value and it was statistically on par with T_3 . Both T_3 and T_{12} (control) were significantly inferior to other treatments in 2014–2015 in N uptake by straw. However, in 2015–2016, T_1 was statistically on par with all other treatments except T_3 and T_{12} (control). The variation in N uptake during two consecutive years among treatments was probably due to variation

in yields. In both years, T_3 and T_{12} (control) performed poor in nitrogen uptake by straw because nitrogenous fertilizer was not applied in these treatments. Earlier researchers evidenced that an ample dose of fertilizer application recorded more uptake of nitrogen by grains and straws of rice [40,41].

3.3.2. Phosphorus Uptake

In 2014, the uptake pattern of P was influenced by the yield of *Kharif* rice grain and straw (Table 9). The highest P uptake in rice grain (19.30 kg ha⁻¹) in 2014 was noted with the treatment T₁, which was statistically on par with T₆, T₇, T₈, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁. The grains of *Kharif* rice in 2015 also removed the maximum P by T₁; however, it was statistically on par with only T₆ and T₁₀. The lowest quantity of P uptake by the *Kharif* rice grains was recorded with T₁₂ (control) during both years. A similar trend in P uptake by rice straw during the *Kharif* season was noted in 2014 and 2015 where the treatment T₁ resulted in their maximum values (11.8 and 14.1 kg ha⁻¹, respectively). In 2014, T₁ registered significantly more nutrient uptake by rice straw during the *Kharif* season than T₃, T₄, T₅, and the control (T₁₂); but T₁ was also statistically on par with T₂, T₆, T₇, T₈, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁, but significantly superior to T₃, T₄, T₅, T₆, and the control.

In the case of *Boro* rice, a similar trend was observed in terms of nutrient uptake by rice grain and straw during both the years (2014–2015 and 2015–2016) (Table 10). An ample dose of recommended fertilizer application (T_1) registered significantly more P uptake during both the years by *Boro* rice grains over T_2 , T_3 , T_4 , T_5 , and T_{12} (unfertilized control) and the treatment with the application of T_1 remained statistically on par with T_6 , T_7 , T_8 , T_9 , T_{10} , and T_{11} . Similarly, straw of *Boro* rice showed maximum P uptake by T_1 and the treatment being statistically on par with T_6 , T_7 , T_8 , T_9 , T_{10} , and T_{11} resulted in significantly greater P uptake by the straw of *Boro* rice than T_3 , T_4 , T_5 , and T_{12} (control). Research evidence proved that an ample dose of the recommended dose of nutrient application showed greater uptake of P by grains of rice [42,43].

3.3.3. Potassium Uptake

Potassium uptake by grains of *Kharif* rice was maximum at an ample dose of recommended fertilizer application (T_1) during both years of experimentation (Table 9). The treatment T₁, being statistically on par with T₂, T₄, T₅, T₈, T₉, T₁₀, and T₁₁, registered its significant superiority to T₃, T₆, T₇, and unfertilized control (T₁₂) in the *Kharif* season of 2014 for potassium removal by grains. However, in 2015, only a few treatments, namely T_2 , T_9 , T_{10} , and T_{11} , remained statistically on par with T_1 in increasing the K uptake by *Kharif* rice grains and the treatment T₁ recorded significantly more uptake of said primary nutrients over the remaining treatments. Further, it was also noted that the treatment T_{12} recorded the least quantity of K during both the years and, in Kharif 2015, the rice grains registered a comparatively less amount of K removal because of the non-application of nutrients in the two consecutive years. A similar trend was also noted in K uptake by the straw of *Kharif* rice during both the years as the treatment T_1 showed the maximum uptake. In both the years, straw of *Kharif* rice removed the maximum amount of K with the treatment T_1 and it was statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_5 , T_8 , T_9 , and T_{10} . In 2014, T_1 remained significantly superior to T_{11} , but in 2015 both the treatments were statistically on par in the removal of K by Kharif rice straw.

The data on potassium uptake (kg ha⁻¹) showed that during the *Boro* season (Table 10), the uptake of K in grain was the highest with T_1 and it was statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_5 , T_8 , T_9 , T_{10} , and T_{11} in 2014–2015. The lowest value was recorded in T_{12} (control) and it was significantly inferior to all other treatments. Interestingly, in 2015–2016, K uptake by the rice grains was less than the previous year with the same treatment (T_{12}) and that clearly indicated the continuous removal of stored nutrients because in the treatment no nutrients were added in the consecutive two years. In the *Boro* season of 2015–2016, an

ample dose of nutrients application (T₁) registered the maximum K uptake by rice grains and the treatment was statistically on par with T₄, T₅, T₈, T₉, and T₁₁. Like other major nutrients, K uptake of rice straw during the *Boro* season of 2014–2015 was noted as at a maximum at T₁ and, it being statistically on par with T₂, T₄, T₅, T₈, T₉, and T₁₀, remained significantly superior to T₃, T₅, T₆, T₉, and the unfertilized control (T₁₂) in 2015–2016. However, in 2015–2016, the treatment T₁ was observed to remove significantly more K by *Boro* rice straw than T₃, T₅, T₆, T₇, T₁₀, T₁₁, and T₁₂ (control). The results noted that higher removal of K by rice with the recommended dose of fertilizer application [44,45].

3.3.4. Zinc Uptake

Zn uptake (kg ha⁻¹) by *Kharif* rice grain and straw was influenced by nutrient management treatments during two consecutive years of study (Table 9). In 2014, rice grains registered their maximum Zn uptake by T₁, and it remained statistically on par with T₂, T₄, and T₆ and significantly superior to the rest of the treatments. In 2015, T₁ remained statistically on par with T₂ and T₁₀ in the uptake of Zn by rice grains; however, T₁ recorded significantly more Zn uptake over other treatments. Similarly, rice straw also recorded its maximum Zn uptake with T₁ during the *Kharif* seasons of 2014 and 2015. In 2014, T₁ was statistically on par with T₄, T₆, and T₁₁; but, in 2015, treatment T₁, being statistically on par with T₆ and T₇, recorded significantly more Zn uptake by the straw of *Kharif* rice over other treatments. Moreover, the control treatment (T₁₂) recorded the lowest uptake of Zn during both the years by grain and straw of *Kharif* rice because of it being devoid of any fertilizer application.

Boro rice grain and straw also showed a similar trend in Zn uptake as the maximum uptake of the micronutrient was noted with an ample dose of recommended fertilizer application (T_1) in both years (Table 10). An ample dose of the recommended fertilizer (T_1) was statistically on par with T_2 , T_6 , T_7 , T_{10} , and T_{11} in Zn uptake by *Boro* rice grains; however, the treatment was significantly superior to the remaining treatments in 2014–2015 and 2015–2016. Similarly, the *Boro* rice straw removed the maximum Zn with the treatment T_1 and it is statistically on par with T_2 , T_7 , T_{10} , and T_{11} , registering more Zn uptake than other treatments during both years. As noted in the other treatments, the least quantity of Zn uptake by grain and straw of *Boro* rice was recorded with the unfertilized control treatment (T_{12}). The results are in agreement with the research evidence of Mohapatra [38], Pampolinoa et al. [46], and Chandrapala et al. [47], who earlier noted a higher quantity of Zn removal by rice with an ample dose of Zn-containing fertilizers.

3.3.5. Sulphur Uptake

In the rice–rice cropping system, S uptake was influenced by nutrient management in the *Kharif* season (Table 9). During both the years (2014 and 2015), *Kharif* rice grains registered their maximum S uptake by the treatment T_1 and, it being statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_7 , T_8 , and T_9 , recorded more S uptake over the remaining treatments. In the case of rice straw, in 2014, T_1 was statistically on par with T_2 , T_7 , and T_8 ; and in 2015, the treatment T_1 , being statistically on par with T_2 , T_7 , T_8 , and T_9 , registered significantly more S uptake than the other treatments during the *Kharif* season. As expected, the control treatment (T_{12} , control) recorded the least S uptake by the *Kharif* rice grain and straw and it was significantly inferior to all other treatments during both the years under study.

A similarity was noted in S uptake by *Boro* rice grain and straw during both years (Table 10). The treatment T_1 recorded the maximum S uptake by *Boro* rice grain and straw and it was statistically on par with T_2 , T_4 , T_6 , T_7 , and T_8 during both years. However, T_1 was significantly superior to the other treatments in S removal by the grain and straw of *Boro* rice in 2014–2015 and 2015–2016. The treatment with no fertilizer (T_{12} , control) showed significant inferiority over other treatments for S removal by grain and straw of *Boro* rice during both the years under study. The results clearly indicated that application of S was

required in the rice–rice cropping system for proper nutrition of the crops. The results conform with the findings of Porpavai et al. [48] and Singh et al [49].

3.4. Nutrient Balance

The initial nutrient status of the soils before transplanting of *Kharif* rice was analysed and recorded (Table 10). The nutrients were added through chemical fertilizers as per the treatments for rice crops in the rice-rice cropping system. The removal of nutrients by the rice crop was quantified after the harvest of each crop during the Kharif and Boro season in two consecutive years. The nutrient balance was measured after the final harvest of Boro rice in 2015–2016. The rice-rice cropping system removed a considerable amount of nutrients during the two years of study and the ample dose of recommended fertilizer application recorded the maximum quantity of nutrient (N, P, K, Zn, and S were considered in the experiment) removal. As expected, the control treatment (no fertilizer application) yielded less with the least nutrient uptake. After completion of two years of the experiment, it was observed that omission of any nutrient, as well as a control treatment, resulted in a negative nutrient balance, which is synonymous with depletion of soil fertility. The results clearly showed that to achieve crop yields on a sustainable basis one would need to apply the recommended fertilizers, and these recommendations should be made based on crop demand (removal) and the inherent soil nutrient-supplying capability. A similar type of observation was earlier noted by researchers [50,51].

As the rice-rice cropping system is the most prevalent system for irrigated lands of the red and lateritic belt of West Bengal, the nutrient balance must be kept into consideration for agricultural sustainability. Further, being a nutrient draining system, rice-rice systems remove a sizable quantity of nutrients, causing multi-nutrient deficiency problems—a threat to sustainable farm output—which is unlike other rice-based cropping systems, such as rice-legume systems, which has the opportunity to replenish a portion of the nutrients (more specifically N) through biological N fixation and nutrient recycling. In the rice-rice cropping system, the soil remains flooded for a long period and in this condition, loss of N and non-availability of Zn further aggravate the dimension to improper plant nutrition. Under rice-rice cropping systems, exogenous application of nutrients is vital for nutrient supply to crops. The experimental results of the present study also revealed that the application of ample doses of recommended nutrients is essential to maintain a positive nutrient balance.

4. Conclusions

Without proper and balanced nutrient management practices, the rice-rice system can prove to be highly unsustainable and can drain the soil nutrients quickly. Hence, understanding the nutrient requirement, nutrient removal, and nutrient balance of this system is essential. Nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, zinc, and sulphur are the nutrients of topmost priority, as their deficiency is widespread. These nutrients also play a crucial role in deciding crop performance. In the experiment, a rice-rice cropping system was studied concerning different nutrient management options. The imbalanced or insufficient nutrient application affects crop nutrient removal, thus affecting the growth and development of the plant. In addition to this, inappropriate nutrient supply over a long period reduces soil fertility, especially when a nutrient-exhausting cropping system such as a rice-rice cropping system is practised. The treatment where ample nutrients were provided proved to be most effective in improving the growth parameters, yield-attributing characteristics, and yield of rice in both the Kharif and Boro seasons. Ample nutrient application also helped to replenish the nutrients removed by the rice-rice cropping system. Imbalanced and insufficient nutrient application may make a nutrient-intensive cropping system, such as a rice-rice cropping system, unsustainable and low yielding. Considering this, an ample dose of nutrients in balanced proportions may be recommended to farmers of eastern India to maintain both productivity and agricultural sustainability and also to avoid long-term nutrient deficiencies in the rice-rice cropping systems of the region. Balanced nutrient management in cropping systems, thereby minimizing environmental pollution, is a cost-effective and environmentally friendly approach to target agricultural sustainability.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), G.C.M., M.B. (Mahua Banerjee), S.D., S.M., S.P., M.S. (Masina Sairam) and D.S.K.; methodology and visualization, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), G.C.M., M.B. (Mahua Banerjee), S.D., S.M., S.P., M.S. (Masina Sairam) and D.S.K.; software, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), G.C.M.; validation, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), M.B. (Mahua Banerjee), S.D., S.M., S.P. and A.H.; formal analysis, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar) and A.H.; investigation, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), G.C.M., M.B. (Mahua Banerjee), S.D., S.M., S.P., M.S. (Masina Sairam) and D.S.K.; resources, G.C.M. and S.M.; data curation, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), S.M. and A.H.; writing—original draft preparation, T.S. (Tanmoy Shankar), G.C.M., M.B. (Mahua Banerjee), S.D., S.M., S.P., M.S. (Masina Sairam) and D.S.K.; writing—review and editing, E.S.D., A.H., M.S. (Milan Skalicky), M.B. (Marian Brestic), T.S. (Tarek Saif), I.A.I. and M.M.H.; supervision and project administration, G.C.M., S.M.; funding acquisition, E.S.D., I.A.I., A.H., T.S. (Tarek Saif) and M.M.H. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The current work was funded by Taif University Researchers Supporting Project number (TURSP-2020/85), Taif University, Taif, Saudi Arabia.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Most of the data are available in all the tables and figures of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments: The authors extend their appreciation to the Visva-Bharati University, West Bengal, India. The authors also extend their appreciation to Taif University for funding the current work through the Taif University Researchers Supporting Project number (TURSP-2020/85), Taif University, Taif, Saudi Arabia.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors would hereby like to declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this article.

References

- 1. Deep, M.; Kumar, R.M.; Saha, S.; Singh, A. Rice-based cropping systems. *Indian Farming* 2018, 68, 27–30.
- Lal, B.; Gautam, P.; Panda, B.B.; Raja, R.; Singh, T.; Tripathi, R.; Shahid, M.; Nayak, A.K. Crop and varietal diversification of rainfed rice based cropping systems for higher productivity and profitability in Eastern India. *PLoS ONE* 2017, 12, e0175709. [CrossRef]
- Bhatt, R.; Kukal, S.S.; Busari, M.A.; Arora, S.; Yadav, M. Sustainability issues on rice—Wheat cropping system. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 2016, 4, 64–74. [CrossRef]
- Jat, M.L.; Majumdar, K.; McDonald, A.; Sikka, A.K.; Paroda, R.S. Book of extended summaries. National Dialogue on Efficient Nutrient Management for Improving Soil Health. In Proceedings of the TAAS, ICAR, CIMMYT, IPNI, CSISA, FAI, New Delhi, India, 28–29 September 2015; p. 56.
- Jata, R.A.; Dungranib, R.A.; Arvadiab, M.K.; Sahrawatc, K.L. Diversification of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) based cropping systems for higher productivity, resource-use efficiency and economic returns in south Gujarat, India. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* 2012, 58, 561–572. [CrossRef]
- 6. Ye, T.; Li, Y.; Zhang, J.; Hou, W.; Zhou, W.; Lu, J.; Xing, Y.; Li, X. Nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium fertilization affects the flowering time of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* **2019**, 20, e00753. [CrossRef]
- Di Mola, I.; Ottaiano, L.; Cozzolino, E.; Senatore, M.; Giordano, M.; El-Nakhel, C.; Sacco, A.; Rouphael, Y.; Colla, G.; Mori, M. Plant-based biostimulants influence the agronomical, physiological, and qualitative responses of baby rocket leaves under diverse nitrogen conditions. *Plants* 2019, *8*, 522. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fageria, N.K.; Baligar, V.C. Methodology for evaluation of lowland rice genotypes for nitrogen use efficiency. J. Plant Nutr. 2013, 26, 1315–1333. [CrossRef]
- 9. Mori, A.; Fukuda, T.; Vejchasarn, P.; Nestler, J.; Pariasca-Tanaka, J.; Wissuwa, M. The role of root size versus root efficiency in phosphorus acquisition in rice. J. Exp. Bot. 2016, 67, 1179–1189. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cakmak, I. The role of potassium in alleviating detrimental effects of abiotic stresses in plants. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2005, 168, 521–530. [CrossRef]
- 11. Patel, P.K.; Kadivala, V.A.H.; Patel, V.N. Role of Sulphur in Oilseed Crops: A Review. J. Plant Dev. Sci. 2019, 11, 109–114.
- 12. Impa, S.M.; Johnson-Beebout, S.E. Mitigating zinc deficiency and achieving high grain Zn in rice through integration of soil chemistry and plant physiology research. *Plant Soil* **2012**, *361*, 3–41. [CrossRef]

- Singh, M.V. Micronutrient Deficiencies in Crops and Soils in India. In Micronutrient Deficiencies in Global Crop Production; Alloway, B.J., Ed.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2008; pp. 93–125. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, A.; Patni, B.; Shankhdhar, D.; Shankhdhar, S.C. Zinc—An indispensable micronutrient. *Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants* 2013, 19, 11–20. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Prasad, R.; Shivay, Y.S.; Kumar, D. Agronomic biofortification of cereal grains with iron and zinc. Adv. Agron. 2014, 125, 55–91.
- Singh, V.K.; Dwivedi, B.S.; Mishra, R.P.; Shukla, A.K.; Timsina, J.; Upadhyay, P.K.; Shekhawat, K.; Majumdar, K.; Panwar, A.S. Yields, Soil Health and Farm Profits under a Rice-Wheat System: Long-Term Effect of Fertilizers and Organic Manures Applied Alone and in Combination. *Agronomy* 2019, 9, 1. [CrossRef]
- 17. Majumdar, K.; Jat, M.L.; Pampolino, M.; Satyanarayana, T.; Dutta, S.; Kumar, A. Nutrient management in wheat: Current scenario, improved strategies and future research needs in India. *J. Wheat Res.* **2013**, *4*, 1–10.
- 18. Shahane, A.A.; Shivay, Y.S.; Prasanna, R. Nutrient removal by rice–wheat cropping system as influenced by crop establishment techniques and fertilization options in conjunction with microbial inoculation. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10*, 21944. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sravan, U.S.; Ramana Murthy, K.V. Enhancing Productivity in Rice-Based Cropping Systems, Plant Competition in Cropping Systems, Daniel Dunea; IntechOpen: London, UK, 2018. Available online: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/63235 (accessed on 30 May 2021). [CrossRef]
- Ghosh, S.; Guchhait, S.K.; Hu, X.F. Characterization and evolution of primary and secondary laterites in northwestern Bengal Basin, West Bengal, India. J. Palaeogeogr. 2015, 4, 203–230. [CrossRef]
- 21. Bouyoucos, G.J. Hydrometer method improved for making particle size analysis of soils. J. Agron. 1962, 54, 464–465. [CrossRef]
- 22. Jackson, M.L. Soil Chemical Analysis; Prentice Hall of India Pvt. Ltd.: New Delhi, India, 1973; pp. 183–193.
- 23. Subbiah, B.V.; Asija, G.L. A rapid procedure for the determination of available nitrogen in soils. Curr. Sci. 1956, 25, 259–260.
- 24. Bray, R.H.; Kurtz, L.T. Determinations of total, organic and available forms of phosphorus in soils. *Soil Sci.* **1945**, *59*, 39–45. [CrossRef]
- 25. Hanway, J.J.; Heidel, H. Soil analyses methods as used in Iowa State College Soil Testing Laboratory. Iowa Agric. 1952, 57, 1–31.
- 26. Lindsay, W.L.; Norvell, W.A. Development of DTPA soil test for Zn, Fe, Mn and Cu. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1978, 42, 421–428. [CrossRef]
- 27. Chesnin, L.; Yien, C.H. Turbid metric Determination of Available Sulphates. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1950, 15, 149–150. [CrossRef]
- 28. Watson, D.J. The physiological basis of variation in yield. Adv. Agron. 1952, 4, 101-145.
- Tandon, H.L.S. Soil Nutrient Balance Sheets in India: Importance, Status, Issues, and Concerns. *Better Crop. India* 2007, *1*, 15–19.
 Cochran, W.G.; Cox, G.M. *Experimental Design*; Asia Publishing House: Calcutta, India, 1977; pp. 142–181.
- Shankar, T.; Banerjee, M.; Malik, G.C.; Dutta, S.; Maiti, D.; Maitra, S.; Alharby, H.; Bamagoos, A.; Hossain, A.; Ismail, I.A.; et al. The Productivity and Nutrient Use Efficiency of Rice-Rice-Black GramCropping Sequence Are Influencedby Location Specific Nutrient Management. *Sustainability* 2021, 13, 3222. [CrossRef]
- Show, R. Growth and Productivity of Boro Rice under Different Nitrogen and Water Regimes in Lateritic Belt of West Bengal. Ph.D. Thesis, Visva-Bharati University, Santiniketan, West Bengal, India, 2007; pp. 109–114.
- 33. Shekara, B.G.; Shreedhara, D. Growth and yield of aerobic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) influenced by different levels of NPK in Cauvery command area. J. Maharashtra Agric. Univ. 2010, 35, 195–198.
- Pandey, N.; Verma, A.K.; Tripathi, R.S. Effect of planting time and nitrogen on tillering pattern, drymatter accumulation and grain yield of hybrid rice. *Ind. J. Agric. Sci.* 2001, 71, 337–338.
- 35. Pariyani, A.K.; Naik, K.R. Effect of nitrogen level and seedling number on yield attributes and yield of rice hybrid. *J. Soils Crop.* **2004**, *14*, 234–236.
- 36. Hu, R.; Cao, J.; Huang, J.; Peng, S.; Zhong, X.; Zou, Y.; Yang, J.; Buresh, R.J. Farmer participatory testing of standard and modified site-specific nitrogen management for irrigated rice in China. *Agric. Sci.* 2007, *94*, 331–340. [CrossRef]
- 37. Huang, J.; He, F.; Cui, K.; Buresh, R.J.; Xu, B.; Gong, W.; Peng, S. Determination of optimal nitrogen rate for rice varieties using a chlorophyll meter. *Field Crop. Res.* 2008, *105*, 70–80. [CrossRef]
- 38. Mohapatra, A.K. Studies on Direct and Residual Effect of Secondary and Micronutrients in Rice (Hybrid)—Rice Cropping Sequence. Ph.D. Thesis, Odisha University of Agriculture & Technology, Department of Agronomy, Bhubaneswar, India, 2003.
- 39. Trivedi, V.K.; Pandey, M.R.; Pathak, R.K.; Kala, D.C. Balanced use of nutrients for high crop yield and quality of rice in central uttarpradesh. *Int. J. Tech. Res. Appl.* **2015**, *3*, 344–346.
- 40. Murthy, K.M.; Rao, A.U.; Vijay, D.; Sridhar, T.V. Effect of levels of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium on performance of rice. *Indian J. Agric. Res.* 2015, 49, 83–87. [CrossRef]
- 41. Yadav, M.P.; Tiwari, U.S.; Raj, J. Studies on site specific nutrient management (SSNM) for maximization of yield and economics in hybrid rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Plant Arch.* **2007**, *7*, 795–798.
- 42. Nath, D.K.; Haque, F.; Amin, F.; Islam, M.S.; Saleque, M.A. Farmers' participatory site specific nutrient management in gangetic tidal floodplain soil for high yielding *Boro* rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Agriculturists* **2013**, *11*, 8–14. [CrossRef]
- 43. Singh, B.B.; Singh, J.; Singh, G.; Kaur, G. Effects of Long Term Application of Inorganic and Organic Fertilizers on Soil Organic Carbon and Physical Properties in Maize—Wheat Rotation. *Agronomy* **2015**, *5*, 220–238. [CrossRef]
- 44. Ranamukhaarachchi, S.L.; Ratnayake, W.M. The effect of straw, stubble, and potassium on grain yield of rice in rice-rice cropping systems in the mid-country wet zone of Srilanka. *Sci. Asia* 2006, *32*, 151–158. [CrossRef]
- 45. Shankar, T.; Malik, G.C.; Banerjee, M.; Ghosh, A. Nutrient optimization on growth and productivity of rice in the red and lateriticbelt of West Bengal. J. Crop Weed 2014, 2, 500–503.
- Pampolinoa, M.F.; Manguiata, I.J.; Ramanathanb, S.; Ginesc, H.C.; Tand, P.S.; Chid, T.T.N.; Rajendrane, R.; Buresh, R.J. Environmental impact and economic benefits of site specific nutrient management (SSNM) in irrigated rice systems. *Agric. Syst.* 2007, 93, 1–24. [CrossRef]
- 47. Chandrapala, A.G.; Yakadri, M.; Kumar, R.M.; Raj, G.B. Productivity and economics of rice (*Oryza sativa*)—Maize (*Zea mays*) as influenced by methods of crop establishment, Zn and S application in rice. *Indian J. Agron.* **2010**, *55*, 171–176.
- Porpavai, S.; Devasenapathy, P.; Siddeswaran, K.; Jayaraj, T. Impact of various rice based cropping systems on soil fertility. J. Cereals Oilseeds 2011, 2, 43–46.
- 49. Singh, A.K.; Meena, M.K.; Upadhyaya, A. Effect of sulphur and zinc on rice performance and nutrient dynamics in plants and soil of Indo Gangetic plains. J. Agric. Sci. 2012, 4, 162–170. [CrossRef]
- Deka, A.M.; Kalita, H.; Borah, N.; Zaman, A.S.N. Nutrient uptake and nutrient balance as influenced by different rice based cropping patterns in Assam. J. Crop Weed 2019, 15, 72–78.
- Panwar, A.S.; Shamim, M.; Babu, S.; Ravishankar, N.; Prusty, A.K.; Alam, N.M.; Singh, D.K.; Bindhu, J.S.; Kaur, J.; Dashora, L.N.; et al. Enhancement in Productivity, Nutrients Use Efficiency, and Economics of Rice-Wheat Cropping Systems in India through Farmer's Participatory Approach. Sustainability 2019, 11, 122. [CrossRef]



Article The Effect of Soil-Climate Conditions, Farmyard Manure and Mineral Fertilizers on Potato Yield and Soil Chemical Parameters

Lukáš Hlisnikovský *, Ladislav Menšík and Eva Kunzová

Division of Crop Management Systems, Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507/73, 161 06 Prague, Czech Republic; ładisłav.mensik@vurv.cz (L.M.); kunzova@vurv.cz (E.K.)

* Correspondence: l.hlisnik@vurv.cz; Tel.: +420-233-022-248

Abstract: If available to farmers, potatoes represent a crop classically fertilized with farmyard manure in the Czech Republic. At the same time, potatoes are a crop sensitive to soil–climate conditions. We evaluated the effect of cattle manure (FYM), manure and mineral nitrogen (FYM + N1, FYM + N2), manure and mineral fertilizers (FYM + N1PK, FYM + N2PK, FYM + N3PK) application and the effect of three soil-climatic conditions (Caslav—maize production area with degraded Chernozem, Ivanovice—maize production area with Chernozem, Lukavec—potatoes production area with Cambisol) over four years (2016–2019) on potatoes yield and soil chemical properties. Of all the factors, yields were most affected by location. Lukavec provided the highest average yields (37.2 t ha⁻¹), followed by Ivanovice (23.5 t ha⁻¹) and Caslav (15.5 t ha⁻¹). The second most important factor was the climatic conditions of the year. Fertilization was the third most important parameter. FYM significantly increased yields compared to Control, but applied alone cannot cover the needs of potatoes. Similarly, the application of FYM and N increases yields, but for the highest yields, it is best to apply FYM + NPK (80 kg ha⁻¹ N). Co-application of FYM and mineral N fertilizers mitigates the negative impact of mineral N on soil pH.

Keywords: *Solanum tuberosum* L.; cattle manure; mineral N; P and K; weather conditions; soil pH; soil nutrient content; PCA; FA

1. Introduction

Fertilizer application is the cornerstone of crop production. The origins of fertilization are linked to the Neolithic Revolution when people switched from hunting and gathering to agriculture. People began to settle at the expense of migration, built their first settlements and started to collect various forms of waste in pits located near their houses. Such pits are documented in Sumerian cities, in the period around 6000 BC [1]. More recent research has shown that even in earlier times people used manure and water management to increase crop yields [2]. Even today, organic manures are an essential element of crop production, together with organic and mineral fertilizers. All three groups of fertilizers (organic manures, organic and mineral fertilizers) are characterized by different mechanisms of action on soil and crops. Organic manures have a beneficial effect on the physical, chemical and biological parameters of the soil [3–8], but their nutrient content is relatively low and must therefore be applied in large doses. The composition of individual organic manures is not homogeneous, varying both within and between types (slurries, manures), depending on their origin [9]. The rate of mineralization of manure strongly depends on the type of manure and the climatic conditions. While organic manures with a low C:N ratio (slurries) provide the most nutrients in the first year of application, manures with a high C:N ratio (farmyard manures—FYM) release nutrients to a lesser extent but over a longer period [10]. However, even organic manures can harm the environment, either through over-fertilization or through the presence of undesirable substances that enter the soil and water through the application, such as veterinary pharmaceuticals [11]. Mineral fertilizers have a homogeneous and precisely known composition and their effect

Citation: Hlisnikovský, L.; Menšík, L.; Kunzová, E. The Effect of Soil-Climate Conditions, Farmyard Manure and Mineral Fertilizers on Potato Yield and Soil Chemical Parameters. *Plants* 2021, *10*, 2473. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants10112473

Academic Editor: Serenella Nardi

Received: 27 September 2021 Accepted: 14 November 2021 Published: 16 November 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). is rapid. Mineral fertilizers are behind the success of conventional agriculture and ensure the production of basic raw materials for a wide range of industries. On the other hand, mineral fertilizers represent the source of environmental pollution [12–15], which is one of the aspects negatively influencing the public's view on conventional agriculture and is behind the growing interest in organic farming [16]. Agriculture in the Czech Republic is characterized by an imbalance between livestock and crop production due to the changes in the crop rotations (reduction of perennial fodder crops and cereals in favor of winter rapeseed), reduced animal husbandry (there are areas completely devoid of livestock production), which leads to the low organic manure inputs, and finally by the imbalance between applied mineral nutrients [17] (high application of nitrogen fertilizers, low application of phosphate and potassium fertilizers, Figure 1, and low level of liming [18]). A similar trend for mineral fertilizers can be discerned in neighboring Poland [19]. All these aspects lead to soil degradation, which has been evident in the Czech Republic for a long time [20].



Figure 1. Average consumption of mineral N, P and K (kg ha⁻¹) in the Czech Republic (1948–2019).

While the application of mineral nitrogen and potassium can satisfy crop requirements, it is also associated with negative aspects such as pH reduction and depletion of other nutrients [21–23]. And as the soil pH decreases, the mobility of risk elements (heavy metals, such as Cd, Cu, Mn, Pb and Zn) in the soil increases [15], which can negatively affect the quality of crop production [24].

The yield and quality of crops are not only affected by fertilization and management practices. Soil and climatic conditions also play an important role. Potatoes are one of the most nutrients and moisture demanding crops, requiring high amounts of N due to the poor N efficiency [25]. They tend to prefer lighter soil types, which are found at higher altitudes, receiving higher rainfall, which compensates for the negative aspect of light soils—drying out. Comparing the effect of climatic conditions, both temperature and precipitation play an important role in yield forming. This is especially important nowadays when we are exposed to changing climatic conditions and more frequent occurrences of unusual (extreme or extraordinary) phenomena [26,27]. High temperatures can negatively affect the efficiency of photosynthesis, water management and respiration. However, the temperature seems to play a less important role as a factor affecting potatoes yields than precipitation, which is a more important yield formatting—factor and can compensate for the negative effects of high temperatures [28] and increase fertilizer utilization [29]. The precipitation and soil type are so important factors for potatoes that even the most naturally fertile soils

(Chernozems) in the Czech Republic [30] cannot provide high potato yields without the proper climate conditions. In other words, it means that naturally created barriers strongly limit the farmer's options, regardless of fertilization or farming practices.

In the Czech Republic, potatoes are traditionally fertilized with FYM (if available) in the first line. Manure not only gradually adds nutrients, but in heavy (clay) soils, which are not conducive to good potato growth, it acts as an aerating agent and alleviates soil's heaviness. On the other hand, in light (sandy) soils, manure provides organic matter and nutrients that would otherwise be lacking. Application of manure significantly increases the potatoes yield [31] and also affects yields and soil chemical composition a long time after the manure application [32]. However, organic manures (such as FYM) cannot supply enough nutrients to meet the needs and potential of modern potato varieties. For this reason, it is advisable to apply mineral fertilizers [25,33] or combine organic manures with mineral fertilizers [34]. However, fertilization recommendations cannot be generalized, as each recommendation should be site-specific, based on the soil and climate conditions of the site [35].

Our main research goal was to assess characteristics of the interactions between differentiated fertilization management (seven fertilization treatments) and environmental factors in aspects of its influence on the potato yields and selected soil parameters (pH, N, P, K and soil carbon content—Cox). The fertilization treatments represent different management practices and include 1) unfertilized Control, 2) application of cow manure (FYM), 3, 4) combination of manure and two different mineral nitrogen rates (FYM + N1, FYM + N2), which represents the direction of fertilization without the application of mineral P and K fertilizers, and 5, 6 and 7) the combination of FYM and mineral NPK fertilizers (FYM + N1PK, FYM + N2PK, FYM + N3PK), which represents the combination of manure and all three major mineral fertilizers (against FYM + N treatments). The experiment was conducted between the years 2016 and 2019 (four years) on three sites with different soil and climatic conditions (Caslav—degraded Chernozem, Ivanovice—Chernozem, Lukavec—Cambisol).

2. Results

- 2.1. Weather Conditions
- 2.1.1. Caslav

In Caslav, the weather conditions were the main factor influencing yields (see Section 2.2.1, 67% according to the MANOVA). The lowest average yields were recorded in 2018 (7.7 t ha⁻¹, Table 1), which was the season characterised as a season with precipitation very below normal (Table S1). The sum of precipitation was very below normal during April and May and extraordinary below normal during July (Table S1). The year 2018 was also the hottest one. April and August were especially hot, characterized as extraordinary above normal (Table S2), and the whole season was very above normal. This means that 2018 was a very dry and warm year in Caslav, which affected the yield.

2.1.2. Ivanovice

A similar situation was recorded in Ivanovice. Yields here were largely influenced by weather conditions (see Section 2.2.2, 87% according to the MANOVA). The lowest average yields were recorded in 2018 (12.0 t ha⁻¹, Table 1). The 2018 season was characterized as the season with the lowest sum of precipitation (228.5 mm during the season, Table S1). The 2018 season was also the hottest one. With the average temperature of 18.8°C, the 2018 season was extraordinary above the normal season, with two months (April and August) being extraordinary above normal (Table S2). As in Caslav, the combination of unprecedented conditions in 2018 resulted in extraordinary low yields in 2018.

2.1.3. Lukavec

In Lukavec, the lowest average yields were recorded in 2019 (26.3 t ha^{-1}) and 2018 (30.2 t ha^{-1} , Table 1). In both seasons we recorded extraordinary above normal temper-

atures (April and August in 2018 and June in 2019, Table S2). Also, April (the month of planting) was dry in both years, in 2019 followed by very cold May and extraordinary hot June (Table S1), which negatively affected plant development, resulting in the lowest yields in this season.

Table 1. The effect of the fertilizer treatments on potato yields as affected by the year (2016–2019) and locality (Caslav, Ivanovice, Lukavec).

	Control	FYM	FYM + N1	FYM + N2	FYM + NPK1	FYM + NPK2	FYM + NPK3	Mean
Caslav								
2016	8.6 ± 0.4 a	$14.9\pm1.1~\mathrm{b}$	$20.0\pm0.9~\mathrm{c}$	$19.9\pm0.2~\mathrm{c}$	$25.4\pm1.2~\mathrm{d}$	$32.7\pm1.2~\mathrm{e}$	$30.0\pm0.8~\mathrm{e}$	$21.7\pm1.5\mathrm{D}$
2017	$7.1\pm0.7~\mathrm{a}$	$9.3\pm0.7~\mathrm{ab}$	$10.3\pm0.3~\mathrm{ab}$	$12.3\pm0.6bc$	$16.2\pm1.1~\mathrm{cd}$	$19.9\pm1.0~\mathrm{d}$	$25.3\pm2.0~\mathrm{e}$	$14.3\pm1.2~\mathrm{B}$
2018	$4.4\pm0.2~\mathrm{a}$	6.6 ± 0.3 a	$7.5\pm0.2~\mathrm{ab}$	$7.9\pm0.3~\mathrm{abc}$	$8.6\pm0.6~\mathrm{abc}$	$9.5\pm0.7~\mathrm{c}$	$9.3\pm0.4~\mathrm{bc}$	$7.7\pm0.3~\mathrm{A}$
2019	$10.6\pm0.4~\mathrm{a}$	$11.8\pm0.3b$	$16.7\pm0.5~{\rm c}$	$20.8\pm0.7~\mathrm{d}$	$21.3\pm0.4~\mathrm{de}$	$23.2\pm0.8~\mathrm{de}$	$23.6\pm0.6~\mathrm{e}$	$18.3\pm1.0~\mathrm{C}$
Mean	7.7 ± 0.6 a	$10.6\pm0.9~b$	$13.6\pm1.3~\mathrm{c}$	$15.2\pm1.4~\mathrm{c}$	$17.9\pm1.7~\mathrm{d}$	$21.3\pm2.2~\mathrm{e}$	$22.1\pm2.1~\mathrm{e}$	
Ivanovic	e							
2016	$18.6\pm0.2~\mathrm{a}$	$28.7\pm0.9b$	$30.5\pm0.8~{ m bc}$	$31.9\pm0.8~{ m bc}$	$30.9\pm1.2~\mathrm{bc}$	$34.0\pm2.2~\mathrm{bc}$	$35.1\pm2.0~{ m c}$	$29.9\pm1.1~\mathrm{C}$
2017	15.1 ± 2.1 a	$20.3\pm1.7~\mathrm{ab}$	$20.7\pm0.5~\mathrm{ab}$	$23.4\pm0.9~\mathrm{b}$	$24.4\pm0.6b$	$25.1\pm1.6~\mathrm{b}$	$23.8\pm1.3~\mathrm{b}$	$21.8\pm0.8~\mathrm{B}$
2018	$8.9\pm1.4~\mathrm{a}$	$11.9\pm2.6~\mathrm{a}$	11.0 ± 2.0 a	11.6 ± 2.9 a	$12.5\pm1.9~\mathrm{a}$	$14.2\pm2.8~\mathrm{a}$	$13.7\pm0.8~\mathrm{a}$	$12.0\pm0.8~\mathrm{A}$
2019	$17.2\pm0.6~\mathrm{a}$	$26.8\pm1.6~b$	$32.1\pm2.2~\mathrm{bc}$	$28.8\pm1.2\mathrm{b}$	$33.9\pm2.5~\mathrm{bc}$	$34.9\pm2.5~\mathrm{bc}$	$38.3\pm1.1~{ m c}$	$30.3\pm1.4~\mathrm{C}$
Mean	$15.0\pm1.1~\mathrm{a}$	$21.9\pm1.9b$	$23.6\pm2.3bc$	$23.9\pm2.1bc$	$25.4\pm2.3~bcd$	$27.1\pm2.4~\mathrm{cd}$	$27.7\pm2.6~\mathrm{d}$	
Lukavec								
2016	$20.4\pm1.8~\mathrm{a}$	29.1 ± 2.2 a	$41.9\pm2.3b$	$48.9\pm3.7bc$	$43.7\pm2.6b$	$49.4\pm2.9~\mathrm{bc}$	$59.7\pm1.3~{ m c}$	$41.9\pm2.5\mathrm{C}$
2017	$29.6\pm2.6~\mathrm{a}$	$41.9\pm1.9\mathrm{b}$	$45.1\pm2.0~\mathrm{b}$	$49.6\pm2.7bc$	$59.1\pm0.9~{ m cd}$	$64.4\pm0.9~{ m c}$	$64.7\pm2.8~{ m c}$	$50.6\pm2.4~\mathrm{D}$
2018	$22.9\pm1.9~\mathrm{a}$	$29.0\pm0.4~\text{ab}$	24.4 ± 0.6 a	$26.7\pm0.7~\mathrm{ab}$	$34.0\pm1.4~\mathrm{bc}$	$36.6\pm3.4~\mathrm{c}$	$37.7\pm0.8~{ m c}$	$30.2\pm1.2~\mathrm{B}$
2019	15.1 ± 0.5 a	$19.2\pm0.8~\mathrm{a}$	$25.6\pm0.5b$	$31.3\pm1.0~{\rm c}$	$32.4\pm1.7~{ m c}$	$30.6\pm1.5~{ m bc}$	$29.7\pm1.2~\mathrm{bc}$	$26.3\pm1.2~\mathrm{A}$
Mean	$22.0\pm1.6~\mathrm{a}$	$29.8\pm2.2b$	$34.2\pm2.5~c$	$39.1\pm2.9~d$	$42.3\pm2.9~de$	$45.2\pm3.5~\text{ef}$	$47.9\pm3.9~\mathrm{f}$	

The mean values (\pm standard error) followed by the same letter (a—vertically—comparing the fertilizer treatments, A—horizontally—comparing the years in individual localities) are not statistically different (p < 0.05).

Taking a closer look at the effect of precipitation and temperature at each site, the temperature was always strongly and negatively correlated with the yield at all three sites (Caslav–r = -0.76, Ivanovice–r = -0.86, Lukavec–r = -0.62), while precipitation was positively correlated, very weakly at Caslav (r = 0.25), moderately at Ivanovice (r = 0.65) and at Ivanovice (r = 0.75).

2.2. Potato Yields

The potato yields were significantly affected by locality (d.f. = 2, F = 1412, p < 0.001, the factor "locality" affected the potato yields by 66%), year (d.f. = 3, F = 359, p < 0.001, 17%), fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 192, p < 0.001, 9%), locality × year interaction (d.f. = 6, F = 162, p < 0.001, 7%), followed by the fertilizer treatment × year and locality × fertilizer treatment × year interaction (0.3% together). Thus, the results show that potato yields were most influenced by the location of cultivation, then by the factor year, followed by fertilization. The lowest average yields were harvested in Caslav (15.5 t ha⁻¹), followed by Ivanovice (23.5 t ha⁻¹) and Lukavec (37.2 t ha⁻¹). All three results are statistically significantly different. The lowest average yields were recorded in 2018 (16.6 t ha⁻¹), followed by 2019 (25.0 t ha⁻¹), 2017 (28.9 t ha⁻¹), and 2016 (31.2 t ha⁻¹). All four results are statistically significantly different. Fertilization treatments provided average yields in ascending order: Control (14.9 t ha⁻¹), FYM (20.8 t ha⁻¹), FYM + N1 (20.8 t ha⁻¹), FYM + NPK3 (32.6 t ha⁻¹). From Control to FYM + NPK1 treatments, all results are statistically significantly different. Yields provided by FYM + NPK2 and FYM + NPK3 are statistically significant.

2.2.1. Caslav

In Caslav, the potato yields were significantly affected by the year (d.f. = 3, F = 421, p < 0.001, 67%), followed by the fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 191, p < 0.001, 30%) and year × fertilizer treatment interaction (d.f. = 18, F = 17, p < 0.001, 3%). The lowest mean yields were harvested in 2018 (7.7 t ha⁻¹), while the highest harvest was recorded in 2016 (21.7 t ha⁻¹). Each year results are statistically different (Table 1). Comparing the

fertilizer treatments, the mean yields ranged from 7.7 (Control) to 22.1 (FYM + NPK3) t ha⁻¹ (Table 1). Application of FYM significantly increased the potato yields when compared with the unfertilized Control (+2.9 t ha⁻¹). The application of FYM with mineral N treatments (FYM + N1, FYM + N2) slightly (and significantly) increased the yields when compared with the FYM (Table 1). The addition of PK fertilizers resulted in significantly higher yields when compared with FYM + N treatments. Finally, no difference was found between the FYM + NPK2 and FYM + NPK3 treatments (Table 1), showing that the dose of 80 kg ha⁻¹ N applied together with mineral PK fertilizers results in high yields and is optimal (application of 120 kg ha⁻¹ N is not necessary, the potato yields are not significantly different).

2.2.2. Ivanovice

In Ivanovice, the potato yields were significantly affected by the year (d.f. = 3, F = 178, p < 0.001, 87%), fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 25, p < 0.001, 12%), and the year \times fertilizer treatment interaction (d.f. = 18, F = 2, p < 0.001, 2%). The lowest mean yields were harvested, as in Caslav, in 2018 (12.0 t ha^{-1}), due to the poor weather conditions. The highest yields were recorded in 2016 (29.9 t ha^{-1}) and 2019 (30.3 t ha^{-1} , Table 1). If we compare the fertilization treatments, we can see that the trend is very similar to Caslav, i.e., yields increase with increasing nutrient inputs. In the case of Ivanovice, however, the differences between the treatments are not so sharp (are overlapping) and all three FYM + NPK treatments provided comparable results. Moreover, the application of FYM resulted in yields comparable to those of all treatments up to FYM + NPK1 (Table 1). The explanation lies in the soil and climatic conditions. In terms of climate, both sites (Caslav and Ivanovice) are comparable. In terms of soil, in Caslav, the crops are grown on degraded chernozem, which is a soil poorer in nutrients (compared to chernozem in Ivanovice) and the crops respond very well and willingly to the nutrients supplied. In Ivanovice the soil is naturally fertile, it is one of the best soils in the Czech Republic, therefore the response of potatoes to the supplied nutrients (via fertilizers) is not so significant and the application of FYM is sufficient to obtain a satisfactory harvest (the yield difference between FYM and FYM + NPK1 is only $3.5 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ and the difference is insignificant).

2.2.3. Lukavec

In Lukavec, the potato yields were significantly affected by the year (d.f. = 3, F = 236, p < 0.001, 70%), fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 91, p < 0.001, 27%) and year × fertilizer treatment interaction (d.f. = 18, F = 8, p < 0.001, 3%). The lowest potato yields were recorded in 2019 (26.3 t ha⁻¹), while the highest average yields were harvested in 2017 (50.6 t ha⁻¹, Table 1). As in the previous two sites, average yields increased with the dosage of nutrients supplied (Table 1). Unfertilized Control provided the lowest average yields (22.0 t ha⁻¹), while the highest yields were harvested when FYM + NPK3 was applied (47.9 t ha⁻¹). The FYM + NPK2 treatment (45.2 t ha⁻¹) provided comparable potato yields to the FYM + NPK3 treatment, the difference between the two treatments was 2.7 t ha⁻¹ and was not statistically significant (Table 1). The application of 80 kg of mineral N, together with PK fertilizers (FYM + NPK2) is sufficient to achieve decent yields and a 50% increase in the dose of mineral N (FYM + NPK2—FYM NPK3) is not associated with a significant increase in yields.

2.3. Soil Properties

2.3.1. Caslav

The average P concentration in Caslav ranged from 46 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM) to 158 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + NPK2), Table 2. No statistically significant differences were observed for the treatments without mineral P (Control, FYM, FYM + N2) (Table 2). Thus, without mineral P application, soil P concentrations were low (Control, FYM) or suitable (FYM + N2). It must be said that the average concentration of 55 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + N2) is at the very lower end of the range for classification as "Suitable". Thus, without mineral phosphate fertilizer

application, the P concentration in the soil is poor and significantly affects potato yields (statistically significant difference between FYM + N and FYM + NPK treatments, Table 1).

Table 2. The long-term effect of the fertilization treatments on soil P, K, Mg and	Ca (mg kg $^{-1}$) concentrations.
--	-------------------------------------

	Р	P Assess.	К	K Assess.	Mg	Mg Assess.	Ca
Caslav							
Control	49 ± 12 $^{\mathrm{A}}$	Low	$120\pm14~^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$145\pm26~^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$2888\pm118\ ^{\rm A}$
FYM	46 ± 6 $^{ m A}$	Low	$135\pm16\ ^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$136\pm4~^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$3777\pm570~^{\rm A}$
FYM + N2	55 ± 11 ^A	Suitable	141 ± 11 $^{\rm A}$	Suitable	156 ± 6 $^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$2802\pm94~^{\rm A}$
FYM + NPK2	$158\pm9\ ^{\rm B}$	High	$221\pm21~^{\rm B}$	Good	164 ± 3 $^{ m A}$	Good	$2950\pm198~^{\rm A}$
Ivanovice		Ū.					
Control	66 ± 10 $^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$181\pm6~^{\rm A}$	Good	$204\pm17~^{ m A}$	Good	$4102\pm152~^{\rm A}$
FYM	$169\pm15\ ^{\rm C}$	High	$370\pm27^{\rm \ C}$	High	$234\pm10~^{\rm A}$	Good	$4131\pm166~^{\rm A}$
FYM + N2	117 ± 12 ^B	High	288 ± 21 $^{\mathrm{B}}$	Good	$252\pm14~^{\rm A}$	Good	$4232\pm152~^{\rm A}$
FYM + NPK2	226 ± 8 ^D	Very high	$447\pm17^{\rm \ C}$	Very high	$236\pm5~^{\rm A}$	Good	$4150\pm226~^{\rm A}$
Lukavec				, ,			
Control	44 ± 1 ^A	Low	107 ± 6 $^{\rm A}$	Suitable	109 ± 9 ^ A	Suitable	2050 ± 82 $^{\rm A}$
FYM	90 ± 8 ^B	Good	$147\pm8\ ^{\mathrm{BC}}$	Suitable	126 ± 7 $^{\rm A}$	Suitable	$2125\pm96~^{\rm A}$
FYM + N2	46 ± 3 $^{\mathrm{A}}$	Low	$123\pm5~^{\rm AB}$	Suitable	113 ± 9 A	Suitable	$2214\pm124~^{\rm A}$
FYM + NPK2	$164\pm5^{\rm \ C}$	High	167 ± 4 ^C	Suitable	104 ± 9 $^{\rm A}$	Low	$2182\pm98~^{\rm A}$

The mean values (\pm standard error) followed by the same letter (^A—vertically—comparing the fertilizer treatments) are not statistically different (p < 0.05).

A similar situation occurred in the case of K, with average soil K values ranging from 120 mg kg⁻¹ (Control) to 221 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + NPK2). Again, the differences between Control, FYM and FYM + N2 were not significant (Table 2). In contrast, the application of mineral K fertilizers significantly increased soil K concentration to the "Good" level. Also, in the case of yields, we can see here a significant role (together with P) of mineral K, as the differences between treatments with and without mineral P and K fertilizers are significant (Table 1).

In the case of Mg and Ca, fertilizer application did not play a significant role and the differences between the measured concentrations were not statistically significant (Table 1). The average Mg concentration ranged from 136 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM) to 164 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + NPK2). Mean Ca concentrations ranged from 2802 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + NPK2) to 3777 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM).

Mean soil pH was not significantly different between fertilizer treatments and ranged from 6.51 (FYM + N2) to 6.85 (FYM). Similarly, the concentrations of Cox and Ntot were not significantly different between fertilization treatments and ranged from 1.17% (Control) to 1.29% (FYM + NPK2) for Cox and from 0.15 (Control) to 0.17% (FYM + NPK2) for Ntot (Table 3).

2.3.2. Ivanovice

The P concentration in Ivanovice was significantly dependent on the fertilization treatment, with statistically different values in each fertilization treatment (Table 2). The lowest values were recorded in the unfertilized Control (66 mg kg⁻¹, suitable), followed by FYM + N2 (117 mg kg⁻¹, high), FYM (169 mg kg⁻¹, high) and the highest concentration was in the FYM + NPK2 treatment (226 mg kg⁻¹, very high).

The same situation occurred in the case of K. The lowest concentration was measured in Control (181 mg kg⁻¹), followed by FYM + N2 (288 mg kg⁻¹), FYM (370 mg kg⁻¹) and FYM + NPK2 (447 mg kg⁻¹). Statistically significant differences were recorded between the Control (A), FYM + N2 (B) and FYM (C) treatments together with FYM + NPK2 (C) (Table 2, fertilizer treatments followed by the same letter are statistically insignificant).

As in the previous case, fertilizer application had no significant effect on Mg and Ca concentrations, the differences were not statistically significant. The results of soil analyses for these two elements are shown in Table 2.

	pH (KCl)	C _{ox} (%)	N _{tot}
Caslav			
Control	$6.57\pm0.03~^{\rm A}$	$1.17\pm0.06~^{\rm A}$	$0.15\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM	$6.85\pm0.14~^{\rm A}$	1.20 ± 0.05 $^{ m A}$	$0.15\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM + N2	$6.51\pm0.07~^{\rm A}$	1.20 ± 0.05 $^{ m A}$	$0.16\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM + NPK2	$6.53\pm0.17~^{\rm A}$	1.29 ± 0.09 A	$0.17\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
Ivanovice			
Control	$6.58\pm0.14~^{\rm A}$	1.67 ± 0.03 $^{ m A}$	$0.20\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM	$6.69\pm0.08~^{\rm A}$	1.92 ± 0.06 ^B	$0.23\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM + N2	$6.62\pm0.14~^{\rm A}$	1.95 ± 0.03 ^B	$0.23\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM + NPK2	$6.63\pm0.11~^{\rm A}$	$2.07\pm0.05~^{\rm B}$	$0.24\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
Lukavec			
Control	$5.84\pm0.06~^{\rm A}$	1.41 ± 0.05 $^{ m A}$	$0.19\pm0.01~^{\rm A}$
FYM	$5.88\pm0.12~^{\rm A}$	1.72 ± 0.06 $^{ m AB}$	0.23 ± 0.01 ^B
FYM + N2	$5.74\pm0.08~^{\rm A}$	$1.72\pm0.03~\mathrm{AB}$	0.23 ± 0.01 ^B
FYM + NPK2	$5.83\pm0.05~^{\rm A}$	$1.82\pm0.13~^{\rm B}$	$0.23\pm0.01~^{B}$

Table 3. The long-term effect of fertilization on the value of soil pH, Cox (%) and Ntot (%) content.

The mean values (\pm standard error) followed by the same letter (^A—vertically—comparing the fertilizer treatments) are not statistically different (p < 0.05).

Soil pH was not affected by fertilization and ranged from 6.58 (Control) to 6.69 (FYM), Table 3. The Cox content was significantly affected by fertilization. The lowest concentration was measured in Control (1.67%), which was statistically significantly lower than in the other treatments, which were not significantly different from each other. Cox concentrations in these treatments ranged from 1.92% (FYM) to 2.07% (FYM + NPK2). In the case of Ntot, we did not record statistically significant differences between the treatments and ranged from 0.20% (Control) to 0.24% (FYM + NPK2), Table 3.

2.3.3. Lukavec

In Lukavac, the lowest P concentration was recorded in the Control (44 mg kg⁻¹), which was statistically comparable to the value of 46 mg kg⁻¹ (FYM + N2). A higher P concentration was measured in the FYM treatment (90 mg kg⁻¹), which provided a statistically significantly lower yield than FYM + N2 (Table 2), and thus we assume that P originating from FYM was not fully utilized in the case of the FYM treatment, resulting in a higher P concentration in the soil. The highest soil P concentrations were then observed in the FYM + NPK2 treatment, providing the second highest yields (Table 2), and the amount of P supplied was both sufficient to cover the requirements of the potato for high yield formation and sufficient to maintain high soil P levels.

The K concentrations varied significantly between fertilization treatments. The lowest concentration was recorded in Control (107 mg kg⁻¹), followed by FYM + N2 (123 mg kg⁻¹), FYM (147 mg kg⁻¹) and FYM + NPK2 (167 mg kg⁻¹).

In the case of Mg and Ca, the situation in Lukavac was similar to that in Caslav and Ivanovice; fertilizer application did not affect the concentration of these two elements in the soil. The results of soil analyses are shown in Table 2.

Soil pH was not significantly affected by fertilization treatments and ranged from 5.74 (FYM + N2) to 5.88 (FYM), Table 3. In the case of Cox, a significant difference was observed only between Control (1.41%) and FYM + NPK2 (1.82%). In the case of Ntot, the lowest concentration was measured in Control (0.19%), which was statistically significantly lower compared to the other fertilization treatments. For those, the concentration of Ntot was 0.23% (Table 3).

2.4. PCA and FA Results

In the plot of component weights PC1 and PC2 (Figure 2, top left) we can see that the first two axes are significant and together draw 91% of the variability. The PC1 axis in Figure 2, showing the relationship between PC1 and PC2 (Figure 2), characterizes the

content of K, Mg and P, which are elements located in the plane with this axis and are strongly correlated with it (K–r = -0.96, Mg–r = -0.86, P–r = -0.81), as well as Cox, a parameter correlated at r = -0.80. Furthermore, there is a significant correlation with Ca on the PC1 axis (r = -0.74). There is a clearly significant correlation with yield (r = -0.95), pH (r = -0.88) and Ntot (r = 0.71) on the PC2 axis. There is no significant correlation on the PC3 axis.



Figure 2. The results of the PCA analyses, including the eigenvalue of the parameters (Figure 2, left bottom side). Note: I—Ivanovice, C—Caslav, L—Lukavec, FYM—farmyard manure, FYM + N represents the FYM + N2 fertilizer treatment,

FYM + NPK represents the FYM + NPK2 treatment, pH—soil reaction; P—phosphorus; K—potassium; Ca—calcium; Mg—magnesium; SOC—soil organic carbon—Cox; Nt—soil nitrogen content (Ntot).

In the component scatter diagram (Figure 2, top right), the sites (Caslav, Lukavec and Ivanovice) and fertilization treatments (C, FYM + N and FYM + NPK) are clearly located along the PC1 axis. The Ivanovice site is significantly to the left along the PC1 axis (highest available nutrient contents, highest Cox, Ntot and pH and lower yields compared to the other two sites—Lukavec and Caslav). The highest contents of available nutrients P and K and Cox and Nt contents, together with yields, were always recorded in the FYM + NPK treatment. And this is on all sites—the FYM + NPK treatment is always significantly more distinct within each cluster-site compared to the Control treatment, where we can find the lowest contents of available nutrients, Cox and Ntot. The FYM and FYM + N treatments at Lukavec and Ivanovice are very similar (clusters of variants close to each other). At the Caslav site, the Control, FYM and FYM+N treatments are very similar (a cluster of treatments close to each other), which is mainly due to the soil type at the site (degraded Chernozem). However, the differentiation within the PC2 axis is also significant. The Lukavec site is significantly different (Figure 1, upper right corner) from the other two sites (Ivanovice and Caslav). This is mainly due to two parameters—significantly lower pH (which suits the potatoes) and significantly higher yields. Lukavec represents a typical potato growing area, while Caslav and Ivanovice are mainly maize growing areas, more suitable for C4 crops.

Factor analysis (FA, Figure 3) confirmed the PCA results and differentiated, similarly to PCA, groups of sites and fertilization treatments. Factor weights explain the correlations between factors and traits (Table 4). They represent the most important information on which the interpretation of the factors is based. It can be said that Factor 1 clearly describes Yield and also soil properties such as Cox, Ntot and additionally P content (significantly higher Cox, Ntot and P content in the FYM + NPK treatment compared to Control at all three sites and also the highest yields at Lukavec compared to Ivanovice and Caslav). Factor 2 clearly describes the content of accessible nutrients (Ca, Mg and K) and the pH value (significant differentiation of sites—the highest pH value, or Ca content, was always recorded in Ivanovice and Caslav, the lowest in Lukavec). Communality represents the proportion of trait variability expressed by the factors in question. The communalities are similar to the R2 value obtained when the original traits are explained by the regression of the selected factors [36]. The contribution of Factor 1 and Factor 2 to communality shows how communality takes high values (more than 0.9). Thus, the trait values are very well accounted for by the proposed factor model (Table 4).

2.5. Linear Regression Model Results

The results of the soil analyses showed a linear regression relationship (data from all three sites) of Ntot content on Cox (Figure 4). The equation of the straight line relating the Ntot and Cox is estimated as: Ntot = $(0.0532) + (0.0933) \times Cox$ (using the 48 observations in the dataset). The statistical characteristics of the linear regression are as follows: r = 0.8675, $R^2 = 0.7526$, MEP = 0.003, AIC = -383.7570. The linear regression model is significant according to Fisher–Snedecor test of model significance (F = 139.9522, quantile F = 4.0517, p = 1-4934E-015). The linear regression model is correct according to Scott's multicollinearity criterion (SC = 0.2811). Residues show homoscedasticity (Cook–Weisberg test of heteroscedasticity). Residues have a normal distribution (according to the Jarque–Berr test of normality). Negative autocorrelation of residues was not demonstrated (according to the Durbin–Watson autocorrelation test). There is no apparent trend in the residuals. The y-intercept, the estimated value of Ntot when Cox is zero, is 0.0532 with a standard error of 0.0129. The slope, the estimated change in Ntot per unit change in Cox, is 0.0933 with a standard error of 0.0079. The estimated slope is 0.0933. The lower limit of the 95% confidence interval for the slope is 0.0774 and the upper limit is 0.1092.



intercept is 0.0532. The lower limit of the 95% confidence interval for the intercept is 0.0273 and the upper limit is 0.0790.

Figure 3. The FA (rotation: varimax normalized) of studied parameters (pH, Cox, Ntot, nutrients and yield) as affected by locality between the years 2016–2019. Note: pH—the value of the soil reaction; P—phosphorus; K—potassium; Ca—calcium; Mg—magnesium; SOC—soil organic carbon—Cox; Nt—soil nitrogen content (Ntot).

** * 11	Factor	Weights	hts Contribution of Factors							
Variable	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 1	Factor 2	Communality					
pH (KCl)	-0.2978	0.9357	0.0887	0.9644	0.9876					
Р	0.7492	0.3972	0.5614	0.7192	0.9473					
K	0.6569	0.7101	0.4315	0.9359	0.9607					
Ca	0.1134	0.9560	0.0128	0.9268	0.9914					
Mg	0.3480	0.8936	0.1211	0.9196	0.9397					
Cox	0.9498	0.1717	0.9022	0.9317	0.9983					
Ntot	0.9693	-0.0704	0.9396	0.9445	0.9977					
Yield	0.7811	-0.5738	0.6101	0.9394	0.9336					

Table 4. Factor weights and contributions of given factors to the communality for individual characters after normalized Varimax rotation for production (yield) and soil parameters.

Furthermore, a statistically significant linear regression relationship (data from all 3 sites) of Yield on soil Ntot content was demonstrated (Figure 5). The equation of the straight-line relating Yield and Ntot is estimated as: Yield = $(-13.9802) + (171.7947) \times \text{Ntot}$ using the 42 observations in the dataset. The statistical characteristics of the regression are as follows: r = 0.6129, $R^2 = 0.3756$, MEP = 61.1830, AIC = 173.0356. The model is significant according to the Fisher-Snedecor test of model significance (F = 24.0662, quantile F = 4.0847, $p = 1.5981 \times 10^{-5}$). The model is correct according to Scott's multicollinearity criterion (SC = 0.2645). The residuals show homoscedasticity (Cook-Weisberg test for heteroscedasticity). The residuals have a normal distribution (Jarque-Berr normality test). Residuals are not autocorrelated (Durbin-Watson autocorrelation test). There is no trend in the residuals. The y-intercept, the estimated value of Yield when Ntot is zero, is -13.9802with a standard error of 7.0537. The slope, the estimated change in Yield per unit change in Ntot, is 171.7947 with a standard error of 35.0191. The estimated slope is 171.7947. The lower limit of the 95% confidence interval for the slope is 101.0184 and the upper limit is 242.5710. The estimated intercept is -13.9802. The lower limit of the 95% confidence interval for the intercept is -28.2362 and the upper limit is 0.2758.



Figure 4. The regression linear relationship between the Cox (SOC) and Ntot between the years 2016 and 2019 (all three study sites—Caslav, Ivanovice, Lukavec).



Figure 5. The regression linear relationship between the Ntot and Yield between the years 2016 and 2019 (all three study sites).

3. Discussion

Successful cultivation of quality potatoes is significantly influenced by the location with suitable soil and climatic conditions. The location significantly influences not only the yield itself but also the chemical composition of the potatoes [37-40]. Potatoes thrive on higher sites with higher rainfall and lower temperatures [39], with light soils. The negative impact of unfavourable climatic conditions (lower precipitation and higher temperatures) can be partly offset by the soil and its fertility. This is confirmed by our results, where the lowest average yields were recorded in Caslav (Table 1), a location with similar climatic conditions to Ivanovice, but with soil (degraded Chernozem) poorer in nutrients and low in soil carbon content (Tables 2 and 3). In Ivanovice we can encounter similar climatic conditions as in Caslav, but the soil type here is Chernozem, a much more fertile soil compared to the degraded Chernozem found in Caslav. The difference in fertility (soil properties) between the two soils is due to the conditions of their formation [41]. The soil thus corrects the effect of climatic conditions (see Control results, Table 1), which resulted in higher yields than in Caslav. The highest yields were obtained in Lukavec, which offers the best natural conditions for potato cultivation. This finding is confirmed by PCA analysis (see Figure 2), where the Lukavec locality is significantly different (right upper corner) from the Ivanovice and Caslav localities. This is due to the Lukavec site having statistically significantly higher yields (on the PC2 axis of the component weights plot—significant correlation with Yield, r = -0.95), compared to the Caslav and Ivanovice sites. The Lukavec site is a typical potato production area compared to the Caslav and Ivanovice sites (maize production area). Here we can record average yields of 22 t ha^{-1} for the unfertilized Control (Table 1), which is also the average yield of early potatoes in the Czech Republic between the years 2015 and 2019 (the average yield of other potatoes in the Czech Republic was $28 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ between the years 2015 and 2019 [42]).

Weather conditions were the factor that most influenced potato yields at each of the three sites (see MANOVA results, Sections 2.2.1-2.2.3, first two lines), indicating potatoes sensitivity to weather and climate changes [43]. Both precipitation and temperature play an important role during the season and before the season's start [28,43]. According to [44], night temperatures around 17 °C represent the optimum during the tuber formation process, while warmer temperatures significantly decrease the upcoming yields. The weather conditions not only affect the sizes and yields, but also the chemical composition of the potatoes [45]. When potatoes are subjected to stress conditions, whether caused by temperature, precipitation or a combination of these, potatoes respond with lower plant size, lower leaf area and cell membrane stability [46], resulting in lower yields. Such cumulative stress conditions were particularly evident in Caslav and Ivanovice in 2018, a year with exceptionally low yields (Table 1). It was the year characterized by very low precipitation and very high temperatures (Tables S1 and S2). Together with generally less suitable soil and climatic conditions, this occurrence of abnormal weather conditions resulted in average yields of 7.7 t ha^{-1} (Caslav) and 12.0 t ha^{-1} (Ivanovice). In Lukavec, we have recorded particularly low yields in 2018 (30.2 t ha^{-1}) and especially in 2019 (26.3 t ha^{-1}) . The dry and warm start of the season in 2018 (Tables S1 and S2) slowed down the initial development of potatoes, but good precipitation in the following two months compensated such situation. In 2019, however, there was a spike in temperatures in May and June, when a very cold May was followed by an extraordinary warm June (Tables S1 and S2). We believe that it was this particular rapid development, coupled with the two extremes, that caused the unusually low yields in 2019, and the relatively normal conditions in the following months of the season did not help to restore the damages.

Fertilization was the second important factor that significantly affected potato yields at all locations (Table 1). Fertilization also affected soil properties (Tables 2 and 3). In recent times, when livestock and crop production in the Czech Republic was in balance, potatoes represented (together with sugar beet) a crop traditionally fertilized with farmyard manure (FYM). Nowadays, this balance is disturbed as many companies do not keep livestock and their crop production strongly depends only on nitrogen from mineral fertilizers [17,47].

The combination of FYM and potatoes was (and still is, if FYM is available) a win-win solution, making potatoes an excellent pre-crop because manure positively modifies soil properties [31,48,49] and slowly releases all macronutrients [10], especially P, K and S [50]. The positive effect of FYM on crop yields and soil properties is well summarized in this meta-analysis [3]. According to [51], the recovery rate of K from FYM by crops vary between 24–26%. In our case, FYM application was always associated with higher yields (compared to unfertilized Control, Table 1). Statistically significant differences were not observed in each year, but over the entire study period, FYM provided significantly higher yields at each site. However, FYM application did not provide enough nutrients (N) to fulfil the yield potential of potatoes, especially in Caslav and Lukavec. The demonstrated dependence (linear regression model) of Ntot content in soil on yield is also related to N application to soil, including N mineralization in soil (Figure 4, r = 0.6129, $R^2 = 0.3756$). Our obtained Pearson correlations (r) is higher compared to the study of authors [52] who considered r = 0.16 between crop yield in Premslin near Rostock in Germany. The process of mineralization (release of nutrients from FYM into the soil) strongly depends on soil and climatic conditions and can be strongly inhibited in the presence of inconvenient conditions, such as lack of precipitation. Therefore, the addition of mineral N significantly increased potato yields, especially at less fertile sites (Caslav, Lukavec). The FYM + NPK combinations significantly increased yields compared to the FYM + N treatments, again, especially in Caslav and Lukavec. This was confirmed by PCA and FA analysis (see Figures 2 and 3), with the FYM + NPK treatments significantly higher within each subcluster on the PCA axis compared to Control and FYM + N. In Ivanovice, the differences were not so pronounced; the response of the potatoes to the fertilizer supplied was not so strictly noticeable due to the naturally fertile soil. In all cases, the difference between 80 (N2) and 120 (N3) kg N ha⁻¹ was not statistically significant and 80 kg N ha⁻¹ was sufficient to achieve good (reasonable) yields. The application of mineral P and K fertilizers covered the needs of potatoes to fulfil their potential, especially in less fertile soils (the difference in FYM + N treatments is significant in Caslav and Lukavec, Table 1) and left enough nutrients in the soil for the upcoming crop. This option represents the optimal form of fertilization to achieve high yields and ensure soil fertility. From the soil point of view, it is interesting that we did not observe any difference in pH values (Table 3). In conditions where only N fertilizers are applied to the soil, without the addition of organic matter (or with the addition of small doses of organic matter), the soil becomes acidic [15,21,22,53]. The application of FYM thus reduces the negative effects of mineral N fertilizers on soil pH [8,54]. The addition of FYM and FYM together with mineral fertilizers also increases soil carbon and nitrogen content (Table 3) [55], although the differences were not statistically significant everywhere. This is confirmed by the PCA analysis (Figures 2 and 3), where the highest SOC and Ntot. the content was always recorded in FYM + NPK and FYM treatments, respectively, in all three localities (Caslav, Ivanovice, Lukavec, the FYM + NPK treatments are always significantly separated within each cluster-location, the FYM treatment is always second in order following the FYM + NPK treatment within PC1) compared to the Control treatment (lowest Cox and Ntot contents). Related to this finding is the demonstrated dependence (linear regression model) of content between Cox and Ntot in soil (Figure 3, r = 0.8675, $R^2 = 0.7526$). From this point of view, the combined application of FYM with mineral NPK represents the optimal form of fertilization to achieve high yields and ensure soil fertility.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. General Experiment Description

In 1955, three long-term field experiments were established to study the effect of twelve different fertilizer treatments and three soil-climate conditions on yield and quality parameters of arable crops and soil properties. According to Köpper—Geiger climate classification [56], all three sites are located in warm—summer humid continental climate (Dfb). The locations are Caslav (263 m a.s.l., 49°85' N, 15°40' E, soil type—calcic degraded Chernozems, arable layer: 40–45 cm), Ivanovice (225 m a.s.l., 49°19' N, 17°05' E, soil type—

leptic Chernozems, arable layer: 30-35 cm) and Lukavec (620 m a.s.l., $49^{\circ}57'$ N, $14^{\circ}99'$ E, soil type—skeletic Cambisols, arable layer: 25-30 cm). Basic soil properties according to the fertilizer treatment in 2015 are shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Soil pH, the concentration of P, K, Ca and Mg (mg kg⁻¹) and contents of organic carbon (Cox, %) and total nitrogen (Nt, %) in Caslav, Ivanovice and Lukavec in 2015 (the season before the evaluated period).

	pН	Р	К	Ca	Mg	Cox	Nt
Caslav							
Control	6.72	58	114	2858	99	1.26	0.14
FYM	6.55	58	144	2891	118	1.16	0.13
FYM + N2	6.76	76	125	2891	139	1.31	0.16
FYM + NPK2	6.52	188	225	2802	122	1.43	0.17
Ivanovice							
Control	6.85	101	228	4451	200	1.72	0.19
FYM	6.84	171	340	4371	222	1.99	0.23
FYM + N2	6.86	156	320	4481	238	2.13	0.25
FYM + NPK2	6.82	220	438	4215	223	2.04	0.23
Lukavec							
Control	5.93	40	131	1945	92	1.54	0.20
FYM	5.93	56	157	2096	108	1.82	0.23
FYM + N2	5.78	38	164	2047	99	1.86	0.23
FYM + NPK2	5.89	193	207	2011	96	1.82	0.23

The weather conditions in each year (2016–2019), including a comparison with the standard climatological normal (1981–2010), are shown in Table 6. The specific precipitation and average temperatures in each month of the 2016–2019 seasons, including their comparison with the standard climatological normal (1981–2010), are shown in Supplementary Tables S1 and S2. The verbal assessment of the years (Table 6), months and growing seasons (Tables S1 and S2) were done according to [57].

Table 6. The annual sum of precipitation (mm) and the annual mean temperature (°C) compared with the standard climatological normal (1981–2010) in Caslav, Ivanovice and Lukavec (2016–2019).

	Precipitation	Evaluation	Temperature	Evaluation
Caslav				
Normal	593		9.4	
2016	393	V. B. Normal ⁴	9.7	Normal
2017	633	Normal	9.6	Normal
2018	318	E. B. Normal ⁶	10.8	V. A. Normal ²
2019	478	B. Normal ⁴	10.6	A. Normal ¹
Ivanovice				
Normal	562		9.1	
2016	474	B. Normal ⁴	9.9	A. Normal ¹
2017	411	V. B. Normal ⁵	9.8	A. Normal ¹
2018	384	V. B. Normal ⁵	11.0	E. A. Normal ³
2019	740	V. A. Normal ²	10.8	E. A. Normal ³
Lukavec				
Normal	698		7.8	
2016	601	B. Normal ⁴	7.9	Normal
2017	777	A. Normal ¹	7.9	Normal
2018	509	V. B. Normal ⁵	8.8	A. Normal ¹
2019	680	Normal	9.1	V. A. Normal ²

Note: ¹ Above Normal; ² Very Above Normal; ³ Extraordinary Above Normal; ⁴ Below Normal; ⁵ Very Below Normal; ⁶ Extraordinary Below Normal.

The long-term field trials in Caslav, Ivanovice and Lukavec are uniform, so they have the same methodology. There are a total of four fields at each site (Field I, Field II, Field III, Field IV). Each of the four fields is divided into 48 plots of 8 by 8 m. A total of 12 different fertilizer treatments are applied to these plots, each treatment is repeated four times ($12 \times 4 = 48$) in a completely randomized block design. From the total area of the single plot ($8 \text{ m} \times 8 \text{ m}$), the central area of $5 \text{ m} \times 5 \text{ m}$ is sampled for analyses (elimination of the edge effect).

In this paper, we evaluate four consecutive seasons (2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019) when potatoes (cul. Adéla) were grown. Planting (4800 kg ha⁻¹) was always done in April and harvesting in September. The interline distance was 75 cm. Winter wheat was the pre–crop every year. For a better idea about the experimental design, please take a look at Table 7.

Table 7. The scheme of the trial in the period 2015–2019.

	Field I.	Field II.	Field III.	Field IV.
2015	Winter wheat			
2016	Potatoes	Winter wheat		
2017		Potatoes	Winter wheat	
2018			Potatoes	Winter wheat
2019				Potatoes

For this article, we have selected seven fertilization treatments out of a total of twelve: (1) unfertilized Control (unfertilized since the trial establishment), (2) the cattle farmyard manure (FYM), (3) and (4) FYM applied together with mineral N fertilizers (FYM + N1; FYM + N2), (5), (6) and (7) FYM applied together with mineral N, P and K fertilizers (FYM + NPK1; FYM + NPK2; FYM + NPK3. The specific fertilizer doses in each treatment are shown in Table 8. The rate indicated for mineral fertilizers represents the dosage of net nutrients applied to the field. FYM was applied at the dose of 40 t ha⁻¹. The estimated nutrient content of the FYM is 200, 56 and 236 kg of N, P and K ha⁻¹, respectively.

Table 8. The doses of the nutrients applied in the FYM and individual fertilizer treatments (kg ha⁻¹).

Fertilization Treatment Designation	Ν	Р	K
Control	0	0	0
FYM (40 t ha^{-1})	200	56	236
$FYM + N1 (kg ha^{-1})$	240	56	236
FYM + N2 (kg ha ^{-1})	280	56	236
FYM + NPK1	240	136	336
FYM + NPK2	280	136	336
FYM + NPK3	320	136	336

The mineral N was applied as calcium ammonium nitrate, P as triple superphosphate and K as potassium chloride. The wheat (pre–crop) harvest was followed by moderate stubble tillage. Subsequently, manure was applied to the field in autumn and incorporated into the soil by moderate tillage. The mineral fertilizers N1 (40 kg ha⁻¹), N2 (80 kg ha⁻¹), N3 (80 kg ha⁻¹), P and K were applied during the pre-planting preparation in spring. The remaining 40 kg ha⁻¹ N in the N3 treatment (together 120 kg ha⁻¹, Table 8) was applied at the BBCH 16 stage. The FYM and mineral fertilizers were applied manually to the plots.

4.2. Soil Analyses

Following the potatoes harvest, soil samples were taken using the soil probes. The soil samples were taken from the topsoil layer (Caslav and Ivanovice 0–20 cm; Lukavec 0–15 cm). Four samples were taken from each plot. The samples were then mixed and transported to the laboratory for analysis. There, soil samples were dried and sieved. The value of the soil reaction (pH) was determined potentiometrically in 50 mL of 0.2 mol KCl (inoLab pH 730, WTW, Xylem Analytics, Weilheim, Germany). The SOC was determined colourimetrically and by oxidimetric titration according to [58,59]. The soil N content was determined with concentrated sulfuric acid in a heating block (Tecator, Foss A/S, Hillerød,

Denmark), followed by the Kjeldahl method [60]. The concentrations of P, K, Mg and Ca were analyzed using the Mehlich III method [61], followed by the ICP—OES analysis (Thermo Scientific ICAP 7400 Duo, ThermoFisher Scientific, Cambridge, UK).

4.3. Data Analyses

For the evaluation of collected data, analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) were used using Statistica 13.3 (Tibco Software Inc., Palo Alto, California, USA). In the case of finding the significant differences, Tukey's HSD post hoc analysis was performed. For the evaluation of the relationships between the yields and soil parameters, PCA (principal component analysis) and FA (factor analysis) were used (Statistica 14.0). The linear regression analyses were performed using the QC Expert 3.3 Pro (TriloByte Statistical Software Ltd., Pardubice, the Czech Republic) and NCSS 2019 Statistical Software (NCSS, LLC., Kaysville, UT, USA). The linear regression modelling used the regression triplet, consisting of (1) model design, (2) preliminary data analysis (multicollinearity, heteroskedasticity, autocorrelation and influence points), (3) estimation of parameters using the least square method (LSM) and subsequent testing of the significance of the parameter using the Student's *t*-test, mean square error of prediction, and Akaike information criterion (AIC), (4) regression diagnostics-identification of influence points and verification of the LSM assumptions, (5) construction of the refined model [36]. Statistical significance was tested at a significance level of p = 0.05. The weather conditions were analyzed using MS Excel 2007 (Microsoft Corporation, Washington, DC, USA). The analyses, calculations and verbal evaluations were done according to [57], providing the recommendation of the World Meteorological Organization for a description of meteorological or climatological conditions. The weather data were collected from the weather stations running in the nearest vicinity of the field trials and operated by the Czech Hydrometeorological Institute (Prague, Czech Republic).

5. Conclusions

Potato cultivation is significantly influenced by soil and climatic conditions, which primarily affect yields. Suitable soil and climate conditions (lighter soil, higher altitude, higher rainfall, lower temperatures—Lukavec) allow average yields to be achieved, even without the addition of mineral fertilizers. In less suitable conditions (heavier soils, higher temperatures, less rainfall—Caslav, Ivanovice), it depends on the fertility of the soil (soil type) whether it can compensate for the climate deficiencies. The temperature was the parameter strongly and negatively affecting potato yields in our trial (more than precipitation). The occurrence of extraordinary temperatures (Table S2) significantly reduced potato yield, especially in 2018 at all locations. These yield fluctuations (the effect of weather on yields) are and will be encountered more frequently as the occurrence of such affected seasons is predicted to be more frequent.

Manure is a form of fertilizer that significantly increases potato yields, which is an important fact, especially for organic farming. However, without the addition of mineral fertilizers, the modern potato cultivars grown under conventional agriculture practices cannot fully fulfil their yield potential as their requirements for nutrients are higher. The application of manure together with mineral forms of NPK ensures high yields. A dose of 80 kg N ha⁻¹ gave comparable yields to a dose of 120 kg N ha⁻¹ and represents a reasonable dose in terms of price/performance ratio.

Application of FYM and especially FYM + NPK significantly increased the soil P and K concentrations in Ivanovice and Lukavec, leaving sufficient nutrient reserves in the soil for the upcoming crop. Manure application also slightly (statistically insignificantly) increased the soil pH at all sites but mainly prevents the negative effect of nitrogen fertilizers on lowering the soil pH, which is important information for agriculture that is significantly dependent on mineral nitrogen fertilizers and has long been struggling with a lack of organic manures applied to the soil, as is the case of the Czech Republic.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/plants10112473/s1, Table S1: The average monthly sum of precipitation (mm) in Caslav, Ivanovice and Lukavec in comparison with the climate normal (1981–2010), Table S2: The average monthly temperatures (°C) in Caslav, Ivanovice and Lukavec in comparison with the climate normal (1981–2010).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, L.H. and E.K.; methodology, E.K.; software, L.H and L.M.; validation, L.H., L.M. and E.K.; formal analysis, L.H. and L.M.; investigation, L.H. and L.M.; resources, E.K.; data curation, E.K.; writing—original draft preparation, L.H.; writing—review and editing, L.H. and L.M.; visualization, L.H. and L.M.; supervision, E.K.; project administration, E.K.; funding acquisition, E.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the research plan of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic—RO0418 and Czech National Agency for Agricultural Research—project no. QK1810010, QK21020155 and QK21010124.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: We would like to exclude this statement as the study does not report any online available data.

Acknowledgments: We thank the members of the experimental stations and the laboratory technicians who participated in the long-term experiments and samples analyses.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Diaz, L.F.; de Bertoldi, M.; Bidlingmaier, W.; Stentiford, E. Compost Science and Technology-Waste Management Series; Elsevier Ltd.: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2007; Volume 8, ISBN 978-0-08-043960-0.
- Bogaard, A.; Fraser, R.; Heaton, T.H.E.; Wallace, M.; Vaiglova, P.; Charles, M.; Jones, G.; Evershed, R.P.; Styring, A.K.; Andersen, N.H.; et al. Crop manuring and intensive land management by Europe's first farmers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, 110, 12589–12594. [CrossRef]
- 3. Du, Y.; Cui, B.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, Z.; Sun, J.; Niu, W. Effects of manure fertilizer on crop yield and soil properties in China: A meta-analysis. *Catena* **2020**, *193*, 104617. [CrossRef]
- 4. Hamm, A.C.; Tenuta, M.; Krause, D.O.; Ominski, K.H.; Tkachuk, V.L.; Flaten, D.N. Bacterial communities of an agricultural soil amended with solid pig and dairy manures, and urea fertilizer. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **2016**, *103*, 61–71. [CrossRef]
- Kobierski, M.; Lemanowicz, J.; Wojewódzki, P.; Kondratowicz-Maciejewska, K. The Effect of Organic and Conventional Farming Systems with Different Tillage on Soil Properties and Enzymatic Activity. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 1809. [CrossRef]
- 6. Chen, Y.; Camps-Arbestain, M.; Shen, Q.; Singh, B.; Cayuela, M.L. The long-term role of organic amendments in building soil nutrient fertility: A meta-analysis and review. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems* **2018**, *111*, 103–125. [CrossRef]
- Simon, T.; Czakó, A. Influence of long-term application of organic and inorganic fertilizers on soil properties. *Plant Soil Environ*. 2014, 60, 314–319. [CrossRef]
- 8. Bobulska, L.; Fazekašová, D.; Angelovičová, L.; Kotorová, D. Impact of ecological and conventional farming systems on chemical and biological soil quality indices in a cold mountain climate in Slovakia. *Biol. Agric. Hortic.* **2015**, *31*, 205–218. [CrossRef]
- 9. Yang, Z.; Ha, L. Analysis and comparison of nutrient contents in different animal manures from Beijing suburbs. *Agric. Sci.* 2013, 4, 50–55. [CrossRef]
- Eghball, B.; Wienhold, B.J.; Gilley, J.E.; Eigenberg, R.A. Biological Systems Engineering: Papers and Publications Mineralization of Manure Nutrients Mineralization of manure nutrients. J. Soil Water Conserv. 2002, 57, 470–473.
- Ghirardini, A.; Grillini, V.; Verlicchi, P. A review of the occurrence of selected micropollutants and microorganisms in different raw and treated manure–Environmental risk due to antibiotics after application to soil. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2020, 707, 136118. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lassaletta, L.; Billen, G.; Garnier, J.; Bouwman, L.; Velazquez, E.; Mueller, N.D.; Gerber, J. Nitrogen use in the global food system: Past trends and future trajectories of agronomic performance, pollution, trade, and dietary demand. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2016, 11, 095007. [CrossRef]
- 13. Zwolak, A.; Sarzyńska, M.; Szpyrka, E.; Stawarczyk, K. Sources of Soil Pollution by Heavy Metals and Their Accumulation in Vegetables: A Review. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **2019**, *230*, 164. [CrossRef]
- 14. Verbeeck, M.; Salaets, P.; Smolders, E. Trace element concentrations in mineral phosphate fertilizers used in Europe: A balanced survey. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2020, *712*, 136419. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Czarnecki, S.; Düring, R.-A. Influence of long-term mineral fertilization on metal contents and properties of soil samples taken from different locations in Hesse, Germany. SOIL 2015, 1, 23–33. [CrossRef]

- Tsvetkov, I.; Atanassov, A.; Vlahova, M.; Carlier, L.; Christov, N.; Lefort, F.; Rusanov, K.; Badjakov, I.; Dincheva, I.; Tchamitchian, M.; et al. Plant organic farming research—Current status and opportunities for future development. *Biotechnol. Biotechnol. Equip.* 2018, 32, 241–260. [CrossRef]
- 17. Menšík, L.; Hlisnikovský, L.; Pospisilova, L.; Kunzová, E. The effect of application of organic manures and mineral fertilizers on the state of soil organic matter and nutrients in the long-term field experiment. J. Soils Sediments 2018, 18, 2813–2822. [CrossRef]
- Lošák, T.; Čermák, P.; Hlušek, J. Changes in fertilisation and liming of soils of the Czech Republic for the past 20 years. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 2012, 58, S238–S242. [CrossRef]
- 19. Piwowar, A. Consumption of Mineral Fertilizers in the Polish Agriculture—Trends and Directions of Changes. *Agric. Res.* **2021**, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Kubát, J.; Lipavský, J. Evaluation of organic matter content in arable soils in the Czech Republic. In Crop Science and Land use for Food and Bioenergy; Agrobios Publications: Jodhpur, India, 2011; p. 500. ISBN 9788190430982.
- Liu, E.; Yan, C.; Mei, X.; He, W.; Bing, S.H.; Ding, L.; Liu, Q.; Liu, S.; Fan, T. Long-term effect of chemical fertilizer, straw, and manure on soil chemical and biological properties in northwest China. *Geoderma* 2010, 158, 173–180. [CrossRef]
- Vašák, F.; Cerny, J.; Buráňová, Š.; Kulhanek, M.; Balik, J. Soil pH changes in long-term field experiments with different fertilizing systems. Soil Water Res. 2016, 10, 19–23. [CrossRef]
- Cakmak, D.; Saljnikov, E.; Mrvic, V.; Jakovljevic, M.; Marjanovic, Z.; Sikiric, B.; Maksimovic, S. Soil Properties and Trace Elements Contents Following 40 Years of Phosphate Fertilization. J. Environ. Qual. 2010, 39, 541–547. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Couto, R.D.R.; Faversani, J.; Ceretta, C.A.; Ferreira, P.A.A.; Marchezan, C.; Facco, D.B.; Garlet, L.P.; Silva, J.; Comin, J.J.; Bizzi, C.A.; et al. Health risk assessment and soil and plant heavy metal and bromine contents in field plots after ten years of organic and mineral fertilization. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2018, 153, 142–150. [CrossRef]
- Maltas, A.; Dupuis, B.; Sinaj, S. Yield and Quality Response of Two Potato Cultivars to Nitrogen Fertilization. Potato Res. 2018, 61, 97–114. [CrossRef]
- 26. Olesen, J.E.; Bindi, M. Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2002**, *16*, 239–262. [CrossRef]
- Eitzinger, J.; Trnka, M.; Semerádová, D.; Thaler, S.; Svobodová, E.; Hlavinka, P.; Šiška, B.; Takáč, J.; Malatinská, L.; Nováková, M.; et al. Regional climate change impacts on agricultural crop production in Central and Eastern Europe—Hotspots, regional differences and common trends. J. Agric. Sci. 2013, 151, 787–812. [CrossRef]
- Rymuza, K.; Radzka, E.; Lenartowicz, T. Effect of weather conditions on early potato yields in east-central Poland. Commun. Biometry Crop Sci. 2015, 10, 65–72.
- Ierna, A.; Mauromicale, G. Potato growth, yield and water productivity response to different irrigation and fertilization regimes. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2018, 201, 21–26. [CrossRef]
- 30. Kunzová, E.; Hejcman, M. Yield development of winter wheat over 50 years of FYM, N, P and K fertilizer application on black earth soil in the Czech Republic. *Field Crop. Res.* 2009, 111, 226–234. [CrossRef]
- Petropoulos, S.A.; Fernandes, Â.; Polyzos, N.; Antoniadis, V.; Barros, L.; Ferreira, I.C. The Impact of Fertilization Regime on the Crop Performance and Chemical Composition of Potato. Agronomy 2020, 10, 474. [CrossRef]
- Moore, A.D.; Olsen, N.L.; Carey, A.M.; Leytem, A.B. Residual Effects of Fresh and Composted Dairy Manure Applications on Potato Production. Am. J. Potato Res. 2011, 88, 324–332. [CrossRef]
- Ierna, A.; Mauromicale, G. Sustainable and Profitable Nitrogen Fertilization Management of Potato. Agronomy 2019, 9, 582. [CrossRef]
- Jovovic, Z.; Dolijanovic, Z.; Spalevic, V.; Dudic, B.; Przulj, N.; Velimirovic, A.; Popovic, V. Effects of Liming and Nutrient Management on Yield and Other Parameters of Potato Productivity on Acid Soils in Montenegro. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 980. [CrossRef]
- 35. Nurmanov, Y.T.; Chernenok, V.G.; Kuzdanova, R.S. Potato in response to nitrogen nutrition regime and nitrogen fertilization. *Field Crop. Res.* 2019, 231, 115–121. [CrossRef]
- 36. Meloun, M.; Militský, J. Statistical Data Analysis, a Practical Guide; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Cambridge, UK, 2011; ISBN 0-85709-109-3.
- Hamouz, K.; Lachman, J.; Pazderů, K.; Hejtmánková, K.; Cimr, J.; Musilová, J.; Pivec, V.; Orsák, M.; Svobodova, A. Effect of cultivar, location and method of cultivation on the content of chlorogenic acid in potatoes with different flesh colour. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2013, 59, 465–471. [CrossRef]
- 38. Hamouz, K.; Pazderů, K.; Lachman, J.; Čepl, J.; Kotikova, Z. Effect of cultivar, flesh colour, locality and year on carotenoid content in potato tubers. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2016**, *62*, 86–91. [CrossRef]
- Pazderů, K.; Hamouz, K.; Lachman, J.; Kasal, P. Yield potential and antioxidant activity of potatoes with coloured flesh. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2016, 61, 417–421. [CrossRef]
- 40. Affleck, I.; Sullivan, J.A.; Tarn, R.; Falk, D.E. Genotype by environment interaction effect on yield and quality of potatoes. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 2008, *88*, 1099–1107. [CrossRef]
- Kabała, C. Chernozem (czarnoziem)—Soil of the year 2019 in Poland. Origin, classification and use of chernozems in Poland. Soil Sci. Annu. 2019, 70, 184–192. [CrossRef]
- 42. Czech Statistical Office. Statistical Yearbook of the Czech Republic 2020; Czech Statistical Office: Prague, Czech Republic, 2021.

- Shimoda, S.; Kanno, H.; Hirota, T. Time series analysis of temperature and rainfall-based weather aggregation reveals significant correlations between climate turning points and potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) yield trends in Japan. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 2018, 263, 147–155. [CrossRef]
- Singh, B.; Kukreja, S.; Goutam, U. Impact of heat stress on potato (Solanum tuberosum L.): Present scenario and future opportunities. J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol. 2020, 95, 407–424. [CrossRef]
- 45. Olga, E.; Ana, S.-R.; Rodríguez-Flores, M.S.; Montserrat, M.; Seijo, M.C. Influence of weather conditions on the physicochemical characteristics of potato tubers. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2018**, *64*, 317–323. [CrossRef]
- 46. Handayani, T.; Watanabe, K. The combination of drought and heat stress has a greater effect on potato plants than single stresses. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2020, *66*, 175–182. [CrossRef]
- Černý, J.; Balík, J.; Kulhánek, M.; Čásová, K.; Nedvěd, V. Mineral and organic fertilization efficiency in long-term stationary experiments. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2010, 56, 28–36. [CrossRef]
- Suwara, I.; Pawlak-Zaręba, K.; Gozdowski, D.; Perzanowska, A. Physical properties of soil after 54 years of long-term fertilization and crop rotation. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2016, 62, 389–394. [CrossRef]
- Domagała-Świątkiewicz, I.; Gąstoł, M. Soil chemical properties under organic and conventional crop management systems in south Poland. *Biol. Agric. Hortic.* 2013, 29, 12–28. [CrossRef]
- 50. Dey, A.; Srivastava, P.C.; Pachauri, S.P.; Shukla, A.K. Time-dependent release of some plant nutrients from different organic amendments in a laboratory study. *Int. J. Recycl. Org. Waste Agric.* 2019, *8*, 173–188. [CrossRef]
- Balík, J.; Černý, J.; Kulhánek, M.; Sedlář, O.; Suran, P. Balance of potassium in two long-term field experiments with different fertilization treatments. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2019, 65, 225–232. [CrossRef]
- 52. Whetton, R.; Zhao, Y.; Nawar, S.; Mouazen, A. Modelling the Influence of Soil Properties on Crop Yields Using a Non-Linear NFIR Model and Laboratory Data. *Soil Syst.* **2021**, *5*, 12. [CrossRef]
- Maltas, A.; Kebli, H.; Oberholzer, H.R.; Weisskopf, P.; Sinaj, S. The effects of organic and mineral fertilizers on carbon sequestration, soil properties, and crop yields from a long-term field experiment under a Swiss conventional farming system. *Land Degrad. Dev.* 2018, 29, 926–938. [CrossRef]
- Zeng, M.; de Vries, W.; Bonten, L.T.C.; Zhu, Q.; Hao, T.; Liu, X.; Xu, M.; Shi, X.; Zhang, F.; Shen, J. Model-Based Analysis of the Long-Term Effects of Fertilization Management on Cropland Soil Acidification. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2017, *51*, 3843–3851. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Zhengchao, Z.; Zhuoting, G.; Zhouping, S.; Fuping, Z. Effects of long-term repeated mineral and organic fertilizer applications on soil organic carbon and total nitrogen in a semi-arid cropland. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2013**, *45*, 20–26. [CrossRef]
- Beck, H.E.; Zimmermann, N.E.; McVicar, T.R.; Vergopolan, N.; Berg, A.; Wood, E.F. Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. *Sci. Data* 2018, *5*, 180214. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Kožnarová, V.; Klabzuba, J. Recommendation of World Meteorological Organization to describing meteorological or climatological conditions-Information. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2011**, *48*, 190–192. [CrossRef]
- 58. Sims, J.R.; Haby, V.A. Simplified Colorimetric Determination of Soil Organic Matter. Soil Sci. 1971, 112, 137–141. [CrossRef]
- Nelson, D.W.; Sommers, L.E. Total Carbon, Organic Carbon, and Organic Matter. In *Total Carbon, Organic Carbon, and Organic Matter: Methods of Soil Analysis Part 3-Chemical Methods*; Soil Science Society of America, American Society of Agronomy: Madison, WI, USA, 1996; pp. 961–1010.
- 60. Kirk, P.L. Kjeldahl Method for Total Nitrogen. Anal. Chem. 1950, 22, 354–358. [CrossRef]
- 61. Mehlich, A. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **1984**, *15*, 37–41. [CrossRef]



Article



The Effects of Weather and Fertilization on Grain Yield and Stability of Winter Wheat Growing on Orthic Luvisol—Analysis of Long-Term Field Experiment

Lukáš Hlisnikovský ^{1,*}, Peter Ivičic ¹, Przemysław Barłóg ², Witold Grzebisz ², Ladislav Menšík ¹ and Eva Kunzová ¹

- ¹ Department of Nutrition Management, Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507, Ruzyně,
- 161 01 Prague 6, Czech Republic; ivicic@vurv.cz (P.I.); ladislav.mensik@vurv.cz (L.M.); kunzova@vurv.cz (E.K.)
 ² Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 71F, 60-625 Poznan, Poland; przemyslaw.barlog@up.poznan.pl (P.B.);
- witold.grzebisz@up.poznan.pl (W.G.)
- Correspondence: l.hlisnik@vurv.cz

Abstract: Based on a long-term experiment in Prague, established in 1954, we analyzed the effect of weather and seven fertilization treatments (mineral and manure treatments) on winter wheat grain yield (GY) and stability. In total, 23 seasons were analyzed, where a wheat crop followed a summer crop of potatoes. A regression analysis showed that, since the experiment started, there has been a significant increase in the annual daily maximum, average, and minimum temperature of 0.5 °C, and an increase in annual rainfall of 0.3 mm. Grain yield was positively associated with April precipitation, mean daily temperature in October, and daily maximum temperature in February. Yields were most stable between years with two fertilizer treatments that supplied a mean of 47 kg N ha⁻¹yr⁻¹, 54 kg P ha⁻¹yr⁻¹, and 108 kg K ha⁻¹yr⁻¹. The rate of N at which grain yield was optimized was determined according to the linear-plateau (LP) and quadratic response models as 44 kg N ha⁻¹yr⁻¹ for the long-strawed varieties and 87 kg N ha⁻¹yr⁻¹ for short-strawed varieties. A gradual increase in yields was observed in all treatments, including the unfertilized control, which was attributed to improved varieties rather than to a changing climate.

Keywords: *Triticum aestivum* L.; temperature; precipitation; mineral fertilizers; farmyard manure; non-linear response models; climate change

1. Introduction

Wheat is the most widely grown cereal in the EU, withan estimated production of 130 million tonnes in 2021. Wheat production, grain yield (GY), and its quality areinfluenced by a wide range of variables, mainly by the soil–climate conditions and fertilization. Other factors, such as the preceding crop in the crop rotation [1,2], wheat variety [3], or tillage practices [4], also play a significant role in yield formation and stability.

The effect of weather on agricultural productivity has been analyzed for a long time [5]. In the context of weather, climate change is currently the most highlighted term. Its precise definition can be problematic [6], but generally, it refers to long-term climate shifts in temperature and precipitation patterns, directly affecting short-term interannual weather variation (more frequent occurrence of extraordinary weather circumstances during the growing seasons). Climate change is a long-term and gradual process. There is a wide range of papers analyzing the impacts of ongoing climate change on future agricultural production based on different models. These papers, analyzing the relationship between changing climatic conditions and crop production, have been published since the early 1990s [7–9] and continue to this day, confirming that climate change is significantly affecting and will continue to affect crop yields and quality, positively or negatively (according to

Citation: Hlisnikovský, L.; Ivičic, P.; Barłóg, P.; Grzebisz, W.; Menšík, L.; Kunzová, E. The Effects of Weather and Fertilization on Grain Yield and Stability of Winter Wheat Growing on Orthic Luvisol—Analysis of Long-Term Field Experiment. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 1825. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants11141825

Academic Editors: Fulai Liu and Oscar Vicente

Received: 16 May 2022 Accepted: 5 July 2022 Published: 12 July 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). the locality), and that different regions will be affected to a different extent [10–12]. In England, for example, conditions for growing wheat can be expected to remain favorable until the middle of the 21st century, without the long periods of drought that are, on the other hand, expected in some European countries [13]. In Spain, conditions for growing wheat can be expected to remain favorable, while conditions for sunflower are likely to deteriorate in the future due to climate change [14]. In the Czech Republic, climate change is connected with more frequent occurrence of intensive dry episodes [15]. For example, a severe drought was recorded in the 2011–2012 season in south Moravia region, resulting in the lowest cereal yields in the past 52 years [16,17]. Severe wheat yield losses were also recorded in France, Belgium, and Switzerland in 2016, when mean wheat yields decreased significantly in comparison with the previous ten years due to either drought or abnormally wet conditions [18]. The exact impact of climate change on crop production is difficult to assess. Long-term field trials can provide some insight, as they are well defined, include different and controlled fertilizer treatments, and detailed weather observations are made at the trial site. Fertilization represents one of the tools that help balance the effects of unpredictable and rapidly changing weather conditions. Thanks to data from long-term experiments, we can analyze the effect of weather in each month on crop yields, the effect of different fertilizer regimes on yield and its stability, and the recommend optimal fertilizer rates for selected soil-climate conditions. A study of a long-term experiment at Müncheberg (northeast Germany) showed that the effect of weather on spring barley yields was major, accounting for 55% of variation, so yields are strongly dependent on the weather conditions of the year. The Bayesian linear regression analysis showed that yield was influenced mostly by rainfall between April and July, especially for treatments fertilized with high rates of mineral N. Fertilizer application had a much smaller effect on yield, accounting for 11% of variation. Mineral N application also reduced year-to-year variation in yield [19]. A similar study of long-term effects of weather and fertilization on the yields of winter wheat at Rothamsted showed a correlation between winter wheat yield and mean temperature in November, April, and May, and precipitation in October, February, and June. Yields of spring barley were correlated with mean temperature between February and June, and with precipitation from April to July and in September [20]. An analysis of two long-term experiments in Germany showed that barley grown in crop rotations dominated by cereals proved a yield with lower stability and higher production risk than rotations with higher crop diversity. The highest yield stability of barley was reached with a medium N rate $(70 \text{ kg N ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1})$ [21,22].

Inspired by the above-mentioned papers, we decided to analyze the long-term field experiment (LTE) in Prague, established in 1954. The aim of our work is to analyze whether the yield of winter wheat is controlled by weather conditions, which month conditions (max. temperature, mean temperature, min. temperature, precipitation) significantly influence the yield, what type of fertilization provides stable yields, and what fertilizer dose represents the optimum under given soil and climatic conditions.

2. Results

2.1. Yield Development

Winter wheat GY increased since the start of the LTE for all fertilizer treatments, including the unfertilized control. The average seasonal GY increase for control, FYM, NPK1, NPK2, NPK3, NPK4, and FYM+NPK was approximately 24, 35, 40, 43, 47, 53, and 63 kg ha⁻¹, respectively (Figure 1a). As the short-strawed wheat varieties began to be grown in 1983, the straw yield (STY) has been declining (Figure 1b).



Figure 1. The development of (**a**) grain yield, GY (t ha^{-1}) and (**b**) straw yield, STY (t ha^{-1}) from 1961 to 2020, as affected by the fertilizer treatment.

2.2. Weather Conditions

The average daily maximum temperature averaged over the years increased by 0.05 °C from 1954 to 2020, while the average daily temperature increased by 0.05 °C, minimum temperature by 0.06 °C, and precipitation increased by 0.3 mm yr⁻¹ (Figure 2). In summary, the site of the LTE has been gradually warming since 1954, and the amount of rainfall increased slightly.



Figure 2. The development of average, min., max. temperatures and precipitation, LTE Prague, 1961–2020.

An equivalent analysis of growing seasons for which there were corresponding wheat yield data analyzed in this paper (1961 to 2020) also showed similar trends. The daily maximum, average, and minimum temperatures increased by 0.05 °C, 0.04 °C, and 0.06 °C, respectively, while precipitation increased by 1.6 mm yr⁻¹ (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The development of average, min., max. temperatures and precipitation, LTE Prague, 1961–2020 (data from 23 seasons that are analyzed in this paper).

2.3. Relationship between Weather and Yields

To answer the question of whether the weather differed significantly between periods with different wheat varieties, we used ANCOVA, where GY, STY, temperature, and precipitation served as covariates. According to the results, the temperature did not differ significantly between the periods when each variety was grown (*d.f.* = 8, F = 2.2, p = 0.114). In the case of precipitation, we observed a significant difference (d.f. = 8, F = 2.9, p < 0.05) between the period when the Zdar variety was grown (lowest mean precipitation, 327 mm, mean value over three seasons, 1990, 1992, and 1993) and the period when the Alka variety was grown (highest mean precipitation, 593 mm, mean value over two seasons, 2001 and 2002). These two periods were the only ones significantly different (in terms of rainfall). There were no significant differences in rainfall between the other periods. From this point of view, the general effect of increasing temperatures and precipitation on gradually increasing yields is so far insignificant, and the increasing trend in GY is mainly due to the use of modern wheat varieties. The conditions of a particular year affect yields significantly. We used multiple linear regression (MLR) and correlation to investigate the relationship between the weather and yield. The MLR answers the question of whether yields can be predicted from the temperature or rainfall in a particular month of the growing season. We evaluated the relationship between the rainfall, max., average, and min. temperatures and between the average GY (all fertilizer treatments together) and the GY of each fertilizer treatment (separately—control, FYM, NPK1...FYM+NPK). The results of the MLR were not statistically significant in any case (n = 32), as the p value ranged from 0.07 to 0.9. On the other hand, the results of the correlation analysis were already significant. In the case of rainfall, we found a positive significant moderate correlation between GY and rainfall in April for all fertilizer treatments (r = 0.5). According to Figure 4a, the highest wheat yields can be expected when 50 to 60 mm of rain falls in April. There was also a significant positive correlation between GY and average temperature in October (r = 0.5, positive moderate correlation, Figure 4b) and maximal temperature in February (r = 0.6, positive moderate correlation, Figure 4c). Higher yields were therefore associated with wetter conditions in April up to a maximum of 60 mm month⁻¹ and warmer conditions in October and February. However, the quadratic function in Figure 4b is approaching its maximum, and a further increase in temperature could lead to a decrease in yield in the future.



Figure 4. Response surface of the effect of applied N (kg ha⁻¹ N) on winter wheat GY (t ha⁻¹) as affected by (a) April rainfall, (b) average October temperature, (c) max. February temperature.

2.4. Yield Stability

According to Kang's ranksum statistics, in which Shukla's stability variance was used to identify high-yielding and stable fertilizer treatments, the highest stability of longstrawed wheat varieties was provided by the NPK3 treatment (rank 1), followed by NPK2 (rank 2), NPK4 (rank 3), NPK1 (rank 4), FYM+NPK (rank 5), FYM (rank 6), and control (rank 7) treatments. For the short-strawed wheat varieties, the most stable yields were provided by the NPK2 and NPK3 treatments (rank 1), followed by NPK4 (rank 3), FYM+NPK (rank 4), NPK1 (rank 5), FYM (rank 6), and control (rank 7) treatments. Treatments with rank 1 are the most desirable.

2.5. Effect of Fertilization on Grain Yield—N Dose Optimization

According to the ANCOVA results (STY as covariate), the GY of long-strawed wheat varieties was significantly affected by fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 6.4, p < 0.001). The productivity of short-strawed wheat varieties was also significantly affected by fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 6, F = 6.6, p < 0.001) (Table 1).

	Long-Strawed Var.	Short-Strawed Var.	
	GY (t	ha ⁻¹)	
Control	3.8 ^A	4.7 ^A	
FYM	4.3 ^{AB}	5.5 ^B	
NPK1	4.6 ^B	6.1 ^{BC}	
NPK2	4.9 ^B	6.6 ^{CD}	
NPK3	4.9 ^B	6.7 ^{CD}	
NPK4	4.9 ^B	6.9 ^D	
FYM+NPK	4.7 ^B	7.0 ^D	

Table 1. The effect of fertilizer treatments on GY (t ha^{-1}) of long- and short-strawed wheat varieties.

The capital letters following the average GY present the result of the post hoc analysis (Tukey's HSD test). Average GY with the same letter are not statistically significantly different from each other.

In the case of long-strawed varieties, the lowest GY was recorded in the control. The application of FYM to the preceding crop, compared to the control, resulted in a slight increase in GY, while no statistically significant difference was observed between FYM and the other fertilized treatments (Table 1). For short-strawed wheat varieties, the unfertilized control also provided the lowest GY, while application of the FYM to the preceding crop resulted in significantly higher GY (+800 kg ha⁻¹ in comparison with control). The highest GY was provided by the FYM+NPK treatment, but no statistically significant difference was recorded between NPK2 and FYM+NPK treatments (Table 1).

For the purpose of fertilization optimization, two non-linear models were used: the linear-plateau (LP) and quadratic models. For long-strawed varieties (1961–1981, nine

seasons), the shoulder point of the LP model occurred at a dose of 15 kg ha⁻¹ N, corresponding with a yield of 4.8 t ha⁻¹ (Figure 5, left). According to the quadratic model, the maximal yield occurred at a dose of 73 kg ha⁻¹ N, corresponding with a yield of 4.9 t ha⁻¹ (Figure 5, right, $y = -0.0002x^2 + 0.0278x + 3.9106$). As the results of the LP model can be considered too conservative, and the results of the quadratic model as redundantly high (from the point of view of efficiency, economy, and environment protection), a reasonable recommendation for the optimum N rate should be based on the results of both models (the average value) [23]. In our case, the optimum N dose for the long-strawed wheat varieties occurs at 44 kg ha⁻¹ N.



Figure 5. Grain yield (t ha⁻¹) of long-strawed varieties as affected by N dose (kg ha⁻¹). The data come from 9 seasons (1961–1981). (**Left**) data interleaved with the linear-plateau model. (**Right**) data interleaved with the quadratic model. The shoulder point of the LP model (**left**) occurred at the dose of 15 kg ha⁻¹ N (4.8 t ha⁻¹). According to the quadratic model (**right**), the maximal yield occurred at the dose of 73 kg ha⁻¹ N (4.9 t ha⁻¹).

The introduction of short-strawed wheat varieties resulted in a significant increase in grain yield (ANCOVA, straw yield as a covariate factor, p < 0.001). The average grain yield of long-strawed varieties (1961–1981, 9 seasons) was 4.6 t ha⁻¹, while the average grain yield of short-strawed varieties (1983–2020, 14 seasons) was 6.2 t ha⁻¹.

According to the ANCOVA results (Table 1), the NPK2 treatment (55 kg ha⁻¹ N) provided comparable grain yield as the FYM+NPK treatment (102.5 kg ha⁻¹ N). The application of the FYM to the preceding crop resulted in GY averaging 800 kg ha⁻¹ higher than the control, and the difference was significant. The combined application of FYM and NPK resulted in slightly higher yield (+100 kg ha⁻¹) than with the NPK4 treatment, but the difference was not significant.

According to the LP model, the shoulder point occurred at the dose of 66 kg ha⁻¹ N, corresponding with a GYof 6.9 t ha⁻¹ (Figure 6, left). According to the approximation of the quadratic model (Figure 6, right, $y = -0.000171x^2 + 0.0367x + 4.974$), the average maximal yield (the local maximum of the quadratic function) was reached at the dose of 107 kg ha⁻¹ N, corresponding with a yield of 7.0 t ha⁻¹. As mentioned above, this dose of mineral N is redundantly high, and the recommended dose of mineral N for short-strawed varieties grown under comparable soil–climate conditions, as in the LTE, should be approximately 87 kg ha⁻¹ (the mean value between 66 and 107 kg ha⁻¹ N). This value also provides the most stable GY.



Figure 6. Grain yield (t ha⁻¹) of short-strawed wheat varieties as affected by N dose (kg ha⁻¹). The data come from 14 seasons (1963–2020). (**Left**) data interleaved with the linear-plateau model. (**Right**) data interleaved with the quadratic model. The shoulder point of the LP model (**left**) occurred at the dose of 66 kg ha⁻¹ N (6.9 t ha⁻¹). According to the quadratic model (**right**), the maximal yield occurred at the dose of 107 kg ha⁻¹ N (7.0 t ha⁻¹).

3. Discussion

3.1. The Effect of the Weather on GY

Based on the weather analysis, we can say that the conditions at the LTE site are gradually changing. We observed an increase in maximum, average, and minimum temperature as well as precipitation during the year and season for winter crops. In the case of temperatures, this trend is evident throughout the Czech Republic. According to Zahradníček [24], each decade is generally warmer than the previous period, with enhanced warming between 2011 and 2019. In the case of total precipitation, the long-term analysis published by Brázdil [25] proved that the fluctuation of total precipitation is stable in the Czech Republic; negative precipitation trends were recorded between April and June, while positive trends were recorded between July and September. In our paper, we analyzed the relationship between GY and weather parameters of each month of the growing season via the MLR and correlation. The same approaches have been used for analyses of long-term experiments in Müncheberg (Germany) [19] and Rothamsted (UK) [20]. According to the linear regression model used in Germany, the total precipitation during April and July was positively correlated with spring barley GY (when high doses of mineral N were applied), while a negative relationship was found for precipitation in March and temperature in April. In our case, the MLR provided no significant results (n = 32). This comparison is for illustrative purposes only. The weather conditions and weather development throughout time are different at each location and are, therefore, site-specific. The results of one site cannot be generalized to other sites with different soil and climatic conditions. According to the result from Rothamsted [20], the wheat GY is sensitive to mean temperature in November, April, and May, and to precipitation in October, February, and June. Based on the results of this work, the optimum mean November temperature ranges between 6 $^{\circ}$ C and 7 $^{\circ}$ C. The April temperature between 8 and 8.5 °C maximizes the wheat GY, while a lower precipitation in June leads to lower yields [20]. In our case, we found a positive relationship between April precipitation and GY, with the optimum ranging between 50 and 60 mm (Figure 4a). Higher or lower precipitation will result in lower than optimum yields. As the mean April precipitation is approximately 32 mm (1954–2020), and the trend of April precipitation is decreasing [25], we can expect that the negative effect of April rainfall on wheat GY will be enhanced in the future. The mean temperature in October was also positively correlated with yields (Figure 4b). Higher October temperatures will beneficially influence seedling emergence and plant germination and provide time for development of stronger plants.

Finally, the increasing temperature in February was also evaluated as a factor positively affecting wheat GY (Figure 4c), allowing earlier start of the plant development, provided that there are no other negative aspects, such as higher incidence of pests, diseases, soil acidification, etc.

3.2. Yield Stability

The most stable yields of long-strawed wheat varieties (1961–1981) were provided by treatments from the middle range of mineral fertilizers (NPK2 and NPK3, 55–80 kg ha⁻¹ N), i.e., neither the lowest nor the highest treatments. The old long-strawed wheat varieties had lower yields than short-strawed varieties [26–28] due to better resistance to lodging and diseases, earlier reaching of anthesis, and a longer grain filling period [29]. In the case of short-strawed wheat varieties, the results were the same; the highest yield stability was provided by the same treatments (NPK2 and NPK3). Application of higher doses of mineral N (such as NPK4) generally resulted in slightly higher yields, but according to results of yield stability, also in higher year-to-year variation, i.e., lower stability.

The unfertilized control had the lowest yield stability in both long- and short-strawed varieties. Although the average yields of unfertilized controls increase over time, the wheat in these plots is mainly dependent on the pre-crop effect in terms of nutrients (edge effects were eliminated in the experiment by the harvesting methodology; only the central area of the plot was harvested for experimental purposes). This is confirmed in a study of the long-term experiment at Giessen University (Germany) [22], where similar results were found for an unfertilized control treatment and a similar pattern for PK treatment (without mineral N), showing an unprecedented effect of mineral N on yield stability. Analysis of the long-term experiments in Germany also showed a low ability of unfertilized treatments or treatments without mineral N to provide stable yields [30]. According to this study, the yield stability was also negatively affected by omission of mineral potassium, which can support yield stability, especially under ongoing climate change, as this element controls water management in the plant.

Application of manure alone (without mineral fertilizers—FYM treatment) to the preceding crop resulted in the second lowest yield stability (in both long- and short-strawed varieties). Similar results were published by Macholdt [31]. We assume that the vast majority of the nutrients from FYM, released by the mineralization, were utilized by the preceding potato crop. The rest of the nutrients, together with the expected beneficial effect of FYM on soil parameters [32,33], slightly (and significantly, in short-strawed varieties) increased the GY (when compared to control), but the fluctuation was still high.

3.3. The Effect of Fertilization on GY

As mentioned above, the effect of FYM application to the preceding crop influenced wheat GY. For the long-strawed varieties, there was no significant difference between FYM and control, although FYM application resulted in slightly higher yields. For the shortstrawed varieties, the effect was significant (Table 1). Manure not only provides nutrients but also has a beneficial effect on soil properties, positively influencing soil microbial fauna and its activity, nutrient turnover, soil organic carbon, and nitrogen content [33,34], and the effect on wheat GY is visible even three years after its application [35]. This synergy (nutrients + effect on soil) is behind why we observed a significant difference in the short-strawed varieties when comparing FYM versus control. Long-strawed varieties had lower overall yield than short-strawed varieties and were less responsive to N because of their lower nutrient requirements (even high fertilizer rates did not significantly increase yields—quite the opposite, as confirmed by LP and quadratic response models). The introduction of short-strawed wheat varieties into the experiment was associated with higher yields but also with higher nutrient requirements. The quantity of nitrogen to achieve optimum yields in short-strawed varieties was about double that of long-strawed varieties (Figure 5), as the recommended dose of mineral N increased from 44 kg ha⁻¹ N to 87 kg ha⁻¹ N. These recommended doses were calculated according to Hochmuth [23], based on two non-linear

models analyzing the response of GY to N doses. These recommendations are site–specific and should be calculated in relation to the soil and climate conditions. Other researchers have published their own recommendations according to the soil–climate conditions of the analyzed experiments [20,36–39]. Optimum fertilizer application is important for two reasons. Firstly, it must be economic, so that a positive economic return is achieved for the investment in a fertilizer. Secondly, it must be environmentally friendly, as excessive fertilizer application is not only wasteful but also negatively affects the quality of the environment [40,41].

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Site Description

The LTE in Prague can be found on the western edge of the city of Prague, the Czech Republic, central Europe, $50^{\circ}05'15''$ N, $14^{\circ}17'28''$ E. According to the Köppen–Geiger climate classification [42], the site is located in a warm-summer continental climate area (Dfb). The LTE in Prague was established in 1954 with the aim of measuringthe long-term effect of different fertilizer treatments (mineral and organic fertilizers, organic manures), crop rotations, and weather conditions on the yield and quality of arable crops and soil properties. The soil type is Orthic Luvisol, formed by diluvial sediments mixed with loess [43]. The topsoil depth is approximately 0.3 m. The standard climatological long-term mean temperature is 8.7 °C, and the precipitation is 490.4 mm (1954–2020, Crop Research Institute meteorological station). The altitude of the site is 370 m a.s.l.

4.2. The Long-Term Experiment (LTE) Description

The LTE in Prague is a large-scale field experiment, consisting of five fields (fields I., II., III., IV., and B). The size of one field is 144×96 m (cca 1.4 ha). Each field is divided into 96 individual plots. The size of one plot is 12×12 m. In each field, the effects of 24 fertilizer treatments are measured, each treatment replicated four times ($24 \times 4 = 96$ plots) in a completely randomized block design. The crop rotation of the fields II., III., and IV. (analyzed in this paper) consists of nine crops, growing in the order alfalfa, alfalfa, winter wheat, sugar beet, spring barley, potatoes, winter wheat, sugar beet, and spring barley. Out of 24 fertilizer treatments, 7 are analyzed in this paper: (1) control (unfertilized since the LTE establishment), (2) farmyard manure (FYM), (3) NPK1, (4) NPK2, (5) NPK3, (6) NPK4, and (7) FYM+NPK (FYM+NPK4 specifically, but the FYM+NPK abbreviation is used in the paper). The doses of mineral fertilizers are: NPK1—40, 48, 96 kg ha⁻¹; NPK2—55, 60, 120 kg ha⁻¹; NPK3—80, 48, 96 kg ha⁻¹; NPK4—95, 60, 120 kg ha⁻¹. The mineral N is applied as limestone ammonium nitrate, P as super phosphate, and K as potassium chloride. Mineral fertilizers are spread evenly by hand. The cattle farmyard manure in the FYM and FYM+NPK treatments is applied to the preceding crop, potatoes, at a dose of 15 t ha^{-1} (approximately 75 kg N). As winter wheat is the first crop following, the estimated amount of N available to and utilizable by wheat represents 10%-7.5 kg ha⁻¹. From this point of view, the FYM treatment is calculated as a dose of N of 7.5 kg ha⁻¹ and the FYM+NPK treatment as a dose of 102.5 kg ha⁻¹ N.

In this paper, we analyze 23 seasons in total, when winter wheat followed by potatoes are grown. These seasons are (the year of harvest) 1961, 1962, 1963, 1970, 1971, 1972, 1974, 1975, 1981, 1983, 1984, 1990, 1992, 1993, 1999, 2001, 2002, 2008, 2010, 2011, 2017, 2019, and 2020. Different wheat varieties have been grown in the experiment since 1961. The long-strawed varieties are Pyšelka (1961–1963), Mironovská (1970–1972), and Jubilar (1974–1981). The short-strawed varieties are Juna (1983–1984), Zdar (1990–1993), Samanta (1999), Alka (2001–2002), Barroko (2008–2010), and Mulan (2011–2020). The sowing of the winter wheat occurs in October; the depth of sowing usually ranges from 3 to 4 cm, and the distance between rows is 0.125 m. Pesticides are used if necessary, and growth regulators are never applied.

4.3. Data Analysis

For the calculation of correlations, linear and multiple linear regressions, analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), post hoc analyses (Tukey's HSD test), and graphical outputs, Statistica 14.0 was used (TIBCO Software, Palo Alto, CA, USA). For the calculation of linearplateau and quadratic models, SigmaPlot 14.5 was used (Systat Software Inc., Chicago, Illinios, USA). The analysis of stability was performed using the StabilitySoft software [44].

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, L.H. and E.K.; methodology, E.K. and P.I.; validation, L.H., L.M. and P.B.; formal analysis, L.H. and P.B.; investigation, L.M.; resources, E.K., P.B. and W.G.; data curation, E.K.; writing—original draft preparation, L.H., L.M. and P.B.; writing—review and editing, L.H.; visualization, L.H.; supervision, E.K.; project administration, E.K. and L.M.; funding acquisition, E.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the research plan of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (No. RO0418) and project of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (project No. QK1810010, QK21020155).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We thank our predecessors who founded the long-term experiment and participated in its operation. We also thank all the technicians and laboratory technicians, namely Dana Večeřová, Vlastimil Basař, and Ladislav Málek.

Conflicts of Interest: The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. Nielsen, D.C.; Vigil, M.F. Wheat yield and yield stability of eight dryland crop rotations. Agron. J. 2018, 110, 594–601. [CrossRef]
- Berzsenyi, Z.; Győrffy, B.; Lap, D. Effect of crop rotation and fertilisation on maize and wheat yields and yield stability in a long-term experiment. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2000, 13, 225–244. [CrossRef]
- Rose, T.; Nagler, S.; Kage, H. Yield formation of Central-European winter wheat cultivars on a large scale perspective. *Eur. J.* Agron. 2017, 86, 93–102. [CrossRef]
- Peng, Z.; Wang, L.; Xie, J.; Li, L.; Coulter, J.A.; Zhang, R.; Luo, Z.; Cai, L.; Carberry, P.; Whitbread, A. Conservation tillage increases yield and precipitation use efficiency of wheat on the semi-arid Loess Plateau of China. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2020, 231, 106024. [CrossRef]
- 5. Fisher, R.A. III. The influence of rainfall on the yield of wheat at Rothamsted. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Contain. Pap. Biol. Character.* **1925**, 213, 89–142. [CrossRef]
- 6. Werndl, C. On Defining Climate and Climate Change. Br. J. Philos. Sci. 2016, 67, 337–364. [CrossRef]
- 7. Barrow, E.M. Scenarios of climate change for the European Community. Eur. J. Agron. 1993, 2, 247–260. [CrossRef]
- Butterfield, R.E.; Morison, J.I.L. Modelling the impact of climatic warming on winter cereal development. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 1992, 62, 241–261. [CrossRef]
- 9. Bindi, M.; Castellani, M.; Maracchi, G.; Miglietta, F. The ontogenesis of wheat under scenarios of increased air temperature in Italy: A simulation study. *Eur. J. Agron.* **1993**, *2*, 261–280. [CrossRef]
- Anderson, R.; Bayer, P.E.; Edwards, D. Climate change and the need for agricultural adaptation. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2020, 56, 197–202. [CrossRef]
- 11. Pullens, J.W.M.; Sharif, B.; Trnka, M.; Balek, J.; Semenov, M.A.; Olesen, J.E. Risk factors for European winter oilseed rape production under climate change. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* **2019**, 272–273, 30–39. [CrossRef]
- 12. Olesen, J.E.; Bindi, M. Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2002**, *16*, 239–262. [CrossRef]
- 13. Harkness, C.; Semenov, M.A.; Areal, F.; Senapati, N.; Trnka, M.; Balek, J.; Bishop, J. Adverse weather conditions for UK wheat production under climate change. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* **2020**, *282–283*, 107862. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abd-Elmabod, S.K.; Muñoz-Rojas, M.; Jordán, A.; Anaya-Romero, M.; Phillips, J.D.; Laurence, J.; Zhang, Z.; Pereira, P.; Fleskens, L.; van der Ploeg, M.; et al. Climate change impacts on agricultural suitability and yield reduction in a Mediterranean region. *Geoderma* 2020, 374, 114453. [CrossRef]
- Brázdil, R.; Trnka, M.; Dobrovolný, P.; Chromá, K.; Hlavinka, P.; Žalud, Z. Variability of droughts in the Czech Republic, 1881–2006. Theor. Appl. Climatol. 2009, 97, 297–315. [CrossRef]

- Zahradníček, P.; Trnka, M.; Brázdil, R.; Možný, M.; Štěpánek, P.; Hlavinka, P.; Žalud, Z.; Malý, A.; Semerádová, D.; Dobrovolný, P.; et al. The extreme drought episode of August 2011-May 2012 in the Czech Republic. *Int. J. Climatol.* 2015, 35, 3335–3352. [CrossRef]
- Hlisnikovský, L.; Kunzová, E.; Hejcman, M.; Dvořáček, V. Effect of fertilizer application, soil type, and year on yield and technological parameters of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) in the Czech Republic. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* 2015, 61, 33–53. [CrossRef]
- Le Gouis, J.; Oury, F.X.; Charmet, G. How changes in climate and agricultural practices influenced wheat production in Western Europe. J. Cereal Sci. 2020, 93, 102960. [CrossRef]
- Thai, T.H.; Bellingrath-Kimura, S.D.; Hoffmann, C.; Barkusky, D. Effect of long-term fertiliser regimes and weather on spring barley yields in sandy soil in North-East Germany. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 2020, 66, 1812–1826. [CrossRef]
- Addy, J.W.G.; Ellis, R.H.; Macdonald, A.J.; Semenov, M.A.; Mead, A. Investigating the effects of inter-annual weather variation (1968–2016) on the functional response of cereal grain yield to applied nitrogen, using data from the Rothamsted Long-Term Experiments. Agric. For. Meteorol. 2020, 284, 107898. [CrossRef]
- 21. Macholdt, J.; Styczen, M.E.; Macdonald, A.; Piepho, H.P.; Honermeier, B. Long-term analysis from a cropping system perspective: Yield stability, environmental adaptability, and production risk of winter barley. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2020**, *117*, 126056. [CrossRef]
- 22. Macholdt, J.; Piepho, H.P.; Honermeier, B. Mineral NPK and manure fertilisation affecting the yield stability of winter wheat: Results from a long-term field experiment. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2019**, *102*, 14–22. [CrossRef]
- Hochmuth, G.; Hanlon, E.; Overman, A. Fertilizer Experimentation, Data Analyses, and Interpretation for Developing Fertilization Recommendations: Examples with Vegetable Crop Research. 2017. Available online: https://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/publication/SS548 (accessed on 16 May 2022).
- Zahradníček, P.; Brázdil, R.; Štěpánek, P.; Trnka, M. Reflections of global warming in trends of temperature characteristics in the Czech Republic, 1961–2019. Int. J. Climatol. 2021, 41, 1211–1229. [CrossRef]
- Brázdil, R.; Zahradníček, P.; Dobrovolný, P.; Štěpánek, P.; Trnka, M. Observed changes in precipitation during recent warming: The Czech Republic, 1961–2019. Int. J. Climatol. 2021, 41, 3881–3902. [CrossRef]
- Hejcman, M.; Kunzová, E.; Šrek, P. Sustainability of winter wheat production over 50 years of crop rotation and N, P and K fertilizer application on illimerized luvisol in the Czech Republic. *Field Crop. Res.* 2012, 139, 30–38. [CrossRef]
- Kunzová, E.; Hejcman, M. Yield development of winter wheat over 50 years of FYM, N, P and K fertilizer application on black earth soil in the Czech Republic. *Field Crop. Res.* 2009, 111, 226–234. [CrossRef]
- Hejcman, M.; Kunzová, E. Sustainability of winter wheat production on sandy-loamy Cambisol in the Czech Republic: Results from a long-term fertilizer and crop rotation experiment. *Field Crop. Res.* 2010, 115, 191–199. [CrossRef]
- 29. Austin, R.B. Yield of wheat in the United Kingdom: Recent advances and prospects. Crop Sci. 1999, 39, 1604–1610. [CrossRef]
- Ahrends, H.E.; Siebert, S.; Rezaei, E.E.; Seidel, S.J.; Hüging, H.; Ewert, F.; Döring, T.; Rueda-Ayala, V.; Eugster, W.; Gaiser, T. Nutrient supply affects the yield stability of major European crops A 50 year study. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2020, 16, 014003. [CrossRef]
- Macholdt, J.; Piepho, H.P.; Honermeier, B.; Perryman, S.; Macdonald, A.; Poulton, P. The effects of cropping sequence, fertilization and straw management on the yield stability of winter wheat (1986–2017) in the Broadbalk Wheat Experiment, Rothamsted, UK. J. Agric. Sci. 2020, 158, 65–79. [CrossRef]
- Blanchet, G.; Gavazov, K.; Bragazza, L.; Sinaj, S. Responses of soil properties and crop yields to different inorganic and organic amendments in a Swiss conventional farming system. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2016, 230, 116–126. [CrossRef]
- Maltas, A.; Kebli, H.; Oberholzer, H.R.; Weisskopf, P.; Sinaj, S. The effects of organic and mineral fertilizers on carbon sequestration, soil properties, and crop yields from a long-term field experiment under a Swiss conventional farming system. *Land Degrad. Dev.* 2018, 29, 926–938. [CrossRef]
- Du, Y.; Cui, B.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, Z.; Sun, J.; Niu, W. Effects of manure fertilizer on crop yield and soil properties in China: A meta-analysis. *Catena* 2020, 193, 104617. [CrossRef]
- Hlisnikovský, L.; Meník, L.; Kunzová, E. The development of winter wheat yield and quality under different fertilizer regimes and soil-climatic conditions in the Czech Republic. Agronomy 2020, 10, 1160. [CrossRef]
- 36. Faber, A.; Jarosz, Z.; Rutkowska, A.; Jadczyszyn, T. Reduction of nitrogen losses in winter wheat grown on light soils. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 2337. [CrossRef]
- Tabak, M.; Lepiarczyk, A.; Filipek-Mazur, B.; Lisowska, A. Efficiency of nitrogen fertilization of winter wheat depending on sulfur fertilization. Agronomy 2020, 10, 1304. [CrossRef]
- Liu, L.; Yao, S.; Zhang, H.; Muhammed, A.; Xu, J.; Li, R.; Zhang, D.; Zhang, S.; Yang, X. Soil nitrate nitrogen buffer capacity and environmentally safe nitrogen rate for winter wheat-summer maize cropping in Northern China. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2019, 213, 445–453. [CrossRef]
- Ortuzar-Iragorri, M.A.; Castellón, A.; Alonso, A.; Besga, G.; Estavillo, J.M.; Aizpurua, A. Estimation of optimum nitrogen fertilizer rates in winter wheat in humid Mediterranean conditions, I: Selection of yield and protein response models. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 2010, 41, 2293–2300. [CrossRef]
- Evans, A.E.; Mateo-Sagasta, J.; Qadir, M.; Boelee, E.; Ippolito, A. Agricultural water pollution: Key knowledge gaps and research needs. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 2019, 36, 20–27. [CrossRef]

- Bouwman, L.; Goldewijk, K.K.; Van Der Hoek, K.W.; Beusen, A.H.W.; Van Vuuren, D.P.; Willems, J.; Rufino, M.C.; Stehfest, E. Exploring global changes in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles in agriculture induced by livestock production over the 1900-2050 period. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, 110, 20882–20887. [CrossRef]
- 42. Beck, H.E.; Zimmermann, N.E.; McVicar, T.R.; Vergopolan, N.; Berg, A.; Wood, E.F. Present and future köppen-geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. *Sci. Data* 2018, *5*, 180214. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- FAO. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014. International Soil Classification System for Naming Soils and Creating Legends for soil Maps; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO): Rome, Italy, 2014; ISBN 9789251083697.
- 44. Pour-Aboughadareh, A.; Yousefian, M.; Moradkhani, H.; Poczai, P.; Siddique, K.H.M. STABILITYSOFT: A new online program to calculate parametric and non-parametric stability statistics for crop traits. *Appl. Plant Sci.* 2019, *7*, e01211. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



Article



Does Elemental Sulfur Act as an Effective Measure to Control the Seasonal Growth Dynamics of Potato Tubers (Solanum tuberosum L.)?

Witold Grzebisz^{1,*}, Karolina Frąckowiak², Tomasz Spiżewski³ and Katarzyna Przygocka-Cyna¹

- ¹ Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 28, 60-637 Poznan, Poland; katarzyna.przygocka-cyna@up.poznan.pl
- ² Yara International ASA Drammensveien, 131 0277 Oslo, Norway; karolina.frackowiak@yara.com
- ³ Department of Vegetables Production, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 28,
 - 60-637 Poznań, Poland; tomasz.spizewski@up.poznan.pl
- Correspondence: witold.grzebisz@up.poznan.pl

Abstract: The in-season dynamics of potato tuber biomass (TTB) growth requires effective nitrogen (N) control. This hypothesis was tested in 2006 and 2007. The two-factorial experiment with two rates of N (60, 120 kg ha⁻¹) and sulfur (S; 0, 50 kg ha⁻¹) was carried out in the split-plot design. The third factor was the sampling of plants at 10-day intervals. The collected plant material was divided into leaves, stems, stolons + roots, and tubers. The seasonal trend of TTB was linear, while the biomass of leaves, stems, and stolons + roots was consistent with polynomial regression models. TTB was controlled by (i) the date of potato growth after emergence, when the TTB exceeded the leaf biomass (DAE_{crit}); (ii) the stem growth rate; and iii) the share of stems in the total potato biomass. TTB growth was reduced when DAE_{crit} preceded the DAE_{op} for leaf biomass, determining its maximum. This phenomenon appeared in 2007 on plots fertilized only with N. The absolute growth rate of the stem biomass, exceeding $\frac{1}{4}$ of that of the tuber biomass in the descending phase, resulted in an increased and prolonged share of stems in the total potato biomass, which ultimately led to a decrease in tuber yield. The use of sulfur to balance the N, applied effectively, controlled the growth rate of potato organs competing with tubers.

Keywords: growth dynamics; dry matter partitioning; tuber vs. non-storage organs competition; nitrogen rates; elemental sulfur

1. Introduction

Plant growth depends on the net assimilate production by its photosynthetic tissues, and on their subsequent partitioning between other assimilate-dependent and actively growing tissues [1,2]. The capacity of plant tissues to produce the assimilates is expressed as its source strength, which is a result of the size of the source and its activity. Sink tissues consume the assimilates provided by the plant source mainly for growth. The sink capacity of plant tissues to reuse assimilates is defined as the sink strength, which is determined by the size of the sink and its activity [2].

There is no doubt that potato tubers are a net sink and mature leaves are the pure source organ [3]. The growth continuity of potato organs undergoes change as a result of the transformation of the underground stems, i.e., stolons into tubers. This process, driven by plant hormones, is, however, sensitive to external factors like temperature, soil moisture, and the supply of nutrients [4]. The availability of N to the potato does not affect the number of leaves but increases their surface area [5]. Deficiency in two key growth factors, i.e., water and N, is the main reason for source strength disturbance, which subsequently has a negative effect on the production of assimilates. The in-season variability in the

Citation: Grzebisz, W.; Frackowiak, K.; Spiżewski, T.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Does Elemental Sulfur Act as an Effective Measure to Control the Seasonal Growth Dynamics of Potato Tubers (*Solanum tuberosum* L.)? *Plants* 2022, *11*, 248. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants11030248

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 28 November 2021 Accepted: 13 January 2022 Published: 18 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). quantity of produced assimilates impacts the structure of their subsequent partitioning between plant tissues [6].

An efficient strategy to increase potato yield, as suggested by Katoh et al. [7], consists of two steps. Firstly, the growth processes taking place in the period extending from the early growth stage to the tuber-bulking stage should lead to the intensification of assimilate production in the source tissues. The intensification of the source activity can be achieved as a result of its higher net photosynthetic activity by increasing the leaf surface area. Secondly, the growth processes should be oriented towards increasing the size of the tubers in the early bulking phase. This concept has, however, some weak points. The key target can only be achieved as long as there is an adequate and balanced supply of N [8–10]. The targets of other nutrient applications are to increase both N-use efficiency (NUE) and the rate of assimilates transported to the growing tubers [11,12]. Enhancement of the source activity based only on the N dose may disturb the processes responsible for tuber initiation [4].

Engels and Marschner [13] stated that the final tuber yield depends on the size and growth rate of young tubers. The potential of the juvenile potato tuber for assimilate absorption depends, however, on its N content [14]. The realization of the tuber production potential depends first of all on the supply of potassium (K) [11,15]. Synchrony between the photosynthetic activity of leaves and tuber growth requires at least a good supply of other nutrients, such as K, magnesium (Mg), and phosphorus (P) [1,11,16]. K and Mg are responsible for the transport of assimilates in the photom from the leaves to the enlarging tubers [16,17]. K shortage leads to a tremendous loss of yield, irrespective of the primary N status in young tubers [14].

The N supply to the potato during the growing season can be effectively controlled by a sound use of other agronomic measures. The basic one is regulation of the N dose. It is well-documented that too low an N supply to potatoes in the period of its early growth may result in a reduction of the photosynthetic area of the plants. On the other hand, too high an N rate may disturb plant growth and the processes of potato tuberization [4,18,19]. Another agronomic solution focused on the effective control of the N supply is the use of elementary S (S⁰). It has been well-documented that S⁰ oxidation is mediated by soil bacteria. The end products are a sulfuric ion (SO₄²⁻) and H⁺ [20]. Potatoes require a good supply of S for effective growth and to lower the soil pH, especially in soils with a high pH. In conditions of good S supply, a simultaneous increase in the efficiency of N can also be expected [21,22].

White et al. [6] concluded in an extensive review that crop productivity is driven by growth limitations imposed by the degree of source and sink balance during development. The potato tuber is the pure sink tissue of this crop. All other tissues begin their life cycle as sink organs [7]. Thus, the following key question arises: "Is the tuber sink strength limited by the strength of other potato sinks or vice versa?" Further minor questions are as follows:

- 1. Does the pre-tuberization period of potato growth impact the development of tuber sink strength?
- 2. To what extent and for how long do the temporary sinks limit the tuber sink strength?
- 3. Is it possible to effectively control the sink strength of potato tissues competing with the tubers by agronomic measures?

The objective of the study was to (i) quantify the seasonal growth trends in the biomass of potato organs competing with tubers and (ii) evaluate the impact of elemental sulfur on the in-season relationships between the biomass of potato organs.

2. Results

2.1. In-Season Trends of Tuber Yield Development

The distinctly different annual growth patterns of TTB response to experimental factors were the basis for the analysis of tuber yield growth trends for each study year separately. In 2006, TTB responded significantly to the N \times T interaction, and indeed to T (sampling interval (Table 1, Figure 4a). The general trend of potato tuber yield development during the growing season was as follows:

TTB = 22.49 DAE - 661.2 for
$$R^2$$
 = 0.99, n = 8, and $p \le 0.01$ (1)

Source of Variation	Factor Level	Degree of Free-	Roots and Stolons	Leaves	Stems	Tubers	Total Biomass	Tuber's Har- vest Index	Roots and Stolons	Leaves	Stems	Tubers	Total Biomass	Tuber's Har- vest Index
		dom		1	g m ⁻² DW	r		%			g m ⁻² DW	7		%
					20	006					20	007		
Nitrogen (N) kg ha ⁻¹	60 120	1	48.2 49.3	334.6 312.7	304.9 298.3	910.9 915.5	1385.9 1361.5	48.6 49.1	51.7 56.3	245.8 282.4	414.0 490.1	861.6 721.0	1359.4 1356.6	47.2 39.2
F value and	d significa	ance	2.3 ^{ns}	6.8 **	0.9 ^{ns}	0.1 ^{ns}	2.1 ^{ns}	0.7 ^{ns}	29.3 ***	43.8 ***	29.3 ***	43.8 ***	68.3 ***	94.9 ***
Sulfur (S) kg ha ⁻¹	0 50	1	48.4 49.3	333.3 314.0	302.6 300.6	897.6 914.5	1371.6 1375.8	48.3 49.4	54.7 53.4	263.3 265.4	463.7 440.3	686.8 896.0	1285.3 1430.7	39.8 46.6
F value and	d significa	ance	0.84 ns ‡	5.3 *	0.1 ^{ns}	6.8 **	0.06 ^{ns}	4.5 *	2.3 ^{ns}	0.1 ^{ns}	2.3 ns ‡	0.1 ^{ns}	6.4 **	65.6 ***
Sampling time (T), DAE T value and	15 25 35 45 55 65 75 85 95 105 d significa	9 x 8 y 7 z	17.9 36.1 42.6 63.0 64.9 61.5 60.3 52.2 47.3 41.9 160.0 ***	51.2 187.4 308.6 396.5 452.6 498.6 485.5 349.8 300.4 206.1 117.5 ***	nd [†] 61.9 131.9 247.1 384.7 429.7 456.5 389.5 320.9 292.2 162.3 ***	nd nd 73.4 400.5 604.9 770.2 1027.3 1269.6 1469.0 1686.7 1136.1 ***	69.1 285.4 556.5 1107.0 1507.0 1759.9 2029.6 2061.0 2134,5 2226.9 930.0 ***	nd nd 16.0 23.0 30.8 40.0 46.0 54.9 62.9 72.0 671.2 ***	7.7 49.5 40.2 58.1 62.7 75.0 76.6 68.3 56.3 46.0 222.6 ***	71.4 282.9 388.1 381.6 325.5 280.6 268.6 247.8 204.9 189.8 116.3 ***	nd [†] 210.3 355.6 421.4 493.6 575.6 593.3 555.0 489.3 374.2 222.6 ***	nd nd 158.0 277.4 426.1 645.9 828.4 1087.5 1299.3 1608.0 116.3 ***	79.1 542.6 941.9 1138.5 1307.9 1577.1 1766.9 1958.6 2049.8 2218.1 81.0 ****	nd nd 13.2 35.9 41.0 43.8 50.4 61.9 69.0 75.8 277.7 ***
						Significan	ce of interac	ctions ‡						
N imes S		1	*	***	***	ns	***	***	ns	ns	ns	***	***	***
$N \times T$		9 ^,8 y,7 z	***	ns	***	*	**	*	ns	***	**	ns	ns	ns
$\underset{N\times S\times T}{S\times S\times T}$		9,8,7 _{9,8,7}	*** ***	ns ***	ns ***	ns ns	ns ***	ns ***	***	* ns	** ns	** ns	** ns	ns ns

Table 1. Means of response variables and significance of F values for fixed sources of variation during the potato growth season.

[‡] n^s = Non-significant at $p \le 0.05$; *, **, ***; significant at $p \le 0.05$, 0.01, 0.001,. [†] Non-determined; ^x denotes roots + stolons, leaves, total biomass; ^y stems; ^z tuber dry weight and; ^z also tuber harvest index. Within a column, means followed by same lowercase letter are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$. Letters are not shown for significant main effects that also had a significant interaction effect. [‡] Means comparison for variables having a significant interaction effect are shown in Figures 1–4 or discussed in text. Legend: DAE ¹—Days after Emergence.



Figure 1. Cont.


Figure 1. Seasonal trends of roots and stolons biomass growth. (a) 2006; (b) 2007. * HSD—calculated separately for each year; letters indicate significant differences between treatments (p < 0.05). Legend: S0, S50—sulfur rates of 0 and 50 kg ha⁻¹. Vertical bars represent standard error.



Figure 2. Seasonal trends of leaves biomass growth. (a) 2006; (b) 2007. * HSD—calculated separately for each year; letters indicate significant differences between treatments (p < 0.05). Legend: S0, S50—sulfur rates of 0 and 50 kg ha⁻¹. Vertical bars represent standard error.





Figure 3. Seasonal trends of stems biomass growth. (a) 2006; (b) 2007. * HSD—calculated separately for each year; letters indicate significant differences between treatments (p < 0.05). Legend: S0, S50—sulfur rates of 0 and 50 kg ha⁻¹. Vertical bars represent standard error.

In the 2007 growing season, the increase in TTB depended on the effect of the S × T interaction (Table 1, Figure 4b). A significant and simultaneously progressive increase in TTB was recorded from the 35th DAE. But the variation due to S treatments was revealed from DAE 85. The effect of S assessed only against the background of N fertilization, i.e., for the S0 plot, increased from 56 g m⁻² DW in the 35th DAE to 372 g m⁻² DW at harvest. The observed differences resulted from a significantly different rate of TTB increase in the growing season:

S0: TTB = 18.65 DAE - 618.9, for
$$R^2 = 0.98$$
, $n = 8$, and $p \le 0.01$ (2)

S50: TTB = 22.84DAE - 703, for
$$R^2$$
 = 0.99, n = 8, and $p \le 0.01$ (3)

The growth rate of TTB in the S0 treatment was 18% lower compared to that with added S. The value of the direction coefficient (CD) of the equation developed for the S50 was almost the same as in 2006.



Figure 4. In-season development of the temporary tuber biomass. (a) 2006; (b) 2007. * HSD—calculated separately for each year; letters indicate significant differences between treatments (p < 0.05). Legend: N60, N120—nitrogen rates of 60 and 120 kg ha⁻¹; S0, S50—sulfur rates of 0 and 50 kg ha⁻¹. Vertical bars represent standard error.

2.2. In-Season Trends in Potato Non-Storage Organs Development

Seasonal trends in the growth of the non-storage potato organs are presented only for treatments decisive for the temporary tuber yield. In 2006, the whole period of roots + stolons biomass (RS) growth can be divided into three sub-phases (Figure 1a):

- (1) Progressive, which lasted until the 45th DAE;
- (2) Stagnation, which lasted from the 45th to the 75th DAE;
- (3) Depressive, which started from the 75th DAE and lasted until the potato harvest.

The 2006 growth trend of RS was best described by the quadratic regression model (see Figure A1a for details). The maximum RS of 62.5 g m⁻² was recorded on the 66th DAE. In 2007, the seasonal growth course of these organs changed significantly on the 35th DAE (Figure 1b). In this particular phase, there was a significant decrease in RS biomass compared to its value observed on the 25th DAE. In subsequent stages, the increase in RS was consistent with the quadratic regression model. The regression models presented below do not take into account the data from the 25 DAE:

S0: B-RS =
$$-0.024$$
DAE² + 3.35DAE - 41.9 for $n \ 9$, R² = 0.93, $p \le 0.01$ (4)

S50: B-RS =
$$-0.019DAE^2 + 2.79DAE - 30.4$$
 for $n \ 9$, $R^2 = 0.99$, $p \le 0.01$ (5)

In the ascending phase of RS growth, its main characteristic feature was a much steeper increase in biomass in the S0 variant in relation to the S50 variant. A reverse trend was observed in the descending phase of RS growth. In the case of the S0, the RS maximum of 75 g m⁻² DW was reached on the 70th DAE. For the S50, the net increase in RS of 72 g m⁻² was recorded on the 73rd DAE.

Seasonal growth trends of potato leaf biomass (LE) were completely different in the studied years. In 2006, the increase in LE during the growing season was best reflected by the quadratic regression model (Figure 2a). The progressive increase in LE continued up to the 65th DAE, reaching a maximum of 470 g m⁻² (see Figure A1a for details). In 2007, the seasonal course of LE was best represented by the double-linear model (Figure 2b, and see Figure A1b,c for details). The most important attributes of the models obtained, regardless of the fertilization treatments, are:

- (1) Steep initial rise, peaking just after the 35th DAE;
- A slight decline, after reaching the maximum biomass;
- (3) Significantly less decline on the S50 variant compared to the S0.

The ascending sub-phase of this model was short and steep. The maximum LE for both treatments was recorded on the 30th and 34th DAE and amounted to 407.7 and 393.3 g m⁻² DW for the S0 and the S50, respectively. In contrast, the descending sub-phase of LE growth was long and smooth. A slightly slower rate in LE decline was recorded for the S50 in relation to the S0. During this period, a distinct and much higher biomass was observed in the S50. The observed difference was most pronounced between the 65th DAE and the 85th DAE.

Seasonal growth trends of stems biomass (ST), regardless of the year and applied fertilizers, were consistent with the quadratic regression model. In 2006, a maximum ST of 425.2 g m⁻² DW was recorded on the 75th DAE (Figure 3a). In 2007, the course of the ST was significantly influenced by fertilization. The differences between the sulfur treatments up to the 75th DAE were slight or negligible (Figure 3b). Significant differences resulting from S application were noted during in the descending phase of the stem biomass growth. These differences are reflected in the biomass maxima, and respective DAE optima. In the case of S0, the ST maximum of 590.4 g m⁻² DW was reached in the 74th DAE. The corresponding values for the S50 were 555.1 g m⁻² DW and DAE 76.

2.3. Competition Analysis of Tubers and Non-Storage Potato Organs Growth

The seasonal pattern of TTB growth, in spite of being significantly influenced by weather, was consistent with the linear regression model (Figure 4).

The source–sink relationship between enlarging tubers and competitive organs was analyzed in two distinct ways. The first criterion of the studied competition between potato parts focused on the determination of the critical day of potato vegetation i.e., the DAE_{crit} value. DAE_{crit} defines the potato vegetation period, in which the tuber biomass exceeded that of the competing part of the potato. The presented results refer to treatments, which were found to be decisive for the yields of tubers (Figure 4).

Diagrams of the growth of particular potato organs treated as a function of time (T, DAE) are presented in Figure A1a–c. The models obtained in 2006, as shown earlier in Section 2.2, are best described by the quadratic regression model. DAE_{crit} was the longest

for LE, 10 days shorter for stems and 14 days shorter for roots and stolons (Table 2). DAE_{op}, indicating a period of net growth of potato organs competing with tubers, appeared for all potato organs at almost the same time, i.e., around the 66th DAE. The values of the next index, i.e., DAE_{diff} were the longest for RS and the shortest for LE. In 2007, the DAE_{crit} indices showed clearly different trends compared to 2006. First, the DAE_{crit} values for LE appeared much earlier than in 2006. Secondly, they appeared, regardless of S fertilization, after the leaves reached the maximum biomass, i.e., DAE_{op}. As a consequence, DAE_{diff} showed a negative value, especially in the S0 treatment, which preceded the DAE_{op} by 10 days. In the case of the S50, the DAE_{diff} was also negative, but it was approaching zero. It should be emphasized that both indices, i.e., DAE_{op}, and especially DAE_{crit} for the S0 was longer by three, and for the S50 by two weeks. In the case of DAE_{op}, these differences were 7.3 and 4.1 days, respectively.

Plant Part	DAEop	DAEcrit	DAE _{diff}	B_{max} , g m ⁻² DW
		2006		
Roots + stolons, RS	66.1	33.0	33.1	63.4
Leaves, LE	64.7	47.2	17.5	470.4
Stems, ST	66.4	37.4	29.0	422.2
		2007, S0		
Roots + stolons, RS	67.9	31.8	36.1	74.5
Leaves, LE	41.7	51.9	-10.2	403.3
Stems, ST	73.7	58.6	15.1	590.4
		2007, S50		
Roots + stolons, RS	70.5	27.0	43.5	70.0
Leaves, LE	46.0	46.4	-0.4	394.5
Stems, ST	70.3	51.5	18.8	551.2

Table 2. Indices describing competition between growth of tubers and non-storage organs.

Legend: DAE_{op} —the optimum day for the maximum biomass of potato organs (B_{max}) competing with tubers; DAE_{crit} —DAE at which biomass of tubers exceeded biomass of a particular non-storage potato organ; $DAE_{diff} = DAE_{op} - DAE_{crit}$.

The second criterion for assessing internal competition between the growing organs of the potato was the analysis of the source–sink relationship. In the performed allometric analysis, the potato tuber was treated as a pure sink of assimilates, and the potato's non-storage organs as their source for the growing tubers. The basic parameters of the solved regression models were (i) optimal, i.e., temporary tuber biomass (TTB_{crit}), and (ii) the corresponding, maximum biomass of the competing potato part (B_{max}). The intersection of these two regression equations determined the TTB_{crit} value. The slope of the obtained linear models was used as the competition index (CI) between the tuber growth rate and the growth rate of the remaining potato organs (Table 3). In 2006, the values of the CI indices for potato organs competing with tubers were as follows:

1. Ascending phase: 0.04 (RS) < 0.27 (LE) < 0.45 (ST, g g⁻¹ tuber DW);

2. Descending phase: -0.41 (LE) < -0.26 (ST) < -0.03 (RS g g⁻¹ tuber DW).

An analysis of the 2006 dataset clearly highlights that the stems and leaves were the most unstable part of the potato in response to the seasonal dynamics of tuber growth (Figure 5a). The stems showed the highest growth dynamics, i.e., a considerable increase in their own biomass per unit of tuber biomass in the ascending phase, and a mild decrease in the descending phase. The reverse pattern was noted for leaves.

Ascending Phase	Descending Phase	TTB _{crit} , g m ⁻² DW	B_{max} g m ⁻² DW				
2006							
B-RS = 0.044 TUY + 41.1	B-RS = -0.03 TUY + 88.1	652.8	69.8				
$n = 3$, $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.90$, $p \le 0.05$	$n = 4, \mathbb{R}^2 = 0.99, p \le 0.01$	032.0	09.0				
B-LE = 0.27 TUY + 288.1	B-LE = -0.041 TUY + 894	888.4	529.7				
$n = 4, R^2 = 0.99, p \le 0.01$	$n = 4, R^2 = 0.98, p \le 0.01$						
B-ST = 0.45 TUY + 91.9	B-ST = -0.26 TUY + 716.4	883.3	486.7				
$n = 4, R^2 = 0.90, p \le 0.05$	$n = 4, R^2 = 0.97, p \le 0.01$	50					
$B_{-}RS = 0.067 \text{ TUV} \pm 36.7$	$B_{\rm r}RS = -0.06 \text{ TUV} \pm 127.6$	30					
$n = 5 R^2 = 0.94 n < 0.01$	$n = 3 R^2 = 0.00 R C 1 + 127.0$	693.9	85.3				
$n = 0, R = 0.04, p \le 0.01$	B-LE = -0.13 TUY + 362.3						
Stagnation, (DAE 35 + 45)	$n = 6$, $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.96$, $p < 0.01$	-	383.2				
B-ST = 0.48 TUY + 300.7	B-ST = -0.45 TUY + 1029.2	700.4					
$n = 5, \mathbb{R}^2 = 0.96, p \le 0.01$	$n = 3, \mathbb{R}^2 = 0.99, p \le 0.01$	788.4	676.0				
207, S50							
B-RS = 0.06 TUY + 29.9	B-RS = -0.023 TUY + 91.4	741.0	74 4				
$n = 4, \mathbb{R}^2 = 0.86, p \le 0.05$	$n = 4, R^2 = 0.97, p \le 0.01$	71110	7111				
Stagnation, (DAE 35 + 45)	B-LE = -0.13 TUY + 400.6	-	383.2				
	$n = 8, R^2 = 0.94, p \le 0.01$						
$B-51 = 0.38 \ 10Y + 303.4$	$B-51 = -0.23 \ 10Y + 776.4$	778.0	599.8				
$n = 4, K = 0.99, p \le 0.01$	$n = 4$, $K = 0.98$, $p \le 0.01$						

Table 3. Indices describing competition between growth of tubers and competitive organs.

Legend: B—biomass, RS—roots and stolons, LE—leaves, ST—stems, TU—tubers, TUY—tuber yield; TTB_{crit}—critical temporary tuber biomass, B_{max} —maximum biomass of the competing potato part.

For 2007, the CI indices are presented for the main treatments (Figure 5b,c): S0:

- 1. S0
 - a. Ascending phase: 0.07 (RS) < 0.48 (ST, g g^{-1} tuber DW);
 - b. Descending phase: -0.45 (ST) < -0.13 (LE) < -0.06 (RS g g⁻¹ tuber DW).
- 2. S50:
 - a. Ascending phase: $0.07 (RS) < 0.48 (ST, g g^{-1} tuber DW);$
 - b. Descending phase: -0.45 (ST) < -0.13 (LE) < -0.06 (RS g g⁻¹ tuber DW).



Figure 5. Cont.



Figure 5. Sink–source relationships between the growth of tuber biomass and growth of competitive organs. (a) 2006; (b) 2007-S0; (c) 2007-S50. Legend: RS—roots and stolons, LE—leaves, ST—stems, TU—tubers; B-STa—ascending phase; B-STd—descending phase.

In 2007, the most distinct seasonal trends in biomass development were observed for leaves. The stagnation phase was revealed in the early stages of tuber growth. In the case of the plot fertilized only with N (the S0 plot), this phase extended from the 35th to the 55th DAE. For the S50 variant a slightly shorter lag-phase was observed. In subsequent stages of potato growth, the leaf biomass showed a mild decline, lasting until harvest (Figure 5b). In the main sulfur-fertilized plot (S50), the descending LE phase began as early as on the 45th DAE, showing a mild decline towards maturity (Figure 5c). The stems showed markedly different growth trends in response to S application. In the S0 plot, the ST growth rate in both stages was both the highest and the most long-lasting. In the main plot with N + S addition, the ST growth rate in the ascending phase was only slightly lower than in the S0 variant, but the rate of decline in the descending phase was twice as low.

2.4. The In-Season Growth and Partitioning of Total Dry Matter

The seasonal growth trends in total potato biomass were variable in response to experimental factors. In 2006, significant and, at the same time, stable differences between fertilization treatments appeared at the earliest on the 75th DAE and persisted until harvest. Considerably higher potato biomass (B) was recorded in the N60S50 and N120S0 plots (Figure S1a). The trends obtained generally best fit the quadratic regression model. However, DAE_{op} during the growing season, as recorded on the 102nd DAE, was only achieved for the N60S0 plot. In the case of other treatments, DAE_{op} appeared after the harvest. Despite the seasonal variability of B, the tuber yield was independent from the experimental factors (Figure 4a). In 2006, the increase in B during the growing season, calculated on the basis of averaged data, was consistent with the quadratic regression model (Figure S2a):

$$B = -0.245DAE^{2} + 55.5DAE - 867.6 \text{ for } n = 10, R^{2} = 0.98 \text{ and } p \le 0.01$$
(6)

The obtained trend clearly indicates that the theoretical increase in potato biomass in 2006 was longer than the date on which the potatoes were harvested. The optimal harvest date, as indicated by the DAE_{op} , would be reached on the 113th DAE.

In 2007, the increase in B during the growing season was variable, but significantly driven by the S \times T interaction (Figures S1b,c and S2b,c). Generally, the linear trend best describes the in-season increase in Bs:

S0: B = 20.8 DAE + 37.4 for
$$n = 19$$
, R² = 0.95, $p \le 0.01$ (7)

S50: B = 24.1 DAE + 15.1 for
$$n = 19$$
, R² = 0.97, $p \le 0.01$ (8)

The obtained models clearly show that the in-season growth of B on the sulfurfertilized plot was 16% faster than on plots with N only. The differences, first observed on the 25th DAE, persisted until harvest. Significant differences between the two treatments did not become significant until the 55th DAE. Greater B in the plots treated with S was recorded in the final stages of potato yield development. As a result, the yield of tubers at harvest was 26% higher on the plots fertilized with sulfur compared to those fertilized only with N.

In both study years, regardless of the course of the weather, the value of the potato harvest index PHI increased progressively in the growing season (Table 1). The in-season trend of PHI, regardless of the year and fertilization treatments, was consistent with the linear regression model and was significant only for the observation (T):

2006: PHI = 0.8 DAE - 7.28 for
$$n = 8$$
, $R^2 = 0.95$, $p \le 0.01$ (9)

2007: PHI = 0.8 DAE
$$-$$
 12.6 for $n = 8$, $R^2 = 0.99$, $p \le 0.01$ (10)

The main difference between the two equations is the constant, which was much lower in 2007. The difference between the years began directly at DAE 35, reaching the highest values in the tuber bulking phase (from 45 to 55 DAE). In 2006, PHI in this particular period was more than 10% higher than in 2007. Final PHI in 2006 reached 76% and in 2007 it was 72% (Figure S3).

The seasonal structure of the dry matter partition between potato organs is shown in Figure S3. For each part of the potato competing with tubers, a seasonal downward trend in the share of biomass during the growing season was observed. The relative share of roots + stolons in the B decreased according to the power function in 2006, and linearly in 2007. The seasonal trend in leaf biomass in the B, regardless of the year and fertilization treatments, corresponded best to the power function. Much more diverse patterns were observed for the stem biomass, which was best described by the quadratic regression model (Figure 6). The differences between the years refer to:

- (1) Share of the stem biomass in the B in the early stages of tuber growth;
- (2) The length of the stability period of stem biomass share.



Figure 6. Seasonal trend in the relative share of stem biomass in the total potato biomass. Legend: N60, N120—nitrogen rates of 60 and 120 kg ha⁻¹; S0, S50—sulfur rates of 0 and 50 kg ha⁻¹.

In 2006, the percentage of stems in total potato biomass ranged from 22% on DAE 25 to a maximum of 26% on DAE 55. At harvest, it declined to 13%. In 2007, the initial share of stems in DAE 25 was 38%. The application of sulfur significantly influenced the general trend of stems contribution in the total potato biomass. Their share on the S0 plot showed a significant increase, reaching 41% on the 55th DAE, while on the S50 plot it decreased smoothly from DAE 35. The stabilization phase, assuming a 4% difference between consecutive observations was 50 days in 2006, while in 2007 it reached 60 days for the S0, and 50 days for the S50.

3. Discussion

3.1. Tuber Yields and Seasonal Trends of Potato Tubers Growth

The in-season development of the potato tuber yield is a function of the weather conditions during the growing season and the supply of nutrients [12,14]. Our study confirmed this opinion, but only partially. In this particular case, the final yield of tubers, however, was not dependent on the course of the weather, even though the weather conditions were completely different. Under climatological conditions in Poland, the highest tuber yield can be obtained provided there is medium precipitation in May (45 mm) and June (65 mm), and high precipitation in July (90 mm) and August (75 mm) [23]. The environmental conditions, evaluated based on the Sielianinov hydrothermal indices, indicated a severe drought in 2006 (0.58), and optimal weather conditions in 2007 (1.34) [24]. The final tuber biomass averaged for experimental treatments, was 1687 g m⁻² DW in 2006 and 1608 g m⁻² DW in 2007. The biomass of tubers recalculated into fresh weight was 84.3 t ha⁻¹ (20% DM content) in 2006, and 86.6 t ha⁻¹ (18.5% DM content) in 2007. Tuber yields at this level under natural precipitation are possible, but only if the soil is very fertile [25]. In the dry 2006, regardless of the N rate, which was 60 and 120 kg ha⁻¹, the tuber yield was at the same level. The lack of response by the potatoes to N doses indicates a high mineralization potential of the soil to supply the plants with N in the phases of intensive tuber growth [3,26]. A positive impact of S^0 on tuber biomass was found each year, but it was significant only in the optimal 2007 (Figure 4b). At harvest, the average biomass of potato tubers on the main plot fertilized only with N was lower by 21% than that receiving sulfur at the rate of 50 kg ha $^{-1}$. The significant increase in the tuber yield due to S fertilizer can be partly explained by the content of its available form in the soil prior to planting the potatoes. The data obtained support the results of other studies, but

the effect of S in our study was more striking [27,28]. On the basis of the tuber yield, it can be stated that S is an effective yield-forming factor for potatoes.

The seasonal pattern of potato tuber yield growth, confirming the physiological maturity of tubers, should meet the conditions of the quadratic or any sigmoidal regression model [14]. In our study, the seasonal trends in tuber biomass growth were only seemingly consistent with the quadratic regression model in 2006, and the linear regression model in 2007. In 2006, the DAE_{op} for B appeared shortly after the harvest date, indirectly indicating the slightly immature status of harvested tubers. The linear model obtained in 2007 is a direct indicator of the immature physiological status of potato plants at harvest [29].

The general, linear trend of tuber yield increase during the growing season is consistent with the theory, indicating a dependence of the crop yield on the source–sink relationship during the growing season [30,31]. On the basis of the linear growth pattern of potato biomass, it can be concluded that under favorable environmental and soil conditions for the potato, tuber yield is determined by the sink strength. This means that tuber activity in the studied case was the yield driver that affected the source activity. This type of seasonal tuber yield growth suggests, however, that the yielding potential of the tubers, i.e., their sink capacity for assimilates, was not realized in the studied case [14].

3.2. Growth Competition between the Tuber and Non-Storage Potato Organs

In the classical approach to the source–sink relationship, the strength of the physiological sink depends on the source activity [2]. This hypothesis was verified during this study. The yield of potato tubers can be evaluated as a result of the relationships between the seasonal growth rate of tubers and the growth rate of other potato organs, which compete with tubers for assimilates. The set of competitive potato organs includes leaves, steams, stolons, and true roots [7]. The obtained linear model of tuber growth during the growing season, regardless of weather conditions, clearly indicates that the enlarging tubers act as a pure physiological sink (Figure 4).

The source-sink relationships in potatoes require recognition of the state of its organs' biomass, in response to tuber initiation. As it results from the analysis of the dynamics of the growth of potato organs, the impact of tuber initiation on the source growth depended on the course of the weather during the pre-tuberization stages of potato growth. The growth habit of vines in response to weather in both years was different. The pattern of leaf growth was governed up to early tuber bulking by temperature. In 2006, leaves stopped growing on the 66th DAE, whereas in 2007, it was 18 days earlier (48th DAE). The main reason for the observed differences was the temperatures in July. In 2006, air temperature exceeded 25 °C, but in 2007, it was below 20 °C. Under relatively low temperature the numbers of branches and leaves associated with them are lower. The change point is 25 °C, which results in the appearance of long stems, but with smaller leaves [32]. The tuber sink strength, defined by its initial weight at the beginning of the bulking phase, determines its requirements for assimilates in the subsequent stages of growth [13]. In potatoes, leaves are a pure physiological source of assimilates, which also act as a temporary sink, using a part of the fixed CO_2 to build their own biomass [7,33]. Other vegetative organs that compete with the enlarging tubers can also be regarded as temporary sinks. The critical value of the temporary tuber biomass (TTB_{crit}) was used as a criterion for evaluating the in-season competition between enlarging tubers and the growth rate of other potato organs. TTB_{crit} defines the critical growth rate of the TTB required to break down the dominance of the potato organs that compete with tubers for assimilates. The TTB_{crit} cannot be treated as a single point. It can be considered as a period of a different length, in which the growth rate of tubers and the competitive organ are temporarily balanced. Based on TTB_{crit}, the entire growth period of potato vegetative parts competing with the growing tubers can be divided into three sub-phases:

- (1) Ascending, having the status of a temporary sink;
- (2) Stagnating, which is a transition stage between the sink and a pure source phase;
- (3) Descending, having the status of a pure source.

The property of the first period is a net gain in the biomass of all potato organs. This state indicates a lack of competition between the potato organs for assimilates. The descending growth phase of potato organs competing with tubers is the period of pure remobilization of dry matter from each potato organ into enlarging tubers.

In both years, the growth of potato organs competitive with tubers did not change the linear pattern of tuber yield increments during the growing season (Figure 4). The tuber sink strength can therefore be considered as the factor forcing both the size of the pure source, i.e., leaf biomass, and the biomass of other temporary sink organs. These facts absolutely support the hypothesis by Körner [30,31], suggesting the primacy of the net sink over the net source.

The observed relationships cannot be explained without taking into account the course of weather and experimental factors. As reported by Li et al. [3], the in-season C reallocation is to some extent, modified by environmental and agronomic factors. In our case, in the dry 2006, the relationship between the biomass of tubers and leaves during the growing season was described by the quadratic regression model. In 2007, the seasonal trend in leaf biomass showed a completely different pattern. As a rule, leaf biomass decreased from the beginning of tuber enlargement. The degree of the LE decline, supported by values of the direction coefficient, was steeper on the plot fertilized only with N. This type of LE trend can be explained by the accelerated rate of leaf dry matter remobilization due to the progressively increasing pressure of the enlarging tubers [14]. Potato plants fertilized with S showed a much slower depression of LE biomass in the descending phase of this organ development. As a consequence, the final tuber yield on plots fertilized with both N and S was 26% higher. The obtained final result of the tuber yield not only confirms, but also explains the reason for the high response of the potato to the application of sulfur [27,28].

The production functions of leaves in potatoes can be explained by analyzing the seasonal trends of LE. They are described by indicators such as DAE_{crit} and DAE_{op} . It should be strongly emphasized that the DAE_{crit} for LE in 2006 appeared long before the DAE_{op} , but in 2007 it was much later. In this particular year, the difference between both indices, expressed as DAE_{diff} , was negative. The difference obtained clearly indicates that tuber biomass exceeded that of leaf biomass before it reached its maximum. Thus, in full potato vegetation, DAE_{crit} for LE can be treated an important indicator of the final tuber yield:

$$TBU = -63.8D_{crit} + 4728 \text{ for } n = 3, R^2 = 0.98, \text{ and } p \le 0.01$$
(11)

The equation obtained confirms the occurrence of competition for assimilates between leaves and progressively growing tubers. This type of relationship between the growth of leaves and tubers stresses the often-discussed fact of the excessive growth of leaves as a factor disturbing the growth of tubers [33]. In our study, the observed competition revealed itself under a certain set of environmental and agronomic conditions, i.e.:

- (1) In a year of favorable growth conditions for potatoes at the beginning of vegetation;
- (2) On soils with high natural fertility (high content of humus and available nutrients);
- (3) Under a good supply of nitrogen, including its applied dose.

In agronomic practice, these conditions are frequently observed under irrigation [34]. Our study showed that the application of 50 kg S ha⁻¹ in the form of elemental sulfur resulted in significant DAE_{crit} shortening. As a result, the final tuber yield in the N + S variant approached the maximum value in the studied case.

The missing information in tuber yield development with respect to the in-season competition between tubers and non-storage potato organs mainly refers to the production function of the stems. This potato tissue, as a temporary sink, is rich in proteins, carbohydrates, and mineral nutrients [32,35]. The growth rate of the stem biomass in the ascending phase was far below 1.0, which only seemingly stresses the lack of competition for assimilates with tubers. In both years, the stem growth rate in the ascending phase was sufficiently high, but did not exceed +0.45 g g⁻¹ of tuber DW. In the descending phase, it was significantly affected by year and fertilization treatments. In 2006 for all treatments

and in 2007 for treatments with S, this parameter was almost similar, varying from -0.26 to -0.23 g g⁻¹ tuber DW. In 2007, this parameter on plots fertilized only with N was -0.45 g g⁻¹ of tuber DW. A much lower rate of stem biomass decrease on plots fertilized with S, concomitant with a higher tuber yield, suggests that the stems act as an assimilate buffer for the growing tubers. The quadratic regression model of the relationship between tubers and stems growth, dominating in all treatments, indicates the presence of the stagnation period in the main phase of tuber bulking, which stabilized tuber growth (Figure 5). The buffer function of stems was also corroborated by their share in the total tuber biomass (Figure 6). The rate of stem growth was significantly modified by application of elemental S. The observed response of the stem biomass to environmental factors and agronomic measures corroborates the hypothesis of stem plasticity to the growing conditions [36]. This specific function of the potato stem largely explains the increase in tuber yield in response to S application [25,26].

White et al. [6] concluded that the increase in crop productivity requires a quantitative definition of the extent to which sources or sinks limit crop plant growth, and this changes during development. The quantitative relationships between the potato organs during the growing season are much more complex than is often assumed in even very sophisticated models of potato growth and yielding [3,8]. Our study provided not only a few sets of basic data on seasonal trends in the biomass of roots + stolons, leaves, stems, and finally tubers, but also showed allometric relationships between tubers and non-storage potato organs.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Experimental Site

A field experiment was carried out at Kicin (52°46′ N, 17°02′ E, Poland) on soil originating from a silty clay loam classified as Chernozems loamic [36]. The content of organic (C_{org}) in a 0.0–0.3 m layer was 33 ± 0.9 and 27 ± 0.1 g kg⁻¹ soil (loss-on ignition); pH was 6.6 and 7.0 (1.0 M KCl) in 2006 and 2007, respectively. The content of available nutrients, measured before the application of fertilizers, was very high for P (305 ± 71 and 267 ± 28); medium and low for K (253 ± 117 and 160 ± 13); low for Mg (117 ± 14 and 106 ± 39); low for Ca (1605 ± 137 and 1678 ± 618) mg kg⁻¹ soil for 2006 and 2007, respectively (Mehlich 3 method) [37,38]. The amount of the mineral N (N_{min}), measured in a 0.0–0.6 m layer, was 60 ± 6 and 83 ± 11kg ha⁻¹ in 2006 and 2007, respectively [39]. The amount of available sulfur (S-SO₄) was 10.3 ± 2.4 and 7.4 ± 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil, in 2006 and 2007, respectively [40].

4.2. Weather Conditions

The in-season differences in potato biomass resulted from the course of the weather in the early stages of plant growth. In both years, the average monthly temperatures were higher than the long-term averages (1965–2007; 14.6 °C in May, +0.6 °C and +2.0 °C; June, 17.7 °C, +3.3 °C and +3.7 °C, in 2006 and 2007, respectively). July 2006 (20.1 °C) was extremely hot (+5.6 °C), and in 2007 it was much cooler (-0.5 °C). The total amount of precipitation in 2006 and 2007 for these three months amounted to 108 mm and 233 mm, respectively. The growth conditions evaluated on the basis of Sielianinov hydrothermal indices were significantly worse in 2006 (0.58, severe drought), compared to 2007 (1.34, optimal) [29]. The shortage of precipitation in 2006, due to the high content of soil water and nutrient resources at the time of potato planting did not disturb the development of potato biomass. The growth conditions in 2006 were significantly improved due to extremely high precipitation in August (150 mm).

4.3. Treatments and Crop Management

The field experiment was arranged as a two-factorial split-plot design, replicated 8-folds:

- 1. N rate (acronym N): 60 and 120 kg N ha⁻¹;
- 2. Sulfur: without S (S0), with sulfur (S50);

 Periodic sampling of potato plants during the potato growing season was used as a third experimental factor [40].

Nitrogen in the form of urea was applied in accordance with the experimental design in the whole rate prior to potato planting. Phosphorus at a rate of 25.8 kg P ha⁻¹ as triple superphosphate (46% P₂O₅); K at a rate of 99.6 kg K ha⁻¹ as muriate of potash (KCl); and sulfur as elemental sulfur (S⁰) at a rate of 0, and 50 kg ha⁻¹ were applied together with N two weeks before potato planting. The total area of a single plot was 58.5 m² (13 × 6 m) The potato variety *Zeus* was planted on the 24 April 2006 and 19 April 2007, respectively. The preceding crop to potato was spring barley. The post-barley agronomic operations for potato planting in the spring of the following year were aimed at reducing water losses and weed growth. To achieve this goal, the soil was harrowed several times after plowing. A total of 53,000 potato tubers were planted in 0.75 m rows and at 0.25 m distance within a row. Plant protection was carried out in accordance with the code of good practice. The tubers were harvested mechanically 105 days after emergence from an area of 19.5 m² (13 × 1.5 m).

4.4. Plant Material Sampling and Analysis

The plant material used for dry matter determination was collected from 8 plants $(1.0 \times 1.5 \text{ m} = 1.5 \text{ m}^2)$ per plot. Periodic sampling was performed at 10-day intervals, starting on the 15th day after full emergence until maturity (Days After Emergence, DAE): 15, 25, 35, 45, 55, 65, 75, 85, 95, and 105. Samples were taken from the soil to a depth of 30 cm from the top of the ridge. The sampled material was then divided, depending on the potato stage of growth, into subsamples of leaves (LE), above-ground stems (ST), stolon + roots (RS), and tubers (TU). The results are expressed on a dry weight basis.

4.5. Calculated Parameters

4.5.1. Growth Pattern of Potato Organs

The general pattern of the in-season potato biomass development (RS, LE, ST, total biomass—B, temporary tuber biomass—TTB) was obtained after fitting the actual results to polynomial regression models:

$$Linear: TTB = aDAE + B$$
(12)

$$Quadratic: TTB = aDAE^2 + bDAE + C$$
(13)

The main estimated parameters of this function are:

$$DAE_{op} = -\frac{b}{2a}$$
(14)

$$TTB_{max} = c - \frac{b^2}{4a}$$
(15)

where: TTB—temporary tuber biomass, g m⁻² DW; B_{max}—maximum biomass of a particular potato organ, g m⁻² DW; DAE—Days After Emergence; DAE_{op}—the optimum DAE; a, b, c, d—regression constants.

4.5.2. Critical Day of Tubers Growth-DAEcritt

Critical day of tuber growth was calculated by solving three pairs of corresponding equations, describing the seasonal growth trends of the biomass of potato organs:

TU vs. RS, b. TU vs. LE, c. TU vs. ST.

4.5.3. Competition Indices

Competition indices were calculated on the basis of the appropriate pair of linear equations, describing the ascending and descending trend in biomass growth of potato organs competing with tubers. Based on the obtained linear models, the following set of parameters was calculated for each potato organ:

- CI index—the competition index, i.e., the growth rate of a specific potato organ per unit of tuber biomass. This parameter is equal to the value of the slope of the obtained linear equation (CD), g g⁻¹ tuber;
- TTB_{opt}—optimal value of the temporary tuber biomass for the maximum biomass of the competing potato organ, g m⁻² DW;
- B_{max}—maximum biomass of the potato organ competing with the tubers, g m⁻² DW. The general concept of the analysis of competitive relations was divided into two steps:
- a. Ascending sub-phase: $B_{as} = a_{as}TU + b_{as}$;
- b. Descending sub-phase: $B_d = -a_{ds}TU + b_{ds}$.

4.6. Data Analysis

The collected data were subjected to an analysis of variance using STATISTICA[®] 13 (StatSoft, Inc., Krakow, Poland 2013). Experimental factors, i.e., N and S rates, including observations (T) were treated as fixed effects [41]. The influence of the year was analyzed independently in order to assess the seasonal variability of examined potato traits on the experimental factors. The distribution of the data (normality) was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test. The homogeneity of variance was checked by the Bartlett test. Means were separated by honest significant difference (HSD) using Tukey's method, when the *F*-test indicated significant factorial effects at the level of *p* < 0.05. Polynomial effects were used to determine (i) linear and/or quadratic growth trends of potato organ biomass, (ii) growth rates of potato organs during the season.

5. Conclusions

The potato growth pattern coded at the onset of tuberization was a decisive factor for the dry matter partitioning between the potato organs during the subsequent tuber growth phase. The tuber sink strength, expressed as a linear increment of tuber biomass in the growing season, was a key driver influencing the seasonal growth patterns of potato organs, such as leaves, stems, and roots and stolons, which competed with tubers for assimilates. Two indicators have been developed to explain the relationship between growing tubers and potato organs competing for assimilates during the growing season. The first, DAE_{crit}, defined as DAE, at which the tuber biomass exceeds that of the competing potato organ. It can be concluded that under particular growing conditions, when DAE_{crit} precedes the maximum leaf biomass, the tuber yield decreases. This phenomenon occurred when the potatoes were fertilized only with N. Sulfur fertilization was a remedy for the negative effects of nitrogen applied alone. The second index, the competition index (CI), has proven to be a reliable indicator of the seasonal evaluation of the tuber growth rate and competitive potato organs. Its prognostics value was especially revealed in the descending phase of stem growth. It can be concluded that the absolute rate of stem biomass decrease above $\frac{1}{4}$ of the tuber growth rate reduces the tuber yield.

The tuber yield-forming effect of added sulfur results from a balanced growth of stems during the ascending and the descending phase. The stabilizing action of sulfur resulted in a smooth change of the stem biomass during the descending phase. As a consequence, there was a significant reduction in the value of the CI compared to the effect of nitrogen applied alone (-0.23 g g⁻¹ DW vs. -0.45 g g⁻¹ DW for the S50 to S0 plots, respectively). Lower values of this index, both in the ascending and descending phase of the seasonal growth rate of stem biomass, resulted in a higher yield of tubers. Potato stems can be, therefore, treated as a tuber yield stabilizer, buffering the transfer of assimilates from leaves to the enlarging tubers.

This study clearly showed that allometric relationships between tubers and nonstorage potato organs growth during the potato growing season are key factors determining the final tuber yield. The use of elemental S significantly modifies the yield-forming effect of nitrogen, leading to a higher yield of tubers. **Supplementary Materials:** The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/plants11030248/s1, Trends in the biomass of potato organs increase during the growing season, Figure S1. Seasonal trends of potato biomass growth. (a) 2006; (b) 2007, Figure S2. Trends in the potato biomass increase and partitioning between organs, Figure S3. Seasonal variability in the relative share of potato organs in the total biomass.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.F. and W.G.; methodology, K.F. and W.G.; software, T.S.; validation, K.F., W.G., and K.P.-C.; formal analysis, T.S.; investigation, K.F.; resources, K.F. and K.P.-C.; data curation, K.F.; writing—original draft preparation, K.F.; writing—review and editing, W.G.; visualization, T.S.; supervision, W.G.; project administration, K.P.-C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This publication was co-financed within the framework of Ministry of Science and Higher Education programme as Regional Initiative Excellence" in years 2019–2022. Project No. 005/RID/2018/19.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to the private property of Karolina Frackowiak.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.







Figure A1. Cont.



Figure A1. Trends in the biomass of potato organs increase during the growing season. (a) 2006; (b) 2007-S0; (c) 2007-S50. Legend: RS—roots and stolons, LE—leaves, ST—stems, TU—tubers; S0, 50—sulfur rates of 0, 50 kg ha⁻¹; B-STa—ascending phase; B-STd—descending phase.

References

- Lemoine, R.; La Camera, S.; Atanassova, R.; Dedaldechamp, F.; Allario, T.; Pourtau, N.; Bonnemain, J.-L.; Laloi, M.; Coutos-Thevenot, P.; Maurousset, L.; et al. Source-to-sink transport of sugars and regulation by environmental factors. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2013, 24, 272. [CrossRef]
- Smith, M.R.; Rao, I.M.; Merchant, A. Source-sink relationships in crop plants and their influence on yield development and nutritional quality. Front. Plant Sci. 2018, 9, 1889. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Li, W.; Xiong, B.; Wang, S.; Deng, X.; Yin, L.; Li, H. Regulation effects of water and nitrogen on the source-sink relationship in potato during the tuber bulking stage. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0146877. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Jackson, S.D. Multiple signaling pathway control tuber induction in potato. Plant Physiol. 1999, 119, 1–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Da Silva Oliveira, C.A. Potato crop growth as affected by nitrogen and plant density. Pesq. Agropec. Bras. Brasilia 2000, 35, 939–950.
- White, A.C.; Rogers, A.; Rees, M.; Osborne, C.P. How can we make plants grow faster? A source-sink perspective on growth rate. J. Exp. Bot. 2016, 67, 31–45. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Katoh, A.; Ashida, H.; Kasajima, I.; Shigeoka, S.; Yokota, A. Potato yield enhancement through intensification of sink and source performances. *Breed Sci.* 2015, 65, 77–85. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gayler, S.E.; Wang, E.; Priesack, T.; Schaaf, T.; Maidl, F.X. Modelling biomass growth, N-uptake and phenological development of potato crop. *Geoderma* 2002, 105, 367–383. [CrossRef]
- 9. Oparka, K.J.; Davies, H.V.; Prior, D.A.M. The influence of applied nitrogen on export and partitioning of current assimilate by field grown potato plants. *Ann. Bot.* **1987**, *59*, 211–323. [CrossRef]
- Tan, X.L.; Guo, T.W.; Song, S.Y.; Zhang, P.L.; Zhang, X.C.; Zhao, C. Balanced fertilizer management strategy enhances potato yield and marketing quality. Agron. J. 2016, 108, 2235–2244. [CrossRef]
- 11. Grzebisz, W.; Čermák, P.; Rroco, E.; Szczepaniak, W.; Potarzycki, J. Potassium impact on nitrogen use efficiency in potato—A case study from the Central-East Europe. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2017**, 63, 422–427.
- 12. Koch, M.; Naumann, M.; Pawelzik, E.; Gransee, A.; Thiel, E. The importance of nutrient management for potato production. Part I: Plant Nutrition and yield. *Potato Res.* 2020, 63, 97–119. [CrossRef]
- Engels, C.; Marschner, H. Allocation of photosynthate to individual tubers of *Solanum tuberosum* L. III. Relationship between growth rate of individual tubers, tuber weight and stolon growth prior to tuber initiation. *J. Exp. Bot.* **1986**, 37, 1813–1822. [CrossRef]
- 14. Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. The in-season nitrogen concentration in the potato tuber as the yield driver. *Agron. J.* 2020, *112*, 1287–1308. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J.; Biber, M. The early prognosis of tuber yield based on nitrogen status in potato tops. *Plant Soil Environ*. 2018, 64, 539–545. [CrossRef]
- Jenkins, P.D.; Mahmood, S. Dry matter production and partitioning in potato plants subjected to combined deficiencies of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium. Ann. Appl. Biol. 2003, 143, 215–229. [CrossRef]
- 17. Shoul, O. Magnesium transport and function in plants: The tip of the iceberg. *Biometals* 2002, 15, 309–323.

- Alva, A.K.; Ren, H.; Moore, A.D. Water and nitrogen management effects on biomass accumulation and partitioning in two potato cultivars. Am. J. Plant Sci. 2012, 3, 164–170. [CrossRef]
- 19. Abalos, D.; Jeffrey, S.; Sanz-Cobena, A.; Guardia, G.; Vallejo, A. Meta-analysis of the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on crop productivity and nitrogen use efficiency. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **2014**, *189*, 136–144. [CrossRef]
- 20. Germida, J.J.; Janzen, H.H. Factors affecting the oxidation of elemental sulfur in soils. Fertil. Res. 1993, 35, 101–114. [CrossRef]
- 21. Kovar, J.L.; Grant, C.A. Nutrient cycling in soils: Sulfur. Soil Manag. Build. A Stable Base Agric. 2011, 103–115. [CrossRef]
- 22. Jamal, A.; Moon, Y.-S.; Abdin, M.Z. Sulphur—A general overview and interaction with nitrogen. Austr. J. Crop Sci. 2010, 4, 523–529.
- Kalbarczyk, R.; Kalbarczyk, E. The needs and deficiency in atmospheric precipitation in cultivated mid-late and late potato in Poland. *Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas* 2009, 3, 129–140.
- 24. Skowera, B. Changes of hydrothermal conditions in the Polish area (1971–2010). Fragm. Agron. 2008, 31, 74–87.
- Haverkort, A.J.; Struik, P.C. Yield levels of potato crops: Recent achievements and future prospects. *Field Crops Res.* 2015, 182, 76–85. [CrossRef]
- Saravia, D.; Forfán-Vignolo, E.R.; Gutiérrez, R.; De Mendiburu, F.; Schafleitner, R.; Bonierbale, M.; Khan, M.A. Yield and physiological response of potatoes indicate different strategies to cope with drought stress and nitrogen fertilization. *Am. J. Potato Res.* 2016, *93*, 288–295. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, D.K.; Kushwah, S.S.; Nema, P.K.; Rathore, S.S. Effect of Sulphur on yield and quality of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Int. J. Agric. Res* 2011, 6, 143–148. [CrossRef]
- 28. Barczak, B.; Nowak, K.; Knapowski, T. Potato yield is affected by Sulphur form and rate. Agrochimica 2013, LVII, 363–372.
- 29. Kolbe, H.; Stephan-Beckmann, S. Development, growth and chemical composition of the potato crop (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). Tuber and whole plant. *Potato Res.* **1997**, *40*, 135–153. [CrossRef]
- 30. Körner, C. Growth controls photosynthesis-mostly. Nova Acta Leopold. 2013, 114, 273-283.
- 31. Körner, C. Paradigm shift in plant growth control. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 2015, 25, 107–114. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Struik, P.C.; Geertsema, J.; Custers, C. Effects of shoot, root and stolon temperature on the development of the potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) plant. I. Development of the haulm. *Potato Res.* **1989**, *32*, 133–141. [CrossRef]
- Kooman, P.L.; Rabbinge, R. An analysis of the relation between dry matter allocation to the tuber nd earliness of a potato crop. Ann. Bot. 1996, 77, 235–242. [CrossRef]
- 34. Cambouris, A.N.; St. Luce, M.; Zebarth, B.J.; Ziadi, N.; Grant, C.A.; Perron, I. Potato response to nitrogen sources and rates in an irrigated sandy soil. *Agron. J.* 2016, 108, 391–401. [CrossRef]
- 35. Kaplan, M.; Ulger, I.; Kokten, K.; Uzun, S.; Oral, E.V.; Ozaktan, H.; Temizgul, R.; Kale, H. Nutritional composition of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) haulms. *Prog. Nutr.* **2018**, *20*, 90–95.
- WRB. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014; Word Soil Resources Reports, 106; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2015. Available online: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3794e.pdf (accessed on 13 April 2019).
- 37. Mehlich, A. Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **1984**, *15*, 1409–1416. [CrossRef]
- Trávník, K.; Zbíral, J.; Němec, P. Agrochemical soil testing—Mehlich III; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 1999. (In Czech)
- Houba, V.J.G.; Temminghoff, E.J.M.; Gaikhorst, G.A.; van Vark, W. Soil analysis procedures using 0.01 M calcium chloride as extraction reagents. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 2000, 31, 1299–1396. [CrossRef]
- Bardsley, C.E.; Lancaster, J.D. Determination of reserve sulfur and soluble sulfates in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1960, 24, 265–268. [CrossRef]
- 41. Altman, N.; Krzywinski, M. Split plot design. Nat. Methods 2015, 12, 165–166. [CrossRef]





Reduction in Nitrogen Rate and Improvement of Nitrogen Use Efficiency without Loss of Peanut Yield by Regional Mean Optimal Rate of Chemical Fertilizer Based on a Multi-Site Field Experiment in the North China Plain

Jiayu Hu¹, Yang Yang ², Hongyan Zhang ¹, Yuhao Li², Shuhong Zhang ², Xinhua He^{3,4}, Yufang Huang ¹, Youliang Ye¹, Yanan Zhao ^{1,*} and Jungying Yan ^{5,*}

- ¹ College of Resource and Environment, Henan Agricultural University, Zhengzhou 450002, China
- ² Innovation Centre for Efficient Use of Nitrogen Fertilizer, Henan Xinlianxin Chemical Industry Group Co., Ltd., Xinxiang 453700, China
- ³ Centre of Excellence for Soil Biology, College of Resources and Environment, Southwest University, Chongqing 400715, China
- ⁴ School of Biological Sciences, University of Western Australia, Perth 6009, Australia
- ⁵ Henan Province Soil and Fertilizer Station, Zhengzhou 450002, China
- * Correspondence: zhaoyanan@henau.edu.cn (Y.Z.); tfzflk@126.com (J.Y.)

Abstract: It is important to quantify nutrient requirements and optimize fertilization to improve peanut yield and fertilizer use efficiency. In this study, a multi-site field trial was conducted from 2020 to 2021 in the North China Plain to estimate nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) uptake and requirements of peanuts, and to evaluate the effects of fertilization recommendations from the regional mean optimal rate (RMOR) on dry matter, pod yield, nutrient uptake, and fertilizer use efficiency. Results show that compared with farmer practice fertilization (FP), optimal fertilization (OPT) based on the RMOR increased peanut dry matter by 6.6% and pod yield by 10.9%. The average uptake rates of N, P, and K were 214.3, 23.3, and 78.4 kg/ha, respectively, with 76.0% N harvest index, 59.8% P harvest index, and 41.4% K harvest index. The OPT treatment increased N, P, and K uptake by 19.3%, 7.3%, and 11.0% compared with FP, respectively. However, the average of yield, nutrition uptake, and harvest indexes of N, P, and K were not significantly affected by fertilization. The peanut required 42.0 kg N, 4.6 kg P, and 15.3 kg K to produce 1000 kg of pods. The OPT treatment significantly improved the N partial factor productivity and N uptake efficiency but decreased the K partial factor productivity and K uptake efficiency. The present study demonstrates that fertilizer recommendations from RMOR improve N use efficiency, and reduce N and P fertilizer application without yield loss in regions with smallholder farmers, and the corresponding estimation of nutrient requirements helps to make peanut fertilization recommendations.

Keywords: Arachis hypogaea L.; fertilizer use efficiency; nutrient uptake; optimal fertilization; pod yield

1. Introduction

Peanut is an important oilseed crop, an N₂-fixing legume plant with drought tolerance, and a very efficient cash crop with relatively low production input, high yield, and higher price and greater income than other oil crops [1]. The extraction rate of peanut oil is high, and the oil quality is good. Therefore, peanut plantations play an important role in meeting edible oil demand and supporting local economies. China is a major peanut producer, ranking second in planting area after India and first in total production [2]. In 2020, the planting area reached five million hectares, and the total production reached 18 million tons, accounting for more than 20% and 40%, respectively, of the global totals [2]. Nitrogen

Citation: Hu, J.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, H.; Li, Y.; Zhang, S.; He, X.; Huang, Y.; Ye, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Yan, J. Reduction in Nitrogen Rate and Improvement of Nitrogen Use Efficiency without Loss of Peanut Yield by Regional Mean Optimal Rate of Chemical Fertilizer Based on a Multi-Site Field Experiment in the North China Plain. *Plants* 2023, *12*, 1326. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants12061326

Academic Editors: George Lazarovits, Christian Dimkpa, Jörg Gerke and Dimitris L. Bouranis

Received: 5 November 2022 Revised: 7 March 2023 Accepted: 8 March 2023 Published: 15 March 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) are essential nutrients for crops. Application of NPK fertilizer can improve crop yield [3].

Although peanut is a legume with the ability to fix atmosphere N, its growth requires adequate N, P, and K nutrients by fertilization [3]. The N fixation by rhizobia can meet 40% to 50% of the N requirement of peanut plants [4]. However, the N fixation level by peanut rhizobia is significantly and negatively correlated with increasing N application [4]. China is the world's largest consumer of chemical fertilizer [5]. In recent years, unreasonable fertilization in pursuit of higher crop yields has become common, while yield response to fertilization has become lower. Unreasonable fertilizer application not only increases production costs and reduces FUE but also causes environmental pollution [5,6]. Therefore, it is an important challenge for sustainable peanut production to ensure high peanut yield, quality, and FUE through rational fertilization.

In recent decades, studies have attempted to develop various methods to optimize the application rates of chemical fertilizer to solve the associated economic and environmental problems caused by improper application. These techniques of fertilization recommendation were based on soil testing [7], aboveground plant analysis [8], yield-fertilizer rate response modeling [9], digital and information technology [10-12], and integrated soil-crop system management [13,14]. Most of these recommended techniques have focused on sitespecific optimal nutrient rates and have required field trials, soil samples, plant collection, and laboratory analysis, factors that can be rather time-consuming, labor-intensive, and expensive. Although these methods are useful for precision fertilization, they are rather difficult to implement widely for many smallholders in developing countries including China [15]. Firstly, arable land in these countries/regions is limited, with small sizes and scattered field plots. Secondly, in the rural regions of these areas, there is a lack of testing conditions and technical guidance for agrochemical services, with insufficient testing equipment and technical personnel. Finally, these field sites are highly intensive with two or sometimes three crops planted annually in the same field, and testing is difficult to perform in time to avoid delaying planting.

In the practice of agricultural production, it is critical to establish a simple method for the overall regulation and promotion of the rational application of fertilizer on a regional scale rather than a field scale [16]. Numerous factors affect crop yields, and some are difficult to predict accurately. Therefore, even for the same field, the suitable fertilizer application rate and related parameters obtained from an experiment in one year may not be accurately applied to other years [17]. Accordingly, a very high degree of accuracy is unnecessary to calculate the appropriate fertilizer application rate for obtaining a certain yield. For agricultural production, the determination of a suitable fertilizer application range can basically meet the needs of large-scale production.

A regional mean optimal rate (RMOR) of N fertilizer application has been proposed to resolve this technology gap in Tai Lake Region, China [18]. The purpose of the resolution is to provide a baseline fertilization recommendation for a specific region by determining the RMOR of this region to obtain the maximum total production and economic benefits. The RMOR can be the average of the optimal fertilizer rate obtained from the multi-site trial, and is further used as the fertilization recommendation for the whole region [18]. However, the optimal fertilizer rate can be determined by other methods, such as nutrient requirement to produce unit yield. The method has been proven feasible for crops such as rice, wheat, and oilseed rape; the recommendations have produced increasing yields, income, and nutrient use efficiency and have reduced environmental impacts [19,20]. Adjusting the RMOR for different regions, crop types, and soil conditions can provide a more accurate estimation of the optimal rate of fertilizer applied. However, the effectiveness of this resolution in other regions, crop types (N-fixing crops such as peanut), and nutrients (P and K fertilizer) is unknown.

Here, a two-year period (2020 and 2021) of multi-site field experiments were conducted in the largest peanut-growing area of the North China Plain. The hypothesis is that the ROMR method can maintain peanut yield and FUE while reducing the chemical fertilizer at a regional scale. The overall goals of this study were to quantify (1) N, P, and K uptake and requirements; (2) effects of the RMOR on peanut yield, nutrient uptake, and utilization efficiency; and hence (3) effectiveness of this RMOR method in peanut farming at the county scale.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental Site

The field experiments were conducted in 2020 and 2021 in several townships in Zhengyang County (N32°16′-32°47′, E114°12′-114°53′), Henan, China (Figure 1). Both the peanut planting area and production of Zhengyang county rank first among all counties in China. The area is located in the transition region from the north subtropics to the warm temperate zone, and it has a continental monsoon humid climate. The average annual temperature is 15.3 °C, and the average annual precipitation is 935 mm. The monthly temperature and rainfall are shown in Figure 2 [21].



Figure 1. The geographical locations of experimental field sites. (**a**) Henan Province is shown as a red background in the China map; (**b**) the blue border is the Zhengyang County; (**c**) distribution of experimental field sites in the Zhengyang County.

2.2. Field Experiment Design

There were eight field sites in 2020 and five sites in 2021 for the experiment (Figure 1). The planting pattern was summer peanut and winter wheat rotation. The soil type was Alfisol according to the Soil Taxonomy with clay texture and low pH value. The basic soil physiochemical properties are shown in Table 1.

Each field experiment was set up with two treatments, farmers' practice fertilization (FP) and optimized fertilization (OPT). All management of the FP treatment was determined by farmers based on their practices, and the rate of fertilizer applied was accurately recorded (Table 1). As a management strategy focused technology promotion, the determination of RMOR must be based on other approaches or data. Therefore, for the OPT treatment, the RMOR was determined based on the results of previous studies with similar environment, in which, the optimized amount of fertilizer was determined according to the yield–fertilizer

rate response modeling [22]. In brief, a total of 46 field trials including four NPK fertilizer rates were collected. The average value of yield and fertilizer application under the same treatment was obtained. The yield–fertilizer rate response modeling was simulated by quadratic equation ($y = ax^2 + bx + c$, y: yield; x: N, P, or K fertilizer rates). Then the RMOR for NPK fertilizer was calculated at the maximum yield according to the modeling (-b/2a). The fertilizer recommendations were further adjusted by nutrient experts based on local conditions. The N, P, and K fertilizer rates for OPT in 2020 and 2021 were 181.5 kg/ha, 39.3 kg/ha, and 93.4 kg/ha, respectively (Figure S1). The other management measures were completely consistent with the FP treatment. Each treatment was repeated three times in plots of greater than 100 m².





			()								
Year	Field Site		Soil Property at 0–20 cm Depth						Nutrient Inputs by Chemical Fertilizer		
		pН	SOC (%)	NH4 ⁺ -N (mg/kg)	NO3 ⁻ -N (mg/kg)	Olsen-P (mg/kg)	NH4OAc-K (mg/kg)	N (kg/ha)	P (kg/ha)	K (kg/ha)	
	A1	5.12	1.25	54.9	7.7	41.3	139.0	181.5	49.1	93.4	
	A2	5.09	0.85	25.3	7.2	28.8	77.9	159.0	58.9	93.4	
	A3	5.28	1.38	47.9	8.2	73.9	189.0	279.0	16.4	49.8	
2020	A4	5.30	0.91	47.7	4.4	35.9	76.6	159.0	58.9	9.34	
2020	A5	5.07	1.32	62.5	8.8	26.3	69.0	181.5	32.7	124.5	
	A6	5.05	1.19	23.2	8.7	81.2	131.6	241.5	36.0	56.0	
	A7	5.09	1.01	26.9	10.9	44.5	80.4	204.0	58.9	112.0	
	A8	5.38	1.04	27.3	7.1	36.6	80.4	219.0	32.7	62.2	
	B1	4.97	0.99	80.1	19.9	37.8	149.8	256.5	16.4	31.1	
	B2	5.00	0.81	29.1	15.1	27.6	73.3	204.0	58.9	112.0	
2021	B3	4.82	0.77	45.5	23.9	46.8	112.7	159.0	49.1	112.0	
	B4	5.12	1.28	23.0	10.9	34.0	96.0	241.5	36.0	56.0	
	B5	5.27	0.94	37.6	27.8	73.9	113.8	204.0	58.9	112.0	
	Mean \pm	$5.12 \pm$	1.06 \pm	40.8 \pm	12.4 ± 7.0	$45.3 \pm$	10(0 2(7	$206.9~\pm$	43.3 \pm	$85.2 \pm$	
	SD	0.15	0.21	17.6	12.4 ± 7.0	18.8	100.9 ± 30.7	39.2	16.0	30.3	

Table 1. Basic soil physiochemical properties and inputs of chemical fertilizers by the farmers' practice (FP) at different field sites in 2020 and 2021.

All peanuts were sown in early June and harvested at the end of September. The peanut varieties were decided by the farmers themselves, and they all used the widely grown varieties of momordica fruit type. Before peanut sowing, soil was plowed and then tilled. The peanuts were planted in ridges with a width of 80 cm at the bottom and 60 cm at the surface. Two rows of peanuts were planted on the ridge surface with a spacing of 20 cm. The overall sowing rate was 225 kg/ha. Ridging, sowing, and fertilizing were completed by mechanized methods performed once. Other management such as weed, pest, and disease control was consistent with FP treatment.

2.3. Sampling and Measurement

At peanut maturity, 2 m² peanut samples were taken for yield measurement in each plot of all experiment sites. The air-dried sample was weighed and its moisture content was determined, and further converted to the weight with a moisture content of 8%. Meanwhile, five representative plants were taken at random for dry matter (DM) and nutrient measurement. The haulm and pod were cleaned and sterilized at 105 °C for 30 min, then dried at 75 °C. After the plant and pod were dried to a constant weight, the DM weight (plant and pod) was recorded. The dried samples were crushed and passed through a 2 mm sieve for the determination of N, P, and K contents. A 0.2 g sample was digested with H_2SO_4 - H_2O_2 to obtain a solution. The total N and P contents were determined using a flow injection analyzer (AA3, Seal, Germany), and the K content was determined by a flame photometer [23]. The fatty acid composition of peanut seeds was measured by the gas chromatography.

2.4. Data Processing and Analysis

Taking N as an example, parameters of NHI (N harvest index), RIE_N (N reciprocal internal efficiency), PFP_N (N fertilizer partial factor productivity), NUpE (N uptake efficiency), and NUtE (N utilization efficiency) were used to evaluate the characteristics of nutrient uptake and utilization [24,25]. The parameters were calculated as follows:

NHI = N uptake in pod/total N uptake	(1)
RIE_{N} = total N uptake/pod yield \times 1000	(2)
$PFP_N = pod yield/N$ fertilizer rate	(3)
NUpE = total N uptake/N fertilizer rate	(4)
NUtE = pod yield/total N uptake	(5)

The data were processed by Microsoft Excel 2016 software and graphed by Origin Lab Origin 2018 software. The statistical analysis of data were performed in SPSS 20.0 software. A one-way ANOVA was used for significant tests at p < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Dry Matter (DM), Pod Yield (PY), and Harvest Index (HI)

The PY ranged from 1958 kg/ha to 6915 kg/ha and averaged 4879 kg/ha for 13 field sites in 2 years. Compared with the FP treatment, OPT significantly increased PY in six field sites (Figure 3a). The yield increases by the OPT treatment ranged from -784 kg/ha to 1549 kg/ha and averaged 10.9%. The response of DM to different treatments was consistent with PY at 13 sites over 2 years (Figure 3b). Compared with FP, the DM increase in OPT ranged from -1179 kg/ha to 1544 kg/ha with an average rate of 6.6%. The variation range of peanut HI was 39.9%–64.0% with an average of 54.0% (Figure 3c). The peanut HI under OPT increased significantly in three field sites while decreasing significantly in other three field sites. There was no significant change in HI in total between FP and OPT treatments.



Figure 3. Variations in dry matter (DM, (**a**)), pod yield (PY, (**b**)), and harvest index (HI, (**c**)) of different fertilization treatment at different field sites in 2020 and 2021. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. A: experiment in 2021; B: experiment in 2022. Tentacle lines on the bars are standard deviation. Asterisks (*) on the bars indicate a significant difference at *p* < 0.05 between fertilization treatments for the same field site.

3.2. N, P, and K Uptake

There was significant variation in peanut nutrient uptake at different sites (Figure 4). For the two years, total N, P, and K uptake rates were 96.3–364.2, 6.2–42.6, and 23.0–110.3 kg/ha, and averaged 214.3, 23.3, and 78.4 kg/ha, respectively (Figure 4a,c,e). The total N, P, and K uptake rates under OPT were generally higher than in the FP treatment, with increasing rates of 19.3%, 7.3%, and 11.0%, respectively. In general, the N and P uptake rates by peanut straw were lower than for pods, while the K uptake was higher by straw than by pods, with a lower KHI (Figure 4f). The N, P, and K uptake rates were 164.3, 14.0, and 31.8 kg/ha in pods, and 50.0, 9.3, and 46.6 kg/ha in straw, respectively. For these 2 years, the NHI, PHI, and KHI were 61.7%-86.1%, 48.6%-74.7%, and 20.9%-60.7%, respectively, and averaged 76.0%, 59.8%, and 41.4%, respectively (Figure 4b,d,f). Although there were differences between FP and OPT in several field sites, in general, the OPT treatment did not significantly affect nutrient harvest indexes of peanuts in 13 field sites.

3.3. Reciprocal Internal Efficiency (RIE)

For 13 field sites in the 2 years, the RIE of N (RIE_N) averaged 42.0 kg with a range of 26.8–54.7 kg (Figure 5a). The averaged RIE_N was 6.9% higher under OPT than under FP. The RIE of P (RIE_P) in the 2 years varied from 2.7 kg to 7.5 kg with an average of 4.6 kg (Figure 5b). The RIE of K (RIE_K) varied from 11.1 kg to 19.9 kg with an average of 15.3 kg (Figure 5c). There was no significant difference in averaged RIE_K or RIE_P between FP and OPT treatments.



Figure 4. Uptake and nutrient harvest indexes of N (**a**,**b**), P (**c**,**d**), and K (**e**,**f**) in peanuts under different fertilization treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. A: experiment in 2021; B: experiment in 2022. Tentacle lines on the bars are standard deviation. Asterisks (*) on the bars indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05 between fertilization treatments for the same field site.



Figure 5. Requirements of N (a), P (b), and K (c) to produce 1000 kg pod yield of peanuts (reciprocal internal efficiency (RIE) under different treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. A: experiment in 2021; B: experiment in 2022. Tentacle lines on the bars are standard deviation. Asterisks (*) on the bars indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05 between fertilization treatments for the same field site.

3.4. Partial Factor Productivity of NPK Fertilizer

Compared with the FP treatment, the average PFP_N of OPT increased by 15.1% in 2020 and by 29.8% in 2021 (Figure 6a). The average PFP_P of the OPT treatment decreased by 2.4% in 2020 and increased by 3.4% in 2021 compared with FP (Figure 6b). However, the average PFP_K of OPT decreased by 23.7% and 31.5% in the 2 years, respectively (Figure 6c).



Figure 6. Partial factor productivity of N (**a**), P (**b**), and K fertilizer (**c**) under different fertilization treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. For each boxplot, the top, middle, and bottom solid lines of the box represent the 75% quantile, 50% quantile, and 25% quantile, respectively; the top and bottom horizontal lines outside the box represent the 90% quantile, and 10% quantile, respectively. The square inside the box represents the mean. Blue or red diamonds: data in 2020 or 2021.

3.5. Nutrient Uptake Efficiency

There was a significant variation in NUPE among different field sites (Figure 7a). From 2020 to 2021, the average NUPE of the OPT treatment was increased by 19.3% and 45.2% compared with FP. The average PUPE of OPT decreased by 6.5% in 2020 and increased by 3.4% in 2021 compared with FP (Figure 7b). However, the average KUPE of OPT decreased by 25.5% and 32.2% compared with FP (Figure 7c).



Figure 7. Uptake efficiency of N (**a**), P (**b**), and K (**c**) in peanuts under different fertilization treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. For each box plot, the top, middle, and bottom solid lines of the box represent the 75% quantile, 50% quantile, and 25% quantile, respectively; the top and bottom horizontal lines outside the box represent the 90% quantile, and 10% quantile, respectively. The square inside the box represents the mean. Blue or red diamonds: data in 2020 or 2021.

3.6. Nutrient Utilization Efficiency

Compared with FP, the average NUtE for OPT was reduced by 3.8% in 2020 and by 11.7% in 2021 (Figure 8a). The average PUtE for OPT had a 4.8% increase in 2020 but an 11.7% decrease in 2021 compared with FP (Figure 8b). No clear difference in averaged KUtE between FP and OPT treatments was found in the 2 years (Figure 8c).



Figure 8. N (**a**), P (**b**), and K utilization efficiency (**c**) of peanuts under different fertilization treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. For each box plot, the top, middle, and bottom solid lines of the box represent the 75% quantile, 50% quantile, and 25% quantile, respectively; the top and bottom horizontal lines outside the box represent the 90% quantile, and 10% quantile, respectively. The square inside the box represents the mean. Blue or red diamonds: data in 2020 or 2021.

3.7. Fatty Acid Composition of Peanut Kernels

In terms of the fatty acid composition of peanut kernels, oleic and linoleic acids accounted for 42.1% and 36.7%, respectively, followed by palmitic acid and stearic acid at 10.7% and 5.0%, respectively (Figure 9a). The ratio of oleic acid to linoleic acid (O/L ratio) was only 1.2 (Figure 9b). In general, the OPT treatment did not significantly affect the fatty acid composition or O/L of peanut kernels compared with FP.



Figure 9. Fatty acid composition (**a**) and oleate/linoleate ratio (O/L, (**b**)) of peanut kernels under different fertilization treatments. FP: farmers' practice fertilization; OPT: optimized fertilization. For each box plot, the top, middle, and bottom solid lines of the box represent the 75% quantile, 50% quantile, and 25% quantile, respectively; the top and bottom horizontal lines outside the box represent the 90% quantile, and 10% quantile, respectively. The square inside the box represents the mean. Blue or red diamonds: data in 2020 or 2021.

4. Discussion

4.1. Feasibility of Fertilizer Recommendation Based on RMOR

There are some common concerns in developing countries such as small and scatted field sites, lack of test conditions, and lack of technical guidance for agrochemical services [15,26]. The present study demonstrated that the unified fertilization recommendations (i.e., RMOR) can achieve a reduction in chemical fertilizer and N use efficiency without yield loss in peanuts for smallholders in country scale. In these regions, this method has high practical value; the maximum benefit can be obtained, and the fertilizer recommendation is easy to promote. The theoretical basis of the RMOR method is to optimize the fertilizer application in the region scale, thus improving soil condition, the growth characteristics, and nutrient utilization of peanuts [22,27]. In this study, the N and P fertilizer rates according to RMOR were lower than the application rate in peanuts by the farmer practice in this region. Therefore, the simplified method can also save on N and P fertilizer. This is of great practical significance for decreasing the chemical fertilization rate while improving FUE, and thus decreasing the environmental risk, especially in areas with excessive chemical fertilizer consumption [28]. Once the RMOR for a specific crop in a certain region is determined, it can be applied for several years as long as there are no significant changes in climate or cultivation conditions. Therefore, the RMOR can be used as a basis for fertilizer development planning in the region, and as a basis for recommended fertilizer application rates for the crop in different field sites.

4.2. Limitation and Uncertainty

The RMOR is a management strategy for the optimization of regional fertilization, rather than a calculations method. Therefore, the determination of RMOR for a specific region needs to be based on other methods [19]. Meanwhile, applying the RMOR in the entire region, the benefits for individual farmers vary in this study; for some field sites, yields and nutrient efficiency even decrease, though it would not result in a significant yield loss for the region as a whole. The appropriate fertilizer rate for a given crop is affected by diverse factors such as management, soil, climate, and tillage [26,29]. This study showed that even within the same county there was significant variation in peanut yield and nutrient requirement. Therefore, the RMOR and its control range when applied should be delimited according to different conditions in specific regions and field sites and should be determined again with the changes in production environments. Furthermore, the adverse effects of the simplified practice can be decreased when combined with the specific conditions of each field, and then one can make appropriate adjustments of increase or decrease such as according to the soil fertility level, organic fertilizer application, and previous stubble [19,30]. Especially, for counties and regions with high requirements for precision fertilization, adjustment according to the specific situation of the local field and/or the necessary testing is needed to avoid the loss of yield and economic benefits from individual field sites.

4.3. Nutrient Requirements of Peanut

Compared with other studies with large sample sizes, the N requirement to produce 1000 pods in this study was similar to the result of 42.2 kg [25], but slightly lower than in other studies [31,32]; P and K demand was lower than what was estimated across China [31] and in the same region of central north China [32]. Estimation variation in nutrient requirement may be related to differences in planting regions, cultivars, soil conditions, yield level, and tillage [30,33]. Crucsiol et al. [3] demonstrated that N absorption for older cultivars remains high, while newer cultivars were less demanding in N. Xie et al. [25] found that the values of nutrient requirement simulated by modeling were lower than the average observed values, and they explained that the N, P, and K predicted by the model were the optimal nutrient requirements under the conditions of the balanced absorption of N, P, and K. However, high soil nutrient supply and excessive fertilization practices may have resulted in excess nutrient uptake [31]. A large number of studies

have demonstrated that crop nutrient uptake positively correlates with yield level, but the yield increase decreases when the yield reaches a certain level [32]. As a result, nutrient requirements per unit yield tended to decrease as yields increased, especially when yields were above 70% of the potential yield [25]. The peanut yield has been strongly promoted in the past few decades in China due to cultivar renewal, adequate fertilization, soil improvement, and other management changes [32]. This means that the nutrient uptake requirements to produce unit pods may be decreasing.

5. Conclusions

The results of multi-site peanut experiments supported the hypothesis that compared with the FP treatment, the OPT treatment based on the RMOR method promoted N use efficiency (PFP_N and NU_PE), and decreased the nutrient inputs by chemical fertilizer, especially the N and P fertilizers, without the loss of peanut yield and NPK uptake. The NPK nutrient requirements of peanuts are quantified in this study, which is important for the regional recommendation of fertilization based on the RMOR. Therefore, the RMOR method is feasible for NPK fertilizer recommendations for peanut plantations, as it can simultaneously realize the optimization of agronomic, economic, and environmental benefits at a regional scale. The RMOR method can also be generally adopted in countries and regions with widespread smallholder farms. Furthermore, combined with precision fertilization technologies, the RMOR method is promising to realize agronomic and environmental optimization at the field scale.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/plants12061326/s1, Figure S1: the yield-fertilizer rate response modeling for the RMOR of NPK fertilizer.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Y.Z. and J.Y.; methodology, Y.Z., Y.L., and S.Z.; validation, J.H., Y.Y. (Yang Yang), H.Z., and Y.L.; formal analysis, J.Y. and Y.Y. (Youliang Ye); investigation, H.Z. and Y.H.; data curation, Y.Z. and J.Y.; writing—original draft preparation, J.H.; writing—review and editing, Y.Z., X.H., and J.Y.; visualization, J.H.; supervision, J.Y.; project administration, Y.Z. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This study was financially supported by the Key Scientific Research Project of the Higher Education Institutions of Henan Province (21A210022), the Research and Practice Project of Higher Education Teaching Reform in Henan Province (2021SJGLX086), and the Open Research Project of the Innovation Center for the Efficient Use of Nitrogen Fertilizer from Henan Xinlianxin Chemical Industry Group Co., Ltd. (30801723).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

Acknowledgments: We thank Songhua Yue, Hongbo Bai, and Qun Li for their assistance during the experiments, Hui Yu of Zhengyang Peanut Institute, Henan, China for suggestions to the RMOR of chemical fertilizer, and LetPub (www.letpub.com) for its linguistic assistance during the preparation of this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. Improvement of peanut yield and nutrient use efficiency by regional mean optimal rate of chemical fertilizer based on a multi-site field experiment in the North China Plain.

References

- 1. Stalker, H.T. Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.). Field Crops Res. 1997, 53, 205–217. [CrossRef]
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2021. Available online: http://www.fao.org (accessed on 15 October 2022).
- Crusciol, C.A.C.; Portugal, J.R.; Bossolani, J.W.; Moretti, L.G.; Fernandes, A.M.; Garcia, J.L.N.; Garcia, G.L.d.B.; Cantarella, H. Dynamics of macronutrient uptake and removal by modern peanut cultivars. *Plants* 2021, 10, 2167. [CrossRef]

- Wang, C.B.; Zheng, Y.M.; Shen, P.; Zheng, Y.P.; Wu, Z.F.; Sun, X.W.; Yu, T.; Feng, H. Determining N supplied sources and N use efficiency for peanut under applications of four forms of N fertilizers labeled by isotope ¹⁵N. J. Integr. Agr. 2016, 15, 432–439. [CrossRef]
- Cui, Z.; Vitousek, P.M.; Zhang, F.; Chen, X. Strengthening agronomy research for food security and environmental quality. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 50, 1639–1641. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Michalczyk, A.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Dauck, H.P.; Roelcke, M.; Yue, S.C.; Chen, X.P.; Zhang, F.S. Quantifying nitrogen loss and water use via regionalization and multiple-year scenario simulations in the North China Plain. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2020, 183, 718–733. [CrossRef]
- Russell, C.A.; Dunn, B.W.; Batten, G.D.; Williams, R.L.; Angus, J.F. Soil tests to predict optimum fertilizer nitrogen rate for rice. *Field Crops Res.* 2006, 97, 286–301. [CrossRef]
- Olfs, H.W.; Blankenau, K.; Brentrup, F.; Jasper, J.; Link, A.; Lammel, J. Soil and plant-based nitrogen-fertilizer recommendations in arable farming. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2005, 168, 414–431. [CrossRef]
- 9. Zhu, Z.; Zhang, S.; Yin, B.; Yan, X. Historical comparison on the response curses of rice yield-nitrogen application rate in Tai Lake Region. *Plant Nutr. Fertil. Sci.* 2010, *16*, 1–5, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- 10. Qi, X.; Zhao, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Qin, W.; Fu, W.; Guo, Y.; Ye, Y. A novel approach for nitrogen diagnosis of wheat canopies digital images by mobile phones based on histogram. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, *11*, 13012. [CrossRef]
- 11. Xie, M.; Wang, Z.; Huete, A.; Brown, L.A.; Wang, H.; Xie, Q.; Xu, X.; Ding, Y. Estimating peanut leaf chlorophyll content with dorsiventral leaf adjusted indices: Minimizing the impact of spectral differences between adaxial and abaxial leaf surfaces. *Remote Sens.* **2019**, *11*, 2148. [CrossRef]
- 12. Elsharkawy, M.M.; Sheta, A.E.A.S.; D'Antonio, P.; Abdelwahed, M.S.; Scopa, A. Tool for the establishment of agro-management zones using GIS techniques for precision farming in Egypt. *Sustainability* **2022**, *14*, 5437. [CrossRef]
- 13. Dai, J.; Wang, Z.; Li, F.; He, G.; Wang, S.; Li, Q.; Cao, H.; Luo, L.; Zan, Y.; Meng, X.; et al. Optimizing nitrogen input by balancing winter wheat yield and residual nitrate-N in soil in a long-term dryland field experiment in the Loess Plateau of China. *Field Crops Res.* **2015**, *181*, 32–41. [CrossRef]
- 14. Zhao, Y.; Xu, X.; Sun, X.; Yan, J.; Huang, Y.; Ye, Y. GIS-based NPK recommendation and fertilizer formulae for wheat production in different regions of Henan Province. *J. Plant Nutr. Fertil.* **2021**, *27*, 938–948, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- 15. Cui, Z.; Zhang, H.; Chen, X.; Zhang, C.; Ma, W.; Huang, C.; Zhang, W.; Mi, G.; Miao, Y.; Li, X.; et al. Pursuing sustainable productivity with millions of smallholder farmers. *Nature* **2018**, *555*, 363–366. [CrossRef]
- 16. Chen, J.; Huang, Y.; Tang, Y.H. Quantifying economically and ecologically optimum nitrogen rates for rice production in south-eastern China. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **2011**, *142*, 195–204. [CrossRef]
- 17. Zhao, Y.; Huang, Y.; Li, S.; Chu, X.; Ye, Y. Improving the growth, lodging and yield of different density-resistance maize by optimising planting density and nitrogen fertilisation. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2020**, *66*, 453–460. [CrossRef]
- Zhu, Z. On the methodology of recommendation for the application rate of chemical fertilizer nitrogen to crops. *Plant Nutr. Fertil.* Sci. 2006, 12, 1–4, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- 19. Wang, W.; Lu, J.; Ren, T.; Li, X.; Su, W.; Lu, M. Evaluating regional mean optimal nitrogen rates in combination with indigenous nitrogen supply for rice production. *Field Crops Res.* **2012**, *137*, *37*–48. [CrossRef]
- Ren, T.; Zou, J.; Lu, J.; Chen, F.; Wu, J.; Li, X. On-farm trials of optimal fertilizer recommendations for the maintenance of high seed yields in winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) production. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 2015, *61*, 528–540. [CrossRef]
- 21. Zhengyang County People's Government. 2022. Available online: https://www.zhengyang.gov.cn (accessed on 15 October 2022). (In Chinese)
- Wu, Q.; Wang, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Li, R.; Si, Y.; Huang, Y.; Ye, Y.; Zhang, F. Effects of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium ratios on yield, nutrient uptake and economic benefits of high-yielding summer-sown peanut in tidal soils. *Soil Fertil. Sci. China* 2019, 2, 98–104, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- 23. Lu, R.K. Analytical Methods of Soil Agricultural Chemistry; China Agricultural Science and Technology Press: Beijing, China, 2000. (In Chinese)
- 24. Zhao, Y.; Li, R.; Huang, Y.; Sun, X.; Qin, W.; Wei, F.; Ye, Y. Effects of various phosphorus fertilizers on maize yield and phosphorus uptake in soils with different pH values. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* 2022, *68*, 1746–1754. [CrossRef]
- 25. Xie, M.; Wang, Z.; Xu, X.; Zheng, X.; Liu, H.; Shi, P. Quantitative estimation of the nutrient uptake requirements of peanut. *Agronomy* **2020**, *10*, 119. [CrossRef]
- 26. Tetteh Anang, B.; Alhassan, H.; Danso-Abbeam, G. Estimating technology adoption and technical efficiency in smallholder maize production: A double bootstrap DEA approach. *Cogent Food Agric.* **2020**, *6*, 1833421. [CrossRef]
- 27. Cook, R.J.; Sitton, J.W.; Haglund, W.A. Increased growth and yield responses of wheat to reductions in the Pythium population by soil treatments. *Phytopathology* **1987**, 77, 1192–1198. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, Y.; Xu, X.; Huang, Y.; Sun, X.; Ye, Y. Nitrogen requirement and saving potential for wheat and maize in Henan Province. *Sci. Agi. Sin.* 2018, *51*, 2747–2757, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- Haefele, S.M.; Naklang, K.; Harnpichitvitaya, D.; Jearakongman, S.; Skulkhu, E.; Romyen, P.; Phasopa, S.; Tabtim, S.; Suriya-arunroj, D.; Khunthasuvon, S.; et al. Factors affecting rice yield and fertilizer response in rainfed lowlands of northeast Thailand. *Field Crops Res.* 2006, *98*, 39–51. [CrossRef]

- Zhang, K.; Wang, X.; Li, Y.; Zhao, J.; Yang, Y.; Zang, H.; Zeng, Z. Peanut residue incorporation benefits crop yield, nitrogen yield, and water use efficiency of summer peanut-winter wheat systems. *Field Crops Res.* 2022, 279, 108463. [CrossRef]
- Wang, X.; Lv, J.; He, P.; Ciampitti, I.A.; Qiu, S.; Xu, X.; Zhao, S. Nutrient uptake behavior of peanut under optimum fertilization management in China. Crops Sci. 2021, 61, 4344–4351. [CrossRef]
- 32. Zhao, S.C.; Lv, J.L.; Xu, X.P.; Lin, X.M.; Rosso, L.M.; Qiu, S.J.; Ciampitti, I.; He, P. Peanut yield, nutrient uptake and nutrient requirements in different regions of China. J. Integr. Agr. 2021, 20, 2502–2511. [CrossRef]
- Shen, P.; Wang, C.; Wu, Z.; Wang, C.; Zhao, H.; Shan, S.; Wu, M.; Sun, X.; Yu, T.; Zheng, Y.; et al. Peanut macronutrient absorptions characteristics in response to soil compaction stress in typical brown soils under various tillage systems. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 2019, 65, 148–158. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.



Article



Response of Normal and Low-Phytate Genotypes of Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) on Phosphorus Foliar Fertilization

Petr Škarpa ^{1,}*, Marie Školníková ¹, Jiří Antošovský ¹, Pavel Horký ², Iva Smýkalová ³, Jiří Horáček ³, Radmila Dostálová ³ and Zdenka Kozáková ⁴

- ¹ Department of Agrochemistry, Soil Science, Microbiology and Plant Nutrition, Faculty of AgriScience, Mendel University in Brno, Zemědělská 1, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic; marie.skolnikova@mendelu.cz (M.Š.); jiri.antosovsky@mendelu.cz (J.A.)
- ² Department of Animal Nutrition and Forage Production, Faculty of AgriScience, Mendel University in Brno, Zemědělská 1, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic; pavel.horky@mendelu.cz
- ³ Agritec Plant Research Ltd., Zemědělská 2520/16, 787 01 Šumperk, Czech Republic; smykalova@agritec.cz (I.S.); horacek@agritec.cz (J.H.); dostalova@agritec.cz (R.D.)
- ⁴ Institute of Physical and Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Chemistry, Brno University of Technology, Purkyňova 118, 612 00 Brno, Czech Republic; kozakova@fch.vutbr.cz
- Correspondence: petr.skarpa@mendelu.cz

Abstract: Phosphorus (P) is an important nutrient in plant nutrition. Its absorption by plants from the soil is influenced by many factors. Therefore, a foliar application of this nutrient could be utilized for the optimal nutrition state of plants. The premise of the study is that foliar application of phosphorus will increase the yield of normal-phytate (npa) cultivars (CDC Bronco a Cutlass) and low-phytate (lpa) lines (1-2347-144, 1-150-81) grown in soils with low phosphorus supply and affect seed quality depending on the ability of the pea to produce phytate. A graded application of phosphorus (H₃PO₄) in four doses: without P (P0), 27.3 mg P (P1), 54.5 mg P (P2), and 81.8 mg P/pot (P3) realized at the development stages of the 6th true leaf led to a significant increase of chlorophyll contents, and fluorescence parameters of chlorophyll expressing the CO₂ assimilation velocity. The P fertilization increased the yield of seeds significantly, except the highest dose of phosphorus (P3) at which the yield of the npa cultivars was reduced. The line 1-2347-144 was the most sensible to the P application when the dose P3 increased the seed production by 42.1%. Only the lpa line 1-150-81 showed a decreased tendency in the phytate content at the stepped application of the P nutrition. Foliar application of phosphorus significantly increased ash material in seed, but did not tend to affect the protein and mineral content of seeds. Only the zinc content in seeds was significantly reduced by foliar application of P in *npa* and *lpa* pea genotypes. It is concluded from the present study that foliar phosphorus application could be an effective way to enhance the pea growth in P-deficient condition with a direct effect on seed yield and quality.

Keywords: chlorophyll content; fluorescence parameters; seed yield; seed quality; seed nutrient content; pea; foliar application

1. Introduction

Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) is a plentifully grown leguminous plant in many countries, and it can be utilized both in human nutrition as well as a part of the feed for farm animals. It is considered as one of the most important sources in human nutrition, because its pods contain a great content of proteins, carbohydrates, vitamins, and minerals. By its ability to hold nitrogen from the air and return it back to the soil, the pea contributes to sustainable agriculture [1]. Besides high demands for nitrogen, the pea belongs to those plants with relatively high demands for phosphorus (P), too.

Crop production on more than 30% of the world arable land is limited by the P availability [2]. P is an essential nutrient required by all plants to grow, photosynthesize,

Citation: Škarpa, P.; Školníková, M.; Antošovský, J.; Horký, P.; Smýkalová, I.; Horáček, J.; Dostálová, R.; Kozáková, Z. Response of Normal and Low-Phytate Genotypes of Pea (*Pisum saticum* L.) on Phosphorus Foliar Fertilization. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1608. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants10081608

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukas Hlisnikovsky and Xinhua He

Received: 26 June 2021 Accepted: 4 August 2021 Published: 5 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). and form proteins. It is especially limiting in organic environments for legumes, which need more P than cereals to form root nodules for nitrogen fixation [3,4]. In particular, P is important for the growth of the field pea, and for protein synthesis [4]. Sufficient amounts of phosphorus taken by plants are also necessary for an optimal production yield. In the case of low P supplies in the soil or conditions decreasing its intake by plants, fertilization by phosphorus significant increases not only legume production, but also its quality [5–11]. One of the phosphorus forms naturally presented in plants is phytic acid. Phytic acid is the major storage form of phosphorus in seeds of legumes. In the case of the pea, its highest concentration is in the endosperm [12]. Since phytate can form complexes with proteins and minerals, reducing the digestive availability of phosphorus [13], it is usually regarded as an antinutrient, although recent works indicate that it has important beneficial roles as an antioxidant for plants [14]. Therefore, there is an interest in the assessment and manipulation of phytate contents in important food grains such as peas. Through plant breeding, it is possible to prevent the phosphorus transformation into phytic acid and, thus, to decrease the content of phytic acid by even up to 50–95% [15]. For example, Wilcox et al. [16] reported an 80% decrease in P-phytate content in the low-phytate soybean. Reduction of phytate phosphorus concentration in the low-phytate pea seed by about 60% accompanied by an increase in free inorganic phosphorus was presented by Warkentin [17]. The content of phytic acid in the pea is influenced not only by various properties, but also by the climate, irrigation, and soil conditions as well as by the fertilization. The decrease of phytate concentration caused by phosphorus fertilization was observed in the case of soya [18] oat [19] and corn [20].

One possible way to provide necessary nutrients to the plants during vegetative stages is a foliar application of fertilizers. The foliar fertilization directly applies the nutrient to the plant tissue, by-passing a potential fixation, and losses that may arise from the soil application. However, the efficacy of the foliar fertilizer is relatively uncertain [21]. An uptake potential of foliar P is generally considered to be low, but the increased efficiency of the P usage has been reported with foliar application [22]. The greatest benefits of the foliar P fertilization were observed under low moisture and highly P-deficient soil conditions. In these aforementioned conditions, the foliar P application has a potential to increase the yield and quality of seeds [23,24]. However, there have been relatively few reports on analyses of the productivity and seed quality of legumes [10] or normal [11] and low-phytate pea cultivars grown under varying foliar P fertilization levels.

This work contributes to the extension of knowledge on the foliar phosphorus application and its influence on selected growth parameters, production, and quality of normal-phytate cultivars, and low-phytate pea lines. It offers an alternative approach to optimize phosphorus nutrition of peas, i.e., the use of foliar fertilization with this nutrient, which is a suitable procedure especially in conditions where soil application seems ineffective (e.g., inappropriate soil pH, which immobilizes phosphorus in the soil). A positive effect of the foliar P application on pea seed production and its quality in plants grown under P deficient conditions, especially a reduction of the portion of P bounded to phytate, is expected. An increase of free P (inorganic) for nutritional purposes is expected. At the same time, it is determined whether the low-phytate lines will use the P supplied by fertilization directly for binding to phytate, i.e., will this increase the phytate phosphorus content or will it only increase the total P content of the seeds and the phytate level will remain unchanged?

2. Results and Discussion

2.1. The Effect of Foliar P Fertilization on Content of Chlorophyll and Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters

The foliar application of phosphorus had a significant effect ($p \le 0.05$) on the content of chlorophyll in leaves of all tested pea genotypes. The increase of the N-tester values was significant ($p \le 0.05, 0.01$) in both measurements, especially at variant P2 and P3. A significant effect of the foliar phosphorus application on the chlorophyll content of wheat was presented by Waraich et al. [25]. Besides wheat, the increased content of

chlorophyll after the phosphorous fertilization was also achieved in the case of mung bean [26] aubergine [27] maize [28] and cluster bean [29]. The positive effect of the applied phosphorus can be explained by its direct involvement into the structure of cell membranes [30] a whole range of proteins, nucleic acids, and nucleotides [25] with direct effects on photosynthesis [31]. This fact explains the decrease of the chlorophyll content by the phosphorus deficiency in rice [32]. The mean N-tester values of all tested pea genotypes measured in the first term (T1) were enhanced by the stepped P application by 2.9% (P1), 4.2% (P2), and up to 4.9% (P3). The highest increase of the N-tester values was determined in plants of the line 1-150-81 at variant P3. The effect of the phosphorus fertilization lasted up to the second term of the measurement (T2), as presented in Table 1.

Table 1. The effect of the foliar phosphorus application on chlorophyll contents (N-tester value) and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters (Φ_{PSII} and R_{Fd}).

Canatura	Treatment	N-Tester Value		Φ_l	PSII	R _{Fd}		
Genotype		T1	T2	T1	T2	T1	T2	
1-2347-144	P0	448 ± 6	378 ± 5	0.801 ± 0.011	0.809 ± 0.014	2.04 ± 0.03	1.94 ± 0.04	
	P1	458 ± 5	$390 \pm 4 *$	0.820 ± 0.008 *	0.825 ± 0.010	2.13 ± 0.02	$2.06 \pm 0.05 *$	
	P2	464 ± 7 **	401 ± 4 **	0.818 ± 0.007 *	0.831 ± 0.004	2.42 ± 0.20 **	2.07 ± 0.04 *	
	P3	463 ± 6 *	402 ± 3 **	$0.822 \pm 0.002 \ *$	$0.833 \pm 0.007 \ *$	$2.42\pm0.20~^{**}$	$2.13\pm0.07~^{**}$	
	P0	443 ± 10	371 ± 3	0.792 ± 0.015	0.803 ± 0.004	1.99 ± 0.02	1.93 ± 0.07	
	P1	$456 \pm 10 *$	$383 \pm 7 *$	0.816 ± 0.004 **	0.813 ± 0.005	2.08 ± 0.04	2.00 ± 0.07	
1-150-81	P2	464 ± 7 **	373 ± 9	0.816 ± 0.008 **	0.837 ± 0.005 **	2.11 ± 0.02	2.08 ± 0.06 *	
	P3	$475\pm13~^{**}$	401 ± 7 **	$0.829 \pm 0.005 \ ^{**}$	$0.840 \pm 0.007 \ ^{**}$	$2.16\pm0.04~{*}$	$2.10\pm0.04~^{**}$	
Cutlass	P0	439 ± 6	368 ± 8	0.803 ± 0.011	0.792 ± 0.018	2.06 ± 0.04	1.77 ± 0.09	
	P1	$452 \pm 5 *$	374 ± 6	0.823 ± 0.008 *	0.792 ± 0.009	2.02 ± 0.03	1.82 ± 0.07	
	P2	458 ± 5 **	$402 \pm 3 **$	0.829 ± 0.005 **	0.815 ± 0.008	2.09 ± 0.06	1.97 ± 0.06 **	
	P3	$458\pm6~^{**}$	$381\pm5~{}^{*}$	0.818 ± 0.019	0.789 ± 0.003	2.09 ± 0.02	1.76 ± 0.05	
CDC Bronco	P0	447 ± 5	386 ± 8	0.804 ± 0.015	0.812 ± 0.043	2.00 ± 0.07	1.91 ± 0.04	
	P1	$463 \pm 5 *$	394 ± 12	0.828 ± 0.004 **	0.827 ± 0.006	2.05 ± 0.10	1.94 ± 0.07	
	P2	465 ± 8 **	408 ± 4 **	0.825 ± 0.007 *	0.816 ± 0.004	2.22 ± 0.08 **	2.02 ± 0.08	
	P3	468 ± 6 **	$398\pm6~{}^{*}$	0.820 ± 0.011 *	0.777 ± 0.008 **	2.07 ± 0.07	1.86 ± 0.13	

The mean values marked with a sterisk are significantly different (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$) from the variant without P fertilization (P0) by Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean $(n = 60) \pm$ SD (standard deviation). Determinations were carried out 14 (T1) and 28 (T2) days after the P-application.

The quantum yield of the electron transport of the photosystem II (Φ_{PSII}), which expresses the real capacity of the photosystem II (PSII) for photochemical reactions, and represents the availability of reaction centers of the PSII, was significantly ($p \le 0.05, 0.01$) influenced by the phosphorus application. Its mean value measured at the variant without the P fertilization (P0) was 0.800. By the stepped P fertilization, this value was enhanced at all doses (P1-3) to 0.822 in the first term (T1). The results corresponded with conclusions in the study of Xu et al. [32], which found out that the phosphorus deficit had induced changes in efficiency of excitation energy absorption of reaction centers of the PSII in rice plants and had reduced the quantum yield Φ_{PSII} . For example, the decrease of the quantum yield (Φ_{PSII}) caused by the phosphorus deficit was observed in *Lonicera pampaninii* [33]. The photosynthetic rates in the *lpa* and *npa* genotypes of soybean were 1.3 and 1.5 times higher, respectively, in the treatment with the high P dose than with the low P dose [34]. In the first measurement term (T1), the Φ_{PSII} value was most significantly enhanced after the phosphorus application in the case of the line 1-150-81. According to Fryer et al. [35], a strong linear correlation between quantum yield of the electron transport of the PSII (Φ_{PSII}) and the carbon fixation efficiency was found. Plant species with phosphorus deficit like Lotus japonicus showed a decrease of the maximal rate of photosynthesis. In the case of the ratio of the dark respiration to the maximal photosynthesis, it declined significantly [36]. The significantly ($p \le 0.05$; 0.01) increased Φ_{PSII} values of variants with the P fertilization on the *lpa* lines lasted until the later vegetation stages (T2). Contrary to this, the quantum

yield values of the *npa* cultivars were reduced (Table 1). In the case of the cultivar CDC Bronco, the decrease was significant ($p \le 0.01$). The increase of the Φ_{PSII} values at the *lpa* pea lines was followed by a significant enhancement of the fluorescence decrease ratio (R_{Fd}), which is measured at saturation irradiance, and which is directly proportional to the net CO₂ assimilation rate. In the second term T2, a significant correlation (r = 0.635; $p \le 0.001$) between the Φ_{PSII} and R_{Fd} values was determined at these pea lines. Therefore, it can be stated that the foliar phosphorus application has a significant effect on the availability of reaction centers on the photosystem II at the *lpa* pea lines.

2.2. The Effect of Foliar P Fertilization, on Yield Parameters of Pea

The seed yield of normal phytate varieties was on average 27.3% higher than the seed yield of low-phytate lines. Research comparing yield levels of *lpa* and *npa* pea genotypes indicates that the low-phytate lines were similar in agronomic performance to normal phytate cultivars, except for somewhat slower time to flowering and maturity, slightly lower seed weight, and slightly lower grain yield [17,37]. However, the primary focus of our study was to evaluate the effect of phosphorus foliar fertilization on yield and seed quality of the tested pea genotypes.

The foliar application of phosphorus significantly influenced the yield of the pea seeds ($p \le 0.05$; 0.01). Its enhancement was evident at all tested genotypes, as presented in Figure 1. A significantly increased grain yield was also achieved according to the literature dealing with the evaluation of the phosphorus application influence on legumes. The attention of contemporary research is mostly focused on the phosphorus uptake by the root system after the application of P-fertilizers in stepped doses to the soil. This application is used for the legumes growing both in a monoculture: pea [5], faba bean [6], chickpea [7], and mung bean [8], and in a mixed cultures [9]. Only a few literal sources evaluate the efficiency of the foliar P application on the seed production of legumes, and their quality [10,11]. Comparing the different techniques, the foliar P fertilization has a better potential to improve its nutritional deficiencies in plants caused by the low content of P in soil or limited availability of this nutrient by the root [23,38]. The reaction of the tested pea lines on the foliar P fertilization was different. In the case of the *npa* cultivars, the seed production was enhanced by the stepped doses of the P-fertilizer, except of the highest level (P3) which reduced the seed production. The yield was decreased by the mean value of 10% compared to the variant P2 at both tested cultivars. This fact corresponded to the parameters of photosynthesis determined during vegetation and indicated that the dose of 81.8 mg P (P3) is not beneficial to plants of the npa cultivars. Froese et al. [11] also observed a reduced yield caused by the highest dose of P (20 kg/ha P₂O₅) applied on leaves of pea. Contrary to the *npa* cultivars, the *lpa* line 1-2347-144 was positively affected by all fertilization variants, including P3, and provided significantly enhanced seed production compared to the variant P0. The stepped phosphorus application increased the production by 17.8% (P1), up to 22.2% (P3). The most significant effect of the foliar phosphorus application was achieved at the lpa line 1-150-81. In this case, the seed yield was also linearly increased by the applied phosphorus doses (r = 0.849; p < 0.001), and the highest level of the P fertilization (P3) induced the enhanced yield of 42.1%. The result corresponded to the response of the low-phytate lines of soyabean on the P fertilization, where the seed yield was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher than at the normal-phytate genotypes [39]. However, these presented responses of pea on the foliar phosphorus fertilization were contradictory to the conclusions of Froese et al. [11]. In this study, the foliar P application was unable to substitute the seed-placed monoammonium phosphate and, overall, it had a marginal effect on the grain yield, P uptake as well as the seed nutritional value. According to the yield response on the phosphorus fertilization, the studied pea lines can be divided in two groups. While in the case of the *lpa* lines (1-2347-144; 1-150-81), the yield significantly correlated with the seed weight (r = 0.597, p = 0.041; r = 0.752, p = 0.005), in the case of the npa cultivars (CDC Bronco, and Cutlass), the pea production was significantly influenced by the number of seeds (r = 0.828, p = 0.001; r = 0.600, p = 0.039). According to the available

literature, a positive influence of the foliar phosphorus application on the seed weight of common bean [39], chickpea [40], wheat, and maize [38] etc. was proved. Although the seed weight was relatively enhanced at all tested genotypes (Table 2), the influence of the phosphorus nutrition on the seed weight was significant ($p \le 0.01$) only at the application of the highest P dose (P3) on the *lpa* line 1-150-81. The number of seeds produced by the pea plants was also influenced by the P nutrition. After the application of the P doses P2 and P3, the number of seeds was significantly increased ($p \le 0.01$) at cultivars CDC Bronco and Cutlass by the mean 17.9% and 18.1%, respectively, compared to the non-fertilized variant (P0). In the case of the low-phytate lines, the number of seeds was also significantly ($p \le 0.01$) increased by 8.0% and 13.0%, respectively, compared to P0 (Table 2).



Figure 1. The effect of the foliar phosphorus application on the seed yield. The mean values (n = 8) marked with an asterisk are significantly different (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$) from the variant without the P fertilization (P0) by the Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). Error bars represent the standard deviation of arithmetical mean (SD).

The foliar phosphorus application also significantly influence the height of plants, which correlated with the seed yield at the tested genotypes (r = 0.786, p < 0.05). While in the case of the *lpa* pea lines, the plant height was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) increased even at the application of the highest phosphorus dose (P3), in the case of the cultivars CDC Bronco and Cutlass, the P3 dose did not influence the plant height. The cultivar Cutlass had no response on the P fertilization. By the mean values of the tested pea genotypes, the plant height was increased after the P fertilization by 3.4 (P1), 8.8 (P2), and 11.6 cm (P3) in the case of the conventional cultivars (*npa*), compared to the control P0. According to the available literature, the phosphorus application to the soil had a significantly increased by the foliar P application [38]. Interactions of the foliar P application with magnesium fertilization significantly increased the plant height of faba bean [10].
Genotype	Treatment	Plant Height (cm)	Seed Weight (g/1000 Seeds)	Seed Number (Seed/Pot)
	P0	63 ± 5	193 ± 10	75.3 ± 3.8
1 00 17 1 1 1	P1	66 ± 9	209 ± 20	81.7 ± 0.6 **
1-2347-144	P2	$72\pm5*$	220 ± 29	79.0 ± 2.0
	P3	75 ± 8 **	212 ± 16	84.0 ± 1.0 **
	P0	64 ± 7	185 ± 10	62.3 ± 1.5
1 150 01	P1	69 ± 7	197 ± 30	$67.3 \pm 2.5 *$
1-150-81	P2	73 ± 17 *	207 ± 26	69.3 ± 3.1 **
	P3	76 \pm 9 **	$229\pm22\ ^{**}$	71.3 \pm 1.5 **
	P0	72 ± 2	188 ± 20	85.0 ± 4.4
C 11	P1	75 ± 7	217 ± 7	76.3 ± 1.5 **
Cutlass	P2	73 ± 4	212 ± 16	94.3 ± 4.5 **
	P3	71 ± 3	181 ± 16	100.7 ± 2.3 **
	P0	98 ± 18	234 ± 16	80.3 ± 1.5
CDC	P1	109 ± 11 **	238 ± 9	86.0 ± 3.6 *
Bronco	P2	$111 \pm 9 **$	240 ± 10	100.3 ± 2.5 **
	P3	102 ± 9	226 ± 25	94.7 ± 1.5 **

Table 2. The effect of the foliar phosphorus application on the plant height, seed weight and number of seeds.

The mean values marked with an asterisk are significantly different (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$) from the variant without P fertilization (P0) by the Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8) \pm SD (standard deviation).

2.3. The Effect of Foliar P Fertilization, on Pea Seed Quality

Within the seed, P is primarily stored as phytic acid and/or phytate that accumulate in protein vacuoles. Phytate comprises up to 80% of the total seed phosphorus, and can comprise as much as 1.5% of the seed dry weight [42]. Significantly, the lowest ($p \le 0.05$) content of phytate in seeds was determined at the *lpa* line 1-150-81. By the P application, its content was reduced by 19.9% (P1), 24.9% (P2), and 9.1% (P3), respectively, but not significantly ($p \le 0.01$). Nevertheless, the line 1-150-81 was the only one that tended to the decrease of phytate in seeds by the stepped phosphorus application. The foliar P application had a limited effect on phytate in seeds of canola, wheat, and pea [11]. In that experiment, phytate concentration in the pea seeds was decreased, comparing to the P non-fertilized variant, only by the application of the P-fertilizer ($10 \text{ kg/ha } P_2O_5$) that was safely placed in the seed row with pea in combination with the foliar P application $(10 \text{ kg/ha } P_2O_5)$. The other tested genotypes, including the *lpa* line 1-2347-144, shown a relative increase of the phytate content by the stepped P application, significantly in the cultivar Cutlass, only (Table 3). It has been reported that the phytate concentration in seeds gradually increased and was positively correlated with the applied P levels in soybean [18], oat [19], and maize [20]. In context with the phosphorus content in seeds (Table 3), which was also significantly enhanced by fertilization only in the case of the cultivar Cutlass $(p \le 0.01)$, the portion of phytate-P amount to the total P content in seeds was evaluated for the studied genotypes (Figure 2). While in the case of the cultivar Cutlass, the fertilization by doses P2 and P3 increased the phytate-P portion from 65.6% (P0) to 73.4% and 73.7%, respectively, in the case of the line 1-150-81, a provable ($p \le 0.05$) decrease of the phytate-P portion from 47.8% (P0) to 40.9% (P3) was induced by the foliar P nutrition.

Genotype	Treatment	P (% DM)	Phytate (g/100 g DM)	Crude Protein (% DM)
	P0	0.36 ± 0.02	0.82 ± 0.07	22.2 ± 0.4
4 00 17 4 14	P1	0.35 ± 0.02	0.82 ± 0.04	23.4 ± 0.7
1-2347-144	P2	0.38 ± 0.06	0.90 ± 0.19	22.6 ± 0.4
	P3	0.41 ± 0.08	1.00 ± 0.27	23.3 ± 2.0
	P0	0.42 ± 0.02	0.82 ± 0.22	23.7 ± 0.8
1 150 01	P1	0.42 ± 0.04	0.66 ± 0.07	22.4 ± 2.0
1-150-81	P2	0.39 ± 0.01	0.62 ± 0.04	20.9 ± 1.6 **
	P3	0.45 ± 0.02	0.75 ± 0.19	21.9 ± 0.4
	P0	0.30 ± 0.01	0.69 ± 0.05	20.1 ± 0.5
6 1	P1	0.30 ± 0.02	0.69 ± 0.06	21.1 ± 0.3
Cutlass	P2	0.39 ± 0.03 **	1.01 ± 0.10 **	22.7 ± 1.1 **
	P3	0.43 ± 0.03 **	1.13 ± 0.08 **	$24.1\pm1.2~^{**}$
	P0	0.41 ± 0.03	1.04 ± 0.10	20.0 ± 0.2
CDC	P1	0.41 ± 0.03	0.98 ± 0.07	20.4 ± 1.1
Bronco	P2	0.41 ± 0.04	1.08 ± 0.07	20.7 ± 0.9
	P3	0.46 ± 0.03	1.14 ± 0.10	20.7 ± 0.8

Table 3. The effect of the foliar phosphorus application on the content of phosphorous, phytate, and crude protein in pea seeds.

The mean values marked with an asterisk are significantly different (** $p \le 0.01$) from the variant without \overline{P} fertilization (P0) by the Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8) \pm SD (standard deviation). (DM) dry matter.



Figure 2. The effect of foliar phosphorus application on portion of phytate-P amount to the total P content in seeds. The mean values (n = 8) marked with an asterisk are significantly different (* $p \le 0.05$) from the variant without P fertilization (P0) by the Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). Error bars represent the standard deviation of arithmetical mean (SD).

The positive effect of the foliar phosphorus application on the crude protein content in the pea seeds was proved for the cultivar Cutlass, only (Table 3). In the case of the *lpa* line, content of the crude protein was not influenced by the P nutrition. The study by Klimek-Kopyra et al. [43] showed that phosphorus had a limited effect on this parameter. The phosphorus application in doses of 70 and 140 kg/ha P_2O_5 , respectively, to the soil at 6 lines of pea did not influence content of the crude protein. Our study also does not confirm a consistent tendency towards the increase of the crude protein under higher phosphorus doses for cultivars of pea. Conversely, various *studies* [44,45] presented that the P fertilization increased the crude protein content of cowpea grain as well as low-phytate and normal-phytate cultivars of soybean [34].

The content of ash material and particular nutrients in the pea seeds of the tested genotypes is presented in Table 4. The relatively highest content of ash material was determined at the variant P3 for all tested genotypes. In this case, the mean increase of ash content was 0.13% compared to the variant P0. Besides the cultivar CDC Bronco, a significantly effect of the phosphorus application in doses P2 and/or P3 on the content of ash material was proved in tested genotypes. An important nutrient contained in the pea grain is potassium. Although its amount significantly correlated with the ash content (r = 0.870, p < 0.05), the foliar phosphorus application (P3) increased its content significantly only in the case of the line 1-2347-144 (Table 4). Potassium content was increased insignificantly by application of the highest dose of phosphorus (P3), from 0.92% to 0.98% DW on average across all tested pea genotypes. By contrast, the enhancement of potassium content in the tissue of the peanut plant observed after the phosphorus application was presented by Malakondaiach and Rajeswararao [46]. A significant increase in potassium uptake due to the increasing doses of phosphorus application was also found out in cowpea [47], mung bean [48], and urd bean [49]. The content of magnesium did not change by the P fertilization in seeds of the *lpa* lines, but it was increased in the *npa* cultivars (Table 4). A diverse response of the *npa* and *lpa* genotypes on the phosphorus fertilization was observed in the case of calcium utilization, too. While its content was not influence by the P fertilization of the cultivar CDC Bronco, it was significantly enhanced in the cultivar Cutlass. In the case of the low-phytate lines, Ca content was decreased, and in the case of the line 1-150-81 significantly. Since the effect of foliar P fertilization on seed mineral content in some genotypes is only statistically significant for some treatments, it is not possible to say that foliar P application will increase seed nutritive value.

lable 4. The effect of the foliar	phosphorus application on ash content, and r	nineral content in pea seeds.
	1 I II ·	1

Genotype	Treatment	Ash (% DM)	K (% DM)	Mg (% DM)	Ca (% DM)	Zn (mg/kg DM)
	P0	2.89 ± 0.08	0.92 ± 0.02	0.125 ± 0.005	0.036 ± 0.005	34.0 ± 5.3
1 00 47 1 4 4	P1	2.84 ± 0.06	0.85 ± 0.07	0.118 ± 0.011	0.041 ± 0.003	29.8 ± 3.2
1-2347-144	P2	2.96 ± 0.17	0.92 ± 0.05	0.121 ± 0.005	0.033 ± 0.003	25.8 ± 2.3
	P3	$3.14\pm0.22~{}^{*}$	1.01 ± 0.09 *	0.125 ± 0.009	0.030 ± 0.004	26.0 ± 2.3
	P0	3.26 ± 0.13	1.02 ± 0.04	0.121 ± 0.008	0.040 ± 0.007	28.7 ± 0.6
1 150 01	P1	3.13 ± 0.29	0.99 ± 0.09	0.114 ± 0.010	0.035 ± 0.003	28.5 ± 1.2
1-150-81	P2	$2.97 \pm 0.06 *$	0.95 ± 0.00	0.112 ± 0.006	0.032 ± 0.007 *	$26.6 \pm 5.8 *$
	P3	3.09 ± 0.04	1.01 ± 0.00	0.121 ± 0.004	$0.030 \pm 0.004 \ ^{**}$	$25.6\pm1.2~^{*}$
	P0	2.68 ± 0.06	0.82 ± 0.06	0.109 ± 0.002	0.032 ± 0.002	24.7 ± 2.4
Culture	P1	2.68 ± 0.07	0.83 ± 0.01	0.114 ± 0.009	0.033 ± 0.005	25.6 ± 4.0
Cutiass	P2	$2.96 \pm 0.06 *$	0.90 ± 0.03	0.116 ± 0.002	0.035 ± 0.005	25.6 ± 3.7
	P3	3.02 ± 0.18 **	0.87 ± 0.08	0.129 ± 0.007 **	0.045 ± 0.006 **	25.2 ± 1.6
	P0	2.96 ± 0.14	0.93 ± 0.07	0.104 ± 0.004	0.030 ± 0.002	34.9 ± 3.7
CDC	P1	2.96 ± 0.08	0.96 ± 0.03	0.111 ± 0.004	0.029 ± 0.002	34.4 ± 4.1
Bronco	P2	3.02 ± 0.11	0.96 ± 0.04	0.116 ± 0.007 *	0.029 ± 0.002	27.1 ± 2.4 *
	P3	3.08 ± 0.01	1.01 ± 0.01	0.108 ± 0.003	0.031 ± 0.005	29.1 ± 4.2

The mean values marked with an asterisk are significantly different (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$) from the variant without P fertilization (P0) by the Fisher's LSD test (each of the genotypes was statistically evaluated separately). The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8) \pm SD (standard deviation).

Zinc absorption capacity was reduced by the high phosphorus utilization, and zinc in the plant and soil was in a state of antagonism with phosphorus. According to the available studies, a deficiency of zinc in plants was caused by phosphorus fertilization to the soil [50,51]. The foliar phosphorus application significantly decreased the zinc content stored in seeds both in the *lpa* line (1-150-81) as well as in the *npa* cultivar (CDC Bronco).

One of possible explanations can be the fact that the increased P concentration in seeds due to the foliar phosphorous application can aggravate Zn deficiency. Another explanation is that zinc concentration in seeds of pea was decreased by the effect of the induced growth response on the P fertilization. In other words, zinc was diluted in the plant tissues. Thus, the foliar phosphorus application can decrease the nutrition value of the pea seeds.

The results of the pot experiment show the possibilities of using the foliar phosphorus fertilization in the growing of normal and low-phytate pea genotypes. It is shown that the foliar application increases not only the seed yield, but also their nutritional quality, usability in the food industry and human nutrition. It is clear that the phytate content of the seeds can be regulated in this way, which is variety dependent. A decrease in phosphorus binding to phytate was obtained in the low phytate line 1-150-81 and an increase in the Canadian variety Cutlass after foliar application of phosphorus. However, verification of the results obtained from the pot experiment in field trials will be necessary.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Plant Materials, Plant Cultivation and Conditions of Growth

The effect of the foliar phosphorus application on photosynthetic parameters, seed yields and quality of four pea genotypes (*Pisum Sativum* L.) was investigated in this study. The experiment was conducted in growth box (PlantMaster, CLF Plant Climatics GmbH, Wertingen, Germany) at the Mendel University in Brno located at $49^{\circ}21'03''$ N and $16^{\circ}61'38''$ E. The low-phytate pea lines (*lpa*) 1-150-81 and 1-2347-144 [17] were chosen for this study. In these lines, the content of phytate phosphorus is reduced by approximately 60% compared to the normal phytate genotype, with a compensating increase in inorganic phosphorus [17]. Both lines were derived from the cultivar CDC Bronco [52] through chemical mutagenesis [17]. Further, the normal-phytate cultivars (*npa*) CDC Bronco and Cutlass [53] were also used for this study. Pea plants were grown under the control condition: 12 h of light (light intensity 550 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) and 12 h of darkness; day temperature 22 °C and night temperature 15 °C; humidity 60% during the day and 90% at night. Mitscherlich pots with a volume of 6.2 L were used to grow the pea plants. Each container contained 6000 g of arable soil with a constant composition (Table 5).

Table 5. Chemical composition of soil used in this study.

Soil Parameter	Value	
pH (CaCl ₂)	6.09	
Soil oxidizable carbon (Cox)	0.80%	
Clay	20%	
Silt	27%	
Sand	53%	
CEC (Cation Exchange Capacity)	164 mmol/kg	
total N	0.19%	
Ammonium N (NH_4^+)	1.48 mg/kg	
Nitrate N (NO ₃ ^{$-$})	17.2 mg/kg	
Available P (Mehlich III)	36.4 mg/kg *	
Available K (Mehlich III)	400 mg/kg	
Available Ca (Mehlich III)	2 720 mg/kg	
Available Mg (Mehlich III)	214 mg/kg	

* low available phosphorus content. Soil parameters were determined according to Zbíral [54].

Six pea seeds of each genotype per pot were sown on 27 April 2020. Four plants were grown in each pot for all pea genotypes. The foliar fertilization of phosphorus was carried out on the plant development stages of the 6th true leaf unfolded at the 6th node (3 June 2020). The following four treatments with three doses of the foliar phosphorous application were included in the experiment: P0—without P (0 mg P/pot), P1—62.5 mg P₂O₅ (27.3 mg P) per pot; P2—125 mg P₂O₅ (54.5 mg P) per pot and P3—187.5 mg P₂O₅ (81.8 mg P) per pot. These treatments of the foliar phosphorus application were carried

out for all genotypes (for each genotype separately). The phosphorous foliar application (phosphoric acid, H_3PO_4) in 5 mL of water solution per pot at each treatment (P1–P3) was used. The control variant (P0) was treated with water. Water and phosphorus solutions were regularly applied using a pressurized hand pump sprayer (DPZ 1500, ProGlass, Weilheim an der Teck, Germany). The vegetation pots were arranged randomly in the growth box. A total of 32 pots were established for each genotype: four treatments with the graded dose of P (P0–P3); each treatment was established in eight replications (pots).

3.2. Measurement of Photosynthetic Parameters of Pea Plants

Selected photosynthetic parameters of pea plant The content of chlorophyll (like N-tester value), and selected parameters of fluorescence (quantum yield of photosystem II, and chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio) were evaluated. The measurements were performed 14 (T1) and 28 days (T2) after the foliar application.

3.2.1. Content of Chlorophyll (N-Tester Value)

The content of chlorophyll in pea leaves, expressed as N-tester values, was determined using an N-Tester instrument (Yara International ASA, Oslo, Norway) in the wavelength range 650–940 nm [55]. Chlorophyll content was determined from leaves located in the middle part of the plants.

3.2.2. Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters

Photochemical *efficiency* of *photosystem II* (PSII) in pea plants was determined. Chlorophyll fluorescence determination was performed with a PAR-FluorPen FP 110-LM/S (Photon Systems Instruments, Drásov, Czech Republic). The measured data were subsequently evaluated using FluorPen 1.1 software [56]. The leaves of the pea plant were dark adapted for 30 min prior to the measurement. Protocol for the measurement of chlorophyll fluorescence parameters is presented in Table 6.

Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters	Pulse Type	Light Intensity (µmol/m²/s)	Phase	Duration (s)	1st Pulse (s)	Pulse Interval (s)
Φ_{PSII}	Saturation	2400	-	1 pulse		
	Flash	900	L	60	0.2	1
			DR	88	1	1
R_{Fd}	Saturation	2400	L	60	7	12
			DR	88	11	26
	Actinic	300	L	60	-	-

Table 6. Measurement protocol of the chlorophyll fluorescence.

 $\lambda = 454$ nm, L—light, DR—Dark recovery.

The Quantum yield of the PSII (Φ_{PSII}) and the Chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio (R_{Fd}) were measured as a photochemical quenching parameter (Table 7).

Table 7. The photochemical quenching parameter.

Chlorophyll Fluor	Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters		
Φ_{PSII}	$F_m - F_0/F_m$	[57]	
R_{Fd}	F _d /F _s	[58]	

 (F_0) minimal fluorescence from the dark-adapted leaves, F_m means maximal fluorescence from the dark-adapted leaves; (F_d) fluorescence decrease from $(F_m \text{ to } F_s; F_s)$ steady state chlorophyll fluorescence.

3.3. Yield Parameters and Seed Quality

The pea plants were harvested at the full ripeness on 29 July 2020. The height of plants, the yield of seeds per pot, the weight of one thousand seeds, and the number of seeds were determined. Plant height was measured before harvesting. After cutting

the plants, the pea seeds were harvested by hand. The pea seeds were then weighed (laboratory scale PCB Kern, KERN and Sohn GmbH, Balingen, Germany), and counted (seed counter Contador, Pfeuffer GmbH, Kitzingen, Germany). The weight of 1000-seeds was subsequently determined.

Subsequently, the pea seeds were analyzed in order to evaluate selected qualitative parameters, namely: the content of phytic acid (phytate), content of phosphorus in the phytate, content of crude protein, ash material, and content of nutrients in seeds (P, K, Mg, Ca, and Zn).

3.3.1. Determination of Phytic Acid (Phytate)

Content of phytic acid was determined using a commercial kit "Phytic acid (phytate)/Total phosphorus" (Megazyme, Bray, Ireland) [59]. Pea seeds were finely ground using the Foss Tecator Cyclotec 1093 (Foss Analytical, Hillerød, Denmark). For analysis, 1 g of flour was weighted. Phytic acid from the sample was extracted with 0.66 M HCl. The neutralized aliquot of the sample was treated with phytase that was specific for phytic acid, and the lower myo-inositol phosphate forms. Then, the sample was treated with alkaline phosphatase that hydrolyzed myo-inositol phosphates and released free phosphate. The total phosphate was measured using a colorimetric method with molybdenum blue (Spekol 1300, Analytik Jena AG, Jena, Germany). The amount of molybdenum blue was proportional to the amount of phosphate in the sample.

3.3.2. Analysis of Crude Protein and Ash

Ash material was determined by weighing the material remaining after the burning of a fixed-weight sample at 550 °C and specified conditions. Nitrogenous substances were measured by the Kjeldal method (N \times 6.25 coefficient) using the Kjeltec 2300 device (Foss Analytical, Hillerød, Denmark) [60].

3.3.3. Determination of Nutrient Contents

The samples of pea seeds were dried at temperature of 50 °C, then crushed in the grinder (Foss Tecator Cyclotec 1093, Foss Analytical, Hillerød, Denmark), and homogenized. After the microwave closed vessel acid digestion (HNO_3/H_2O_2) in ETHOS One (Milestone Srl, Sorisole, Italy), the contents of nutrients were determined (Table 8).

Nutrient	Method Used	Device Used	Ref.
Р	Spectrophotometry	Unicam 8625 UV/VIS (Pye Unicam Ltd., Cambridge, UK)	[61]
K, Mg, Ca, Zn	Atomic absorption spectrometry	ContrAA 700 (Analytik Jena AG, Jena, Germany)	[61]

Table 8. The methods for the determination of nutrients in pea seed.

(UV/VIS) ultraviolet-visible.

3.4. Statistical Data Analysis

Measured data were statistically evaluated using STATISTICA 12 program (TIBCO Software Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) [62]. The normality and homogeneity of variances were verified, respectively, by Shapiro-Wilk's and Levene's test at $p \le 0.05$. The influence of the monitored factors was analyzed via two-way ANOVA (level of significance $p \le 0.05$). All evaluated parameters are expressed in tables and graphs as the arithmetic mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The differences between the arithmetical means were evaluated by the Fisher's (*LSD*) test at the 95% (p < 0.05), and 99% (p < 0.01) level of significance.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.Š.; methodology, P.Š., M.Š. and J.A.; formal analysis, P.Š., M.Š., J.A. and Z.K.; investigation, P.Š., M.Š., J.A., P.H. and J.H.; writing—original draft preparation, P.Š., M.Š., J.A., P.H., I.S., J.H. and R.D., writing—review and editing P.Š., M.Š. and Z.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was financially supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic under the project No. QK1810072, Development of biofortified pea breeding lines with low phytic acid content.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. Due to the nature of this research, participants of this study did not agree for their data to be shared publicly, so supporting data is not available.

Acknowledgments: The authors thanks Professor Tom Warkentin, Centre/Department of Plant Sciences, University of Saskatchewan, Canada, for providing Canadian varieties and LP pea lines.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Kosev, V.; Pachev, I. Genetic Improvement of field pea (Pisum sativum L.) in Bulgaria. Field Veg. Crop Res. 2010, 47, 403–408.
- Tesfaye, M.; Liu, J.; Allan, D.L.; Vance, C.P. Genomic and genetic control of phosphate stress in legumes. *Plant Physiol.* 2007, 144, 594–603. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rotaru, V.; Sinclair, T.R. Influence of plant phosphorus and iron concentrations on growth of soybean. J. Plant Nutr. 2009, 32, 1513–1526. [CrossRef]
- Mitran, T.; Meena, R.S.; Lal, R.; Layek, J.; Kumar, S.; Datta, R. Role of Soil Phosphorus on Legume Production. In *Legumes for Soil Health and Sustainable Management*; Meena, R.S., Das, A., Yadav, G.S., Lal, R., Eds.; Springer: Singapore; New York, NY, USA, 2018; pp. 487–510.
- Ejaz, S.; Batool, S.; Anjum, M.A.; Naz, S.; Qayyum, M.F.; Naqqash, T.; Shah, K.H.; Ali, S. Effects of inoculation of root-associative Azospirillum and Agrobacterium strains on growth, yield and quality of pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) grown under different nitrogen and phosphorus regimes. *Sci. Hortic.* 2020, 270, 109401. [CrossRef]
- Agegnehu, G.; Fessehaie, R. Response of faba bean to phosphate fertilizer and weed control on Nitisols of Ethiopian highlands. *Ital. J. Agron.* 2006, 1, 281–290. [CrossRef]
- Khadraji, A.; Bouhadi, M.; Ghoulam, C. Effect of Soil Available Phosphorus Levels on Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.)—Rhizobia Symbiotic Association. *Legum. Res.* 2020, 43, 878–883.
- Alene, A.A.; Raffi, M.M.; Tiruneh, K.J. Phosphorus use efficiency, yield and nodulation of mung bean (*Vigna radiata* L.) as influenced by the rate of phosphorus and Rhizobium strains inoculation in Metema district, Ethiopia. J. Plant Nutr. 2021, 44, 1300–1315. [CrossRef]
- Bi, Y.; Zhou, P.; Li, S.; Wei, Y.; Xiong, X.; Shi, Y.; Liu, N.; Zhang, Y. Interspecific interactions contribute to higher forage yield and are affected by phosphorus application in a fully-mixed perennial legume and grass intercropping system. *Field Crops Res.* 2019, 244, 107636. [CrossRef]
- Qader, H.R. Effect of foliar application of Phosphorus on Growth and development of *Vicia faba* L. under Magnesium levels. ZANCO J. Pure Appl. Sci. 2019, 31, 173–179.
- 11. Froese, S.; Wiens, J.T.; Warkentin, T.; Schoenau, J.J.; Beres, B. Response of canola, wheat, and pea to foliar phosphorus fertilization at a phosphorus-deficient site in eastern Saskatchewan. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 2020, 100, 642–652. [CrossRef]
- 12. Gibson, R.S.; Yeudall, F.; Drost, N.; Mtitimuni, B.; Cullinan, T. Dietary interventions to prevent zinc deficiency. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **1998**, *68*, 484S–487S. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Turnlund, J.R.; King, J.C.; Gong, B.; Keyes, W.R.; Michel, M.C. A stable isotope study of copper absorption in young men: Effect of phytate and a-cellulose. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 1985, 42, 18–23. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Raboy, V. Myo-Inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate. Phytochemistry 2003, 64, 1033–1043. [CrossRef]
- 15. Raboy, V. Approaches and challenges to engineering seed phytate and total phosphorus. Plant Sci. 2009, 177, 281–296. [CrossRef]
- Wilcox, J.R.; Premachandra, G.S.; Young, K.A.; Raboy, V. Isolation of high seed inorganic P, low-phytate soybean mutants. Crop. Sci. 2000, 40, 1601–1605. [CrossRef]
- Warkentin, T.D.; Delgerjav, O.; Arganosa, G.; Rehman, A.U.; Bett, K.E.; Anbessa, Y.; Rossnagel, B.; Raboy, V. Development and Characterization of Low-Phytate Pea. Crop. Sci. 2012, 52, 74–78. [CrossRef]
- Raboy, V.; Dickinson, D.B. Phytic acid levels in seeds of Glycine max and G. soja as influenced by phosphorus status. *Crop. Sci.* 1993, 33, 1300–1305. [CrossRef]
- 19. Miller, G.A.; Youngs, V.L.; Oplinger, E.S. Effect of available soil-phosphorus and environment on the phytic acid concentration in oats. *Cereal Chem.* **1980**, *57*, 192–194.
- 20. Saneoka, H.; Koba, T. Plant growth and phytic acid accumulation in seed as affected by phosphorus application in maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Grassl. Sci.* **2003**, *48*, 485–489.
- 21. Fernández, V.; Brown, P.H. From plant surface to plant metabolism: The uncertain fate of foliar-applied nutrients. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2013**, *4*, 289. [CrossRef]

- Noack, S.R.; McBeath, T.M.; McLaughlin, M.J. Potential for foliar phosphorus fertilization of dryland cereal crops: A review. Crop. Pasture Sci. 2011, 62, 659–669. [CrossRef]
- Ling, F.; Silberbush, M. Response of maize to foliar vs. soil application of nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium fertilizers. J. Plant Nutr. 2007, 1, 2333–2342. [CrossRef]
- Mosali, J.; Desta, K.; Teal, R.; Freeman, K.; Martin, K.; Lawless, J.; Raun, W. Effect of foliar application of phosphorus on winter wheat grain yield, phosphorus uptake and use efficiency. J. Plant Nutr. 2006, 29, 2147–2163. [CrossRef]
- Waraich, E.A.; Ahmad, Z.; Ahmad, R.; Saifullah; Ashraf, M.Y. Foliar Applied Phosphorous Enhanced Growth, Chlorophyll Contents, Gas Exchange Attributes and PUE in Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). J. Plant Nutr. 2015, 38, 1929–1943. [CrossRef]
- Thapar, S.; Sekhon, B.S.; Atwal, A.; Singh, R. Phosphorus assimilation in mycorrhizal moong (*Vigna radita* L.) plants under different phosphorus levels. *Plant Sci.* 1990, 71, 209–214. [CrossRef]
- Lopez-Cantarero, I.; Lorente, F.A.; Romero, L. Are chlorophylls good indicators of nitrogen and phosphorus levels? J. Plant Nutr. 1994, 17, 979–990. [CrossRef]
- 28. Fan, L.; Silberbush, M. Response of maize to foliar vs. soil application of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizers. *J. Plant Nutr.* **2002**, *25*, 2333–2342.
- 29. Shubhra, J.D.; Goswami, C.L.; Munjal, R. Influence of phosphorus application on water relations, biochemical parameters and gum content in cluster bean under water deficit. *Biol. Plant.* **2004**, *48*, 445–448. [CrossRef]
- 30. Marschner, P. Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd ed.; Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2012; p. 672.
- Carstensen, A.; Herdean, A.; Schmidt, S.B.; Sharma, A.; Spetea, C.; Pribil, M.; Husted, S. The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron transport chain. *Plant Physiol.* 2018, 177, 271–284. [CrossRef]
- 32. Xu, H.X.; Weng, X.Y.; Yang, Y. Effect of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic characteristics of rice plants. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.* 2007, *54*, 741–748. [CrossRef]
- Xing, D.; Wu, Y. Effect of phosphorus deficiency on photosynthetic inorganic carbon assimilation of three climber plant species. Bot. Stud. 2014, 55, 60. [CrossRef]
- Taliman, N.A.; Dong, Q.; Echigo, K.; Raboy, V.; Saneoka, H. Effect of Phosphorus Fertilization on the Growth, Photosynthesis, Nitrogen Fixation, Mineral Accumulation, Seed Yield, and Seed Quality of a Soybean Low-Phytate Line. *Plants* 2019, *8*, 119. [CrossRef]
- Fryer, M.J.; Andrews, J.R.; Oxborough, K.; Blowers, D.A.; Baker, N.R. Relationship between CO₂ assimilation, photosynthetic electron transport, and active O₂ metabolism in leaves of maize in the field during periods of low temperature. *Plant Physiol.* **1998**, *116*, 571–580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Thuynsma, R.; Kleinert, A.; Kossmann, J.; Valentine, A.J.; Hills, P.N. The effects of limiting phosphate on photosynthesis and growth of *Lotus japonicus*. S. Afr. J. Bot. 2016, 104, 244–248. [CrossRef]
- Shunmugam, A.S.K.; Bock, C.; Arganosa, G.C.; Georges, F.; Gray, G.R.; Warkentin, T.D. Accumulation of Phosphorus-Containing Compounds in Developing Seeds of Low-Phytate Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) Mutants. *Plants* 2015, *4*, 1–26. [CrossRef]
- Khan, M.J.; Muhammad, D.; Fahad, S.; Adnan, M.; Wahid, F.; Alamri, S.; Khan, F.; Dawar, K.M.; Irshad, I.; Danish, S.; et al. Phosphorus Nutrient Management through Synchronization of Application Methods and Rates in Wheat and Maize Crops. *Plants* 2020, *9*, 1389.
- Rady, M.M.; El-Shewy, A.A.; Seif El-Yazal, M.A.; Abdelaal, K.E.S. Response of Salt-Stressed Common Bean Plant Performances to Foliar Application of Phosphorus (MAP). *Int. Lett. Nat. Sci.* 2018, 72, 7–20. [CrossRef]
- Singh, U.; Singh, B. Effect of basal and foliar application of diammonium phosphate in cognizance with phosphate-solubilizing bacteria on growth, yield and quality of rainfed chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*). *Indian J. Agron.* 2014, 59, 427–432.
- Krasilnikoff, G.; Gahoonia, T.; Erik-Nelson, N. Variation in phosphorus uptake by genotypes of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) due to differences in root and root hair length and induced rhizosphere processes. *Plant Soil* 2003, 251, 83–91.
- Bohn, L.; Meyer, A.S.; Rasmussen, S.K. Phytate: Impact on environment and human nutrition. A challenge for molecular breeding. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B 2008, 9, 165–191. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Klimek-Kopyra, A.; Hakl, J.; Skladanka, J.; Dłużniewska, J. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on seed yield and quality of pea (*Pisum sativum L.*) cultivars across different seasons. *Ital. J. Agron.* 2019, 14, 208–213. [CrossRef]
- 44. Musa, E.M.; Elsheikh, E.A.E.; Ahmed, I.A.M.; Babiker, E.E. Effect of intercropping, *Bradyrhizobium* inoculation and N, P fertilizers on yields, physical and chemical quality of cowpea seeds. *Front. Agric. China* **2011**, *5*, 543–557. [CrossRef]
- 45. Kyei-Boahen, S.; Savala, C.E.N.; Chikoye, D.; Abaidoo, R. Growth and Yield Responses of Cowpea to Inoculation and Phosphorus Fertilization in Different Environments. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 646. [CrossRef]
- 46. Malakondaiah, N.; Rajeswararao, G. Effect of foliar application of phosphorus on growth and mineral composition in peanut plants (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) under salt-stress. *Plant Soil* **1979**, *52*, 41–48. [CrossRef]
- 47. Shankarlingappa, B.C.; Shivraj, B.; Vishwanath, K.P. Interaction effect of phosphorus and sulphur on uptake of nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulphur by pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan*). *Indian J. Agron.* **2000**, *45*, 348–352.
- Kumar, P.; Kumar, P.; Singh, T.; Singh, A.K.; Yadav, R.I. Effect of different potassium levels on mungbean under custard apple based Agri-Horti system. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.* 2014, *9*, 728–734.
- 49. Kumar, P.; Pandey, S.K.; Kumar, P. Effect of Different Phosphorus Levels on Nutrient Content, Uptake and Economics of Urd bean under Custard Apple based Agri-Horti System. J. AgriSearch 2015, 2, 88–93.

- Zhang, Y.Q.; Deng, Y.; Chen, R.Y.; Cui, Z.L.; Chen, X.P.; Yost, R.; Zhang, F.S.; Zou, C.Q. The reduction in zinc concentration of wheat grain upon increased phosphorus-fertilization and its mitigation by foliar zinc application. *Plant Soil* 2012, 361, 143–152. [CrossRef]
- 51. Ova, E.A.; Kutman, U.B.; Ozturk, L.; Cakmak, I. High phosphorus supply reduced zinc concentration of wheat in native soil but not in autoclaved soil or nutrient solution. *Plant Soil* **2015**, 393, 147–162. [CrossRef]
- 52. Warkentin, T.; Vandenberg, A.; Banniza, S.; Slinkard, A. CDC Bronco field pea. Can. J. Plant Sci. 2005, 85, 649–650. [CrossRef]
- 53. Blade, S.; Warkentin, T.; Vandenberg, A. Cutlass field pea. Can. J. Plant Sci. 2004, 84, 533-534.
- 54. Zbíral, J. Analysis of Soils, I. Unified Techniques, 2nd ed.; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2002; p. 197. (In Czech)
- Netto, A.L.; Campostrini, E.; Goncalves de Oliverira, J.; Bressan-Smith, R.E. Photosynthetic pigments, nitrogen, chlorophyll a fluorescence and SPAD-502 readings in coffee leaves. Sci. Hortic. 2005, 104, 199–209. [CrossRef]
- Škarpa, P.; Klofáč, D.; Krčma, F.; Šimečková, J.; Kozáková, Z. Effect of Plasma Activated Water Foliar Application on Selected Growth Parameters of Maize (Zea mays L.). Water 2020, 12, 3545. [CrossRef]
- 57. Genty, B.; Briantais, J.M.; Baker, N.R. The relationship between quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1989, 990, 87–92. [CrossRef]
- Lichtenthaler, H.K.; Buschmann, C.; Knapp, M. How to correctly determine the different chlorophyll fluorescence parameters and the chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio RFd of leaves with the PAM fluorometer. *Photosynthetica* 2005, 43, 379–393. [CrossRef]
- McKie, V.A.; McCleary, B.V. A Novel and Rapid Colorimetric Method for Measuring Total Phosphorus and Phytic Acid in Food and Animal Feeds. J. AOAC Int. 2016, 99, 738–743. [CrossRef]
- 60. Mlejnkova, V.; Horky, P.; Kominkova, M.; Skladanka, J.; Hodulikova, L.; Adam, V.; Mlcek, J.; Jurikova, T.; Sochor, J. Biogenic amines and hygienic quality of lucerne silage. *Open Life Sci.* **2016**, *11*, 280–286. [CrossRef]
- 61. Zbíral, J. *Plant Analysis: Integrated Work Procedures;* Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2005; p. 192. (In Czech)
- StatSoft, Inc. STATISTICA (Data Analysis Software System), Version 12. 2013. Available online: www.statsoft.com (accessed on 5 May 2021).



Article



Using Waste Sulfur from Biogas Production in Combination with Nitrogen Fertilization of Maize (*Zea mays* L.) by Foliar Application

Petr Škarpa¹, Jiří Antošovský^{1,*}, Pavel Ryant¹, Tereza Hammerschmiedt¹, Antonín Kintl^{1,2} and Martin Brtnický¹

- ¹ Department of Agrochemistry, Soil Science, Microbiology and Plant Nutrition, Mendel University in Brno, Zemědělská 1, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic; petr.skarpa@mendelu.cz (P.Š.); pavel.ryant@mendelu.cz (P.R.); tereza.hammerschmiedt@mendelu.cz (T.H.); antonin.kintl@mendelu.cz (A.K.); martin.brtnicky@mendelu.cz (M.B.)
- ² Agricultural Research, Ltd., Zahradní 400/1, 664 41 Troubsko, Czech Republic
- * Correspondence: jiri.antosovsky@mendelu.cz; Tel.: +420-545-133-093

Abstract: In Europe, mainly due to industrial desulfurization, the supply of soil sulfur (S), an essential nutrient for crops, has been declining. One of the currently promoted sources of renewable energy is biogas production, which produces S as a waste product. In order to confirm the effect of the foliar application of waste elemental S in combination with liquid urea ammonium nitrate (UAN) fertilizer, a vegetation experiment was conducted with maize as the main crop grown for biogas production. The following treatments were included in the experiment: 1. Control (no fertilization), 2. UAN, 3. UANS1 (N:S ratio, 2:1), 4. UANS2 (1:1), 5. UANS3 (1:2). The application of UAN increased the N content in the plant and significantly affected the chlorophyll content (N-tester value). Despite the lower increase in nitrogen (N) content and uptake by the plant due to the application of UANS significantly increased the S content of the plant. The increase in the weight of plants found on the treatment fertilized with UANS can be explained by the synergistic relationship between N and S, which contributed to the increase in crop nitrogen use efficiency. This study suggests that the foliar application of waste elemental S in combination with UAN at a 1:1 ratio could be an effective way to optimize the nutritional status of maize while reducing mineral fertilizer consumption.

Keywords: chlorophyll content; fluorescence parameters; plant weight; plant nutrient content; nitrogen use efficiency

1. Introduction

One of the principles of the European Green Deal is the proposal of greenhouse gas emissions cut by at least 55% by the year 2030, which should set Europe to a path to becoming climate-neutral by the year 2050 [1]. According to the European Biogas Association (EBA), biogas, biomethane, and other renewable gases will play a key role in helping Europe's transition to a clean energy system [2], and the European Commission's strategies promise targeted support for biogas in the revised Renewable Energy Directive and gas legislation. EBA, Eurogas, and the Gas for Climate consortium are calling for an EU-wide renewable target of at least 11%. The annual production of biogas in Europe reaches 15.8 bcm and is relatively stable with a total of 18,943 biogas plants according to the EBA [3].

A biogas plant produces biogas, which can then be used for the cogeneration of electricity and heat. Biogas is a mixture of methane, carbon dioxide, and other components such as hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) [4]. The biogas must be pretreated before use. The first step of the purification process is the removal of H_2S , which is corrosive and harmful to health [5,6]. Biogas production is thus associated with the production of waste products.

Citation: Škarpa, P.; Antošovský, J.; Ryant, P.; Hammerschmiedt, T.; Kintl, A.; Brtnický, M. Using Waste Sulfur from Biogas Production in Combination with Nitrogen Fertilization of Maize (Zea mays L.) by Foliar Application. Plants 2021, 10, 2188. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants10102188

Academic Editors:

Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukas Hlisnikovsky and Xinhua He

Received: 19 September 2021 Accepted: 13 October 2021 Published: 15 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). The utilization of waste sulfur obtained from the purification process seems to be promising from the point of view of plant nutrition and especially from the economic aspect of biogas production [7,8] and sulfur deficiency in the environment.

European SO₂ emissions have been reduced by 70-80% since 1990 [9,10]. According to results of Engardt et al. [11], sulfur deposition in Europe will decrease until, at least, 2050. For example, in the Czech Republic, atmospheric sulfur deposition is about 5 kg/ha per year [12], so there is a shortage of sulfur in the soil, as it has been presented by many authors [13–18]. According to Zbíral et al. [19], a statistically highly significant decrease in the soil S content caused by reduction of SO₂ emissions in the long-term field experiments in Czech Republic from 33 mg/kg in 1981 to 8 mg/kg in 2017. Therefore, it is necessary to pay special attention to fertilization by sulfur in addition to the other essential nutrients, especially because of the increased cultivation of crops with high sulfur requirements [19,20]. Sulfur in plants is essential for the synthesis of cysteine, methionine, and some vitamins [21]. The deficiency of sulfur in maize as the main crop for biogas production not only reduces yield but also quality parameters such as the content of starch, carbohydrates, and proteins [22]. Sulfur is usually applied in the form of mineral fertilizers, and co-application with nitrogen is recommended by many authors as these nutrients have been proven to have good synergy [23,24]. Salvagiotti and Miralles [25] showed that S addition increased the biomass and grain yield of cereal and the positive interaction of N and S, which resulted in a greater nitrogen use efficiency. A shortage of S supply also lowers the utilization of nitrogen and results in a deterioration in crop quality [26]. As sulfur is an essential constituent of enzymes involved in nitrogen metabolism, its deficiency could lead to a decrease in N assimilation [27,28]. Some reports have shown the accumulation of nitrates in S-deficient plants [29]. In addition, Haneklaus et al. [30] reported that each kg of S deficit causes 15 kg of nitrogen to be lost in the environment. Maize is an important crop that, despite its relatively low sulfur requirements, is severely affected by its deficiency [31,32].

Nitrogen is essential for plants in terms of biomass and yield production [33]. In addition to the conventional nitrogen fertilization of the soil, the nutritional status of the plants can be optimized by foliar fertilization during the plant growth [34]. Foliar fertilization could be used under farming conditions as a quick correction for unexpected nutrient deficiencies, for the late supply of N (and another nutrients) during advanced growth stages, and as a preventive measure against unsuspected (or hidden) deficiencies [35–38]. The foliar application of nutrients is also recommended when the soil or the plant conditions limit the availability of some nutrients [39] and is appropriate under conditions when high loss rates of soil-applied nutrients may occur [40]. For example, the foliar application of nitrogen has significantly improved the grain yield of maize [41] and other cereal crops [42].

The aim of this study was to verify the effect of the foliar application of waste elemental sulfur from biogas production in combination with conventional liquid fertilizers UAN applied in different ratios. Such a reutilization of waste sulfur from biogas plants back in agriculture is suitable from the economic aspect of biogas purification and waste management. The application of this sulfur could help to reduce the consumption of mineral fertilizers and, at the same time, address the deficient sulfur content in the soil and plants.

2. Results and Discussion

The application of UAN fertilizer alone and in combination with sulfur increased the chlorophyll content (N-tester value) in maize leaves compared to the unfertilized control. The increase in chlorophyll was evident at both monitoring terms (t1 and t2), while the differences between the control (N-unfertilized treatment) and the N (UAN) and NS (UANS1-3)-fertilized treatments increased over time (Table 1).

Transforment	t1		t2		
Ireatment	N-Tester Value	Rel. %	N-Tester Value	Rel. %	
Control	$271\pm5~^{\rm f}$	100.0	196 ± 12 g	100.0	
UAN	465 ± 11 $^{\rm a}$	171.6	$379\pm13~^{ m cd}$	193.4	
UANS1	$397\pm14~^{ m bc}$	146.5	$349\pm28~{ m de}$	178.0	
UANS2	414 ± 11 ^b	152.8	$325\pm12~^{\mathrm{e}}$	165.8	
UANS3	393 ± 12 bc	145.0	$319\pm13~^{e}$	162.8	

Table 1. The effect of the foliar fertilizer application on chlorophyll contents (N-tester value).

The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean $(n = 8) \pm SD$ (standard deviation). The same letters next to the numbers describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05). The relative expression of the values is shown in the column marked Rel. % (Control = 100%). The measurements were performed at two growth stages, t1 (5th true leaf) and t2 (6th true leaf).

The N-tester values were significantly correlated with the rate of nitrogen applied in fertilizers at both terms, as presented in Figure 1. The results agree with several studies that have reported a strong correlation between chlorophyll content and the amount of nitrogen in leaves [43–47].



Figure 1. Dependence of N-tester value on nitrogen dose. The measurements were carried out on the 1st (t1) and 2nd (t2) growth stages of maize.

Nitrogen is part of the enzymes associated with chlorophyll synthesis [48] and the chlorophyll concentration reflects relative crop N status. Statistically significant highest N-tester values were found for the treatment fertilized with UAN applied without sulfur (UAN) on both measurement terms (t1; t2). The highest nitrogen dose was applied on this treatment. The application of UAN in combination with elemental sulfur (UANS1-3) significantly increased the N-tester value compared to the unfertilized (control) treatment, but the level of chlorophyll content did not reach the values found in plants fertilized with UAN alone. While, in the first measurement term (t1), the highest N-tester value was found for the UANS2 treatment (Table 1), in term t2, the N-tester values were in direct dependence on the nitrogen doses contained in the UAN-sulfur mixture. The N-tester values found at both terms (t1; t2) were significantly correlated with the plant nitrogen content detected at term t3 (r = 0.711, p < 0.001; r = 0.707, p < 0.001, respectively). Evaluation of the nutritional status after the joint application of nitrogen and sulfur using the N-tester was also performed on several dates by Lacroux et al. [49], and their results showed a significant increase in measured values compared to the control, with the highest values achieved by the joint foliar application of N and S.

The ability of the photosystem II to absorb radiation is expressed by the variable chlorophyll fluorescence for dark-adapted leaves (F_v). The more radiation a plant can absorb, the more radiation the plant can use for photosynthesis. Although the ability of

the plant tissue to absorb radiation decreased over time (comparison of F_v levels between t1 and t2), this decrease was not significant for the UAN and UAN combination with sulfur. A significant reduction in F_v values was only observed in the unfertilized treatment (Figure 2). Even though the treatment with the highest sulfur dose (UANS3) showed the lowest F_v values, the results showed that the decrease in F_v between terms t1 and t2 was smallest on this treatment. Nitrogen deficiency decreases the photosynthetic assimilation capacity of CO₂ of plant leaves, leading to decreases in light-saturated photosynthetic rates [50]. In addition, Ciompi et al. [51] and Jin et al. [52] reported a positive correlation between the nitrogen content in the plant tissue of leaves and photosynthetic capacity.



Figure 2. Variable fluorescence (F_v) value after the foliar application of fertilizers. The measurements were carried out on two growth stages of maize (t1 and t2). The values represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8); the bars represent the standard deviation of the mean. There are no statistical differences between columns with the same letters (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05).

After dark adaptation of the maize leaves, the maximum photosynthetic capacity (Φ_{PSII}) was estimated as the quotient between variable and maximum fluorescence (F_v/F_m) . The quantum yield, which indicates the actual capacity for photochemical processes by the availability of reaction centers of the photosystem II (PSII), was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) influenced by the fertilizer application (Figure 3). It is clear that nitrogen significantly affects photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence of the plant. This was demonstrated by the response of maize to nitrogen fertilization in a study by Ahmad et al. [53], in which the effect of nitrogen application increased the electron transport rate, photochemical quenching coefficient, variable fluorescence, maximal quantum yield, and effective quantum yield of PSII photochemistry. A significant increase in Φ_{PSII} values in three maize varieties due to a high nitrogen dose was demonstrated by Jin et al. [52]. Reductions in the quantum yield of PSII electron transfer due to nitrogen deficiency were also described by Nunes et al. [54] and Verhoeven et al. [55]. In our study, the values of Φ_{PSII} were decreased over time regardless of fertilization treatment. The highest value of Φ_{PSII} was determined after the application of UAN with the highest elemental sulfur content (UANS3). These results contradict the above studies, but, on the other hand, they show a positive effect of applied sulfur on nitrogen utilization and its use by the plant. A high linear dependence between the efficiency of carbon fixation and quantum yield value was presented by Fryer et al. [56].

The rate of fluorescence decline (R_{Fd}), an empirical parameter for the quantification of plant vitality under tested conditions, was measured. In contrast to the values of the variable chlorophyll fluorescence (F_v) and quantum yield of PSII (Φ_{PSII}), the rate of fluorescence decline was not statistically significantly affected by foliar fertilization. Only at term t2 did the R_{Fd} value of plants grown on the UANS2 treatment decrease significantly



below the control level, but no trend in the decrease in R_{Fd} due to UAN fertilization in combination with elemental sulfur was observed (Figure 4).

Figure 3. The effect of the foliar application of fertilizers on the quantum yield of PSII photochemistry (Φ_{PSII}). The measurements were carried out on two growth stages of maize (t1 and t2). The values represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8); the bars represent the standard deviation of the mean. There are no statistical differences between columns with the same letters (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05).



Figure 4. Fluorescence decrease ratio (R_{Fd}) in maize leaves after the foliar application of fertilizer. The measurements were carried out on two growth stages of maize (t1 and t2). The values represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8); the bars represent the standard deviation of the mean. There are no statistical differences between columns with the same letters (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05).

The average dry weight of the above-ground biomass (AGB) of plants determined on the 35th day after the foliar application of fertilizer (t3) is shown in Figure 5. The highest plant dry weight was found for the treatment fertilized with UAN, which provided the most nitrogen to the plants. The dry weight of plants produced on this treatment was 2.4 times higher compared to the unfertilized Control. The dry weight of plants fertilized with the UANS fertilizer combination ranged from 17.44 to 17.84 g/plant and was not statistically different from the UAN treatment (Figure 5). A significant effect of foliar nitrogen application on plant dry matter yield has been demonstrated in the available literature [57–59], in agreement with our results. The increase in plant weight due to foliar sulfur fertilization was also documented. Perveen et al. [60] observed a significant increase in root and shoot biomass and root and shoot length of maize grown under salinity conditions due to the foliar application of different sulfur compounds. An increased barley yield after elemental sulfur application was described by Grzebisz and Przygocka-Cyna [61] in their long-term experiment. A positive effect of the foliar application of sulfur on canola pods formation and subsequent seed yield was demonstrated by Khalid et al. [62].



Figure 5. Weight of dry matter above-ground biomass of maize after the foliar application of fertilizer. The measurements were taken at the end of experiment (t3). The values represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8); the bars represent the standard deviation of the mean. There are no statistical differences between columns with the same letters (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05). AGB—above-ground biomass.

The UAN fertilizer application significantly increased the nitrogen content of maize leaves. The highest N content, 10.3 g/kg DM, was found in leaves after the application of UAN fertilizer alone (Table 2). There was no significant difference in plant N content among treatments fertilized with a mixture of UAN and elemental sulfur (UANS1-3), but the data showed a relative increase in N content with sulfur rate. An increased leaf N concentration following sulfur fertilization has also been described [31,63]. An increase in the nitrogen content of wheat grain, due to the foliar application of sulfur, was observed by Tea et al. [64] and Rossini et al. [65]. This effect could be due to a better assimilation of foliar-applied N and S compared to their soil-applied counterparts.

Table 2. Nutrient content and nutrient uptake by DM of AGB and the N:S ratio.

	Nitro	gen	Sulf	fur	
Ireatment	g/kg DM	Rel. %	g/kg DM	Rel. %	- N:S Katio
Control	7.7 ± 0.8 ^b	100.0	$3.4\pm0.6~^{a}$	100.0	$2.3\pm0.5^{\text{ b}}$
UAN	$10.3\pm1.8~^{\rm a}$	134.0	$2.8\pm0.6^{\text{ b}}$	80.9	3.8 ± 0.4 ^a
UANS1	9.3 ± 0.6 ^a	121.6	3.6 ± 0.4 a	104.4	$3.1\pm0.8~^{\mathrm{ab}}$
UANS2	9.7 ± 0.7 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	127.1	3.3 ± 1.3 ^a	97.1	$3.4\pm1.6~^{\mathrm{ab}}$
UANS3	$9.9\pm0.5~^{a}$	129.7	$3.3\pm0.7~^{a}$	97.8	$2.6\pm0.4~^{ab}$

The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8) \pm SD (standard deviation). The same letters next to the numbers describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05). DM—dry matter, AGB—above-ground biomass.

Sutar et al. [22] described the critical sulfur concentration in dry matter of maize leaves as 1.5 g/kg DM. The sulfur content in the ABG of maize plants ranged from 2.8 to 3.6 g/kg DM (Table 2). Its content in the ABG of plants grown on the treatments fertilized with a mixture of UAN and elemental sulfur (UANS1-3) was identical to that of unfertilized plants (Control). Only in the nitrogen-fertilized treatment (UAN) was the amount of sulfur significantly lowest (Table 2). This fact is not only related to the absence of sulfur in the fertilizer, but it can also be explained by the dilution of nutrients in the maize plant tissue that occurred as a result of the increase in DM weight of AGB on this treatment (Figure 5). Therefore, the nutrient uptake by the plant was calculated as a more appropriate parameter expressing the nutritional status of the plants (Figure 6). Nutrient uptake is the relationship between the DM weight of AGB and its nutrient content, expressed in g of nutrient per plant (g/plant). Logically, the highest nitrogen uptake was recorded in the UAN-fertilized treatment, i.e., the treatment with the highest applied nitrogen rate. Even though nitrogen uptake by plants was not significantly different among the treatments fertilized with UAN and elemental sulfur mixtures, plants fertilized with fertilizers containing a higher proportion of elemental sulfur (UANS2 and UANS3) showed a higher uptake of nitrogen by plant AGB. A positive significant interaction between nitrogen and sulfur uptake and utilization was confirmed.



Figure 6. Nitrogen and sulfur uptake by above-ground plant biomass (mg/plant). The measurements were taken at the end of the experiment (t3). The values represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8); the bars represent the standard deviation of the mean. There are no statistical differences between columns with the same letters (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05).

The N:S ratio of the plant may also be an interesting indicator of nutritional status, as reported by some authors [31,66]. The principle behind this assessment is the fact that plants need a balanced amount of nitrogen and sulfur for proper amino acid synthesis. Therefore, nitrogen-to-sulfur ratios above a N:S ratio threshold indicate S deficiency [67]. A possible disadvantage of this assessment is the decreasing value of the N:S ratio during the growing season, as reported, for example, by Calvo et al. [68,69] or Scherer [70]. A 15-19:1 N:S ratio has been reported as a limiting ratio for cereals at the time of tillering [71], and an ideal N:S ratio for the optimum growth and development of maize is 15:1 [72]. The observed N:S ratio (Table 2) indicated that the sulfur contained in maize was not deficient in any of the fertilization treatments. From the ratios obtained, it is possible to observe the already described trend, where the highest ratio of nitrogen and sulfur was logically found on the treatment fertilized only with UAN fertilizer. In contrast to our study, significant changes in the N:S ratio after sulfur application were observed [73,74]. However, they agreed that

an increase in the sulfur content of the plant does not necessarily predict increased yield. Sutradhar et al. [31] also confirmed the same conclusion.

The previously mentioned synergism between nitrogen and sulfur can be documented by crop nitrogen use efficiency. The nitrogen supplied by foliar nutrition from fertilizer applied without sulfur addition (UAN) was utilized by the plant at 30.5% (Table 3). A similar level of NUE_{Crop} was found on the treatment fertilized with the lowest sulfur fertilizer mixture (UANS1), whereas an increase in the proportion of sulfur in the fertilizer mixture increased nitrogen use efficiency. The relationship between nitrogen recovery from applied fertilizers and the dose of sulfur applied by the fertilizer mixture was statistically significant (NUE_{Crop} = 22.9 + 0.171 × sulfur dose, r = 0.709; p = 0.002).

Table 3. Crop nitrogen use efficiency.

NUE	Crop	
%	Rel. %	
-	-	
30.5 ± 5.3 ^b	100.0	
29.9 ± 7.9 ^b	97.8	
50.1 ± 5.6 ^b	164.2	
$73.4\pm8.2~^{\mathrm{a}}$	240.3	
	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline & & & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ \hline & & & &$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline & & & & & & \\ \hline & & & & & & & \\ \hline & & & &$

The values in the table represent the arithmetic mean (n = 8) \pm SD (standard deviation). The same letters next to the numbers describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, p < 0.05).

In agreement with our results, several studies showed that sulfur fertilization may increase NUE [75–77]. As sulfur is an essential constituent of enzymes involved in nitrogen metabolism [78], its deficiency may lead to ineffective utilization of the nitrogen content in plant [79,80]. An increase in nitrogen uptake by maize plants due to graded doses of foliar sulfur application was presented by Sarfaraz et al. [81].

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Experimental Methodology, Plant Material, and Growth Conditions

The pot vegetation experiment was established in the vegetation hall of the Biotechnological house at Mendel University in Brno located at 49°21′03″ N and 16°61′38″ E. Mitscherlich pots (STOMA GmbH, Siegburg, Germany) were filled with 6.5 kg of air-dried and sieved soil (2 cm diameter sieve). Properties of the soil used in the pot experiment are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Properties of soil used in pot experiment.

Soil Parameter	Value	Ref
pH (CaCl ₂)	6.09	[82]
Soil oxidizable carbon (Cox)	0.80%	[83]
Clay	20%	[84]
Silt	27%	[82]
Sand	53%	[82]
Cation Exchange Capacity	164 mmol/kg	[82]
N total	0.19%	[82]
$N-NH_4^+$ (K ₂ SO ₄)	1.48 mg/kg	[82]
$N-NO_{3}^{-}(K_{2}SO_{4})$	17.2 mg/kg	[82]
S (water soluble)	8 mg/kg	[82]
P (Mehlich 3)	36.4 mg/kg	[82]
K (Mehlich 3)	400 mg/kg	[82]
Ca (Mehlich 3)	2720 mg/kg	[82]
Mg (Mehlich 3)	214 mg/kg	[82]

The maize (*Zea mays* L.), cultivar SY ORPHEUS (Syngenta Czech s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic), was chosen for this study. Four seeds of maize were sown to a 4 cm depth

in each pot. The number of plants in each pot was reduced to two plants per pot two weeks after the sowing.

The pot experiment was carried out under seminatural conditions in the outdoor vegetation hall under a rain shelter. The air temperature, air humidity, and solar radiation during the maize growing season are shown in Figure 7. After a cooler April (11.8 °C) and May (12.6 °C), a warming period occurred at the beginning of June (22.6 °C), which lasted until the end of the experiment (average air temperature in July was 19.6 °C). The relative air humidity fluctuated evenly between 40 and 90% during the experiment. Global solar radiation also fluctuated over time depending on weather conditions, with levels increasing slightly during the experiment (April: 16.9; July: 22.1 MJ/m²). A controlled watering regime identical for all treatments (pots) was used in the experiment. Plants were watered to 70% of the maximum water holding capacity throughout the growing season. The pots were watered by hand with demineralized water on the soil surface.



Figure 7. The average daily temperature (°C), relative humidity (%), and global solar radiation (MJ/m^2) in the vegetation hall during the experiment.

Liquid urea ammonium nitrate fertilizer (UAN; 30% total N–15% N-NH₂, 7.5% N-NO₃, 7.5% N-NH₄) was applied to maize plants in combination with waste elemental sulfur suspension (12% S⁰ suspension) in the ratios shown in Table 5. The sulfur suspension was obtained by the desulfurization of biogas using the Thiopaq[®] scrubber (Paques, Balk, The Netherlands), which works by washing the raw biogas with a slightly alkaline solution (pH 8–9) and the subsequent biological oxidation of sulfides to elemental sulfur. The elemental sulfur particle size in the suspension was less than 60 μ m (96.9% of the particles). Each of the treatments was established in eight replicates (pots). The pots were placed randomly in the vegetation hall under the rain shelter.

The foliar application was carried out on the plant development stage of the 4th true leaf unfolded. The application of 3 mL of fertilizer mixture per pot of each treatment was used. Fertilizers were evenly applied using a pressurized hand pump sprayer (DPZ 1500, ProGlass, Weilheim an der Teck, Germany). The mixture of the waste elemental sulfur with the UAN fertilizer was mixed prior to application to ensure that the elemental sulfur was evenly distributed in the fertilizer mixture and applied uniformly.

During the maize vegetation, chlorophyll content (N-tester value) and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters were evaluated. The measurements were performed 7 (t1) and

21 days (t2) after the foliar application. The weight of dry matter (DM) of maize plant AGB, the content and ratio of nutrients (N and S) in maize plant AGB, and their uptake by plants were determined 35 days after the foliar application of fertilizer mixtures (t3). The schedule of the experiment is shown in Table 6.

Treatment	Proportion o UAN	f Fertilizer in the S Mixture	Nutrient Content in the UANS Mixture (Weight %)		
	UAN	S Suspension	Ν	S	
Control	0	0	0	0	
UAN	100%	0	30	0	
UANS1	66%	33%	20	4	
UANS2	50%	50%	15	6	
UANS3	33%	66%	10	8	

Table 5. Experimental treatments of foliar application in pot experiment.

Table 6. Timetable of the experiment.

Term		Growth Stages of Maize	Operation
1 April 2019		seed	Maize sowing
17 June 2019		4th true leaf	Foliar application of fertilizer mixtures
24 June 2019	t1	5th true leaf	Measurement of chlorophyll content and fluorescence parameters
8 July 2019	t2	6th true leaf	Measurement of chlorophyll content and fluorescence parameters
22 July 2019	t3	7th true leaf	Measurement of AGB harvest, DM weight, content and uptake of nutrient, N:S ratio

3.2. Determination of Plant Growth and Development Parameters

3.2.1. Chlorophyll Content in Plant Leaf (N-Tester Value)

The chlorophyll content of maize leaves was measured using a Yara N-tester (Yara International ASA, Oslo, Norway). The chlorophyll content was expressed as "N-tester value." Measurement was performed at a wavelength range of 650–940 nm [85]. Eight plants were assessed in each treatment in both terms. The measurement of chlorophyll content was performed on the 5th (t1) and 6th true leaves (t2), and the value of the chlorophyll content of each plant was the mean of 60 measurements.

3.2.2. Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters

To determine the photochemical efficiency of photosystem II, selected fluorescence parameters of chlorophyll were measured in maize plant. The tested parameters were measured with the PAR-FluorPen FP 110-LM/S (Photon Systems Instruments, Drásov, Czech Republic) and evaluated using the FluorPen 1.1 software [86]. Measurements of fluorescence parameters were carried out on identical leaves (5th and 6th true leaves) at identical terms (t1 and t2) as for chlorophyll content determination. Maize leaves were dark-adapted for 25 min before measurement. The protocol for measuring the fluorescence parameters of chlorophyll is shown in Table 7.

The variable fluorescence of the dark-adapted leaves (F_v), quantum yield of photosystem II (Φ_{PSII}), and chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio (R_{Fd}) were determined (Table 8).

Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters	Pulse Type	Light Intensity (µmol/m²/s)	Phase	Duration (s)	1st Pulse (s)	Pulse Interval (s)
Φ_{PSII}, F_v	Saturation	2400	-	1 pulse		
	F1 1	000	L	60	0.2	1
	Flash	900	DR	88	1	1
R_{Fd}	Colomation	2400	L	60	7	12
	Saturation	2400	DR	88	11	26
	Actinic	300	L	60	-	-

Table 7. Measurement protocol of the chlorophyll fluorescence parameters.

The measured at wavelength (λ) of 454 nm, L—light, DR—dark recovery, Φ_{PSII} —quantum yield of photosystem II, R_{Fd} —chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio, F_v —variable fluorescence of the dark-adapted leaves.

Table 8. The photochemical quenching parameters.

Chlorophyll Fluor	escence Parameters	Ref.
$F_{v} \ \Phi_{PSII} \ R_{Fd}$	$F_m - F_0$ $F_m - F_0 / F_m$ F_d / F_s	[87] [88] [89]

 \overline{F}_0 —minimal fluorescence from the dark-adapted leaves, Φ_{PSII} —quantum yield of photosystem II, R_{Fd} —chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio, F_m —maximal fluorescence from the dark-adapted leaves; F_d —fluorescence decrease from F_m to F_s ; F_s —steady-state chlorophyll fluorescence.

3.2.3. Determination of Weight Biomass, Nutrient Contents and Uptake, and Nitrogen Use Efficiency

The ABG of maize plants was harvested on 22 July 2019 (t3). The ABG was then ovendried at 60 °C for the first two hours. The temperature was then reduced to 45 °C where the samples were kept for 72 h. The dry weight of ABG was determined using a laboratory-scale PCB Kern (KERN & Sohn GmbH, Balingen, Germany). Then, the dried ABG was crushed and homogenized by the grinder Grindomix GM200 (Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). The HNO₃/H₂O₂ [90] digestion of biomass was achieved using a microwave digestion system in ETHOS 1 (Milestone Srl, Sorisole, Italy). Subsequently, the nutrient content (Table 9) and nutrient ratio were determined, and crop nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{Crop}) was calculated by the relationship NUE_{Crop} = N yield/N input \cdot 100 (N yield = nitrogen uptake by plants (mg/pot); N input = nitrogen applied by foliar fertilizers (mg/pot)) [91]. In the calculation of NUE_{Crop}, the nitrogen uptake by plants grown on the fertilized treatments (N yield) was subtracted from the nitrogen uptake observed on the control treatment (this amount of nitrogen characterized the natural soil supply).

Table 9. The methods for the determination of nutrients in maize AGB.

Nutrient	Method Used	Device Used	Ref.
Ν	Kjeldal method	Kjeltec 2300 device (Foss Analytical, Hillerød, Denmark)	[92]
S	Optical emission spectrometry	ICP-OES (Spectro, Kleve, Germany)	[93]

3.3. Statistical Data Analysis

The effect of the foliar application of fertilizer mixtures on the plant growth and development parameters was statistically analyzed by the STATISTICA 12 program (TIBCO Software, San Jose, CA, USA) [94]. The effect of the foliar application on the N-tester value, chlorophyll fluorescence parameters, dry weight of ABG, and nutrient content ABG of maize was analyzed separately for each treatment of the experiment. The normality was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test, and the homogeneity was verified by the Levene test at $p \leq 0.05$. The effect of fertilization was analyzed using ANOVA. Fisher's LSD test ($p \leq 0.05$) was used to determine any statistically significant differences between the means of treatments.

4. Conclusions

Nitrogen plays an important role in maize nutrition, contributes to chlorophyll formation, and significantly influences the photosynthetic activity of plants. The result of the vegetation experiment showed that the efficiency of mineral nitrogen fertilization can be increased by the foliar application of liquid fertilizers with sulfur addition. The optimal adjustment of the ratio of applied nutrients (N and S) improves the nutritional status of the plants and allows the reduction in their doses while minimizing the environmental risks associated with fertilization. The foliar application of UAN fertilizer in combination with elemental sulfur from biogas production in a 1:1 ratio seems to be a sensible way to optimize the nutritional status of maize, both for the economics of biogas purification, when the waste sulfur is reused as a fertilizer, and for environmental reasons. However, verification of the results obtained from the pot experiment in field trials will be necessary.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.Š. and J.A.; methodology, P.Š., J.A. and M.B.; validation, J.A. and P.Š.; investigation and data analyses, J.A. and P.Š.; resources, J.A., M.B., A.K. and P.Š.; writing—original draft preparation, P.Š. and J.A.; writing—review and editing, P.R., M.B., A.K. and T.H.; project administration, M.B.; funding acquisition, M.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Technology Agency of the Czech Republic, grant TH04030142: Utilization of Biogas Waste to Improve Soil Properties and Increase Sulphur Content of Plants.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. Due to the nature of this research, participants of this study did not agree for their data to be shared publicly, so supporting data are not available.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- European Commission. The European Green Deal. COM(2019) 640 Final; European Commission: Brussels, Belgium, 2019. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2019%3A640%3AFIN (accessed on 13 September 2021).
- Arnau, Á.S.; Pflüger, S.; Giacomazzi, M.; Decorte, M.; Genua, M. Annual Report 2020; European Biogas Association: Brussels, Belgium. Available online: https://www.europeanbiogas.eu/eba-annual-report-2020/ (accessed on 7 September 2021).
- European Biogas Association—EBA. European Biogas Association Statistical Report 2020; European Biogas Association: Brussels, Belgium, 2021.
- Fontaine, D.; Eriksen, J.; Sørensen, P. Sulfur from biogas desulfurization: Fate of S during storage in manure and after application to plants. Sci. Total Environ. 2021, 754, 142180. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Okoro, O.V.; Sun, Z. Desulphurisation of biogas: A systematic qualitative and economic-based quantitative review of alternative strategies. *Chem. Eng.* 2019, 3, 76. [CrossRef]
- 6. Allegue, L.B.; Hinge, J.H. Biogas Upgrading Evaluation for H2S Removal; Danish Technology Institute: Taastrup, Denmark, 2014.
- Fernández-Delgado, J.M.; Mostbauer, P.; Knapp, A.; Müller, W.; Tertsch, S.; Bockreis, A.; Insam, H. Biogas purification with biomass ash. Waste Manag. 2018, 71, 224–232. [CrossRef]
- 8. Pacheco da Costa, T.; Quinteiro, P.; Tarelho, L.A.C.; Arroja, L.; Dias, A.C. Life cycle assessment of woody biomass ash for soil amelioration. *Waste Manag.* **2020**, *101*, 126–140. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 9. Degryse, F.; Ajiboye, B.; Baird, R.; da Silva, R.C.; McLaughlin, M.J. Oxidation of elemental sulfur in granular fertilizers depends on the soil-exposed surface area. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **2016**, *80*, 294–305. [CrossRef]
- Hoesly, R.M.; Smith, S.J.; Feng, L.; Klimont, Z.; Janssens-Maenhout, G.; Pitkanen, T.; Seibert, J.J.; Vu, L.; Andres, R.J.; Bolt, R.M.; et al. Historical (1750–2014) anthropogenic emissions of reactive gases and aerosols from the Community Emission Data System (CEDS). *Geosci. Model Dev.* 2017, *11*, 369–408. [CrossRef]
- 11. Engardt, M.; Simpson, D.; Schwikowski, M.; Granat, L. Deposition of sulphur and nitrogen in Europe 1900–2050. Model calculations and comparison to historical observations. *Tellus B Chem. Phys. Meteorol.* **2017**, *69*, 1328945. [CrossRef]
- 12. Czech Hydrometeorological Institute, IX. Atmospheric Deposition in the Territory of the Czech Republic. 2019. Available online: https://www.chmi.cz/files/portal/docs/uoco/isko/grafroc/19groc/gr19cz/09_depozice_v1.pdf (accessed on 11 September 2021). (In Czech).
- Eriksen, J. Gross sulfur mineralisation-immobilisation turnover in soil amended with plant residues. Soil Biol. Biochem. 2005, 37, 2216–2224. [CrossRef]

- Lehman, J.; Solomon, D.; Zhao, F.J.; McGrath, S.P. Atmospheric SO₂ emissions since the late 1800s change organic sulfur forms in humic substance extracts of soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2008, 42, 3550–3555. [CrossRef]
- Balík, J.; Kulhánek, M.; Černý, J.; Száková, J.; Pavlíková, D.; Čermák, P. Differences in soil sulfur fractions due to limitation of atmospheric deposition. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2009, 55, 344–352. [CrossRef]
- Kulhánek, M.; Balík, J.; Černý, J.; Sedlář, O.; Vašák, F. Evalu-ating of soil sulfur forms changes under different fertilizing systems during long-term field experiments. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2016, 62, 408–415. [CrossRef]
- 17. Scherer, H.W. Sulfur in soils. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2009, 172, 326–335. [CrossRef]
- 18. Feinberg, A.; Stenke, A.; Peter, T.; Hinckley, E.L.S.; Driscoll, C.T.; Winkel, L.H.E. Reductions in the deposition of sulfur and selenium to agricultural soils pose risk of future nutrient deficiencies. *Commun Earth Environ.* **2021**, *2*, 101. [CrossRef]
- Zbíral, J.; Smatanová, M.; Němec, P. Sulphur status in agricultural soil determined using the Mehlich 3 method. *Plant Soil Environ*. 2018, 64, 255–259.
- 20. Eriksen, J. Soil sulfur cycling in temperate agricultural systems. Adv. Agron. 2009, 102, 55–89.
- Schoenau, J.J.; Malhi, S.S.; Jez, J. Sulfur Forms and Cycling Processes in Soil and Their Relationship to Sulfur Fertility. In Sulfur: A Missing Link between Soils, Crops, and Nutrition; Jez, J., Ed.; American Society of Agronomy: Masidon, WI, USA, 2008; pp. 1–10.
- Sutar, R.K.; Pujar, A.M.; Aravinda Kumar, B.N.; Hebsur, N.S. Sulphur nutrition in maize—A critical review. *Int. J. Pure Appl. Biosci.* 2017, *5*, 1582–1596. [CrossRef]
 Fishmes, L: Vong, P.C.; Guckert, A.; Frossard, F. Influence of sulfur on apparent N-use efficiency, yield and guality of oilseed rape
- Fishmes, J.; Vong, P.C.; Guckert, A.; Frossard, E. Influence of sulfur on apparent N-use efficiency, yield and quality of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) grown on a calcareous soil. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2000, *12*, 127–141. [CrossRef]
- Tabak, M.; Lepiarczyk, A.; Filipek-Mazur, B.; Lisowska, A. Efficiency of Nitrogen Fertilization of Winter Wheat Depending on Sulfur Fertilization. Agronomy 2020, 10, 1304. [CrossRef]
- Salvagiotti, F.; Miralles, D.J. Radiation interception, biomass production and grain yield as affected by the interaction of nitrogen and sulfur fertilization in wheat. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2008, 28, 282–290. [CrossRef]
- Carciochi, W.D.; Divito, G.A.; Fernández, L.A.; Echeverría, H.E. Sulfur affects root growth and improves nitrogen recovery and internal efficiency in wheat. J. Plant Nutr. 2017, 40, 1231–1242. [CrossRef]
- Swamy, U.; Wang, M.; Tripathy, J.N.; Kim, S.K.; Hirasawa, M.; Knaff, D.B.; Allen, J.P. Structure of spinach nitrite reductase: Implications for multi-electron reactions by the iron-sulfur: Siroheme cofactor. *Biochemistry* 2005, 44, 16054–16063. [CrossRef]
- 28. Mendel, R. Molybdenum cofactor of higher plants: Biosynthesis and molecular biology. *Planta* **1997**, 203, 399–405. [CrossRef]
- Salvagiotti, F.; Castellarín, J.; Miralles, D.J.; Pedrol, H.M. Sulfur efficiency in wheat by increasing nitrogen uptake. *Field Crop. Res.* 2009, 113, 170–177. [CrossRef]
- Haneklaus, S.; Bloem, E.; Schnug, E. Sulfur. In *Encyclopedia of Soil Science*; La, R., Ed.; Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, USA, 2002; pp. 1282–1288.
- Sutradhar, A.K.; Kaiser, D.E.; Fernández, F.G. Does total nitrogen/sulfur ratiopredict nitrogen or sulfur requirement for corn? Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 2017, 81, 564–577. [CrossRef]
- 32. Carciochi, W.D.; Wyngaard, N.; Divito, G.A.; Reussi Calvo, N.I.; Cabrera, M.L.; Echeverría, H.E. Diagnosis of sulfur availability for corn based on soil analysis. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **2016**, *52*, 917–926. [CrossRef]
- 33. Wilhelm, W.; McMaster, G.; Harrell, D.M. Nitrogen and dry matter distribution by culm and leaf position at two stages of vegetative growth in winter wheat. *Agron. J.* **2002**, *94*, 1078–1086. [CrossRef]
- Smoleń, S. Foliar Nutrition: Current State of Knowledge and Opportunities. In Advances in Citrus Nutrition; Srivastava, A.K., Ed.; Springer Science & Business Media: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2012; pp. 41–58.
- Baloch, N.; Buriro, M.; Jato, G.H.; Ali, K.; Khaskheli, D.M.A.; Nahiyoon, S.A.; Hou, P.; Li., S. Effect of foliar application of nitrogen on growth, yield and grain quality parameters of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Biocell* 2019, 43, 261–267.
- 36. Mortate, R.K.; Nascimento, E.F.; Goncalves, E.G.D.; Lima, M.W.D. Response of maize (*Zea mays* L.) to nitrogen fertilizer application in the soil and foliar. *Rev. Agric. Neotrop.* **2018**, *5*, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- Dong, S.; Neilsen, D.; Neilsen, G.H.; Fuchigami, L.H. Foliar N application reduces soil NO₃⁻—N leaching loss in apple orchards. *Plant Soil* 2005, 268, 357–366. [CrossRef]
- Niu, J.; Liu, C.; Huang, M.; Liu, K.; Yan, D. Effect of Foliar Fertilization: A Review of Current and Future Perspectives. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2021, 21, 104–118. [CrossRef]
- Voogt, W.; Blok, C.; Eveleens-Clark, B.; Marcelis, L.F.M.; Bindraban, P.S. Foliar Fertilizer Application; VFRC Report 2013/2; Virtual Fertilizer Research Center: Washington, DC, USA, 2013; p. 43.
- 40. Fernández, V.; Brown, P.H. From plant surface to plant metabolism: The uncertain fate of foliar-applied nutrients. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2013**, *4*, 289. [CrossRef]
- 41. Mahmoodi, P.; Yarnia, M.; Amirnia, R.; Benam, M.B.K. Effect of nitrogen foliar application on grain filling rate and period in 3 cultivars of corn (*Zea mays* L.). *Afr. J. Agric. Res.* **2011**, *81*, 783–786.
- 42. Islam, M.S.; Akter, H.; Aktar, S.; Miah, M.J.; Farazi, M. Effect of foliar and soil application of nitrogen on the growth and yield of wheat. *Progress. Agric.* 2017, *28*, 287–294. [CrossRef]
- 43. Ercoli, L.; Mariotti, M.; Masoni, A.; Massantini, F. Relationship between nitrogen and chlorophyll content and spectral properties in maize leaves. *Eur. J. Agron.* **1993**, *2*, 113–117. [CrossRef]
- 44. Li, C. Effects of Enhanced Ammonium Nutrition on Growth and Development of Maize. J. Northeast. Agric. Univ. 2002, 33, 313–318.

- 45. Schlemmer, M.; Gitelson, A.; Schepers, J.; Ferguson, R.; Peng, Y.; Shanahan, J.; Rundquist, D. Remote estimation of nitrogen and chlorophyll contents in maize at leaf and canopy levels. *Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf.* **2013**, *25*, 47–54. [CrossRef]
- 46. Mu, X.; Chen, Q.; Chen, F.; Yuan, L.; Mi, G. A RNA-seq Analysis of the Response of Photosynthetic System to Low Nitrogen Supply in Maize Leaf. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2017, 18, 2624. [CrossRef]
- Yue, K.; Li, L.; Xie, J.; Fudjoe, S.K.; Zhang, R.; Luo, Z.; Anwar, S. Nitrogen Supply Affects Grain Yield by Regulating Antioxidant Enzyme Activity and Photosynthetic Capacity of Maize Plant in the Loess Plateau. *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 1094. [CrossRef]
- Chapman, S.C.; Barreto, H.J. Using a chlorophyll meter to estimate specific leaf nitrogen of tropical maize during vegetative growth. Agron. J. 1997, 89, 557–562. [CrossRef]
- Lacroux, F.; Tregoat, O.; van Leeuwen, C.; Pons, A.; Tominaga, T.; Lavigne-Cruége, V.; Dubourdieu, D. Effect of Foliar Nitrogen and Sulphur Application on Aromatic Expression of *Vitis Vinifera* L. cv. Sauvignon Blanc. *J. Int. Sci. Vigne Vin* 2008, 42, 125–132. [CrossRef]
- 50. Rascher, U.; Liebig, M.; Luttge, U. Evaluation of instant light-response curves of chlorophyll fluorescence parameters obtained with a portable chlorophyll fluorometer on site in the field. *Plant Cell Environ.* **2000**, *23*, 1397–1405. [CrossRef]
- Ciompi, S.; Gentili, E.; Guidi, L.; Soldatini, G.E. The effect of nitrogen deficiency on leaf gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters in sunflower. *Plant Sci.* 1996, 118, 177–184. [CrossRef]
- Jin, X.; Yang, G.; Tan, C.; Zhao, C. Effects of nitrogen stress on the photosynthetic CO₂ assimilation, chlorophyll fluorescence and sugar-nitrogen ratio in corn. Sci. Rep. 2015, 5, 9311. [CrossRef]
- Ahmad, I.; Ahmad, S.; Kamran, M.; Yang, X.N.; Hou, F.J.; Yang, B.P.; Ding, R.X.; Liu, T.; Han, Q.F. Uniconazole and nitrogen fertilization trigger photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence, and delay leaf senescence in maize at a high population density. *Photosynthetica* 2021, 59, 192–202. [CrossRef]
- 54. Nunes, M.A.; Ramalho, J.C.; Dias, M.A. Effect of nitrogen supply on the photosynthetic performance of leaves from coffee plants exposed to bright light. J. Exp. Bot. 1993, 262, 893–899. [CrossRef]
- Verhoeven, A.S.; Demmig-Adams, B.; Adams, W.W., III. Enhanced employment of the xanthophyll cycle and thermal energy dissipation in spinach exposed to high light and N stress. *Plant Physiol.* **1997**, *113*, 817–824. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fryer, M.J.; Andrews, J.R.; Oxborough, K.; Blowers, D.A.; Baker, N.R. Relationship between CO₂ assimilation, photosynthetic electron transport, and active O₂ metabolism in leaves of maize in the field during periods of low temperature. *Plant Physiol.* **1998**, *116*, 571–580. [CrossRef]
- 57. Palta, J.A.; Kumari, S.; Spring, C.; Turner, N.C. Foliar nitrogen applications increase the seed yield and protein content in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) subject to terminal drought. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 2005, *56*, 105–112. [CrossRef]
- Gholami, A.; Akhlaghi, S.; Shahsavani, S.; Farrokhi, N. Effects of Urea Foliar Application on Grain Yield and Quality of Winter Wheat. Commun. Soil Sci. 2011, 42, 719–727. [CrossRef]
- 59. Mbangcolo, M.M.; Pieterse, P.J. Effect of soil- and foliar-applied nitrogen fertiliser on growth, yield and protein content of spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under glasshouse conditions. *S. Afr. J. Plant Soil* **2018**, *35*, 237–239. [CrossRef]
- 60. Perveen, S.; Iqbal, N.; Saeed, M.; Zafar, S.; Arshad, Z. Role of foliar application of sulfur-containing compounds on maize (*Zea mays* L. var. Malka and hybrid DTC) under salt stress. *Rev. Bras. Bot.* **2018**, *41*, 805–815. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Spring malt barley response to elemental sulphur—The prognostic value of N and S concentrations in malt barley leaves. *Plant Soil Environ.* 2007, 53, 338–394. [CrossRef]
- Khalid, S.; Afridi, M.Z.; Munsif, F.; Imranuddin, I.; Ullah, N.; Ullah, I. Effect of Sulphur Foliar Application on Yield and Yield Components of Brassica Napus. Int. J. Agric. Environ. Res. 2016, 2, 232–236.
- 63. Carciochi, W.D.; Nahuel, I.; Calvo, R.; Wyngaard, N.; Divito, G.A. Prognosis and diagnosis of sulfur status in maize by plant analysis. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2019, 108, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- 64. Tea, I.; Genter, T.; Naulet, N.; Lummerzheim, M.; Kleiber, D. Interaction between nitrogen and sulfur by foliar application and its effects on flour bread-making quality. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2007, 87, 2853–2859. [CrossRef]
- Rossini, F.; Provenzano, M.E.; Sestili, F.; Ruggeri, R. Synergistic Effect of Sulfur and Nitrogen in the Organic and Mineral Fertilization of Durum Wheat: Grain Yield and Quality Traits in the Mediterranean Environment. *Agronomy* 2018, *8*, 189. [CrossRef]
- Rehm, G.W.; Clapp, J.G. Sulfur in a Fertilizer Program for Corn. In Sulfur: A Missing Link Between Soils, Crops, and Nutrition; Jez, J., Ed.; American Society of Agronomy: Masidon, WI, USA, 2008; pp. 143–152.
- Haneklaus, S.; Bloem, E.; Schnug, E. Sulfur Interactions in Crop Ecosystems. In Sulfur in Plants an Ecological Perspective; Hawkesford, M.J., De Kok, L.J., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2007; pp. 16–58.
- Reussi Calvo, N.I.; Echeverría, H.E.; Sainz Rozas, H. Usefulness of foliar nitrogen-sulfur ratio in spring red wheat. J. Plant Nutr. 2008, 31, 1612–1623. [CrossRef]
- 69. Reussi Calvo, N.I.; Echeverría, H.E.; Sainz Rozas, H.R. Stability of foliar nitrogen: Sulfur ratio in spring red wheat and sulfur dilution curve. J. Plant Nutr. 2012, 35, 990–1003. [CrossRef]
- 70. Scherer, H.W. Sulphur in crop production. Eur. J. Agron. 2001, 14, 81–111. [CrossRef]
- 71. Reussi Calvo, N.I.; Echeverria, H.; Rozas, H.S. Diagnosing sulfur deficiency in spring red wheat: Plant analysis. *J. Plant Nutr.* **2011**, *34*, 573–589. [CrossRef]
- Zenda, T.; Liu, S.; Dong, A.; Duan, H. Revisiting Sulphur—The Once Neglected Nutrient: It's Roles in Plant Growth, Metabolism, Stress Tolerance and Crop Production. Agriculture 2021, 11, 626. [CrossRef]

- Kaiser, D.E.; Kim, K.I. Soybean response to sulfur fertilizer applied as a broadcast or starter using replicated strip trials. *Agron. J.* 2013, 105, 1189–1198. [CrossRef]
- Kaur, J.; Chatterjee, A.; Franzen, D.; Cihacek, L. Corn Response to Sulfur Fertilizer in the Red River Valley. Agron. J. 2019, 111, 2378–2386. [CrossRef]
- 75. Till, A.R. Sulphur and Sustainable Agriculture, 1st ed.; International Fertilizer Industry Association: Paris, France, 2010; pp. 1–70.
- Kacjan Maršić, N.; Može, K.S.; Mihelič, R.; Nečemer, M.; Hudina, M.; Jakopič, J. Nitrogen and Sulphur Fertilisation for Marketable Yields of Cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *Capitata*), Leaf Nitrate and Glucosinolates and Nitrogen Losses Studied in a Field Experiment in Central Slovenia. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1304. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Yu, Z.; She, M.; Zheng, T.; Diepeveen, D.; Islam, S.; Zhao, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Tang, G.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, J.; et al. Impact and mechanism of sulphur-deficiency on modern wheat farming nitrogen-related sustainability and gliadin content. *Commun. Biol.* 2021, 4, 945. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hawkesford, M.; Horst, W.; Kichey, T.; Lambers, H.; Schjoerring, J.; Skrumsager, I.; White, P. Functions of Macronutrients. In Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd ed.; Marschner, H., Ed.; Academic Press: London, UK, 2012; pp. 135–189.
- 79. Jamal, A.; Moon, Y.; Abdin, M.Z. Sulphur-A general overview and interaction with nitrogen. Aust. J. Crop Sci. 2010, 4, 523-529.
- Ali, A.; Iqbal, Z.; Hassan, S.W.; Yasin, M.; Khaliq, T.; Ahmed, S. Effect of nitrogen and sulphur on phenology, growth and yield parameters of maize crop. Sci. Int. 2013, 25, 363–366.
- Sarfaraz, Q.; Perveen, S.; Shahab, Q.; Muhammad, D.; Bashir, S.; Ahmed, N.; Ahmed, S.; Shahid-Ul-Islam, M.; Asghar, I. Comparative Effect of Soil and Foliar Application of Sulfur on Maize. *IOSR J. Agric. Vet. Sci.* 2014, *7*, 32–37. [CrossRef]
- Zbíral, J.; Malý, S.; Váňa, M. (Eds.) Soil Analysis III, 3rd ed.; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2011; pp. 18–52. (In Czech)
- Schumacher, B.A. Methods for the Determination of Total Organic Carbon (TOC) in Soils and Sediments; United States Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Sciences Division National, Exposure Research Laboratory: Las Vegas, NV, USA, 2002.
- Gee, G.W.; Bauder, J.W. Particle-Size Analysis. In Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1—Physical and Mineralogical Methods; Klute, A., Ed.; ASA and SSSA: Madison, WI, USA, 1986; pp. 383–411.
- Netto, A.L.; Campostrini, E.; Goncalves de Oliverira, J.; Bressan-Smith, R.E. Photosynthetic pigments, nitrogen, chlorophyll a fluorescence and SPAD-502 readings in coffee leaves. *Sci. Hortic.* 2005, 104, 199–209. [CrossRef]
- Škarpa, P.; Klofáč, D.; Krčma, F.; Šimečková, J.; Kozáková, Z. Effect of Plasma Activated Water Foliar Application on Selected Growth Parameters of Maize (*Zea mays L.*). Water 2020, 12, 3545. [CrossRef]
- Kalaji, H.M.; Schansker, G.; Ladle, R.J.; Goltsev, V.; Bosa, K.; Allakhverdiev, S.I.; Brestic, M.; Bussotti, F.; Calatayud, A.; Dabrowski, P. Frequently asked questions about in vivo chlorophyll fluorescence: Practical issues. *Photosynth. Res.* 2014, 122, 121–158. [CrossRef]
- Genty, B.; Briantais, J.M.; Baker, N.R. The relationship between quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1989, 990, 87–92. [CrossRef]
- Lichtenthaler, H.K.; Buschmann, C.; Knapp, M. How to correctly determine the different chlorophyll fluorescence parameters and the chlorophyll fluorescence decrease ratio RFd of leaves with the PAM fluorometer. *Photosynthetica* 2005, 43, 379–393. [CrossRef]
- 90. Zbíral, J. Plant Analysis: Integrated Work Procedures; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2005; p. 192. (In Czech)
- Martinez-Feria, R.A.; Castellano, M.J.; Dietzel, R.N.; Helmers, M.J.; Liebman, M.; Huber, I.; Archontoulis, S.V. Linking cropand soil-based approaches to evaluate system nitrogen-use efficiency and tradeoffs. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2018, 256, 131–143. [CrossRef]
- Mlejnkova, V.; Horky, P.; Kominkova, M.; Skladanka, J.; Hodulikova, L.; Adam, V.; Mlcek, J.; Jurikova, T.; Sochor, J. Biogenic amines and hygienic quality of lucerne silage. *Open Life Sci.* 2016, 11, 280–286. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, F.; McGrath, S.P.; Crosland, A.R. Comparison of three wet digestion methods for the determination of plant sulphur by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES). *Commun. Soil Sci.* 1994, 25, 407–418. [CrossRef]
- StatSoft, Inc. STATISTICA (Data Analysis Software System), Version 12. 2013. Available online: www.statsoft.com (accessed on 14 September 2021).



Article Magnesium Fertilization Increases Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Winter Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)

Jarosław Potarzycki, Witold Grzebisz * and Witold Szczepaniak

Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Environmental Biogeochemistry, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Wojska Polskiego 28, 60-637 Poznan, Poland

* Correspondence: witold.grzebisz@up.poznan.pl

Abstract: Wheat fertilized with Mg, regardless of the method of application, increases nitrogen fertilizer (N_f) efficiency. This hypothesis was tested in 2013, 2014, and 2015. A two-factorial experiment with three doses of Mg (i.e., 0, 25, and 50 kg ha⁻¹) and two stages of Mg foliar fertilization (without; BBCH 30; 49/50; 30 + 49/50) was carried out. Foliar vs. in-soil Mg fertilization resulted in a comparable grain yield increase (0.5–0.6 t ha⁻¹). The interaction of both fertilization systems increased the yield by 0.85–0.9 t ha⁻¹. The booting/heading phase was optimal for foliar fertilization. Mg accumulation by wheat fertilized with Mg increased by 17% compared to the NPK plot. The recovery of foliar Mg was multiple in relation to its dose. The recovery of the in-soil Mg applied ranged from 10 to 40%. The increase in yield resulted from the effective use of N taken up by wheat. In 2014 and 2015, this amount was 21–25 kg N ha⁻¹. The increase in yield resulted from the extended transfer of N from vegetative wheat parts to grain. Mg applied to wheat, irrespective of the method, increased the efficiency of the N taken up by the crop. Mg fertilization resulted in higher N_f productivity, as indicated by the increased nitrogen apparent efficiency indices.

Keywords: in-soil Mg application; foliar Mg fertilization; Mg uptake; N uptake; nutrient use efficiency indices

1. Introduction

Wheat is a basic source of staple food for the world's human population. Currently, the largest producers are China, India, the Russian Federation, the USA, Canada, France, and Ukraine. The mean yields in these countries in 2018–2021 were 5.6 ± 0.17 , 3.4 ± 0.12 , 2.8 ± 0.15 , 3.9 ± 0.23 , 3.4 ± 0.01 , 7.1 ± 0.58 , and 3.3 ± 0.14 , respectively [1]. The yield variability, as shown by the coefficient of variation (CV), in leading producers such as Canada, China, and India was 3.5%, 3.0%, and 2.5%, respectively. This low CV indicates an extensive system of wheat production. Therefore, in these countries, the yield gap (YG), as a measure of the ineffectiveness of the applied means of production, is low [2]. For Germany, the average yield in 2018–2020 was 7.3 ± 0.58 t ha⁻¹, compared to 4.5 ± 0.65 t ha⁻¹ for Poland. The CV for Germany was 7.9% and for Poland 14.4%.

A realistic determination of the maximum attainable yield, as the basis for calculating the YG, requires local data that reflect both the short-term variability in weather conditions and the variability in management factors affecting the actual yield. The order of these factors for wheat in Poland, in descending order, is nitrogen (N), fore-crop, soil class, available potassium content, crop protection level—fungicide and foliar fertilization, and available phosphorus content [3]. Another method for the calculation of the YG, which is, in fact, simpler to use, is the concept of the nitrogen gap [4,5]. Both methods allow for the discrimination of factors, which is critical for the maximum wheat yield in a well-defined geographical area [6].

The nutrient requirements of wheat compared to other cereals is high, including, firstly, N, P, and K [7]. The yield-forming function of N is widely discussed in both science and

Citation: Potarzycki, J.; Grzebisz, W.; Szczepaniak, W. Magnesium Fertilization Increases Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Winter Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 2600. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11192600

Academic Editors: Dimitris L. Bouranis and Christian Dimkpa

Received: 24 July 2022 Accepted: 29 September 2022 Published: 2 October 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). agricultural practice. Some of the most important data on the impact of N on yield in wheat concern the *critical window* that extends from the beginning of stem elongation to flowering. N supply to wheat during this period is critical for both the number of ears and the number of grains per ear. Both yield components determine the aggregate component of the yield, i.e., the number of grains per unit area (grain density (GD) [8,9].

New, high-yielding wheat varieties developed to exploit their yield potential, require, first, the development of efficient technologies aimed at the effective use of nitrogen fertilizer (N_f). The price of N_f increased many times in 2021 and 2002 [10]. The 4R Stewardship approach, the keywords of which are right source, right rate, right time, and right place, is actually limited by N_f [11].

Magnesium (Mg) cannot be treated as a *forgotten* nutrient, especially in modern, intensive, and effective agriculture [12,13]. The physiological and yield-forming functions of Mg are well known [14-16]. The increase in the yield of cereals in response to the application of Mg ranges from 5 to 10% [17]. The Mg content in the flag leaf of winter wheat at the onset of plant flowering can be used to forecast the yield [18]. The amount of Mg accumulated in crop plants is relatively low compared even to phosphorus [14]. In agricultural practice, farmers use two basic Mg fertilization systems, differing in the method of Mg fertilizer application to crops. The first, a classic method, is the in-soil application of Mg fertilizer using lime (Mg oxide or Mg carbonate) for acidic soils and magnesium sulfate (Kieserite) for soils with an optimum pH [19]. Mg availability to plants is not a problem, provided the content of its available form in the soil is in the medium class, at least [19]. The second method of Mg supply to crop plants is foliar fertilization. Magnesium is widely used in this way throughout the world [20,21]. The key challenge for farmers using soluble Mg fertilizers (i.e., sulfate or chloride) is to determine the (i) rate, (ii) methods, and (iii) time—the plant growth stage of fertilizer application. A well-developed Mg fertilization system should be oriented toward an increase in the efficiency of Nf.

The interaction between Mg and N occurs at all levels of a plant's organization. The importance of N for a plant's growth and yield results from its presence in key biological molecules such as chlorophyll and the ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase–oxygenase enzyme, simply called Rubisco (RuBP) [22]. The latter is a key N-dependent enzyme, decisive in the survival of life on Earth. Its key function is to capture and then fixate the CO₂ molecule, which is the basic substrate for the production of elementary sugar compounds [23,24]. The key function of Mg is to maintain Rubisco activation, which results in the stabilization of the net photosynthetic rate, as was demonstrated for wheat by Shao et al. [25]. Crop plants well supplied with Mg since the beginning of their growth increases N uptake, resulting in an increase in its unit productivity [26,27]. For example, Mg concentration in maize leaves during the grain filling period is the critical factor affecting the grain yield of this crop. The adequate nutrition of plants with Mg increases N productivity, in turn decreasing the required N_f dose [28,29].

Two main questions remain open. The first, and most important, concerns the relationship between N and Mg from the point of view of the impact of Mg on the management of N by arable crops. The N/Mg ratio during the early growth of potato tubers or sugar beets is crucial for the final yield of both crops [20,27,30,31]. The second, more minor one concerns the efficiency of the applied Mg, depending on the method of its application. The main objective of this study was to evaluate (i) the effectiveness of applied Mg depending on the fertilization method and (ii) the relationship between Mg and N uptake by wheat and its use efficiency. A secondary objective was to evaluate Mg fertilization systems including soil and foliar fertilization of wheat fertilized with an optimum dose of N_f.

2. Results

2.1. Magnesium Fertilization Systems and Yield Increment

The yield gain due to the application of Mg to winter wheat was the result of the interaction between the soil and the foliar treatment (Figure 1). Detailed information on the grain yield and the elements of the yield structure can be found in an article by Grzebisz and

Potarzycki [32]. In all years of the study, Mg application, regardless of the Mg fertilization system, increased the grain yield. The recorded increase ranged from approximately 0.58 to 0.74 t ha⁻¹. The lower yields were due to unfavorable weather conditions during the spring growing season (2013 and 2015). Nevertheless, the effect of the Mg fertilization system (Mg-FS) on the yield gain in the consecutive years of the study was highly stable (Figure A1). A strong interaction between the Mg and FSs was observed (Figure 1). The increase in yield due to the soil-applied Mg (Mgs) in comparison with the absolute Mg control (the plot treated only with NPK) amounted to approximately 0.52 t ha⁻¹. The effect of a single stage of Mg foliar treatment (Mgf), regardless of the growth stage of wheat, was 0.57 t ha⁻¹. A double stage of Mg foliar application (at BBCH 30 and repeated at BBCH) 49/50) resulted in a yield increase of 0.74 t ha⁻¹. The effect of the interaction of both Mg and FSs with the yield gain was dependent on the dose of Mgs. The increase in yield was 0.77 t ha⁻¹ for the plot fertilized with 25 kg Mg ha⁻¹, but it provided Mg foliar application at BBCH 30. The same level of increase in the yield was recorded on the plot with 50 kg Mg ha $^{-1}$, regardless of the growth stage of wheat treated with Mg. In-soil and double, two-phase foliar feeding of wheat with Mg resulted in a yield gain of 0.92 t ha⁻¹.



Figure 1. The net increase in the yield of winter wheat in response to the interaction between Mg fertilization systems. a, b. Similar letters mean a lack of significant differences using Tukey's test. Mgs and Mgf—soil and foliar Mg fertilization systems, respectively. * Doses of applied Mg, kg ha⁻¹; ** stages of Mg. Wheat stages of Mg foliar fertilization: I—BBCH 30; II—BBCH 49/50.

2.2. Magnesium Accumulation and Indices of Efficiency

Magnesium accumulation in wheat at maturity was significantly dependent on the course of the weather during the growing season (Table 1). The effect of the Mg fertilization system was not significant for grain, but it was significant for wheat residues (straw + chaffs). The total Mg accumulated by wheat at harvest resulted from the interaction between the Mg fertilization systems and years (Figure 2). In 2013, the effect of the Mgs was visible only on the Mgs50 plot. The effect of Mgf was the strongest on the Mgs25 main plot. Plants foliar fertilized at the BBCH 49/50 stage increased Mg accumulation by 2 kg ha⁻¹ compared to its uptake on the Mgs control plot. In 2014, the uptake of Mg was, in general, higher than in 2013 and 2015. In the Mgs control plot, the double-stage foliar fertilization of wheat increased the uptake of Mg by 2.0 kg ha⁻¹ compared to the Mg absolute control. The effect of the Mgs was only slightly stronger on the Mgs50 than on the Mgs25 main plot. The interaction between both fertilization systems was the strongest

on the Mgs50 plot and the double-stage Mgf treatment. Mg extra uptake was 2.9 and 2.5 kg ha^{-1} higher compared to the Mg absolute control and the Mgs50 control, respectively. In 2015, the average Mg accumulation by wheat was 30% and 21% lower compared to 2014 and 2013, respectively. The positive effects of Mgf on the uptake of Mg were observed only on the Mgs plots. The strongest increase in Mg accumulation by wheat in response to Mgf was observed on the Mgs50 plot, reaching the maximum for the double-foliar-treated plants (BBCH 30 + 49/50). The greatest amount of Mg taken up by wheat during the growing season (i.e., slightly above two-thirds) was accumulated in grain as indicated by the Mg harvest index (Mg–HI).

Only two indices of Mg productivity (i.e., the Mg unit accumulation in grain (MgUA–G) and the total Mg unit accumulation (MgUA–T) of the nine), showed a significant but negative relationship with the yield (Table A1). Four of the five indices (Mg–HI, MgUA–G, MgUA–T, and Mg unit productivity–grain (MgUP–G)) showed year-to-year variability, but their response to the interaction $Y \times Mgs \times Mgf$ was not significant. The only significant dependence was noted for the Mg total unit productivity (MgUP–T). However, this index was negatively correlated with the total Mg accumulation (r = -0.78 ***). Moreover, its highest values were recorded in the dry year of 2015, when they were 46% and 28% higher compared to 2013 and 2014, respectively.

Four classic efficiency indices of the applied nutrients (PFP–Mg, Mg–AE, Mg–R, and Mg–PhE) responded significantly to all studied factors including Y × Mgs × Mgf (Table 1). However, none of them showed a significant relationship with the yield (Table A1). All these indices displayed a steady yearly trend, clearly highlighting much higher values in 2014, the year with the highest yield. A significant effect of the experimental treatments on these indices resulted from the increase in the applied doses of Mg from 2.4 to 56.4 kg ha⁻¹. This trend can be described by a power regression model. The general trend in the data obtained is presented in detail for Mg recovery (Mg–R) (Figure A2). Its values, regardless of the year of the study, were the highest for the plots with only foliar-applied Mg. The recovery of the applied Mg for these treatments exceeded 100%. The differences between years were the clearest for the Mgf dose of 2.4 kg ha⁻¹, reaching 383% in 2014, 300% in 2013, and 260% in 2015. The developed regression models clearly showed that the yearly pattern, observed for the lowest dose of Mg, was maintained with an increase in the Mg dose (Figure A3). The impact of the Mgs × Mgf interaction on the Mg-R values was observed only on the main Mgs25 plot.

2.3. Nitrogen Accumulation and Indices of Efficiency

The total amount of N accumulated in winter wheat at maturity (TN) significantly depended on the experimental factors. In fact, they influenced the accumulation of N, but the interaction with years was only noted for wheat residues (Table 2). The amount of N in grain (N_aG) was the result of independent interactions of the year with Mg fertilization systems (Y × Mgs and Y × Mgf). The first were revealed in 2014 and 2015. In both years, the Mgs caused a significant increase in N_aG compared with the Mg absolute control. A significant effect of Mgs50 was only observed in the dry year of 2015 (Figure 3). The effect of the Mgf was most evident in 2013 (Figure 4). In 2014, it was only slightly marked at BBCH 30. In 2015, it was much more visible, but a significant difference was only noted between the Mgs control and the plot with double Mg foliar fertilization (BBCH 30 + 49/50). The same principles were noted for the nitrogen harvest index (NHI). The values of this index were very high, approaching almost 90% in 2014.

	Level	MgaG	MgaCR	MgaT	MgHI	MgUA-G	MgUA- T	MgUP- G	MgUP- T	PFP- Mg	MgAE	Mg-R	Mg-PhE
Factor	ot Factor		kg ha⁻1		%	kg M	$[{ m g}\ { m t}^{-1}$	kg (3rain kg ⁻¹	Mg	t Grain kg ⁻¹ Mgf	%	t Grain kg ⁻¹ Mg _a T
Year	2013	11.1 b	5.3 b	16.4 b	67.9 a	1.31 a	1.93 a	766.2 c	519.9 c	731.8 c	0.36 b	62.6 b	0.66 b
3	2014	12.6 a	5.8 a	18.4 a	68.4 a	1.15 b	1.69 b	871.6 b	$595.4 \mathrm{b}$	946.8 a	0.44 a	81.6 a	1.05 a
	2015	8.3 c	4.6 c	12.9 c	64.8 b	0.86 c	1.33 c	1178.8 a	760.5 a	843.3 b	0.34 b	54.4 c	0.56 b
4	(***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
Mg in-soil	0	10.6	5.1 a	15.6 b	67.4	1.11	1.65	921.5	620.1	1990.1 a	0.91 a	156.2 a	2.21 a
Mgs	25	10.7	5.1 a	15.8 ab	67.3	1.10	1.63	950.7	634.6	346.8 b	0.16 b	27.2 b	0.04 b
)	50	10.8	5.5 a	16.3 a	66.3	1.11	1.67	944.3	621.2	185.0 c	0.09 c	15.2 c	0.01 c
4	,	n.s.	*	*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	***	***	* * *	***
Mg foliar	0	10.4	4.8 b	15.2 b	68.3 a	1.11	1.63	929.0	633.2	191.9 d	0.09 d	14.0 d	0.02 d
(Mgs)	Ι	10.6	5.1 ab	15.7 ab	67.1 ab	1.09	1.62	959.9	638.5	1524.4 a	0.69 a	118.1 a	1.96 a
)	II	10.9	5.3 ab	16.1 a	67.1 ab	1.12	1.67	919.5	614.2	975.2 b	0.44 b	79.7 b	0.75 b
	I + II	10.8	5.6 a	16.4 a	65.7 b	1.10	1.68	947.0	615.3	671.2 c	0.31 c	53.0 c	0.30 c
4	(n.s.	***	***	*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	***	***	* * *	***
					s	ource of Va	riation for I	nteraction					
$\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{Y}$	Mgs	*	n.s.	*	*	*	n.s.	*	*	***	***	***	***
$\mathbf{Y}\times$	Mgf	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	*	n.s.	n.s.	***	***	**	***
Mgs >	< Mgf	n.s.	*	**	*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	***	***	***	***	***
$Y \times Mg$	$s \times Mgf$	n.s.	*	*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	* *	***	***	* * *	***
			a, b, c, d S respectivel crop resid MgUP-G a	imilar letter: ly; 30% n.s ues, and tot and MgUP-	s mean a lack —not significa al, respectivel T—magnesiu	of significant nt. ¹ I—BBCH ly; MgHI—ma m unit produc	differences usi 30; II—BBCH Ignesium harv ctivity: grain a	ing Tukey's tes 49/50. Mgf—1 est index; Mg ¹ nd total, respe	t; ***, **, and [*] Mg fertilizer d JA-G and Mg ctively; PFP-h	indicate sign oses; MgaG, N gUA-T—mag Mg—partial fi	ificant difference IgaCR, and MgaT nesium accumula actor productivit	s at <i>p</i> < 0.001, —magnesium ation: grain ar y of fertilizer 1	p < 0.01, and $p < 0.25$. accumulation: grain total, respective magnesium; MgAI
			magnesiu	n apparent .	efficiency; Mg	;-R-magnesi	um recovery; N	Ag-PhE-mag	nesium physic	ological efficie	ncy.))

N.*
ency
fficie
ise e
um c
nesiı
mag
of
ices
ind
pu
ťy ĉ
'n
mat
at
leat
łw.
nter
wii
by
ake
uptă
ш
iesii
agn
Ž
Ϊ.
e
p
Тa



Figure 2. Magnesium accumulation by winter wheat in response to Mg fertilization systems and years. a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h, i, j, k, l, m Similar letters mean a lack of significance; differences using Tukey's test. Mgs and Mgf—soil and foliar Mg fertilization systems, respectively. * Doses of applied Mg, kg ha⁻¹; ** stages of Mg foliar fertilization to wheat: I—BBCH 30; II—BBCH 49/50.

	Level	N_aG	N _a CR	TN	NHI	NUA-G	NUA-T	NUP-G	NUP-T	PFP-N	NAE	N-R	N-PhE
Factor	of Factor		kg N ha−1	l	%	kg I	N t ⁻¹	kį	g Grain kg−1	N	Grain kg ⁻¹ N _f	%	Grain kg ⁻¹ TN
Year (Y)	2013 2014 2015	185.0 c 224.5 b 265.0 a ***	46.8 b 30.3 c 59.0 a ***	231.8 c 254.8 b 324.0 a ***	79.8 c 88.1 a 81.8 b ***	21.9 b 20.5 c 27.3 a ***	27.4 b 23.3 c 33.4 a ***	45.8 b 49.0 a 36.7 c ***	36.5 b 43.1 a 30.0 c ***	44.5 57.5 51.0 ***	22.1 b 27.1 a 20.7 c ***	78.9 b 81.5 b 107.2 a ***	28.0 b 33.6 a 19.4 c ***
Mg in-soil	0	214.5 b	45.1	259.6 b	82.6	22.6 b	27.5 b	45.1 a	37.4 a	50.2 b	22.4 b	83.6 b	27.8 a
Mgs	25 50 p	228.8 a 231.2 a ***	44.9 46.0 n.s.	273.7 a 277.2 a ***	83.6 83.5 n.s.	23.6 a 23.5 a ***	28.3 a 28.3 a **	43.1 b 43.2 b ***	36.1 b 36.2 b ***	51.1 a 51.7 a ***	23.4 ab 24.0 a **	91.0 a 92.9 a ***	26.4 a 26.7 a n.s.
Mg foliar	0	217.1 b	43.6	260.6 b	83.2	23.0	27.8	44.1	36.7	49.6 b	21.9 b	84.2 b	26.7
(Mgf)	I	228.6 a 222.1	45.5 46 1	274.2 a 268.1	83.5 82.0	23.4	28.1	43.4	36.3	51.5 a	23.8 a	91.3 a	26.8
	I + II p	ab 231.5 a ***	46.2 n.s.	ab 277.7 a ***	83.4 n.s.	23.6 n.s.	28.4 n.s.	43.2 n.s.	36.1 n.s.	51.8 a ***	23.4 a 24.1 a ***	93.2 a ***	26.7 n.s.
	Source of Variation for Interaction												
$\begin{array}{c} Y \times \\ Y \times \end{array}$	Mgs Mgf	**	**	* n.s.	**	**	n.s. *	***	**	n.s. n.s.	n.s. n.s.	n.s. n.s.	n.s. *
Mgs Y × Mg	× Ňgf gs × Mgf	n.s. n.s.	n.s. *	n.s. n.s.	n.s. n.s.	n.s. *	n.s. n.s.	*	n.s. *	* n.s.	n.s. n.s.	n.s. n.s.	n.s. n.s.

Table 2. Nitrogen uptake by winter wheat at maturity and indices of nitrogen use efficiency.

a, b, c Similar letters mean a lack of significant differences using Tukey's test. ***, **, and * indicate significant differences at p < 0.001, p < 0.01, and p < 0.05, respectively; n.s. = not significant. I—BBCH 30; II—BBCH 49/50. N_f-nitrogen dose; N_aG, N_aCR, and N_aT—nitrogen accumulation: grain, crop residues, and total, respectively; NHI—nitrogen harvest index; NUA–G, NUA–T—nitrogen accumulation: grain and total, respectively; NUP–G and NUP–T—nitrogen unit productivity: grain and total, respectively; PFP–N—partial factor productivity of fertilizer nitrogen; NAE—nitrogen apparent efficiency; N–R—nitrogen recovery; N–PhE—nitrogen physiological efficiency.



Figure 3. Effect of soil-applied magnesium to winter wheat on nitrogen accumulation in grain. a, b, c, d Similar letters mean a lack of significant differences using Tukey's test. Mgs—soil Mg fertilization system. * Doses of applied Mg, kg ha⁻¹.

Of the nine nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) indices studied, only three (i.e., nitrogen unit accumulation in grain (NUA–G), nitrogen unit productivity for grain (NUP–G), and total nitrogen unit productivity (NUP–T)) responded significantly to the Y × Mgs × Mgf interaction. The NUP–G was ultimately the most sensitive index (Figure 5). In 2013, its values showed no response to experimental factors, oscillating around 46 ± 0.8 kg grain kg⁻¹ Na. In 2015, the NUP–G was significantly lower, on average, reaching only 37 ± 1.5. In 2014, the highest N productivity was found for the Mgs control. The highest NUP–G of 50 kg grain kg⁻¹ Na was recorded on the plot with Mgf at the BBCH 49/50 stage. On plots

with soil-applied Mg, the NUP-G indices were slightly lower than for the Mgs control but at the same time significantly responded to the Mgf treatments. Despite that, the NUP-G did not show a significant impact on the yield (Table A2). Moreover, it was negatively correlated with Na–G, Na–CR, TN, and, as a rule, with NUA–G and NUA–T, and also with N–R. At the same time, this particular index was significantly and positively correlated with N-PhE (r = 0.98 ***).



Figure 4. Effect of foliar fertilization of winter wheat with magnesium on nitrogen accumulation in grain. a, b, c, d, e Similar letters mean a lack of significant differences using Tukey's test. Mgf—foliar Mg fertilization system. * Stages of Mg foliar fertilization to wheat: I—BBCH 30; II—BBCH 49/50.

The classic NUE index, the partial factor productivity of fertilizer N (PFP–N_f), responded to the Mgs × Mgf interaction, and the nitrogen physiological efficiency (N-PhE) responded to the Y × Mgf interaction. The application of Mg significantly increased the productivity of N_f. The differences between the Mg absolute control plot and plots fertilized with Mg were significant. The strongest increase in PFP-N_f was recorded for Mgs50, which provided double-foliar fertilization with Mg. The highest variability in N–PhE indices was recorded in 2013 (Figure 6). Nitrogen utilization by wheat increased in response to Mg foliar fertilization, peaking when applied at BBCH 49/50. In the remaining two years, N–PhE showed significantly lower variability in response to Mgf, especially on plots with double Mg treatments. Two other NUE indices (i.e., nitrogen apparent efficiency (NAE) and nitrogen recovery (N–R)) responded significantly to the studied factors but did not interact with each other. The NAE indices were highly sensitive to the weather, having the highest values in 2013 (31% higher than in the dry year of 2015). A reverse trend was recorded for N–R, which was high in all years but exceeded 100% in 2015. The soil-applied Mg increased the values of both indices. The same effect was observed with Mg foliar application.







Figure 6. Effect of winter wheat foliar fertilization with magnesium on nitrogen physiological efficiency. a, b, c Similar letters mean a lack of significant differences using Tukey's test. Mgf—foliar Mg fertilization system. * Stages of Mg foliar fertilization to wheat: I—BBCH30; II—BBCH 49/50.

The wheat yield showed the highest correlation with N–HI and then with NAE (Table A2). The yield formula based on NHI, despite a statistically proven linear model, can be represented as a quadratic function:

GY =
$$0.26$$
NHI $- 11.54$ for $n = 36$, $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.82$ and $p \le 0.01$ (t ha⁻¹) (1)

GY =
$$0.016$$
NHI² + 2.9 NHI - 122.7 for $n = 36$, R² = 0.85 , $p \le 0.01$ (t ha⁻¹) (2)

The second equation indicates that an N–HI of 92.4% would give a yield of 11.22 t ha⁻¹. The maximum yield of 11.18 t ha⁻¹ was obtained when the NHI reached 88%. This effect was recorded in 2014 on the Mgs25 plot and Mgf at BBCH 49/50. N–HI was negatively correlated with the amount of N in crop residues and with NUA–G and NUA–T. The highest positive relationships were recorded with PFP–N (r = 0.91 ***) and NAE (r = 0.81 ***).

Magnesium fertilization, as previously documented, significantly affected its accumulation in wheat, but its total accumulation (Mg_aT) was sensitive to the interaction of experimental factors with years (Table A3). The most significant impact of Mg_aT was recorded for N_aCR:

$$N_aCR = -4.16Mg_aT + 111.4$$
 for $n = 36$, $R^2 = 0.70$ and $p \le 0.01$ (kg ha⁻¹) (3)

The increase in Mg_aT decreased the N accumulated in crop residues. The response of the NUE indices to Mg_aT , as well as to Mg_aG as a major part of Mg_aT , was very specific. A decrease was noted for NUA–G, NUA–T, and N-R (Table A3). An increase was recorded for NUP–G, NUP–T, and N–PhE. PFP–N and NAE were significantly correlated with each other and deserve special attention. PFP–N responded positively but weakly to the amount of Mg_aG or Mg_aT . In contrast, NAE showed a highly positive, linear response to the Mg_aT (Figure A4):

NAE =
$$1.34$$
Mg_aT + 8.93 for $n = 36$, R² = 0.67 and $p \le 0.01$ (grain kg kg⁻¹ Nf) (4)

At the same time, NAE was significantly correlated with both NUP indices but especially with NUP–T (r = 0.84 ***) (Table A2).

3. Discussion

3.1. Magnesium Use Efficiency

An increase in the yields of crop plants in response to the applied nutrient, regardless of the method of application, is the essence of the application of any fertilizer [33]. An assessment of wheat's response to Mg fertilization requires answers to three basic questions:

- 1. Is there an advantage of soil over foliar Mg fertilization?
- 2. Does the stage of wheat development affect the choice of the date for foliar Mg fertilization?
- 3. Is there any interaction between the two fertilization systems with regard to the end result, i.e., yield increase?

The net increase in the yield of winter wheat due to the different systems of Mg fertilization was significant, regardless of the course of the weather over the studied years. In general, the increase in the yield resulting from the single-stage foliar application of Mg was only slightly higher than that of soil-applied Mg (0.52 vs. $0.57 \text{ t} \text{ h}a^{-1}$). The increase in wheat yield as a result of Mg foliar fertilization increased up to $0.7 \text{ t} \text{ h}a^{-1}$ but provided its double application at BBCH 30 and repeated at BBCH 49/50. The end of booting/beginning of heading is considered the optimal stage for wheat foliar Mg fertilization [26,27]. This stage is crucial for the number of grains per unit area (GD) [34]. In the presented case, the recorded increase in the yield resulted directly from the increase in the GD [32]. The best effect of Mg application on wheat, resulting in a yield gain of 0.92 t ha⁻¹, was due to the interaction of both Mg fertilization systems. The course of weather during the growing season did not markedly change the trend of the wheat response to the tested Mg fertilization systems. On this basis and according to the data in the literature, three strategies for wheat fertilization with Mg during growth can be identified:

- Conservative: a high and stable yield increase, increasing the resistance to abiotic stresses;
- 2. Effective: a moderate-to-high yield increase, provided there are no abiotic stresses;
- Prophylactic: a moderate yield increase, with a constant fertilization factor.

The first strategy was very efficient in years with some disturbances in the weather course during the spring growing season of winter wheat (Figure 1). It requires, however, a higher dose of the in-soil applied Mg and its frequent application to wheat foliage [14,19,20]. The yield-forming effect of the applied Mg can be explained both by the increase in the GD and the maintenance of the photosynthetic activity of leaves during the grain-filling period [24,25,32]. The second Mg fertilization strategy can be recommended in the years or regions of the world with favorable growth conditions for winter wheat. A sufficiently high yield increase can be achieved by applying relatively low in-soil Mg doses, provided a high solubility of fertilizer is used as well as one-stage foliar fertilization with Mg [19,26]. The third fertilization strategy of winter wheat with Mg is based on a double-stage foliar fertilization, regardless of the weather and soil conditions [27].

Mg foliar fertilization was superior to its soil application, but provided a double-stage application, as supported by the obtained data from its extreme efficiency. The values of the Mg recovery indices (Mg–R) on the main Mgf plot ranged from 100% to 300%. In contrast, the Mg recovery on the Mgs plots were in the range of 18–38% for the Mgs25, and 10–19% for the Mgs50 main plots. Moreover, the highest Mg–R indices, regardless of the method of Mg application, were recorded in 2014, the year with the highest grain yield. The extremely high Mg–R values of the Mgf plot were due to the higher Mg uptake by plants and its accumulation in vegetative wheat biomass. The increase in Mg uptake, averaged over treatments, was 16.6% higher compared to the absolute Mg control. It is well documented in the scientific literature that chlorophyll Mg, despite being a stable plant trait, is the main source of N for the growing seed/grain [35]. The obtained results suggest an extension of the grain-filling period (GFP), which resulted in the higher yield. This conclusion is confirmed by Ahnadi-Lahijani and Emam [36], who showed that the
higher the chlorophyll content in wheat leaves during GFP and the longer the leaf surface is kept green, the greater the increase in wheat yield.

3.2. Impact of Magnesium Uptake on Nitrogen Management by Wheat

The fourth question concerns the impact of the Mg fertilization system on N management, i.e., N uptake by wheat and its net utilization. The conducted study clearly showed that wheat treated with Mg, regardless of the method of its application, significantly increased the amount of N in wheat at harvest (TN). It should be emphasized that the N taken up by wheat in response to Mg application was mainly accumulated in the grain (Table 2). Both experimental factors contributed to this but without interaction between the systems. The soil-applied Mg increased the amount of N in wheat grain by 24 and 21 kg ha⁻¹ in 2014 and 2015. Assuming a protein concentration in the grain at a level of 13%, the corresponding yield increase would be at a level of 1.1 and 0.93 t ha⁻¹. These values are almost equal to the yield increment as a result of the interaction of both mg fertilization systems (Figure 1). Thus, it can be concluded that regardless of weather conditions, the increase in yield is directly related to the efficiency of N utilized by wheat.

The strong relationship between the amount of extra N accumulated in wheat grain, as a result of the of Mg fertilization, was due to the critical role of both nutrients in photosynthesis. Nitrogen is the limiting component of Rubisco, the key plant enzyme responsible for CO_2 fixation [24,25]. The influence of Mg on the activity of Rubisco increases in conditions of water shortage, which is often accompanied by elevated temperatures [36,37]. Rubisco activity increases during the GFP of wheat growth, as recently documented by Shao et al. [25]. This specific effect was probably observed in 2015 on the main plot fertilized with 50 kg Mg ha⁻¹ and double Mg fertilization. The stabilizing effect of the soil-applied Mg on the yield of crops is well documented for various biologically different plants such as maize and sugar beets [28–31]. The assumed stabilization results from a plant's accessibility to the readily available Mg, even from the beginning of growth [19,26]. In wheat, the critical period of yield formation starts with the beginning of the elongation phase [8,9]. However, *the critical window* for wheat grain density takes place during the booting and heading stages [8,38]. Foliar Mg fertilization at these stages results in a higher grain density in cereals and maize [27].

Out of the nine studied NUE indices, only four were significantly related to the yield of wheat. The highest relationship was found for the nitrogen harvest index (N–HI). This index is a rule treated as a conservative wheat trait [39]. The study clearly showed its significant dependence on the total amount of Mg in wheat at harvest. The effect of Mg on N–HI was indirect, i.e., it reduced the amount of N in wheat residues. This trend means a greater transfer of N during GFP from the vegetative parts of wheat to the growing grains. The proposed explanation confirms an earlier study by Potarzycki [40,41]. The author showed that foliar Mg applied to wheat at the beginning of the booting phase increased the remobilization of N from vegetative tissues to grain.

Nitrogen apparent efficiency (NAE) was the second-most important ($p \le 0.01$) NUE index, showing a significant relationship with the yield. It also depended on the total amount of Mg in the wheat biomass or grain (Figure A4). The positive relationship between this index and wheat grain yield indirectly indicates a higher yield from plots fertilized with Mg. Moreover, this index was inversely correlated with the amount of N accumulated in wheat residues but positively with N–HI, NUP–G, NUP–T and, finally, N–PhE. On the basis of the obtained relationships, it can be concluded that, regardless of the fertilization system, Mg had a strong, significant effect on N utilization by winter wheat (Figure A4). The positive effect of Mg on the productivity of N_f was confirmed by the increased productivity of applied fertilizer N, as confirmed by the response of the PFP–N_f index. Its values ranged from 45 kg grain kg⁻¹ N_f in 2013, an unfavorable year for wheat growth, to 58 kg grain kg⁻¹ N_f in 2014, the year with the highest yields. The highest PFP-N_f values for an N_f rate of 190 kg N ha⁻¹ are comparable to those presented by Szczepaniak et al. [42] for wheat fertilized with 160 kg N ha⁻¹. The effective use of N_f by winter wheat through the use of

Mg is emphasized by the values of the nitrogen recovery index (N–R). It was very high on the Mg absolute control plot (NPK only), well above 80%. The use of Mg raised its values above 90%. Moreover, the impact of Mg on this index was very stable, regardless of the weather conditions during the growing season and the method of Mg application.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Experimental Site

A field experiment was carried out at Jarosławiec (52°15′ N, 17°32′ E, Poland) on soil originated from sandy loam, classified as Albic Luvisols (Neocambic) [43]. The content of organic matter (C_{org}) in a 0.0–0.3 m layer during the study ranged from 21 ± 0.1 to 25 ± 0.9 g kg⁻¹ soil (losses on ignition). Soil reaction (pH) was in the neutral range (1 M KCl). The content of available nutrients, measured before the application of fertilizers was, in general, good for P and sufficient for K and Mg. The amount of the mineral N (N_{min}), determined in a 0.0–0.9 m layer, was high in the first two growing seasons and medium in the third (Table 3).

Year	Soil Layer	pH	P ¹	K ¹	Mg ²	N _{min}	
	(cm)	1 M KCl		mg kg ⁻¹ Soil		kg ha $^{-1}$	
2012/2012	0–30		63.2 ¹ M ³	157.7 M	33.2 H	= < 4	
2012/2013	30-60	6.5	59.7 ¹ M	107.9 M	25.3 M	76 *	
2012/2014	0-30	(7	91.6 ¹ H	168.0 M	30.2 M	74	
2013/2014	30-60	0.7	91.6 ¹ H	153.6 M	24.7 M	74	
2014/2015	0-30	((87.2 ¹ H	182.6 H	24.1 M	57	
	30-60	0.6	95.9 ¹ H	149.9 M	30.2 M	57	

Table 3. Soil characteristics of the experimental plots during the 2012–2015 growing seasons.

¹ Egner–Riehm method; ² Schachtschabel method; ³ classes of the available nutrient content: M—medium, H—high; ⁴ layer: 0–90 cm (measured in 0.01 M CaCl₂).

4.2. Weather Conditions

The weather conditions were very variable in the consecutive growing seasons (Figure 7). The beginning of spring, with the exception of 2012/2013, favored the growth of wheat. In 2013, negative temperatures in the first two decades of March arrested plant growth. In all years of the study, temperatures during flowering and grain filling were within the ranges optimal for yield development. The sum of rainfall during the spring growing season was as follows: 2013—299.4, 2014—285.2, and 2015—265 mm. In 2015, a shortage of rainfall was revealed, which covered three main phases of wheat development, ranging from shooting to early flowering. The sum of rainfall in this period was 37.6 mm, while in 2013, it reached 88.8 mm, and in 2014, 92.6 mm.

4.3. Experimental Design

The field experiment was arranged as a two-factor split-plot design, replicated 4-fold:

- Soil-applied magnesium (Mgs): 0, 25, and 50 kg Mg ha⁻¹ (acronym: Mg control, Mgs25, and Mgs50);
- 2. Foliar-applied magnesium (Mgf):
 - a. Without application, i.e., Mgf control;
 - b. Applied at the BBCH 30 stage (I) (I–BBCH 30);
 - c. Applied at the BBCH 49/50 stage (II) (II–BBCH 59/50);
 - d. Applied at the BBCH 30/31 and BBCH 49/50 stages; double-stage application (I + II).



Figure 7. Weather conditions during the consecutive growing seasons.

Spring barley was the fore-crop for winter wheat. The *Tobak* wheat variety was sown annually on 20–25 September. The soil was fertilized with Mg in the form of Kieserite (MgSO₄ · H₂O), containing 25% MgO and 50% SO₃. Kieserite was applied to the soil three weeks before wheat sowing. Foliar fertilization of wheat with Mg was carried out using Epsom salt (MgSO₄ · H₂O) containing 16% MgO and 37.5% SO₃. The amounts of the applied nutrients are shown in Table 4. Sulfur applied together with the Mg fertilizer was balanced in the first dose of N. It was used as a mixture of ammonium sulfate and ammonium saltpeter (17.5% SO₃). The first N dose of 80 kg ha⁻¹ was applied just before the beginning of the growing season in spring. The second dose of 50 kg ha⁻¹ was applied, and the third one of 60 kg ha⁻¹ at BBCH 45–47. Phosphorus at a rate of 30.1 kg P ha⁻¹ as triple superphosphate (46% P₂O₅) and K at a rate of 66.4 kg K ha⁻¹ as muriate of potash (KCI) were applied together with the soil Mg. The total area of a single plot was 30 m², and the harvested area was 15 m². Plant protection was conducted in accordance with the codex of good practice.

.		$N-P_2O_5-K_2O$	Mg–Soil	Mg–Foliar		
Ireatment	Fertilization Schedule	kg ha ⁻¹				
1.1	NPK	190-70-80	0	0		
2.1	NPK–Mg foliar BBCH 30	190-70-80	0	2.4		
2.2	NPK–Mg foliar BBCH 49/50	190-70-80	0	4.0		
2.3	NPK–Mg foliar BBCH 30 + 49.50	190-70-80	0	6.4		
3.1	NPK-Mg soil	190-70-80	25	0		
3.2	NPK-Mg soil + foliar BBCH 30	190-70-80	25	2.4		
3.3	NPK–Mg soil + foliar BBCH 49/50	190-70-80	25	4.0		
3.4	NPK–Mg soil + foliar BBCH 30 + 49/50	190-70-80	25	6.4		
4.1	NPK-Mg soil	190-70-80	50	0		
4.2	NPK–Mg soil + foliar BBCH 30	190-70-80	50	2.4		
4.3	NPK–Mg soil + foliar BBCH 49/50	190-70-80	50	4.0		
4.4	NPK–Mg soil + foliar BBCH 30 + 49/50	190-70-80	50	6.4		

Table 4. Fertilization schedule.

4.4. Plant Material Sampling and Analysis

The plant material used for dry matter determination was collected at BBCH 89 from an area of 2.0 m². The sampled material was then divided, depending on the wheat stage, into subsamples of grain (G) and crop residues (CRs) composed of leaves (LE), stems (ST), ears (EA), and chaffs (CH). The results are expressed on a dry weight basis.

The N content was determined in both parts of the plant, using the standard macro– Kjeldahl procedure. For determination of the Mg content, the plant sample was dried at 65 °C and then mineralized at 550 °C. The obtained ash was then dissolved in 33% HNO₃. The concentration of Mg was determined using atomic absorption spectrometry—flame type. The results are expressed on a dry matter basis.

4.5. Parameters and Indices of Nitrogen Use Efficiency

The equations used to calculate the amount of N in the grain or crop residues and the N use efficiency (NUE) indices are presented below. The corresponding Mg indices were calculated in the same way.

1. Nitrogen accumulation in wheat grain, NaG:

$$N_a G = GY \times N \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$$

2. Nitrogen accumulation in crop residues, N_r:

$$N_a C R_s = C R_s \times N \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$$

3. Total accumulation of nitrogen in wheat biomass, TN:

$$TN = N_a G + N_a C R_s$$
 kg ha⁻¹

4. Nitrogen harvest index, NHI:

$$NHI = \frac{N_a G}{TN} \times 100\%$$

Nitrogen unit accumulation in grain, NUA-G:

$$NUA = \frac{N_a G}{GY} \, \mathrm{kg} \, N \times t^{-1}$$

6. Nitrogen unit accumulation in total wheat biomass, NUA-T:

$$NUA = \frac{TN}{GY} \text{ kg } N \times t^{-1}$$

7. Nitrogen unit productivity—grain, NUP-G:

$$NUP - G = \frac{GY \times 1000}{N_a G} \text{ kg grain} \times \text{kg}^{-1} \text{ N}$$

8. Nitrogen unit productivity-total, NUP-T:

$$NUP - T = \frac{GY \times 1000}{TN} \text{ kg grain} \times \text{kg}^{-1} N$$

9. Partial factor productivity of fertilizer N, PFP-N:

$$PFP - N = \frac{GY \times 1000}{N_f} \text{ kg grain kg}^{-1} N_f$$

10. Nitrogen agronomic efficiency, NAE:

$$NAE = \frac{GY_f \times 1000 - GY_{Nc} \times 1000}{N_{if}} \text{ kg grain} \times \text{kg}^{-1} N_f$$

11. Nitrogen recovery, N–R:

$$N-R = \frac{TN_{N_f} - TN_{N_c}}{N_f} \times 100\%$$

12. Nitrogen physiological efficiency, N-PhE:

$$N - PhE = \frac{GY_f \times 1000 - GY_{Nc} \times 1000}{TN_{Nc} - TN_{Nc}} \text{ kg grain kg}^{-1} \text{ N}$$

where:

NHI—nitrogen harvest index, %;

CRs—crop residues, t ha⁻¹;

N—*N* content in grain or crop residues, %, g kg⁻¹ DW;

 N_f —plots fertilized with N;

 N_c —nitrogen control;

N_f—treatment fertilized with nitrogen.

4.6. Statistical Analysis

The collected data were subjected to an analysis of variance using STATISTICA[®] 13 (StatSoft, Inc., Krakow, Poland, 2013). The distribution of the data (normality) was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test. The homogeneity of variance was checked by the Bartlett test. Means were separated by honest significant difference (HSD) using Tukey's method, where the *F*-test indicated significant factorial effects at a level of *p* < 0.05. To determine the wheat grain yield, stepwise regression was used to define the optimal set of wheat components. In the computational procedure, a consecutive variable was removed from the multiple regressions in a step-by-step manner. The best regression model was chosen based on the highest F–value for the model and the significance of all variables.

5. Conclusions

Magnesium applied to wheat resulted in a significant yield gain with respect to the effect of NPK, treated as the Mg control. The method of application was of secondary importance. A slightly higher increase in the yield was caused by foliar fertilization, preferably performed at the booting/heading stages of wheat growth. The yield gain, as a result of foliar fertilization with Mg fertilization, ranged from 0.6 to 0.9 t ha⁻¹, while in the soil, its application resulted in a yield gain in the range of 0.4-0.7 t ha⁻¹. Magnesium accumulation by wheat, averaged for the fertilization treatments, increased by 17% compared to the NPK plot. The recovery of foliar-applied Mg was multiple in relation to the applied dose. The recovery of soil-applied Mg depended on the dose, ranging from 18 to 38% on the 25 kg Mg ha⁻¹ main plot and from 10 to 19% on the 50 kg Mg ha⁻¹ plot. The main effect of wheat fertilization with Mg was its impact on the uptake and then partitioning of the accumulated N in wheat biomass between the grain and crop residues. The amount of extra accumulated N was effectively converted into grain yield. This process manifested itself in an increase in the value of the nitrogen harvest index and in a decrease in the N content in crop residues.

The main action of Mg, regardless of the weather and the method of its application, was an increase in the productivity of fertilizer nitrogen, which was confirmed by a set of various tested indices such as NUP–G, NUP–T, N–PhE, and PFP–N_f. The yield-forming effect of the applied Mg fertilizer to winter wheat was revealed by the increased N transfer to the grain, which indicates its impact on the nitrogen utilization efficiency.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.P. and W.G; methodology, J.P. and W.G.; software, J.P. and W.S.; validation, J.P. and W.G.; formal analysis, J.P, W.G. and W.S.; investigation, J.P.; resources, J.P and W.S.; data curation, J.P.; writing—original draft preparation, J.P and W.G.; writing—review and editing, J.P and W.G; visualization, J.P. and W.G.; supervision, W.G.; project administration, J.P. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Table A1. Matrix of the correlation indices for magnesium accumulation, efficiency indices, and yield, n = 36.

Trait	MgaG	MgaCR	Mg_aT	Mg-HI	MgUA-G	MgUA-T	MgUP-G	MgUP-T	PFP-Mg	MgAE	Mg-R	Mg-PhE
GY MgaG MgaT Mg-HI MgUA-G MgUP-G MgUP-G MgUP-T PFP-Mg MgAE Mg-R	0.35 * 1.00	0.36 * 0.67 *** 1.00	0.38 * 0.97 *** 0.83 *** 1.00	0.02 0.57 *** -0.23 0.36 * 1.00	-0.33 * 0.77 *** 0.44 ** 0.72 *** 0.54 ** 1.00	-0.37 * 0.71 *** 0.56 *** 0.71 *** 0.34 * 0.97 *** 1.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.25 \\ -0.82 *** \\ -0.77 *** \\ -0.77 *** \\ -0.58 *** \\ -0.99 *** \\ -0.96 *** \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.28 \\ -0.77 *** \\ -0.62 *** \\ -0.78 *** \\ -0.35 * \\ -0.97 *** \\ 0.97 *** \\ 0.97 *** \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.07\\ 0.01\\ -0.06\\ -0.01\\ 0.07\\ -0.04\\ -0.06\\ 0.01\\ 0.04\\ 1.00\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.06\\ 0.05\\ -0.02\\ 0.03\\ 0.09\\ 0.01\\ -0.01\\ -0.04\\ -0.01\\ 1.00 ***\\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.02\\ 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.04\\ 0.02\\ -0.07\\ -0.05\\ 0.99 ***\\ 1.00 ***\\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.04\\ 0.07\\ 0.05\\ 0.02\\ 0.01\\ -0.05\\ -0.04\\ 0.95 ***\\ 0.96 ***\\ 0.96 ***\\ \end{array}$

***, **, and * indicate significant differences at p < 0.001, p < 0.01, and p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—not significant. Mg_aG, Mg_aCR, and Mg_aT—magnesium accumulation: grain, crop residues, and total, respectively; Mg–HI—magnesium harvest index; MgUA-G and MgUA-T—magnesium accumulation: grain and total, respectively; MgUP–G and MgUP–T—magnesium unit productivity: grain and total, respectively; PFP–Mg—partial factor productivity of fertilizer magnesium; MgAE—magnesium apparent efficiency; Mg–R—magnesium recovery; Mg–PhE—magnesium physiological efficiency.

Table A2. Matrix of the correlation indices for nitrogen accumulation, efficiency indices, and yield, n = 36.

Trait	N _a GY	N _a CR	TN	N-HI	NUA-G	NUA-T	NUP-G	NUP-T	PFP-N	NAE	N-R	N-PhE
GY N _a G N _a CR TN N-HI NUA-G NUP-G NUP-T PFP-N NAE R-N	0.50 ** 1.00	-0.53 ** 0.40 * 1.00	0.26 0.96 *** 0.63 *** 1.00	0.9 *** 0.24 -0.78 *** -0.01 1.00	-0.16 0.78 *** 0.84 *** 0.90 *** -0.37 * 1.00	-0.38 *** 0.61 *** 0.94 *** 0.79 *** -0.59 *** 0.97 *** 1.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.22 \\ -0.73 *** \\ -0.84 *** \\ -0.83 *** \\ 0.40 * \\ -0.99 *** \\ -0.97 *** \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.47 \ ^{**} \\ -0.53 \ ^{**} \\ -0.94 \ ^{***} \\ 0.72 \ ^{***} \\ 0.64 \ ^{***} \\ -0.99 \ ^{***} \\ 0.96 \ ^{***} \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\\ 0.50\ ^{**}\\ -0.53\ ^{***}\\ 0.26\\ 0.91\ ^{***}\\ -0.16\\ -0.38\ ^{*}\\ 0.23\\ 0.47\ ^{**}\\ 1.00\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.75 \ ^{***} \\ -0.10 \\ -0.83 \ ^{***} \\ -0.33 \\ 0.81 \ ^{***} \\ -0.79 \ ^{***} \\ 0.66 \ ^{***} \\ 0.83 \ ^{***} \\ 0.75 \ ^{***} \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.14\\ 0.91 ***\\ 0.70 ***\\ 0.97 ***\\ -0.13\\ 0.93 ***\\ 0.85 ***\\ -0.91 ***\\ -0.80 ***\\ 0.14\\ -0.37 *\\ 1.00\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.38 \\ -0.61 \\ *** \\ -0.91 \\ *** \\ 0.55 \\ *** \\ -0.97 \\ *** \\ 0.99 \\ *** \\ 0.99 \\ *** \\ 0.38 \\ * \\ 0.80 \\ *** \\ -0.83 \\ *** \\ -0.83 \\ *** \\ \end{array}$

****, **, and * indicate significant differences at *p* < 0.001, *p* < 0.01, and *p* < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—not significant. ¹ I—BBCH 30; II—BBCH 49/50. N_aG, N_aCR, and N_aT—nitrogen accumulation: grain, crop residues, and total, respectively; N–HI—nitrogen harvest index; NUA-G and NUA-T—nitrogen accumulation: grain and total, respectively; NUP-G and NUP-T—nitrogen unit productivity: grain and total, respectively; PFP–N—partial factor productivity of fertilizer nitrogen; NAE—nitrogen apparent efficiency; N–R—nitrogen recovery; N–PhE—nitrogen physiological efficiency.

Table A3. Correlation matrix of magnesium accumulation and indices of nitrogen use efficiency.

Trait	MgaCR	MgaT	NUA-G	NUA-T	NUP-G	NUP-T	PFP-N	NAE	R–N	PhE-N
MgaG MgaCR	0.67 *** 1.00	0.97 *** 0.83 ***	-0.91 *** -0.54 **	-0.91 *** -0.57 ***	0.90 *** 0.54 **	0.92 *** 0.57 ***	0.35 * 0.34 *	0.82 *** 0.68 ***	-0.75 *** -0.30	0.93 *** 0.58 ***
MgaT		1.00	-0.86 ***	-0.89 ***	0.86 ***	0.88 ***	0.38 *	0.84 ***	-0.67 ***	0.89 ***

****, **, and * indicate significant differences at p < 0.001, p < 0.01, and p < 0.05, respectively; n.s.—not significant. Mg_aG, Mg_aCR, and Mg_aT—magnesium accumulation: grain, crop residues, and total, respectively; NUA–G and NUA–T—nitrogen accumulation: grain and total, respectively; NUP–G and NUP–T—nitrogen unit productivity: grain and total, respectively; PFP–N—partial factor productivity of fertilizer nitrogen; NAE—nitrogen apparent efficiency; N–R—nitrogen recovery; N–PhE—nitrogen physiological efficiency. Appendix B







stages of Mg foliar fertilization to wheat: IBBCH-30; II-BBCH 49/50.



Figure A3. General course of magnesium recovery in consecutive years of study.



Figure A4. Effect of magnesium total accumulation in winter wheat on indices of nitrogen utilization.

Legend: NUP-G and NUP-T—nitrogen unit productivity: grain and total, respectively; N-PhE—nitrogen physiological efficiency.

References

- 1. FAOSTAT. Available online: https://faostat.fao.org/site/567/default.aspx#ancor (accessed on 25 May 2022).
- Lobell, D.B.; Cassman, K.G.; Field, C.B. Crop yield gaps: Their importance, magnitudes, and causes. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 2009, 34, 179–204. [CrossRef]
- 3. Wójcik-Gront, E.; Iwańska, M.; Wnuk, A.; Oleksiak, T. The analysis of wheat yield variability based on experimental data from 2008-2018 to understand the yield gap. *Agriculture* **2022**, *12*, 32. [CrossRef]
- 4. Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R. Nitrogen gap amelioration is a core for sustainable intensification of agriculture—A concept. Agronomy 2021, 11, 419. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Łukowiak, R.; Sassenrath, G. Virtual nitrogen as a tool for assessment of nitrogen at the field scale. *Field Crops Res.* 2018, 218, 182–184. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W.; Niewiadomska, A.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Nitrogen *HotSpots* on the farm—A practice-oriented approach. *Agronomy* 2022, 12, 1305. [CrossRef]
- Ahrends, H.E.; Siebert, S.; Rezaei, E.E.; Seidel, S.J.; Hüging, H.; Ewert, F.; Döring, T.; Rueda-Ayala, V.; Eugster, W.; Gaiser, T. Nutrient supply affects the yield stability of major European crops—A 50 year study. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2020, 16, 014003. [CrossRef]
- Klepper, B.; Rickman, R.W.; Waldman, S.; Chevalier, P. The physiological life cycle of wheat: Its use in breeding and crop management. *Euphytica* 1998, 100, 341–347.
- Xie, Q.; Mayes, S.; Sparkes, D.L. Pre-anthesis biomass accumulation and plant organs defines yield components in wheat. Eur. J. Agron. 2016, 81, 15–26. [CrossRef]
- 10. Schnitkey, G.; Paulson, N.; Zulauf, C.; Swansin, K.; Colussi, J.; Baltz, J. Nitrogen fertilizer prices and supply in light of the Ukraine-Russia conflict. *Farmdoc Dly.* **2022**, *12*, 45.
- 11. Johnston, A.M.; Bruulsema, T.W. 4R nutrient stewardship for improved nutrient use efficiency. *Procedia Engine*. 2014, 83, 365–370. [CrossRef]
- 12. Cakmak, I.; Yazici, A.M. Magnesium: A forgotten element in crop production. Better Crops 2010, 94, 23–25.
- 13. Szczepaniak, W.; Barłóg, P.; Łukowiak, R.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. Effect of balanced nitrogen fertilization in four-year rotation on plant productivity. J. Cent. Europ. Agric. 2013, 14, 64–77. [CrossRef]
- Grzebisz, W. Magnesium. In Handbook od Plant Nutrition; Barker, A.V., Pilbeam, D.J., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2015; pp. 199–260.
- 15. Hlisnikovský, L.; Čermak, P.; Kunzová, E.; Barłóg, P. The effect of application of potassium, magnesium and sulphur on wheat and barley grain yield and protein content. *Agron. Res.* **2019**, *17*, 1905–1917.
- 16. Sadeghi, F.; Rezezad, A.; Rahimi, M. Effect of zinc and magnesium fertilizers on the yield and some characteristics of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) seeds in two years. *Inter. J. Agron.* **2021**, 2021, 8857222. [CrossRef]
- 17. Wang, Z.; Hassan, M.U.; Nadeem, F.; Wu, L.; Zhang, F.; Li, X. Magnesium fertilization improves crop yield in most production systems: A meta–analysis. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2020**, *10*, 1727. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grzebisz, W. The influence of crop rotation with an increasing content of cereals on photosynthetic potential of winter wheat. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 1988, 160, 198–207. [CrossRef]
- 19. Härdter, R.; Rex, M.; Orlovius, K. Effects of different Mg fertilizer sources on the magnesium availability in soils. *Nut. Cycl. Agroecos.* **2004**, *70*, 249–259. [CrossRef]
- 20. Gerendás, J.; Führs, H. The significance of magnesium for crop quality. Plant Soil 2013, 368, 101–128. [CrossRef]
- 21. Adnan, M.; Hayyat, M.S.; Imran, M.; Rehman, F.U.; Saeed, M.S.; Mehta, J.; Tampubolon, K. Impact of foliar application of magnesium fertilizer on agronomic crops: A review. *Ind. J. Pure App. Biosci.* **2020**, *8*, 281–288. [CrossRef]
- 22. Marschner, H. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants; Elsevier Ltd. Academic Press: London, UK, 1995; 899p.
- 23. Kant, S.; Seneweera, S.; Rodin, J.; Materne, M.; Burch, D.; Rothstein, S.J.; Spangenberg, G. Improving yield potential in crop under elevated CO₂: Integrating the photosynthetic and nitrogen utilization efficiencies. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 162. [CrossRef]
- 24. Parry, A.J.; Andralojc, P.J.; Scales, J.C.; Salvucci, M.E.; Carmo-Silva, A.E.; Alonso, H.; Whitney, S.M. Rubisco activity and regulation as targets for crop improvement. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2013**, *6493*, 717–730. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shao, Y.; Li, S.; Gao, L.; Sun, C.; Hu, J.; Ullah, A.; Gao, J.; Li, X.; Liu, S.; Jiang, D.; et al. Magnesium application promotes rubisco activation and contributes to high-temperature stress alleviation in wheat during the grain filling. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2021, 12, 675582. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Grzebisz, W.; Przygocka-Cyna, K.; Szczepaniak, W.; Diatta, J.; Potarzycki, J. Magnesium as a nutritional tool of nitrogen efficient management—Plant production and environment. J. Elem. 2010, 15, 771–788. [CrossRef]
- 27. Grzebisz, W. Crop response to magnesium fertilization as affected by nitrogen supply. Plant Soil 2013, 368, 23–39. [CrossRef]
- 28. Potarzycki, J. Effect of magnesium and zinc supplementation at the background of nitrogen rate on nitrogen management by maize canopy cultivated in monoculture. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2011**, *57*, 19–25. [CrossRef]
- Szczepaniak, W.; Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J.; Łukowiak, R.; Przygocka-Cyna, K. The magnesium and calcium mineral status of maize at physiological maturity as a toll for an evaluation of yield-forming conditions. J. Elem. 2016, 2193, 881–897.
- 30. Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. The in-season nitrogen concentration in the potato tuber as the yield driver. *Agron. J.* **2020**, *112*, 1287–1308. [CrossRef]

- 31. Pogłodziński, R.; Barłog, P.; Grzebisz, W. Effect of nitrogen and magnesium sulfate application on sugar beet yield and quality. *Plant Soil Environ.* **2021**, *67*, 507–513. [CrossRef]
- 32. Grzebisz, W.; Potarzycki, J. Effect of magnesium fertilization systems on grain yield formation by winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) during the grain filling period. *Agronomy* **2022**, *12*, 12. [CrossRef]
- Wallace, A.; Wallace, G.A. Closing the Crop-Yield Gap through Better Soil and Better Management; Wallace Laboratories: Los Angeles, CA, USA, 2003; p. 162.
- 34. Slafer, G.A.; Elia, M.; Savin, R.; Garcia, G.A.; Terrile, I.I.; Ferrante, A.; Miralles, D.J.; González, F.G. Fruiting efficiency: An alternative trait to further rise in wheat yield. *Food Energy Sec.* 2015, *4*, 92–109. [CrossRef]
- 35. Ahmadi-Lahijani, M.J.; Emam, Y. Post-anthesis drought stress effects on photosynthesis rate and chlorophyll content if wheat genotypes. *J. Plant Physiol. Breed.* **2016**, *6*, 35–52.
- Mathur, S.; Agrawal, D.; Jajoo, A. Photosynthesiis: Response to high temperature stress. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 2014, 137, 116–126. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Veres, S.; Ondrasek, G.; Zsombik, L. Wheat sensitivity to nitrogen supply under different climatic conditions. In *Global Wheat Production*; Fhad, S., Basir, A., Adnan, M., Eds.; InTech: Rijeka, Croatia, 2018; pp. 31–49.
- Hodgkinson, L.; Dodd, I.C.; Binley, A.; Ashton, R.W.; White, R.P.; Watts, C.W.; Whalley, W.R. Root growth in field grown winter wheat: Some effects of soil conditions, season and genotype. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2017, *91*, 74–83. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 39. Hawkesford, M.J. Reducing the reliance on nitrogen fertilizer for wheat production. J. Cereal Sci. 2014, 59, 276–283. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Potarzycki, J. Influence of nitrogen and magnesium fertilization at the flag leaf stage of winter wheat development on the yield and grain quality. *Fertil. Fertil.* 2008, 32, 99–109.
- Potarzycki, J. Nitrogen management of winter wheat fertilized with magnesium and nitrogen fertilizers at the flag leaf stage of growth. Fertil. Fertil. 2008, 32, 110–120.
- 42. Szczepaniak, W.; Nowicki, B.; Bełka, D.; Kazimierowicz, A.; Kulwicki, M.; Grzebisz, W. Effect of foliar application of micronutrients and fungicides on the nitrogen use efficiency in winter wheat. *Agronomy* **2022**, *12*, 257. [CrossRef]
- 43. Kabała, C.; Charzyński, P.; Chodorowski, J.; Drewnik, M.; Glina, B.; Greinert, A.; Hulisz, P.; Jaknkowski, M.; Jonczak, J.; Łabaz, B.; et al. Polish Soil Classification: Principles, classification scheme and correlation. *Soil Sci. Annu.* **2019**, *70*, 71–97. [CrossRef]



Article Impact of Foliar Fertilization on Growth, Flowering, and Corms Production of Five Gladiolus Varieties

Endre Kentelky * and Zsolt Szekely-Varga

Department of Horticulture, Faculty of Technical and Human Sciences, Sapientia Hungarian University of Transylvania, Sighişoarei 1/C, 540485 Targu Mures, Romania; szekelyvarga.zsolt@gmail.com * Correspondence: kentelky@ms.sapientia.ro

Abstract: Degraded and salt affected soils are appearing more often in cultivated areas. These specific problems could reduce nutrient uptake, which can result in guality and yield loss of the cultivated plants. In order to cope with this pedo-climatic condition growers are applying fertilizers; however, due to inadequate application, soil degradation will continue. Five Gladiolus varieties were subjected to foliar fertilization treatments to assess the effect on the plant's growth parameters, vase durability and daughter corm production. Our results indicate that plants treated with foliar fertilization show significant increase in the measured parameters, flower stem length, vase durability and daughter corm production. In conclusion, our study suggests that application of foliar fertilization can increase Gladiolus plants decoration and propagation, even with a smaller footprint on nature.

Keywords: corms; foliar fertilization; Gladiolus; vase durability

Citation: Kentelky, E.; Szekely-Varga, Z. Impact of Foliar Fertilization on Growth, Flowering, and Corms Production of Five Gladiolus Varieties. Plants 2021, 10, 1963. https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants10091963

Academic Editors: Jim Moir, Lukas Hlisnikovsky, Xinhua He and Przemysław Barłóg

Received: 24 August 2021 Accepted: 16 September 2021 Published: 20 September 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1. Introduction

Currently in the world 20% of the cultivated land is degraded and salt affected, which is affecting nutrient uptake and resulting in quality and yield reduction of the cultivated plants. More importantly, these factors are contributing to crop losses worldwide [1,2]. According to several studies, in order to cope with these conditions and increase production, chemical fertilizers are applied, but due to inappropriate application, soil degradation (acidification; salinization; nutrient imbalance; and irregular accumulation of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium) occurs in the cultivated lands [3,4].

Fertilization can be divided into two main methods: root and foliar fertilization [4]. Foliar fertilization can be absorbed directly through the leaves and can be transported more guickly and efficiently to the other plant organs compared to root fertilization [5,6]. Moreover, foliar fertilization can be sprayed at optimum times and concentrations, according to the requirement of different plants, at different growth stages. This type of fertilization can be more suitable to the plant's needs, in contrast to root fertilization [4,7,8].

Gladiolus genus is a perennial, monocotyledonous, geophyte, semi-rustic ornamental plant and includes about 260 species [8,9]. The Gladiolus originates in Mediterranean Europe, Asia, and South and Tropical Africa [10–13]. It can be found as an ornamental garden plant and also as cut flowers used for bouquets and arrangements [13]. These majestic plants are found in different shapes, colours, and sizes, and can be cultivated almost everywhere, but should be considered for regions where spring and summer conditions are favourable [14].

The main aim of the present research was to test the responses to foliar fertilization of five highly cultivated Gladiolus varieties. 'Black Beauty', 'Green Star', 'Nova Lux', 'Zizane', and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' were analysed in the study. The effect of three foliar fertilizers-Fitofolis, Bionat Plus and Cropmax—and the mixture of the three on the flower quality and the amount of new daughter corms produced by the selected gladioli was investigated. We expected to establish whether any of the five varieties was more suitable for cultivation in the climate conditions of the Carpathian Basin.

2. Results

2.1. Plant Growth

Considering the shoot growth, almost all *Gladiolus* varieties showed small increases in shoot length (Figure 1). However, in the case of 'Green Star' (Figure 1a) the Fitofolis and the F + B + C (the mixture of Fitofolis, Bionat Plus and Cropmax) treatments influenced the shoot growth significantly compared to the control treatments. The effect of the treatment was evident, especially for the 'Black Beauty' gladioli, which showed an increase in growth in all treatments with respect to the controls, with ~10 cm (Figure 1b).



Figure 1. Effect of foliar fertilization on the shoot growth parameters in *Gladiolus* varieties: 'Green Star' (**a**), 'Black Beauty' (**b**), 'Nova Lux' (**c**), 'Zizane' (**d**), and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' (**e**). Plants shoot growth under control conditions, in the presence of the indicated foliar fertilization: Fitofolis, Bionat Plus, Cropmax and the mixture of Fitofolis–Bionat Plus–Cropmax (F + B + C). Shoot growth was measured in all plants just before starting the treatments (13 May), and before the harvesting of the inflorescences (9 August). Bars represent the means \pm SE (n = 10). Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the treatments, according to Tukey test ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Regarding 'Nova Lux' (Figure 1c), only for the Bionat Plus and F + B + C treatments were significant differences reported; however, all treatments showed small increases (between 5–10 cm) compared to the control plants. An increase in mean shoot growth was

also reported in 'Zizane' for the Fitofolis treatment (Figure 1d); for 'Frizzled Coral Lace' (Figure 1e), an increase of approximately 4 cm, was observed for the Fitofolis and F + B + C treatments.

Percentage increases in shoot growth of *Gladiolus* varieties influenced by the foliar fertilization were as follows: for 'Green Star', 'Zizane', and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' the highest percentage increase was recorded with Fitofolis (3.92%, 13.58%, and 15.54%) compared to the control. In contrast, the smallest percentage increases for the same three varieties were observed with Cropmax (0.02%, 0.61%, and 4.86%). The 'Black Beauty' reported the highest increase with Bionat Plus (23.81%) and the smallest percentage increase at F + B + C (16.27%). For 'Nova Lux', a 30.6% increase was found with Bionat Plus compared to only a 9.8% increase with Cropmax fertilization.

The results of the present study indicated that a variety-specific response exists to foliar fertilization; in most cases the treatments significantly, positively influenced the flower stem growth (Figure 2) compared to the controls.



Figure 2. Effect of foliar fertilization on flower stem growth parameters in *Gladiolus* varieties: 'Green Star' (**a**), 'Black Beauty' (**b**), 'Nova Lux' (**c**), 'Zizane' (**d**), and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' (**e**). Plant flower stem growth shown under control conditions and in the presence of the indicated foliar fertilization: Fitofolis, Bionat Plus, Cropmax and the mixture of Fitofolis–Bionat Plus–Cropmax (F + B + C). Flower stem growth was measured in all plants just before starting the treatments (13 May), and before the harvesting of the inflorescences (9 August). Bars represent the means \pm SE (n = 10). Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the treatments, according to Tukey test ($\alpha = 0.05$).

'Green Star' (Figure 2a) showed significant growth of the flower stem under the Bionat Plus fertilization, with a 19 cm increase; the other fertilization treatments influenced the flower stem growth, but at smaller percentages.

All types of foliar fertilization increased flower stem length for 'Black Beauty' (Figure 2b), compared to the control plants, in some cases by almost 20 cm. Regarding 'Nova Lux', 'Zizane' and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' *Gladiolus* (Figure 2c–e), similar results were found for all four fertilization treatments. For these three *Gladiolus* varieties, growth increase was between 5 and 30 cm depending on the treatment.

Comparing the stem growth between varieties in all treatments, the highest increase was observed in 'Nova Lux'—almost 30 cm; the least growth was in 'Frizzled Coral Lace'. This could be explained by the variety morphology.

When comparing the flower stem growth to the control, the greatest percentage increases in 'Black Beauty', 'Frizzled Coral Lace', and 'Zizane' were recorded with Cropmax (27.96%, 19.76%, and 34.35%), in 'Nova Lux' and 'Green Star' with Bionat Plus with 37.91% and 25.07%, respectively. The lowest percentage increases were observed with Fitofolis ('Nova Lux'–11.82%, 'Frizzled Coral Lace'–9.18%, and 'Zizane'–18.02%) and F + B + C ('Black Beauty'–11.27% and 'Green Star'–2.66%) fertilizers.

2.2. Vase Durability

Under our experimental conditions, significant differences between the varieties and the treatments were observed in the vase durability of the *Gladiolus* (Figure 3). When comparing the varieties, it could be concluded that 'Green Star', 'Black Beauty' and 'Nova Lux' had the longest vase durability, whereas 'Zizane' and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' had shorter vase durability, with fewer points.



Figure 3. Effect of foliar fertilization on vase durability of *Gladiolus* varieties: 'Green Star', 'Black Beauty', 'Nova Lux', 'Zizane', and 'Frizzled Coral Lace'. Vase durability of floral stems produced under control conditions and in the presence of the indicated foliar fertilization: Fitofolis, Bionat Plus, Cropmax and the mixture of Fitofolis–Bionat Plus–Cropmax (F + B + C). Bars represent the means \pm SE (*n* = 5). Different lowercase letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the five varieties for each foliar fertilization, and different uppercase letters indicate significant differences between treatments, according to Tukey test (α = 0.05).

Foliar fertilizations influenced vase durability in a positive way, although with small differences. Almost all types of fertilization affected the gladioli durability, supporting the general conclusion of the individual experiments that all varieties responded to fertilization. The average vase durability was 7.45 days.

2.3. Daughter Corms Production

It was concluded that foliar fertilization had a positive effect on the increase in number of daughter corms production.

Under our experimental conditions 'Green Star' and 'Black Beauty' showed significant increases from all types of foliar fertilization, compared to the controls (Figure 4a,b).



Figure 4. Effect of foliar fertilization on increment in daughter corms in *Gladiolus* varieties: 'Green Star' (**a**), 'Black Beauty' (**b**), 'Nova Lux' (**c**), 'Zizane' (**d**), and 'Frizzled Coral Lace' (**e**). Increase in daughter corms under control conditions and in the presence of the indicated foliar fertilization: Fitofolis, Bionat Plus, Cropmax and the mixture of Fitofolis–Bionat Plus–Cropmax (F + B + C). Bars represent the means \pm SE (n = 10). Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the treatments, according to Tukey test ($\alpha = 0.05$).

For 'Nova Lux' (Figure 4c), there was no effect from the Fitofolis treatment. In contrast, the Bionat Plus, Cropmax and F + B + C treatments increased the corms production. Increases in the number of corms were also observed in 'Zizane' (Figure 4d) with the Bionat Plus and F + B + C treatments.

'Frizzled Coral Lace' (Figure 4e) showed a high increase from the F + B + C treatment, as daughter corms production was five times higher compared to the controls. This result could be influenced also by the variety: comparing the five different *Gladiolus* varieties, the greatest daughter corm production occurred in this variety.

In the cases of 'Green Star' (60.97%), 'Black Beauty' (92%), 'Nova Lux' (77.14%), and 'Zizane' (63.63%) the smallest percentage increase in relation to the controls were reported from Fitofolis. For 'Frizzled Coral Lace', the Cropmax fertilizer recorded the smallest increase in percentage with a 228.12% compared to control. The greatest increases were observed with Bionat Plus ('Green Star'–143.9% and 'Black Beauty'–184%) and the mixture of the three foliar fertilizers ('Nova Lux'–185.71%, 'Zizane'–281.81%, and 'Frizzled Coral Lace'–714.06%).

3. Discussion

The results of this experiment show proper foliar fertilization can support and influence the growth, vase durability and daughter corms production of some *Gladiolus* varieties. Saima et al. [15] found that application of foliar spray affected flower production and it was the best method to getting maximum flower production in *Gladiolus*. Furthermore, it has a potential effect on the nutrient uptake and on the stimulation of growth parameters and flowering characteristics [5,16]. Foliar fertilization increases micronutrient uptake and physiological and biochemical indexes [17,18]. Many studies suggest that foliar fertilization may help to stimulate the uptake of soil applied fertilizers, which could provide a solution to salt accumulation in the soil [4].

Foliar fertilization was more effective and significantly enhanced the shoot and flower stem growth compared to the control plants. Similar to our study, some researchers reported that foliar fertilization promoted the flower stem growth to the maximum levels in gladioli, which could have a constructive role in the development of the flowers [15,19,20]. Similar findings have been described where the administration of foliar fertilization treatments influenced the *Calendula* inflorescence yield, but not the chlorophyll parameters, where no significant differences were observed between the treatments [21,22].

The data obtained clearly show that foliar fertilization can affect shoot growth in a positive way. Furthermore, the Fitofolis fertilizer obtained the best results compared to the control, which in some cases increased the growth up to 5 cm. The mixture of the three fertilizers (F + B + C) influenced shoot growth of gladioli in a positive way. In some varieties increases of 3 cm were shown compared to treatments with only Cropmax or Bionat Plus.

Like the shoot growth parameters, flower stem growth was influenced in a positive way by the foliar fertilization in all five varieties. Generally, the highest increases were observed in the plants fertilized with Bionat Plus, followed by Cropmax and Fitofolis. The mixture of foliar fertilizers in this case did not record as high an increase compared to the other three treatments. The macronutrients (N, P and K) are known to have effect on plant growth [23]. Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium influenced the shoot growth and the flower stem length in a positive way. NPK used at an optimal dose can supplement sufficient nutrient uptake, which foster conditions for plants growth and development [24]. In some studies, it was also reported that B (boron) could increase–stimulate nutrient uptake, maintaining cell integrity and intensify respiration rate, which could promote growth and flower development [25–27].

Vase durability of *Gladiolus* is one of the most important considerations for consumers. Foliar fertilizer effects on vase durability have been reported on *Rosa* [28], *Lilium* [29], *Anthurium andreanum* [30] and *Gladiolus* [31,32]. In the present experiment, vase durability of the five gladioli varieties was improved compared to the control in almost all treatments. The longest vase durability was obtained under the Bionat Plus treatment, and the longest vase durability among the five varieties was observed for 'Green Star'. *Gladiolus* fading or wilting are important signalling factors of senescence [33]. Calcium (Ca) has an important role in regulating the senescence in gladioli cut flowers [34]. Ca increases membrane

stability and reduces the level of reactive oxygen species, which could delay senescence in *Gladiolus* cut flowers [35]. However, in a study conducted by Dhakal et al. [31] it was concluded that phosphorus could also improve vase durability of gladioli cut flowers.

Daughter corm production is an important part of the gladioli propagation; our study results clearly indicate foliar fertilization has an important role in this sequence of the cultivation. Previous reports have also shown an increase in daughter corms production under foliar fertilization treatments [16,36–38]. Under our experimental conditions the highest increase was recorded in 'Frizzled Coral Lace' compared to the other four *Gladiolus varieties*. The mixture foliar fertilization (F + B + C) improved the daughter corm production. This behaviour could be explained also with the variety characteristics, where previous results reported 'Frizzled Coral Lace' has a high yield of daughter corms. Daughter corm production could be influenced by nitrogen dose [39,40], and some studies have shown that daughter corm production is also influenced by applying a higher potassium dose [15,16,41].

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Experimental Site and Plant Material

Open field experiments were conducted between April and September 2018 at the Sapientia Hungarian University of Transylvania, Târgu Mureş (46°31'17" N 24°35'54" E). The gladioli corms were obtained from Sieberz Garden Centre (Gödöllő, Hungary) and planted in five rows/block, each row containing 10 gladioli corms, with sizes of 12–14 cm in circumference. According to the soil analysis and of the analysis of its profile we can state that the type of soil at the experiment location is gley chernozem, carbonated in depth and clayish in the alluvial deposits (Epiaquic Hapludalfs) (Table 1).

Depth (cm)	pН	P (ppm)	K (ppm)	Humus %	N %	Cohesion Coefficient	CaCO ₃ (ppm)
0-10	7.55	586	1850	7.29	0.348	48	1.33
10-20	7.48	520	1630	7.12	0.33	48.4	1.25
20-40	7.44	487	1550	6.22	0.304	48.8	

Table 1. Planted soil proprieties.

The average temperature during the experiment was 17.99 $^{\circ}$ C, the minimum was recorded in April (15.4 $^{\circ}$ C), and the maximum temperature in August (21.83 $^{\circ}$ C) (Figure 5). From Figure 5, it can be concluded that the average precipitation amount was 54.83 mm during the experimental months. The minimum precipitation was recorded in April at 15.40 mm, and the maximum in June was 129.40 mm. The precipitation and temperature data were collected using Delta–T devices WS–GP2 Automatic Weather Station (Delta-T Devices Ltd., Burwell, UK).

Morphological description of the five selected *Gladiolus* varieties:

- 'Black Beauty': flower colour dark burgundy; usually grows a flower stalk that is thin, straight, stiff; plant height 70–90 cm.
- 'Green Star': flower colour lime green; usually grows a flower stalk that is straight and vigorous; plant height 75–100 cm.
- 'Nova Lux': flower colour bright yellow; the flower stalk is thin but strong; plant height 80–110 cm.
- 'Zizane': flower colour combination of red and white; grows a straight, strong flower stalk; plant height 80–110 cm.
- 'Frizzled Coral Lace': flower colour coral pink; tends to grow more flower stems; plant height 60–100 cm.

Gladiolus corms were planted on 18 April 2018 with a row length of 25 cm and 15 cm between the plants. The plant growth was already observed at the end of the planting month.



Figure 5. Meteorological conditions, precipitation and temperature during the field experiment (April–September 2018).

4.2. Application of the Foliar Fertilization

On 13 May, two weeks after sprouting, first shoot measurements and the first foliar fertilization were made, according to the experimental design: A–Control, B–Fitofolis (Chemtech, Târgu Mureş, Romania), C–Bionat Plus (Panetone, Timişoara, Romania), D–Cropmax (Blondy, Târgu Mureş, Romania) and E–the mixture of the three foliar fertilizers (first it was fertilized with Fitofolis, the second fertilization was made with Bionat Plus, the third with Cropmax, and the last one with the mixture of the three fertilizers in 1:1:1 proportion) (Table 2).

Table 2. Planting design: A: Control; B: Fitofolis; C: Bionat Plus; D: Cropmax; E: The mixture of Fitofolis, Bionat Plus and Cropmax (F + B + C).

Α	В	С	D	Ε
Green Star	Black Beauty	Zizane	Frizzled Coral Lace	Nova Lux
Nova Lux	Green Star	Black Beauty	Zizane	Frizzled Coral Lace
Frizzled Coral Lace	Nova Lux	Green Star	Black Beauty	Zizane
Zizane	Frizzled Coral Lace	Nova Lux	Green Star	Black Beauty
Black Beauty	Zizane	Frizzled Coral Lace	Nova Lux	Green Star

The used foliar fertilizers content:

- Fitofolis: N–183 g/L; P–43 g/L; K–46 g/L; Fe–0.4 g/L; Cu–0.06 g/L; Mn–0.086 g/L; B–0.01 g/L; Zn–0.05 g/L; Mo–0.004 g/L.
- Bionat Plus: N-6.9%; P-0.003%; K-0.76%; Mg-0.47%; S-1.3%; Ca-0.05%; B-0.16%; Cu-0.35%; Fe-0.18%; Mn-0.06%; Zn-0.11%.
- Cropmax: N–0.2%; P–0.4%; N–0.02%; Fe–220 mg/L; Mg–550 mg/L; Zn–49 mg/L; Cu–35 mg/L; Mn–54 mg/L; B, Ca, Mo, Co, Ni–10 mg/L; auxin; cytokinin; gibberellin.

The application of the foliar fertilizers was done with a hand sprayer; for each product a 2% solution was prepared. To prevent the fertilization from getting into the wrong row, we placed a plastic film between the rows to protect them from the other treatments.

On 2 June the second foliar fertilization was applied; the only difference was that the gladioli on bed E were sprayed with the Bionat Plus. The third fertilization was made on 20 June, for the last (E) gladioli bed, Cropmax foliar fertilizer was applied.

The last fertilization was done on 5 July; E bed was fertilized with the mixture of the three foliar fertilizations (Fitofolis, Bionat Plus, Cropmax) in 1:1:1 proportions. The first flower buds appeared on 13 July. We measured the flower stem length of each plant. The last shoots measurements were made before harvesting the five *Gladiolus* varieties (9 August).

4.3. Vase Durability

When almost all gladioli started flowering (11 August) we randomly harvested five flowered stems, at a cut distance of 5 cm above the soil, from each treatment/*Gladiolus* variety. The vase durability was studied for seven days, and the gladioli cut flowers were kept under the same conditions: at room temperature, in clean-fresh water, and monitored and noted every three hours.

The classification criteria for the vase durability were determined as follows:

- Ten points if the flower buds are healthy, the lower inflorescence is fully open, the colour is bright and typical for the variety, the stem is flexible and straight, the leaves are brightly coloured.
- Nine points if the second and third flower buds have opened, the petal edges on the first are starting to wilt slightly, the stem is losing a little of its hold.
- Eight points when the fourth and fifth flower buds have opened, the petals of the lowest flower start to wilt.
- Seven points if lowest flower fully open, withered, leaves completely lose their glossy colour, stem loses elasticity.
- Two points when the uppermost buds in the inflorescence is opened, and the ones underneath are constantly wilting.

The above was used to determine the maximum value of vase durability.

4.4. Corms Propagation

At the end of August, all inflorescences were harvested from the plants; however, we left two leaves on each *Gladiolus* plant, thus contributing to the growth of the corms. In this way most of the photoassimilation is destined for the growth of the daughter corms. By the end of September, when the plants had stopped nutrient uptake and the remaining leaves withered, we gathered corms of five *Gladiolus* varieties. We dried them and cleaned the remaining soil of the corms.

4.5. Statistical Analysis

All data were tested for normality of errors and homogeneity of variance. As all data were normally distributed, ANOVA followed by Tukey test were used to compare variances. The significance of the differences between the treatments was tested by applying two-way ANOVA, at a confidence level if 95%. When the ANOVA null hypothesis was rejected, Tukey's Post hoc test was carried out to establish the statistically significant differences at p < 0.05.

5. Conclusions

Gladioli growers strive to achieve the greatest possible stem length, vase durability and daughter corm production. The present study provides new experimental data on the responses of five *Gladiolus* varieties to foliar fertilization. For flower stem length and vase durability increase we recommend the use of Bionat Plus fertilizer, and for cut flowers the 'Green star' variety, which in our experiments had the best increases. The highest yield of daughter corm production was observed with the mixture of the three foliar fertilizations (F + B + C). These approaches/results will help to enhance the production of *Gladiolus*, with a smaller footprint on the degradation and salinization of the cultivated lands. Due to the frequent changes in cultivated *Gladiolus* varieties, we propose repeating this experimental design in a few years to examine the effect of foliar fertilization on new and requested varieties on the market.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, E.K.; methodology, E.K.; formal analysis, E.K. and Z.S.-V.; writing—original draft preparation, E.K. and Z.S.-V.; writing—review and editing, E.K. and Z.S.-V. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to express their special thanks to Cecilia Kurko, Kázmér Kovács and László Ferencz for the help with this research.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Machado, R.M.A.; Serralheiro, R.P. Soil salinity: Effect on vegetable crop growth. Management practices to prevent and mitigate soil salinization. *Horticulturae* 2017, 3, 30. [CrossRef]
- Litalien, A.; Zeeb, B. Curing the earth: A review of anthropogenic soil salinization and plant-based strategies for sustainable mitigation. Sci. Total. Environ. 2020, 698, 134235. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Tarchoune, I.; Sgherri, C.; Izzo, R.; Lachaâl, M.; Navari-Izzo, F.; Ouerghi, Z. Changes in the antioxidative systems of *Ocimum basilicum* L. (cv. Fine) under different sodium salts. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* **2012**, *34*, 1873–1881. [CrossRef]
- Niu, J.; Liu, C.; Huang, M.; Liu, K.; Yan, D. Effects of Foliar Fertilization: A Review of Current Status and Future Perspectives. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2021, 21, 104–118. [CrossRef]
- Sathyanarayana, E.; Sudha, P.; Chawla, S.L. Impact of integrated nutrient management on growth and flowering of gladiolus (*Gladiolus grandiflorus* L.) cv. American beauty. *Int. J. Chem. Stud.* 2017, 5, 317–319.
- 6. Patil, B.; Chetan, H.T. Foliar fertilization of nutrients. *Marumegh* 2018, *3*, 49–53.
- Shahverdi, M.A.; Omidi, H.; Damalas, C.A. Foliar fertilization with micronutrients improves *Stevia rebaudiana* tolerance to salinity stress by improving root characteristics. *Braz. J. Bot.* 2020, 43, 55–65. [CrossRef]
- Abdel-Kader, H.H.; El-Saady, W.A.; Zaky, H.A. Effect of Magnetized Water and NPK Fertilization Treatments on Growth and Field Performance of *Gladiolus. J. Plant Prod.* 2020, 11, 627–632. [CrossRef]
- 9. Şelaru, E. Cultivation of Garden Flowers (Cultura Florilor de Grădină); Ceres: Bucharest, Romania, 2007; pp. 88–92, 436–442.
- 10. Greving, A.J. Growing Gladiolus; University of Nebraska-Lincoln: Lincoln, Nebraska, 1987; Volume 978, pp. 1–5.
- Tombolato, A.F.C.; Castro, J.L.; Matthes, L.A.F.; Leme, J.M. Melhoramento genético do gladíolo no IAC: Novos cultivares 'IAC Carmim' e 'IAC Paranapanema'. *Científica* 2008, 33, 142–147.
- 12. Riaz, T.; Khan, S.N.; Javaid, A. Management of *Fusarium* corm rot of gladiolus (*Gladiolus grandiflorus* sect. Blandus cv. Aarti) by using leaves of allelopathic plants. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.* **2010**, *9*, 4681–4686.
- Cantor, M.; Tolety, J. Gladiolus. In Wild Crop Relatives: Genomic and Breeding Resources; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2011; pp. 133–159.
- 14. Cantor, M.; Zaharia, D.; Pop, I. Results and new trends in breeding of romanian gladiolus. Acta Hortic. 2002, 624, 61-66. [CrossRef]
- 15. Saima, S.; Perveen, M.; Nawaz, M.; Ahmad, K.M.; Sultan, H. Comparison of Foliar Spray and Side Dressing of Potassium on Growth, Flowering, Productions of Corms in *Gladiolus* cv. Yellow Stone. *Sarhad J. Agric*. **2021**, *37*, 548–554. [CrossRef]
- El-Naggar, A.A.M.; El-Nasharty, A.E. Effect of Potassium Fertilization on Growth, Flowering, Corms Production and Chemical Contents of *Gladiolus hybrida*, L. Cv. ASEJ 2016, 37, 714–728.
- Bistgani, Z.E.; Siadat, S.A.; Bakhshandeh, A.; Pirbalouti, A.G.; Hashemi, M.; Maggi, F.; Morshedloo, M.R. Application of combined fertilizers improves biomass, essential oil yield, aroma profile, and antioxidant properties of *Thymus daenensis* Celak. *Ind. Crop. Prod.* 2018, 121, 434–440. [CrossRef]
- Oliveira, K.S.; Prado, R.D.M.; Guedes, V.H.D.F. Leaf Spraying of Manganese with Silicon Addition Is Agronomically Viable for Corn and Sorghum Plants. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2020, 20, 872–880. [CrossRef]
- 19. Bashir, M.; Khan, I.; Waseem Khan Qadri, R.; Tanveer, M.; Zain, M.; Ahmad, I. Growth and corm production of *Gladiolus* grandiflorus L. 'Essential' under different NPK regimes. J. Ornam. Plants 2016, 6, 11–19.

- El-Kot, H.R.; Abdallah, S.A.; Hassan, H.M.; Ali, M.A. effect of chemical nitrogen fertilizer level and humic acid rate on *Gladiolus grandiflorus* productivity. Sinai J. Appl. Sci. 2020, 9, 29–40. [CrossRef]
- Onofrei, V.; Honermeier, B.; Lobiuc, A.; Burducea, M.; Teliban, G.C.; Jitareanu, C.D.; Cotunoaea, R.C.; Robu, T. Effects of foliar ecological fertilization on inflorescence yield and chlorophyll parameters of *Calendula officinalis* L. *An. Stiintifice Univ. Al. I. Cuza lasi* 2016, 62, 142.
- Onofrei, V.; Teliban, G.-C.; Burducea, M.; Lobiuc, A.; Sandu, C.B.; Tocai, M.; Robu, T. Organic foliar fertilization increases polyphenol content of *Calendula officinalis* L. *Ind. Crop. Prod.* 2017, 109, 509–513. [CrossRef]
- Onofrei, V.; Benchennouf, A.; Jancheva, M.; Loupassaki, S.; Ouaret, W.; Burducea, M.; Lobiuc, A.; Teliban, G.C.; Robu, T. Ecological foliar fertilization effects on essential oil composition of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) cultivated in a field system. *Sci. Hortic.* 2018, 239, 104–113. [CrossRef]
- Gaber, K.M. Vegetative and flowering growth of geranium as affected by mineral fertilization and ascorbic acid foliar application. *Middle East J. Appl. Sci.* 2019, 9, 220–230.
- Ali, S.; Javed, H.U.; Rehman, R.N.U.; Sabir, I.A.; Naeem, M.S.; Siddiqui, M.Z.; Saeed, D.A.; Nawaz, M.A. Foliar application of some macro and micro nutrients improves tomato growth, flowering and yield. *Int. J. Biosci.* 2013, 3, 280–287. [CrossRef]
- Singh, A.; Sharma, B.P.; Dilta, B.S.; Laishram, N.; Gupta, Y.C.; Bhardwaj, S.K. Effects of fertilization on quality flower production and foliar nutrient content of carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus* L.) cv. master. *Bangladesh J. Bot.* 2015, 44, 133–137. [CrossRef]
- Mudassir, S.; Ahmad, R.; Anjum, M.A. Foliar Application of Micronutrients Enhances Growth, Flowering, Minerals Absorption and Postharvest Life of Tuberose (*Polianthes tuberosa L.*) in Calcareous Soil. J. Hortic. Sci. Technol. 2021, 4, 41–47. [CrossRef]
- Bilal, H.H.; Tahir, R.; Adnan, M.; Ali, S.M.; Islam, H.; Umer, M.S.; Mir, F.A.; Ahmad, R.I.; Iftikhar, M. Does foliar application of macro and micronutrients have any impact on roses production? A review. Ann. Rev. Res. 2020, 1, 555677. [CrossRef]
- Darandeh, N.; Hadavi, E. Effect of Pre-Harvest Foliar Application of Citric Acid and Malic Acid on Chlorophyll Content and Post-Harvest Vase Life of *Lilium* cv. Brunello. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2012, 2, 106. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Waheeduzzama, M.; Jawaharlal, M.; Arulmozhiyan, R.; Indhumathi, K. Effect of integrated nutrient management practices on flower quality and vase life of *Anthurium andreanum* cv. Meringue. J. Ornam. Hortic. 2006, 9, 142–144.
- Dhakal, K.; Khanal, D.; Ayer, D.K.; Khanal, A.P.; Pandey, L.; Pant, S.S.; Upadhyay, K.; Magar, S.S.B.; Pandey, L.; Prasad, M.L.; et al. Effect of nitrogen and phosphorous on growth, development and vase life of gladiolus. *RRJoAST* 2017, 6, 1–7.
- Allawii, S.S.; Al-Atrakchii, A.O. effect of foliar application of calcium chloride and salicylic acid on growth and flowering of three *Gladiolus* × *hortulanus* L. cultivars. *Mesop. J. Agric.* 2020, *48*, 45–58. [CrossRef]
- Chore, K.J.; Mwangi, M.; Karori, S.M.; Kibe, A.M. Changes in carbohydrates associated with senescence of cut gladiolus spikes under pulsing and wet cold storage durations. *Afr. Crop Sci. J.* 2020, *28*, 41–53. [CrossRef]
- Sairam, R.K.; Vasanthan, B.; Arora, A. Calcium regulates *Gladiolus* flower senescence by influencing antioxidative enzymes activity. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* 2011, 33, 1897–1904. [CrossRef]
- Ahmad, M.; Rab, A. Calcium effects on post-harvest attributes and vase life of gladiolus using different methods of application. Pak. J. Bot. 2020, 52, 167–179. [CrossRef]
- Sathyanarayana, E.; Patil, S.; Bahubali, M.; Chawla, S.L. Effect of INM on gladiolus (*Gladiolus grandiflorus*, L.) cv. American Beauty under Navsari and Tansa Conditions. *Int. J. Pure App. Biosci.* 2018, 6, 48–55. [CrossRef]
- Ghanbari, J.; Khajoei-Nejad, G.; Van Ruth, S.M.; Aghighi, S. The possibility for improvement of flowering, corm properties, bioactive compounds, and antioxidant activity in saffron (*Crocus sativus* L.) by different nutritional regimes. *Ind. Crop. Prod.* 2019, 135, 301–310. [CrossRef]
- Shyla, R.; Ruby, M.; Rameshkumar, S. Effect of gypsum and micronutrients on spike and corm yield of gladiolus (*Gladiolus grandiflorus*) cv. Guvari. Crop Res. 2021, 56, 0970–4884.
- 39. Kumar, E.; Misra, R.L. Response of gladiolus to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilization. J. Ornam. Hortic. 2003, 6, 95–99.
- Patel, N.M.; Desai, J.R.; Saravaiya, S.N.; Patel, N.B.; Patel, K.A.; Patel, R.B. Influence of chemical fertilizers on growth, quality, corm and cormel production of gladiolus (*Gladiolus grandiflorus* L.) cv. SANCERREE under South Gujarat conditions. *TAJH* 2010, 5, 123–126.
- Lehri, S.M.; Kurd, A.A.; Rind, M.A.; Bangulzai, N.A. The response of *Gladiolus tristis* L. to N and P₂O₅ fertilizers. *SJA* 2011, 27, 185–188.





Petr Škarpa ¹, Dominika Mikušová ¹, Jiří Antošovský ¹, Milan Kučera ² and Pavel Ryant ^{1,*}

- ¹ Faculty of AgriSciences, Mendel University in Brno, Zemědělská 1, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic;
- petr.skarpa@mendelu.cz (P.Š.); dominika.mikusova@mendelu.cz (D.M.); jiri.antosovsky@mendelu.cz (J.A.)
 ² Research Institute of Chemical Technology (VUCHT a.s.), Nobelova 34, 836 03 Bratislava, Slovakia; mkucera@vucht.sk
- * Correspondence: pavel.ryant@mendelu.cz

Abstract: Fertilizer coating can increase the efficiency of N fertilizers and reduce their negative impact on the environment. This may be achieved by the utilization of biodegradable natural coating materials instead of polyurethane-based polymers. The aim of this study was to detect the effect of calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) fertilizer coated with modified conventional polyurethane enhanced with vegetable oils on the yield and quality of *Brassica napus* L. compared to CAN fertilizer with a vegetable oil-based polymer and to assess the risks of nitrogen loss. Three types of treatments were tested for both coated fertilizers: divided application (CAN, coated CAN), a single application of coated CAN, and a single application of CAN with coated CAN (1:2). A single application of coated CAN with both types of coating in the growth stage of the 9th true leaf significantly increased the yield, the thousand seed weight, and oil production compared to the uncoated CAN. The potential of using coated CAN may be seen in a slow nitrogen release ensuring the nitrogen demand for rapeseed plants throughout vegetation and eliminating the risk of its loss. The increased potential of NH4⁺ volatilization and NO3⁻ leaching were determined using the uncoated CAN fertilizer compared to the coated variants. Oil-based polymer coatings on CAN fertilizer can be considered as an adequate replacement for partially modified conventional polyurethane.

Keywords: control release fertilizer; yield; oiliness; nitrogen losses; nitrate leaching

1. Introduction

With the world's exponential population growth and diminishing of arable lands, the agriculture industry has faced a great challenge of crop and food resources for the past decades [1,2]. Predictions are that the earth's population could approach 9.5 billion by 2050, which may result in an almost double increase in food demand and crop production. In one specific example, cereal production is expected to increase from 940 million tons to 3 billion tons a year [3,4]. Satisfying increasing grain yield demands has been achieved by enhancing the use of mineral fertilizers to cropland soil. However, the excessive application of fertilizers presents one of the main sources of polluting soil (heavy metals), water (nitrates leaching into groundwater), and air environments (emission of greenhouse gases), which could be a threat to human health [5,6].

Nitrogen occupies a unique position among essential plant nutrients. Nitrogen and water availability are considered the two major limiting factors in plant growth and development of metabolic processes—nutrient distribution, photosynthesis, biomass, and ultimately yield building [7–9]. The deficiency of nitrogen strongly decreases chlorophyll content, enzymatic activity, photosynthesis, respiration rate, and yield of crops [10]. Nitrogen can be directly absorbed by plant roots in inorganic forms (mineral nitrogen) as ammonium (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻). These forms are the key components of nitrogen fertilizers such as ammonium nitrate (AN) and urea included in the two most widespread nitrogen fertilizers [11].

Citation: Škarpa, P.; Mikušová, D.; Antošovský, J.; Kučera, M.; Ryant, P. Oil-Based Polymer Coatings on CAN Fertilizer in Oilseed Rape (*Brassica napus* L.) Nutrition. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1605. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants10081605

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukas Hlisnikovsky and Xinhua He

Received: 26 June 2021 Accepted: 3 August 2021 Published: 5 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). According to FAO, world demand of nitrogen (N), phosphate (P_2O_5), and potash (K_2O) fertilizers were reported to be in total up to 184.0 mil tons in 2015. The forecast for 2022 could be up to 200.9 mil tons (nitrogen fertilizers present up to 111.6 mil tons) [12,13]. Despite the fact that the use of nitrogen fertilizers plays an essential role in meeting the demand for crop production, nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) is relatively low due to their excessive use (in general between 25–50%) and often leads to losses of redundant nitrogen from agroecosystems [14]. Nitrogen losses due to gaseous emissions of ammonia (NH₃), nitric oxide (NO), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and dinitrogen (N₂) along with leaching and runoff in the forms of ammonium (NH₄⁺), nitrite (NO₂⁻), and nitrate (NO₃⁻) present an alarming threat to the environment [15].

Leakage prevention of nitrates may present one of the greatest environmental challenges in terms of nitrogen fertilizer use. Nitrogen losses, caused by NO_3^- leaching from soil into water, represent a loss of soil fertility and also pose a threat to the environment and subsequently to human health [5,16]. Increased nitrate levels present in drinking water create a risk of cancer, heart disease, and methemoglobinemia in babies [17]. According to calculations by Grizzetti et al. [17], up to 50% of the European population live in areas with a concentration of nitrates in water exceeding 25 mg·L⁻¹, and up to 20% live in areas where nitrates exceed the recommended level of 50 mg·L⁻¹. As already mentioned, nitrate coming from agriculture is the most common contaminant in the world's groundwater aquifers [18]. In the European Union, up to 38% of water bodies are significantly under pressure from agricultural pollution [19].

The application of controlled-release fertilizers (CRFs) is one way to improve nutrient use efficiency, reduce nitrogen loss, and contribute to minimizing environmental pollution, providing a better compromise among soil fertility, yield, and grain quality [20–22]. CRFs prove the potential to decrease the fertilizer application rate by 20% or 30% of the recommended value to achieve the same yield [23]. According to Trenkel [23] and Shaviv [24], CRFs can be defined as coated or encapsulated fertilizers by water-insoluble, semipermeable, or impermeable-with-pores materials, for which the factors determining the rate, pattern, and the duration of release have been known and regulated during the fabrication. Coating materials can be divided into two categories—inorganic materials (e.g., sulfur, bentonite, phosphogypsum) and organic polymers consisting of synthetic polymers derived from petroleum-based derivates (polyurethane, polyethylene, alkyd resin, etc.) or natural polymers (e.g., vegetable oil, starch, chitosan, cellulose) [23,25]. One of the most effective methods of preparing CRFs and thus the reduction of nutrient losses is by coating the surface of fertilizer with polyurethane materials. However, these coating materials are commonly linked with high costs and come from non-renewable petrochemical productions [26,27]. Furthermore, studies have shown that the residue of polyurethane shells in soils is difficult to degrade and may cause potential environmental risk [28]. This is one of the reasons why the agricultural industry has been searching for cheap, degradable, and renewable bio-based materials [29]. Vegetable oil is considered to be the most significant material for bio-based polymers, and polymeric material preparation to be an adequate substitution for polyurethanes [30]. Recent studies have shown that the use of oil-based polymers as coating materials led to gradual, uniform nutrient release and proved a high rate of biodegradability [31,32]. The most widely used vegetable oils to produce bio-based polymers are castor, linseed, canola, sunflower, palm, tobacco, corn, soy, and rapeseed [33].

The positive effect of CRFs in rapeseed cultivation has been described in several studies. The data show that the addition of coated N-fertilizers significantly increases the yield and quality of rapeseed [34,35]. Increased yield rates can be a consequence of advanced root volume and the improvement of plant biomass accumulation (especially during the growth stages of stem elongation, flowering, and harvest), extending the photosynthetic lifespan of pods [36–38].

The aim of our study was to evaluate the differences in the effectiveness of two newly developed coated fertilizers in nutritional status and yield of rapeseed and to assess their environmental impact (especially nitrate leaching). We assumed that the CAN fertilizer

coated with a polymer-based on vegetable oil might provide comparable results with the same fertilizer coated with a modified conventional polyurethane.

2. Results and Discussion

The evaluation of the effect of coated fertilizers was created by comparing the data within the groups using the treatments with the same fertilizer application system (divided, single, and blends). Each method of fertilization was assigned with a control treatment (the treatments D and S). D served as the control variant for the group with a divided application, and S served as a control for the group with a single application and blends.

2.1. Yield and Oiliness of Rapeseed and N Content in Plant Biomass

The appropriate type of fertilizer and method of fertilization is important for the high yield production of rapeseed. Several studies describe the increase in yield and qualitative parameters of crops after using coated fertilizer application [38-41]. Our study showed that the use of coated CAN fertilizers has no negative effect on the yield and qualitative parameters of winter rapeseed. Statistical evaluation of the data shown in Figure 1 revealed no significant differences between the treatments in the groups with divided application (D, D-opu, D-o) and blends (S, Bl-opu, Bl-o). A significant positive effect was recorded in the group of treatments with a single application of coated CAN fertilizers (opu-CAN-oil-based polyurethane-coated CAN; o-CAN-oil-based polymer-coated CAN) in seed yields and oil contents. Seed yields of this group showed a trend of opu-CAN > o-CAN > CAN with opu-CAN up to 18% higher in comparison to the uncoated CAN. Similar results were recorded in the study by Tang et al. [42], in which a single basal application of coated nitrogen fertilizers contributed to the increase of the yield and rice quality in comparison to the divided application. A different trend was recorded in the case of the oil content that reached up to 5.5% higher after a single application of oil-coated CAN fertilizer compared to the use of the uncoated CAN fertilizer. The presumption was that the total nitrogen applied in the single application of coated fertilizers was released over a longer period of time and thus was present in the phase of the seed formation confirmed by Tian et al. [38]. In this study, the increase was recorded by an average of 17.3% after the application of coated fertilizers in rapeseed yield rates compared to the control. This study also proved that lower doses of the total N applied in coated fertilizers contributed to a yield increase of 14.2%, which confirmed their environmental potential in terms of nitrogen release. The study by Lu et al. [43] showed the positive effects of CRFs application on rapeseed yield manifested in the increase of rapeseed pods from 27 to 32% in comparison to non-coated urea. In comparison to the treatments with coated CAN fertilizers, a single application of the uncoated CAN (treatment S) proved the decline in the parameters of oil production and thousand seed weight (TSW) shown in Table 1. Similar positive effects of coated CAN fertilizers were proved on yield and qualitative parameters of rapeseed. It can be concluded that o-CAN may be a proper alternative instead of opu-CAN.

Table 1.	Qualitative	characteristics	of ra	peseeds.
----------	-------------	-----------------	-------	----------

Treatment	Oil Production (g/pot)	TSW (g)	
D	$8.4~^{ m a}\pm 0.8$	30.2 ^a ± 2.2	
D-opu	$7.8^{a} \pm 0.6$	$30.1 \text{ a} \pm 1.5$	
D-o	$8.4~^{\rm a}\pm 0.5$	$30.9^{a} \pm 1.6$	
S	$7.0^{\text{ b}} \pm 0.5$	$25.9^{\text{ b}} \pm 0.8$	
S-opu	$8.7 \ ^{a} \pm 0.5$	$30.6 ^{\text{a}} \pm 1.4$	
S-o	$8.8 \ ^{a} \pm 0.6$	$30.5 \text{ a} \pm 1.6$	
S	$7.0^{ m a} \pm 0.5$	$25.9~^{ m a}\pm 0.8$	
Bl-opu	$7.7^{\rm a} \pm 0.5$	$28.1 ^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 1.3$	
Bl-o	$8.0~^{ m a}\pm0.4$	$28.7~^{\mathrm{a}}\pm1.2$	

Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer, TSW—thousand seed weight. The same letters next to the numbers depict no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (divided, single, blend) was evaluated separately. The values represent the mean (n = 4) \pm standard deviation (SD).



Figure 1. Rates of yield and oiliness of rapeseed. The groups of the treatments D—divided application; S—single application; Bl—blend. The columns represent the mean (n = 4), error bars present the mean standard deviation (SD). The same letters at the top of the columns describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (D, S, Bl) was evaluated separately.

The data from Figure 2 indicate a connection between the yield rates and the nitrogen concentration in aboveground plant biomass. In general, plants can only consume a part of nutrients (in our case nitrogen) from conventional fertilizers, and the rest may be subject to losses to the environment [44]. This trend is mainly visible in the treatment with the application of conventional uncoated CAN fertilizer in a single dose (S), resulting in a significantly lower concentration of nitrogen in plant biomass in the growth stage of flower bud emergence (t_2) compared to the growth stage of stem elongation (t_1) . This decrease indicates that the overdose of quickly released nitrogen in uncoated CAN fertilizer led to N-loss available for direct plant consumption and ultimately caused the lowest yield and oil content. The declining trend in the supply of the available form of N, released from conventional uncoated CAN, during the period and the increased supply of mineral N released from coated CAN is also evident from the assessment of N content in aboveground biomass (Table 2). The nitrogen content in the plant shows a gradual release of the available forms of this nutrient from the coated CAN that is particularly evident in the group of singly applied fertilizers (S). While the nitrogen content detected in the aboveground mass of rapeseed fertilized with uncoated CAN (S) was detected almost 4 and 2 times higher in the term *t1* compared to the treatments with coated CAN (S-opu, S-o) in the term *t2*, the nitrogen content of the treatments fertilized with coated fertilizers was increased. These values show that the oil-coated CAN is able to release nitrogen more rapidly than the oil-based, polyurethane-coated CAN and thus may supply the plant's demand for this nutrient. Nitrogen contents in plants, treated with coated fertilizers applied in blends with conventional CAN (Bl-opu, Bl-o), can confirm this trend.

The relationship between the optimal nitrogen supply and its impact on the yield and oil content of rapeseed is described in many studies [45,46]. A similar trend was recorded in the treatments with coated CAN fertilizers applied in blends with the uncoated CAN fertilizer (Bl-opu, Bl-o). Nitrogen content in plant biomass in the growth stage of stem elongation decreased about 1.3% and 0.9% compared to the uncoated CAN fertilizer applied in a single dose. The N content in plant rapeseed showed the most even N pumping during vegetation in the variant with divided application and a single application of coated CAN fertilizers.



Figure 2. Nitrogen concentration (% DM) in aboveground plants dry matter collected in two growth stages *t1* and *t2* of rapeseed. The groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The columns represent the mean (n = 4), error bars present the mean standard deviation (SD). The same letters at the top of the columns describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (D, S, Bl) was evaluated separately.

Treatment	Nitrogen Content (mg/plant)					
ireament	t1	t2				
D	$68.3 \text{ a} \pm 0.9$	$187.4~^{\rm a}\pm 29.2$				
D-opu	69.6 $^{\mathrm{a}}$ \pm 1.4	$155.0~^{ m ab}\pm 2.2$				
D-o	$64.1 ^{\mathrm{b}} \pm 2.8$	$123.5 \text{ b} \pm 8.0$				
S	$135.0 \ ^{\rm a} \pm 1.3$	215.6 $^{\mathrm{a}}$ \pm 23.9				
S-opu	$36.9 ^{\text{c}} \pm 0.2$	$112.0 \ ^{\rm c} \pm 15.8$				
S-o	$68.6 \text{ b} \pm 1.6$	$174.6 \text{ b} \pm 0.3$				
S	135.0 $^{\mathrm{a}}$ \pm 1.3	215.6 $^{\rm a}$ \pm 23.9				
Bl-opu	86.3 $^{ m c} \pm 1.2$	$135.6 \text{ b} \pm 3.8$				
Bl-o	97.4 ^b \pm 2.8	183.6 $^{\rm a}$ \pm 16.1				

Table 2. Content of nitrogen in aboveground plant dry matter (mg/plant).

Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The same letters next to the numbers depict no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (divided, single, blend) was evaluated separately. The values represent the mean (n = 4) \pm standard deviation (SD).

2.2. Mineral Nitrogen Content in the Soil

The release of nitrogen from coated CAN fertilizers significantly affected the dynamic change of the soil mineral N (N_{min}) content in the growth process of rapeseed. Contents of N_{min} and its ionic forms (NO_3^- , NH_4^+) were determined in the soil in three experimental phases (t1-t3,). Although, enough of the available nitrogen can be essential for direct plant consumption. The excessive content may inevitably increase its loss in soil [47]. Average contents of N_{min} in soil (without differencing into layers), shown in Table 3, serve as an overview of nitrogen release development in the treatments during the rapeseed vegetation.

Treatment	t1	<i>t</i> 2	t3
D	$18.64^{\text{ b}} \pm 1.34^{}$	62.84 $^{ m b}$ \pm 1.27	10.69 a \pm 1.04
D-opu	15.31 $^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 1.22$	$20.34~^{a}\pm 3.53$	10.51 $^{\rm a} \pm 0.03$
D-o	14.23 $^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 1.72$	23.33 $^{\rm a} \pm 1.25$	$18.21 ^{\mathrm{b}} \pm 3.09$
S	108.42 c \pm 3.37	$37.54~^{\rm c}\pm6.44$	$8.54~^{\rm a}\pm0.60$
S-opu	$20.07~^a\pm0.56$	11.62 $^{\rm a}\pm 0.56$	$13.27 ^{\mathrm{b}} \pm 2.34$
S-o	35.33 ^b ± 2.89	$19.42 \text{ b} \pm 1.22$	19.17 $^{\rm c}\pm2.90$
S	108.42 c \pm 3.37	$37.54 \text{ b} \pm 6.44$	$8.54~^{\rm a}\pm0.60$
Bl-opu	$37.51 \ ^{a} \pm 6.01$	$18.05~^{\rm a}\pm 3.02$	$11.31 ^{\mathrm{b}} \pm 1.17$
Bl-o	50.73 $^{\rm b} \pm$ 2.22	$24.34~^{ab}\pm5.09$	$11.99 \text{ b} \pm 0.99$

Table 3. Contents of mineral nitrogen (N_{min}) in soil (mg/kg) on selected experimental phases (t1-t3).

Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The same letters next to the numbers describe no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (divided, single, blend) was evaluated separately. The values represent the mean (n = 4) \pm standard deviation (SD).

One of the important aspects of coated fertilizers is the longevity of nutrient release in sufficient levels for plant uptake. The use of coated CAN fertilizers in each form of the application (D, S, and Bl) has shown a positive effect on N_{min} release pattern, as can be seen from Figure 3. The effect was visible, especially in the period between the first (*t*1) and the second term (*t*2) of soil samples collection that was significantly milder compared to conventional uncoated CAN.



Figure 3. Contents of mineral nitrogen (N_{min}) in soil (top, middle and bottom layer of pot) in three experimental phases (*t1*, *t2*, *t3*). Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The columns represent the mean (n = 4).

The relatively accelerated release of nitrogen was observed in high N_{min} concentration after the application of fertilizers (*t*1 single application, *t*2 divided application) in the treatments with conventional uncoated CAN shown in Table 3. Rapid release N_{min} was visible mainly in the single application in which N_{min} concentration decreased rapidly up to 65.4% between *t*1 and *t*2 (up to 22 days). Our assumption was that although the part of the soil N_{min} was obtained from the soil through plant roots, the great contrast in N_{min} concentration was due to N loss (NH₄⁺ volatilization and NO₃⁻ leaching) between *t*1 and *t*2. On the contrary, the data of the soil samples, collected in the harvest time (*t*3), showed relatively high levels of N_{min} in the treatments with divided (especially D-o) and single (S-opu, S-o) application of fertilizers in comparison with conventional CAN treatments. Dynamic of gradual N_{min} release was most visible after a single application of both coated CAN (S-opu, S-o) with no definite decrease in N_{min} content in *t3*. A single application of oil-based polyurethane-coated CAN fertilizer (S-opu) caused an increase by 14.2% in *t3* in mineral nitrogen content compared to *t2* in soil. These findings corresponded to the data of yield and qualitative parameters (Figure 1), in which a single application of coated CAN fertilizer (S-opu) proved to be the most effective. The assumption was that the amount of released nitrogen reached sufficient levels for the plant demand in the time of the experiment duration from these treatments, thus leading to the increased nitrogen use efficiency and subsequently to a more positive environmental impact (lower risk of N loss). Our data are consistent with the findings of Xiao et al. [48], who described that the total N_{min} content continued gradually to an increase in the top layer of soil on the ninetieth day after the application of coated fertilizers, while high levels were maintained in the middle and bottom layer of soil.

The positive effect of coated CAN fertilizers on N_{min} content was also visible in the nitrogen distribution between soil layers during the experiment (Figure 3). The application of conventional uncoated CAN fertilizer (D and S treatment) showed high N_{min} concentrations mainly in the top and middle layers of the soil right after fertilization. The treatments with coated CAN fertilizers showed that N_{min} content was, in general, focused mainly on the top layer of the soil during *t1* and *t2*. N_{min} content was evenly distributed between each layer of the soil in the harvest time (*t3*). This indicates that both coated CAN fertilizers (opu-CAN and o-CAN) proved a high ability of gradual nitrogen release leading to more efficient nitrogen use by the plant and a reduction in the environmental risk. A gradual N_{min} release by coated fertilizers was also described in the study by Zheng et al. [49], who found that the application of coated fertilizers resulted in enhanced N_{min} concentration in soil, especially during later crop stages.

Considering the placement of the fertilizers (the placement on the soil surface without incorporation to the soil), the highest potential for the NH_4^+ volatilization is most likely to be closest to the soil surface [50]. Ammonium nitrate (used CAN in our experiment), depending on N dose and irrigation, belongs to the conventional nitrogen fertilizers with a high potential of NH_4^+ volatilization [51].

This assumption was confirmed by the data obtained from the top layer of the soil samples (Figure 4). The data showed the greatest potential for NH_4^+ volatilization in the treatments with conventional uncoated CAN (D and S treatments) expressed in significantly high NH_4^+ concentrations in *t*1 and *t*2. Analogous to N_{min} , the uncoated CAN potential of volatilization was visible between *t*1 and *t*2, in which the NH_4^+ concentration decreased up to 39.8% in soil. Higher NH_4^+ concentrations were accountable to the use of conventional uncoated CAN (1/3 of the total N dose) after the application of blend fertilizers (Bl-opu, Bl-o). Similarly, the S variant (a single application of uncoated CAN) was resolved in its rapid release. NH_4^+ contents in Bl-opu and Bl-o were detected almost over half lower in *t*1 than in the S treatment; therefore, major risks of NH_4^+ losses were not found. In addition to the volatilization, a rapid NH_4^+ release also presents the risk of the increased the risk of NO_3^- leaching [52].

The positive effect of coated fertilizers was expressed by significantly lower NH_4^+ concentrations during t1-t3 in comparison to conventional uncoated CAN. The data were indirectly consistent with the findings of Xiao et al. [48], who mentioned that the application of coated fertilizers resulted in lower NH_4^+ rates in soil samples in comparison to conventional uncoated nitrogen fertilizer. A gradual NH_4^+ release was also expressed by the increase of NH_4^+ concentration in the top layer of the soil in t2. This fact was noticeable in the treatments of D-opu (up to 41.3%), D-o (up to 58.8%), and S-o (up to 29.7%). The treatments with a divided and single application of fertilizers were proved to be the most efficient in terms of the longevity of NH_4^+ release. These types of fertilizer applications

showed significantly higher NH_4^+ contents in *t*³ treatments compared to the treatments with conventional uncoated CAN. On the contrary, NH_4^+ contents showed no significant difference in the S treatment in Bl-opu and Bl-o. This led to an assumption that all nitrogen contained in coated fertilizers and applied in blends was released during the rapeseed vegetation, predetermining the blend application as the most suitable alternative.



Figure 4. Contents of NH₄⁺ in the top layer of the soil samples collected in three experimental phases (t1-t3). Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The columns represent the mean (n = 4), error bars present the mean standard deviation (SD). The same letters at the top of the columns depict no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (D, S, Bl) was evaluated separately.

Contents of NO₃⁻ were monitored as the main potential source of N loss in the soil samples due to their high leaching ability. One of the first studies by Liegel and Walsh from 1976 [53] proved that the application of controlled-release N fertilizers was the most effective technique in sandy irrigated soils with a high risk of nitrate leaching. Preventing the leaching of nitrates presents one of the greatest environmental challenges in terms of nitrogen fertilizer use. The estimation of the potential for N losses due to the NO₃⁻ leaching from the experimental treatments were provided by the isolation of the data from the bottom and middle layers of soil. The data obtained from the middle layer (ML) of the soil (Figure 5) served for the evaluation of potential NO₃⁻ migration to the lower layers of the soil, which might consequently lead to its leaching into the groundwater. The data obtained from the bottom layer (BL) of the soil (Figure 6) served to evaluate the potential of nitrates leaching to the groundwater during the rapeseed vegetation and directly after its harvest.

As predicted, significantly, the highest potential for NO_3^- leaching was due to rapid nitrogen release from conventional uncoated CAN fertilizers recorded in single or divided CAN application. The potential for NO_3^- leaching after uncoated CAN application was possible to confirm from the data of NO_3^- concentrations in *t1* and *t2* shown in Figures 5 and 6. The NO_3^- content of ML and BL was detected over three times higher (>3.3) in the treatment fertilized with a single application of uncoated CAN in *t1* compared to the treatments with coated CAN fertilizers. The data showed that the NO_3^- decrease was found up to 73.9% in ML and up to 75.5% in BL in the S treatment between *t1* and *t2*. Considering the amount and duration (up to 14 days), it is most likely that nitrates of the uncoated CAN fertilizer were lost due to the nitrate leaching. These findings corresponded with the data by Zhang et al. [54], who discovered that the rates of the leached nitrates



in water samples were detected significantly higher in comparison to coated urea in the treatments with conventional urea.

Figure 5. Contents of NO₃⁻ in the middle layer of soil samples collected in three experimental phases (t1-t3). Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The columns represent the mean (n = 4), error bars present the mean standard deviation (SD). The same letters at the top of the columns depict no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (D, S, BI) was evaluated separately.



Figure 6. Contents of NO₃⁻ in the bottom layer of soil samples collected in three experimental phases (t1-t3). Groups of treatments D—divided application, S—single application; Bl—blend; opu—oil-based polyurethane polymer, o—oil-based polymer. The columns represent the mean (n = 4), error bars present the mean standard deviation (SD). The same letters at the top of the columns depict no statistically significant differences between the treatments (Fisher's LSD test, $p \le 0.05$). Each group of the treatment (D, S, Bl) was evaluated separately.

Identical to N_{min} and NH_4^+ , the positive effect of coated CAN fertilizers was recorded in the form of gradual NO_3^- release over the course of the whole experiment. Gradual release of nitrates was discovered to be the most visible between *t2* and *t3* in coated fertilizers. The increased NO_3^- contents were observed up to 64.7% in ML and up to 119.9% in BL. While the NO_3^- amount was decreased in ML and BL in the treatments fertilized with uncoated CAN, the coated CAN fertilizers were able to supply the plants with nitrogen even in the later stages of the development. Compared to the low levels of NO_3^- content in the treatments with conventional CAN fertilizers (due to rapid nitrogen release and subsequent N loss). This increase correlated with the data of seed yield and qualitative parameters (Figure 1) and can be used as a potential supply of available nitrogen for the next crops. The data correlated with the findings of Xiao et al. [48]. Similar N_{min} release (especially NO_3^-) was proved using oil-based polymer-coated CAN, which can be a proper alternative for oil-based polyurethane-coated CAN. This fact is not suitable for future use due to polyurethane's lower biodegradability. The positive effect of coated fertilizers on nitrates leaching was recorded in several studies [55–58].

3. Materials and Methods

The pot experiment was performed under controlled conditions in the vegetation hall of Mendel University in Brno, Brno, Czech Republic (49°12'36.94" N and 16°36'49.95" E).

3.1. Plant Material and Growth Conditions

Rapeseed (*Brassica napus* subs. *napus*) cv. DK Exception (Bayer s.r.o, Prague, Czech Republic) was used in this study. Mitscherlich pots (STOMA GmbH, Siegburg, Germany) were filled with 6 kg of air-dried and <2 cm sieved soil and placed in the vegetation hall. The properties of the used soil for the pot experiment are shown in Table 4. Ten seeds of rapeseed were sown in 2 cm depth in each pot. Three weeks after sowing, the number of rapeseed plants was adjusted to three plants per pot.

Table 4. Agrochemical properties of used soil.

Soil Parameter	Value	Devices	Ref.
Soil type	Stagnic Fluvisols (FL-st)		[59]
Clay	53%	Pipette apparatus (NEN 5753:2018)	[60]
pH (CaCl ₂)	6.6	pH meter, inoLab pH/ION Level 2 with SenTix 62 pH electrode	[61]
Soil electrical conductivity (EC)	0.05 mS/cm	EC meter, inolab pH/ION Level 2 with WTW TetraCon 325	[61]
Soil oxidizable carbon (Cox)	1.28%	Walkley-Black method	[62]
NH_4^+ (K ₂ SO ₄)	1.48 mg/kg	UV/VIS Spectrometer, Unicam 8625	[61]
NO_3^- (K ₂ SO ₄)	17.2 mg/kg	NO ₃ ⁻ -ISE	[61]
P (Mehlich III)	201 mg/kg	UV/VIS Spectrometer, Unicam 8625	[61]
K (Mehlich III)	367 mg/kg	AAS, ContrAA 700	[61]
Ca (Mehlich III)	3015 mg/kg	AAS, ContrAA 700	[61]
Mg (Mehlich III)	294 mg/kg	AAS, ContrAA 700	[61]
S (water-soluble)	13.8 mg/kg	ICP-MS, Agilent 7900	[61]

Mehlich III-soil test extractant.

3.2. Experimental Design

In the experiment, coated CAN fertilizers were compared with a conventional uncoated CAN. The same total dose of nitrogen was applied in all treatments using different N sources such as calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN, up to 13% N-NH₄⁺ and 13% N-NO₃⁻, Lovochemie a.s., Lovosice, the Czech Republic), oil-based polyurethane-coated CAN (opu-CAN) and oil-based polymer-coated CAN (o-CAN). Coated fertilizers were prepared by spreading the coating on conventional fertilizer CAN using the LDP-3 fluidized bed granulating machine (Changzhou Jiafa Granulating Drying Equipment Co., Ltd., Changzhou, China). The coating consisted of oil-based polyurethane polymer (opu-CAN—coating up to 7.6 wt.%, up to 13% N-NH₄⁺ and 13% N-NO₃⁻, VUCHT a.s., Bratislava, Slovakia) and

oil-based polymer (o-CAN—coating up to 6.1 wt.%—triglycerides of fatty acids, up to 75 wt.% of which unsaturated were up to 45 wt.%, polylactic acid up to 10 wt.%, up to 13% N-NH₄⁺ and 13% N-NO₃⁻, VUCHT a.s., Bratislava, Slovakia). The composition of the polyurethane-based coating (opu-CAN) differed from the conventional polyurethanes prepared by the reaction of the diisocyanates with the polymeric diols. The polymeric diols were replaced with the vegetable oil having hydroxy groups in its structure. The prepolymer, obtained by this way, was finally applied in the crosslinking. These modifications led to a substantial increase in the biodegradable fraction of the coating. The prepolymer was completely replaced with a more biodegradable component in the oil-based coating (o-CAN). The biodegradable fraction of the coating material is further increased in this way.

The individual treatments and fertilizer addition are detailed in Table 5. The fertilizers were applied to the soil surface. Each treatment was replicated 8 times in a complete randomized block design in the vegetation hall (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Schematic illustration of the layout of the pots (and their repetition) in the vegetation experiment. Treatment D (1), D-opu (2), D-o (3), S (4), S-opu (5), S-o (6), Bl-opu (7), Bl-o (8).

The treatments of fertilizer were divided into 3 groups according to the term of application and the type of fertilizer chosen. The first group was the divided application of fertilizers (the designation of the treatments with D). The total nitrogen dose was divided into two parts; the first was applied by the conventional uncoated CAN in the 1st term (1st Fertilization), the second dose was applied by uncoated CAN (treatment D) and coated CAN (treatments D-opu and D-o) in 2nd term (2nd Fertilization). The second and third groups consisted of treatments with a single application of total nitrogen dose in one term (1st Fertilization), where fertilizers of one type (the designation of the treatments with S) and fertilizers of a mixture (the designation of the treatments with BI) were applied. The fertilizer mixtures (BI) were created by mixing conventional CAN and coated CAN in a 1:2 ratio (converted to N rate).

The pot experiment was carried out under semi-natural conditions (under a rain shelter) in the vegetative hall. Figure 8 shows the average daily temperature and the average daily relative humidity during the experiment. A controlled watering regime, used identical for all treatments (pots), was in the experiment. Plants were watered to 70% of maximum water holding capacity throughout the growing season. The pots were hand-watered with demineralized water on the soil surface.

Rapeseed plants were harvested manually by cutting above the soil surface from each pot. The rapeseed was threshed using a laboratory thresher (HALDRUP LT-20, Haldrup GmbH, Ilshofen, Germany).

The rape seeds were purified from coarse impurities by repetitive sifting. Rapeseed yield was measured in three plants within each pot, and the value was adjusted to 9% of moisture. Seed yield was determined by weighing (laboratory scale PCB Kern, KERN & Sohn GmbH, Balingen, Germany) and exceeded as gram per pot (g/pot). Seeds were then counted and hand-ground in mortar for further analysis of the oil content.
T	T (11)	A sublication /Detion	Dose of N	l in g per Pot (mg/kg S	Soil)
Treatment	Fertilizer	Application/Katio	1st Fertilization	2nd Fertilization	Total Dose of N
D	CAN + CAN	divided (1:2)	0.408 (68)	0.848 (141)	1.256 (209)
D-opu	CAN + opu-CAN	divided (1:2)	0.408 (68)	0.848 (141)	1.256 (209)
D-o	CAN + o-CAN	divided (1:2)	0.408 (68)	0.848 (141)	1.256 (209)
S	CAN	single	1.256 (209)	-	1.256 (209)
S-opu	opu-CAN	single	1.256 (209)	-	1.256 (209)
S-o	o-CAN	single	1.256 (209)	-	1.256 (209)
Bl-opu	CAN + opu-CAN	single (blend 1:2)	0.408 + 0.848 (68 + 141)	-	1.256 (209)
Bl-o	CAN + o-CAN	single (blend 1:2)	0.408 + 0.848 (68 + 141)	-	1.256 (209)

Table 5. Design of treatments and nitrogen applications.

Groups of treatments D-divided application, S-single application; Bl-blend; opu-oil-based polyurethane polymer, o-oil-based polymer.



Figure 8. The average daily temperature (°C) and relative humidity (%) in the vegetation hall during the experiment.

3.3. Plants and Soil Sampling

The evaluation of soil mineral nitrogen content (NO_3^- , NH_4^+) and nutritional plant properties was provided in the soil samples and plant biomass collected in the specific experimental phases shown in Table 6. The collection of the soil samples was carried out by a probe with the aligned tip. After the collection, the soil profile was divided in three zones for the observation of mineral nitrogen movement in soil and subsequently frozen for further analysis (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Illustration of soil layers layout in the pot used to determine N_{min} content.

The plant biomass was dried at 50 $^\circ\mathrm{C}$ and homogenized to determine the nitrogen content in the dry matter.

Date	Rape Growth Stages	Term
1 November 2018	seed Dry	
11 March 2019	nine or more leaves unfolded	
2 April 2019	stem elongation	t1
16 April 2019	flower bud emergence	t2
16 July 2019	harvested product	t3
	Date 1 November 2018 11 March 2019 2 April 2019 16 April 2019 16 July 2019	DateRape Growth Stages1 November 2018seed Dry11 March 2019nine or more leaves unfolded2 April 2019stem elongation16 April 2019flower bud emergence16 July 2019harvested product

Table 6. Experimental phases and dates.

3.4. Analytical Methods

The N_{min} determination was provided according to the methodology by Zbíral et al. [62], who described that nitrate and ammonium nitrogen was extracted from the soils with a solution of neutral salt (1% of K₂SO₄). The NH₄⁺ determination was carried out spectrophotometrically ($\lambda_{660 \text{ nm}}$). The NO₃⁻ contents were determined by ISE (Ion Selective Electrode) [63].

The nitrogen determination was provided in aboveground plant biomass according to the methodology by Zbíral et al. [64]. Nitrogen contents were determined by the Kjeldahl method using the Kjeltec 2300 device (Foss, Hillerød, Denmark).

The thousand seed weight (TSW) determination was performed using a laboratory counter MK (MEZOS spol. s r.o., Hradec Králové, the Czech Republic). The determination was carried out by weighing the number of 2×500 seeds to prevent possible measurement errors.

The determination of seed oil content was provided according to the methodology of the Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture [65]. The oil content was determined gravimetrically after the extraction of the samples with diethyl ether using the Soxhlet method based on the NMR extraction of rapeseeds in a continuous flow extractor Minispec mq series TD-NMR (Bruker Corporation, Ettlinger, Germany).

3.5. Statistical Analysis

The effect of the treatment on the evaluated parameters was statistically analyzed in the STATISTICA 12 program (TIBCO Software, San Jose, CA, USA) [66]. The effect of the treatment on the seed yield, oiliness, oil production, thousand seed weight, nitrogen concentration and content in aboveground plant biomass and the content of mineral nitrogen (ammonium and nitrate) in soil were analyzed separately for each group of the treatment (divided, single and blend application of fertilizers). The normality and homogeneity of variances were verified, respectively, by Shapiro-Wilk and Levene values at $p \leq 0.05$. The influence of the monitored factors was analyzed via analysis of variance (level of significance $p \leq 0.05$). The effect of the treatment on the mentioned parameters was analyzed using two-way analyses of variance with the treatment such as fixed effect and the pot used as the random effect to take into account the grouping of individuals in the same pot. The differences between the means were evaluated by the Fisher's (*LSD*) test.

4. Conclusions

The use of coated CAN fertilizer proves the potential to gradually release acceptable nitrogen during the growing season in winter rape nutrition and thus continuously meet the needs of plants. Compared to the effect of conventional CAN, the use of coated CAN fertilizers has been shown to increase the efficiency of nitrogen fertilization and reduce its losses. A suitable method seems to be the application of a mixture of conventional CAN and coated CAN in a ratio of 1:2 during spring fertilization, ensuring a sufficient amount of rapidly releasing N during the regeneration of rapeseed and its slower release during further developmental stages. The CAN fertilizer coated with a biodegradable oil-based polymer proves the ability to release the optimum amount of nitrogen for canola nutrition.

The use does not pose a risk of rapid release of mineral N in quantities potentially polluting the atmosphere (ammonia volatilization) and hydrosphere (nitrate leaching). According to these results, the CAN fertilizers coated with a polymer-based on vegetable oils could be used as a replacement for commonly used synthetic polymers based on polyurethane confirming the initial hypothesis.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.Š., and P.R.; methodology, P.Š. and P.R.; investigation and data analyses, D.M. and J.A.; writing—original draft preparation, D.M.; writing—review and editing, P.Š. and P.R.; supervision, P.R. and M.K.; project administration, P.Š., P.R., and M.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Technology Agency of the Czech Republic, grant TH03030220: Environmentally acceptable solid controlled release fertilizers, and Internal Grant Agency of the Faculty of AgriSciences, Mendel University in Brno, grant AF-IGA2020-IP031: Use of coated nitrogen fertilizers in the nutrition of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Gerbens-Leenes, P.; Nonhebel, S.; Ivens, W. A method to determine land requirements relating to food consumption patterns. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **2002**, *90*, 47–58. [CrossRef]
- Jie, C.; Jing-Zhang, C.; Man-Zhi, T. Soil degradation: A global problem endangering sustainable development. J. Geogr. Sci. 2002, 12, 243–252. [CrossRef]
- Brown, M.E.; Hintermann, B.; Higgins, N. Markets, climate change, and food security in West Africa. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 8016–8020. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Alexandratos, N.; Bruinsma, J. World Agriculture towards 2030/2050: The 2012 Revision; ESA Working Paper No. 12-03; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2012; p. 147.
- 5. Ju, X.T.; Kou, C.L.; Zhang, F.S.; Christe, P. Nitrogen balance and groundwater nitrate contamination: Comparison among three intensive cropping systems on the North China Plain. *Environ. Pollut.* **2006**, *143*, 117–125. [CrossRef]
- 6. Chien, S.H.; Prochnow, L.I.; Cantarella, H. Recent developments of fertilizer production and use to improve nutrient efficiency and minimize environmental impacts. *Adv. Agron.* 2009, *102*, 267–322.
- Glass, A.D.M. Nitrogen use efficiency of crop plants: Physiological constraints upon nitrogen absorption. *Crit. Rev. Plant. Sci.* 2003, 22, 453–470. [CrossRef]
- Parry, M.A.J.; Flexas, J.; Medrano, H. Prospects forcrop production under drought: Research priorities and future directions. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 2005, 147, 211–226. [CrossRef]
- 9. Makino, A. Photosynthesis, grain yield, and nitrogen utilization in rice and wheat. Plant. Physiol. 2011, 155, 125–129. [CrossRef]
- Peng, S.; Huang, J.; Zhong, X.; Yang, J.; Wang, G.; Zou, Y.; Zhang, F.; Zhu, Q.; Buresh, R.; Witt, C. Challenge and opportunity in improving fertilizer-nitrogen use efficiency of irrigated rice in China. *Agric. Sci. China* 2002, 1, 776–785.
- 11. Spinelli, D.; Bardi, L.; Jez, S.; Basosi, R. Environmental analysis of sunflower production with different forms of mineral nitrogen fertilizers. J. Environ. Manag. 2013, 129, 302–308. [CrossRef]
- 12. World Fertilizer Trends and Outlook to 2020. Available online: http://www.fao.org/3/i6895e/i6895e.pdf (accessed on 2 May 2021).
- 13. World Fertilizer Trends and Outlook to 2022. Available online: http://www.fao.org/3/ca6746en/ca6746en.pdf (accessed on 2 May 2021).
- 14. Zhang, X.; Davidson, E.; Mauzerall, D.; Searchinger, T.D.; Dumas, P.; Shen, Y. Managing nitrogen for sustainable development. *Nature* **2015**, *528*, 51–59. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, L.K.; Bali, S.K. A review of methods to improve nitrogen use efficiency in agriculture. Sustainability 2017, 10, 51. [CrossRef]
- Cameron, K.C.; Di, H.J.; Moir, J.L. Nitrogen losses from the soil/plant system: A review. Ann. Appl. Biol. 2013, 162, 145–173. [CrossRef]
- Grizzetti, B.; Bouraoui, F.; Billen, G.; van Grinsven, H.; Cardoso, A.C.; Thieu, V.; Garnier, J.; Curtis, C.; Howarth, R.W.; Johnes, P. Nitrogen as a threat to European water quality. In *The European Nitrogen Assessment: Sources, Effects and Policy Perspectives*; Sutton, M.A., Howard, C.M., Erisman, J.W., Billen, G., Bleeker, A., Grennfelt, P., van Grinsven, H., Grizzetti, B., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2011; pp. 379–404.

- Water for People, Water for Life. Available online: https://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/publications/WWDR_english_129556e.pdf (accessed on 15 May 2021).
- The United Nations World Water Development Report 2015: Water for a Sustainable World. Available online: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ ark:/48223/pf0000231823 (accessed on 15 May 2021).
- Gil-Ortiz, R.; Naranjo, M.Á.; Ruiz-Navarro, A.; Atares, S.; García, C.; Zotarelli, L.; San Bautista, A.; Vicente, O. Enhanced Agronomic Efficiency Using a New Controlled-Released, Polymeric-Coated Nitrogen Fertilizer in Rice. *Plants* 2020, *9*, 1183. [CrossRef]
- 21. Liu, C.; Chen, F.; Li, Z.; Cocq, K.L.; Liu, Y.; Wu, L. Impact of nitrogen practices on yield, grain quality, and nitrogen-use efficiency of crops and soil fertility in three paddy-upland cropping systems. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2021, 101, 2218–2226. [CrossRef]
- Zhu, S.; Liu, L.; Yang, Y.; Shi, R. Application of controlled release urea improved grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency: A meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 2020, 15, 1–15. [CrossRef]
- Trenkel, M.E. Slow- and Controlled-Release and Stabilized Fertilizers: An Option for Enhancing Nutrient Efficiency in Agriculture, 2nd ed.; IFA: Paris, France, 2010; p. 160.
- Shaviv, A. Controlled release fertilizers. In Proceedings of the IFA International Workshop: Enhanced-Efficiency Fertilizers, Frankfurt, Germany, 28–30 June 2005.
- Mikula, K.; Izydorczyk, G.; Skrzypczak, D.; Mironiuk, M.; Moustakas, K.; Witek-Krowiak, A.; Chojnacka, K. Controll release micronutrient fertilizers for precision agriculture—A review. STOTEN 2020, 712, 1–9.
- 26. Lligadas, G.; Ronda, J.C.; Galia, M.; Cádiz, V. Development of novel phosphorus-containing epoxy resins from renewable resources. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem. 2006, 44, 6717–6727. [CrossRef]
- Shavit, U.; Shavit, A.; Shalit, G.; Zaslavsky, D. Release characteristics of a new controlled release fertilizer. J. Control Release 1997, 43, 131–138. [CrossRef]
- 28. Briassoulis, D.; Dejean, C. Critical review of norms and standards for biodegradable agricultural plastics part I. Biodegradation in soil. J. Polym. Environ. 2010, 18, 384–400. [CrossRef]
- 29. Tian, H.; Li, Z.; Lu, P.; Wang, Y.; Jia, C.; Liu, H.W.Z.; Zhang, M. Starch and castor oil mutually modified, cross-linked polyurethane for improving the controlled release of urea. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, *251*, 117060. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, C.; Li, Y.; Chen, R.; Kessler, M.R. Polyurethanes from solvent-free vegetable oil-based polyols. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2014, 2, 2465–2476. [CrossRef]
- 31. Feng, G.; Ma, Y.; Zhang, M.; Jia, P.; Hu, L.; Liu, C.; Zhou, Y. Polyurethane-coated urea using fully vegetable oil-based polyols: Design, nutrient release and degradation. *Prog. Org. Coat.* **2019**, *133*, 267–275. [CrossRef]
- 32. Bortoletto-Santos, R.; Ribeiro, C.; Polito, W.L. Controlled release of nitrogen-source fertilizers by natural-oil-based poly (urethane) coatings: The kinetic aspects of urea release. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2016, 133, 43790. [CrossRef]
- Abbasi, A.; Nasef, M.M.; Yahya, W.Z.N. Copolymerization of vegetable oils and bio-based monomers with elemental sulfur: A new promising route for bio-based polymers. *Sustain. Chem. Pharm.* 2019, 13, 100158. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, K.; Wang, Z.; Yu, Q.; Liu, B.; Duan, M.; Wang, L. Effect of controlled-release urea fertilizers for oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) on soil carbon storage and CO₂ emission. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2020, *27*, 31983–31994. [CrossRef]
- 35. Liao, J.; Liu, X.; Song, H.; Chen, X.; Zhang, Z. Effects of biochar-based controlled release nitrogen fertilizer on nitrogen-use efficiency of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Sci. Rep. 2020, 10, 11063. [CrossRef]
- Fan, L.; Huang, X.; Hui, R.; Zhu, F. Application of Special Controlled Release Fertilizers in Direct-seeding of Rapeseeds. J. Agric. Sci. Technol. 2015, 16, 745–749.
- 37. Wang, S.; Li, X.; Lu, J.; Li, H.; Liu, B.; Wu, Q.; Wang, H.; Xiao, G.; Xue, X.; Xu, Z. Effects of combined application of urea and controlled-release urea on yield, profits of rapeseed and soil inorganic nitrogen. *Chin. J. Oil Crop. Sci.* **2013**, *35*, 295–300.
- Tian, C.; Zhou, X.; Liu, O.; Peng, J.; Wang, W.; Zhang, Z.; Yang, Y.; Song, H.; Guan, C. Effects of a controlled-release fertilizer on yield, nutrient uptake, and fertilizer usage efficiency in early ripening rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B 2016, 17, 775–786. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 39. Wei, H.; Chen, Z.; Xing, Z.; Zhou, L.; Liu, Q.; Zhang, Z.; Jiang, Y.; Hu, Y.; Zhu, J.; Cui, P.; et al. Effects of slow or controlled release fertilizer types and fertilization modes on yield and quality of rice. J. Integr. Agric. 2018, 17, 2222–2234. [CrossRef]
- 40. Ma, Q.; Wang, M.; Zheng, G.; Yao, Y.; Tao, R.; Zhu, M.; Ding, J.; Li, C.; Guo, W.; Zhu, X. Twice-split application of controlled-release nitrogen fertilizer met the nitrogen demand of winter wheat. *Field Crops Res.* **2021**, *267*, 108163. [CrossRef]
- Ye, Y.; Liang, X.; Chen, Y.; Liu, J.; Guo, R.; Li, L. Alternate wetting and drying irrigation and controlled-release nitrogen fertilizer in late-season rice. Effects on dry matter accumulation, yield, water and nitrogen use. *Field Crops Res.* 2013, 144, 212–224. [CrossRef]
- 42. Tang, S.; Yang, S.; Chen, J.; Xu, P.; Zhang, F.; Al, S.; Huang, X. Studies on the mechanism of single basal application of controlled-release fertilizers for increasing yield of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Agric. Sci. China* 2007, *6*, 586–596. [CrossRef]
- 43. Lu, Y.; Sun, Y.; Liao, Y.; Nie, J.; Yie, J.; Yang, Z.; Zhoiu, X. Effects of the application of controlled release nitrogen fertilizer on rapeseed yield, agronomic characters and soil fertility. *Agric. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *16*, 1226.
- Remya, V.R.; George, S.J.; Sabu, T. Polymer formulations for controlled release of fertilizers. In *Controlled Release Fertilizers for* Sustainable Agriculture, 1st ed.; Lewu, F.B., Volova, T., Sabu, T., Rakhimol, K.R., Eds.; Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2021; pp. 183–194.

- 45. Gu, X.B.; Li, Y.N.; Du, Y.D. Optimized nitrogen fertilizer application improves yield, water and nitrogen use efficiencies of winter rapeseed cultivated under continuous ridges with film mulching. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2017**, *109*, 233–240. [CrossRef]
- Sepaskhah, A.R.; Tafteh, A. Yield and nitrogen leaching in rapeseed field under different nitrogen rates and water saving irrigation. Agric. Water Manag. 2012, 112, 55–62. [CrossRef]
- 47. Zhu, Z.L. Loss of fertilizer N from plants-soil system and the strategies and techniques for its reduction. *Soil Environ. Sci.* 2000, 9, 1–6.
- Xiao, Y.; Peng, F.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J.; Zhuge, Y.; Zhang, S.; Gao, H. Effect of bag-controlled release fertilizer on nitrogen loss, greenhouse gas emissions, and nitrogen applied amount in peach production. J. Clean. Prod. 2019, 234, 258–274. [CrossRef]
- Zheng, W.; Zhang, M.; Liu, Z.; Zhou, H.; Lu, H.; Zhang, W.; Yang, Y.; Li, C.; Chen, B. Combining controlled-release urea and normal urea to improve the nitrogen use efficiency and yield under wheat-maize double cropping system. *Field Crops Res.* 2016, 197, 52–62. [CrossRef]
- Dari, B.; Rodgers, C.W.; Walsh, O.S. Understanding factors controlling ammonia volatilization from fertilizers nitrogen applications. Univ. Ida. Ext. Bul 2019, 926, 1–4.
- 51. Yerokun, O.A. Ammonia volatilization from ammonium nitrate, urea and urea phosphate fertilizers applied to alkaline soils. S. Afr. J. Plant. Soil 1997, 14, 67–70. [CrossRef]
- 52. Bandibas, J.; Vermoesen, A.; De Groot, C.J.; Cleemput, O.V. The effect of different moisture regimes and soil characteristics on nitrous oxide emission and consumption by different soils. *Soil Sci.* **1994**, *158*, 106–114. [CrossRef]
- Liegel, E.A.; Walsh, L.M. Evaluation of sulfur coated urea (SCU) applied to irrigated corn and potatoes. Agron. J. 1976, 68, 457–463. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, S.; Shen, T.; Yang, Y.; Li, Y.C.; Wan, Y.; Zhang, M.; Tang, Y.; Allen, S.C. Controlled-release urea reduced nitrogen leaching and improved nitrogen use efficiency and yield of direct-seeded rice. J. Environ. Manag. 2018, 220, 191–197. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zvomuya, F.; Rosen, C.J.; Russelle, M.P.; Gupta, S.C. Nitrate leaching and nitrogen recovery following application of polyolefincoated urea to potato. J. Environ. Qual. 2003, 32, 480–489. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mikkelsen, R.L.; Williams, H.M.; Behel Jr, A.D. Nitrogen leaching and plant uptake from controlled-release fertilizers. *Fertil. Res.* 1994, 37, 43–50. [CrossRef]
- 57. Cabrera, R.I. Comparative evaluation of nitrogen release patterns from controlled-release fertilizers by nitrogen leaching analysis. *HortScience* **1997**, 32, 669–673. [CrossRef]
- Zheng, W.; Wan, Y.; Li, Y.; Liu, Z.; Chen, J.; Zhou, H.; Gao, Y.; Chen, B.; Zhang, M. Developing water and nitrogen budgets of a wheat-maize rotation system using auto-weighing lysimeter: Effects of blended application of controlled-release an un-coated urea. *Environ. Pollut.* 2020, 263, 114383. [CrossRef]
- FAO. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014, Update 2015. International Soil Classification System for Naming Soils and Creating Legends from Soil Maps; World Soil Resources Reports No. 106; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2015.
- Gee, G.W.; Bauder, J.W. Particle-size analysis. In Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1—Physical and Mineralogical Methods; Klute, A., Ed.; ASA and SSSA: Madison, WI, USA, 1986; pp. 383–411.
- Zbíral, J.; Malý, S.; Váňa, M. (Eds.) Soil Analysis III, 3rd ed.; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2011; pp. 18–52. (In Czech)
- 62. Schumacher, B.A. *Methods for the Determination of Total Organic Carbon (TOC) in Soils and Sediments*; United States Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Sciences Division National, Exposure Research Laboratory: Las Vegas, NV, USA, 2002.
- 63. Šenkýř, J.; Petr, J. Nitrate ion selective electrode. Chem. Listy 1979, 73, 1097–1105. (In Czech)
- Zbíral, J.; Čižmárová, E.; Dočkalová, R.; Fojtlová, E.; Hájková, H.; Holcová, H.; Kabátová, N.; Niedobová, E.; Rychlý, M.; Staňková, K.; et al. *Analysis of Plant Material*, 3rd ed.; Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture: Brno, Czech Republic, 2014; pp. 18–38. (In Czech)
- Determination of Fat Content in Oilseeds. Available online: http://eagri.cz/public/web/file/246173/_10060._1_Stanoveni_ obsahu_tuku_v_olej_semenech.pdf (accessed on 25 May 2021). (In Czech).
- StatSoft, Inc. STATISTICA (Data Analysis Software System), Version 12. 2013. Available online: www.statsoft.com (accessed on 13 May 2021).





Article Technologies for Fertilizers and Management Strategies of N-Fertilization in Coffee Cropping Systems to Reduce Ammonia Losses by Volatilization

Tainah Freitas¹, Lucas Bartelega², César Santos², Mateus Portes Dutra², Leonardo Fernandes Sarkis², Rubens José Guimarães¹, Anderson William Dominghetti³, Pauliana Cristina Zito¹, Tales Jesus Fernandes⁴ and Douglas Guelfi^{2,*}

- ¹ Department of Agriculture, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras 37203-202, Brazil
- ² Department of Soil Science, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras 37203-202, Brazil
- ³ Department of Agriculture, Federal Institute of Espírito Santo, Santa Maria de Jetibá 29645-000, Brazil
- ⁴ Department of Statistics, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras 37203-202, Brazil
- * Correspondence: douglasguelfi@ufla.br; Tel.: +55-35-3829-1504

Abstract: The aim of this study was to quantify NH₃-N losses from conventional, stabilized, slow-release, and controlled-release N fertilizers in a coffee field. The N fertilizers analyzed were prilled urea, prilled urea dissolved in water, ammonium sulfate (AS), ammonium nitrate (AN), urea + Cu + B, urea + adhesive + CaCO₃, and urea + NBPT (all with three split applications), as well as blended N fertilizer, urea + elastic resin, urea-formaldehyde, and urea + polyurethane (all applied only once). NH₃-N losses (mean of two crop seasons) were statistically higher for urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ (27.9% of applied N) in comparison with the other treatments. Loss from prilled urea (23.7%) was less than from urea + adhesive + CaCO₃. Losses from urea + NBPT (14.5%) and urea + Cu + B (13.5%) were similar and lower than those from prilled urea. Urea dissolved in water (4.2%) had even lower losses than those treatments, and the lowest losses were observed for AS (0.6%) and AN (0.5%). For the single application fertilizers, higher losses occurred for urea + elastic resin (5.8%), blended N fertilizer (5.5%), and urea + polyurethane (5.2%); and urea-formaldehyde had a lower loss (0.5%). Except for urea + adhesive + CaCO₃, all N-fertilizer technologies reduced NH₃-N losses compared to prilled urea.

Keywords: N-fertilizers; NH₃ emission; urease inhibitors; slow- and controlled-release N-fertilizers; *Coffea arabica*; sustainable agriculture

1. Introduction

Brazil is the largest coffee (*Coffea arabica* L.) producer and exporter worldwide, and the constant search for better beverage quality and sustainability is essential in different coffee production systems. The application of nitrogen (N) fertilizers is imperative to achieve an adequate yield of this high-value crop. Nitrogen is the nutrient most extracted by the coffee plant and the nutrient of second greatest export by coffee beans [1,2].

Some studies using ¹⁵N have shown that coffee plants take up less than 25% of the N fertilizer when applied as conventional urea [3,4]. The dynamic transformation of N forms in the soil and the varying pathways of N losses in coffee growing areas result in low N fertilizer use efficiency (NUE) [4]. Ammonia (NH₃-N) volatilization is the primary N loss in coffee production areas in Brazil [2,5,6], particularly when conventional urea is applied on the soil surface with plant residues and without fertilizer incorporation [7]. This is a common practice in systems of perennial crops such as coffee.

In 2017, the amount of N fertilizers used in the world was estimated at 150 Tg N per year [8], and may reach 260 Tg N per year in 2050 [9]. About 50% of global N fertilizer production is represented by urea [10,11]. The NH₃-N losses from urea can be intensified

Citation: Freitas, T.; Bartelega, L.; Santos, C.; Dutra, M.P.; Sarkis, L.F.; Guimarães, R.J.; Dominghetti, A.W.; Zito, P.C.; Fernandes, T.J.; Guelfi, D. Technologies for Fertilizers and Management Strategies of N-Fertilization in Coffee Cropping Systems to Reduce Ammonia Losses by Volatilization. *Plants* **2022**, *11*, 3323. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11233323

Academic Editor: Przemysław Barłóg

Received: 26 September 2022 Accepted: 20 October 2022 Published: 1 December 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). when specific soil properties are combined with climatic conditions favorable to this loss. Such properties and conditions include the application of urea on moist soil followed by an absence of rainfall, increased soil and air temperature, increased N doses, application of N on soils with low cation exchange capacity, and alkaline soil pH [12,13]. NH₃-N losses can exceed 50% of the applied dose, considering N applications in multiple crops [14,15]. The equivalent of one in three applications of N fertilizer is lost by volatilization in coffee production systems using conventional urea as an N source [2,5,16].

NH₃-N losses not only reduce NUE and cause agronomic damage, but also lead to environmental problems. These problems include air pollution, due to the acidifying nature of NH₃ [17], and greenhouse gas emissions to the atmosphere. NH₃ gas is an indirect source of nitrous oxide (N₂O), which has a global warming potential 310 times greater than carbon dioxide (CO₂) [18]. It is estimated that 1.4% of the total volatilized N is converted to or lost as N₂O [19].

The 4R principles (right nutrient source, right rate, right time, and right place) guide various management practices to minimize nutrient losses and the C footprint and increase N retention in the soil [20]. The development and proper use of enhanced-efficiency fertilizers (EEFs) may reduce these N losses [20–22]. Technological development of fertilizers is currently one of the strategies most investigated for improving NUE [23–25].

The fertilizer technology market had a compound annual growth rate estimated at 12% from 2014 to 2020 [26]. In addition, some European countries, including Germany and the Netherlands, have already adopted measures banning the application of conventional urea without incorporation and encouraging the use of some technologically enhanced fertilizer.

Enhanced efficiency fertilizers are in four main categories: stabilized fertilizers, slowrelease fertilizers, controlled-release fertilizers, and their blends [27]. Stabilized fertilizers can inhibit some stages of N transformation in the soil through additives such as urease or nitrification inhibitors (e.g., N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide—NBPT) [28,29]. Some chemical compounds, such as boric acid, and metallic ions, such as copper (Cu), may also function as urease inhibitors when used in adequate concentrations [28,30].

The slow-release or chemically modified fertilizers are products of condensation of urea with aldehydes (e.g., formaldehyde and acetaldehyde). Controlled-release fertilizers are those with coatings that control the release of nutrients by diffusion or by a physical barrier (e.g., sulfur, wax, and polymer) [24,31]. In addition to these technologies, combining enhanced efficiency fertilizers and conventional N sources gives rise to another category of fertilizers, what are known as blends. N fertilizer blends are produced from the physical mixture of different fertilizer technologies with conventional N sources (stabilized, slow-release, or controlled-release fertilizers). Combining these N sources has many advantages, including a reduction in production costs compared to separate application of slow-or controlled-release fertilizers, the optimization of dynamics between nutrient release and plant nutrient uptake, and a reduction in NH₃-N losses compared to conventional urea [32,33].

In addition to the different technologies available on the market, diverse N fertilization application strategies can be used, such as the mechanical incorporation of fertilizers into the soil. However, incorporation cannot be used in some cropping systems. In coffee fields, for example, mechanical incorporation of fertilizers may damage the root system, whose greatest activity occurs in the first 0.30 m of the soil [34]. Thus, urea dissolved in water, applied via a jet directed to the soil, can be a promising alternative, since urea would be automatically incorporated.

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that enhanced efficiency N fertilizers and other fertilizers, such as ammonium nitrate and sulfate and prilled urea diluted in water, are options more suitable than conventional urea to reduce NH₃-N losses in coffee production systems. We chose the main technologies available on the market to perform this study. Thus, the objective of this study was to quantify NH₃-N losses by volatilization from conventional, stabilized, slow-release, and controlled-release N fertilizers, as well as from

a fertilizer blend, that were applied for two crop seasons on a coffee growing area in the production stage.

2. Results

2.1. Weather Conditions

The accumulated precipitation in the fertilization period of the 1st year was: 337 mm, 289 mm, and 69 mm at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd split fertilizations, respectively, totaling 694 mm. In the first seven days after each fertilizer application, these rainfall values corresponded to 78 mm (23%), 171 mm (59%), and 19 mm (27%) (Figure S1). In the 2nd year, the rainfall accumulated during the fertilization period was: 153 mm, 124 mm, and 178 mm at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd split fertilizations, respectively, totaling 455 mm. In the first seven days after each fertilizer application, these rainfall values corresponded to 102 mm (57%), 64 mm (52%), and 40 mm (22%) (Figure S3). The mean annual rainfall over the two years of assessment was 1243.3 mm.

The relative air humidity was higher than the critical relative humidity of urea (75%) for most of the period after fertilization in the two crop seasons. The mean temperatures in the same period were 21.2 and 22.6 °C in the first and second crop seasons, respectively. The minimum temperatures were 19 and 18 °C, and the maximum temperatures were 28 and 25 °C. Between the years 2015 and 2017, January had the highest mean temperature (30 °C), and June had the lowest mean temperature of (14 °C). The potential evapotranspiration (ETP) was around 899 to 873 mm per year [35].

2.2. Daily and Accumulated N-NH₃ Losses

In this study, the results were divided into two topics for a better understanding of the treatments and for a fair comparison among the N-sources. The first topic includes the results of fertilizers applied in three split applications, and the second topic describes fertilizers applied in a single application.

2.2.1. Fertilizers Applied in Three Split Applications

The daily and accumulated losses of N-NH₃ of the three fertilizer applications in each crop year were influenced ($p \le 0.05$) by the technologies for N-fertilizers. Except for urea+adhesive+CaCO₃, all the technologies for N-fertilizers, ammonium nitrate, ammonium sulfate and stabilized fertilizers reduced N-NH₃ losses compared to prilled urea. For the 2015/2016 crop season, the maximum losses or peaks of daily NH₃ volatilization for prilled urea occurred 1.3 days after application (~5.8 kg N ha⁻¹). For ammonium nitrate and ammonium sulfate, the maximum loss occurred 6.3 and 4.5 days after application, with values of 0.03 and 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. For fertilizers stabilized with Cu + B and NBPT, the maximum loss occurred at 4.9 and 2.6 days after application, with 1.0 and 2.5 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. Lastly, for urea dissolved in water and urea+adhesive+CaCO₃, the maximum loss occurred at 1 and 1.15 days after application, with 1.5 and 1 kg N ha⁻¹ (Table 1). In the 2015/2016 crop season, the mean accumulated losses in the first seven days were 9.2, 6.7, and 13% of the applied N for the first, second, and third split applications, respectively (Figure S1). In the 2016/2017 crop season, the maximum loss for prilled urea occurred two days after application, with a value of 7.4 kg N ha⁻¹. For ammonium nitrate and sulfate, the maximum loss was at 13 and 5 days after application, with values similar to those of the first crop season (lower than $0.2 \text{ kg N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$). Urea + Cu + B and Urea + NBPT showed maximum losses at 3.7 and 4.3 days, with values of 4.0 and 3.2 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. Urea dissolved in water and urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ had maximum losses at 1.5 and 1.9 days after N fertilization, with values of 1.6 and 10.3 kg N ha⁻¹ (Table 2). In the 2016/2017 crop season, the mean general accumulated losses in the first seven days were 16, 8.5, and 11.7% for the first, second, and third split applications, respectively (Figure S3).

			Parameters			MD
Treatment	Split Fertilization	α	b		2	MDL (kg)
		Maximum NH ₃ Loss	Day of the Maximum Loss	k	R²	(8/
	1	23.65	1.31	1.45	0.97	8.573
Prilled urea	2	13.97	0.77	1.24	0.99	4.331
	3	30.78	1.70	0.59	0.99	4.540
	1	0.26	6.70	0.27	0.94	0.018
Ammonium nitrate	2	0.21	4.89	0.64	0.95	0.034
	3	0.27	7.21	0.40	0.94	0.027
	1	0.57	0.12	0.22	0.97	0.031
Ammonium sulfate	2	0.06	6.79	0.17	0.95	0.003
	3	0.31	6.54	0.08	0.98	0.006
	1	9.97	2.72	0.40	0.98	0.997
Urea + NBPT	2	6.33	2.20	1.52	0.98	2.405
	3	22.32	2.78	0.73	0.98	4.073
	1	7.19	0.89	1.80	0.96	3.236
Urea dissolved in water	2	2.45	-7.19	0.23	0.94	0.141
	3	3.80	0.70	1.32	0.97	1.254
	1	22.67	1.23	2.49	0.96	14.112
Urea + adhesive + $CaCO_3$	2	21.89	1.21	2.35	0.99	12.860
	3	30.41	1.05	0.56	0.98	4.257
	1	3.46	5.32	0.40	0.98	0.346
Urea + Cu + B	2	2.04	1.29	2.22	0.98	1.132
	3	16.34	7.98	0.39	0.99	1.593

Table 1. Regression parameters adjusted for the accumulated and maximum daily losses of $N-NH_3$ from conventional and stabilized N fertilizers in the 2015/2016 crop season.

 α : Asymptotic value (percentage of estimated maximum accumulated loss); b: Day when the maximum ammonia loss occurs; k: relative index; MDL (maximum daily loss of ammonia) and NBPT: N-(n butyl) thiophosphoric triamide.

Table 2. Regression parameters adjusted for the accumulated and maximum daily losses of $N-NH_3$ from conventional and stabilized N fertilizers in the 2016/2017 crop season.

			Parameters			MDI
Treatment	Split Fertilization	α	b		- 2	MDL
		Maximum NH ₃ Loss	Day of the Maximum Loss	k	R ²	(kg)
	1	32.03	1.72	1.32	0.99	10.570
Prilled urea	2	16.76	2.40	0.85	0.96	3.562
	3	22.28	1.97	1.46	0.98	8.132
	1	0.48	9.68	0.22	0.94	0.026
Ammonium nitrate	2	0.51	24.80	0.07	0.81	0.009
	3	1.72	4.90	0.43	0.93	0.185
	1	0.05	2.32	1.10	0.91	0.014
Ammonium sulfate	2	0.36	4.21	0.52	0.91	0.047
	3	1.65	8.37	0.33	0.97	0.136
	1	18.67	3.01	1.06	0.99	4.948
Urea + NBPT	2	10.41	5.25	0.79	0.97	2.056
	3	17.32	4.73	0.59	0.98	2.555
	1	5.66	1.69	0.90	0.99	1.274
Urea dissolved in water	2	4.77	1.45	2.74	0.94	3.267
	3	1.33	1.43	1.24	0.93	0.412

			Parameters			MDI
Treatment	Split Fertilization	α	b			MDL
		Maximum NH ₃ Loss	Day of the Maximum Loss	k	R2 .	(kg)
Urea + adhesive + $CaCO_3$	1	36.22	1.70	1.81	0.99	16.390
	2	18.56	1.78	1.16	0.93	5.382
	3	34.12	2.10	1.09	0.98	9.298
	1	20.27	3.54	1.31	0.98	6.638
Urea + Cu + B	2	15.29	2.84	0.73	0.95	2.790
	3	21.58	4.79	0.54	0.98	2.913

Table 2. Cont.

α: Asymptotic value (percentage of estimated maximum accumulated loss); b: Day when the maximum ammonia loss occurs; k: relative index; MDL (maximum daily loss of ammonia) and NBPT: N-(n butyl) thiophosphoric triamide.

Regarding the accumulated N-NH₃ losses in the 2015/2016 crop season, the mean value of losses was 10.6% of the applied N (average of the three split applications) (Table 3, Figure S5). For the treatments, the mean losses decreased as follows: Urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ (25.5% of applied N) = prilled urea (23.2%) > urea + NBPT (13%) > urea + Cu + B (7.4%) > urea dissolved in water (4.5%) > ammonium sulfate (0.3%) = ammonium nitrate (0.2%). For the 2016/2017 crop season, the mean value was 13.7% (average of the three split applications). As for the treatments, the mean losses decreased in the following order: urea+adhesive+CaCO₃ (30.3% of applied N) > prilled urea (24.2%) > urea + Cu + B (19.7%) > urea +NBPT (16%) > urea dissolved in water (4.5%) > ammonium sulfate (0.9%) = ammonium nitrate (0.8%) (Table 3, Figure S6).

Table 3. Mean accumulated losses of ammonia (% of applied N), for conventional and stabilized N fertilizers, in three fertilizations in the coffee plantation, during the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons.

Ammonia Loss (%)										
Treatment		Season	2015/2016	;		Season	2016/2017	7	• Mean ** (%)	PCRDU ** (%)
	1st	2nd	3rd	Mean	1st	2nd	3rd	Mean	- ()-/	(
Prilled urea	24.2a	14.0b	31.6a	23.2a	32.3a	17.3a	23.1b	24.2b	23.7b	-
Urea dissolved in water	7.3b	2.4c	4.0d	4.5d	5.6c	5.1b	1.5c	4.0e	4.2d	82.3
Ammonium sulfate	0.6c	0.1c	0.3d	0.3e	0.6c	0.4b	1.9c	0.9e	0.6e	97.5
Ammonium nitrate	0.3c	0.2c	0.3d	0.2e	0.5c	0.3b	1.8c	0.8e	0.5e	97.9
Urea + Cu + B	3.5c	2.0c	16.7c	7.4c	20.7b	15.8a	22.8b	19.7c	13.5c	43
Urea + adhesive + $CaCO_3$	23.7a	22.0a	31.0a	25.5a	36.7a	19.3a	35.1a	30.3a	27.9a	-17.7 ***
Urea + NBPT	9.9b	6.4c	22.7b	13.0b	18.8b	11.3a	18.0b	16.0d	14.5c	38.8
Mean	9.9	6.7	15.2	10.6	16.4	9.9	14.9	13.7	12.1	56.9
Coefficient of Variation	18	17.9	16.2	11.7	15.4	27.9	11.2	18.2	8.5	-

NBPT: N-(n butyl) thiophosphoric triamide. Note: In each crop season, 300 kg N ha⁻¹ per year were split into three equal applications for conventional and stabilized N fertilizers, totaling 600 kg N ha⁻¹ for both crop seasons. Means followed by the same lowercase letter in the column do not differ by the Scott-Knott test ($p \le 0.05$). Mean of the six fertilization sources performed between November and February during both seasons ** (PCRDU) Percentage change decrease compared to Prilled Urea. *** Negative value indicates increased volatilization compared to prilled urea.

2.2.2. Fertilizers Applied in a Single Application

In this section, the results of slow-release and controlled-release fertilizers and a blend will be presented. Here, fertilizers were applied in a single application, as they have the mechanism of gradual release of N to the soil. The results showed significant differences in N-NH₃ losses by volatilization for both seasons. In the 2015/2016 crop season, the maximum loss occurred 35 days after the application for urea+elastic resin, with a mean

value of 0.4 kg N ha⁻¹. For the Blend N-fertilizer, at 24.7 days (0.19 kg N ha⁻¹); urea-formaldehyde, at 7 days (0.08 kg N ha⁻¹); urea+polyurethane, at 28.2 days (0.37 kg N ha⁻¹). Regarding the 2016/2017 crop season, these N-sources behave similarly, with low values on the day of maximum loss. The urea+elastic resin treatment showed maximum loss at 40 days (~0.2 kg N ha⁻¹); Blend N-fertilizer, at 9 days (~0.5 kg N ha⁻¹); urea-formaldehyde, at 9 days (~0.04 kg N ha⁻¹); and urea+polyurethane, at 31 days (0.22 kg N ha⁻¹) (Table 4).

Table 4. Regression parameters adjusted for the accumulated and maximum daily losses of $N-NH_3$ from slow-release and controlled-release N fertilizers in the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons.

			Parameters			MDI
Treatment	Crop Season	α	b		2	MDL
		Maximum NH ₃ Loss	Day of the Maximum Loss	ĸ	R ²	(kg)
Urea + elastic resin		5.67	35.94	0.10	0.99	0.425
Blend N-fertilizer	2015/2016	4.29	24.71	0.06	0.94	0.193
Urea-formaldehyde		0.53	6.99	0.20	0.82	0.080
Urea + polyurethane		6.20	28.25	0.08	0.98	0.372
Urea + elastic resin		5.75	40.56	0.05	0.99	0.216
Blend N-fertilizer	2017 /2017	6.07	9.23	0.12	0.95	0.546
Urea-formaldehyde	2016/2017	0.42	8.88	0.14	0.90	0.044
Urea + polyurethane		3.80	31.10	0.08	0.99	0.228

α: Asymptotic value (percentage of estimated maximum accumulated loss); b: Day when the maximum ammonia loss occurs; k: relative index; MDL (maximum daily loss of ammonia) and NBPT: N-(n butyl) thiophosphoric triamide.

The losses accumulated by these sources in the 2015/2016 crop season were higher for the treatments: urea + polyurethane (6.4% of applied N) > urea + plastic resin (5.7%) = Blend N-fertilizer (4.6%) > urea-formaldehyde (0.6%) (Figure S2). In the 2016/2017 crop season, losses were higher for the Blend N-fertilizer (6.5% of applied N) = urea + plastic resin (5.9%) > urea + polyurethane (4%) > urea-formaldehyde (0.5%) (Table 5, Figure S4).

Table 5. Mean accumulated losses of ammonia (% of applied N), for slow-release and controlledrelease N fertilizers, in one single application in the coffee plantation, during the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons.

			Crop S	Season			
Transforment			Ammonia	a Loss (%)			Mean of Two Crop Seasons **
Ireatment		2015/2016			2016/2017		_
	1st	2nd	3rd	1st	2nd	3rd	(%)
Blend N-fertilizer		4.59a			6.46a		5.53a
Urea + elastic resin		5.71a			5.91a		5.81a
Urea-formaldehyde		0.58b			0.48c		0.53b
Urea + polyurethane		6.40a			4.02b		5.21a
Mean		4.32			4.22		4.22
Coefficient of Variation		0.43			0.47		0.47
Precipitation (mm)		694 *			455 *		574 ***

Note: In each crop season, 300 kg N ha⁻¹ per year were applied into one single application for slow and controlledrelease N fertilizers, totaling 600 kg N ha⁻¹ for both crop seasons. Means followed by the same lowercase letter in the column do not differ by the Scott-Knott test ($p \le 0.05$). * Sum of precipitation during the evaluation periods, which were 208 and 235 days in the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons, respectively. ** Mean of the six fertilizations performed between November and February of each crop season/year. *** Mean of precipitation during the evaluation periods, which were 208 and 235 days in the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons.

2.3. Summarizing Results of Ammonia Losses from N-Technologies

Considering the way that the study was designed and conducted, it is not possible to compare the results of all technologies. However, a sequence of loss values presented by the sources can be established, considering the average of the two years of study. Thus, the decreasing order for the split treatments would be as follows: urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ (27.9% of applied N = 84 kg N) > prilled urea (23.7% = 71 kg N) > urea + NBPT (14.5% = 43 kg N) = urea + Cu + B (13.5% = 40 kg N) > urea dissolved in water (4.2% = 12.6 kg N) > ammonium sulfate (0.6% = 1.8 kg N) = ammonium nitrate (0.5% = 1.5 kg of N). The decreasing order for the sources applied at a single time were: urea + elastic resin (5.8% = 17.4 kg N) = Blend N-fertilizer (5.5% = 16.6 kg N) = urea + polyurethane (5.2% = 15.6 kg N) > urea-formaldehyde (0.5% = 1.59 kg).

3. Discussion

In this study, the weather conditions greatly influenced N-NH₃ losses by volatilization, particularly rainfall and temperature. In both coffee crop seasons, most N-NH₃ losses occurred in the first seven days for the N-fertilizers applied in three split applications. The rainfall in these first days was essential for incorporating fertilizers into the soil and reducing N-NH₃ emissions. Such a pattern was evidenced in both seasons.

In 2015/2016, the accumulated rainfall in the first seven days (19 mm) of the third split application was the lowest. Such low rainfall led to an increase of 40 and 90% in N-NH₃ losses compared to the first and second split applications, respectively. The same pattern was not observed for the 2016/2017 season. However, an important issue must be considered: in the first and second N-fertilization, the mean NH₃ losses in the first seven days were 16% and 8.5%, respectively. Such lower NH_3 loss of 8.5% can be due to the absence of precipitation in the first two days of the first split application, which favored the permanence of the NH4⁺ from the N-fertilizers for a longer time on the soil surface. Regarding the pattern observed in the third split application, the losses were significant until the 13th day after fertilizer application, which is due to the lack of rainfall in the first days. These results show that rainfall before or after fertilization affects N losses by volatilization, particularly in the first seven days after the fertilizer application. Considering the initial seven days as the most critical phase to lose ammonia after applying prilled urea, the use of technologies associated with urea is critical to reducing N losses by volatilization [36,37]. In this context, NH_3 losses depend on the volume and intensity of the rainfall [38].

This relationship between precipitation and N-fertilizer incorporation into the soil becomes even more complex in coffee plantations, as the architecture of the coffee plant restricts the direct incidence of rainfall, thus limiting the incorporation of the N-fertilizer applied in the canopy projection. Plant residues on the soil surface also function as a barrier to fertilizer incorporation (Figure S13).

Regarding the efficiency of urea + NBPT in reducing N-NH₃ losses by volatilization, it is possible that the NBPT inhibited the urease activity, which is responsible for urea hydrolysis [12,30]. The efficiency of the NBPT was evidenced by the delay of 1.3 days in daily ammonia volatilization peaks, the reduction in MDL by 63%, and the 38.8% reduction of the accumulated loss compared to prilled urea. Therefore, the NBPT effectively delayed the beginning of N-NH₃ losses and reduced the accumulated losses compared to prilled urea. This delay possibly increased the chances of N-fertilizer incorporation by rainfall, which can reduce the losses of N by volatilization [39].

NBPT is currently the most used urease inhibitor worldwide [39]. A meta-analysis study reported that NBPT can reduce N-NH₃ losses by 52% on average, compared to the ammonia losses of prilled urea [6]. Urease inhibitors are highly efficient in reducing N-NH₃ losses by volatilization, but some aspects must be considered when NBPT is added to urea. These aspects include: its degradation under increased soil temperature [40], acidic soil pH [41], time and temperature of storage [12], and contact with phosphate fertilizers, which contain free acidity [42].

Urea + Cu + B reduced the N-NH₃ losses by 68% and 18% compared to prilled urea in the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons. This efficiency in reducing losses is due to the potential for urease inhibition using Cu and B. The urease inhibition mechanism is due to the reaction of copper with the sulfhydryl groups of the urease enzyme, forming insoluble sulfites and inactivating the enzymatic action of urease [43,44]. Boric acid (H₃BO₃) can also inhibit urease activity but through a different inhibition mechanism. In this case, H₃BO₃ has a very similar structure to urea and functions as an analog substrate for ureases. Thus, it replaces almost perfectly the water molecules bound to Ni at the center of the reaction [45,46]. Urea treated with Cu and B is already commercialized in Brazil, and for this study, it was bought from the regional fertilizer market. Although Cu and B are potential urease inhibitors, the low concentrations found in some commercial products may not be enough to inhibit the enzyme [30]. Thus, proper concentrations must be evaluated in varying crops and cropping systems. Some issues related to the treatment process in the fertilizer industry still complicate the increase in the amounts of Cu and B added to urea, especially with the use of H₃BO₃, which has a low concentration of B (17%).

Ammonia losses in the treatment urea + adhesive + $CaCO_3$ were 18% higher than prilled urea in two coffee crop seasons. In this treatment, calcium carbonate was used as an alternative to elemental sulfur to create a physical barrier around the urea granule. In the present study, this technology was inefficient due to its limited effect as a physical barrier for the urea granule. $CaCO_3$ increased the porosity and the contact with water enhanced its dissolution. This characteristic was evidenced when the day of the maximum NH₃ loss was anticipated as well as the increase in the maximum NH₃ daily loss in relation to the prilled urea. In addition, $CaCO_3$ increases the alkalization that occurs around the urea granule hindering the pH buffering capacity of the region where the urea is hydrolyzed. Such a physical barrier with $CaCO_3$ in urea increases the N-NH₃ losses. Furthermore, this concept was also verified by the NH₃ accumulated losses from the da urea + Adhesive + $CaCO_3$, which was higher than the prilled urea. Thus, we concluded that the alkaline (CaCO₃) coating urea was inefficient to reduce the ammonia losses by volatilization.

There are two N-fertilizers widely used in Brazilian coffee plantations, namely ammonium nitrate and ammonium sulfate. In this study, the reduction of N-NH₃ losses for these two sources was higher than 97% in both crop seasons. The irrelevant NH₃ losses from these N-sources are related to their acidic-to-neutral reaction in soil, mainly at pH < 7 [47]. Another positive aspect is that these fertilizers do not depend on weather conditions at the moment of their application. Thus, both ammonium nitrate and sulfate can be smart options for N-fertilization in coffee crop systems.

Altogether, the application of urea dissolved in water by drench draws attention to the technologies used to mitigate prilled urea losses by volatilization. In the present scientific study, this treatment showed good efficiency in reducing N-NH₃ losses by volatilization. The days of maximum loss occur very similarly to prilled urea applied on the soil surface. However, the losses in these days of maximum loss are, on average, 3.8 and 4.5 times lower than prilled urea for the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 crop seasons, respectively. Moreover, the accumulated losses of urea dissolved in water were five and six times lower than those observed for prilled urea in the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 seasons, respectively. Such reduced losses are due to the dissolution of urea in water, which percolates to subsurface layers in the soil carrying the urea molecules, thus reducing N-NH₃ losses by volatilization. For this treatment, no additive was added to the conventional urea. However, urease or nitrification inhibitors can also be added to the urea solution [48], thus improving urea use efficiency, that is, the technologies available in the market can be associated with strategies that can further increase the N use efficiency.

Considering the management of coffee plantations in Brazil, the application of urea solution can be performed along with systemic insecticides. Such products are applied directly in the ground, under the projection of the coffee tree canopy. However, it is important to evaluate the compatibility between the products to be applied, as well as the spray volume used and its relationship with the urea concentration in the solution, related

to the solubility product constant [16]. Another strategy would be to add micronutrients to the urea solution in order to standardize the distribution. In addition, increasing the concentration of B and Cu in the urea solution could inhibit urease activity and help mitigate ammonia losses.

In this study, it was not possible to compare the conventional, stabilized, slow-, and controlled-release fertilizers. However, the latter treatments showed interesting patterns when applied to coffee cropping systems. The basis of slow-release, controlled-release, and Blend N-fertilizers is urea, but the associated technologies lead to contrasting responses in N-NH₃ losses. The average accumulated loss by those sources is lower than 6% of the applied N when averaging the two crop seasons.

This pattern observed for controlled-release fertilizers (urea + elastic resin, urea + polyurethane) is explained by the way N is released into the soil. The release of N in controlled-release fertilizers occurs by the diffusion of urea from inside the granule through the coating into the soil solution. This process starts with increasing steam pressure and water intake into the granule. Then, osmotic pressure inside the capsule increases and creates a diffusion gradient from the fertilizer to the soil solution [49]. The gradual release reduces the excess of N-mineral available in the soil solution, which is susceptible to volatilization, denitrification, and leaching. Controlled-release urea improves the synchronism between the N release from fertilizer granules and its absorption by the plants, thus reducing N losses and improving nitrogen use efficiency in coffee crop environments [2,50].

The chemical reactions in the Urea-Formaldehyde production process reduce the nitrogen solubility in water compared to conventional sources of N, owing to the formation of long and short polymerization chains. This reduced solubility has varying effects on the rates of N release over time. The methylene urea chains formed in the Urea-Formaldehyde production depend on the activity of microorganisms in a process similar to N mineralization in the soil. Such a process prevents all the N from being readily released into the soil and is thus subject to the transformations needed to produce NH₃ [51–55]. From an agronomic perspective, the lower N-NH₃ losses are due to the reduction of excessive mineral N in the soil solution, which is susceptible to N-losses. The same pattern was also observed in the controlled-release urea. In the present study, the release time of controlled-release or slow-release fertilizers should be further investigated regarding their potential for proper N supply for coffee crop systems.

The Blend N-fertilizer, a blend of urea stabilized with NBPT and urea coated with elemental sulfur and polymer, was also efficient in reducing N losses, which did not exceed 7% in both coffee crop seasons. In this blend, part of the urea is in the soluble form and is protected by the NBPT as a urease inhibitor. The Blend N-fertilizer improves the N provision to the coffee plants over time as it combines the fast release of the soluble urea mixed with NBPT and the controlled-release urea to provide nitrogen for a longer time. The N-NH₃ losses were similar to the 100% coated treatments compared to blend N-fertilizers, thus demonstrating the efficiency of this technology to supply N to the coffee plant.

Highlights of Economic View of N-Fertilizers Technologies

From an economic perspective, here we present a short overview related to the prices of N-fertilizer technologies assessed in this scientific paper. Prilled urea has the lowest cost in the market, considering its increased N concentration and disregarding the high N-NH₃ losses. In sequence, are fertilizers stabilized with NBPT, Cu, and B, which have similar market values, followed by urea + adhesive + CaCO₃. The prices of Blend-N-fertilizer reduce as the proportion of the stabilized and conventional ureas increase in the physical mixture and their prices are higher than conventional and stabilized N-fertilizers. In addition, Blend-N-fertilizers have a lower cost compared to 100% of controlled-release urea.

In this context, urea + polyurethane and urea + plastic resin, which are controlledrelease or added-value fertilizers, have similar market prices. In addition, the prices of controlled-release fertilizers may vary according to the material used in the coating and the thickness of the coating. Finally, urea-formaldehyde as well as controlled-release fertilizers require investments in industrial processing such as infrastructure with specific conditions to produce these added-value N-fertilizers. In some situations, in Brazil, urea-formaldehyde has been used as a blended form with conventional urea and/or ammonium sulfate reducing its price compared to pure urea-formaldehyde. In general, pure urea-formaldehyde has similar prices to pure controlled-release fertilizers.

From an agronomic/economic point of view, the decision on which N sources would be interesting for application in coffee plantations must consider the costs of the fertilizer application. Fertilization with conventional and stabilized fertilizers must be split into three or more applications. Slow- and controlled-release fertilizers can be applied in a single operation reducing the costs (labor, fuels, machine maintenance, and depreciation), time of mechanized operation on the farm, and soil compaction due to the reduction of N splits compared to conventional and stabilized fertilizers. On the other hand, the Blend N-fertilizer technology is more expensive than conventional and stabilized fertilizers, but almost always has a lower value compared to slow- and controlled-release fertilizers. Besides, Blend N-fertilizers provide better synchronism between the N release and its absorption by the plants.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Characterization of the Experimental Area

The experiment was conducted in coffee plantations under field conditions for two crop seasons, 2015/2016 and 2016/2017, in Lavras, Minas Gerais (MG), Brazil (Figure 1). Lavras (910 m a.s.l., 21°14′06″ S 45°00′00″ W) is located in a traditional region of coffee production in Brazil, within the Campos das Vertentes geographical indication. According to Köppen's classification, the climate is Cwa, mesothermal with mild summers and dry winters. The mean annual precipitation is approximately 1472 mm, the mean annual temperature is 19.4 °C [56].



Figure 1. Location map of the experimental areas in Lavras, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

The coffee plantation in the production phase was planted with the "Catuaí Vermelho" cultivar, line 144. At the beginning of the experiment, the plantation was six years old. The spacing used in the planting was 3.7 m between rows and 0.7 m between plants, totaling 3861 plants ha⁻¹.

The soil was classified as "Latossolo Vermelho Amarelo Distroférrico (LVdf)" according to the Brazilian System of Soil Classification [57], or Haplustox [58]. Before installing the experiment, soil samples were collected at the 0–0.2 m depth for soil texture [59] and soil chemical analyses. (Table 6) lists the result of the soil chemical analysis and texture.

Table 6. Chemical characterization and soil texture of the experimental area at the 0–20 cm depth, before the application of the treatments.

pН	K	P mg c	Cu dm ⁻³	В	Ca ²⁺	Mg ²⁺ cmol _c	Al ³⁺ dm ⁻³	CEC	ОМ	BS	Sand %	Silt	Clay
4.6	92	16	1.5	0.3	1.7	0.4	0.7	11.4	2.4	30	18	24	58

pH in water (1:2.5); P, K, and Cu extracted by Mehlich-1; B extracted by hot water; Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , and Al^{3+} extracted by 1 M KCl; CEC = Cation Exchange Capacity at pH 7.0; OM = soil organic matter; BS = base saturation; Sand, silt, and clay = particle-size fractions.

4.2. Experimental Design

In this study, different sources of N-fertilizers were used, which were applied in a single application or split into three applications. Thus, two different group experiments were carried out in the same area, but the management practices (other than fertilization) remained similar. The experiments were designed as follows: Group 1) seven treatments, consisting of conventional and stabilized fertilizers and urea dissolved in water (management strategy) the experimental design in the field was randomized blocks with three repetitions, totaling 21 plots; and Group 2) four treatments, consisting of slow-, controlled-, and blend fertilizers, the experimental design in the field was randomized blocks with three repetitions, totaling 12 plots. For conventional and stabilized fertilizers, a dose of 300 kg ha⁻¹ was divided into three applications. For the other treatments (Group 2) a dose of 300 kg ha⁻¹ was applied in a single application. The treatments will be described in detail in the next topic. Each experimental unit consisted of 14 coffee plants. The ten central plants comprised a useful area for data collection.

4.3. Characterization of the Fertilizers

The fertilizers used in this study were chosen based on technologies used in Brazilian coffee production systems. They were divided into four groups and characterized according to the type of technology used. We photographed all fertilizers with a Canon camera, SL3 DSLR model, and an Olympus microscope, SZ60 Japan model. Fertilizers classified as controlled-release were characterized by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and energy dispersion X-ray spectroscopy (EDS).

The first group included the conventional fertilizers: (1) prilled urea (45% N), (2) Ammonium nitrate (31% N), and (3) Ammonium sulfate (21% N and 24% $S-SO_4^{2-}$). Another treatment containing prilled urea (45% N) diluted in water at a concentration of 50 g L⁻¹ was also added, aiming to reduce N-NH₃ losses and to completely dissolve urea: (4) urea dissolved in water.

Another group amongst the technologies used in this study was the stabilized fertilizers, which have additives that can inhibit or delay some process of N transformation in the soil: (5) urea treated with Cu and B (44% N; 0.4% B as boric acid and 0.15% Cu as copper sulfate) and (6) urea treated with NBPT (45% N). This group of fertilizers consists of urease inhibitors (NBPT, NPPT, Cu, and B). The functioning of Cu and B as urease inhibitors depends on the concentrations added to the fertilizer. Besides being micronutrients, Cu and B have competitive and non-competitive urease inhibition capacities, respectively [60].

The group of controlled-release fertilizers was also included in this study: (7) urea coated with elastic resin (44% N and 43.8 μ m of average coating thickness), (Figure S8) (8) urea coated with polyurethane (40% N and 56.4 μ m of average coating thickness), (Figure S9).

The group of chemically modified or slow-release fertilizers was represented in this study by (9) urea-formaldehyde (26% N). This product results from the reaction

of formaldehyde molecules (H_2CO) with urea (NH_2)₂CO under controlled temperature and pressure. This reaction forms chains of C and N with different sizes and degrees of polymerization.

A treatment for physical protection of the urea granules was included in this study: (10) urea + adhesive + CaCO₃. This treatment included a compound that agglutinates calcium carbonate (CaCO₃), creating a physical barrier of adhesive and CaCO₃. This barrier temporarily prevents contact between the soluble conventional urea and soil moisture.

Lastly, a fertilizer based on the physical mixture of technologies (blend) was added to the present study, constituting the treatment called: (11) Blend N-Fertilizer (39% N, 9% S^0) (Figure S7). In this case, the release of N to the system occurs in different stages, as this blend is a mixture of conventional urea with a controlled release fertilizer (urea coated with elemental sulfur (S^0) + polymer), measuring 67.5 µm of coating thickness and a stabilized fertilizer (urea treated with NBPT, most of the times). Therefore, the blend aims at the synchronization of the release of N by the fertilizer and its absorption by the plant, which reduces N excess in the system and N-NH₃ losses by volatilization.

For the other treatments, the granulometry of the fertilizers varied from 1 to 4 mm, as officially specified by the Brazilian legislation for granulated fertilizers. Further physical characteristics of the treatments can be found in figures (Figures S7–S12).

The treatments used in this study were applied at the 300 kg N ha⁻¹ dose per year. The application of the treatments prilled urea, ammonium nitrate, ammonium sulfate, stabilized (urea + NBPT and urea + Cu + B) and urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ were split into three doses of 100 kg N ha⁻¹ into the two crop seasons of the experiment. Urea dissolved in water was applied via drench at a dose of 1.6 L m⁻¹, totaling 16 L per plot, following the same criteria described for the split application. The slow-release, controlled-release, and blend fertilizers were applied at a single dose of 300 kg N ha⁻¹ per year. All fertilizers were applied as topdressing, superficially, and under the canopy projection of the coffee plants. The applications for the 2015/2016 season were conducted on 6 November 2015, 11 January, and 10 March 2016. The 2016/2017 season received the applications following the same interval. The treatments received the slow-release, controlled-release, and blend-N fertilizers on the same day as the first application of the conventional and stabilized fertilizers.

4.4. Complementary Management of Soil Fertility

Liming was performed 60 days before applying the N fertilizers in each treatment plot, aiming to increase soil base saturation to 60%. The dose of 2 t ha⁻¹ of agricultural lime (PRNT 100%) was used in both crop seasons. Maintenance fertilization was performed with potassium chloride (KCl—60% K₂O) and simple superphosphate (SFS—20% P₂O₅) fertilizers, applied at doses of 300 kg K₂O ha⁻¹ per year and 100 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ per year, respectively, under the canopy projection of the coffee plants [61].

The micronutrients were applied via leaf fertilization along with phytosanitary control. These procedures were performed both during the formation period of the coffee plantation and over the experimental period. A total of 5 kg ha⁻¹ of a commercial product containing the following nutrients were applied: 6.0% zinc (ZnSO₄), 3.0% boron (H₃BO₄), 2.0% manganese (MnSO₄), 10.0% copper (Cu (OH)₂), 10.0% sulfur, 1.0% magnesium (MgSO₄) and 10.0% K₂O (KCl). The spray volume applied was 300 L ha⁻¹, totaling three applications per year in 45-day intervals between November and February each year.

4.5. Quantification of N-NH₃ Losses

The losses of N-NH₃ owing to the application of N fertilizers were quantified using the semi-open collector adapted by Lara Cabezas [62]. In the first year, three PVC bases (0.2 m height and 0.2 m diameter) were installed 30 days before the application of the fertilizers in each experimental plot, under the canopy projection of the coffee plants, and at a depth of 0.05 m into the soil (Figure 2). These PVC chambers were kept in the field during the two years of the experiment.



Figure 2. Illustration of the collectors used in the quantification of ammonia losses.

Collection chambers were made in PVC with a diameter similar to the bases. The chambers had lids that prevented water to enter, but allowed air circulation. They had 0.5 m height and specifications as described in (Figure 2). The amount of fertilizer corresponding to the dose applied per hectare was added within each base (0.2 linear meters). To calculate the dose of N, we considered the useful distance in linear meters of one hectare and the 3.7 m spacing between lines, totaling 2702.7 m. The dose of N was corrected for the equivalent base diameter (0.20 m). For the N-sources whose fertilization was split into three applications, 7.4 g of N was added to each base on the same day that the fertilization of the plots was performed. As for the treatments that received one single fertilizer application, 22.20 g of N was added to each base. The collection chamber was added to one of the bases, in all plots, immediately after applying fertilizers on the bases.

Two laminated foam discs with 0.02 g cm⁻³ density, 0.2 m thickness, and the same diameter as the PVC tubes were placed inside each semi-open collector. The foam discs were soaked with 80 mL of phosphoric acid (H_3PO_4 ; 60 mL L⁻¹) solution and glycerin (50 mL L⁻¹). The lower disc was placed inside the chamber at a height of 0.35 m from the soil, and the upper disc at 0.2 m from the lower one (Figure 2). The lower foam disk aimed to capture the ammonia released by the treatments, as the upper disk aimed to avoid contamination of the lower disk by N-NH₃ released from the rest of the fertilized line.

Foam disks were collected on the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th, 7th, 9th, 12th, 15th, 19th, 24th, and 31st days after the application of fertilizers in the 2015/2016 crop season for conventional and stabilized fertilizers (Group 1). In 2016/2017, the collections were performed on the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th, 7th, 9th, 12th, 14th, 17th, and 20th days, and until the 34th day after applying the treatments. The collections in the treatments with slow- and controlled-release fertilizers (Group 2) were performed on the same day as the conventional and stabilized fertilizers. However, they were extended until the 208th day of the first crop season and until the 235th of the second crop season.

After each sponge change, the chamber was rotated from one base to another to consider the influence of the spatial variability of ammonia emission. This rotation allows a greater influence on climatic variations, such as temperature and precipitation.

The solution in the sponges collected from the field was extracted by filtration in a Büchner funnel connected to a vacuum pump. The extraction was performed after ten sequential washes with 40 mL of deionized water each. The extracts were stored in a cold chamber for a maximum period of 5 days, and after that, they were analyzed. From the extract, 20 mL aliquots were taken to determine the N content by distillation by the Kjeldahl method [63]. The N content in the sample was calculated according to equation 1, adapted from Nogueira and Souza [64]: TN = [(Va - Vb) × F × 0.1 × 0.014 × 100]/P1, in which,

TN: Total N concentration in the sample (%), Va: Volume of hydrochloric acid solution spent on the sample titration (mL), Vb: Volume of hydrochloric acid solution spent on the blank titration (mL), F: Correction factor for 0.01 M hydrochloric acid, P1: Sample mass (g).

The values obtained in the N content calculations referred to the area occupied by the base of the chambers installed in the field. These values were then extrapolated to the percentage of loss of N-NH₃ per hectare. The accumulated losses in the assessment were calculated by adding the losses from the 1st to the 2nd day, then adding this value to the losses of the 3rd day, and so on until the last day of collection.

4.6. Statistical Analysis

The treatments were submitted to a non-linear regression analysis using a logistic model (equation 2) to evaluate the ammonia loss by volatilization: Yi = $[\alpha/1 + e^k (b - daai)] + Ei$, in which, Yi is the i-th observation of the accumulated loss of N-NH₃ in %, being i = 1, 2, ..., n; daai is the i-th day after the application of the treatment; α is the asymptotic value that can be interpreted as the estimation of the maximum accumulated loss of N-NH₃; *b* is the abscissa of the inflection point and indicates the day of the maximum loss by volatilization; k is the value that represents the precocity index, and the higher its value, the lower the time needed to reach the maximum loss by volatilization (α); Ei is the error associated to the i-th observation, which is assumed to be independent and equally distributed according to a zero average standard and constant variance, E ~ N (0, I σ 2).

This model is already used to estimate plant growth but has recently been applied to estimate the N-NH₃ accumulated loss [6,65,66].

To estimate the maximum daily loss (day when the highest N-NH₃ loss occurred), that is, to determine the inflection point of the curve, the following equation was used: MDL = k \times (α /4), in which, k is a relative index used to obtain to a maximum daily loss of ammonia (MDL), and α is the asymptotic value that can be interpreted as the maximum amount of accumulated N-NH₃ loss. The "nlme" package was used in the modeling of the N-NH₃ losses data, using the R 3.3.1 software [67].

Normality and homoscedasticity of the data were verified by the Shapiro-Wilk and Bartlett tests, respectively. Then, an analysis of variance was performed to test the influence of the N sources on the N-NH₃ losses by volatilization. The significance of the differences was evaluated at p < 0.05. After validating the statistical model, the mean values were grouped by the Scott-Knott algorithm using the R 3.3.1 software [67].

5. Conclusions

Nitrogen fertilizers such as conventional urea can be used to improve nutrient use efficiency in coffee production environments by using technologies such as urease inhibitors and polymer coatings. Altogether, conventional urea had ammonia losses equal to 24% of N applied to promote lower N-use efficiency during two coffee seasons. Calcium carbonate as a physical coating around the urea granules performed poorly compared to all the other N-fertilizer technologies with ammonia volatilization losses 18% greater than conventional urea. Urea dissolved in water is an interesting N-fertilization management strategy for coffee farmers as the ammonia losses were only 4.2% of the applied N. Urea stabilized with N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) is a useful industrial innovative technology to mitigate ammonia losses because urease inhibitor as additive reduces ammonia losses by 39%. Slow- and controlled-release urea and Blend N-fertilizer are interesting addedvalue N-fertilizers to improve coffee crop nutrition over time because they can be applied in a single mechanized operation with ammonia losses lower than 7% of the applied N. Conventional N-fertilizers such as ammonium nitrate and ammonium sulfate showed negligible ammonia losses demonstrating its potential as interesting choices in comparison with conventional urea to mitigate ammonia emissions. Also, they can be applied regardless of soil humidity and climate conditions. In summary, in this scientific paper, we presented some highlights of cutting-edge technologies as a plan for the efficient use of N-fertilizers in coffee crop production environments. However, our research group is engaged in

similar studies in the coffee crop, where not only aspects related to ammonia loss are being evaluated, but also emission of the other GHG, soil enzyme activity, and aspects related to plant nutrition, thus allowing better understanding of the N cycle for the coffee plant.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https:// www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/plants11233323/s1, Figure S1: Daily N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in the first, second, and third split application (a, b, and c) of conventional and stabilized N fertilizers. Rainfall, average temperature, and relative air humidity after splitting the N fertilization in the 2015/2016 crop season (d); Figure S2: Daily (a) and accumulated (b) N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in slow- and controlled-release N fertilizers. Rainfall, average temperature, and relative air humidity after splitting the N fertilization in the 2015/2016 crop season (c); Figure S3: Daily N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in the first, second, and third split application (a, b, and c) of conventional and stabilized N fertilizers. Rainfall, average temperature, and relative air humidity after splitting the N fertilization in the 2016/2017 crop season (d); Figure S4: Daily (a) and accumulated (b) N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in slow- and controlled-release N fertilizers. Rainfall, average temperature, and relative air humidity after splitting the N fertilization in the 2016/2017 crop season (c); Figure S5: Accumulated N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in the first, second, and third split application (a, b, and c) of conventional and stabilized N fertilizers in the 2015/2016 crop season; Figure S6: Accumulated N-NH₃ losses by volatilization in the first, second, and third split application (a, b, and c) of conventional and stabilized N fertilizers in the 2016/2017 crop season; Figure S7: Thickness of surface coatings by MEV images (a) and elemental composition of surface coatings (b) of the controlled release source: urea coated with elemental sulfur (S⁰) + polymer (Blend N-fertilizer); Figure S8: Thickness of surface coatings by MEV images (a) and elemental composition of surface coatings (b) of the controlled release source: urea coated with plastic resin; Figure S9: Thickness of surface coatings by MEV images (a) and elemental composition of surface coatings (b) of the controlled release source: urea coated with polyurethane; Figure S10: Images of the conventional N fertilizers: urea (a), ammonium nitrate (b), and ammonium sulfate (c); Figure S11: Images of the stabilized N fertilizers: urea treated with NBPT (a) and urea treated with Cu and B; Figure S12: Images of the fertilizers: Slow-release: Urea-formaldehyde (a) and Physical barrier: Urea + adhesive + CaCO₃ (b); Figure S13: Dry leaves in the canopy projection of the coffee plant hindering fertilizer incorporation.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, D.G., R.J.G., L.B. and T.F.; methodology, D.G.; software, T.J.F.; validation, D.G., T.F., L.B. and R.J.G.; formal analysis, T.J.F.; investigation, T.F., A.W.D. and P.C.Z.; resources, D.G.; data curation, T.F., C.S., M.P.D. and L.F.S.; writing—original draft preparation, T.F., D.G., L.B. and R.J.G.; writing—review and editing, D.G., T.F., C.S., M.P.D. and L.F.S.; visualization, T.F. and D.G.; supervision, D.G.; project administration, D.G. and R.J.G.; funding acquisition, D.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the CNPq (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico), CAPES (Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior), FAPEMIG (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais), and (INCT – Café) Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia do Café.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the CNPq (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico), CAPES (Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior), FAPEMIG (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais), and (INCT – Café) Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia do Café.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Martinez, H.E.P.; Clemente, J.M.; Lacerda, J.S.; Neves, Y.P.; Pedrosa, A.W. Nutrição mineral do cafeeiro e qualidade da bebida. *Rev. Ceres* 2014, 61, 838–848. (In Portuguese) [CrossRef]
- Chagas, W.F.T.; Guelfi, D.R.; Caputo, A.L.C.; Souza, T.L.; Andrade, A.B.; Faquin, V. Ammonia volatilization from blends with stabilized and controlled-released urea in the coffee system. *Cienc. Agrotecnol.* 2016, 40, 497–509. [CrossRef]
- Cannavo, P.; Harmand, J.M.; Zeller, B.; Vaast, P.; Ramírez, J.E.; Dambrine, E. Low nitrogen use efficiency and high nitrate leaching in a highly fertilized *Coffea arabica–Inga densiflora* agroforestry system: A ¹⁵N labeled fertilizer study. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 2013, 95, 377–394. [CrossRef]

- 4. Salamanca-Jimenez, A.; Doane, T.A.; Horwath, W.R. Nitrogen use efficiency of coffee at the vegetative stage as influenced by fertilizer application method. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 223. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dominghetti, A.W.; Silva, D.R.G.; Guimarães, R.J.; Caputo, A.L.C.; Spehar, C.R.; Faquin, V. Nitrogen loss by volatilization of nitrogen fertilizers applied to coffee orchard. *Cienc. Agrotecnol.* 2016, 40, 173–183. [CrossRef]
- 6. Silva, A.G.B.; Sequeira, C.H.; Sermarini, R.A.; Otto, R. Urease inhibitor NBPT on ammonia volatilization and crop productivity: A meta-analysis. *Agron. J.* **2017**, *109*, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- Martins, M.R.; Sarkis, L.F.; Sant'Anna, S.A.C.; Santos, C.A.; Araujo, K.E.; Santos, R.C.; Araújo, E.S.; Alves, B.J.R.; Jantalia, C.P.; Boddey, R.M.; et al. Optimizing the use of open chambers to measure ammonia volatilization in field plots amended with urea. *Pedosphere* 2021, *31*, 243–254. [CrossRef]
- [USGS] United States Geological Survey. Nitrogen Statistics and Information. 2018. Available online: https://minerals.usgs.gov/ minerals/pubs/commodity/nitrogen (accessed on 15 September 2022).
- Mogollón, J.M.; Lassaletta, L.; Beusen, A.H.W.; van Grinsven, H.J.M.; Westhoek, H.; Bouwman, A.F. Assessing future reactive nitrogen inputs into global croplands based on the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2018, 13, 044008. [CrossRef]
- 10. Heffer, P.; Prud'homme, M. Fertilizer Outlook 2016–2020. In Proceedings of the International Fertilizer Association (ed) 84th IFA Annual Conference, Moscow, Russia, 30 May–1 June 2016; pp. 1–5.
- 11. [FAOSTAT] Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. Fertilizer by Nutrients. 2021. Available online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RFN (accessed on 15 September 2022).
- 12. Cantarella, H.; Otto, R.; Soares, J.; Silva, A.G.B. Agronomic efficiency of NBPT as a urease inhibitor: A review. J. Adv. Res. 2018, 13, 19–27. [CrossRef]
- 13. Otto, R.; Cantarella, H.; Guelfi, D.; Carvalho, M.C.S. Nitrogênio na Sustentabilidade de Sistemas Agrícolas. *Inf. Agron.* 2021, *9*, 1–21. (In Portuguese)
- 14. Pan, B.; Lam, S.K.; Mosier, A.; Luo, Y.; Chen, D. Ammonia volatilization from synthetic fertilizers and its mitigation strategies: A global synthesis. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **2016**, *232*, 283–289. [CrossRef]
- Martins, M.R.; Sant'Anna, S.A.C.; Zaman, M.; Santos, R.C.; Monteiro, R.C.; Alves, B.J.R.; Jantalia, C.P.; Boddey, R.M.; Urquiaga, S. Strategies for the use of urease and nitrification inhibitors with urea: Impact on N₂O and NH₃ emissions, fertilizer-¹⁵N recovery and maize yield in a tropical soil. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2017, 247, 54–62. [CrossRef]
- Guimarães, P.T.G.; Reis, T.H.P.; Guelfi, D.; Mattiello, E.M.; Montanari, M. Correção e adubação de solo em cafeeiros em produção— Cultivo de sequeiro. In *Cafeicultura do Cerrado*; Carvalho, G.R., Ferreira, A.D., Andrade, V.T., Botelho, C.E., Carvalho, J.P.F., Eds.; Epamig: Belo Horizonte, Brasil, 2021; pp. 141–172. (In Portuguese)
- 17. Eurostat. Air Pollution Statistics-Emission Inventories. 2018. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Air_pollution_statistics_-emission_inventories (accessed on 14 February 2021).
- IPCC. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. In Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Edenhofer, O.R., Pichs-Madruga, Y., Sokona, E., Farahani, S., Kadner, K., Seyboth, A., Adler, I., Baum, S., Brunner, P., Eickemeier, B., et al., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK; New York, NY, USA, 2014; p. 1454.
- IPCC. 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. 2019. Available online: https: //www.ipcc.ch/report/2019-refinement-to-the2006-ipccguidelines-for-national-greenhouse-gas-inventories (accessed on 15 September 2022).
- 20. Snyder, C.S. Enhanced nitrogen fertiliser technologies support the '4R' concept to optimise crop production and minimise environmental losses. *Soil Res.* **2017**, *55*, 463–472. [CrossRef]
- Smith, P.; Martino, D.; Cai, Z.; Gwary, D.; Janzen, H.; Kumar, P.; Siro-tenko, O. Agriculture. In *Climate change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)*; Metz, B., Davidson, O.R., Bosch, P.R., Dave, R., Meyer, L.A., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2007; pp. 497–540.
- 22. Dimkpa, C.; Fugice, J.; Singh, U.; Lewis, T.D. Development of fertilizers for enhanced nitrogen use efficiency—Trends and perspectives. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2020, 731, 139113. [CrossRef]
- 23. Chien, S.H.; Prochnow, L.I.; Cantarella, H. Recent developments of fertilizer production and use to improve nutrient efficiency and minimize environmental impacts. *Adv. Agron.* 2009, *102*, 267–322. [CrossRef]
- 24. Azeem, B.; Kushaari, K.; Man, Z.B.; Basit, A.; Thanh, T.H. Review on materials & methods to produce controlled release coated urea fertilizer. J. Control. Release 2014, 181, 11–21. [CrossRef]
- 25. Timilsena, Y.P.; Adhikari, R.; Casey, P.; Muster, T.; Gill, H.; Adhikari, B. Enhanced efficiency fertilisers: A review of formulation and nutrient release patterns. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2015, 95, 1131–1142. [CrossRef]
- Apostolopoulou, E. The Global Market for Slow-Release, Controlled-Release and Stabilized Fertilizers; International Fertilizer Association—IFA: Beijing, China, 2016; pp. 1–19.
- 27. Guelfi, D. Fertilizantes nitrogenados estabilizados, de liberação lenta ou controlada. Inf. Agron. 2017, 157, 1–14. (In Portuguese)
- Adotey, N.; Kongchum, M.; Li, J.; Whitehurst, G.B.; Sucre, E.; Harrell, D.L. Ammonia volatilization of zinc sulfate-coated and NBPT-treated urea fertilizers. *Agron. J.* 2017, 109, 2918–2926. [CrossRef]
- Santos, C.F.; Aragão, O.O.S.; Silva, D.R.G.; Jesus, E.C.; Chagas, W.F.T.; Correia, O.S.; Moreira, F.M.S. Environmentally friendly urea produced from the association of N-(nbutyl) thiophosphoric triamide with biodegradable polymer coating obtained from a soybean processing byproduct. J. Clean. Prod. 2020, 276, 123014. [CrossRef]

- Santos, C.F.; Nunes, A.P.P.; Aragão, O.O.S.; Guelfi, D.; Souza, A.A.; Abreu, L.B.; Lima, A.D.C. Dual Functional Coatings for Urea to Reduce Ammonia Volatilization and Improve Nutrients Use Efficiency in a Brazilian Corn Crop System. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 2021, 21, 1591–1609. [CrossRef]
- Lawrencia, D.; Wong, S.K.; Low, D.Y.S.; Goh, B.H.; Goh, J.K.; Ruktanonchai, U.R.; Soottitantawat, A.; Lee, L.H.; Tang, S.Y. Controlled release fertilizers: A review on coating materials and mechanism of release. *Plants* 2021, 10, 238. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Andrade, A.B.; Guelfi, D.R.; Chagas, W.F.T.; Cancellier, E.D.; Souza, T.L.; Oliveira, L.S.S.; Faquin, V.; Du, C. Fertilizing maize croppings with blends of slow/controlled-release and conventional nitrogen fertilizers. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2021, 184, 227–237. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, L.; Liang, Z.; Hu, Y.; Schmidhalter, U.; Zhang, W.; Ruan, S.; Chen, X. Integrated assessment of agronomic, environmental and ecosystem economic benefits of blending use of controlled-release and common urea in wheat production. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2021, 287, 559–565. [CrossRef]
- DaMatta, F.M.; Ronchi, C.P.; Maestri, M.; Barros, R.S. Ecophysiology of coffee growth and production. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 2007, 19, 485–510. [CrossRef]
- Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia do Brasil (INMET). Normal Climatológico (2015/2017); Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia do Brasil (INMET): Brasilia, Brazil, 2022; Home Page. Available online: https://portal.inmet.gov.br/ (accessed on 22 April 2022). (In Portuguese)
- Costa, M.C.G.; Vitti, G.C.; Cantarella, H. N-NH₃ losses from nitrogen sources applied over unburned sugarcane straw. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 2003, 27, 631–637. [CrossRef]
- Afshar, R.K.; Lin, R.; Assen, Y.M.; Chen, C. Agronomic effects of urease and nitrification inhibitors on ammonia volatilization and nitrogen utilization in a dryland farming system: Field and laboratory investigation. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 172, 4130–4139. [CrossRef]
- Dawar, K.; Zaman, M.; Rowarth, J.S.; Blennerhassett, J.; Turnbull, M.H. Urea hydrolysis and lateral and vertical movement in the soil: Effects of urease inhibitor and irrigation. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 2011, 47, 139–146. [CrossRef]
- Byrne, M.P.; Tobin, J.T.; Forrestal, P.J.; Danaher, M.; Nkwonta, C.G.; Richards, K.; Cummins, E.; Hogan, S.A.; O'Callaghan, T.F. Urease and Nitrification Inhibitors—As Mitigation Tools for Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Sustainable Dairy Systems: A Review. Sustainability 2020, 12, 6018. [CrossRef]
- 40. Abalos, D.; Jeffery, S.; SanzCobena, A.; Guardia, G.; Vallejo, A. Meta-analysis of the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on crop productivity and nitrogen use efficiency. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **2014**, *189*, 136–144. [CrossRef]
- 41. Engel, R.E.; Towey, B.D.; Gravens, E. Degradation of the urease inhibitor NBPT as affected by soil pH. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 2015, *79*, 1674–1683. [CrossRef]
- 42. Sha, Z.; Lv, T.; Staal, M.; Ma, X.; Wen, Z.; Li, Q.; Pasda, G.; Misselbrook, T.; Liu, X. Effect of combining urea fertilizer with P and K fertilizers on the efficacy of urease inhibitors under different storage conditions. J. Soils Sediments 2020, 20, 2130–2140. [CrossRef]
- Zaborska, W.; Krajewska, B.; Olech, Z. Heavy Metal Ions Inhibition of Jack Bean Urease: Potential for Rapid Contaminant Probing. J. Enzym. Inhib. Med. Chem. 2004, 19, 65–69. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Kafarski, P.; Talma, M. Recent advances in design of new urease inhibitors: A review. J. Adv. Res. 2018, 13, 101–112. [CrossRef]
- 45. Benini, S.; Rypniewski, W.R.; Wilson, K.S.; Mangani, S.; Ciurli, S. Molecular details of urease inhibition by boric acid: Insights into the catalytic mechanism. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 3714–3715. [CrossRef]
- 46. Svane, S.; Sigurdarson, J.J.; Finkenwirth, F.; Eitinger, T.; Karring, H. Inhibition of urease activity by different compounds provides insight into the modulation and association of bacterial nickel import and ureolysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10*, 8503. [CrossRef]
- Cantarella, H. Nitrogênio. In Fertilidade do Solo; Novais, R.F., Alvarez, V.V.H., Barros, N.F., Fontes, R.L.F., Cantarutti, R.B., Neves, J.C.L., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brasil, 2007; pp. 375–470. (In Portuguese)
- 48. Wang, Q.; Zhou, F.; Shang, Z.; Ciais, P.; Winiwarter, W.; Jackson, R.B.; Tubiello, F.N.; Janssens-Maenhout, G.; Tian, H.; Cui, X.; et al. Data-driven estimates of global nitrous oxide emissions from croplands. *Natl. Sci. Rev.* **2020**, *7*, 441–452. [CrossRef]
- Souza, T.L.D.; Guelfi, D.R.; Silva, A.L.; Andrade, A.B.; Chagas, W.F.T.; Cancellier, E.L. Ammonia and carbon dioxide emissions by stabilized conventional nitrogen fertilizers and controlled release in corn crop. *Cienc. Agrotecnol.* 2017, 41, 494–510. [CrossRef]
- 50. Tong, X.; He, X.; Duan, H.; Han, L.; Huang, G. Evaluation of Controlled Release Urea on the Dynamics of Nitrate, Ammonium, and Its Nitrogen Release in Black Soils of Northeast China. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **2018**, *15*, 119–132. [CrossRef]
- 51. Giroto, A.S.; Guimarães, G.G.F.; Ribeiro, C. A Novel, Simple Route to Produce Urea:Urea-Formaldehyde Composites for Controlled Release of Fertilizers. J. Polym. Environ. 2018, 26, 2448–2458. [CrossRef]
- 52. Guo, Y.; Zhang, M.; Liu, Z.; Tian, X.; Zhang, S.; Zhao, C.; Lu, H. Modeling and Optimizing the Synthesis of Urea-formaldehyde Fertilizers and Analyses of Factors Afecting these Processes. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 4504. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jiang, J.; Fan, H.; Pang, B.; Zhang, J.; Li, Z.; Jiang, S.; Wu, J. Assessment of reactive nitrogen mitigation potential of different Nitrogen treatments under direct-seeded rice and wheat cropping system. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2018, 25, 20241–20254. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Naz, M.Y.; Sulaiman, S.A. Attributes of natural and synthetic materials pertaining to slow-release urea coating industry. *Rev. Chem. Eng.* 2017, 33, 293–308. [CrossRef]
- 55. Ikeda, S.; Suzuki, K.; Kawahara, M.; Noshiro, M.; Takahashi, N. An Assessment of Urea-Formaldehyde Fertilizer on the Diversity of Bacterial Communities in Onion and Sugar Beet. *Microbes Environ.* **2014**, *29*, 231–234. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 56. Dantas, A.A.A.; Carvalho, L.G.; Ferreira, E. Climatic classification and tendencies in Lavras region, MG. *Cienc. Agrotecnol.* 2007, 31, 1862–1866. [CrossRef]
- 57. Santos, H.G.; Jacomine, P.K.T.; Anjos, L.H.C.; Oliveira, V.A.; Lumbreras, J.F.; Coelho, M.R.; Almeida, J.A.; Cunha, T.J.F.; Oliveira, J.B. Sistema Brasileiro de Classificação do Solo, 3rd ed.; Embrapa: Rio de Janeiro, Brasil, 2013; p. 353. (In Portuguese)
- Soil Survey Staff. Keys to Soil taxonomy, 12th ed.; USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service: Washington, DC, USA, 2014; p. 353.
- 59. Bouyoucos, G.J. A Recalibration of the Hydrometer Method for Making Mechanical Analysis of Soils. *Agron. J.* **1951**, *43*, 434–438. [CrossRef]
- 60. Cancellier, E.L.; Silva, D.R.G.; Faquin, V.; Gonçalves, B.A.; Cancellier, L.L.; Spehar, C.R. Ammonia volatilization from enhancedefficiency urea on no-till maize in brazilian cerrado with improved soil fertility. *Cienc. Agrotecnol.* 2016, 40, 133–144. [CrossRef]
- Guimarães, P.T.G.; Garcia, A.W.R.; Alvares, V.H.; Prezotti, L.C.; Viana, A.S.; Miguel, A.E.; Malavolta, E.; Corrêa, J.B.; Lopes, A.S.; Nogueira, F.D.; et al. Cafeeiro. In *Recomendação Para o Uso de Corretivos e Fertilizantes Em Minas Gerais: 5a Aproximação*; Ribeiro, A.C., Guimarães, P.T.G., Alvares, V.H., Eds.; Comissão de Fertilidade do Solo do Estado de Minas Gerais: Viçosa, Brasil, 1999; pp. 289–302. (In Portuguese)
- Lara-cabezas, A.R.; Trivelin, P.C.O.; Bendassolli, J.A.; Santana, D.G.; Gascho, G.J. Calibration of a semi-open static collector for determination of ammonia volatilization from nitrogen fertilizers. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 1999, 30, 389–406. [CrossRef]
- 63. Kjeldahl, J. Neue methode zur bestimmung des stickstoffs in organischen Körpern. Z. Für Anal. Chem. 1883, 22, 366–382. [CrossRef]
- 64. Nogueira, A.R.A.; Souza, G.B. *Manual de Laboratórios: Solo, Água, Nutrição Vegetal, Nutrição Animal e Alimentos;* Embrapa Pecuária Sudeste: São Carlos, Brasil, 2005; p. 313. (In Portuguese)
- 65. Soares, J.R.; Cantarella, H.; Menegale, M.L.C. Ammonia volatilization losses from surface-applied urea with urease and nitrification inhibitors. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **2012**, *52*, 82–89. [CrossRef]
- Minato, E.A.; Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Besen, M.R.; Mazzi, F.L.; Inoue, T.T.; Batista, M.A. Controlled-release nitrogen fertilizers: Characterization, ammonia volatilization, and effects on second-season corn. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 2020, 44, 0190108. [CrossRef]
- 67. Development Core Team R. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2018.





Article Nitrogen Fertilizers Technologies for Corn in Two Yield Environments in South Brazil

Bruno Maia Abdo Rahmen Cassim ^{1,*}, Marcos Renan Besen ¹, Wagner Deckij Kachinski ¹, Celso Rafael Macon ¹, João Henrique Vieira de Almeida Junior ¹, Rodrigo Sakurada ², Tadeu Takeyoshi Inoue ¹ and Marcelo Augusto Batista ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Agronomy, Maringá State University, Colombo Avenue, 5790, Zone 07, Maringá 87020900, Brazil; marcos.besen@hotmail.com (M.R.B.); wdkachinski@gmail.com (W.D.K.); ra105324@uem.br (C.R.M.); jvieiradealmeidajr@gmail.com (J.H.V.d.A.J.); ttinoue@uem.br (T.T.I.)
- ² Cocamar Cooperativa Agroindustrial, Street Osvaldo de Moraes Corrêa, 1000, Maringá 87065590, Brazil; rodrigo.sakurada@cocamar.com.br
- * Correspondence: bruno_cassim@hotmail.com (B.M.A.R.C.); mabatista@uem.br (M.A.B.); Tel.: +55-44-999050784 (B.M.A.R.C.); +55-44-984156081 (M.A.B.)

Abstract: Improvements in nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) in corn production systems are necessary, to decrease the economic and environmental losses caused by loss of ammonia volatilization (NH₃-N). The objective was to study different nitrogen (N) fertilizer technologies through characterization of N sources, NH₃-N volatilization losses, and their effects on the nutrient concentration and yield of corn grown in clayey and sandy soils in south Brazil. The treatments consisted of a control without N application as a topdressing, three conventional N sources (urea, ammonium sulfate, and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate), and three enhanced-efficiency fertilizers [urea treated with NBPT + Duromide, urea formaldehyde, and polymer-coated urea (PCU) + urea treated with NBPT and nitrification inhibitor (NI)]. The losses by NH₃-N volatilization were up to 46% of the N applied with urea. However, NI addition to urea increased the N losses by NH₃-N volatilization by 8.8 and 23.3%, in relation to urea alone for clayey and sandy soils, respectively. Clayey soil was 38.4% more responsive than sandy soil to N fertilization. Ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate showed the best results, because it increased the corn yield in clayey soil and contributed to reductions in NH₃-N emissions of 84 and 80% in relation to urea, respectively.

Keywords: urea; ammonia volatilization; enhanced-efficiency fertilizers; nitrification inhibitor; plant nutrition; X-ray diffraction; scanning electron microscopy

1. Introduction

Producing food sustainably and sufficiently for humanity has been a challenge over time. At the global level, corn (*Zea mays* L.) is the most produced grain, with 1.2 billion tons produced per year [1], and it will be responsible for a 45% increase in cereal production in the coming years [2], driven by an estimated population expansion to 9.7 billion people by 2050. Although the production potential of corn hybrids has increased through genetic improvements and the development of more technically advanced crops, the world average yield is 5980 kg ha⁻¹ [1], far below the productive potential of the crop.

Nitrogen fertilization management is one of the factors that contributes the most to increasing corn yield. In plants, nitrogen (N) is the mineral element required in greatest quantities and is responsible for the synthesis of amino acids, proteins, and enzymes, and for photosynthetic processes [3]. Urea $[CO(NH_2)_2]$ is the most commonly used source to meet the N needs of plants, because it has industrial advantages, such as a high N concentration per unit mass (45 to 46%) and lower production costs than other N sources [4]. It is estimated that in 2023, the global demand for N will be 155 Mt yr⁻¹, of which 53% will be supplied by urea [5]. However, once applied to soil, urea is hydrolyzed by the action

Citation: Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Besen, M.R.; Kachinski, W.D.; Macon, C.R.; de Almeida Junior, J.H.V.; Sakurada, R.; Inoue, T.T.; Batista, M.A. Nitrogen Fertilizers Technologies for Corn in Two Yield Environments in South Brazil. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 1890. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11141890

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský, Xinhua He and Bertrand Hirel

Received: 16 May 2022 Accepted: 20 June 2022 Published: 21 July 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). of urease enzyme, producing ammonia (NH₃-N), which is rapidly lost to the atmosphere in the form of gas [6]. This loss may account for more than 60% of the N applied [7], depending on the soil and air temperature [8], soil moisture [9], soil pH [10], soil buffering capacity [11], presence of straw on the soil surface [12], N source [13], and rate of applied fertilizer N [14].

Although NH₃-N is not a greenhouse gas (GHG), it can indirectly contribute to nitrous oxide (N₂O-N) emissions [15], which are extremely harmful, due to their high global warming potential and permanence in the atmosphere for long periods [16]. Ammonia losses can reduce the N use efficiency (NUE), because less nutrients are left for plant absorption, causing negative yields and economic consequences for farmers [17,18]. In addition, NH₃-N losses in agricultural areas affect air quality and contaminate terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems [19]. In the United States, for example, economic losses of approximately 39 billion dollars and deaths of more than 4300 people annually are linked to air pollution, as a result of NH₃-N emissions from corn production systems that have both low NUE and nitrogen fertilizer overdoses [20].

The incorporation of urea into the soil is an effective way to reduce losses by NH_3 -N volatilization and increase NUE. This incorporation can be achieved using mechanical techniques [21] or irrigation [22]. Such practices are not always possible, because less than 20% of the world's areas are irrigated [23] and because they interrupt the no-tillage system, which is an important soil conservation management practice. Therefore, surface application of N is the predominant practice in agricultural production systems. Nitrogen sources such as ammonium sulfate [(NH₄)₂SO₄] and ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃) are not subject to considerable losses by NH₃-N volatilization [13,24], but tend to be more expensive, due to their lower N concentration. In addition, ammonium nitrate is subject to purchase restrictions by the military, due to its use as an explosive material [4].

To circumvent these limitations, N fertilizer industries have relied on the use of urea as a raw material, due to its high concentration of N for the development of N enhancedefficiency fertilizers (EEFs), classified as stabilized, slow-release, and controlled-release fertilizers [25]. However, although meta-analysis studies have revealed potential reduction in NH₃-N losses by EEFs in relation to urea of between 39.4 and 52.0%, depending on the soil characteristics and climatic conditions before fertilizer application [26,27], the gains in crop yield are low compared to those obtained with conventional urea, ranging from 5.3 to 6.0% [4,26,27].

The N fertilizer industry has developed new stabilizing molecules to inhibit urease activity and has proposed combinations of enhanced-efficiency technologies, to obtain mixed (two or more granules) and/or complex (single-granule) fertilizers. For example, the new Duromide + N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) stabilization technology reduced NH₃-N losses by 33% compared to only NBPT [9]. On the other hand, the addition of nitrification inhibitors (NIs), which aims to reduce N₂O-N losses and nitrate leaching (NO₃⁻-N) [28,29], increases the volatilization of NH₃-N by 35.7% and consequently the indirect emissions of N₂O-N by up to 15.2% [30], leading to major debates on the use of NIs to increase NUE in EEFs [31].

Therefore, the objective of this work was to study the different technologies of N fertilizers through the characterization of their N sources, NH₃-N volatilization losses, and effects on the nutrient concentration and yield of corn grown in clayey and sandy soil in south Brazil.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Description of the Sites and Soils

The experiments were conducted in two locations belonging to the Technology Diffusion Unit (UDT) of Cocamar Cooperativa Agroindustrial: one located in the municipality of Floresta (23°35′37″ S; 52°04′06″ W), and another in the municipality of Guairaçá (22°56′48″ S; 52°43′22″ W), at 392 and 478 m above sea level, respectively. The climate of the study area is classified as subtropical humid mesothermal (Cfa) according to the



Köppen-Geiger classification system [32]. The rainfall, temperature, relative air humidity, and irrigation depth data during the experiments are shown in Figure 1.

← Maximum temperature (°C) ……○… Minimum temperature (°C)

Figure 1. Pluviometric precipitation (mm), air relative humidity (%), maximum and minimum temperature (°C), and irrigation (mm) for corn grown on clayey soil (**a**) and corn grown on sandy soil (**b**). Bef. appli. N: Before application nitrogen day in topdressing. N appli. Day: Day of nitrogen application in topdressing.

The experiments were conducted in the municipalities of Floresta and Guairaçá, located in the state of Paraná, Brazil, in no-till areas, with previous crops of *Brachiaria ruziziensis* and *B. brizantha*, respectively. The soils of the experimental areas in Floresta and Guairaçá were classified as a Latossolo Vermelho distroférrico with clayey texture (clayey soil) and Argissolo Vermelho-Amarelo distrófico (sandy soil) [33], corresponding to an Oxisol and Ultisol, respectively, according to the soil taxonomy of the USDA [34]. Soil samples from the 0–20 m layer were collected for chemical characterization and the determination of particle size (Table 1).

2.2. Experimental Design, Treatments, and Crop Management

A randomized block experimental design was applied, with five replicates and seven treatments. The treatments consisted of a control without N application as topdressing; three conventional nitrogen sources: urea (46% N), ammonium sulfate (21% N and 24% S), and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate (27% N, 3.7% S and 5% Ca); and three fertilizers with increased efficiency: one fertilizer stabilized to inhibit the activity of urease enzyme [urea treated with NBPT + Duromide (46% N)], one slow-release fertilizer [urea formaldehyde (37% N)], and one fertilizer consisting of a mixture of granules of different technologies [polymer-coated urea (PCU) (42% N) + urea treated with NBPT and nitrification inhibitor (Ur-NBPT + NI) (46% N) + 3.0% S and 0.3% B in the form of elemental sulfur

(99% S) and ulexite (10% B), respectively]. The experimental units were 4 m wide and 10 m long, yielding a total area of 40 m².

Table 1. Chemical and granulometric analysis of an Oxisol (clayey texture), Ultisol (sand texture) and interpretation of values for the surface layer (0.00–0.20 m).

	Clayey Soil ¹	Sand Soil ²	Soil Attribute
Soll Properties	0.00–0.20 m	0.00–0.20 m	Interpretation ³
pH CaCl ₂	4.50	5.70	Medium ¹ /High ²
$H + Al (cmol_c dm^{-3})$	6.49	1.90	-
Al^{3+} (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	0.15	0.00	Very low ^{1,2}
Ca^{2+} (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	3.31	1.68	High ¹ /Medium ²
Mg^{2+} (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	1.09	0.52	Medium ^{1,2}
K^+ (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	0.17	0.09	Medium ¹ /Low ²
SB (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	4.57	2.29	-
CEC _{pH7} (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	11.06	4.19	Medium ¹ /Very low ²
ECEC (cmol _c dm ⁻³)	4.72	2.29	High ¹ /Medium ²
BS (%)	42	55	Medium ¹ /High ²
$P (mg dm^{-3})$	16.15	56.61	Very high ^{1,2}
$S (mg dm^{-3})$	2.96	0.95	Medium ¹ /Very low ²
$B (mg dm^{-3})$	0.40	0.12	High ¹ /Low ²
$Zn (mg dm^{-3})$	5.70	12.96	High ¹ /Very high ²
$Cu (mg dm^{-3})$	10.32	5.04	Very high ^{1,2}
Fe (mg dm ^{-3})	49.14	25.86	-
$Mn (mg dm^{-3})$	142.26	47.28	Vey high ¹ /high ²
$OC (g dm^{-3})$	16.73	8.26	High ¹ /Medium ²
OM (%)	2.89	1.42	High ¹ /Low ²
Sand (%)	8	89	-
Silt (%)	14	1	-
Clay (%)	78	10	-

pH(CaCl₂) (0.01 mol L⁻¹) at a soil:solution ratio of 1:2.5; H + Al was determined by the Shoemaker–McLean–Pratt (SMP) method; Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and Al³⁺ extracted with KCl 1 mol L⁻¹; OM: soil organic matter content obtained by organic carbon × 1.724 (Walkley-Black); P, K⁺, Zn, Cu, Fe, and Mn: Mehlich-1 extraction; SO₄²⁻ was extracted by calcium phosphate in acetic acid; B was extracted with hot water; sum of bases (SB): Ca²⁺ + Mg²⁺ + K⁺; CEC: cation exchange capacity at pH 7 (SB + H + Al); ECEC: effective cation exchange capacity (SB + Al³⁺); BS: base saturation [(SB/CEC) × 100]; and particle size distribution (sand, silt, and clay) by densimeter method. ¹ Soil attribute interpretation of the clayey soil. ² Soil attribute interpretation of the sand soil. ³ Interpretation of soil attributes, according to SBCS/NEPAR [35].

Corn (*Zea mays* L.) was sown at the Floresta (clayey soil) and Guairaçá (sandy soil) sites on 14 October and 6 November 2020, under a dry mass cover of 3.15 and 4.76 Mg ha⁻¹ *B. ruziziensis* and *B. brizantha*, respectively. The corn hybrids used in Floresta and Guairaçá were Brevant 2433 PWU and FS512 PWU, respectively, with a distribution of 2.7 seeds m⁻¹ and a spacing of 0.45 m, totaling 60,000 pl ha⁻¹. Sowing fertilization was performed with the application of 535 and 400 kg ha⁻¹ of 10-15-15 (N-P₂O₅-K₂O), and when the corn was at phenological stage V4 (four leaves with collars visible), 60 and 40 kg ha⁻¹ K₂O as KCI were applied in Floresta and Guairaçá, respectively. The N fertilizers were applied as a topdressing, according to the expected yield of the Floresta (clayey soil) and Guairaçá (sandy soil) sites at phenological stage V5 (five leaves with collars visible) at doses of 200 and 150 kg ha⁻¹, respectively, as recommended by the Parana State Fertilization and Liming Manual (SBCS/NEPAR) [35].

2.3. Capture and Determination of Ammonia Volatilization

To determine the ammonia volatilization, the N fertilizers were weighed separately with an analytical balance and manually applied in a semi-open static chamber allocated within each experimental unit. For the treatment consisting of a mixture of granules of different technologies, PCU was physically separated from Ur-NBPT + NI, and three chambers were installed in the experimental unit for each treatment; with the first chamber for PCU, the second chamber for Ur-NBPT + NI, and the third chamber for granules mixed at a ratio of 50% PCU and 44% Ur-NBPT + NI, as the product is marketed.

Immediately after the application of N fertilizers in Floresta (clayey soil) and Guairaçá (sandy soil), N losses via ammonia volatilization were quantified through sample collection, performed at 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 11, 15, 19, 22, 26, 33, 40, 47, 54, 61, 68, 76, and 83 days and 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 15, 21, 28, 36, 44, 51, 58, 65, 71, and 78 days after application, totaling 18 and 15 collection times, respectively. The chambers were constructed from plastic bottles (polyethylene terephthalate, PET) with a total area of 0.007854 m². Each chamber contained a 2.5 cm wide and 25 cm long strip of filter paper with a base immersed in a 50-cm³ flask with 20 mL 0.05 mol L⁻¹ H₂SO₄ and a solution of 2% glycerine (v/v) [36,37]. The used vials were replaced with new vials until the ammonia loss stabilized.

After each collection, the chambers were rotated between the three bases within each experimental unit, to minimize the effects of environmental factors such as rainfall and temperature. Subsequently, the samples were sent to the Soil Fertility Laboratory of the Maringá State University, Paraná, Brazil, and refrigerated until analysis. Ammonia captured in the form of ammonium sulfate was determined by UV/VIS spectrophotometry, using the salicylate green method [37]. During the experimental period of ammonia volatilization sampling, no irrigation was performed.

2.4. Characterization of Nitrogen Fertilizers

The N fertilizers were finely ground and characterized by X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis (XRD 6000, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). X-ray diffractograms were obtained with a scanning interval of 3° to 70° 20, sampling step of 0.02°, and time of 1.2 s using CoK α radiation with a nickel filter (40 kV, 30 mA). The values obtained were exported to X'Pert Highcore Plus software to determine the intensity, peak position, and crystallographic *hkl* plane. To identify the coating layer and coating thickness of the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI treatment with controlled-release technology, the granules were physically separated into PCU and Ur-NBPT + NI and cut longitudinally with the aid of a scalpel blade. Subsequently, the granules were fixed to a stub microscope support with the aid of carbon tape and then metallized with gold. The samples were then analyzed using scanning electron microscopy (SEM), using a Quanta FEG 250 microscope.

2.5. Evaluation of Nutrient Concentration, Morphological, and Yield Status

During the flowering period of the corn, corresponding to phenological stage R1 (silking), indirect readings of the chlorophyll leaf content (SPAD index) were performed using SPAD 502 Plus[®] instrument (Konica Minolta, Tokyo, Japan). The nutrient concentration of the corn was evaluated at phenological stage R1, by randomly collecting 15 plants from the middle third of the first leaf opposite and below the upper ear [35]. After collecting the leaves, the samples were sent to the Soil Fertility Laboratory of the Maringá State University, Paraná, Brazil; washed with distilled water; dried in an oven with forced air circulation at 65 °C for 72 h; and ground in a Wiley mill. Subsequently, the samples were weighed and subjected to sulfuric acid and nitric-perchloric acid digestion for the extraction of N, phosphorus (P), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), sulfur (S), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), iron (Fe), and manganese (Mn). For analysis of leaf boron (B) content, the samples were subjected to dry digestion via calcination in a muffle furnace [38].

The content of Ca, Mg, Zn, Cu, Fe, and Mn were determined by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (AAS) with a mixture of air:acetylene. Phosphorus was determined by vanadate yellow spectrophotometry, S by spectrophotometry using the barium sulfate turbidimetry method, K by flame emission photometry, N by the micro-Kjeldahl method, and B by azomethine-H spectrophotometry [38].

The plant height was determined at phenological stage R2 (milky grains) by measuring from the soil surface to the insertion of the tassel using a tape measure. After the physiological maturation of corn, corresponding to phenological stage R6, manual harvesting of the ears was performed in a useful area of 10.8 m², the kernel moisture was corrected to

13%, and the kernel mass of each experimental unit was extrapolated to obtain the yield in kg ha $^{-1}$.

2.6. Statistical Analysis

The data obtained for corn yield, height, and nutrient concentration were subjected to homogeneity of variance (Bartlett) and error normality (Lilliefors) tests, thus meeting the assumptions of analysis of variance [39]. Subsequently, the data were subjected to joint analysis of variance, provided that the quotient between the largest and smallest residual mean squares of the analysis of individual variances was less than 7 [40]. Treatments and places were considered fixed factors, and their interaction was subdivided into treatments within places and places within treatments (p < 0.05), as shown by the follow statistical model. Subsequently, the means were compared using Tukey's test at 5% probability, using the statistical software GENES [41].

$$Yijk = \mu + Gi + B/Ajk + Aj + GAij + \varepsilon ijk$$

where Yijk is the observed value for treatment *i* (nitrogen fertilizer) in place *j* (clayey or sandy soil) in block k; μ is the effect of the mean; G*i* is the fixed effect of treatment i; B/Ajk is the block nested in place *j*; Aj is the fixed effect of place *j*; GAij is the interaction between treatment *i* and place *j*; and εijk is the experimental random error in treatment *i*, place *j*, and block *k*.

For the NH₃-N volatilization data, model selection was performed according to the Akaike information criterion (AIC) [42], and the model with the lowest AIC was chosen. After selecting the model, the data were subjected to nonlinear regression using SigmaPlot software, using the logistic model of three parameters (α , β and γ) represented by Equation (1), as described by Seber and Wild [43]. This model has traditionally been used to estimate plant growth and nutrient uptake rates [44] and has been more recently used to estimate losses by NH₃-N volatilization [9,13].

$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}} = \frac{\alpha}{1 + \exp\left[-(\text{time} - \beta)/\gamma\right]} \tag{1}$$

where \hat{Y} is the amount of N volatilized as NH₃-N (kg ha⁻¹) at time t; α is the maximum accumulated volatilization; β is the time at which a 50% loss occurs, corresponding to the inflection point of the curve (the day when the maximum daily loss of NH₃-N occurs); t is the time (days); and γ is a parameter of the model used to calculate the maximum daily loss (MDL) of NH₃-N, as shown in Equation (2).

$$MDL = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}$$
(2)

3. Results

3.1. Scanning Electron Microscopy and X-ray Diffraction

The electron micrographs revealed the transverse morphology of the granules that compose the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI granule mixture, indicating the presence or absence of coating (Figure 2). Thus, the Ur-NBPT + NI granules do not have a coating layer (Figure 2a), whereas the PCU granules have a polymer coating layer with an average thickness of $34.90 \mu m$ (Figure 2b).

The X-ray diffractograms showed typical reflections of the chemical species of each nitrogen fertilizer (Figure 3). The urea-based fertilizers (urea and Ur-NBPT + Duromide) showed characteristic reflections of urea (110) and biuret (Figure 3a,d). The only phase found in ammonium sulfate was the characteristic reflection of this fertilizer (Figure 3b). Conversely, the ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate-based fertilizer contained dolomite, ammonium nitrate, and calcium sulfate, with more intense *hkl* planes at 104, 111, and 020, respectively (Figure 3c). In Ur-formaldehyde, at least two phases were identified,



urea and methylenediurea (MDU), indicated by more intense reflections at 110 and -311, respectively (Figure 3e).

Figure 2. Electron micrographs of the separate Ur-NBPT + NI (**a**) and PCU granules (**b**). P1 is the thickness of the coating layer of the polymer coated granule.



Figure 3. X-ray diffraction of the urea (Ur) (**a**), ammonium sulfate (**b**), ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate (**c**), Ur-NBPT + Duromide (**d**), Ur-formaldehyde (**e**), PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI (f), elemental sulfur (**g**) and ulexite (**h**) for conventional and enhanced efficiency nitrogen fertilizers characterization.

For the mixed fertilizer, the granules were separated into PCU, Ur-NBPT + NI, S granules (elemental sulfur), and B granules (ulexite). The XRD patterns of PCU and Ur-NBPT + NI indicated reflections characteristic of urea and biuret (Figure 3f). The S granule was identified as elemental sulfur with a more intense plane at 222 (Figure 3g). The B granule showed several phases, such as ulexite, gypsum, glauberite halite, and bassanite, with more intense planes at -2-12, 020, 311, 042, and 301, respectively (Figure 3h).

3.2. N Losses through Ammonia Volatilization

The climatic conditions before the application of the N topdressing fertilizers are shown in Figure 1. The fertilizers were applied 24 h after 4.6 and 12 mm rainfall to the clayey and sandy soil, respectively. The maximum and minimum temperatures during the first 76 h after fertilization were 31.1 and 19.9 °C, respectively, for Floresta (clayey soil) and 34.0 and 20.2 °C for Guairaçá (sandy soil). The volatilization of NH₃-N followed a sigmoidal pattern, increasing at the beginning, reaching the maximum daily loss, and then stabilizing (Figure 4). The maximum accumulated loss (α) of NH₃-N according to the adjusted model decreased in the following order: urea (41.0 and 69.2 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 20.5 and 46.1% of the N applied), PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI (40.1 and 62.5 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 20.0 and 41.7% of the N applied); Ur-NBPT + Duromide (33.4 and 44.5 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 9.1 and 20.3% of the N applied), ur-formaldehyde (18.3 and 30.5 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 9.1 and 20.3% of the N applied), and ammonium sulfate (8.5 and 11.0 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 4.2 and 7.3% of the N applied) for clayey and sandy soils, respectively (Table 2).



— — — Ur-formaldehyde

Figure 4. Cumulative volatilization of NH3-N after topdressing applications of urea, ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey soil at a rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ of N (**a**) and for sand soil at a rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹ of N (**b**). Data with overlapping vertical bars with 95% confidence interval in the curve.

-D- PCU + Ur- NBPT + NI

Ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-formaldehyde, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI reduced NH₃-N losses by 79.3 and 84.1, 73.9 and 80.3, 55.4 and 55.9, 18.5 and 35.7, and 2.2 and 9.7% compared to urea for clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 2). Ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate were the sources that most reduced the NH₃-N volatilization losses in both locations compared to urea, with average reductions of 81.7 and 77.1%, respectively. The peak NH₃-N volatilization (β) of urea, ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI occurred at 8.4 and 1.2, 8.3 and 7.1, 7.3 and 3.5, 8.5 and 3.6, 6.0 and 1.6, and 11.1 and 2.2 days after application of topdressing fertilizers to clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 2).

	: : :	Paran	leters			MDL	Reduction of Losses of
Treatments	Soil and Kate at Topdressing	α kg ha ⁻¹ NH ₃ -N	٨	β day	\mathbb{R}^2	kg ha ⁻¹ day ⁻¹ NH ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N in Relation to Urea (%)
Urea		41.0	3.3	8.4	0.98	3.10	
Amm. sulfate		8.5	3.8	8.3	0.97	0.56	79.3
Amm. nitrate + Cal. sulfate	Clayey	10.7	5.0	7.3	0.96	0.54	73.9
Ur-NBPT + Duromide	(200 kg ha^{-1})	33.4	3.1	8.5	0.98	2.69	18.5
Ur-formaldehyde		18.3	3.2	6.0	0.96	1.43	55.4
PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI		40.1	5.5	11.1	0.96	1.82	2.2
Urea		69.2	2.5	1.2	0.97	6.92	
Amm. sulfate		11.0	5.8	7.1	0.98	0.47	84.1
Amm. nitrate + Cal. sulfate	Sandy	13.6	5.3	3.5	0.95	0.64	80.3
Ur-NBPT + Duromide	(150 kg ha^{-1})	44.5	1.8	3.6	0.97	6.18	35.7
Ur-formaldehyde		30.5	2.7	1.6	0.97	2.82	55.9
PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI		62.5	4.7	2.2	0.93	3.32	9.7

Table 2. Nonlinear regression parameters adjusted (logistic model) for NH₃-N volatilization cumulative losses for conventional and enhanced officioners nitrocons for thilizers and conventional and enhanced

The environment in the sandy soil area provided lower β compared to the environment in the clayey soil area, and the NH₃-N volatilization peaks advanced by 8.9, 7.2, 4.9, 4.4, 3.8 and 1.2 days for PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI, urea, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, and ammonium sulfate, respectively. The maximum daily loss (MDL) of NH₃-N decreased in the following order: urea (3.10 and 6.92 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N), Ur -NBPT + Duromide (2.69 and 6.18 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N), PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI (1.82 and 3.32 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N), Ur-formaldehyde (1.43 and 2.82 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N), ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate (0.54 and 0.64 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N), and ammonium sulfate (0.56 and 0.47 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N) for clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 2). The greatest reductions in MDL were obtained with the use of ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate in both locations.

3.3. Ammonia Volatilization in Granules with and without Nitrification Inhibitor

According to the fitted model (Figure 5), the maximum accumulated losses of NH₃-N for the granules decreased in the order Ur -NBPT + NI (44.6 and 85.3 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 22.3 and 56.9% of the N applied) followed by PCU (40.3 and 44.9 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N; 20.1 and 29.9% of the N applied) for clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 3). Urea-NBPT + NI granules increased the NH₃-N volatilization losses by 8.8 and 23.3% compared to urea for clayey and sandy soils, respectively.



Figure 5. Cumulative volatilization of NH3-N after topdressing applications of the separate granules PCU and Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey soil at a rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ of N (**a**) and for sand soil at a rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹ of N (**b**). Data with overlapping vertical bars with 95% confidence interval in the curve.

The time of peak NH₃-N volatilization of the granules occurred in the order PCU (30.6 and 12.6 days) followed by Ur-NBPT + NI (9.0 and 0.7 days), corresponding to delays in the peak of NH₃-N volatilization of 21.6 and 11.9 days with PCU compared to Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 3). The MDL of Ur-NBPT + NI was 2.93 and 8.53 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N, followed by PCU with 0.89 and 0.98 kg ha⁻¹ NH₃-N for clayey and sandy soil, respectively (Table 3). The fertilizer Ur-NBPT + NI increased MDL by 69.6 and 88.5% relative to PCU for clayey and sandy soil, respectively.

	Coll and Data	Parame	ters			MDL	Increased of
Treatments	at Topdressing	α kg ha ⁻¹ NH ₃ -N	γ	β day	R ²	kg ha ⁻¹ day ⁻¹ NH ₃ -N	in Relation to Urea (%)
PCU	Clayey	40.3	11.3	30.6	0.98	0.89	-
Ur-NBPT + NI	(200 kg ha^{-1})	44.6	3.8	9.0	0.98	2.93	8.8
PCU	Sandy	44.9	11.5	12.6	0.97	0.98	-
Ur-NBPT + NI	(150 kg ha^{-1})	85.3	2.5	0.7	0.97	8.53	23.3

Table 3. Nonlinear regression parameters adjusted (logistic model) for NH_3 -N volatilization cumulative losses of the separate granules PCU and Ur-NBPT + NI and the increase of NH_3 -N emission in relation to urea for clayey and sandy soils.

 α : maximum cumulative volatilization; β : time at which 50% of the losses occur, corresponding to the curve inflection point; γ : parameter of the equation used to calculate the MDL (maximum daily loss of NH₃-N).

3.4. Leaf Macronutrient Content in Corn

Regarding the leaf contents of macronutrients (Figure 6), the application of nitrogen fertilizers in topdressing increased leaf N contents by 6.31 (23.6%) and 3.05 (11.0%) g kg⁻¹ in comparison to the control for the clayey and sandy soils, respectively. However, there was no difference between the nitrogen sources in either soils. The results for nitrogen fertilizers applied as a topdressing in clayey soil were 2.12 (6.9%) g kg⁻¹ higher than those for the same applications performed in sandy soil, with the exception of the control, which showed no differences in leaf N content between the clayey and sandy soils (Figure 6a). The nitrogen sources increased the levels of leaf P and K only in a clayey soil environment, with a mean increase in relation to the control of 1.02 (37.9%) and 1.68 (11.7%) g kg⁻¹, respectively, and no differences between the sources. All treatments, with or without application of N in topdressing, conducted in sandy soil had higher levels of leaf P and K than those conducted in clayey soil, with a mean difference of 1.35 (37.9%) and 4.78 (29.2%) g kg⁻¹, respectively (Figure 6b,c).

In the clayey soil, corn without N fertilization as a topdressing had a higher leaf Ca content than the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI, ammonium sulfate, and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate treatments, with increases of 1.22 (33.5%), 1.31 (36.9%), and 1.45 (42.5%) g kg⁻¹, respectively. There was no significant difference between treatments for leaf Ca levels in corn grown in sandy soil and no significant differences between locations (Figure 6d). Regarding the levels of leaf Mg, in clayey soil, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate and the control had higher levels than ammonium sulfate, with differences of 0.76 (34.8%) and 0.71 (37.3%) g kg⁻¹, respectively. There was no significant difference between treatments regarding leaf Mg content in the corn grown in sandy soil. Regarding the locations, the values for ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate and the control in clayey soil were 0.44 (19.0%) and 0.48 (20.7%) g kg⁻¹ higher than the corresponding values in sandy soil, respectively (Figure 6e).

The ammonium sulfate source provided the highest leaf S levels in corn in both clayey and sandy soil, with an average increase of 0.55 (21.9%) and 0.85 (38.5%) g kg⁻¹ for clayey soil and 0.27 (12.0%) and 0.50 (24.7%) g kg⁻¹ for sandy soil compared to the other nitrogen sources and the control, respectively. Although ammonium sulfate provided the largest increases in leaf S, the sources urea, ammonium nitrate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI also increased the levels of leaf S, but only in relation to the control, with average values of 0.30 (13.6%) and 0.23 (24.7%) g kg⁻¹ for clayey and sandy soils, respectively. Corn, with or without application of N as a topdressing, grown in clayey soil had, on average, 0.29 (12.8%) g kg⁻¹ more leaf S than corn grown in sandy soil (Figure 6f).



Figure 6. Concentration of nitrogen (**a**), phosphorus (**b**), potassium (**c**), calcium (**d**), magnesium (**e**), and sulfur (**f**) in the corn leaf after fertilization in topdressing with nitrogen sources urea, ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey and sand soil. Treatments followed by the same lowercase letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). Environments followed by the same capital letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). LSD_{Trat}: least significant difference for treatments. LSD_{Envi}: least significant difference for environment.

3.5. Leaf Micronutrient Content and SPAD Index

Regarding the micronutrient contents (Figure 7), leaf Fe and Mn were not influenced by N fertilization as a topdressing for either the clayey or sandy soil. However, the levels of leaf Fe and Mn in corn cultivated in a clayey soil environment were higher, at 55.32 (47.6%) and 263.99 (313.9%) mg kg⁻¹, than the values for corn cultivated in sandy soil, respectively (Figure 7a,b). For leaf Zn, there was no difference between treatments in clayey soil. However, in the ammonium sulfate treatment in sandy soil, the leaf Zn content increased in relation to the control by 7.34 (38.1%) mg kg⁻¹. All treatments, with or without application of N as a topdressing, conducted in clayey soil were higher to those conducted in sandy soil, with a mean difference of 19.46 (88.5%) mg kg⁻¹ in leaf Zn (Figure 7c).

Leaf Cu levels increased with topdressing N fertilization only in relation to the control, with an average increase of 4.13 (40.1%) mg kg⁻¹ for clayey soil; but in sandy soil, there was no difference between treatments. Similarly to Fe, Mn, and Zn, the levels of leaf Cu in corn grown in a clayey soil environment were also higher than those in corn grown in a sandy soil environment, with a mean difference of 5.16 (59.5%) mg kg⁻¹ in leaf Cu (Figure 7d). The application of PCU + Ur -NBPT + NI increased the leaf B content in both the clayey and sandy environments; but in clayey soil, an increase of 3.18 (30.9%) mg kg⁻¹ of B occurred only in relation to the control, while in the sandy soil, an increase of 3.41 (32.9%) and 4.46 (45.0%) mg kg⁻¹ in leaf B occurred in relation to the other nitrogen sources and the control, respectively. There were no significant differences in leaf B content between clayey and sandy soil (Figure 7e).

Regarding the indirect chlorophyll content (SPAD), the application of N fertilizers as topdressing increased the SPAD index by 11.58 (20.2%) and 5.27 (11.2%) compared to the control for clayey and sandy soil, respectively. However, there was no difference between the nitrogen sources in either production environment. The SPAD indexes of all treatments, with or without application of N as topdressing, conducted in clayey soil were higher than those in sandy soil, with a mean difference of 15.67 (30.4%) (Figure 7f).

3.6. Yield and Height of Corn Plants

Nitrogen fertilizers increased the corn yield only in a clayey soil environment. Increases in yield were obtained with the use of ammonium sulfate, PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, which resulted in increases of 1722 (20.6%), 1838 (21.9%), and 2088 (24.9%) kg ha⁻¹ corn, respectively, compared to the control that did not receive N fertilization as a topdressing. All treatments, with or without application of N as topdressing, conducted in clayey soil were higher than those conducted in sandy soil, with a mean difference in yield of 3654 kg ha⁻¹, equivalent to 37.4%. However, when considering only the treatments that received N as a topdressing, the difference in yield became 370 kg ha⁻¹, equivalent to 38.4% (Figure 8a). Topdressing N fertilization did not influence plant height in either the clayey or sandy soil environment. However, the plant height in clayey soil was 23 cm higher on average than that in sandy soil (Figure 8b).


Figure 7. Concentration of iron (**a**), copper (**b**), zinc (**c**), manganese (**d**), boron (**e**), and SPAD index (**f**) in the corn leaf after fertilization in topdressing with nitrogen sources urea, ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey and sand soil. Treatments followed by the same lowercase letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). Environments followed by the same capital letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). LSD_{Trat}: least significant difference for treatments. LSD_{Envi}: least significant difference for environment.



Figure 8. Corn yield (a) and plant height (b) after fertilization in topdressing with nitrogen sources urea, ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, Ur-NBPT + Duromide, Ur-formaldehyde, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI for clayey and sand soil. Treatments followed by the same lowercase letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). Environments followed by the same capital letter do not differ using a Tukey test (p < 0.05). LSD_{Trat}: least significant difference for treatments. LSD_{Envi}: least significant difference for environment.

4. Discussion

4.1. X-ray Diffraction and SEM of N Fertilizers

The industrial production of N fertilizers in amidic form (Figure 3a,d,f) produces biuret as a by-product, resulting from the increase in temperature above the melting point of urea, which is 132 °C [45]. Although biuret is a common impurity, Brazilian legislation allows only up to 2% in solid N fertilizer [46], because it is a toxic chemical compound that interferes with the protein synthesis of plants [47]. Currently, biuret toxicity is insignificant in crops, due to advances in the technology used to manufacture urea fertilizers [48]. Although Ur-formaldehyde comes from an amidic source, biuret was not found in the XRD analysis, probably due to strict controls in the production process.

Dolomite, which was identified in the X-ray diffractogram of ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate (Figure 3c), inhibits the exothermic and undesirable decomposition of ammonium nitrate, thus improving the safety of the fertilizer [49]. According to standard NFPA 490 of the National Fire Protection Association [50], ammonium nitrate is not considered flammable or combustible. However, factors such as a high temperatures under confinement (260 to 300 °C) and contamination by organic or inorganic materials, such as chlorides or powdered metals, can lead to explosive detonation with the production of nitrous oxide, which is decomposed into nitrogen and oxygen [51,52].

Urea-formaldehyde was the first synthetic nitrogen fertilizer with low solubility to be marketed for slow release of N. The production process consists of condensation within a reactor with controlled pH, temperature, molar ratio, and reaction time between urea and formaldehyde [25]. The final product of the reaction consists of a mixture of methylene urea polymers (methylene urea, MDU and polymethylene) with differences in the degree of polymerization (insolubility) and molecular weight (chain length) [53,54]. Thus, the presence of MDU in Ur-formaldehyde (Figure 3e) will provide an intermediate molecular weight and degree of polymerization, contributing to the slow release of N. This compound, combined with certain amounts of unreacted urea, results in an intelligent fertilizer for agricultural use within the cultivation time of the plants. For example, Cassim et al. [55] observed no increase in yield in cultures with the application of Ur-formaldehyde with 70% slow-release compounds; but, with proportions of 55 and 60% of slow-release compounds, the yield increases were significant.

The lack of sulfur in the mixture of PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI granules (Figure 3f) indicates that the coating layer of the PCU granules (Figure 2b) is covered only by polymer and not by elemental sulfur (S⁰). This configuration provides better nutrient release kinetics than an S⁰ coating, because it is independent of the activity of microorganisms responsible for the oxidation of S⁰ [54]. However, the production cost of PCU is higher. The source of B present in the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI + B + S mixture was identified as ulexite, an evaporite formed under arid conditions in saline lakes supported by hydrothermal vents and linked to volcanic activity [56]. For this reason, ulexite may be associated with other evaporites, such as halite, gypsum, glauberite, and bassanite, as described in Figure 3h.

4.2. Ammonia Volatilization of N Sources in Clayey and Sandy Soil

The losses by NH₃-N volatilization were higher in sandy soil for all N sources tested (Figures 4 and 5). This behavior occurred due to the higher moisture content of the sandy soil, resulting from the higher rainfall volume 24 h before the application of the nitrogen fertilizers as a topdressing (Figure 1). Under dry soil conditions, the urease hydrolysis rate is low; however, the rate increases as the soil water content increases [57]. Above 20% moisture, hydrolysis is practically no longer affected by changes in soil moisture [4].

The previous considerations explain the sigmoidal behavior of NH₃-N volatilization losses, which depend on the increase in urease enzyme activity [58], which consumes the H⁺ resulting from urea hydrolysis, as demonstrated by the reaction $CO(NH_2)_2 + 2H^+ + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2NH_4^+ + H_2CO_3$ [59]. This reaction promotes the increase in soil pH around N fertilizer granules to approximately 8.7, changing the balance between NH₄⁺ and NH₃ [60]. After reaching the maximum loss (α), NH₃-N emissions decrease over time, due to the gradual reduction in pH and stabilization of N in the form of NH₄⁺-N [24].

In addition to differences in soil moisture, the clay content and, consequently, the cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Table 1) are the main differences between the two soil classes studied that will also influence the intensity of NH₃-N volatilization. Clayey soils with a higher CEC have more exchange sites to retain the NH₄⁺ produced in the hydrolysis of urea due to adsorption. In addition, the higher buffering capacity of soils with a higher CEC provides greater resistance to changes in soil pH around N granules caused by the urease enzyme, thus decreasing the intensity of NH₃-N volatilization [58,59]. Therefore, the lower loss of NH₃-N by volatilization in clayey soils resulted in higher inflection points in the NH₃-N curve (β) and a lower MDL, as described in Tables 2 and 3.

Ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate had the lowest accumulated losses of NH₃-N in relation to the other N sources in both production environments (Figure 4), due to the absence of N in the amidic form (NH₂-N). Corrêa et al., Minato et al., and Otto et al. [13,14,24] also obtained low losses due to NH₃-N volatilization with the use of N sources in the ammoniacal and nitric forms, with losses ranging from 0.7 to 5.2% and 1.0 to 7.7% of the N applied for ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate, respectively, depending on the dose of applied topdressing. Following the increasing order of NH₃-N emissions, Ur-formaldehyde was the enhanced-efficiency source that most reduced NH₃-N volatilization, but it was less efficient than ammoniacal and nitric sources. Although Ur-formaldehyde can reduce the solubility of N fractions through the synthesis of methylene urea groups, it contains some urea that does not react with formaldehyde (Figure 3e), favoring losses by volatilization of NH₃-N, even in small proportions.

The next formulation considered is Ur-NBPT + Duromide, a stabilizer that combines two NBPT + Duromide molecules, both of which inhibit the activity of the urease enzyme, but having the advantage of a more stable chemical structure under low pH and high soil temperature conditions [9]. However, the use of Ur-NBPT + Duromide showed higher emissions of NH₃-N (mean of 23.5% of the applied N) when compared to meta-analysis studies that obtained losses by volatilization of NH₃-N of 14.8% using NBPT [26]. Under conditions with large amounts of straw on the soil surface, such as those described in the present study (mean of 3.95 Mg ha⁻¹ Brachiaria straw), the amount of urease enzyme in the soil will be higher, increasing losses by NH₃-N volatilization by up to 25.5% [7]. In other words, the stabilizers can reduce, but not eliminate, the activity of the urease enzyme, possibly due to the high amounts of this enzyme in systems with high amounts of straw. Thus, such materials are not the most appropriate technology for production environments with large amounts of straw residues on the soil surface.

The mixture of PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI was inefficient in reducing losses by NH₃-N volatilization, with losses very close to those of conventional urea (Figure 4 and Table 2). As PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI is a mixed fertilizer, composed of different granules, the granules were separated to understand the efficiency of each component in reducing or contributing to NH₃-N emissions (Figure 5). Although PCU granules are designed to release N at a controlled rate to synchronize with the crop demand and reduce environmental pollution by NO₃⁻-N, NH₃-N and N₂O-N [61], factors such as high temperatures, excessive rainfall, the number and thickness of the coating layers, and quality of the coating material may have interfered with the efficiency of PCU, contributing to the release of N in the amidic form and losses in the form of NH₃-N.

On the other hand, the addition of NI to Ur-NBPT to mitigate direct emissions of N₂O-N [28] and losses by leaching of NO₃⁻-N [62] was the factor that most contributed to the inefficiency of the mixture PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI, since the addition of NI to NBPT significantly decreased the ability of NBPT to inhibit urea hydrolysis by up to 21% [63], in addition to contributing to the increase in NH₃-N volatilization losses [30,31].

4.3. Nitrification Inhibitor Increases Losses Due to Ammonia Volatilization

The results showed that the use of NI significantly increased the volatilization of NH₃-N relative to the PCU granules, especially in sandy soil (Figure 5b). According to Wu et al. [30], there are two main mechanisms associated with increased volatilization: (i) NIs are a group of chemical compounds that inhibit the activity of *Nitrosomonas* spp. bacteria responsible for the oxidation of NH₄⁺ to nitrite (NO₂⁻) and, therefore, increase the soil concentration of NH₄⁺ that is converted to NH₃; and (ii) NIs induce a liming effect. Qiao et al. [64] found that the application of NI increased soil pH by 0.23 units, due to the decelerated rate of nitrification and increased efficiency of N use by plants resulting from the lower leaching of NO₃⁻. Thus, unleached NO₃⁻ is absorbed by plant roots, which excrete OH⁻ to maintain the electrochemical balance in the soil, thus increasing the pH of the medium [64,65]. Once the soil pH changes, the balance between NH₃ and NH₄⁺ is affected; as the soil pH increases, the equilibrium shifts, leading to the transformation of NH₃-N and its subsequent loss to the atmosphere in the form of gas [60].

The volatilization of NH₃-N can be influenced by several factors, such as dose, N source, climatic conditions, management system, and soil attributes, with the latter being the main factor responsible for altering the efficiency of NIs. For example, a meta-analysis performed by Kim et al. [66] found that treatments with NI increased emissions of NH₃-N in soils with higher pH (5.4 to 7.9) and smaller ranges of CEC (5.7 to 16.8 cmol_c dm⁻³) in comparison with lower-pH soils (4.7 to 6.2) and larger CEC ranges (10.0 to 24.0 cmol_c dm⁻³). This effect occurs due to the favored formation of NH₃-N at basic pH, combined with soils of low CEC, which provide fewer exchange sites for NH₄⁺ adsorption, facilitating the loss of N by volatilization [67].

Another important soil attribute is the organic matter (OM) content. Soils with high levels of OM have higher amounts of *Nitrosomonas* spp., which hinders the performance of NIs [29] and leads to a need for higher concentrations of NI in soils with high OM content. In addition, high clay contents will favor lower emissions of NH₃-N, due to their contribution to increasing soil CEC [68]. This explains the higher volatilization of urea treated with NI in sandy soil, since the pH, OM, CEC, and clay content were 4.50 and 5.70, 2.89 and 1.42%, 11.06 and 4.19 cmol_c dm⁻³, and 78 and 10% for the clayey and sandy

soils, respectively (Table 1). Therefore, the use of NIs, especially in sandy textured soils in rainfed agriculture, is not recommended as a strategy to increase the NUE. The INs technology in nitrogen fertilizers is more efficient in flooded agriculture systems, due to the denitrification losses of N_2O -N and N_2 , representing up to 34% of the applied N [69].

4.4. Nitrogen Sources and Nutrient Concentration of Corn-Macronutrients

Although there were differences in losses due to NH₃-N volatilization between N sources, the N applied as topdressing fertilization that was not lost by volatilization may have been sufficient to meet the N demand of the corn crop. As a result, changes in the concentration N status were not observed between the N sources, but only in relation to the control that did not receive N as topdressing (Figure 6a). According to Cantarella et al. [4], in many cases, most of the N absorbed by crops comes from soil OM, and fertilizer N, although important to increase yield, provides complementary N. Similarly, Oliveira et al. [70], working with ¹⁵N isotopes, observed that only 33% of the N absorbed by corn plants was derived from topdressing nitrogen fertilization.

Topdressing N fertilization was important for the maintenance of leaf chlorophyll content, which was indirectly quantified by the increase in SPAD index in relation to the control in both production environments (Figure 7f). According to Taiz et al. [3], chlorophylls are green photosynthetic pigments that have a porphyrin-like ring structure with a Mg atom coordinated in the center, linked to four other N atoms, with a long tail of hydrocarbons. Thus, in the absence of N, the plant degrades chlorophyll molecules to obtain the four N atoms that are part of its structure, developing generalized chlorosis in the leaf and compromising the absorption of light.

The highest leaf N concentration and chlorophyll content (SPAD) being in the corn grown in clayey soil was due to the higher expected yield provided by the better fertility of clayey soils than sandy soils, requiring a higher photosynthetic rate [71], and the higher N uptake by the plants, since each ton of corn grains requires 21.5 kg of N [35]. This effect was not observed in the accumulation of leaf N among the controls, most likely due to the lack of fertilization as topdressing, which inhibited the realization of the productive potential of the clayey soil environment.

After N, K is the nutrient most absorbed by corn plants, followed by P. Thus, the increase in cultivation intensity and, thus, higher yields obtained through N fertilization provided greater absorption of K and P and consequently a higher accumulation of these nutrients in the leaf (Figure 6b,c). Since P is a key element for the synthesis of molecules such as DNA, RNA, ATP, and NADPH [72], and as K is important for the activation of enzymatic systems and protein synthesis [73], synergistic interactions exist between N × P and N × K [74]. For example, Rietra et al. [75] performed a meta-analysis on the interaction between nutrients and found a synergism between N × P and N × K and no case of antagonism, in a total of 77 studies. The highest leaf concentration of P being in corn grown in sandy soil resulted from a lower adsorption to iron and aluminum oxides, which has a positive correlation with clay content [76]. Higher concentrations of leaf K were also observed in corn grown in sandy soil due to the low CEC of the soil, providing lower adsorption of K⁺ and consequently greater availability in the soil solution.

Elements are absorbed at different rates, due to their affinity with membrane carriers, obeying the decreasing cationic order $NH_4^+ > K^+ > Na^+ > Mg^{2+} > Ca^{2+}$ [38]. Thus, because Ca is absorbed by the roots in the form of Ca²⁺, its absorption may be compromised by the high concentrations of NH_4^+ in the soil solution, due to competition [77]. Therefore, the highest accumulation of leaf Ca being in the control cultivated in clayey soil, relative to the values obtained with ammonium sulfate, ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, and PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI (Figure 6d), occurred due to two factors: (i) high doses of fertilizers containing NH_4^+ ; and (ii) the use of fertilizers with NIs. The use of NIs will inhibit the nitrification process, increasing the level of NH_4^+ in the soil, thus suppressing the absorption of Ca²⁺ and resulting in a lower accumulation in leaves. This effect was also observed in the reduction in leaf Mg levels in corn grown in clayey soil using ammonium

sulfate compared to the control (Figure 6e). Thus, high concentrations of $\rm NH_4^+$ can also reduce the absorption of $\rm Mg^{2+}$ and $\rm K^+$ by plants [78–80].

However, unlike Ca, the use of ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate promoted an increase in leaf Mg, due to the presence of dolomite in its composition (Figure 3c), which inhibits the undesirable exothermic decomposition process of ammonium nitrate [49], in addition to being an important source of Mg^{2+} to plants [81]. On the other hand, reductions in leaf K accumulation were not observed with the use of ammoniacal sources, because the suppression is greater with divalent cations (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) than with monovalent cations (K⁺) [82]. Regarding the differences between the production environments, the control conducted in sandy soil obtained lower concentrations of leaf Mg because the soil content was below the critical level (Table 1), which was 1 cmol_c dm⁻³ [35]. For ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, the highest concentration of leaf Mg in corn grown in clayey soil resulted from the highest dose of nitrogen application in topsoil, which thus provided more Mg in the form of dolomite.

Many plant compounds, such as amino acids and proteins, have both N and S, which helps explain the existence of a positive N/S ratio and the increases in leaf S concentration in both corn production environments with N application as topdressing compared to the control (Figure 6f). However, ammonium sulfate was the N source that provided the highest leaf S concentrations, due to the high concentration of S per unit mass (24%) in the form of sulfate (SO₄^{2–}), which is the main form absorbed by plants and does not require oxidation by *Thiobacillus*, which, in turn, is dependent on soil temperature and moisture conditions [83]. On the other hand, the sandy soil probably favored more intense leaching of SO₄^{2–} due to the few anionic adsorption sites, decreasing the contact with the root system and, consequently, absorption by the plant [84]. This mechanism explains the higher concentration of S in the leaves of corn grown in clayey soil, as described in Figure 6f.

4.5. Nitrogen Sources and Nutrient Concentration of Corn-Micronutrients

The nitrogen fertilizers did not alter the leaf concentrations of Fe and Mn. However, the leaf concentrations varied between the production environments. The natural levels of micronutrients in soil depend on the chemical composition of the parent material, pedo-genetic processes, and the degree of soil weathering [85]. Thus, the parent material of the clayey soil located in northern Paraná state is basalt, an igneous rock rich in micronutrients such as Fe and Mn, because these elements have the same geochemical formation environments [86]. In contrast, the sandy soil located in the northwestern part of the Paraná state originates from sandstones of the Caiuá Formation, a sedimentary rock whose main constituent mineral is quartz [87]. Consequently, higher levels of Fe and Mn are naturally available in clayey soil, favoring greater absorption and concentration of these nutrients in corn leaves (Figure 7a,b).

The use of nitrogen fertilizers in agriculture promotes the production of H⁺ through the oxidation of ammonium to nitrate, as demonstrated by the nitrification reaction $NH_4^+ + 2O_2 \rightarrow NO_3^- + H_2O + 2H^+$ [88]. With a reduction in soil pH, the availability of metal cationic micronutrients increases [38], providing higher leaf concentrations of Zn in corn grown in sandy soil (Figure 7c) and Cu in corn grown in clayey soil (Figure 7d). However, the highest concentrations of leaf Zn occurred with the application of ammonium sulfate, which is an exclusively ammoniacal source, and the soil acidification process was intensified because more NH_4^+ was provided as a substrate for nitrifying bacteria [89]. An increase in leaf Zn with the use of ammonium sulfate was not observed in clayey soil, due to the higher CEC and OM content, which favored the acidity buffering reaction through the exchange of H⁺ ions for basic cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺ and Na⁺) in clay minerals and OM [90], which is the predominant buffering mechanism in the pH range between 4.2 and 5.0 [91].

Regarding the differences in Zn levels between the production environments, the higher grain yield obtained in clayey soil (Figure 8a) required a higher Zn absorption by the

plants, because Zn is the most exported micronutrient in corn, with 24.8 g for each ton of grain produced [35]. Cooper, in turn, is the micronutrient that interacts the most with soil organic compounds and forms stable complexes, especially with carboxylic and phenolic groups of OM, in addition to having a strong affinity for clay [92]. Therefore, sandy soils, with low OM levels, are mostly deficient in Cu, due to leaching losses. This explains the higher concentration of leaf Cu in clayey soils than in sandy soils (Figure 7d).

The presence of ulexite in the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI mixture identified by XRD (Figure 3h) resulted in an increase in leaf B concentration in both corn production environments (Figure 7e). However, soluble B sources such as borax (Na₂B₄O₇·10H₂O) and boric acid (H₃BO₃) are more commonly used to maintain plant growth when compared to lower-solubility sources such as ulexite (NaCaB₅O₉·8H₂O) and colemanite (Ca₂B₆O₁₁·5H₂O) [93]. However, the ulexite present in the PCU + Ur-NBPT + NI mixture is of acid origin and is obtained through the granulation process with the use of sulfuric acid, which provides an increase in water solubility of approximately 90%. This higher solubility favors the faster release of B, making the nutrient available for plant absorption and increasing leaf B concentrations.

4.6. Clay Soils Are More Responsive to Nitrogen Fertilization

The sandy soil, because it originated from the Caiuá sandstone formation, is characterized by low a CEC, due to its high sand content, especially coarse sand [87]. A low CEC directly affects cation losses, due to leaching, and consequently the expected crop yield. The low fertility of sandy soils was confirmed by the lower growth of corn plants in the sandy soil than in the clayey soil (Figure 8b). Thus, in a production environment with a low response to fertilization, topdressing nitrogen fertilization contributes less to increases in corn yield (Figure 8a). In a meta-analysis performed by Tremblay et al. [94], the authors concluded that corn yield increased by a factor of 1.6 in sandy soils and 2.7 in clayey soils after nitrogen fertilization, showing that corn is more responsive to N fertilization in clay soils.

In addition to the influence of CEC on the response to nitrogen fertilization, soil texture can play a role. For example, clay affects the stabilization of organic N through the protection of OM by aggregates, favoring the preservation of microbial biomass [95]. Ros et al. [96] studied the variation in mineralizable N and its relationship with physical properties in 98 agricultural soils in the Netherlands and observed a lower N mineralization rate in clayey soils than in sandy soils. Ping, Ferguson, and Dobermann [97] found that corn needed less N fertilizer in sandy soils than in clayey soils. This may suggest that soil texture influences the degree of OM stabilization and, consequently, the response to nitrogen fertilization, increasing the chances of an increased yield via N fertilization in clayey soils.

Soil texture also provides different degrees of water storage in the soil. Therefore, sandy soils, due to their higher porosity, store less water, resulting in higher metabolic costs to the plant to absorb water and promote transpiration, which can consequently affect the yield. Although the response to nitrogen fertilization is lower in sandy soils than soils with other textures, studies of fertilization with varying sources and doses of N in these locations should be performed, mainly because such soils are highly susceptible to losses by NH₃-N volatilization and because they are the main soils of new agricultural frontiers in Brazil [98,99].

The lower losses by NH₃-N volatilization obtained with the use of ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate increased the corn yield in clayey soil. With a reduction in NH₃-N losses, N will be used more efficiently by the plant, favoring the synthesis of biomolecules essential for corn growth and development. However, other characteristics of these N sources may also have influenced the yield and should be mentioned. For example, the higher concentration of leaf S provided by the application of ammonium sulfate may have contributed to the increase in corn yield, because S is closely linked to N metabolism, converting nonprotein N into protein [83]. Thus, all plant metabolism depends on S compounds, due to the structural functions they perform, such as maintaining the active conformation of proteins through the disulfide bonds between methionine and cysteine (S-S) and metabolic functions, since they constitute amino acids, coenzymes, and proteins with Fe and S [3,100].

Not only did ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate generate a low loss by NH₃-N volatilization, but synergistic benefits for plant growth have been observed if NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ are provided together [80,101]. The beneficial effect of the simultaneous supply of these two inorganic forms of N occurs due to the lower suppression of the absorption of cationic nutrients, mainly Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, by the exclusive supply of NH₄⁺ [80], lower acidification or alkalinization of the rhizosphere as a result of the absorption in excess of NH₄⁺ or NO₃⁻ [65], and lower energy requirements for NH₄⁺ assimilation than NO₃⁻ assimilation, given that NO₃⁻ cannot be used directly by plants until it is reduced to NH₄⁺; a reduction catalyzed sequentially by nitrate reductase enzymes and nitrite reductase [102,103].

The N source PCU + Ur -NBPT + NI also increased the corn yield in clayey soil. However, this effect was not caused by a reduction in NH₃-N volatilization, but by the supply of B via ulexite and synchronization of N release with PCU. Boron is responsible for plant functions such as sugar translocation and the regulation of carbohydrate and phytohormone metabolism. However, B plays a very important role in the metabolism of N. This is due to the requirement of B for the synthesis of the uracil nitrogen base, an essential component of RNA, which is also indispensable for ribosome formation and protein synthesis [38]. Therefore, an increased availability of B in soil favors higher yields, mainly because it is a nutrient found in low concentrations in tropical and subtropical soils, due to losses by leaching in the form of $H_3BO_3^{0}$.

Even given the inefficiency of PCU granules in reducing losses by NH₃-N volatilization (Figure 5a), in most cases, controlled-release technology can decrease the availability of N at the beginning of corn development, when the absorption is still low [27], and increases the availability of N in phenological stages VT (tasseling) to R1, when the demand for N by corn is high [104]. This behavior in the later release stages of N was observed through the maximum daily loss of NH₃-N in PCU granules alone (β), which occurred 30.6 days after topdressing fertilization in the clayey soil (Table 3); with enough time for the corn to be in VT, which usually coincides with the eighth week after emergence [105].

5. Conclusions

The losses by NH_3 -N volatilization were up to 46% of the N applied with urea. However, NI addition to urea increased N losses by NH_3 -N volatilization by 8.8 and 23.3% in relation to only urea for clayey and sandy soils, respectively. This leads to important implications for the use of NI as a mitigation tool for climate change in rainfed agriculture.

The nitrogen fertilizer technologies applied in a topdressing on clayey and sandy soil presented the following, in decreasing order, losses by volatilization of NH₃-N: urea > URP + Ur-NBPT + IN > Ur-NBPT + Duromide > Ur-formaldehyde > ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate > ammonium sulfate.

Soil with a clayey texture was 38.4% more responsive to nitrogen fertilization than soil with a sandy texture. The increase in corn grain yield in the clayey soil did not occur only due to the reduction in losses by NH₃-N volatilization, other factors, such as S and B supplementation and N release at a controlled rate, to synchronize with the crop demand, also influenced the increase in corn yield. However, it is always advisable to choose N sources that increase crop yield, while generating the lowest possible losses due to NH₃-N volatilization. In this study, these sources were ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate + calcium sulfate, which contributed to reductions in NH₃-N emissions of 84 and 80% in relation to urea, respectively, thus favoring more profitable and sustainable agriculture.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, B.M.A.R.C., M.R.B. and M.A.B.; data curation, B.M.A.R.C., W.D.K., C.R.M. and J.H.V.d.A.J.; formal analysis, B.M.A.R.C.; funding acquisition, R.S., T.T.I. and M.A.B.; investigation, B.M.A.R.C., M.R.B., W.D.K., C.R.M., J.H.V.d.A.J. and M.A.B.; methodology, B.M.A.R.C. and M.A.B.; project administration, B.M.A.R.C., R.S., T.T.I. and M.A.B.; resources, T.T.I. and M.A.B.; software, B.M.A.R.C.; supervision, B.M.A.R.C. and M.A.B.; validation, B.M.A.R.C. and M.A.B.; visualization, B.M.A.R.C. and M.A.B.; writing—original draft, B.M.A.R.C.; writing—review and editing, B.M.A.R.C. and M.A.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES—88887.482759/2020-00).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in the manuscript are the sole data, and no other data are linked with this data.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank COCAMAR Cooperativa Agroindustrial, Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), Complexo de Centrais de Apoio à Pesquisa (COMCAP/UEM) and Grupo de Estudos em Solos da Universidade Estadual de Maringá-GESSO/UEM (in Portuguese).

Conflicts of Interest: There is no conflict of interest in terms of performing the research and publishing this manuscript.

References

- 1. USDA World Agricultural Production. Circ. Ser. 2021, 2, 1–41.
- 2. Hubert, B.; Rosegrant, M.; van Boekel, M.A.J.S.; Ortiz, R. The Future of Food: Scenarios for 2050. *Crop Sci.* 2010, 50, 33–50. [CrossRef]
- Taiz, L.; Zeiger, E.; Møller, I.M.; Murphy, A. Fisiologia e Desenvolvimento Vegetal, 6th ed.; Artmed: Porto Alegre, Brazil, 2017; ISBN 978-85-8271-367-9.
- Cantarella, H.; Otto, R.; Soares, J.R.; Silva, A.G. de B. Agronomic Efficiency of NBPT as a Urease Inhibitor: A Review. J. Adv. Res. 2018, 13, 19–27. [CrossRef]
- 5. IFA—International Fertilizer Association. Executive Summary Fertilizer Outlook 2019–2023. In Proceedings of the IFA Annual Conference, Montreal, QC, Canada, 11–13 June 2019; pp. 1–11.
- Woodley, A.L.; Drury, C.F.; Yang, X.Y.; Phillips, L.A.; Reynolds, D.W.; Calder, W.; Oloya, T.O. Ammonia Volatilization, Nitrous Oxide Emissions, and Corn Yields as Influenced by Nitrogen Placement and Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 2020, 84, 1327–1341. [CrossRef]
- Pan, B.; Lam, S.K.; Mosier, A.; Luo, Y.; Chen, D. Ammonia Volatilization from Synthetic Fertilizers and Its Mitigation Strategies: A Global Synthesis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 2016, 232, 283–289. [CrossRef]
- 8. Tasca, F.A.; Ernani, P.R.; Rogeri, D.A.; Gatiboni, L.C.; Cassol, P.C. Volatilização de Amônia do Solo Após a Aplicação de Ureia Convencional Ou Com Inibidor de Urease. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2011, 35, 493–509. [CrossRef]
- Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Kachinski, W.D.; Besen, M.R.; Coneglian, C.F.; Macon, C.R.; Paschoeto, G.F.; Inoue, T.T.; Batista, M.A. Duromide Increase NBPT Efficiency in Reducing Ammonia Volatilization Loss from Urea. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 2021, 45, e0210017. [CrossRef]
- Sunderlage, B.; Cook, R.L. Soil Property and Fertilizer Additive Effects on Ammonia Volatilization from Urea. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 2018, 82, 253–259. [CrossRef]
- 11. Zheng, J.; Kilasara, M.M.; Mmari, W.N.; Funakawa, S. Ammonia Volatilization Following Urea Application at Maize Fields in the East African Highlands with Different Soil Properties. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **2018**, *54*, 411–422. [CrossRef]
- Dick, W.A. Influence of Long-Term Tillage and Crop Rotation Combinations on Soil Enzyme Activities. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1984, 48, 569–574. [CrossRef]
- Minato, E.A.; Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Besen, M.R.; Mazzi, F.L.; Inoue, T.T.; Batista, M.A. Controlled-Release Nitrogen Fertilizers: Characterization, Ammonia Volatilization, and Effects on Second-Season Corn. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2020, 44, e0190108. [CrossRef]
- Corrêa, D.C.C.; Cardoso, A.S.; Ferreira, M.R.; Siniscalchi, D.; Gonçalves, P.H.A.; Lumasini, R.N.; Reis, R.A.; Ruggieri, A.C. Ammonia Volatilization, Forage Accumulation, and Nutritive Value of Marandu Palisade Grass Pastures in Different n Sources and Doses. *Atmosphere* 2021, 12, 1179. [CrossRef]
- Awale, R.; Chatterjee, A. Enhanced Efficiency Nitrogen Products Influence Ammonia Volatilization and Nitrous Oxide Emission from Two Contrasting Soils. Agron. J. 2017, 109, 47–57. [CrossRef]
- 16. Gorh, D.; Baruah, K.K. Estimation of Methane and Nitrous Oxide Emission from Wetland Rice Paddies with Reference to Global Warming Potential. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2019, *26*, 16331–16344. [CrossRef]

- 17. Good, A.G.; Beatty, P.H. Fertilizing Nature: A Tragedy of Excess in the Commons. *PLoS Biol.* **2011**, *9*, e1001124. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abalos, D.; Jeffery, S.; Sanz-Cobena, A.; Guardia, G.; Vallejo, A. Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Urease and Nitrification Inhibitors on Crop Productivity and Nitrogen Use Efficiency. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2014, 189, 136–144. [CrossRef]
- 19. Liu, X.; Zhang, Y.; Han, W.; Tang, A.; Shen, J.; Cui, Z.; Vitousek, P.; Erisman, J.W.; Goulding, K.; Christie, P.; et al. Enhanced Nitrogen Deposition over China. *Nature* 2013, 494, 459–462. [CrossRef]
- Hill, J.; Goodkind, A.; Tessum, C.; Thakrar, S.; Tilman, D.; Polasky, S.; Smith, T.; Hunt, N.; Mullins, K.; Clark, M.; et al. Air-Quality-Related Health Damages of Maize. *Nat. Sustain.* 2019, *2*, 397–403. [CrossRef]
- Rochette, P.; Angers, D.A.; Chantigny, M.H.; Gasser, M.-O.; MacDonald, J.D.; Pelster, D.E.; Bertrand, N. Ammonia Volatilization and Nitrogen Retention: How Deep to Incorporate Urea? J. Environ. Qual. 2013, 42, 1635–1642. [CrossRef]
- 22. Viero, F.; Menegati, G.B.; Carniel, E.; da Silva, P.R.F.; Bayer, C. Urease Inhibitor and Irrigation Management to Mitigate Ammonia Volatilization from Urea in No-till Corn. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* **2017**, *41*, e0160567. [CrossRef]
- FAO—Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Agricultura Irrigada Sustentável No Brasil: Identificação de Áreas Prioritárias; Borghetti, J.R., Silva, W.L.C., Nocko, H.R., Loyola, L.N., Chianca, G.K., Eds.; FAO: Brasilia, Brazil, 2017; ISBN 9789257097544.
- Otto, R.; Zavaschi, E.; Netto, G.J.M.S.; Machado, B.A.; De Mira, A.B. Ammonia Volatilization from Nitrogen Fertilizers Applied to Sugarcane Straw. *Rev. Ciência Agronômica* 2017, 48, 413–418. [CrossRef]
- Trenkel, M. Slow and Controlled-Release and Stabilized Fertilizers: An Option For Enhancing Nutrient Use Efficiency in Agriculture, 2nd ed.; IFA: Paris, France, 2010; ISBN 978-2-9523139-7-1.
- Silva, A.G.B.; Sequeira, C.H.; Sermarini, R.A.; Otto, R. Urease Inhibitor NBPT on Ammonia Volatilization and Crop Productivity: A Meta-Analysis. Agron. J. 2017, 109, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, W.; Liang, Z.; He, X.; Wang, X.; Shi, X.; Zou, C.; Chen, X. The Effects of Controlled Release Urea on Maize Productivity and Reactive Nitrogen Losses: A Meta-Analysis. *Environ. Pollut.* 2019, 246, 559–565. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruser, R.; Schulz, R. The Effect of Nitrification Inhibitors on the Nitrous Oxide (N₂O) Release from Agricultural Soils-a Review. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2015, 178, 171–188. [CrossRef]
- Barth, G.; von Tucher, S.; Schmidhalter, U.; Otto, R.; Motavalli, P.; Ferraz-Almeida, R.; Meinl Schmiedt Sattolo, T.; Cantarella, H.; Vitti, G.C. Performance of Nitrification Inhibitors with Different Nitrogen Fertilizers and Soil Textures. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2019, 182, 694–700. [CrossRef]
- Wu, D.; Zhang, Y.; Dong, G.; Du, Z.; Wu, W.; Chadwick, D.; Bol, R. The Importance of Ammonia Volatilization in Estimating the Efficacy of Nitrification Inhibitors to Reduce N₂O Emissions: A Global Meta-Analysis. *Environ. Pollut.* 2021, 271, 116365. [CrossRef]
- Lam, S.K.; Suter, H.; Mosier, A.R.; Chen, D. Using Nitrification Inhibitors to Mitigate Agricultural N₂O Emission: A Double-Edged Sword? Glob. Chang. Biol. 2017, 23, 485–489. [CrossRef]
- 32. Beck, H.E.; Zimmermann, N.E.; McVicar, T.R.; Vergopolan, N.; Berg, A.; Wood, E.F. Present and Future Köppen-Geiger Climate Classification Maps at 1-Km Resolution. *Sci. Data* **2018**, *5*, 180214. [CrossRef]
- Santos, H.; Jacomine, P.K.; Dos Anjos, L.H.; De Oliveira, V.; Lumbreras, J.; Coelho, M.; De Almeida, J.; Filho, J.C.; De Oliveira, J.; Cunha, T.J. Sistema Brasileiro de Classificação de Solos, 5th ed.; Embrapa Solos: Brasília, Brazil, 2018; ISBN 978-85-7035-800-4.
- Soil Survey Staff. Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12th ed.; United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service: Washington, DC, USA, 2014; Volume 12, ISBN 016085427X.
- SBCS/NEPAR. Manual de Adubação e Calagem Para o Estado do Paraná; Pauletti, V., Motta, A.C.V., Eds.; SBCS/NEPAR; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Curitiba, Brazil, 2019; ISBN 978-85-69146-07-0.
- Jantalia, C.P.; Halvorson, A.D.; Follett, R.F.; Alves, B.J.R.; Polidoro, J.C.; Urquiaga, S. Nitrogen Source Effects on Ammonia Volatilization as Measured with Semi-Static Chambers. Agron. J. 2012, 104, 1595–1603. [CrossRef]
- 37. Miyazawa, M. Método de Captação da Amônia Volatilizada do Solo; Instituto Agronômico do Paraná: Londrina, Brazil, 2007.
- Malavolta, E.; Vitti, G.C.; De Oliveira, S.A. Avaliação Do Estado Nutricional Das Plantas Princípios e Aplicações; Associação Brasileira para Pesquisa da Potassa e do Fosfato: Piracicaba, Brazil, 1997.
- 39. Banzatto, D.A.; Kronka, S.N. Experimentação Agrícola, 4th ed.; Funep: Jaboticabal, Brazil, 2015; ISBN 85-87632-71-X.
- Pimentel-Gomes, F.; Garcia, C.H. Estatística Aplicada a Experimentos Agronômicos e Florestais, 11th ed.; Fealq: Piracicaba, Brazil, 2002; ISBN 857133014X.
- Cruz, C.D. GENES—A Software Package for Analysis in Experimental Statistics and Quantitative Genetics. Acta Sci. Agron. 2013, 35, 271–276. [CrossRef]
- 42. Akaike, H. A New Look at the Statistical Model Identification. IEEE Trans. Automat. Contr. 1974, 19, 716–723. [CrossRef]
- 43. Seber, G.A.F.; Wild, C.J. Nonlinear Regression; Wiley-interscience: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2003; ISBN 978-0-471-47135-6.
- 44. Barth, G.; Francisco, E.; Suyama, J.T.; Garcia, F. Nutrient Uptake Illustrated for Modern, High-Yielding Soybean. *Better Crop Plant Food* **2018**, *102*, 11–14. [CrossRef]
- 45. Redemann, C.E.; Riesenfeld, F.C.; La Viola, F.S. Formation of Biuret from Urea. Ind. Eng. Chem. 1958, 50, 633–636. [CrossRef]
- 46. Mapa—Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento. Instrução Normativa N° 39, de 8 de Agosto de 2018. Available online: https://www.in.gov.br/materia/-/asset_publisher/Kujrw0TZC2Mb/content/id/36278414/do1-2018-08-10-instrucao-normativa-n-39-de-8-de-agosto-de-2018-36278366 (accessed on 10 December 2021).

- 47. Mikkelsen, R.L. Biuret in Urea Fertilizer. Fertil. Res. 1990, 26, 311–318. [CrossRef]
- 48. Ochiai, K.; Uesugi, A.; Masuda, Y.; Nishii, M.; Matoh, T. Overexpression of Exogenous Biuret Hydrolase in Rice Plants Confers Tolerance to Biuret Toxicity. *Plant Direct* **2020**, *4*, e00290. [CrossRef]
- Poplawski, D.; Hoffmann, J.; Hoffmann, K. Effect of Carbonate Minerals on the Thermal Stability of Fertilisers Containing Ammonium Nitrate. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim. 2016, 124, 1561–1574. [CrossRef]
- 50. NFPA—National Fire Protection Association. Code for the Storage of Ammonium Nitrate; NFPA: Quincy, MA, USA, 2002; pp. 1–14.
- 51. Chaturvedi, S.; Dave, P.N. Review on Thermal Decomposition of Ammonium Nitrate. J. Energ. Mater. 2013, 31, 1–26. [CrossRef]
- Laboureur, D.M.; Han, Z.; Harding, B.Z.; Pineda, A.; Pittman, W.C.; Rosas, C.; Jiang, J.; Mannan, M.S. Case Study and Lessons Learned from the Ammonium Nitrate Explosion at the West Fertilizer Facility. J. Hazard. Mater. 2016, 308, 164–172. [CrossRef]
- Alexander, A.; Helm, H. Ureaform as a Slow Release Fertilizer: A Review. Z. Pflanz. Bodenkd 1990, 153, 249–255. [CrossRef]
 Gualdi D. Factilization Nitranana das Establisha das de Libera Sacharda das Cartada da Luís Associationa 2017, 157, 1, 22
- 54. Guelfi, D. Fertilizantes Nitrogenados Estabilizados, de Liberação Lenta ou Controlada. *Inf. Agronômicas* **2017**, 157, 1–32.
- Cassim, B.M.A.R.; Machado, A.P.M.; Fortune, D.; Moreira, F.R.; Zampar, É.J.D.O.; Batista, M.A. Effects of Foliar Application of Urea and Urea-Formaldehyde/Triazone on Soybean and Corn Crops. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 1549. [CrossRef]
- Helvaci, C. Stratigraphy, Mineralogy, and Genesis of the Bigadic Borate Deposits, Western Turkey. Econ. Geol. 1995, 90, 1237–1260. [CrossRef]
- 57. Sahrawat, K.L. Effects of Temperature and Moisture on Urease Activity in Semi-Arid Tropical Soils. *Plant Soil* **1984**, *8*, 401–408. [CrossRef]
- Vale, M.L.C.; Sousa, R.O.; Scivittaro, W.B. Evaluation of Ammonia Volatilization Losses by Adjusted Parameters of a Logistic Function. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2014, 38, 223–231. [CrossRef]
- Cantarella, H. Nitrogênio. In *Fertilidade do Solo*; Novais, R.F., Alvarez, V.H., Barros, N.F., Fontes, R.L.F., Cantarutti, R.B., Neves, J.C.L., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2007; pp. 375–470; ISBN 9788586504082.
- 60. Rochette, P.; MacDonald, J.D.; Angers, D.A.; Chantigny, M.H.; Gasser, M.O.; Bertrand, N. Banding of Urea Increased Ammonia Volatilization in a Dry Acidic Soil. J. Environ. Qual. 2009, 38, 1383–1390. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Azeem, B.; Kushaari, K.; Man, Z.B.; Basit, A.; Thanh, T.H. Review on Materials & Methods to Produce Controlled Release Coated Urea Fertilizer. J. Control. Release 2014, 181, 11–21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Meng, Y.; Wang, J.J.; Wei, Z.; Dodla, S.K.; Fultz, L.M.; Gaston, L.A.; Xiao, R.; Park, J.H.; Scaglia, G. Nitrification Inhibitors Reduce Nitrogen Losses and Improve Soil Health in a Subtropical Pastureland. *Geoderma* **2021**, *388*, 114947. [CrossRef]
- 63. Lasisi, A.A.; Akinremi, O.; Kumaragamage, D. Nitrification Inhibitor Reduces the Inhibitory Effect of N-(n-Butyl) Thiophosphoric Triamide (NBPT) on the Hydrolysis of Urea. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **2020**, *84*, 1782–1794. [CrossRef]
- Qiao, C.; Liu, L.; Hu, S.; Compton, J.E.; Greaver, T.L.; Li, Q. How Inhibiting Nitrification Affects Nitrogen Cycle and Reduces Environmental Impacts of Anthropogenic Nitrogen Input. *Glob. Change Biol.* 2015, 21, 1249–1257. [CrossRef]
- 65. Hinsinger, P.; Plassard, C.; Tang, C.; Jaillard, B. Origins of Root-Mediated pH Changes in the Rhizosphere and Their Responses to Environmental Constraints: A Review. *Plant Soil* **2003**, *248*, 43–59. [CrossRef]
- Kim, D.G.; Saggar, S.; Roudier, P. The Effect of Nitrification Inhibitors on Soil Ammonia Emissions in Nitrogen Managed Soils: A Meta-Analysis. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 2012, 93, 51–64. [CrossRef]
- Cameron, K.C.; Di, H.J.; Moir, J.L. Nitrogen Losses from the Soil/Plant System: A Review. Ann. Appl. Biol. 2013, 162, 145–173. [CrossRef]
- Al-Kanani, T.; MacKenzie, A.F.; Barthakur, N.N. Soil Water and Ammonia Volatilization Relationships with Surface-Applied Nitrogen Fertilizer Solutions. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1991, 55, 1761–1766. [CrossRef]
- Shi, X.; Hu, K.; Batchelor, W.D.; Liang, H.; Wu, Y.; Wang, Q.; Fu, J.; Cui, X.; Zhou, F. Exploring Optimal Nitrogen Management Strategies to Mitigate Nitrogen Losses from Paddy Soil in the Middle Reaches of the Yangtze River. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2020, 228, 105877. [CrossRef]
- Oliveira, S.M.; De Almeida, R.E.M.; Ciampitti, I.A.; Junior, C.P.; Lago, B.C.; Trivelin, P.C.O.; Favarin, J.L. Understanding N Timing in Corn Yield and Fertilizer N Recovery: An Insight from an Isotopic Labeled-N Determination. *PLoS ONE* 2018, 13, e0192776. [CrossRef]
- 71. Kramer, D.M.; Evans, J.R. The Importance of Energy Balance in Improving Photosynthetic Productivity. *Plant Physiol.* 2011, 155, 70–78. [CrossRef]
- Bucher, C.A.; Bucher, C.P.C.; Araujo, A.P.; Sperandio, M.V.L. Fósforo. In Nutrição Mineral de Plantas; Fernandes, M.S., Souza, S.R., Santos, L.A., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2018; pp. 401–427, ISBN 978-85-86504-23-5.
- Meurer, E.J.; Tiecher, T.; Mattiello, L. Potássio. In Nutrição Mineral de Plantas; Fernandes, M.S., Souza, S.R., Santos, L.A., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2018; p. 670, ISBN 978-85-86504-23-5.
- Aulakh, M.S.; Malhi, S.S. Interactions of Nitrogen with Other Nutrients and Water: Effect on Crop Yield and Quality, Nutrient Use Efficiency, Carbon Sequestration, and Environmental Pollution. Adv. Agron. 2005, 86, 341–409. [CrossRef]
- 75. Rietra, R.P.J.J.; Heinen, M.; Dimkpa, C.O.; Bindraban, P.S. Effects of Nutrient Antagonism and Synergism on Yield and Fertilizer Use Efficiency. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 2017, *48*, 1895–1920. [CrossRef]
- Alleoni, L.R.F.; Iglesias, C.S.M.; Mello, S.D.C.; de Camargo, O.A.; Casagrande, J.C.; Lavorenti, N.A. Atributos do Solo Relacionados à Adsorção de Cádmio e Cobre em Solos Tropicais. Acta Sci. Agron. 2005, 27, 729–737. [CrossRef]
- Lima, E.; Vitti, G.C.; Santos, L.A.; Cicarone, F. Cálcio e Magnésio. In Nutrição Mineral de Plantas; Fernandes, M.S., Souza, S.R., Santos, L.A., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2018; pp. 465–490, ISBN 978-85-86504-23-5.

- Hoopen, F.T.; Cuin, T.A.; Pedas, P.; Hegelund, J.N.; Shabala, S.; Schjoerring, J.K.; Jahn, T.P. Competition between Uptake of Ammonium and Potassium in Barley and Arabidopsis Roots: Molecular Mechanisms and Physiological Consequences. J. Exp. Bot. 2010, 61, 2303–2315. [CrossRef]
- Rayar, A.J.; Hai, T.V. Effect of Ammonium on Uptake of Phosphorus, Potassium, Calcium and Magnesium by Intact Soybean Plants. *Plant Soil* 1977, 48, 81–87. [CrossRef]
- Weil, S.; Barker, A.V.; Zandvakili, O.R.; Etemadi, F. Plant Growth and Calcium and Potassium Accumulation in Lettuce under Different Nitrogen Regimes of Ammonium and Nitrate Nutrition. J. Plant Nutr. 2020, 44, 270–281. [CrossRef]
- Soratto, R.P.; Crusciol, C.A.C. Dolomite and Phosphogypsum Surface Application Effects on Annual Crops Nutrition and Yield. Agron. J. 2008, 100, 261–270. [CrossRef]
- Silberbush, M.; Lips, S.H. Potassium, Nitrogen, Ammonium/Nitrate Ratio, and Sodium Chloride Effects on Wheat Growth. J. Plant Nutr. 1991, 14, 765–773. [CrossRef]
- Vitti, G.C.; Otto, R.; Savieto, J.; Lima, E.; Santos, L.A. Enxofre. In Nutrição Mineral de Plantas; Fernandes, M.S., Souza, S.R., Santos, L.A., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2018; pp. 337–400, ISBN 978-85-86504-23-5.
- Lara Cabezas, W.A.R.; Rodrigues, C.R.; de Oliveira, S.M.; Borges, E.N. Utilização de Ureia Em Misturas Com Sulfato de Amônio ou Com Gesso na Cultura de Milho. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2008, 32, 2343–2353. [CrossRef]
- Biondi, C.M.; Nascimento, C.W.A.; Neta, A.B.F.; Ribeiro, M.R. Teores de Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu, Ni E Co Em Solos de Referência de Pernambuco. *Rev. Bras. Ciência Solo* 2011, 35, 1057–1066. [CrossRef]
- Kabata-Pendias, A.; Mukherjee, A.B. Trace Elements from Soil to Human, 6th ed.; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 2007; ISBN 978-3-540-32713-4.
- Costa, A.C.S.; Junior, I.G.S.; Canton, L.C.; Gil, L.G.; Figueiredo, R. Contribution of the Chemical and Mineralogical Properties of Sandy-Loam Tropical Soils to the Cation Exchange Capacity. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 2020, 44, e0200019. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, J.; Xia, F.; Liu, X.; He, Y.; Xu, J.; Brookes, P.C. Effects of Nitrogen Fertilizer on the Acidification of Two Typical Acid Soils in South China. J. Soils Sediments 2014, 14, 415–422. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, W.; Cai, Z.C.; Xu, Z.H. Does Ammonium-Based N Addition Influence Nitrification and Acidification in Humid Subtropical Soils of China? *Plant Soil* 2007, 297, 213–221. [CrossRef]
- Raza, S.; Miao, N.; Wang, P.; Ju, X.; Chen, Z.; Zhou, J.; Kuzyakov, Y. Dramatic Loss of Inorganic Carbon by Nitrogen-Induced Soil Acidification in Chinese Croplands. *Glob. Change Biol.* 2020, 26, 3738–3751. [CrossRef]
- 91. Ulrich, B. Natural and Anthropogenic Components of Soil Acidification. Z. Pflanz. Bodenkd. 1986, 149, 702-717. [CrossRef]
- Abreu, C.A.; Lopes, A.S.; Gabrielli, G.C. Micronutrientes. In *Fertilidade do Solo*; Novais, R.F., Alvarez, V.H., Barros, N.F., Fontes, R.L.F., Cantarutti, R.B., Neves, C.L.N., Eds.; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2007; pp. 645–736, ISBN 978-85-86504-08-2.
- Abat, M.; Degryse, F.; Baird, R.; McLaughlin, M.J. Boron Phosphates (BPO₄) as a Seedling-Safe Boron Fertilizer Source. *Plant Soil* 2015, 391, 153–160. [CrossRef]
- Tremblay, N.; Bouroubi, Y.M.; Bélec, C.; Mullen, R.W.; Kitchen, N.R.; Thomason, W.E.; Ebelhar, S.; Mengel, D.B.; Raun, W.R.; Francis, D.D.; et al. Corn Response to Nitrogen Is Influenced by Soil Texture and Weather. *Agron. J.* 2012, 104, 1658–1671. [CrossRef]
- Hassink, J. The Capacity of Soils to Preserve Organic C and N by Their Association with Clay and Silt Particles. *Plant Soil* 1997, 191, 77–87. [CrossRef]
- Ros, G.H.; Hanegraaf, M.C.; Hoffland, E.; van Riemsdijk, W.H. Predicting Soil N Mineralization: Relevance of Organic Matter Fractions and Soil Properties. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 2011, 43, 1714–1722. [CrossRef]
- Ping, J.L.; Ferguson, R.B.; Dobermann, A. Site-Specific Nitrogen and Plant Density Management in Irrigated Maize. Agron. J. 2008, 100, 1193–1204. [CrossRef]
- Araújo, M.L.S.; Sano, E.E.; Bolfe, É.L.; Santos, J.R.N.; dos Santos, J.S.; Silva, F.B. Spatiotemporal Dynamics of Soybean Crop in the Matopiba Region, Brazil (1990–2015). Land Use policy 2019, 80, 57–67. [CrossRef]
- 99. Dionizio, E.A.; Costa, M.H. Influence of Land Use and Land Cover on Hydraulic and Physical Soil Properties at the Cerrado Agricultural Frontier. *Agriculture* **2019**, *9*, 24. [CrossRef]
- Malavolta, E.; Moraes, M.F. Fundamentos do Nitrogênio e do Enxofre na Nutrição Mineral das Plantas Cultivadas. In Nitrogênio e Enxofre na Agricultura Brasileira; Yamada, T., Abdalla, S.R.S., Vitti, G.C., Eds.; International Plant Nutrition Institute: Piracicaba, Brazil, 2007; pp. 189–238, ISBN 978-85-98519-03-6.
- Tabatabaei, S.J.; Fatemi, L.S.; Fallahi, E. Effect of Ammonium: Nitrate Ratio on Yield, Calcium Concentration, and Photosynthesis Rate in Strawberry. J. Plant Nutr. 2006, 29, 1273–1285. [CrossRef]
- 102. Xu, G.; Fan, X.; Miller, A.J. Plant Nitrogen Assimilation and Use Efficiency. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2012, 63, 153–182. [CrossRef]
- Li, S.X.; Wang, Z.H.; Stewart, B.A. Responses of Crop Plants to Ammonium and Nitrate N. Adv. Agron. 2013, 118, 205–397. [CrossRef]
- Bender, R.R.; Haegele, J.W.; Ruffo, M.L.; Below, F.E. Nutrient Uptake, Partitioning, and Remobilization in Modern, Transgenic Insect-Protected Maize Hybrids. Agron. J. 2013, 105, 161–170. [CrossRef]
- Fancelli, A.L. Ecofisiologia, Fenologia e Implicações Básicas de Manejo. In Milho do Plantio à Colheita; Galvão, J.C.C., Borém, A., Pimentel, M.A., Eds.; UFV: Viçosa, Brazil, 2017; pp. 49–75, ISBN 978-85-7269-583-1.



Article



Improvement of Photosynthesis by Biochar and Vermicompost to Enhance Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) Yield under Greenhouse Conditions

Xinna Liu^{1,†}, Jie Zhang^{1,*}, Qian Wang¹, Tingting Chang¹, Hiba Shaghaleh² and Yousef Alhaj Hamoud^{1,†}

- ¹ College of Agricultural Science and Engineering, Hohai University, Nanjing 210098, China
- ² College of Environment, Hohai University, Nanjing 210098, China
- Correspondence: zhangjiejxd@hhu.edu.cn
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Chlorophyll fluorescence is an important tool in the study of photosynthesis and its effect on the physiological indicators of crop growth is worth exploring. The trial was conducted to investigate the effect of biochar (CK, 0%; BA3, 3%; BA5, 5%; by mass of soil) and vermicompost (VA₃, 3%; VA₅, 5%) on photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence, and tomato yield under greenhouse condition. Results revealed that photosynthetic parameters and chlorophyll fluorescence traits of BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ were significantly higher than those of CK, and the improvement of vermicompost was more effective than biochar at the same application rate. VA3 treatment had the highest net photosynthetic rate (Pn), intercellular CO₂ concentration (Ci), variable fluorescence (Fv), maximum fluorescence (Fm), PSII maximum photochemical efficiency (Fv/Fm), PSII potential photochemical activity (Fv/Fo), absorption flux per cross section (CS; ABC/CSm), trapped energy flux per CS (TRo/CSm), and electron transport flux per CS (ETo/CSm), which increased by 49%, 65%, 17%, 12%, 4%, 25%, 10%, 15%, and 30%, respectively, compared with CK. The study also found that BA and VA rates could effectively improve tomato yield and water use efficiency (WUE). The yield under BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ treatments was 21%, 33%, 23%, and 25% higher than that under CK, and the WUE increased from 31.2 kg·m⁻³ under CK to 41.4 kg·m⁻³ under VA₃. Pearson correlation analysis indicated that the increment of photosynthesis showed a highly significant correlation with Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, and ETo/CSm and enhanced the light energy absorbed, trapped, and transported per CS of plant leaves, thereby contributing to the increase in tomato yield. Therefore, for one-season tomato production, the application of 3% vermicompost was considered economical with regard to improving photosynthesis, enhancing WUE, and increasing tomato yield.

Keywords: biochar; vermicompost; net photosynthetic rate; intercellular CO₂ concentration; photosystem II; maximum photochemical efficiency; active reaction center density

1. Introduction

As an effective way to improve vegetable production, facility cultivation plays an important role in anti-seasonal and inter-regional vegetable cultivation in China [1]. Tomato is a temperature-loving, light-loving, and semi-drought-tolerant facility cultivation crop with high promotion potential and economic value [2]. However, unreasonable fertilizer application and cultivation management have resulted in facility soils showing a susceptibility to pests and diseases, which seriously affected the growth and development of tomatoes and reduced tomato yield [3,4]. Therefore, optimizing the fertilizer application pattern and improving the photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics of plants are important for the high yield and quality of tomatoes.

Photosynthesis is the basic physiological activity for crop yield formation, and the strength of photosynthesis is closely related to the level of yield [5–7]. Photosynthesis is influenced by various environmental factors, including water, nutrients, light, and CO₂

Citation: Liu, X.; Zhang, J.; Wang, Q.; Chang, T.; Shaghaleh, H.; Hamoud, Y.A. Improvement of Photosynthesis by Biochar and Vermicompost to Enhance Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) Yield under Greenhouse Conditions. *Plants* 2022, 11, 3214. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11233214

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 8 October 2022 Accepted: 21 November 2022 Published: 24 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). concentration [8-10]. Biochar is beneficial to plant growth and physiological characteristic indicators, and it can improve the growth performance and yield of different crops [11]. Appropriate application of biochar can improve the apparent quantum efficiency, Pn, photosynthetic capacity, and stomatal conductance (Gs) of plants [12], which can play a role in improving crop quality and yield [13]. Zhu [14] showed that biochar increased *Pn* and seedling emergence and promoted plant height and dry matter mass of tomatoes. Cao et al. [15] found that biochar improved the nutritional quality of cherry tomato fruits and increased the yield. Lu et al. [16] concluded that biochar could increase the chlorophyll content of plant leaves and positively affect crop yield. The special physical and chemical properties and biological structure of vermicompost improve the transpiration rate (Tr), Gs, Pn, and intercellular CO_2 concentration (Ci) of tomato leaves, thereby promoting photosynthesis in plants [17]. Hosseinzadeh et al. [18] showed that the application of vermicompost could improve the photosynthesis of the crop primarily because it increased the CO₂ content of the crop roots and improved the soil water-holding capacity. In addition, numerous studies have demonstrated that the application of vermicompost in soil had a positive effect on crop growth and yield [19]. Zhou et al. [20] showed that the application of 80% vermicompost in soil significantly increased the growth of height and stem diameter of tomato plants. Joshi et al. [21] revealed that the application of 45% vermicompost also promoted the growth and development of tomato plants.

Geng et al. [22] concluded that chlorophyll fluorescence parameters could reflect the absorption and conversion of light energy, energy transfer, distribution, and photosynthesis in plants, which were important indicators used to study plant stress resistance physiology and increase crop yield. Chlorophyll fluorescence can be used to study the effect of environmental changes on the photosynthetic structure of plant photosystem II (*PSII*) and yield responses to the efficiency of light energy conversion in plants [23,24]. Li et al. [25] revealed that biochar treatment could significantly affect the chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of cucumber, but the application of 0.5–2.0% biochar had no significant effect on the maximum photochemical efficiency (*Fv/Fm*). Meanwhile, Cheng et al. [26] also revealed that *Fv/Fm* and the actual quantum yield of *PSII* (*Y* (*II*)) of plant leaves significantly increased when the vermicompost content was higher than 50%. Gong et al. [27] found that *Fv/Fm* of *PSII* and the actual photochemical efficiency ($\Phi PSII$) of plants were elevated by water–nitrogen content, and a moderate increase in nitrogen fertilization could improve *Fv/Fm* and $\Phi PSII$ of crop leaves, enhance crop growth traits, and increase yield.

Numerous studies have shown that the application of biochar and vermicompost changed the physicochemical properties of soil and microbial communities. It also affected the physiological and biochemical properties of plants. Furthermore, photosynthesis has become an important indicator of tomato production, which is essential for promoting plant growth and development and improving yield. Therefore, the tomato water use efficiency (WUE) together with plant physiology must be improved through the use of accurate soil management methods, with emphasis on the methods that improve soil quality by the application of biochar and vermicompost with a considerable enhancement in plant physiological responses and yield. To date, there has been little knowledge on the interactive effects of biochar and vermicompost application on photosynthesis rate, especially using the chlorophyll fluorescence of tomato as a probe. Additionally, the effects of biochar and vermicompost on synergistic response of plant growth are not well understood. Moreover, data on the synergistic response of tomato yield with WUE are largely scarce [28]. Thus, this study hypothesized that increasing biochar and vermicompost addition could improve the soil properties; regulating the plant photosynthesis by improving chlorophyll fluorescence parameters would, thus, improve the tomatoes' productivity. The study also assumed that the biochar and vermicompost application to the plant can increase plant growth, contributing to an increasing yield of tomato. To test the hypothesis mentioned above, the study investigated the effects of increasing biochar and vermicompost amendment application rates under greenhouse conditions on soil properties related to plant growth. The study also measured the photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence of tomato by measuring the *Pn*, *Tr*, *Gs*, *Ci*, including *Fo*, *Fv*, *Fm*, *Fv*/*Fm*, *Fv*/*Fo*, *ABC/CSm*, *RC/CSm*, *ETo/CSm*, *DIo/CSm*, and *TRo/CSm* and, thus, regulated tomato yield in a greenhouse experiment to provide proper regulation for the high quality and yield of tomatoes under greenhouse conditions.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental Site

Greenhouse experiments were carried out from 25 July 2020 to 11 January 2021 in a non-temperature-controlled greenhouse under natural light conditions, at the water-saving Park of Hohai University located at latitude $31^{\circ}57'$ N and longitude $118^{\circ}50'$ E, at 144 m above sea level in Jiangning District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, China. The climate of the region is humid subtropical, and it is influenced by the East Asian monsoon. The average annual temperature in the region was $15.7 \,^{\circ}$ C; the absolute maximum temperature reached 40.4 $^{\circ}$ C in August 2020, and the absolute minimum temperature dropped to $-13.3 \,^{\circ}$ C in January 2021. The rainy season spanned from July to September, and the average annual rainfall in the area was nearly 1025.12 mm, which was concentrated in the rainy–summer season. The annual sunshine time was 2200 h, and the annual average evaporation was approximately 900 mm. The average monthly rainfall and temperature in the greenhouse during the years of the experiment (2020–2021) are shown in Table 1.

Season			20	20			2021
Month	Jul	Aug	Sept	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan
Max. temp °C	33.8	40.1	30.3	29.3	16.4	9.8	8.3
Min. temp °C	23.4	29.2	17.7	14.8	8.3	2.1	1.2
Max. Relative humidity %	98.6	85.0	89.5	76.0	82.3	82.6	80.2
Min. Relative humidity %	69.5	62.4	68.7	68.9	70.1	70.8	69.1
Sunshine (h)	10.2	11.4	9.1	8.3	6.5	6.1	5.8
Solar Rad. MJ $m^{-2} day^{-1}$	97.8	113.7	78.2	73.8	58.7	56.0	55.4

Note: Meteorological data were monitored using HOBO mini weather stations.

2.2. Soil, Biochar, and Vermicompost Preparation

The experimental soil was collected from the top 10–20 cm of the farmland soil of the water-saving Park of Hohai University (31°57′ N, 118°50′ E) and classified as a typical yellow–brown loam based on the Chinese classification [29]. The tested biochar was classified as maize straw biochar (purchased from Henan Lize Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd., Zhengzhou, China), and the experimental vermicompost was obtained by fermenting pure cow dung through the digestive system of earthworms. The physicochemical properties of the soil before the experiment, biochar, and vermicompost are shown in Table 2.

The physicochemical properties of the abovementioned soil samples, biochar, and vermicompost were measured by the following methods: Available potassium was determined using flame photometry [30]. Available nitrogen was determined by using a UV–Vis spectrophotometer (L007, 7522112059A; Essence Technology Instruments, Shanghai, China) [31,32]. Available phosphorus was measured using UV–Vis spectrophotometry [33]. Organic matter content was determined using high-temperature oxidation [34]. pH value was determined by using the Remag pH meter in 1:5 samples and water extracts [35].

Property	Soil	Biochar	Vermicompost	
BD	$1.41 \text{ g} \cdot \text{cm}^{-3}$	$0.42 \text{ g} \cdot \text{cm}^{-3}$	-	
TP	46.3%	55.3%	-	
FC	28.7%	-	-	
K	$101 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$	58,513 mg \cdot kg $^{-1}$	$1892 \mathrm{mg}\cdot\mathrm{kg}^{-1}$	
N	$11.1 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$	$390 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$	$564 \text{ mg}\cdot\text{kg}^{-1}$	
Р	$5.81 \text{ mg}\cdot\text{kg}^{-1}$	$56.4 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$	$461 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$	
ОМС	1.04%	41.1%	44.9%	
pH	7.07 value	9.40 value	8.17 value	

Table 2. Specific physicochemical properties of soil, biochar, and vermicompost.

Note: Values are the average of three replicates of each property; *BD*, *TP*, FC, *K*, *N*, *P*, and *OMC* indicate bulk density, total porosity, field capacity, available potassium, available nitrogen, available phosphorus, and organic matter content, respectively.

2.3. Greenhouse Experimental Setup

The main treatments used biochar and vermicompost. This experiment included the following five treatments: CK (0% rate, 12 kg soil + no addition), BA₃ (3% rate, 12 kg soil + 360 g biochar), VA₃ (3% rate, 12 kg soil + 360 g vermicompost), BA₅ (5% rate, 12 kg soil + 600 g biochar), and VA₅ (5% rate, 12 kg soil + 600 g vermicompost) on a mass basis. Each pot (cylindrical, top diameter: 32.5 cm, bottom diameter: 28 cm, height: 38.5 cm) was filled with quartz sand to a height of 8 cm, considering the water permeability and air permeability of the roots. The soil was air-dried and passed through a 6.3 mm sieve, and then biochar and vermicompost were weighed and mixed with soil thoroughly in proportion, respectively, and added to the pot with a natural bulk density based on each treatment. The pots were placed in a non-temperature-controlled greenhouse under natural light conditions and arranged in a completely randomized block design. Each treatment was replicated eight times (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Layout of tomato pots in the greenhouse.

The experimental tomato variety was "Cooperative 903," which is a widely cultivated vegetable planted in Jiangsu Province, China. Tomato seeds were sown at a density of 2–3 seeds per hole in a 72-hole plate of cultivation seedlings and diluted to one plant per well after 2 weeks of seed germination. When seedlings developed five leaves and a heart, seedlings of similar growth were selected and transplanted into pots on 25 August 2020. The tomatoes were managed uniformly based on the experience of local agronomic practices. That is, each pot was applied with 20 g of compound fertilizer (N:P:K = 15:15:15) as a base fertilizer. Each pot was irrigated with tap water to maintain the soil water content at *FC*. The irrigation of each pot was carried out in accordance with the difference in daily weight to compensate for the water loss caused by evaporation [36], and the soil moisture content of all pots was maintained at *FC* throughout the experimental period. Each pot was frequently weeded by hand, and four fruits were left on each inflorescence in each treatment, leaving three leaves pinched at the top after the second inflorescence had set fruit. In addition, field management was carried out in the greenhouse to control pests and diseases and avoid yield losses. The final harvest was completed in January 2021.

2.4. Measurement Items and Methods

2.4.1. Determination of Photosynthetic Parameters

During flowering and fruit setting of the experiment, four plants were randomly selected for each treatment. Healthy fully expanded leaves with sufficient light exposure and consistent leaf position and without visible symptoms of damage at the first inflorescence were selected from each plant. The net photosynthetic rate (*Pn*), stomatal conductance (*Gs*), transpiration rate (*Tr*), and intercellular CO₂ concentration (*Ci*) were determined using a portable photosynthesis system (Li-6800, LI-COR, Lincoln, NE, USA) under an artificial light source with a radiation flux density of 1000 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹ from 9:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. on a sunny day. The limitation of stomatal conductance (*Ls*) was calculated using the following equation [37]:

$$Ls = 1 - \frac{Ci}{Ca} \tag{1}$$

where Ls is the limitation of stomatal conductance; Ci is the intercellular CO₂ concentration; Ca is the ambient CO₂ concentration.

2.4.2. Determination of Chlorophyll Fluorescence Traits

Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of plant leaves were measured using a portable chlorophyll fluorometer (Pocket PEA, Hansatech, King's Lynn, UK), and the measurement time and plant site were the same as the photosynthetic parameters. After the leaves were subjected to dark-adapted treatment for 20 min, the rapid chlorophyll fluorescence induction kinetic curve (O-J-I-P curve) was measured using Pocket PEA, which was induced by 5000 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹ of pulsed light, and the fluorescence signal was recorded from 10 µs to 2 s. The initial rate of recording was 105 datapoints per second, and the initial fluorescence (Fo), maximum fluorescence (Fm), and fluorescence intensity at 2 ms of the O-J-I-P curve (F_I) were obtained. Fluorescence parameters were calculated as follows [38,39]: variable fluorescence (Fv = (Fm - Fo)/Fm), PSII maximum photochemical efficiency (Fv/Fm), and PSII potential photochemical activity (Fv/Fo). In addition, the tomato leaf energy partitioning ratio and PSII reaction center activity parameters were measured as follows: absorption flux per cross section ($ABC/CSm \approx Fm$), trapped energy flux per CS (TRo/CSm = $(1 - Fo/Fm) \cdot (ABC/CSm))$, electron transport flux per CS $(ETo/CSm = (1 - Fo/Fm) \cdot (1 - (F_I - Fo/Fm)))$ Fo/(Fm - Fo)·(ABC/CSm)), non-photochemical quenching per CS (DIo/CSm = (ABC/CSm)) -(TRo/CSm), and the number of active reaction centers per CS (RC/CSm) [40].

2.4.3. Determination of Tomato Yield and WUE

At the mature stage of tomato, the yield of four plants selected for each treatment was measured. Fruits of two inflorescences were collected sequentially on the basis of their ripeness and weighed on an electronic scale with an accuracy of 0.01 g. Then, the total fresh

weight of fruits of these two inflorescences was calculated as the total yield of each plant. The yield was converted on the basis of planting density (45,000 plants hm⁻²). The WUE was determined using the following equation [41]:

$$WUE = \frac{Y}{TWU}$$
(2)

where WUE is the water use efficiency, kg·m⁻³; Y is the tomato yield, kg·hm⁻²; and TWU is the total water use, m³·hm⁻².

2.5. Data Processing and Analysis

Experimentally measured data were recorded and analyzed by Excel 2010 and oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) and plotted by GraphPad Prism 8.0. ANOVA was performed using SPSS 26.0, where Duncan's multiple range test was used to compare data means at the 0.05 level of significance, and statistical significance was considered when $p \leq 0.05$. Pearson correlation analysis was also conducted to obtain the degree of relationship among photosynthetic parameters, chlorophyll fluorescence traits, and tomato yield.

3. Results and Analysis

3.1. Net Photosynthetic Rate and Photosynthetic Parameters

The measured plant photosynthetic parameters during flowering and fruit setting of the experiment were significantly (p < 0.05) affected by biochar and vermicompost application (Figure 2). *Pn* increased significantly with the increase in BA and VA rates (Figure 2a), in which VA₃ treatment had the highest *Pn*, with an increase of 49% compared with CK. In addition, VA₃ was significantly different from BA₃ and BA₅ (p < 0.05), and no significant difference was observed between BA₃ and BA₅ treatments.







Figure 2. Effects of BA and VA rates on photosynthetic parameters of tomato leaves: (a) Effects of BA and VA rates on the *Pn*. (b) Effects of BA and VA rates on the *Tr* and *Gs*. (c) Effects of BA and VA rates on the *Ci* and *Ls*. Note: BA represents biochar application and VA vermicompost application. The meanings of the circles, triangles, and rectangles on the bars in (a) are indicated as duplicate data points for the different treatments. Means of *Pn*, *Gs*, and *Ls* are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different lowercase letters. Means of *Tr* and *Ci* are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different lowercase letters. Means of *Tr* and *Ci* are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different uppercase letters. Means while, the increase in *Pn* in BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ was accompanied by a decrease in *Ls* and an increase in *Ci*, *Tr*, and *Gs*. As shown in (b), the highest and lowest *T_r* rates were observed for BA₃ and CK treatments, respectively, and BA₃ and VA₃ showed no statistically significant difference. *G_s* under BA₃ treatment was the highest, whereas that under CK treatment was the lowest. For *C_i* (c), the highest *C_i* was observed for treatments under VA₃, followed by plants under BA₅, BA₃, and VA₅, whereas the lowest values were observed under CK. *L_s* under BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅, whereas the lowest values were observed under CK. *L_s* under BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅, whereas the lowest Values Were observed with that under CK treatments.

3.2. Chlorophyll Fluorescence Traits

The important chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of *Fo*, *Fv*, *Fm*, *Fv*/*Fm*, and *Fv*/*Fo* for different biochar and vermicompost addition rates during flowering and fruit setting are shown in Table 3. *Fv*, *Fm*, *Fv*/*Fm*, and *Fv*/*Fo* under BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ treatments, respectively, were significantly increased compared with those under CK treatment (p < 0.05). The highest *Fv*, *Fm*, *Fv*/*Fm*, and *Fv*/*Fo* were observed after VA₃ treatment, which increased by 17%, 12%, 4%, and 25%, respectively, compared with CK, where *Fv* and *Fv*/*Fo* of VA₃ were significantly higher than other treatments. On the contrary, BA₃ and BA₅ showed no statistically significant difference.

Table 3. Effect of BA and VA rates on chlorophyll fluorescence parameters.

Fluorescence Parameters	Fo	Fv	Fm	Fv/Fm	Fv/Fo
СК	$3490\pm45~^{\rm a}$	13,253 \pm 132 $^{\rm c}$	16,766 \pm 416 $^{\rm b}$	$0.791 \pm 0.013^{\text{ b}}$	$3.80\pm0.03~^{d}$
BA ₃	$3300\pm86~\mathrm{bc}$	15,061 \pm 316 ^b	18,390 \pm 358 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.819\pm0.008~^{\rm a}$	$4.56\pm0.09~^{\rm b}$
VA ₃	$3278\pm55~^{\rm c}$	15,523 \pm 203 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	18,816 \pm 268 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	0.825 ± 0.002 $^{\rm a}$	4.74 ± 0.04 ^
BA ₅	$3266\pm42~^{\rm c}$	$15,\!095\pm214~^{ m b}$	18,365 \pm 301 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.822\pm0.002~^{\rm a}$	4.62 ± 0.03 ^b
VA ₅	3380 ± 63 ^b	$15,\!080\pm185^{ m b}$	18,496 \pm 240 $^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.815 \pm 0.001 \; ^{\rm a}$	4.46 ± 0.03 ^c

Note: BA for Biochar application and VA for Vermicompost application. \pm indicates standard deviation. Means are not significantly different between different BA and VA rates when followed by the same lowercase letter; means are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different lowercase letters. The same below.

As shown in Figure 3a, *RC/CSm*, *ABC/CSm*, *TRo/CSm*, and *ETo/CSm* were increased, and *DIo/CSm* was decreased by biochar and vermicompost application. BA₃ treatment

had the highest *RC/CSm*, which was significantly higher than CK by 22%, and VA₃ and VA₅ showed no statistically significant difference. *ABC/CSm*, *TRo/CSm*, and *ETo/CSm* of VA₃ were significantly (p < 0.05) higher than other treatments (Figure 3b,c). The highest *ABC/CSm*, *TRo/CSm*, and *ETo/CSm* were observed in VA₃ treatment, which increased by 10%, 15%, and 30%, respectively, compared with CK treatment. Meanwhile, the increase in *ABC/CSm*, *TRo/CSm*, and *ETo/CSm* in BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ treatments were accompanied by a decrease in *DIo/CSm*, in which VA₃ treatment had the lowest *DIo/CSm*, with a decrease of 6% compared with CK, indicating that the application of biochar and vermicompost was effective in reducing the heat dissipation energy per cross section.



Figure 3. Effect of BA and VA rates on light energy absorption, capture, and transfer: (a) Effect of BA and VA rates on the *RC/CSm*. (b) Effect of BA and VA rates on the *ABC/CSm* and *TRo/CSm*. (c) Effect of BA and VA rates on the *ETo/CSm* and *DIo/CSm*. Note: BA represents biochar application and VA vermicompost application. Data are presented as mean \pm standard error (n = 4). The meanings of the circles, triangles, and rectangles on the bars in (a) are indicated as duplicate data points for the different treatments. Means of *RC/CSm*, *TRo/CSm*, and *DIo/CSm* are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different lowercase letters. Means of *ABC/CSm* and *ETo/CSm* indicates the number of active reaction centers per CS; *ABS/CSm* indicates the electron transport flux per CS; *DIo/CSm* indicates the non-photochemical quenching per CS.

3.3. Yield and WUE of Tomato

Biochar and vermicompost application rates significantly (p < 0.05) influenced the tomatoes' average yield and WUE (Table 4). The yield parameters significantly increased

with the application of BA and VA rates, whereas the average single-fruit weight of the first inflorescence and second inflorescence in BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ was not statistically significant. In addition, the first inflorescence of each treatment was higher than that of the second inflorescence. When the *TWU* of each treatment was 1425 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{hm}^{-2}$, the WUE was linearly correlated with yield; the highest yield and *WUE* (59.0 t·hm⁻² and 41.4 kg·m⁻³, respectively) were observed in the VA₃ treatment, and Y and *WUE* under BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ treatments were 21%, 33%, 23%, and 25% higher, respectively, than those under CK treatment. The results indicated that the vermicompost had a better effect on increasing yield and *WUE* than biochar with the same application rates.

	Average Fruit V	Veight Per Fruit (g)	Viald Day Plant (a)	NC 11((1 2)	WUE (kg·m ⁻³)	
Treatments	First Inflorescence	Second Inflorescence	field Per Plant (g)	Yield (t·hm ⁻²)		
СК	135 ± 17 $^{\rm b}$	112 ± 4 ^b	$990\pm76~^{ m c}$	$44.5\pm3.4~^{\rm c}$	31.2 ± 2.4 ^c	
BA ₃	$150\pm14~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	149 ± 4 a	$1196\pm68\ ^{\rm b}$	$53.8 \pm 3.1 \ ^{ m b}$	$37.8 \pm 2.1 \ ^{ m b}$	
VA ₃	173 ± 12 a	155 ± 18 $^{\rm a}$	$1312\pm63~^{\rm a}$	59.0 ± 2.8 ^a	$41.4\pm2.0~^{\mathrm{a}}$	
BA ₅	$157\pm23~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$148\pm8~^{\rm a}$	1220 ± 77 $^{ m ab}$	$54.9\pm3.5~^{ m ab}$	38.5 ± 2.4 $^{\mathrm{ab}}$	
VA ₅	169 ± 14 $^{\rm a}$	$141\pm7~^{\rm a}$	$1240\pm48~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$55.8\pm2.2~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$39.2\pm1.5~^{\mathrm{ab}}$	

Table 4. Effects of BA and VA rates on tomato yield and water use efficiency.

Note: BA for Biochar application and VA for Vermicompost application. \pm indicates standard deviation. Means are not significantly different between different BA and VA rates when followed by the same lowercase letter; means are significantly different between BA and VA rates ($p \le 0.05$) when followed by different lowercase letters. The same below.

3.4. Correlation Analysis of Plant Physiological Indicators and Tomato Yield

Pearson correlation analysis results among photosynthetic parameters (*Pn, Ci, Tr,* and *Gs*), chlorophyll fluorescence traits (*Fv/Fm, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, ETo/CSm,* and *DIo/CSm*), and yield are displayed in Table 5. *Pn, Ci, Tr, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, ETo/CSm,* and yield had a strong positive correlation (R > 0.6), apart from *Gs,* with *ETo/CSm* and yield. These factors showed a strong negative correlation with *DIo/CSm*. In addition, photosynthetic parameters (*Pn, Ci,* and *Tr*) showed a strongly significant correlation with chlorophyll fluorescence traits (*Fv/Fm, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm,* and *DIo/CSm*). Moreover, *Pn, Ci, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm,* and *ETo/CSm*, and *DIo/CSm*). Moreover, *Pn, Ci, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm,* and *ETo/CSm* showed a highly significant correlation (R > 0.8) with yield, indicating that the increment in net photosynthesis and light energy absorbed, trapped, and transported per cross section of plant leaves could increase tomato yield.

Table 5. Correlation analysis between plant physiological indicators and tomato yield.

Indices	Pn	Ci	Tr	Gs	Fv/Fm	Fv/Fo	ABS/CSm	TRo/CSm	ETo/CSm	DIo/CSm	Yield
Pn	1										
Ci	0.960	1									
Tr	0.918	0.936	1								
Gs	0.660	0.759	0.696	1							
Fv/Fm	0.899	0.895	0.869	0.626	1						
Fv/Fo	0.939	0.975	0.932	0.663	0.911	1					
ABS/CSm	0.950	0.947	0.903	0.635	0.829	0.949	1				
TRo/CSm	0.962	0.964	0.925	0.661	0.857	0.961	0.969	1			
ETo/CSm	0.904	0.905	0.886	0.463	0.854	0.943	0.883	0.900	1		
DIo/CSm	-0.775	-0.816	-0.871	-0.608	-0.795	-0.860	-0.729	-0.774	-0.859	1	
Yield	0.876	0.826	0.775	0.485	0.725	0.821	0.843	0.817	0.800	-0.686	1

Note: Pearson correlation coefficient ranging from 0.8 to 1.0 indicates very strong correlation, from 0.6 to 0.8 indicates strong correlation, from 0.4 to 0.6 indicates medium correlation, from 0.2 to 0.4 indicates weak correlation, and from 0.0 to 0.2 indicates very weak correlation or no correlation. "-" represents a negative correlation.

4. Discussion

4.1. BA and VA Rates Improved Photosynthesis and Chlorophyll Fluorescence Traits

Biochar and vermicompost rates had a positive effect on photosynthetic parameters and chlorophyll fluorescence traits of treated plants. VA3 treatment had the highest Pn, Ci, Fv, Fm, Fv/Fm, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, and ETo/CSm, which increased by 49%, 65%, 17%, 12%, 4%, 25%, 10%, 15%, and 30%, respectively, compared with CK. Photosynthesis is the basis for crop yield and quality formation, and 95% of organic matter in crops is derived from photosynthesis [42]. Previous studies illustrated the improvement of water- and fertilizer-holding capacity of soil, enhanced photosynthesis of plant leaves, and increased Pn, Tr, and Gs by biochar [43,44]. Our results are supported by Cui et al. [45], who revealed that biochar significantly improved the photosynthesis of plants, and Pn, Tr, and Gs of 3% biochar-treated plants increased by 94%, 35%, and 35%, respectively, compared with the control. As described by Shi et al. [46], the application of vermicompost increased Tr, Gs, Pn, and Ci of tomato plant leaves by 84%, 52%, 21%, and 43%, respectively. Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters are closely related to various reaction processes in photosynthesis [47]. The energy changes in photosynthesis can be reflected by chlorophyll fluorescence-induced kinetic curves. Chlorophyll fluorescence can sensitively reflect changes in leaf photosynthesis and is a probe for studying photosynthesis [48–50]. Zhang et al. [51] reported that biochar reduced the shutdown of active reaction centers in alfalfa leaves, increased Fv/Fm of PSII, and enhanced photosynthesis. Fan et al. [52] showed that biochar increased Fo and *Fv/Fm* of plants, enhanced photosynthetic performance, and promoted plant growth and development. Yang et al. [53] found that the relative chlorophyll content of winter wheat was highly significantly and positively correlated with RC/CSm and ETo/CSm, and that RC/CSm and ETo/CSm were all related to the photosynthetic efficiency of plants, while the level of chlorophyll content reflected the strength of photosynthetic efficiency of plants and changes in fluorescence parameters [54]. Our results are also consistent with the results of Wang et al. [55], who reported that spraying exogenous phytohormones alleviated the impairment of light energy use and overall photosystem II performance in sweet potato leaves by drought stress, with good linear relationships for Pn, Gs, Fv/Fm, ETo/CSm and ABS/CSm. In our study, the effect of vermicompost in improving photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence was more effective than that of biochar at the same application rate, as indicated by the N and P contents of the experimental vermicompost, which were 1.45 and 8.17 times higher than those of biochar (Table 1), thereby enhancing soil fertility and promoting the growth and development of tomato plants. This finding was consistent with the conclusion of previous studies, that is, vermicompost was richer in nutrients than biochar, which could remarkably enhance soil fertility [56,57].

4.2. Yield and WUE in Response to BA and VA Rates

The experimental results revealed significant enhancements in the yield parameters under BA- and VA-amended treatments. The application of biochar and vermicompost significantly increased the average single-fruit weight of tomatoes compared with CK (Table 4). Consequently, the total yield of each treatment was also significantly increased. Under the present experimental conditions, irrigation levels were consistent among the treatments; therefore, the BA and VA rates significantly improved WUE. The results are consistent with those of Blouin et al. [58], who revealed that the application of VA rates significantly increased the yield and biomass of crops. Wang et al. [59] also showed that the VA-amended treatment significantly increased tomato yield. These results were consistent with those of Zhang et al. [60] and Akhtar et al. [61], who reported that the application of biochar promoted the ability of tomato plants to absorb nutrients and increased tomato yield and WUE. This study also found that the application of vermicompost was more effective in improving tomato yield than biochar at the same application rate probably because the application of vermicompost under the experimental conditions increased the effectiveness of the nutrients required by the crop and promoted the photosynthesis and growth of the plant, thereby significantly increasing yield and WUE [62]. Our results are also

supported by Ding et al. [63], who revealed that vermicompost and biochar significantly increased the yield of tomatoes every year compared with the control, and the biomass accumulation showed that vermicompost was better than biochar. Moreover, in our study, the application of 3% vermicompost (equivalent to 16,200 kg·hm⁻²) increased tomato yield by up to 32.56%, which was better than the 5% vermicompost treatment, probably because the excessive accumulation of humic acid in the high content (5%) of vermicompost inhibited plant growth and development, resulting in lower yield [64,65]. As described by Wu et al. [66], among the treatments applying different rates of vermicompost (7500, 15,000, and 22,500 kg·hm⁻²), the highest tomato yield was obtained in the 15,000 kg·hm⁻² treatment, which was consistent with the results of our study.

5. Conclusions

The results showed that BA- and VA-amended treatments had a positive effect on improving photosynthetic parameters and chlorophyll fluorescence traits, particularly at the 3% application rate of vermicompost. The application of biochar and vermicompost effectively increased photosynthetic parameters (Pn, Ci, and Tr) as shown by studying the improvement of chlorophyll fluorescence traits (Fv/Fm, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, ETo/CSm, and *DIo/CSm*), producing organic substances needed by the crop, thereby increasing yield. Moreover, vermicompost with the same rate was significantly more effective in enhancing Pn, Ci, Fv, Fm, Fv/Fm, Fv/Fo, ABC/CSm, TRo/CSm, and ETo/CSm of plants than biochar, resulting in significantly higher yield in VA_3 and VA_5 than in BA_3 and BA_5 . The WUE of plants under CK, BA₃, VA₃, BA₅, and VA₅ treatments increased from 31.2 to 37.8, 41.4, 38.5, and 39.2 kg \cdot m⁻³, respectively. The results of Pearson correlation analysis revealed that biochar and vermicompost rates improved the net photosynthesis and light energy absorbed, trapped, and transported per cross section of plant leaves, which could increase tomato yield. These results indicated that vermicompost was more effective than biochar at the same rate in improving photosynthesis as shown by studying chlorophyll fluorescence and increasing tomato yield, particularly at 3% application rate.

Author Contributions: J.Z. and X.L. conceived and designed the experimental idea; X.L. and Q.W. performed the experiments; X.L. analyzed the data and wrote the paper. X.L., Y.A.H., J.Z., T.C. and H.S. revised the paper. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The work was financially supported by the National Key Research and Development Program of China (Grant No. 2019YFD1001900).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Zhou, J.B.; Zhai, B.N.; Chen, Z.J.; Ma, A.S.; Shang, H.B. Spatial accumulation and potential environmental effects of soil nutrients in protected vegetable fields. J. Agric. Environ. Sci. 2004, 2, 332–335.
- Han, P.; Bayram, Y.; Shaltiel-Harpaz, L.; Sohrabi, F.; Saji, A.; Esenali, U.T.; Jalilov, A.; Ali, A.; Shashank, P.R.; Ismoilov, K. Tuta absoluta continues to disperse in Asia: Damage, ongoing management and future challenges. *J. Pest. Sci.* 2019, *92*, 1317–1327. [CrossRef]
- 3. Jiang, L.L.; Wang, H.Y.; Zong, X.J.; Wang, X.F.; Wu, C. Effects of soil treated fungicide fluopimomide on tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) disease control and plant growth. *Open Life Sci.* **2022**, *17*, 800–810. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fan, S.X.; Cui, J.X.; Li, D.; Fu, L.T.; He, X.Y.; Wen, J. Effects of different improvement measures on soil fertility and tomato quality in vegetable facilities. J. Agric. Eng. 2021, 37, 58–64.
- Zhang, Y.W.; Zhao, P.T.; Li, J.M.; Zhao, X.G.; Shang, Y.; Zhang, Z.L.; Zhao, Z.P.; Li, L.H. Changes in photosynthetic characteristics of black wheat and their effects on yield. *Chin. Agron. Bull.* 2022, 38, 7–16.
- Fu, L.; Bai, X.M.; Yang, X.H.; Wu, Y.X.; Ai, X.Z. Photosynthetic characteristics of grafted peppers and their effects on yield and quality. J. Hortic. 2013, 40, 449–457. [CrossRef]

- 7. Yang, G.D.; Zhou, B.L.; Fu, Y.W.; Zhang, E.P.; Li, M. Photosynthetic characteristics, dry matter distribution and their effects on yield in different population structures of aubergine. *J. Hortic.* **2004**, *31*, 603–606. [CrossRef]
- Zhu, W.J.; Zheng, M.J.; Kang, Y.G. Effects of different light intensities on photosynthesis of three lianas. Chin. Agron. Bull. 2022, 38, 27–31.
- Zhang, K.; Zhang, B.; Wang, R.Y.; Wang, H.L.; Zhao, H.; Zhao, F.N.; Qi, Y.; Chen, F. Effects of elevated CO₂ concentration on photosynthesis and water physiological and ecological characteristics of spring wheat in semi-arid areas. *J. Ecol. Environ.* 2021, 30, 223–232. [CrossRef]
- 10. Sun, M.; Ma, D.Y.; Ji, L.J.; Hu, H.Y.; Ding, X.L.; Wang, Z.P. Effects of different nutrient supply on photosynthesis and fruit growth and development of "Rose Fragrance" grapes. *North. Hortic.* **2017**, *02*, 16–22.
- 11. Palansooriya, K.N.; Ok, Y.S.; Awad, Y.M.; Lee, S.S.; Sung, J.K.; Koutsospyros, A.; Moon, D.H. Impacts of biochar application on upland agriculture: A review. J. Environ. Manag. 2019, 234, 52–64. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Hang, M.; Liu, D.; Sun, S.Q.; Yang, X.Y.; Chen, Q.Q.; Zhang, T.; Lan, J.Y. Effect of biochar on photosynthetic characteristics of cotton in different continuous cropping cotton field. *Hubei Agric. Sci.* 2015, *54*, 6202–6206. (In Chinese)
- Gui, L.Q.; Zhang, Y.L.; Wang, Y.J. Research advance on effects of biochar on soil fertilityand crop's yield and quality. Mod. Agric. Sci. Technol. 2020, 16, 136–139.
- 14. Zhu, Y.J. Study on the Effect of Biochar Substrate on the Growth of Tomato and Rape. Master's Thesis, Shandong Agricultural University, Tai'an, China, 2016.
- Cao, X.N.; Meng, J.; Yang, T.X.; Gao, X.; Chen, W.F. Effect of biochar on cherry tomato fruit quality and yield. *Jiangsu Agric. Sci.* 2018, 46, 101–104.
- 16. Lu, J.J.; Gao, C.H.; Li, J.H.; Jin, D.S.; Lu, C.D.; Dong, Y.Z. Effect of straw biochar on soil nutrients and corn growth in Loess Area. *Chin. Agron. Bull.* 2017, 33, 92. [CrossRef]
- Zuo, Y.N.; Zhang, J.X.; Zhao, R.; Dai, H.Y.; Zhang, Z.H. Application of vermicompost improves strawberry growth and quality through increased photosynthesis rate, free radical scavenging and soil enzymatic activity. *Sci. Hortic.* 2018, 233, 132–140. [CrossRef]
- Hosseinzadeh, S.R.; Amiri, H.; Ismaili, A. Effect of vermicompost fertilizer on photosynthetic characteristics of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) under drought stress. *Photosynthetica* 2015, 54, 87–92. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, C.R.; Shan, S.L.; Wang, Y.M.; Luo, K.; Zhou, X.F.; Huang, M.; Zhang, H.D.; Fan, L.; Cao, F.B.; Chen, J.N.; et al. Effects of earthworm manure application on rice growth characteristics and yield under different nitrogen levels. *Chin. Rice.* 2017, 23, 67–70.
- Zhou, D.X.; Shen, X.Q.; Zhou, L.R.; Cui, L.J. Effect of vermicompost on agronomic characters and quality of tomato. J. Northeast Agric. Univ. 2012, 43, 28–33.
- Joshi, R.; Vig, A.P. Effect of vermicompost on growth, yield and quality of tomato (*Lycopersicum esculentum L.*). Afr. J. Basic Appl. Sci. 2010, 2, 117–123.
- 22. Geng, D.; Shan, L.; Li, Y. Effect of soil water stress on chlorophyll fluorescence and antioxidant enzyme activity in reaumuria soongorica seedling. *Chin. Bull. Bot.* 2014, 49, 282–291. (In Chinese)
- Mauro, R.P.; Agnello, M.; Distefano, M.; Sabatino, L.; Primo, A.S.; Leonardi, C.; Giuffrida, F. Chlorophyll Fluorescence, Photosynthesis and Growth of Tomato Plants as Affected by Long-Term Oxygen Root Zone Deprivation and Grafting. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 137. [CrossRef]
- 24. Groher, T.; Schmittgen, S.; Fiebig, A.; Noga, G.; Hunsche, M. Suitability of fluorescence indices for the estimation of fruit maturity compounds in tomato fruits. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 2018, *98*, 5656–5665. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, Z.X.; Li, R.J.; Mu, J.; Yang, Z.L.; Sun, S.; Yan, Y.; Wang, G.Y. Effects of biochar on physiological characteristics of cucumber seedlings in diethyl hexyl phthalate contaminated soil. *Plant Physiol. J.* 2020, *56*, 73–82.
- Cheng, H.T.; Li, Q.L.; Liu, J.K.; Yan, T.L.; Zhang, Q.Y.; Wang, J.C. Effects of earthworm dung soil composite matrix on the growth and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics of Leonurus japonicus seedlings. J. Trop. Crops 2017, 38, 2266–2272.
- Gong, Z.N.; Fan, Y.B.; Liu, H.; Zhao, W. Chlorophyll fluorescence response characteristics of typical emergent plants under different total nitrogen gradient. *Chin. Bull. Bot.* 2016, *51*, 631–638. (In Chinese)
- Liu, M.L.; Liu, X.Y.; Pan, G.X. Advance in effect of biochar on plant phenotype and gene expression. *Plant Nutr. Fert. Sci.* 2017, 23, 789–798, (In Chinese with English Abstract).
- 29. Gong, Z. Chinese Soil Taxonomy; Science Press: Beijing, China, 2001.
- Tandon, H. Methods of Analysis of Soils, Plants, Waters and Fertilizers; Fertilizers Development and Consultation Organization: New Delhi, India, 1993; pp. 58–60.
- 31. Sims, J.R.; Jackson, G.D. Rapid analysis of soil nitrate with chromotropic acid 1. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 1971, 35, 603–606. [CrossRef]
- 32. Henriksen, A.; Selmer-Olsen, A. Automatic methods for determining nitrate and nitrite in water and soil extracts. *Analyst* **1970**, 95, 514–518. [CrossRef]
- 33. Jaiswal, P. Soil, Plant and Water Analysis; Kalyani Publishers: New Delhi, India, 2011.
- Sommers, D.W.; Nelson, L.E. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In *Methods of Soil Analysis*; Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy: Madison, WI, USA, 1996.
- 35. Marx, E.; Hart, J.; Stevens, R. Soil Test Interpretation Guide EC 1478 Extension & Station Communications; Oregon State University: Corvallis, OR, USA, 1999.

- 36. Li, J.M.; Wang, P.; Li, J. Effects of irrigation amount on physiology, biochemistry and quality of greenhouse tomato under sub-low temperature. *Agric. Eng.* 2010, *26*, 129–134. (In Chinese)
- 37. Farouhar, G.D.; Sharkey, T.D. Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 1982, 33, 317–345. [CrossRef]
- Strasser, R.J.; Tsimillimichael, M.; Qiang, S.; Goltsev, V. Simultaneous in vivo recording of prompt and delayed fluorescence and 820-nm reflection changes during drying and after rehydration of the resurrection plant Haberlea rhodopensis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2010, 1797, 1313–1326. [CrossRef]
- 39. Yang, C.; Zhang, Z.; Gao, H.; Liu, M.; Fan, X. Mechanisms by which the infection of *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* (Lib.) de Bary affects the photosynthetic performance in tobacco leaves. *BMC Plant Biol.* **2014**, *14*, 240. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Liu, Q.Q.; Ma, S.B.; Feng, X.H.; Sun, Y.; Yi, Y.J.; Liu, W.X. Effects of grafting on the dynamic characteristics of rapid chlorophyll fluorescence induction of Pepper Seedlings under high and low temperature stress. *Acta Hortic. Sin.* 2016, 43, 885–896.
- Ouda, S.; El-Mesiry, T.; Gaballah, M. Increasing water use efficiency for wheat grown under water stress conditions. J. Appl. Sci. Res. 2007, 3, 1766–1773.
- Zhang, Y.W.; Zhao, X.G.; Guan, Z.B.; Hou, J.L.; Wang, X.F.; Dong, Y.H.; Tian, J.H.; Li, D.R.; Wang, Z.Y. Research progress on the screening of high light efficiency germplasm of crops. *Chin. Agron. Bull.* 2019, 35, 1–11.
- Liu, H.M.; Zhang, S.Y.; Guo, H.G.; Lin, J.J.; Li, Z.T.; Yan, F.C.; Zhu, G.S.; Xu, J.Y.; Zhao, C.J. Effects of biochar on Millet seedling growth and photosynthetic characteristics. *Agric. Res. Arid. Areas* 2020, *38*, 86–91.
- 44. Alfadil, A.A.; Xia, J.H.; Shaghaleh, H.; Hamoud, Y.A.; Ibrahim, J.N.; Hamad, A.A.A.; Rahim, S.F.; Sheteiwy, M.S.; Wu, T.N. Wheat straw biochar application improves the morphological, physiological, and yield attributes of maize and the physicochemical properties of soil under deficit irrigation and salinity stress. J. Plant Nutr. 2021, 44, 2399–2420. [CrossRef]
- 45. Cui, Q.; Xia, J.B.; Liu, J.; Yang, H.; Peng, L. Effects of biochar and EM bacteria on the growth and photosynthetic characteristics of Sesbania in saline alkali soil of the Yellow River Delta. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **2020**, *31*, 3101–3110. [CrossRef]
- Shi, J.W.; Wang, Y.D.; Guan, Z.H.; Yao, L.; Lu, Y.Q.; Zhang, Y.Q.; Yang, L.J. Regulation of Vermicompost on Photosynthetic Characteristics and yield of greenhouse tomato leaves. *China Soil Fertil.* 2020, 04, 165–171.
- 47. Xia, L.; Zhao, R.; Wang, Y.Q.; Jin, H.Y.; Wu, X.D.; Ge, J.Z.; Zang, F.Y.; Li, Z.F.; Wang, J.L. Effects of drought stress on photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics of summer maize Effects of drought stress on photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics of summer maize. J. North China Agric. 2019, 34, 106–114.
- Hu, W.H.; Yu, J.Q. Effect of low temperature and low light on photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of tomato leaves. J. Hortic. 2001, 28, 41–46.
- 49. Luo, J.; Zhang, M.Q. Effects of water stress on chlorophyll a fluorescence kinetics of different sugarcane varieties. J. Fujian Agric. Univ. 2000, 29, 18–22.
- Zhao, L.Y.; Deng, X.P.; Shan, L. The osmotic stress on chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of wheat seedlings Effects of osmotic stress on chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of wheat seedlings. J. Appl. Ecol. 2005, 16, 1261–1264.
- Zhang, J.H.; Wu, B.W.R.; Wang, G.L.; Jia, C.L.; Zhang, Q.P. Effect of biochar application on PS II photochemical characteristics of alfalfa leaves. *Shandong Agric. Sci.* 2018, 50, 66–71. [CrossRef]
- 52. Fan, L.L.; Muhammad, w.K.T.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, X.; Rong, J.; Zheng, Y. Effects of different biochar treatments on Photosynthetic fluorescence characteristics of Fujian cypress. J. Cent. South Univ. For. Technol. 2021, 41, 37–44. [CrossRef]
- Yang, C.; Du, S.M.; Zhang, D.Q.; Li, X.D.; Shi, Y.H.; Shao, Y.H. A method for estimating the relative chlorophyll content of wheat leaves based on chlorophyll fluorescence parameters for estimating the relative chlorophyll content of wheat leaves. *J. Appl. Ecol.* 2021, 32, 175–181.
- Xu, L.; Gao, Z.Q.; An, W.; Li, Y.L.; Jiao, X.F.; Wang, C.Y. The Photosynthetic characteristics of flag leaf under spring sowing conditions in winter wheat Changes in photosynthetic characteristics and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters of flag leaves under spring sowing conditions and their relationship with yield. J. Appl. Ecol. 2016, 27, 133–142.
- Wang, J.Q.; Li, H.; Liu, Q.; Zeng, L.S. Effects of exogenous plant hormone spraying on physiological characteristics and yield of sweet potato under drought stress. J. Appl. Ecol. 2020, 31, 189–198.
- 56. Wang, M.Y.; Jing, D.W.; Zhang, H.; Li, S.P.; Zheng, F. Effects of earthworm manure on active organic carbon and microbial activity of cowpea soil. J. Nucl. Agric. 2016, 30, 1404–1410. (In Chinese)
- 57. Dong, L.L.; He, J.Q.; Lu, C.Y.; Shi, L.L.; Zhou, X.W.; Tao, Y.Y.; Wang, H.H.; Shen, M.X. Effect of biomass carbon combined with earthworm manure on soil organic carbon and rice growth. *China Soil Fertil.* **2021**, *2*, 87–95. (In Chinese)
- Blouin, M.; Barrere, J.; Meyer, N.; Lartigue, S.; Barot, S.; Mathieu, J. Vermicompost significantly affects plant growth: A meta-analysis. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 2019, 39, 34. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Y.F.; Wang, C.C.; Wu, Z. Effects of sheep manure and earthworm manure on Agronomic Characters and quality of tomato. North. Hortic. 2020, 10, 51–55.
- 60. Zhang, R.H.; Lan, C.J.; Liu, W.; Jin, Q.; Guo, Y.; Yu, J.H.; Yin, L.Y.; Li, C.J.; Huang, J.Q. Effect of biochar on growth, yield and quality of open-field cherry tomato in counter season. *Mol. Plant Breed.* **2019**, *17*, 4831–4839. (In Chinese)
- 61. Akhtar, S.S.; Li, G.T.; Andersen, M.N.; Liu, F.L. Biochar enhances yield and quality of tomato under reduced irrigation. *Agric. Water Manag.* **2014**, *31*, 37–44. [CrossRef]
- 62. Teng, M.J.; Wan, B.B.; Wang, D.S.; Jiao, J.G.; Liu, M.Q.; Chen, X.Y. Effects of vermicompost application modes on growth of two tomato cultivars and soil fertility. *Soil* 2017, 49, 712–718.

- 63. Ding, S.P.; Zhang, G.X.; Yao, Y.T.; Sun, Y.S.; Ding, F.J. Effects of combined application of earthworm manure biochar on growth and Photosynthesis of protected tomato in saline alkali land. *North. Hortic.* **2021**, *18*, 60–67. (In Chinese) [CrossRef]
- 64. Maccarthy, P.; Claap, C.E.; Malcolm, R.L. *Humic Substances in Soil and Cropsciences*; American Society of Agronomy and Soil Science Society of America: Madison, WI, USA, 1990; p. 161Socie.
- 65. Brown, G. How do earthworms affect microfloral and faunal community diversity? Plant Soil 1995, 170, 209–231. [CrossRef]
- Wu, J.; Li, J.Y.; Liu, N. Effects of earthworm manure organic fertilizer on tomato yield, quality and soil chemical properties. Shanghai J. Agric. 2018, 34, 16–19. [CrossRef]



Article

Additive and Non-Additive Effects on the Control of Key Agronomic Traits in Popcorn Lines under Contrasting Phosphorus Conditions

Talles de Oliveira Santos ^{1,*}, Fábio Tomaz de Oliveira ¹, Antônio Teixeira do Amaral Junior ^{1,*}, Janeo Eustáquio de Almeida Filho ², Rosimeire Barboza Bispo ¹, Marta Simone Mendonça de Freitas ³, José Francisco Teixeira do Amaral ⁴, Samuel Henrique Kamphorst ¹, Valter Jário de Lima ¹, Flávia Nicácio Viana ¹, Guilherme Ferreira Pena ¹, Pedro Henrique Araújo Diniz Santos ¹, Wallace de Paula Bernado ¹, Messias Gonzaga Pereira ¹, Jurandi Gonçalves de Oliveira ¹, Ricardo Enrique Bressan-Smith ¹ and Roberto dos Santos Trindade ⁵

- ¹ Plant Genetic Breeding Laboratory, Center for Agricultural Sciences and Technologies (CCTA), Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF), Campos dos Goytacazes 28013-602, RJ, Brazil
- ² Bayer, Estrada da Invernadinha, 2000, Coxilha 99145-000, RS, Brazil
- ³ Plant Science Laboratory, Center for Agricultural Sciences and Technologies (CCTA), Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF), Campos dos Goytacazes 28013-602, RJ, Brazil
- ⁴ Department of Rural Engineering, Center for Agronomic Sciences and Engineering, Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (UFES), Alegre 29500-000, ES, Brazil
- ⁵ National Research Center for Maize and Sorghum, Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation, MG-424 Highway, Km 45, Sete Lagoas 35701-970, MG, Brazil
- * Correspondence: tallesdeoliveira@live.com (T.d.O.S.); amaraljr@uenf.br (A.T.d.A.J.)

Abstract: Phosphorus is a non-renewable natural resource that will run out of reserves in the upcoming decades, making it essential to understanding the inheritance of nutrient use efficiency for selecting superior genotypes. This study investigated the additive and non-additive effects of commercially relevant traits for the popcorn crop (grain yield—GY, popping expansion—PE, and expanded popcorn volume per hectare—PV) in different conditions of phosphorus (P) availability in two locations in Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil. Six S₇ lines previously selected for P use—L59, L70, and P7, efficient and responsive; and L54, L75, and L80, inefficient and non-responsive—were used as testers in crosses with 15 progenies from the fifth cycle of intrapopulation recurrent selection of UENF-14, with adaptation to the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State. Using the Griffing diallel analysis, P use efficiency was predominantly additive in the expression of PE, and non-additive effects were prominent for GY and PV. For obtaining genotypes that are efficient for phosphorus use, it is recommended that heterosis with parents that provide additive gene accumulation for PE be explored.

Keywords: abiotic stress; genetic control; Griffing diallel analysis; Zea mays var. everta

1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is the second most consumed nutrient in agriculture, surpassed only by nitrogen, and is limiting for agricultural productivity worldwide [1]. Despite playing a crucial role in crop productivity, its soil reserves (organic and inorganic forms) have limited supply to the plants because of its fixation and formation of complexes with other soil nutrients [2,3].

Maize (*Zea mays*) is one of the most widely cultivated species of commercial interest, both as a staple food and for industrial use, in tropical and temperate climatic soils in the world. Under cultivation, especially in acidic and alkaline soils, large amounts of P fertilizer are applied to maize fields to maximize yields. The consequence is high amounts of high-cost phosphate fertilizers being applied to P-deficient soils to achieve maximum yields to guarantee food security for the growing world population, which will hit 10 billion inhabitants by 2050 [4]. Therefore, to meet this demand, the global production of phosphate

Citation: Santos, T.d.O.; de Oliveira, F.T.; Amaral Junior, A.T.d.; de Almeida Filho, J.E.; Bispo, R.B.; de Freitas, M.S.M.; Amaral, J.F.T.d.; Kamphorst, S.H.; de Lima, V.J.; Viana, F.N.; et al. Additive and Non-Additive Effects on the Control of Key Agronomic Traits in Popcorn Lines under Contrasting Phosphorus Conditions. *Plants* 2022, *11*, 2216. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants11172216

Academic Editor: Przemysław Barłóg

Received: 26 July 2022 Accepted: 23 August 2022 Published: 26 August 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). fertilizers will require a significant increase in phosphate extraction in the next decades. This is, however, a non-renewable resource that is likely to become scarcer as its use becomes more frequent [5].

Accordingly, promoting phosphorus use efficiency in crop plants is key to sustainable agricultural development; this is especially important in tropical and subtropical regions, where there is greater loss of the nutrient due to high temperatures and heavy rainfall, together with the fixation of the nutrient by iron and aluminum oxides in the soil, resulting in the loss of about 70–80% of the nutrient applied to crops [6–8].

Phosphorus deficiency in soil leads to physiological and biochemical disturbances in plants. As a result, they show a reduction in leaf area, height, dry matter, and major metabolic activities [9]. This is because phosphorus plays a fundamental part in the production of energy and enzyme activation, in addition to being a structural element of nucleic acids and phospholipids and participating in processes such as cell division [8]. P deficiency generates significant impacts on commercially important crops, among them popcorn (*Zea mays everta*), causing large losses in yields.

The knowledge of the genetic basis regarding agronomic traits of interest is extremely relevant for plant breeding programs that seek to increase crop yield in areas where there is low soil-nutrient availability by means of generating superior hybrids and segregants for limiting conditions [10]. To this end, diallel crosses are widely used in cultivated species to provide genetic information by estimating the combining abilities of the parents and hybrids [11]. This strategy enables the estimation of the existence of additive effects from the parents and non-additive effects in crosses [12]. Diallel analysis, however, may become impractical depending on the number of lines to be used, requiring large experimental areas and labor in manual crosses. To solve this problem, the testcross method proposed by Davis [13] has been used as an option, allowing the evaluation of many lines in crosses with testers. By doing so, lines with inferior agronomic performance may be eliminated. As a result, the crosses show the most promising lines, thus making the procedure more effective [14].

Previous studies carried out for popcorn have proven the genetic action of the main traits of economic importance in the crop. In environments with adequate water and nutrient supply [15–17] and under water-deficit conditions [18,19] as well as P and N stress [10,20,21], additive genetic action prevails for grain popping expansion, while non-additive action has been the most important in the expression of grain yield under water stress [14,18,19]. These results are also consistent with studies conducted with biotic stressors [22–26].

Despite the relevance, only one research paper has been developed so far [10] toward understanding the influence of additive and non-additive effects on popcorn, a crop that earns about USD 1 billion annually in the United States. Given this, this study was considered relevant to contributing to filling the current gaps in knowledge regarding the genetic control of economically important traits for popcorn under phosphorus-limiting conditions. Therefore, the general and specific combining abilities and the genetic merit of 90 testcross hybrids of popcorn were estimated, and inferences were made about their additive and non-additive gene effects on the key agronomic traits of the crop. The goal was to propose breeding strategies for popcorn to develop cultivars adapted to phosphoruslimiting conditions as an option for leveraging Brazilian agribusiness.

2. Results

2.1. Genetic Variability for Agronomic Traits Evaluated under Contrasting Phosphorus Conditions in Both Environments

A significant difference between the genotypes (G) at a 1% probability level ($p \le 0.01$) was detected using the F test for all the traits (grain yield—GY, popping expansion—PE, and expanded popcorn volume—PV) for both levels of phosphorus availability, in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara. The source of variation in phosphorus availability (P) and the G × P interaction also exhibited significant effects ($p \le 0.01$) for all the traits evaluated in the two locations studied (Table 1).

		Mean Squares							
SV	DF	Camp	os dos Goyta	cazes					
		GY	PE	PV	GY	PE	PV		
Block/Phosphorus	4	554,624.5	9.5	529.0	103,022.6	3.3	116.5		
Genotype (G)	89	954,080.6 **	69.6 **	1101.1 **	992,731.8 **	87.40 **	1414.1 **		
GCĂ I	14	1,672,189.3 **	247.9 **	2585.7 **	2,244,297.7 *	314.3 **	4149.6 **		
GCA II	5	4,395,517.2 *	279.9 **	2618.4 ^{ns}	4,047,292.2 *	398.7 **	5616.3 *		
SCA	70	564,640.9 **	18.9 **	695.8 **	524,233.5 *	19.8 ^{ns}	566.9 ns		
Phosphorus (P)	1	36,456,840.8 **	246.3 **	37,105.2 **	17,515,196.9 **	255.7 **	27,642.8 **		
$G \times P$	89	330,925.0 **	14.6 **	317.0 **	423,063.8 **	16.7 **	509.3 **		
$GCA I \times P$	14	439,193.5 **	33.0 **	287.6 ^{ns}	423,063.9 **	13.9 **	848.3 **		
$GCA II \times P$	5	684,529.0 **	20.6 *	956.3 **	845,321.8 **	8.8 **	868.8 **		
$SCA \times P$	70	284,013.2 **	10.5 **	277.2 **	727,343.1 **	17.8 **	415.9 **		
Residue	356	178,327.5	7.0	179.3	209,610.6	2.8	171.1		
Mean		2514.8	27.6	69.6	3143.7	26.2	82.4		
CVe (%)		16.8	9.6	19.2	14.6	6.4	15.9		

Table 1. Summary of the analysis of variance, of the general combining ability (GCA), and of the specific combining ability (SCA) for the agronomic traits evaluated in testcrosses under contrasting conditions of phosphorus in soil in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara.

** and *—significant at 1% and 5% level probability using the F test; and ns—not significant at 5% probability using the F test; SV—source of variation; DF—degree of freedom; CVe (%)—experimental coefficient of variation; PE—popping expansion; GY—grain yield; and PV—expanded popcorn volume per hectare.

Regarding the effects of the general combining ability of the progenies (GCA I) and the testers (GCA II), the estimates were significant for all traits except for PV in Campos dos Goytacazes. Analyzing the mean square values for specific combining ability (SCA), it was observed that, for the GY, PE, and PV traits, there were highly significant values ($p \le 0.01$) in Campos dos Goytacazes. In Itaocara, there was only significance for GY at a 5% probability level (Table 1).

There was high significance for the GY and PE traits in Campos dos Goytacazes and for GY, PE, and PV in Itaocara regarding the progeny interaction with phosphorus availability (GCA I \times P). The tester interactions with phosphorus levels (GCA II \times A) and between specific combining ability and phosphorus levels (SCA \times P) were found to be significant for all the traits evaluated.

2.2. General Combining Ability Effects

General combining ability (GCA) estimates provide information about the additive effects of genes for the traits studied. From this, it may be stated that lines L682, L688, and L686, in Campos dos Goytacazes, showed the three highest values—338.431, 310.452, and 290.454, respectively—for GY in the environment without induced stress. In turn, for the low-phosphorus environment, the most positive values were assigned to the genotypes L688, L695, and L689 (313.311, 280.976, and 207.294, respectively) (Figure 1).

Considering the testers in question for GY, three—L70, L59, and L75—in the environment with high phosphorus levels and four—L80, L59, L70, and L75—in the environment with low phosphorus levels displayed positive deviations. Three of the best lines used as testers—L70, L59, and L75—presented positive values in both phosphorus conditions, and L59 was the tester that showed the lowest variation when comparing 367 to 739, ranking well in both high and low soil-phosphorus conditions in the Campos dos Goytacazes environment (Figure 1).

For the general combining ability effect for the PE trait, eight lines at the optimal phosphorus level and seven lines at the low phosphorus level showed positive values for PE, especially for L681, L689, and L690 at the optimal level and L681, L688, and L689 at the low P level (Figure 1). Lines L681 and L689 demonstrated the highest effects of GCA and the lowest variations when both environments were analyzed. Favorable performance was seen for the P7 and L54 lines in the environment with high phosphorus levels when evaluating the testers for PE. As for the phosphorus-deficient environment, the testers with



positive values were P7, L80, and L54. Thus, the tester P7 achieved good performance regardless of the environmental conditions.

Figure 1. Estimates of general combining ability effects (*ĝi*) for three traits evaluated in 21 popcorn parents in a partial diallel scheme in Campos dos Goytacazes. HP—high phosphorus level; LP—low phosphorus level; PE—popping expansion; GY—grain yield; and PV—popcorn expanded volume per hectare; (–) signal indicating negative values.

For the PV trait, the GCA estimates identified six lines—L688, L689, L691, L681, L685, and L696—with positive values in the environment with optimal phosphorus availability. On the other hand, in the environment with a low supply of the nutrient for this same trait, eight lines—L688, L689, L695, L683, L681, L691, L696, and L684—showed positive values. In the simultaneous analysis of the environments, the lines with the best results were L688 and L689, respectively. Additionally, considering the PV, of the six testers, three—L70, P7, and L59—expressed positive results in the environment with high phosphorus levels. In the environment with stress, only two testers—L80 and L70—had positive values. Among the genotypes with good results, tester line L70, from the BRS Angela population, showed positive values for PV at both phosphorus levels in Campos dos Goytacazes (Figure 1).

The general combining ability effects for GY in Itaocara indicated that lines L694, L689, L682, L684, L686, L688, L690, and L683 had positive deviations from the mean in the environment with fertilizer recommendations. Under the nutrient-deficiency restriction, the best lines were L689, L694, L685, L688, L693, L682, L684, and L695. Given the best performances, lines L694, L689, L682, L684, and L688 were in both study environments. Thus, it should be stressed that lines L694 and L689 had the best positions in the ranking (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Estimates of general combining ability effects (*§i*) for three traits evaluated in 21 popcorn parents in a partial diallel scheme in Itaocara. HP—high phosphorus level; LP—low phosphorus level; PE—popping expansion; GY—grain yield; and PV—popcorn expanded volume per hectare; (–) signal indicating negative values.

As for the \hat{gi} effects of the testers for GY in Itaocara, three lines—L80, L70, and L59 showed positive values in the environment with satisfactory fertilization, while in the environment with induced stress, four genotypes—L59, L70, L75, and L80—were seen as the most relevant. It should be observed that, when analyzing the ranking of the two environments, tester L70 remained stable, ranking second, surpassed only by lines L80 and L59 in the environment with fertilizer recommendation and phosphorus restriction, respectively (Figure 2).

The evaluations conducted in Itaocara showed the following hierarchical ranking of the lines with positive values for the PE trait in the environment where phosphorus was applied: L681, L688, L690, L689, L691, L694, L696, L685, and L683. For low levels of phosphorus in the soil, however, there were changes in the performances of the lines, which began to be arranged according to the ranking of best performances, as follows: L691, L681, L688, L683, L685, L690, L696, L694, and L689 (Figure 2). Regardless of the interaction with the phosphorus levels, the genotypes expressing positive performance were the same. It is worth noting, however, that changes were caused in the ranking of the best genotypes, and that lines L681 and L688 displayed good stability, maintaining high positive values. Regarding the effect of the six testers studied, it may be stated that there was no change resulting from the environments, especially for P7, L70, and L80, in the expression of positive values (Figure 2).

The evaluations performed in Itaocara indicated that, for the trait of popcorn expanded volume per hectare (PV), lines L694, L690, L688, L688, L689, L681, L683, and L696; and L689, L688, L685, L694, L683, L691, and L696, were the most prominent in environments with optimal and low phosphorus levels, respectively. Among these, lines L694, L688, and L689 expressed positive values higher than 12.201 in a range from -21.73 to 22.80. This confirms the good performance of these lines when considering the effects of the general combining ability of the S₇ progenies (Figure 2). The PV trait also allowed for discrimination of the testers L70, L80, and P7 in the environment with a phosphorus supply. As for the nutrient-deficient environment, the genotypes that expressed the highest positive values were: L70, P7, L59, and L80. Tester L70 showed good performance in both environments, with positive values of 11.713 and 8.391, respectively, when evaluated in Itaocara (Figure 2).

Considering the set of traits evaluated for \hat{gi} , the lines with the best performance for GY and PE in the environment with high phosphorus availability in Campos dos Goytacazes were: L682, L688, and L686; and L681, L689, and L688, respectively. For the PV variable, the genotypes with the highest positive values were: L688, L689, L691, and L681. Of special relevance is the phenotypic plasticity of line L688, which exhibited positive values for all the variables, suggesting that there is a range of favorable alleles in this parent.

The best lines for GY in the stressed environment were L688, L695, and L689, and for PE, L681, L688, and L689. It is emphasized that lines L688, L689, and L695 ranked highest for PV. Particularly noteworthy is the good positive deviation performance of L688 and L689 in the nutrient-deficient environment, confirming the presence of favorable alleles for phosphorus use efficiency in the parents from the UENF-14 population (Figures 1 and 2).

When the set of testers was evaluated, it can be seen that, for GY and PE, the genotypes L70 and L59, and P7 and L54, respectively, had good performances in the environment with the optimal phosphorus level in Campos dos Goytacazes. Regarding the PV trait, the most prominent genotypes were L70, P7, and L59, as they showed the highest positive values. In the environment with low phosphorus levels, a change in the performance of the testers was observed, in which the highest positive values were seen for lines L80, L59, and L70 relative to the GY trait. The most relevant genotypes for PE were P7, L80, and L54. The PV allowed tester lines L80 and L70 to stand out in presenting the highest positive values.

When comparing the individual values of GY and PE for the PV trait in relation to the experiments carried out in Itaocara, the genotypes L694, L690, and L688 gave the best performances. The order of the most positive values for variables GY and PE was attributed to lines: L694, L689, L682; and L681, L688, L690, respectively. Based on the considerations, line L688 showed good performance for both PV and PE and is considered a promising genotype. Regarding the environment with low phosphorus levels, the lines with the best performances were L689, L694, and L685 for GY; and L691, L681, and L688 for PE. Considering the PV, the genotypes with the highest positive values were L689, L688, and L685 (Figures 1 and 2).

Upon analyzing the testers when grown in Itaocara, differences in performance could also be identified. The most prominent positive values were found in L80, L70, and L59 for GY; and in P7, L70, and L80 for PE in the environment with the proper adjustments for phosphorus. Considerations carried out for PV allowed us to indicate the parents L70, L80, and P7 as the most promising. For the nutrient-deficient condition, the variable PV enabled us to distinguish lines L70, P7, and L59 as having the most positive values. For GY and PE, the genotypes L59, L70, and L75; and P7, L70, and L80, respectively, were the most relevant in this same environment.

2.3. Genetic Merit of Hybrids

Specific combining ability effects (SCA— \hat{s}_{ij}) are the result of the presence of dominance gene effects. The effects of \hat{s}_{ij} for GY in Campos dos Goytacazes showed 46 hybrids with positive variances, suggesting that the dominance gene effects prevail, which expressed amplitudes from 2.289 to 616.921 in the environment with phosphorus supplementation. The three hybrid combinations that exhibited the highest heterosis, considering \hat{s}_{ij} for this

trait, were L691 \times P7, L686 \times L80, and L689 \times L59. Among the testers, the parents L75, L54, and L80 were involved in most crosses with positive SCA values, with magnitudes of 21.73%, 17.39%, and 17.39%, respectively (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Estimates of the genotypic value (\hat{s}_{ij}) of hybrids for grain yield (GY) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Campos dos Goytacazes. (–) signal indicating negative values.

On the other hand, in the environment with induced stress, the number of genotypes with positive values for \hat{s}_{ij} was significantly reduced. Among the 90 hybrids tested, only 37 crosses expressed positive magnitudes, which ranged from 2.601 to 1189.951. The most vigorous genotypes for \hat{s}_{ij} were L684 × L75, L691 × L70, and L686 × L54. As for the highest percentages of crosses with positive estimates in this case, they occurred with the testers L80 and L59, with values of 21.62% and 18.91%, respectively (Figure 3).

Therefore, the selection of parents based on additive genetic merit in Campos dos Goytacazes enabled the identification of genotypes with genetic potential to be phenotypically superior for each environment. In the experiment with fertilizer adjustments, the highest genetic merits were expressed in the combinations $L88 \times L70$, $L682 \times L59$, and $L696 \times L70$, whereas in the nutrient-deficient environment, the hybrids $L684 \times L75$, $L691 \times L70$, and $L688 \times L70$ expressed the highest genetic merits, exhibiting good allelic complementation (Figure 3).

The experiments conducted in Itaocara showed that the effects of \hat{s}_{ij} enabled 49 hybrids to be discriminated, with heterosis values estimated from 22.423 to 631.804 in the environment with fertilization recommended for the popcorn crop. This selection indicated the crosses with the highest dominance gene effects, with the hybrids L691 × L59, L685 × P7, and L692 × L70 standing out as having the best performances. Regarding the estimates of the general combining ability, the testers L80, L70 and L59 showed positive values, being in the formation of the best genotypes. Among them, line L59 was the most frequent, present in 20% of the best hybrid combinations (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Estimates of the genotypic value (\hat{s}_{ij}) for grain yield (GY) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Itaocara. (–) signal indicating negative values.

In the experiments for GY carried out in Itaocara, there was no considerable reduction in the number of genotypes obtained in the environment with nutrient reduction. Thus, from 90 combinations, 51.10% of the crosses had positive values. Among them, three hybrids (L691 × P7, L692 × L70, and L688 × L75) stood out with high estimates of \hat{s}_{ij} , and the greatest dominance gene effect was shown by the combination L691 × P7, representing high allelic complementation in the parents. The most frequent tester in the crosses was line L80, as it participated in nine positive crosses, accounting for approximately 20% of the positive combinations in Itaocara. Analyzing the $\hat{g}i$ estimates of this tester, the additive effect of the genes is evident, since it showed positive estimates and high magnitudes in the nutrient-deficient environment (Figure 4).

From the estimates of additive genetic merit, it was observed, in the experiments conducted in Itaocara, that the values of GY emphasized the hybrids $L694 \times L59$, $L689 \times L59$, and $L88 \times L75$ as having the highest estimates of heterosis when grown in an environment with nutrient stress. In the environments with added phosphorus, the best allelic complementation was found in $L694 \times L80$ and $L694 \times L70$ (Figure 4).

In relation to the PE variable, the evaluations conducted in Campos dos Goytacazes under conditions with phosphorus supplementation made it possible to point out the testers L59 and L70 due to their positive SCA values and the highest frequencies in the formation of hybrids with positive estimates of \hat{s}_{ij} , corresponding to 20% of the crosses. These parents, however, showed no additive gene effects for their \hat{g}_i estimates. Additionally, for PE, 50% of the hybrid combinations showed positive magnitudes of \hat{s}_{ij} . However, the values showed a low range, varying from 0.166 to 3.534. The hybrids that exhibited the highest heterosis for SCA were L684 × L75, L691 × L75, and L684 × L54, respectively (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Estimates of the genotypic value (\hat{s}_{ij}) for popping expansion (PE) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Campos dos Goytacazes. (–) signal indicating negative values.

In the low-phosphorus environment, it was possible not only to obtain 47 hybrids with high gene complementation, in which the SCA estimates ranged from 0.053 to 5.483, but also to detect that the crosses $L682 \times L70$, $L681 \times L59$, and $L691 \times P7$ had the highest SCA values. In terms of tester performance, line L59 had the greatest participation in the formation of superior hybrids, being the source of 21.27% of the best combinations (Figure 5).

When the genetic merit of the hybrids for PE was evaluated in both growing conditions in Campos dos Goytacazes, it was found that the hybrid combinations with the highest genetic merit were L691 × P7, L683 × L54, and L681 × L59 in a low-phosphorus environment, and L688 × P7, L689 × P7, and L688 × L54 in an environment with phosphorus supplementation (Figure 5).

In Itaocara, the experiments for PE inferred that the tester P7 had the highest percentages of allelic complementation in the crosses, with high estimates of \hat{s}_{ij} for 22% of the hybrid combinations in the phosphorus supply condition, and 20.90% in the nutrientdeficient environment. Thus, based on the combining abilities, it can be stated that the tester P7 has genes favorable for phosphorus use efficiency, and also expresses more pronounced genetic divergence than the other parents (Figure 6).


Figure 6. Estimates of the genotypic value (\hat{s}_{ij}) for popping expansion (PE) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Itaocara. (–) signal indicating negative values.

Fifty percent of the 90 hybrids evaluated for \hat{s}_{ij} displayed crosses with dominance gene effects in the environment with optimal phosphorus availability, whose combinations with the highest expressions of heterosis were: L684 × L54, L692 × L54, and L684 × L7. As for the environment with low phosphorus level, 47.80% of the combinations exhibited positive values. Of these, the hybrids that performed best were L694 × L54, L685 × L70, and L684 × L80, with the highest values of the specific combining ability effects (Figure 6).

Regarding the genetic merit of the hybrids tested in the environments, it was found that the combination L688 × P7 presented favorable alleles for the highest expression of PE, in addition to having good phenotypic plasticity, since it ranked well in both growing conditions. Among the hybrids with the best performance in the environment with phosphorus supplementation, the following combinations can be considered: L688 × P7, L696 × P7, and L690 × L80. As for the environment without a phosphate fertilizer supply, the hybrids ranking highest were L91 × P7, L685 × L70, and L688 × P7 (Figure 6). The good performance of the tester P7, which was in the best hybrid combinations and expressed the highest $\hat{g}i$ estimates in both high and low P level environments, should again be noted.

In the evaluation of PV in Campos dos Goytacazes, 56.70% of the combinations were found to have positive estimates of \hat{s}_{ij} in the environment with phosphorus supplementation. The combinations L689 × L59, L691 × P7, and L686 × L80 expressed the highest estimates of dominance gene effects. Such results corroborate the effects seen for GY when its SCA was evaluated. This result is understandable, since PV is a combination of GY and PE (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Estimates of the genotypic value (\hat{s}_{ij}) for expanded popcorn volume per hectare (PV) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Campos dos Goytacazes. (–) signal indicating negative values.

Regarding the best tester for this index, line L70 provided the highest heterosis in the crosses, totaling 21.56% of the combinations with positive values. This tester, along with line L80, showed the highest additive gene effects of \hat{g}_i for this trait. In the environment without the nutrient supplementation of phosphorus, the most frequent tester in the crosses with good allelic complementation was the parent L80 when evaluating its SCA estimates, which comprised 25% of the crosses with higher magnitudes of SCA. This result corresponds with the additive gene effects assigned to this genotype when its \hat{g}_i estimate was analyzed. As for the hybrids with the highest SCA estimates, they were L684 × L75, L682 × L70, and L691 × L70, respectively, when considering the 36 crosses with the highest magnitudes of dominance effect (Figure 7).

The genetic merit of the hybrids was also quantified for the PV index of plants grown in both environments in Campos dos Goytacazes. The evaluations indicated that the most vigorous combinations corresponded to $L684 \times L75$, $L682 \times L70$, and $L688 \times L80$, in the nutrient-stressed environment, and $L688 \times L70$, $L689 \times L59$, and $L691 \times P7$, in the experiment with a phosphorus supply. It should be noted that line L688 and tester L70 exhibited excellent performances per se when analyzing their respective general combining abilities, corroborating the prevalence of additive gene effects in both gene conformations (Figure 7).

The PV supercharacter also allowed for the discrimination of the behavior of the 90 hybrids evaluated in Itaocara. The combinations $L694 \times L80$, $L684 \times L75$, and $L685 \times P7$ stood out with the highest heterosis in a set of 49 hybrids, for which there was a prevalence of dominance gene effects in the environment with phosphorus supplementation. The most heterotic hybrid—L694 × L80—is assumed to have the highest divergence among the parents (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Estimates of the genotypic value (S_{ij}) for expanded popcorn volume per hectare (PV) in diallel hybrids of popcorn evaluated under high and low phosphorus availability in Itaocara. (–) signal indicating negative values.

In the low-phosphorus environment, 47 hybrids expressed dominance gene effects, with their amplitudes ranging from 0.255 to 21.709 for estimates of \hat{s}_{ij} . After selecting the hybrids with positive values, the ones with the highest heterosis were determined: L685 × L70, L691 × P7, and L688 × L75, respectively. It should be mentioned that tester L70, which comprised the best hybrid, was also found in a greater number of positive combinations for both environments (Figure 8). Therefore, it may be assumed that the higher frequency of this parent may be related to the additive gene effects attributed to it when considering its \hat{g}_i estimate.

The evaluation of the combining abilities for PV allowed us to know the genetic merit of the hybrids when grown in Itaocara. This analysis pointed out that the combinations $L694 \times L80, L694 \times L70$, and $L688 \times L80$ had the best performances for the high-phosphorusavailability conditions. Hybrids $L685 \times L70, L689 \times P7$, and $L688 \times L70$ were also identified as the ones with the best performance in the low-phosphorus environment. Moreover, using the evaluations conducted for PV, it could be verified that there was a predominance of the L70 and L80 testers in the low- and high-nutrient-availability environments. Additionally, the combinations $L689 \times P7$ and $L694 \times P7$ presented the greatest phenotypic plasticity since their recommendations may be made in either an environment with low or high phosphorus levels (Figure 8).

3. Discussion

The genetic variability among the lines under study due to the significant differences among the genotypes for the traits investigated—GY, PE, and PV—in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara is evident (Table 1). Furthermore, the source of variation in phosphorus (P) availability also had significant effects for all the traits; this suggests that the dose of phosphorus applied to the soil was adequate to provide a distinction between the environments and enable correct differentiation of the efficient genotypes from the inefficient ones in phosphorus use in Campos dos Goytacazes and in Itaocara. This points out that the line classification differed between the two growing conditions (high and low phosphorus levels in the soil), indicating a specific P-related effect. This provides strong evidence that there was significant variation in the ability of the material investigated to explore P in its environment, a prerequisite for selection-based breeding. However, screening this performance is not informative with respect to the number of genes underlying the variation observed, but encourages further research focusing on QTL analysis to provide more information on the genetic architecture of variation in response to different P levels in soil [27].

In addition to this, genetic variability in germplasm collections is an essential factor in obtaining genetic gains in breeding programs. Due to the high consumption of phosphate fertilizers—which may lead to a shortage of P reserves within a few decades—and the need to develop sustainable agriculture, these genotypes have become important sources of tolerance for breeding programs of popcorn to obtain gains in efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use. Gerhardt et al. [10] also reported genetic variability for agronomic traits when evaluating popcorn hybrids and lines at contrasting phosphorus levels in soil.

The $G \times P$ interaction, in turn, was significant for all the traits, suggesting a dissimilar response of the popcorn hybrids under different phosphorus-availability conditions (Table 1). This interaction may provide changes in the classification of hybrids between the experiments with high and low phosphorus levels. In this regard, Vencovsky and Barriga [28] recommend that the practice of genotype selection should be environment-specific, that is, each environment should have a set of distinct or partially distinct genotypes. Thus, selection should not be made based on average performance, as favorable alleles that control the expression of the character under stress differ, at least partially, from favorable alleles that control the same character under optimal conditions [29].

Significance in the estimates for all variables, except for PV, was observed in Campos dos Goytacazes when the effects of the source genotype variation were unfolded into general combining ability (GCA) and specific combining ability (SCA). This demonstrates that by exhibiting significance for GCA and SCA, GY and PE showed variability resulting from additive and non-additive effects in controlling gene expression. The significance of variation attributed to the additive effects proves that there are promising parents to be used, mainly in intrapopulation breeding programs, as this variation is very useful in pre-breeding to incorporate exotic germplasms into adapted populations or to adapt populations to abiotic stressors (Table 1). The magnitude of the additive variance expressed by the mean squares of the GCA of the progenies and the testers indicates the existence of significant additive effects of the genes [28].

Regarding the effects of specific combining ability—highly significant for the variables GY, PE, and PV ($p \le 0.01$) in Campos dos Goytacazes—it may be assumed to be the gene action of dominance in the expression of PE, which is a trait known to be governed by additive effects, as reported by Dofing et al. [30], Pacheco et al. [31], Larish and Brewbaker [32], and Pereira and Amaral Júnior [15]. As for Itaocara, there was only significance for GY at a 5% probability level (Table 1). This indicates that non-additive gene effects also exert an influence on these traits and suggests possible allelic complementation between the parents at the respective loci, with some degree of dominance. This possibility for PE gene expression agrees with more recent results obtained by Coan et al. [33], who support the existence of mixed inheritance in the expression of this trait.

In view of the significant progeny interaction with contrasting phosphorus levels (GCA I \times P) for the traits GY and PE in Campos dos Goytacazes, and for the traits GY, PE and PV in Itaocara, it may be assumed that the additive gene effects between the lines provided differences. In this case, then, selection for each level of phosphorus is recommended, as already mentioned. The tester interaction with phosphorus levels (GCA II \times P), also significant for all the traits evaluated, suggests that selection should be made for each phosphorus level. Gerhardt et al. [10], likewise, found significance for the interaction between popcorn progenies and contrasting environments in using phosphorus.

From the results, considering the significant interaction between specific combining ability and phosphorus levels (SCA \times P), it can be noticed that the classification of SCA

effects differed between environments. The results at each fertilization level should, thus, be considered to allow for the effective selection of hybrids that are efficient and responsive to phosphorus use.

As for the experimental precision expressed by the coefficient of experimental variation (CVe), the values found for all the traits were less than 20%, suggesting excellent experimental precision [34]. These results agree with the estimates found by Santos et al. [35] (2017) and Gerhardt et al. [10] in experiments with abiotic stressors in popcorn.

According to Sprague and Tatum [36], informed by Inocente et al. [37], the GCA corresponds to the average behavior of a line in a series of hybrid combinations, and is expressed by the $\hat{g}i$ estimate. For Cruz and Vencovsky [38], a low value of $\hat{g}i$ suggests that the average of the hybrids in which line *i* participates does not differ much from the overall average of the diallel, meaning that when there are high values, positive or negative, parent *i* is superior or inferior to the other parents in the diallel when compared to the average of their hybrids. Thus, the estimates of the $\hat{g}i$ effects for the variables analyzed have values with signs ranging from negative to positive as a function of the performance of the parent. Accordingly, Cruz and Vencovsky [38] and Scapim et al. [39] affirm that the line with the highest frequency of favorable alleles will express a higher $\hat{g}i$.

Based on these references and considering the \hat{gi} estimates, it is observed that, in Campos dos Goytacazes, lines L682, L688, and L686 had the three highest values—338.431, 310.452, and 290.454, respectively—in the environment with adequate phosphorus availability, and, in the environment with low phosphorus levels, the most positive values were assigned to the genotypes L688 (313.311), L695 (280.976), and L689 (207.294) (Figure 1).

Line L688 was not affected by a substantial reduction in phosphorus in the soil; thus, its high combining ability and phenotypic stability are relevant for programs aimed at increasing GY. Scapim et al. [39] reported the use of popcorn populations with high GCA estimates to form 211 varieties with high GY and PE, supporting the relevance of working with parents with high $\hat{g}i$ estimates for these traits, which are both of major relevance for popcorn trading.

Regarding the testers, for GY, under optimal phosphorus supply conditions, three lines showed positive deviations (L70, L59, and L75) and four stood out for the environment with induced stress (L80, L59, L70 and L75). Among the best lines used as testers, three—L70, L59, and L75—had positive values in both conditions of phosphorus availability. It should be emphasized that tester L59 had the least variation (367 and 739), ranking well in both phosphorus conditions in the soil, in Campos dos Goytacazes. This good performance may be associated with its genealogy (Beija-flor: UFV) and adaptation to a temperate/tropical climate, a factor correlated with the presence of favorable alleles in a good parent (Figure 1).

For PE, eight lines under optimal conditions of phosphorus availability and seven lines under limiting conditions of the nutrient showed positive values for \hat{gi} estimates in Campos dos Goytacazes. There is agreement in the prominence of lines L681, L689, L690, L681, L688, and L689 (Figure 1) in both conditions of phosphorus availability; however, lines L681, and L689 had the greatest \hat{gi} effects and least variation between the two environments. Therefore, it may be recommended that these parents obtain lines with good PE, since \hat{gi} is the estimator that indicates the parents with the best average performance in crosses. These lines, thus, have the highest concentrations of favorable alleles for traits predominantly influenced by additive gene action.

As for the testers that were outstanding in environments with high (P7 and L54) and low (P7, L80, and L54) phosphorus levels, P7 showed the best performance regardless of phosphorus availability in the soil; this represents a line of interest to be included in crosses aimed at obtaining superior hybrids in relation to efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use.

Kamphorst et al. [40] further reported that line P7 showed high GY grain yield averages when grown in a water-stressed environment, and were considered agronomically efficient in water use. This suggests that this line has mechanisms to withstand adverse situations imposed by abiotic stress. Santos et al. [20] also described the relevance of P7 for GY and PE traits under optimal and low soil-nitrogen-availability conditions from a panel of ten popcorn lines evaluated in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara. When evaluating 25 popcorn lines under high and low P conditions in soil, Gerhardt et al. [10] pointed out that, because of high \hat{gi} estimates for GY and PE, line P7 has high potential for obtaining superior hybrids in terms of efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use.

In Campos dos Goytacazes, six lines distinguished themselves, for PV, by having positive values of \hat{gi} estimates in the environment with high phosphorus levels—L688, L689, L691, L681, L685, and L696—and, in limiting conditions of the nutrient, eight lines stood out with positive values, namely: L688, L689, L695, L683, L681, L691, L696, and L684. When both environments were analyzed, it was noted that the lines with the best performance were L688 and L689, respectively (Figure 1). This coincidence of results corroborates the good performance of these genotypes and the substantial incidence of favorable alleles for phosphorus efficiency and use in the lines derived from the UENF-14 population (Table 1). The PV trait is considered a supercharacter that is intended to simulate a selection index, which enables concomitant gains for the two main traits of economic importance—GY and PE expansion—for the popcorn crop [41].

Still considering the PV, among the testers investigated, lines L70, P7, and L59 prevailed in the environment of high phosphorus levels in the soil, having shown positive $\hat{g}i$ results, whereas in phosphorus-limiting conditions, only two stood out—L80 and L70. Among the genotypes with good results, tester line L70, from the BRS Angela population, distinguished itself by having positive values for PV at both phosphorus levels in Campos dos Goytacazes (Figure 1). These results agree with the work of Schmitt et al. [42], who reported the good performance of the parent L70 in presenting a positive $\hat{g}i$ estimate for PE.

As for the effects of GCA for GY, in Itaocara, eight lines were highlighted based on \hat{gi} estimates in the environment with high phosphorus level. Similarly, in low P conditions, eight lines also stood out. Considering both conditions, however, five lines distinguished themselves in both environments by presenting positive deviations, as follows: L694, L689, L682, L684, and L688. Within them, lines L694 and L689 were highlighted in the ranking, in that order (Figure 2).

When it comes to the \hat{gi} effects of the testers, still for GY in Itaocara under high phosphorus conditions, three lines were prominent, and four genotypes were superior under P-deficient conditions in the soil. When analyzing both conditions of phosphorus availability, tester L70—which has adaptations to tropical environments—displayed greater stability, only surpassed by lines L80 and L59—adapted to temperate and tropical climates which were superior, respectively, in high- and low-P environments. This suggests good adaptation of these genotypes to the conditions studied for GY. By evaluating 15 populations of popcorn from different Latin-American countries under water-stress conditions, Santos et al. [43] related the importance of varieties with temperate and tropical climatic adaptations. Thus, according to the authors, the relevance of these materials in studies with popcorn to obtain superior genotypes is reinforced. Gerhardt et al. [10] pointed out, in a previous study, line L59 as being efficient and responsive in the use of phosphorus. Therefore, it is a genotype that expresses superior yields to the averages in environments of high and low phosphorus levels.

In this context, it is verified that, for the best S_7 progenies, as well as for the testers, the \hat{gi} estimates for PE were negative. This is due to the negative genetic correlation between GY and PE, a phenomenon already reported in other research conducted in the popcorn crop [15,16,30,43–47]. This correlation, therefore, makes it difficult to obtain genotypes with high GY and high popping expansion concomitantly [15,48,49].

By analyzing the results of the $\hat{g}i$ estimates for PE in Itaocara, even with the complex interaction, the best-performing genotypes, under optimal phosphorus conditions in the soil, were also better under limiting conditions. In this case, there were only differences in the ranking order, indicating that the change in the crop environment caused alterations in the performance of the genotypes under different P conditions. As stated before, when the interaction is of the complex type, it makes it difficult to indicate genotypes for a group

of environments, requiring the breeder to recommend appropriate genotypes for specific conditions. The performance of lines L681 and L688 proved to be encouraging for this study, since they showed good phenotypic plasticity for the trait in question, ranking well in both environments, regardless of the P supply. Regarding the testers, the positive results of lines P7, L70, and L80 in both environments distinguish them as potential candidates for obtaining superior hybrids in both environments.

With regard to the $\hat{g}i$ effects for PV in Itaocara, lines L694, L688, and L689 were superior to the others as they showed positive values under optimal phosphorus conditions and when under nutrient stress, not exhibiting significant differences in performance, and keeping the positive values for $\hat{g}i$. For the testers, L70 showed the same behavior, performing well under both phosphorus-availability conditions.

Given these considerations, it may be stated that the UENF-14 popcorn population has a high frequency of alleles favorable for the efficiency of phosphorus use in the soil. This assertion is supported by the good performance of lines L688 and L689, which showed good general combining ability and high GY, as well as high popping expansion, suggesting that there is a distinct heterotic pattern. Thus, lines L688 and L689 and testers P7 and L59 are highly recommended for use in future hybrid combinations aimed at increasing GY and PE in environments with low soil-phosphorus levels in breeding programs focusing on more sustainable agriculture.

By considering the merit of the hybrids for the GY and PV traits together, it was assumed that the L688 \times L70 cross had higher heterosis when evaluated in environments with high P levels in the soil. In the environment with stress induction, heterosis was more evident in the genotype L684 \times L75. Therefore, the interaction of these genotypes with the environments provided relative superiority compared to the others, suggesting that there are favorable alleles in these hybrid combinations.

For the traits PE and PV together, changes in the ranking of the crosses were observed, highlighting the superiority of the genotype $L689 \times L59$, which showed the highest heterosis in the environment with high phosphorus levels. Thus, the hybrid combination $L689 \times P7$ may be considered the most relevant one for the low-phosphorus environment in the experiments in Campos dos Goytacazes. As for Itaocara, the hybrid combinations with the highest popping expansion were $L694 \times L80$ in the environment with added phosphorus, and $L685 \times L70$ in the environment with low phosphorus levels. In relation to the testers, lines P7 and L54 showed additive genetic effects for GCA in the deficient environments, increasing popping expansion. The other testers distinguished themselves through their good allelic complementation in the crosses in which they participated.

When considering GY and PV traits together in Itaocara, the hybrid L694 \times L80 was chosen as the most prominent for the environment with fertilizer recommendation for popcorn. For the low-phosphorus environment, the combination with the highest heterosis was L685 \times L70; this hybrid also showed positive a magnitude of \hat{s}_{ij} when its SCA was evaluated.

More generally, the genotypes utilized present genetic potential for obtaining hybrids with high heterosis for efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use. Considering the prevailing gene effects of the GY, PE, and PV traits in the contrasting environments, the hybrid combinations that displayed promising results for efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use were L688 \times L70, L694 \times L80, L688 \times L70; L694 \times L80, L689 \times L59, L694 \times L80; and L689 \times P7, and L689 \times L59, respectively.

From the information obtained by means of the combining ability and having the most promising combinations, the parents from the UENF-14 population with the best performance—L688, L694, and L689—may be selected as standards for the creation of a new heterotic group and as testers of new lines from this heterotic group. Thus, this new heterotic group should be maintained and used separately for the generation of variability within the group, and for the selection of new lines.

Accordingly, the implementation of a procedure called "line recycle", originating from the UENF-14 population, is also proposed; this will form new biparental populations directly or via backcrossing, in which the elite lines L688, L694, and L689 from the UENF

popcorn breeding program will be crossed among themselves, in subsequent cycles, within this same heterotic group. Thus, new lines will be obtained with superior traits to their parents because of the increased frequency of favorable alleles and the consequent higher level of heterosis when crossed to form a heterotic group.

In conclusion, to meet the agroeconomic aspects of the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State—which tend to expand—on the basis of the combining ability and of the presence of favorable alleles, we propose obtaining a triple hybrid derived from a simple hybrid from parents originating from the heterotic group of the UENF-14 population—L688 \times L689, for example, whose parents showed high GCA; this will be used as the female parent in a cross with the L80 line. Such a line has been demonstrated to be sufficiently vigorous to ensure good pollination and, consequently, satisfactory GY in female plants.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Plant Material, Experimental Design, and Environmental Conditions

Six S₇ lines from the Germplasm Bank of the *Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro* (UENF)—previously classified by Gerhardt et al. [50] regarding P use—were used as testers, of which three (L59, L70, and P7) were efficient and responsive and three (L54, L75, and L80) were inefficient and non-responsive. They were used as testers in crosses with 15 other progenies (L681, L682, L683, L684, L685, L686, L688, L689, L690, L691, L692, L693, L694, L695, and L696) (Table 2) from the UENF-14 open-pollinated variety. This population was selected after five cycles of intrapopulation recurrent selection, adapted to the soil and climate conditions of the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State [51]. Ninety testcrosses were generated from the crosses in a partial diallel scheme of the six testers with the 15 UENF-14 progenies.

Table 2. Description of the 21 popcorn genotypes from the Active Germplasm Bank of UENF used in the experiments in the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil.

Tester Genealogy				Cl	imate Adapta	tion	Classification Regarding P Use					
L59 Beija-Flor: UFV L70 BRS Angela: EMBRAPA					Te	emperate/Trop Tropical	vical	Efficient and Responsive Efficient and Responsive				
I	P7 L54	Híl Beij	orido Zaeli a-flor: UFV		Te Te	emperate/trop emperate/trop	vical vical	Efficient and responsive Inefficient and non-responsive				
I	L75 L80	Vi Vi	çosa: UFV çosa: UFV		Te Te	emperate/trop emperate/trop	vical vical	Inefficient and non-responsive Inefficient and non-responsive				
IRS Progenies		Genealogy and Climate Adaptation		IRS Progenies		Genealogy and Climate Adaptation		IRS Progenies		Genealogy and Climate Adaptation		
1	L681	UENF-14	Tropical	6	L686	UENF-14	Tropical	11	L692	UENF-14	Tropical	
2	L682	UENF-14	Tropical	7	L688	UENF-14	Tropical	12	L693	UENF-14	Tropical	
3	L683	UENF-14	Tropical	8	L689	UENF-14	Tropical	13	L694	UENF-14	Tropical	
4	L684	UENF-14	Tropical	9	L690	UENF-14	Tropical	14	L695	UENF-14	Tropical	
5	L685	UENF-14	Tropical	10	L691	UENF-14	Tropical	15	L696	UENF-14	Tropical	

UFV—Universidade Federal de Viçosa; UENF—Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro; EMBRAPA—Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation; and IRS—Intrapopulation Recurrent Selection.

The experiments were conducted in a randomized block design with replication arrangements within sets. Five sets of 18 treatments (15 progenies plus three controls: UENF N 01, UENF N 02, and UENF HS 03) in each set were utilized, with three replications. These experiments were carried out during the harvest period, between October 2019 and March 2020, in two locations and under two contrasting conditions with respect to phosphorus availability (high and low phosphorus). The sites were the Experimental Station of the Colégio Estadual Agrícola Antônio Sarlo, in the municipality of Campos dos Goytacazes (latitude: 21°42′48″ S, longitude: 41°20′38″ W, 14 m above sea level), and the Experimental Station of Ilha do Pomba, in the municipality of Itaocara (latitude: 21°38′50″ S, longitude: 42°03′46″ W, 58 m above sea level); these correspond, respectively, to the Northern and

Northwestern regions of Rio de Janeiro State. The climate in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara is classified as humid tropical (Aw), with hot summers and mild winters, with rainfall tending to be concentrated in the summer months.

Sowing was performed according to the conventional planting system, with a stand of 15 plants per plot, or 55,555 plants per hectare. Each experimental plot consisted of a 3.00 m row with 0.90 m spacing between rows and 0.20 m spacing between plants.

Prior to the experiments, soil chemical analysis was conducted to characterize the environments in terms of nutrient availability from samples collected in the 0–10 and 10–20 cm layers, forming a sample composed of ten subsamples (Table 3). The available P content was determined using the Mehlich-1 extractor. According to the clay soil content of Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara, the phosphorus levels were classified as low [52] (Ribeiro et al., 1999).

Table 3. Chemical and particle-size analysis of the soil at 0–10 and 10–20 cm depths in Campos dos Goytacazes and Itaocara.

	Soil Layer	pН	Р	К	Ca	Mg	Al	Na	С	ОМ	CEC	BS	v	Clay
Local		H_2O	mg/dm ³	mg/dm ³ mmol _c /dm ³				g/c	lm ³	mmol _c /dm ³		%	g/dm ³	
Campos dos Goytacazes	0–10 cm 10–20 cm	5.7 5.4	4.0 3.0	3.4 2.3	14.6 14.4	8.3 6.7	0.0 0.9	1.3 1.2	7.6 7.2	13.1 12.4	48.9 44.5	27.6 24.6	56.0 55.0	305.0
Itaocara	0–10 cm 10–20 cm	5.2 5.3	5.0 3.0	1.2 0.7	38.9 36.2	30.0 31.0	1.2 1.4	0.6 0.4	14.9 11.0	25.7 19.0	103.8 96.2	70.7 68.3	68.0 71.0	140.0

Two doses of this fertilizer were used to simulate contrasting environments and to stimulate the genotypes to express the genes responsible for phosphorus efficiency and responsiveness. In the environment with high phosphorus availability, 30 kg ha⁻¹ of N (in the form of urea), 85 kg ha⁻¹ of P₂O₅ (triple superphosphate), and 40 kg ha⁻¹ of K₂O (potassium chloride) were applied. For the environment with low phosphorus availability, 30 kg ha⁻¹ of N₂O₅, and 40 kg ha⁻¹ of K₂O (were used, which means the fertilizer in the stressed environment did not contain phosphorus. Topdressing fertilization was performed in partial applications in both environments when the plants reached the phenological stage of four (V4) and six (V6) fully expanded leaves at a concentration of 100 kg ha⁻¹ of N (in the form of urea). The other phytosanitary treatments were performed according to the recommendation for the crop in the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State [53]. The experiments received additional irrigation whenever necessary to avoid water stress.

4.2. Evaluated Traits

The following traits were evaluated: (i) Grain yield (GY)—expressed by the average grain yield of the experimental unit in grams per plot, adjusted to 13% moisture and extrapolated to kg ha⁻¹. (ii) Popping expansion (PE)—obtained using the ratio between the expanded popcorn volume and the mass of 30 g, expressed in mL g⁻¹, utilizing the average of two samples per plot. Popping was conducted in a microwave oven, with 1200 Watts of power for 2 min, and the expanded popcorn volume was quantified in a 2000 mL beaker. The resulting value was divided by the initial weight of the 30 g grain, and the final result expressed in mL g⁻¹. (iii) Expanded popcorn volume per hectare (PV), determined using the product between GY and PE, with the final value divided by 1000 and expressed in m³ ha⁻¹.

4.3. Data Analysis

Adjustments of the set effects for all the hybrids were made according to the average of the controls common to all the sets before conducting the analysis of variance. We estimated the average of the controls for each set (ACS) and the general average of the controls (GAC); using the GAC/ACS relationship, the adjustment factor for each set was obtained, following the procedure used by Ribeiro et al. [54] and Guimarães et al. [55].

After these adjustments, the analyses were performed following the randomized block model. At first, the individual analyses of variance were conducted considering the environments with high and low phosphorus, according to the following statistical model: $Y_{ij} = m + B_j + G_i + e_{ij}$, in which Y_{ij} is the observation of the i-th genotype in the j-th block; m is the general constant; B_j is the effect of the j-th block; G_i is the effect of the i-th genotype; and e_{ij} is the experimental error associated with the observation Y_{ij} , which is normally and independently distributed (NID— $0,\sigma^2$).

Subsequently, a joint analysis of variance was conducted to determine possible interactions between the genotypes and the levels of phosphorus in each location. The joint analysis of variance was conducted following the statistical model: $Y_{ijk} = m + B/A_{jk} + A_j + G_i + GA_{ij} + e_{ijk}$, in which Y_{ijk} is the observation of the i-th genotype in the j-th block in the k-th block; m is the general constant; B/A_{jk} is the effect of the k-th block in the j-th environment; A_j is the fixed effect of the j-th environment (P level); G_i is the fixed effect of the interaction between the i-th genotype and the j-th environment; e_{ijk} is the experimental error associated with the observation Y_{ijk} with NID (0, σ^2).

Based on the averages of the 90 testcross hybrids, a diallel analysis was carried out in line with the methodology suggested by Griffing [56], adapted to partial diallels, as follows: $Y_{ij} = m + g_i + g_j + s_{ij} + a_k + ga_{ik} + ga_{jk} + sa_{ij} + e_{(k)ij}$, in which Y_{ij} : The average value of the hybrid combination, testers (g_i), and lines (g_j); m: The overall average of the hybrid combinations; g_i : The general combining ability (GCA) effect of group i (progenies); g_j : The GCA effect of group j (testers); s_{ij} : The specific combining ability (SCA) effect for the crosses between parents of the orders i and j; a_k : The effect of the environments k; $g_{a_{ik}}$ and $g_{a_{jk}}$: The interaction effects between the GCA associated with the i-th and j-th parents in the environments k; s_{aij} : The interaction effect of SCA associated with parents i and j and environments k; and $e_{(k)ij}$: The average experimental error.

The statistical analyses were conducted using the software GENES (v.1, Universidade Federal de Viçosa, MG, Brazil) [57].

5. Conclusions

Phosphorus use efficiency is mostly dependent on additive gene effects in the expression of popping expansion, and conversely, dominance gene effects in the expression of GY and PV.

The best strategy to obtain efficient and responsive genotypes in phosphorus use involves the exploration of heterosis, with parents that provide an accumulation of additive genes for popping expansion.

Lines L688 and L689 and testers P7 and L59 showed additive gene effects and are highly recommended for use in future hybrid combinations looking to increase GY and PE in environments with low soil-phosphorus levels.

The genetic merit of the hybrids enabled us to know the combinations with the highest dominance gene effects for efficiency and responsiveness in phosphorus use for the traits GY, PE, and PV, as follows: $L688 \times L70$, $L694 \times L80$, $L688 \times L70$; $L694 \times L80$, $L694 \times L80$, $L694 \times L80$, $L689 \times L59$, $L694 \times L80$; $L689 \times P7$, and $L689 \times L59$, in that order.

Due to the good performance of the parents originating from the UENF-14 population, L688, L694, and L689 are selected as the standards for forming a new heterotic group and for "line recycle", creating new biparental populations.

The production of a triple hybrid by crossing the simple hybrid $L688 \times L689$ —from the UENF-14 heterotic group—with the L80 line—from the Viçosa: UFV genealogy—is a good alternative for meeting the needs of the North and Northwest regions of Rio de Janeiro State and for achieving sustainable agriculture.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., J.F.T.d.A., P.H.A.D.S. and M.G.P., methodology, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P. and P.H.A.D.S.; software, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., J.E.d.A.F., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P. and P.H.A.D.S.; validation, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O. and R.E.B.-S.; formal analysis, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., W.d.P.B., J.G.d.O. and R.E.B.-

S.; investigation, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; resources, A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., P.H.A.D.S. and M.G.P.; data curation, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; writing—original draft preparation, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; writing—review and editing, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; writing—review and editing, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; writing—review and editing, T.d.O.S., F.T.d.O., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., R.B.B., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., S.H.K., V.J.d.L., F.N.V., G.F.P., P.H.A.D.S., W.d.P.B., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; visualization, T.d.O.S., A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; supervision, A.T.d.A.J., J.E.d.A.F., M.S.M.d.F., J.F.T.d.A., M.G.P., J.G.d.O., R.E.B.-S. and R.d.S.T.; project administration, A.T.d.A.J.; funding acquisition, A.T.d.A.J. and M.G.P. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (Capes, Brazil), grant number 001, and by the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (FAPERJ, Brazil).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Zeng, Q.; Mei, T.; Delgado-Baquerizo, M.; Wang, M.; Tan, W. Suppressed phosphorus-mineralizing bacteria after three decades of fertilization. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2021, 323, 107679. [CrossRef]
- Collavino, M.M.; Sansberro, P.A.; Mroginski, L.A.; Aguilar, O.M. Comparison of in vitro solubilization activity of diverse phosphate-solubilizing bacteria native to acid soil and their ability to promote *Phaseolus vulgaris* growth. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 2010, 46, 727–738. [CrossRef]
- Wahid, F.; Sharif, M.; Fahad, S.; Ali, A.; Adnan, M.; Rafiullah; Saud, S.; Danish, S.; Ali, M.A.; Ahmed, N.; et al. Mycorrhiza and Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria: Potential Bioagents for Sustainable Phosphorus Management in Agriculture. *Phyton* 2022, 92, 257–278. [CrossRef]
- Hickey, L.T.; Hafeez, A.N.; Robinson, H.; Jackson, S.A.; Leal-Bertioli, S.C.M.; Tester, M.; Gao, C.; Godwin, I.D.; Hayes, B.J.; Wulff, B.B.H. Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2019, *37*, 744–754. [CrossRef]
- Duboc, O.; Hernandez-Mora, A.; Wenzel, W.W.; Santner, J. Improving the prediction of fertilizer phosphorus availability to plants with simple, but non-standardized extraction techniques. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2021, 806, 150486. [CrossRef]
- López-Arredondo, D.L.; Leyva-González, M.A.; González-Morales, S.I.; López-Bucio, J.; Herrera-Estrella, L. Phosphate nutrition: Improving low-phosphate tolerance in crops. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 2014, 65, 95–123. [CrossRef]
- Barros, V.M.D.S.; Martins, L.D.; Rodrigues, W.N.; Ferreira, D.S.; Christo, B.F.; do Amaral, J.F.T.; Tomaz, M.A. Combined doses of nitrogen and phosphorus in conilon coffee plants: Changes in absorption, translocation and use in plant compartments. J. Plant Nutr. 2021, 45, 346–357. [CrossRef]
- Lee, J.-I.; Kim, J.-M.; Yoo, S.-C.; Jho, E.H.; Lee, C.-G.; Park, S.-J. Restoring phosphorus from water to soil: Using calcined eggshells for P adsorption and subsequent application of the adsorbent as a P fertilizer. *Chemosphere* 2021, 287, 132267. [CrossRef]
- Meng, X.; Chen, W.-W.; Wang, Y.-Y.; Huang, Z.-R.; Ye, X.; Chen, L.-S.; Yang, L.-T. Effects of phosphorus deficiency on the absorption of mineral nutrients, photosynthetic system performance and antioxidant metabolism in *Citrus grandis*. *PLoS ONE* 2021, 16, e0246944. [CrossRef]
- Gerhardt, I.F.S.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Pena, G.F.; Guimarães, L.J.M.; de Lima, V.J.; Vivas, M.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; Ferreira, F.R.A.; Freitas, M.S.M.; Kamphorst, S.H. Genetic effects on the efficiency and responsiveness to phosphorus use in popcorn as estimated by diallel analysis. *PLoS ONE* 2019, *14*, e0216980. [CrossRef]
- Cruz, C.D.; Carneiro, P.C.S.; Regazzi, A.J. Modelos Biométricos Aplicados ao Melhoramento Genético, 3rd ed.; Editora UFV: Viçosa, Brazil, 2014; p. 668.
- 12. Hallauer, A.R.; Carena, M.J.; Miranda Filho, J.D. Quantitative Genetics in Maize Breeding; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2010; p. 664.
- 13. Davis, R.L. Report of the plant breeder. In *Rio de Piedras: Agricultural Experiment Station University;* Annual Report; Agricultural Experiment Station University: Davis, CA, USA, 1927; pp. 14–15.
- De Lima, V.J.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Kamphorst, S.H.; Bispo, R.B.; Leite, J.T.; de Oliveira Santos, T.; Schmitt, K.F.M.; Chaves, M.M.; de Oliveira, U.A.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; et al. Combined Dominance and Additive Gene Effects in Trait Inheritance of Drought-Stressed and Full Irrigated Popcorn. *Agronomy* 2019, *9*, 782. [CrossRef]
- Pereira, M.G.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr. Estimation of Genetic Components in Popcorn Based on the Nested Design. Crop Breed. Appl. Biotechnol. 2001, 1, 3–10. [CrossRef]

- Daros, Z.A.; Lone, A.A.; Alie, B.A.; Ahangar, M.A.; Ali, G.; Abidi, I.; Gazal, A.; Lone, R.A. Combining ability analysis for yield and yield contributing traits in Popcorn (*Zea mays everta* L.) under temperate conditions. *J. Pharm. Phytochem.* 2018, 7, 361–366.
- Schwantes, I.A.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Filho, J.E.A.; Vivas, M.; Cabral, P.D.S.; Guimarães, A.G.; Silva, F.H.L.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; Pereira, M.G.; Viana, A.P.; et al. Genomic selection helps accelerate popcorn population breeding. *Crop Sci.* 2020, 60, 1373–1385. [CrossRef]
- Kamphorst, S.H.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; de Lima, V.J.; Carena, M.J.; Azeredo, V.C.; Mafra, G.S.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; Leite, J.T.; Schmitt, K.F.M.; dos Santos, D.R., Jr.; et al. Driving Sustainable Popcorn Breeding for Drought Tolerance in Brazil. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2021, *12*, 732285. [CrossRef]
- Kamphorst, S.H.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Vergara-Diaz, O.; Gracia-Romero, A.; Fernandez-Gallego, J.A.; Chang-Espino, M.C.; Buchaillot, M.L.; Rezzouk, F.Z.; Lima, V.J.; Serret, M.; et al. Heterosis and reciprocal effects for physiological and morphological traits of popcorn plants under different water conditions. *Agric. Water Manag.* 2022, 261, 107371. [CrossRef]
- Dos Santos, A.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Fritsche-Neto, R.; Kamphorst, S.H.; Ferreira, F.R.A.; Amaral, J.F.T.; Vivas, J.M.S.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; de Lima, V.J.; Khan, S.; et al. Relative importance of gene effects for nitrogen-use efficiency in popcorn. *PLoS ONE* 2019, 14, e0222726. [CrossRef]
- Dos Santos, A.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Kamphorst, S.H.; Gonçalves, G.M.B.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; Vivas, J.M.S.; Mafra, G.S.; Khan, S.; de Oliveira, F.T.; Schmitt, K.F.M.; et al. Evaluation of Popcorn Hybrids for Nitrogen Use Efficiency and Responsiveness. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 485. [CrossRef]
- Schwantes, I.A.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Gerhardt, I.F.S.; Vivas, M.; Silva, F.H.D.L.E.; Kamphorst, S.H. Diallel analysis of resistance to Fusarium ear rot in Brazilian popcorn genotypes. *Trop. Plant Pathol.* 2017, 42, 70–75. [CrossRef]
- 23. Mafra, G.S.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Vivas, M.; Santos, J.S.D.; Guimarães, A.G.; Pena, G.F. The combining ability of popcorn S7 lines for *Puccinia polysora* resistance purposes. *Bragantia* **2018**, 77, 519–526. [CrossRef]
- Do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; do Poltronieri, T.P.S.; dos Santos, P.H.D.; Vivas, M.; Gerhardt, I.F.S.; Carvalho, B.M.; Freitas, C.S.; Silveira, S.F. Reaction of popcorn lines (S7) cultivated in distinct phosphorus levels to *Bipolaris maydis* infection. *Summa Phytopathol.* 2019, 45, 18–22. [CrossRef]
- Kurosawa, R.D.N.F.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; Vivas, J.M.S.; Vivas, M.; Kamphorst, S.H.; de Lima, V.J.; de Almeida, R.N. Selection of popcorn hybrids resistant to southern corn leaf blight grown in distinct N availability. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* 2020, 158, 485–493. [CrossRef]
- Kurosawa, R.D.N.F.; do Amaral, A.T., Jr.; do Vivas, M.; de Almeida, R.N.; Vivas, J.M.S.; de Lima, V.J.; da Silveira, S.F. Diallel analysis for resistance to northern leaf blight in popcorn under contrasting nitrogen availability. *Agron. J.* 2021, 113, 1029–1038. [CrossRef]
- Calderón-Vázquez, C.L.; Sawers, R.J.; Herrera-Estrella, L. Phosphate Deprivation in Maize: Genetics and Genomics. *Plant Physiol.* 2011, *156*, 1067–1077. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 28. Vencovsky, R.; Barriga, P. Genética Biométrica no Fitomelhoramento; Sociedade Brasileira de Genética: Ribeirao Preto, Brazil, 1992; p. 496.
- Fritsche-Neto, R.; Miranda, G.V.; de Lima, R.O.; de Souza, L.V.; da Silva, J. Herança de caracteres associados à eficiência de utilização do fósforo em milho. Pesq. Agropec. Bras. 2010, 45, 465–471. [CrossRef]
- 30. Dofing, S.M.; D'Croz-Mason, N.; Thomas-Compton, M.A. Inheritance of Expansion Volume and Yield in Two Popcorn × Dent Corn Crosses. *Crop Sci.* **1991**, *31*, 715–718. [CrossRef]
- Pacheco, C.A.; Meirelles, W.F.; Magalhães, J.V.; Guimarães, L.J.M.; Silva, A.R.; Ferreira Mendes, F.; Schaffert, R.E. Inheritanceand Breeding strategies for phosphorus efficiency in tropical maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Maydica* 2010, 55, 1–15.
- 32. Larish, L.L.B.; Brewbaker, J.L. Diallel analyses of temperate and tropical popcorns. Maydica 1999, 44, 279-284.
- 33. Coan, M.M.D.; Barth, R.J.P.; Kuki, M.C.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Figueiredo, A.S.T.; Scapim, C.A.; Warburton, M. Inheritance study for popping expansion in popcorn vs. flint corn genotypes. *Agron. J.* **2019**, *111*, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- 34. Scapim, C.A.; Carvalho, C.G.P.; Cruz, C.D. Uma proposta de classificação dos coeficientes de variação para a cultura do milho. *Pesq. Agropec. Bras.* **1995**, *30*, 683–686.
- 35. Dos Santos, A.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Kurosawa, R.D.N.F.; Gerhardt, I.E.S.; Neto, R.F. GGE Biplot projection in discriminating the efficiency of popcorn lines to use nitrogen. *Ciência e Agrotecnologia* **2017**, *41*, 22–31. [CrossRef]
- Sprague, G.F.; Tatum, L.A. General vs. Specific combining ability in single crosses of corn. J. Am. Soc. Agron. 1942, 34, 923–932. [CrossRef]
- 37. Inocente, G.; Garbuglio, D.D.; Ruas, P.M. Multilayer perceptron applied to genotypes classification in diallel studies. *Sci. Agricola* **2022**, *79*, e20200365. [CrossRef]
- 38. Cruz, C.D.; Vencovsky, R. Comparação de alguns métodos de análise dialélica. Rev. Bras. Genét. 1989, 12, 425–438.
- 39. Scapim, C.A.; Pacheco, C.A.P.; Tonet, A.; Braccini, A.D.L.E.; Pinto, R.J.B. Análise Dialélica e Heterose de Populações de Milho-Pipoca. *Bragantia* 2002, *61*, 219–230. [CrossRef]
- Kamphorst, S.H.; de Lima, V.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Schmitt, K.F.M.; Leite, J.T.; Carvalho, C.M.; Silva, R.R.M.; Xavier, K.B.; Ferreira, F.R.A.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; et al. Popcorn breeding for water-stress tolerance or for agronomic water-use efficiency? *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2018, 17, 1–18. [CrossRef]
- Do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; dos Santos, A.; Gerhardt, I.F.S.; Kurosawa, R.N.F.; Moreira, N.F.; Pereira, M.G.; Gravina, G.D.A.; Silva, F.D.L. Proposal of a super trait for the optimum selection of popcorn progenies based on path analysis. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2016, 15, 1–9. [CrossRef]

- Schmitt, K.F.M.; Lima, V.J.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Santos, J.S.; Mafra, G.S.; Vivas, M.; Kamphorst, S.H.; Souza, Y.P.; Oliveira, F.T.; Ferreira, F.R.A.; et al. Combining ability of popcorn lines for resistance to the fungus *Puccinia polysora* (*Pucciniaceae*). *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2019, *18*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Santos, T.D.O.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Bispo, R.B.; de Lima, V.J.; Kamphorst, S.H.; Leite, J.T.; dos Santos Júnior, D.R.; Santos, P.H.A.D.; de Oliveira, U.A.; Schmitt, K.F.M.; et al. Phenotyping Latin American Open-Pollinated Varieties of Popcorn for Environments with Low Water Availability. *Plants* 2021, 10, 1211. [CrossRef]
- 44. Willier, G. Factors affecting the popping quality of popcorn. J. Agric. Res. 1927, 35, 615–624.
- 45. Hallauer, A.R. Specialty Corns, 2nd ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2001; p. 496.
- 46. Daros, M.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Pereira, M.G.; Santos, F.S.; Gabriel, A.P.C.; Scapim, C.A.; Silvério, D.P.F., Jr. Recurrent selection in inbred popcorn families. *Sci. Agricola* 2004, *61*, 609–614. [CrossRef]
- 47. Rangel, R.M.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Gonçalves, L.S.A.; Freitas, S.P., Jr. Análise biométrica de ganhos por seleção em população de milho-pipoca de quinto ciclo de seleção recorrente. *Rev. Ciência Agronômica* **2011**, *42*, 473–481. [CrossRef]
- Zinsly, J.R.; Machado, J.A. Milho-pipoca. In Melhoramento e Produção do Milho, 2nd ed.; Paterniani, E., Viégas, G.P., Eds.; Fundação Cargill: Campinas, Brazil, 1987; pp. 413–421.
- 49. De Andrade, R.A.; Cruz, C.D.; Scapim, C.A.; Silverio, L.; Pinto, R.J.B.; Tonet, A. Análise dialélica da capacidade combinatória de variedades de milho-pipoca. *Acta Scientiarum. Agron.* 2008, 24, 1197–1204. [CrossRef]
- Gerhardt, I.F.S.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Guimarães, L.J.M.; Schwantes, I.A.; Santos, A.; Kamphorst, S.H.; de Lima, V.J.; Poblete, F.M.; Myers, G.O. Intraspecific variability of popcorn S7 lines for phosphorus efficiency in the soil. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2017, 16, gmr16039763. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Goncalves, L.S.A.; Freitas, S.D.P., Jr.; Candido, L.S.; Vittorazzi, C.; Pena, G.F.; Ribeiro, R.M.; Silva, T.R.D.C.; Pereira, M.G.; Scapim, C.A.; et al. UENF 14: A new popcorn cultivar. Crop Breed. Appl. Biotechnol. 2013, 13, 218–220. [CrossRef]
- Ribeiro, A.C.; Guimarães, P.T.G.; Alvarez, V.H.A. Recomendações Para o Uso de Corretivos e Fertilizantes em Minas Gerais: 5° Aproximação; Comissão de Fertilidade do Solo do Estado de Minas Gerais: Viçosa, Brazil, 1999; p. 195.
- Vitorazzi, C.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Candido, L.S.; Freitas, I.L.J.; Silva, T.R.C. Arranjo populacional para a variedade UENF-14 de milho-pipoca. *Rev. Bras. Milho Sorgo* 2017, 16, 401–413. [CrossRef]
- Ribeiro, R.M.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Pena, G.F.; Vivas, M.; Kurosawa, R.F.N.; Goncalves, L.S.A. Effect of recurrent selection on the variability of the UENF-14 popcorn population. *Crop Breed. Appl. Biotechnol.* 2016, 16, 123–131. [CrossRef]
- Guimarães, A.G.; do Amaral, A.T.D., Jr.; Pena, G.F.; Filho, J.E.A.; Pereira, M.G.; Santos, P.H.A.D. Genetic gains in the popcorn population UENF-14: Developing the ninth generation of intrapopulation recurrent selection. *Rev. Caatinga* 2019, 32, 625–633. [CrossRef]
- Griffing, B. Concept of general and specific Combining ability in relation to diallel crossing systems. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 1956, 9, 463–493. [CrossRef]
- Cruz, C.D. GENES—A software package for analysis in experimental statistics and quantitative genetics. Acta Sci. Agron. 2013, 35, 271–276. [CrossRef]





César Santos¹, Marcelo Ribeiro Malta², Mariana Gabriele Marcolino Gonçalves¹, Flávio Meira Borém³, Adélia Aziz Alexandre Pozza¹, Herminia Emilia Prieto Martinez⁴, Taylor Lima de Souza¹, Wantuir Filipe Teixeira Chagas¹, Maria Elisa Araújo de Melo¹, Damiany Pádua Oliveira¹, Alan Dhan Costa Lima¹, Lívia Botelho de Abreu¹, Thiago Henrique Pereira Reis¹, Thaís Regina de Souza⁵, Victor Ramirez Builes⁵ and Douglas Guelfi^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Soil Science, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras 37203-202, Brazil
- ² Agricultural Research Company of Minas Gerais (EPAMIG), Belo Horizonte 31170-495, Brazil
- ³ Department of Agricultural Engineering, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras 37203-202, Brazil
 - ⁴ Department of Agronomy, Federal University of Viçosa, Viçosa 36570-900, Brazil
- ⁵ Center for Plant Nutrition and Environmental Research Hanninghof, Yara International, 48249 Dülmen, Germany
- * Correspondence: douglasguelfi@ufla.br; Tel.: +55-35-3829-1504

Abstract: The present study had the objective to evaluate the effect of blends of KCl and K₂SO₄ fertilizers and their influence on the yield and the nutritional state of coffee plants, as well as on the chemical composition and quality of the coffee beverage. The experimental design was in randomized blocks with four repetitions and six treatments (T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; and a control, without application of K). The following analyses were performed: K and Cl content in the leaves and the soil, stocks of Cl in soil, yield, removal of K and Cl with the beans, cup quality of the beverage, polyphenol oxidase activity (PPO), electric conductivity (EC), potassium leaching (KL), the content of phenolic compounds, the content of total sugars (TS), and total titratable acidity (TTA). The stocks of Cl in the soil decreased as the proportion of KCl in the fertilizer was reduced. The fertilization with KCl reduces the cup quality and the activity of the polyphenol oxidase, probably due to the ion Cl. The increase in the application of Cl directly relates to the increase in potassium leaching, electric conductivity, and titratable acidity. Indirectly, these variables indicate damages to the cells by the use of Cl in the fertilizer. The activity of the polyphenol oxidase enzyme and the cup quality indicate that the ion Cl- reduces the quality of the coffee beverage. K content in the leaves was not influenced by the application of blends of K fertilizer while Cl content increased linearly with KCl applied. The application of KCl and K₂SO₄ blends influenced coffee yield and the optimum proportion was 25% of KCl and 75% of K₂SO₄. The highest score in the cup quality test was observed with 100% K₂SO₄.

Keywords: blend fertilizers; chlorine; cup test; polyphenol oxidase

1. Introduction

Coffee is one of the most popular beverages in the world, and its cultivation is widespread in 80 countries. Brazil is the largest producer and second largest consumer of coffee in the world. The gross revenue of "Cafés do Brasil" in the 2022 harvest was R\$61.82 billion with *Coffea arabica* accounting for 77% the total revenue (R\$ 47.48 billion). The state of Minas Gerais is the largest producer, responding for R\$ 33.28 billion or 54% of national revenues [1]. After petroleum, coffee is the second most commercialized product [2,3]. The marketing price is based on the quality of the beverage, which is related to the physical, chemical, and sensorial characteristics of the product [2,4,5].

Fertilization and crop nutrition can influence both yield and the chemical composition of the raw beans, which, consequently, interfere with the quality of the beverage [6].

Citation: Santos, C.; Malta, M.R.; Gonçalves, M.G.M.; Borém, F.M.; Pozza, A.A.A.; Martinez, H.E.P.; de Souza, T.L.; Chagas, W.F.T.; de Melo, M.E.A.; Oliveira, D.P.; et al. Chloride Applied via Fertilizer Affects Plant Nutrition and Coffee Quality. *Plants* **2023**, *12*, 885. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/plants12040885

Academic Editors: Przemysław Barłóg, Jim Moir, Lukáš Hlisnikovský and Xinhua He

Received: 23 December 2022 Revised: 2 February 2023 Accepted: 4 February 2023 Published: 15 February 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). After nitrogen, potassium (K) is the most accumulated nutrient in coffee plant fruits, where it is demanded in high amounts. K is related to the enzymatic activation of several metabolic processes, such as photosynthesis, proteins, and carbohydrates synthesis, and in the maintenance of cell turgidity [7–9]. In addition, K is directly related to the transport of sugars from the source to the drain (fruits) [10].

The effects of the accompanying chloride ion (Cl) of the potassium chloride fertilizer (KCl) are currently under debate. Cl is demanded by the plants at low amounts, thus being one of the last micronutrients to enter the micronutrient list. Its role is related to the water photolysis on the photosystem II, enzyme activation (amylase, asparagine synthetase, and tonoplast ATPase), and stomatal control [11].

Despite Cl being essential to plant nutrition, when accompanying a highly demanded macronutrient such as K, it can reach excessive concentrations in the soil and plants [12] and consequently reduce the quality of the beverage. In coffee plants, high concentrations of Cl are related to the increase in plant water, which favors an undesirable fermentation of the fruits by microorganisms [13,14].

The study of the Cl influence on the quality of the coffee beverage is not recent, but it is still inconclusive. For example, Dias et al. [15] evaluated an alternative source of K (glauconite silicate mineral) to KCl in coffee fertilization. Despite finding similar yields and polyphenol oxidase activity (PPO) in the beans, the use of the glauconite did not improve the sensorial quality. Silva et al. [16], along two seasons, verified that fertilization with potassium sulfate (K_2SO_4) increased PPO activity in comparison with KCl, which, according to the authors, is indicative of a better beverage quality. These studies suggest possible negative effects of the Cl on the quality of the coffee beverage and the necessity to use K sources without Cl as the accompanying ion, such as K_2SO_4 (48% K_2O , 16% S) and potassium nitrate (44% K_2O , 13% N). Nonetheless, this could increase the production costs, as these sources are more expensive than KCl. In turn, blends of KCl and K_2SO_4 (a physical mixture of the two less expensive sources in the market) could be an alternative to reduce Cl to thresholds that do not affect the quality of the coffee beverage without excessively increasing the costs of the fertilization.

Therefore, the present study had the objective to evaluate the effect of blends of KCl and K_2SO_4 fertilizers at different proportions and their influence on the yield and the nutritional state of coffee plants, as well as on the chemical composition and quality of the coffee beverage.

2. Results

2.1. Effects of the KCl and K_2SO_4 Blends in the Stocks of Cl in the Soil, Nutrition, and Yield of Coffee Plants

2.1.1. Harvest of 2017/2018

The initial content of K in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers was 91.5 and 58.6 mg dm⁻³ while stocks of the element were 201.3 and 386.7 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. The content of Cl in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers was 153.8 and 203.8 mg dm⁻³ while stocks were 338.3 and 1345.0 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. K and Cl contents in the leaves were 19.2 g kg⁻¹ and 2880 mg kg⁻¹, respectively (Table 1).

Table 1. Initial content and stocks of K and Cl in the soil and in the leaves of coffee plants.

Depth	BD	K ⁺	C1-	S.K ⁺	S.Cl-	Leaf K ⁺ Foliar	Leaf Cl ⁻
cm	${\rm g}~{\rm cm}^{-3}$	${ m mg}~{ m dm}^{-3}$		kg l	na ⁻¹	${ m g}{ m kg}^{-1}$	${ m mg}~{ m kg}^{-1}$
0–20 20–80	1.1 1.1	91.5 58.6	153.8 203.8	201.3 386.7	338.3 1345.0	19.2	2880

BD = Soil density by the volumetric ring method; S.K⁺ = stocks of K; S.Cl⁻ = stocks of Cl. Both stocks were calculated by multiplying the content of the element by the mass of soil in the layer.

Soil stocks of Cl were influenced by the K blends (Figure S1). Overall, the amount of Cl decreased along with the KCl proportion in the treatment. In the 0–20 cm layer, Cl

stocks with T1, T2, and T3 were similar (~190 kg ha⁻¹). In the 20–80 cm layer, the highest Cl stock was in the T1 (622 kg ha⁻¹), T2 (513 kg ha⁻¹), and T3 (409 kg ha⁻¹; which did not differ from T2). Other treatments showed similar Cl stocks.

In this harvest, K content varied from 20.8 to 34.8 g kg⁻¹ (Figure S2). Cl content decreased with the increase in K_2SO_4 , with results ranging from 3644 to 5275 mg kg⁻¹. For the statistically non-significant variables, mean values for Cl content in the beans (Figure S3A), yield (Figure S3A), and Cl removal (Figure S3B) were 1778 mg kg⁻¹, 3631 kg ha⁻¹ (Figure S3A), and 2.8 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. The lowest K removal by the beans was in T3 (11.3 kg ha⁻¹). The K removal from other treatments had means close to 24 kg ha⁻¹ (Figure S3B).

2.1.2. Harvest of 2018/2019

In this harvest, treatments showed Cl stocks near 65 kg ha⁻¹ in the 0–20 cm layer (Figure 1). The lowest Cl amount was stocked with T4 (50 kg ha⁻¹). In the 20–80 cm layer, the average stock of the six treatments was 122 kg ha⁻¹.



Figure 1. Stocks of Cl in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers after application of KCl and K₂SO₄ blends as cover fertilization on coffee plants. 2018/2019 harvest. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

K content in the leaves varied from 17 to 21 g kg⁻¹, and the lowest value was in the control (Figure 2). Overall, Cl content in the leaves decreased with less KCl applied. Treatments T1 (6950 mg kg⁻¹) and T2 (7621 mg kg⁻¹) were far superior from the others.

There was no significant differences among treatments for the following variables: Cl content in beans (693 mg kg⁻¹; Figure 3A), yield (1804 kg ha⁻¹; Figure 3A), and K removal (6.0 kg ha⁻¹) and Cl removal (0.21 kg ha⁻¹; Figure 3B).



Figure 2. K and Cl contents in the leaves of coffee plants, 20 days after application of the second cover fertilization parcel. Harvest of 2018/2019. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.



Figure 3. Yield of coffee plants and Cl content in the beans at cherry stage (**A**) and K and Cl removal by the beans (**B**) after application of blends of KCl e K₂SO₄ as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2018/2019. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

2.1.3. Harvest of 2019/2020

The same pattern of the first harvest was observed. Cl stocks in the soil and Cl content in the leaves decreased along with the proportion of KCl in the blend (Figures 4 and 5). In the 0–20 cm layer, Cl stocks were higher for T1 (119 kg ha⁻¹) and T3 (101 kg ha⁻¹) and lower for T5 (57 kg ha⁻¹) and the control (54 kg ha⁻¹); in the 20–80 cm layer, the lowest values occurred with T5 and control (~267 kg ha⁻¹). The highest Cl content in the leaves was in T1 (4919 mg kg⁻¹), and the lowest content was found in T5 (1762 mg kg⁻¹) and control (1819 mg kg⁻¹).



Figure 4. Stocks of Cl in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers after application of blends of KCl e K₂SO₄ as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2019/2020. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.



Figure 5. K and Cl content in the leaves of coffee plants. Harvest of 2019/2020. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

There were differences in the yield of the coffee plants depending on the treatment, although they all received the same dose of K (Figure 6A). Yields of T1 (4147 kg ha⁻¹) and the control (4055 kg ha⁻¹) were the lowest. The treatments that received K₂SO₄ up to 75% of applied K had similar yields (~5100 kg ha⁻¹). Yields of T2, T3, and T4 were 19, 24, and 24% higher than the yield of T1. Treatment T5 yield was similar to the best yields but did not differ from the yield of T1.



Figure 6. Yield (**A**), Cl content in the beans (**A**), and removal of K and Cl (**B**) by the beans of coffee at cherry stage after application of blends of KCl e K_2SO_4 as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2019/2020. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

There was no significant difference among treatments for the other agronomic variables. The average results were as follows: 883 mg kg⁻¹ for the content of Cl in the beans (Figure 6A), 45 kg ha⁻¹ for the K removal, and 1.6 kg ha⁻¹ for the Cl removal by the beans (Figure 6B).

2.2. Effect of KCl and K_2SO_4 Blends on the Chemical Composition and Quality of the Coffee Beverage

2.2.1. Harvest of 2017/2018

The highest K leaching (KL) was in T3 (36.7 μ g g⁻¹), and the lowest was in T1 (30 μ g g⁻¹) (Figure S4). In the variables related to the quality of the coffee beverage, there was a similar pattern among the treatments despite not having differences from each other. The resulting averages were: 81 points for the sensorial analysis; 91.8 μ S cm⁻¹ g⁻¹ for the electric conductivity (EC); 9.7% for total sugars (TS); 1.04% for caffeine content (Caf); 47.6 u min⁻¹ g⁻¹ for the activity of polyphenol oxidase (PPO); 186.5 mL NaOH 100 g⁻¹ of sample for total titratable acidity (TTA); and 6.4% for polyphenols (Pol) (Table S1).

2.2.2. Harvest of 2018/2019

All treatments received over 80 points in the cup quality (Figure 7A). The highest scores were achieved by treatments T3 (83 points), T4 (84.5), and T5 (83).



Figure 7. Scores of cup quality (**A**), electric conductivity and potassium leaching (**B**) in coffee beans at cherry stage after application of blends of KCl e K₂SO₄ as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2018/2019. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

The EC was higher in T1 (221 μ S cm⁻¹ g⁻¹) and lower in T5 (132 μ S cm⁻¹ g⁻¹) and the control (117 μ S cm⁻¹ g⁻¹). T2 was 24% lower than T1 (Figure 7B). Potassium leached (KL) more in treatments where the proportion of KCl was higher than K₂SO₄ (Figure 7B). T1, T2, and T3 had similar KL (~37 μ g g⁻¹) while the other treatments were lower (~29 μ g g⁻¹). There was no significant variation for the other variables, and the means were: 9.1% for TS, 1.03% for Caf, 46 u min⁻¹ g⁻¹ for PPO, 190 mL NaOH 100 g⁻¹ of sample for TTA, and 5.0% for the content of Pol (Table 2).

Treatments	Pol	TS	Caf	РРО	TTA
T1	4.9a	9.4a	1.05a	47.0a	188.6a
T2	5.1a	9.0a	1.03a	45.7a	189.7a
T3	4.8a	8.9a	1.02a	47.8a	193.1a
T4	5.0a	9.5a	1.03a	45.9a	194.9a
T5	5.1a	9.0a	1.03a	47.7a	191.3a
Control	5.2a	8.9a	1.02a	44.5a	187.1a
CV (%)	6.9	5.3	2.8	8.5	2.9
Mean	5.0	9.1	1.03	46.4	190.8

Table 2. Variables analyzed in the coffee beans for the harvest of 2018/2019.

 $\overline{\text{CV}}$ (%) = coefficient of variation; Pol = total phenolic compounds (%); TS = content of total sugars (%); Caf = content of caffeine (%); PPO = polyphenol oxidase activity (u min⁻¹ g⁻¹); TTA = total tritable acidity (mL NaOH 0.1 N 100 g⁻¹). Means followed by the same letter in column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

2.2.3. Harvest of 2019/2020

The highest grade was achieved in T5 (89 points) and the lowest was in the control (84) (Figure 8). However, T1 was not different from the control. T3 and T4 had similar scores (86 points) while T2 was similar to T3 and T4, but not different from T1. The other variables were not influenced by the application of the blends of K. The following means were found: $124 \ \mu\text{S cm}^{-1} \ \text{g}^{-1}$ for EC, 9.6% for TS, 1.02% for Caf, 54 u min⁻¹ g⁻¹ for PPO, 70.9 $\ \mu\text{g} \ \text{g}^{-1}$ for KL, 195 mL NaOH 100 g⁻¹ of sample for TTA, and 5.0% for Pol (Table 3).



Figure 8. Scores of the cup quality of coffee beans at cherry stage after application of blends of KCl e K₂SO₄ as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2019/2020. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

Table 3. Variables analyzed in the coffee beans for the harvest of 2019/2020.

Treatments	Pol	TS	Caf	РРО	KL	TTA	EC
T1	5.1a	9.7a	1.05a	47.4a	72.7a	194.0a	119.4a
T2	5.2a	9.7a	1.09a	57.8a	69.9a	195.5a	129.7a
T3	5.1a	9.5a	1.08a	57.5a	62.8a	194.8a	119.7a
T4	5.1a	9.7a	1.06a	52.1a	75.2a	196.4a	126.7a
T5	5.2a	9.6a	1.03a	55.6a	80.2a	197.3a	134.7a
Control	5.0a	9.4a	1.03a	54.0a	64.2a	192.5a	118.4a
CV (%)	3.5	3.5	6.1	11.6	13.8	3.7	12
Mean	5.1	9.6	1.06	54.1	70.9	195	124

 $\overline{\text{CV}}$ (%) = coefficient of variation; Pol = total phenolic compounds (%); TS = content of total sugars (%); Caf = content of caffeine (%); PPO = polyphenol oxidase activity (u min⁻¹ g⁻¹); TTA = total tritable acidity (mL NaOH 0.1 N 100 g⁻¹). Means followed by the same letter in column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O.

2.2.4. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) for the Agronomic Variables, Chemical Composition of the Beans, and Quality of the Coffee Beverage

The PCAs allow one to understand the behavior of the variables related to the chemical composition and quality of the coffee beverage in relation to the treatments, even if some of the variables were not statistically significant. Initially, we attempted to separate the treatments with ellipses in the PCAs calculated with all available data. However, we decided to add these PCAs in the Supplementary Material as we observed a lower percentage of the explained variance in comparison with the PCAs calculated without the agronomic data (those related to the soil). This happens when a set of variables with very different origins (soil, beverage quality, leaf composition) are used in PCA calculations (S5, S6, and S7).

Therefore, the treatments in the following PCAs represent the proportions of KCl and K_2SO_4 as described before. Thus, the closer they are, the greater the correlation between the variables that constitute these treatment groups. The agronomic variables stocks of K and Cl in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers, K and Cl contents in the leaves, yield, K and Cl removal in the beans and Cl content in the beans are supplementary variables; that is, they do not contribute to explaining the variability of the data. These illustrative variables are represented as dashed arrows, and they help to interpret the other data.

The PCA for the first harvest (2017/2018) indicates that the two components (Dim1 and Dim2) responded for 51.7% of the total variability of the data. The variances explained by these two variables were 38.2% and 18.9%, respectively (Figure S8). The variables K and Cl removal by the beans, K content in the leaves, yield, TS, Pol, and Caf were highly correlated. The control treatment was more related to these variables. In addition, these variables were negatively correlated to the stock of K in the 20–80 cm layer, stock of Cl in the 0–20 cm layer, and cup quality. The EC, KL, and TTA variables were highly correlated. The variables Cl content in the beans, stock of K in the 0–20 cm layer, and Cl content in the beans, stock of Cl in the 20–80 cm layer and with the PPO activity. Furthermore, these variables were negatively correlated with the variables EC, KL, and TTA.

In the harvest of 2018/2019, the two PCA components explained 54.9% of the variability. The variances of each component were 39.6% and 15.3%, respectively (Figure 9). The cup quality was positively correlated with TS in the coffee beans and with yield. These variables are also correlated with T2. The KL variable was correlated with the stocks of Cl in both layers and with the Cl content in the leaves of the plants. T1 and T4 were close to these variables. Pol, Caf, and K and Cl in the beans were strongly correlated. Overall, the PCA shows that the quality of the coffee beverage is negatively correlated with the content of Cl in the leaves and beans.



Figure 9. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2018/2019. PPO = activity of the enzyme polyphenol oxidase; KL = K leaching; TTA = total titratable acidity; EC = electric conductivity; Pol = total phenolic compounds; Caf = content of caffeine; TS = content of total sugars; K in the soil 20 = stock of K in the 0–20 cm layer; K in the soil 80 = stock of K in the 20–80 cm layer; Cl in the soil 80 = stock of Cl in the 20–80 cm layer; K rem. by beans: K removal by the beans, Cl rem. by beans: Cl removal by the beans. T1: 100% KCl, T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄, T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄, T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄, T5: 100% K₂SO₄.

In the last harvest (2019/2020), the PCA explained 56.8% of the variability with the first component explaining 36.8%, and the second component explained 20% of the variance (Figure 10). The cup quality and PPO activity were closely related to T5. The stock of Cl in the 20–80 cm layer was strongly related to T1. KL and Cl contents in the leaves were also correlated with T1.



Figure 10. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2019/2020. PPO = activity of the enzyme polyphenol oxidase; KL = K leaching; TTA = total titratable acidity; EC = electric conductivity; Pol = total phenolic compounds; Caf = content of caffeine; TS = content of total sugars; K in the soil 20 = stock of K in the 0–20 cm layer; K in the soil 80 = stock of K in the 20–80 cm layer; Cl in the soil 80 = stock of Cl in the 20–80 cm layer; K rem. by beans: K removal by the beans, Cl rem. by beans: Cl removal by the beans. T1: 100% KCl, T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄, T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄, T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄, T5: 100% K₂SO₄.

3. Discussion

Despite the long-time fertilization with KCl in the area, the initial K stocks in the soil were considered medium level [17]. For the initial amount of Cl, however, there is no method of extraction and no reference values to relate to the needs of coffee plants. Cl is a micronutrient that is required in low amounts by plants. Under field conditions, Cl deficiency is uncommon while the excess is frequently expressed.

The stocks of Cl reduced during the three years of study due to the leaching of the element to deeper layers in the soil. The Cl ion has low interaction with the soil solid phase [18]; thus, it is easily leachable [12].

There was a tendency to accumulate K in the leaves when plants received more KCl. KCl fertilizer is more soluble than K_2SO_4 . Nonetheless, in all harvests, the foliar content of K remained adequate in the range of 19.7 to 31 g kg⁻¹ [19,20] except for the low content in the control treatment in the last two harvests.

The Cl content in the leaves in all harvests was reduced from T1 to T5 and the control. The content of Cl usually found in plant tissues ranges from 2000 to 30,000 mg kg⁻¹, which is equivalent to the amount of macronutrients [21,22]. However, plants vary in their tolerance to Cl [23]. According to Marschner [22], plants sensitive to Cl show toxicity symptoms at concentrations higher than 3500 mg kg⁻¹. In tolerant plants, the symptoms appear when the concentration range from 20,000 to 30,000 mg kg⁻¹.

Under field conditions, toxicity symptoms caused by Cl excess are uncommon. Symptoms are characterized by the reduction of the width of the leaves, with possible curling, and the presence of wide necrosis with later leaf drying [11,12]. In this study, despite the high content found when KCl was applied (over 2500 mg kg⁻¹), plants did not show toxicity symptoms. However, it is important to emphasize the damages to the metabolism, growth, and yield that can occur even in concentrations below the toxicity threshold. In fact, in the harvest of 2019/2020, when the foliar content of Cl reached 4919 mg kg⁻¹ in treatment T1, a lower yield was observed. An argument could be made for the higher availability of S in the treatments that received more K₂SO₄, but despite the source of K, all treatments received 2 t ha⁻¹ of gypsum, which provided 340 kg ha⁻¹ of S to the soil. The reduction in the yield is probably more related to the excess of Cl than the lack of S in the fertilization. Another aspect to be taken into account is that, under high concentrations of Cl in the soil, anion–anion competition may occur mainly with phosphate and nitrate ions. This is due to the inability of proteins to differentiate among nitrate, phosphate, and chlorine ions, leading to the absorption of the ion in higher concentration [12].

Conversely, the reduction in the yield is notable, even with no clear statistical separation, between the treatment that received only K_2SO_4 and the treatment fertilized solely with KCl. It is possible that such difference may be related to the solubility of the K_2SO_4 , 80 g L⁻¹ at 25 °C, which is considerably lower than the solubility of the KCl, 279 g L⁻¹ [24]. This difference in the availability of K can compromise the yield in harvests of increased productivity as the harvest of 2019/2020. Another explanation is that the high solubility of KCl can benefit the absorption of cations, such as K, Ca, and Mg [25], increasing plant nutrition, even though it is for a short period. A third possibility is the excess of SO_4^{2-} , limiting the availability and absorption of $H_2PO_4^-$ by the plant, since, besides the K_2SO_4 application, gypsum was also applied.

The results suggest advantages in providing the two sources of K (25 to 75% of K₂SO₄) to increase yield. In the first two years of the experiment, when the yields were lower, the exportation of K by the beans was less intense and plant production was not limited by the sources of K once they were applied at the same dose.

The removal of K and Cl and the content of Cl in the beans were not different among the treatments since these elements remain in high concentration in the mucilage and the bean peels [26]. The exception is treatment T3 at the first harvest, but that might be related more to the history of the area than to the treatments.

3.1. Effects of the Application of KCl and K_2SO_4 Blends in the Chemical Composition of the Beans and in the Quality of the Coffee Beverage

There was a response in the KL in the first and second harvests. This variable is related to the integrity of the cell wall and membrane and, consequently, to the coffee beverage quality. When these structures are less intact, the cell has a higher tendency to lose cytoplasmatic contents as a reflection of the reduced cell organization [6,19,27]. The KL results for the first year of the evaluation showed the opposite effect to what would be expected, but this lower value observed for the T1 treatment is due to the influence of frequent fertilization with KCl before the evaluation. In the second year of evaluation, after the establishment of a new K dynamic in the soil and the reduction of Cl levels, less KL was found in treatments T4, T5, and the control.

Another piece of evidence for the reduction in the quality of the coffee beans and beverage with increasing doses of KCl is the high values of the EC observed in treatments T1, T2, and T3. As KL, CE also has a direct relationship with the integrity of the cell membrane [28,29].

Despite being considered indicatives of the quality of the beverage, these variables should not be decisive to vouch for the quality of the coffee [28]. In fact, the results of the cup quality in the last harvest suggest the same tendency observed for these variables. Notably, there was a response in the cup quality after the application of the treatments in the second harvest. As previously stated, in the first harvest, all response variables were very dependent on the previous fertilization in the area, thus the lack of response in the sensorial analysis.

However, from the second year of evaluation, some important facts should be emphasized about the K nutrition with the blends of fertilizers and the quality of the coffee beverage. Despite the lower scores for T1 and T2, the same behavior was observed for the control without K fertilization. This result suggests that only reducing the application of Cl via KCl is not enough to improve the quality of the beverage, but also maintaining adequate levels of K is essential to produce a high-quality coffee [6,15].

In the last harvest, treatment T5 achieved the highest score (89 points) in the sensorial analysis. T3 and T4, however, reached a few points less (86 points) than T5. Considering the higher cost of K_2SO_4 in relation to KCl, the choice for the composition of the K fertilizer should consider the economic cost that this difference of 3 points in the cup quality might return. Another important consideration is that there was a tendency for higher yield in T3 and T4 treatments despite the lack of statistical differences among the treatments. The difference between both treatments in relation to treatment T5 yielded more than five sacks of 60 kg of coffee beans, suggesting that yield should also be considered when choosing the best K fertilizer composition.

3.2. Principal Component Analyses for the Agronomic Variables and the Quality of the Coffee

The PCA results suggest that studies on how the fertilization of coffee plants affects the quality of the coffee beverage should be carried out for a long duration.

Overall, there were increased effects of the treatments after the second year of evaluation, probably due to the previous fertilizations with KCl, which is the most used source of K in Brazil [15]. However, some points should be considered in relation to the first harvest, such as the correlation among the variable Cl content in the beans, K content in the leaves, and yield showing the importance of the K fertilization in coffee plants. Nonetheless, the negative correlation of these variables with the cup quality suggests an unfavorable effect of one of these variables on the quality of the beverage, most probably the Cl content in the beans.

The correlation between EC and KL can be explained by the direct relationship shared by these two variables since they both indicate damages to the cell integrity of the beans [28–30]. The PCA confirms these results. These damages can lead to the loss of compounds related to the quality of the beans and the cup quality; therefore, lower EC and KL indicate lower coffee quality [28,31]. This lower bean quality is confirmed by the high negative correlation between PPO activity and the variables EC, PL, and TTA, showing that higher values of EC, KL, and TTA are associated with low PPO activity. Several studies found a positive correlation between the PPO activity and the sensorial quality of the coffee [32,33]. Thus, it is possible to conclude that there is a reduction in the PPO activity and the quality of the beverage as EC, KL, and TTA increase. In fact, damages to the cell membrane lead to the loss of selective permeability, facilitating the reaction produces quinones that inhibit the activity of PPO [16,32].

Noteworthy, the high positive correlation between cup quality and the content of TS in the beans indicates a direct relationship where the increase in TS also increases the cup quality. Treatment T2 was close to this correlation, confirming the results for cup quality and indicating that increases in the K_2SO_4 proportion tend to increase cup quality. These results confirm the study of Silva et al. [16], which also involved doses and sources of K, and they add information about the sensorial quality of the coffee beverage. These findings provide evidence for the increase in the content of TS and better scores on the cup quality test as the proportion of K_2SO_4 in the blend also increases.

The reduction in the quality of the coffee beans is observed in the high correlation among KL, the stock of Cl in the soil, and the Cl content in the leaves. When the values of the variables related to Cl increase, K also increases, and the quality of the beans and the beverage reduces.

In the last harvest (2019/2020), a direct effect of the Cl in the variables related to the quality of the beverage is notable. Despite the fact that the PPO activity did not

show differences for the treatments in both harvests, this variable behavior within the PCA is enough to indicate the direct relationship of this enzyme with the quality of the coffee beverage.

In addition, the high negative correlations of cup quality and PPO in relation to the variables related to Cl (stocks in the soil and content in the leaves) confirm the negative influence of the Cl in the beverage. In addition, treatment T5, which received only K_2SO_4 , is closely related to cup quality and PPO activity.

Previous reports state that Cl increases the water content of the coffee fruits with consequent microbial fermentation [13,14]. We believe this explanation does not relate to this study since the beans were collected manually at the stage of cherry and benefited under controlled conditions, unlikely leading to an undesirable fermentation.

Although we did not perform physiological or morphological analyses of the coffee beans, the results allow us to infer that there is an effect of the Cl in the beans and that it might be related to the loss of quality of the beverage. The rationale is that the Cl can inhibit the activity of the PPO enzyme when reacting with the copper activator, thus reducing the enzymatic activity when KCl is applied [34].

In conclusion, this study showed that the blends of K fertilizers responded positively to the quality of the coffee beverage when the proportion of K_2SO_4 relative to KCl was increased. There was a tendency for higher KL, EC, and TTA with the increase of the KCl proportion, which might lead to damages in the cell membrane caused by the Cl and the consequent reduction of the PPO activity and quality of the beverage. However, the decision to use a determined blend of K should consider the improvement of the beverage and the economic return to the farm. Moreover, it should also consider the yield. For example, in this study, the blend that provided the best quality for the coffee beverage was not always the same responsible for the highest yield. And finally, it should also consider the economic costs of fertilization with K₂SO₄, which is more expensive than KCl. Considering these aspects, a management strategy could be the separation of the farm into plots based on the tendency to produce better quality coffees in previous years. In this case, each plot would receive a determined blend of K, and the highest proportions of K_2SO_4 should be applied to the plots with a tendency to produce higher quality coffees while the higher proportion of KCl would fertilize plots of low-quality coffee. Finally, any investigation with similar objectives to this work should perform a broader study, especially covering the regions of greater coffee production, where each plot/farm or region would receive potassium fertilization depending on the tendency for better or worse quality of the coffee beverage in the cup.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Experimental Area Characterization

The experiment was performed through three consecutive years (harvests of 2017/2018, 2018/2019, and 2019/2020) in a commercial production system of coffee located in the municipality of Santo Antônio do Amparo-MG, Brazil ($20^{\circ}53'26.04''$ S and $44^{\circ}52'04.14''$ W and mean altitude of 1100 m). The plantation of Coffee arabica L., cultivar Catuaí Vermelho IAC 99, initiated in 2012 and spaced at 3.40 m × 0.65 m, is planted on a clayey Dystrophic Red Latosol-Latossolo Vermelho distrófico (Oxysol) [35].

Before the experiment, soil samples were collected for chemical attributes and texture analyses (Table 4). Samples from the 0–80 cm layer of soil were collected to assess K and Cl stocks. Undisturbed soil samples were taken to assess bulk density (BD). For depths over 5 cm, multiple samples were taken followed by the weighted average of the BD values. After determining K and Cl concentrations (mg kg⁻¹), the values were multiplied by the BD to transform them into kg ha⁻¹.

Depth	$pH CaCl_2$	K^+	Р	Ca ²⁺	Mg ²⁺	A1 ³⁺	H + Al	BS	ECEC	CEC	v	m
cm	-	${ m mg}{ m dm}^{-3}$		$^{-3}$ cmol _c dm ⁻³							Q	/o
0-10	5.2	96	7.9	1.4	0.7	0.3	8.7	2.5	2.8	11.2	22.2	11.9
10-20	5.2	87	9.2	1.5	1.1	0.1	6.7	3.0	3.1	9.7	30.8	5.6
20-40	5.1	69	7.1	1.6	1.0	0.1	6.5	3.0	3.1	9.5	31.5	5.0
Depth	ОМ	P(rem)	Zn ²⁺	Fe ²⁺	Mn ²⁺	Cu ²⁺	В	S	Sand	Silt	Cl	ay
cm	$dag kg^{-1}$	${ m mg}{ m L}^{-1}$		$ m mg~dm^{-3}$						%)	
0-10	3.8	17.2	1.8	57.6	8.4	2.1	0.2	180	22	14	6	4
10-20	3.7	15.9	2.2	52.4	7.7	2.1	0.3	90	22	16	6	2
20 - 40	3.6	14.6	13	20.3	4.2	2.0	03	18	22	18	6	0

Table 4. Soil analyses results on September 2017.

P, K⁺, Fe²⁺, Zn²⁺, Mn²⁺, Cu²⁺—Mehlich extractor. Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Al³⁺—1 mol L⁻¹ KCl extractor. H⁺ + Al³⁺—SMP extractor. B—hot water extractor. S—monocalcium phosphate in acetic acid extractor. B5 = exchangeable bases sum. ECEC = effective cation exchange capacity. CEC = cation exchange capacity at pH 7.0. V = base saturation. m = aluminum saturation. P-rem = remaining phosphorus. OM = organic matter (oxidation with Na₂Cr₂O₇ 0.57 mol L⁻¹ + H₂SO₄ 5 mol L⁻¹).

4.2. Experimental Design

The experimental design was in randomized blocks, with four blocks disposed at 90 degrees with the slope of the area. The treatments were composed of blends of KCl and K_2SO_4 (both in terms of K_2O) as follows: T1—100% as KCl; T2—75% as KCl + 25% as K_2SO_4 ; T3—50% as KCl + 50% as K_2SO_4 ; T4 –25% as KCl + 75% as K_2SO_4 ; T5: 100% as K_2SO_4 ; and a control without K_2O application. Each plot was composed of three planting lines with 16 plants, and the 10 central plants were considered a useful area (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Schematic representation of the experimental design, number of plants in each plot, and the useful area used to collect the data.

4.3. Experiment Conducting

4.3.1. Liming, Fertilization, and Gypsum Application

After the coffee harvest of each studied year, soil samples from the 0–10 cm, 0–20 cm, and 20–40 cm layers were collected to evaluate the needs for liming, fertilization, and gypsum application, respectively [17]. Liming was applied at 1.0 t ha⁻¹, 1.2 t ha⁻¹, and 1.5 t ha⁻¹ on the first, second, and third harvest years, respectively. Gypsum was applied at 1.1 t ha⁻¹ and 2.0 t ha⁻¹ in the second and third years, respectively. Both dolomite lime and gypsum were applied underneath the projection of the tree canopies. P was applied at 120, 90, and 90 kg ha⁻¹ of P₂O₅ as triple superphosphate on each consecutive year. N was applied at 350, 350, and 400 kg ha⁻¹ of N as ammonium nitrate on each consecutive year, divided into three applications.

4.3.2. Potassium Fertilization

Before the experiment, the saline index of each blend of K fertilizer was determined by comparing a 10 g L⁻¹ sodium nitrate solution with solutions prepared with the blends of KCl e K₂SO₄ at the same concentration (Jackson 1958). The electric conductivity of the solutions and the saline index were calculated according to the equation: SI = [((ECa))/((ECb))] × 100, where SI is the saline index, ECa is the electric conductivity of the sample, and ECb is the electric conductivity of the sodium nitrate solution. The SI found were 142, 130, 121, 112, and 104%, for T1, T2, T3, T4, and T5, respectively.

The maintenance fertilization was done according to Guimarães et al. [36] using the abovementioned blends. The doses of K_2O applied were 150, 200, and 300 kg ha⁻¹ for the respective agricultural years of 2017/2018, 2018/2019, and 2019/2020. All K fertilizations were divided into three applications.

4.3.3. Agronomic Variables Assessed on the Three Harvests

K and Cl content in the leaves

The third and fourth pair of leaves on both sides of the plants were collected from the useful area 20 days after the second application of the cover fertilization. The leaves were washed in deionized water, dried at 65 °C, and grounded in a Willey mill. The plant material was digested in a solution of nitric-perchloric acid (4 parts of nitric acid to 1 part of perchloric acid), and K was determined with inductively coupled plasma (ICP). To determine Cl, 1 g of grounded material was added to 50 mL of ultrapure water under agitation for 15 min [37]. After filtering the extract, the content of Cl (mg kg⁻¹) was determined with a selective electrode (Hanna[®], model HI4107) coupled to a Hanna[®] device, model HI2221. The determination curve was built using the concentrations of 2, 20, 200, and 1000 mg L⁻¹ of Cl.

Yield

The harvests were done when more than 70% of the fruits were mature. For the chemical analyses, 4 L of beans at the cherry stage were collected two days before each harvest. Fruits were peeled with an electric peeler (Pinhalense[®], model DPM-02) and submerged for 24 h to remove the mucilage. After removing the peels and the rotten beans, samples were air-dried until a 10.8% to 11.2% moisture level.

The yield was determined by harvesting all fruits in the useful area. After the harvest, 5 L of a mix of fruits in every stage of maturation were air-dried under sunlight for one day. When the samples reached around 12% of moisture, beans were peeled and weighted. The moisture level was then adjusted to 12%, which is considered adequate for commercialization. To estimate yield, the weight of the beans in the useful area was projected to the number of plants in one hectare (4524 plants).

K and Cl content and removal in the beans

K and Cl contents in the beans were determined at the cherry stage after air-drying (65 °C, until constant weight) and grounding the beans in a Willey mill. K content was determined after nitric-perchloric digestion with measures done by ICP. Cl content followed the same procedures to quantify Cl in the leaves. The amounts of these elements removed from the soil were obtained by multiplying their content in the beans by the yield on each treatment.

Stocks of Cl in the soil

Stocks of Cl in the 0–20 and 20–80 cm layers of soil were checked during the experiment. Six soil samples were taken from the soil underneath the projection of the tree canopies (three from each side of the parcel). Extraction and determination of Cl followed the same procedure described for leaf Cl content, but with the proportion of 10 g of soil to 50 mL of ultrapure water. The stocks were determined by multiplying the element concentration by the mass of soil in each layer.

The analytical standard Tomato leaves (NIST 1573A), with 0.66% of Cl, was used in both soil and plant material analysis. The mean recovery of Cl was higher than 92%, assuring that the extraction and determination used for Cl were effective for both soil and plant material.

Chemical analysis of the beans and coffee sensorial analysis

After benefiting the coffee samples, the beans were stored in paper bags in a cold chamber until the chemical and sensorial analyses. The chemical analyses were performed at the Laboratory of Coffee Quality Analysis in the Empresa de Pesquisa Agropecuária de Minas Gerais (EPAMIG). Potassium leaching (KL, in μ g g⁻¹) was determined after 5 h of soaking [29], and electric conductivity (EC, in μ S cm⁻¹ g⁻¹) was determined according to Loeffler et al. [38]. The total titratable acidity (TTA, m mL NaOH 0.1 N 100 g⁻¹) was done according to Carvalho et al. [32] in the adaptation of the methodology from the Association of Official Analytical Chemists [39]. The content of total sugars (TS, in %) followed the anthrone method [40]. The activity of the polyphenol oxidase enzyme (PPO, in u min⁻¹ g⁻¹) was determined according to Goldstein and Swain [41] and determined by the Folin-Denis method, described by AOAC [39]. Caffeine content (Caf, in %) was determined by spectrophotometry at 273 nm [42]. The coffee beans were frozen in liquid nitrogen and grounded in an IKA mill for the analyses, except for the KL and EC determinations.

The sensorial analysis (cup quality) was performed at the Laboratory of Agricultural Products Processing in the Universidade Federal de Lavras following the Specialty Coffee Association of America (SCAA) protocol. Three professionals with skills to differentiate fragrances, characteristics, and flavors participated in the cup test. The evaluation was based on scores given to the following attributes: fragrance/aroma, uniformity, clean cup, sweetness, flavor, acidity, body, aftertaste, balance, defects, and overall. The coffees were classified as the SCAA [43] according to their final scores (Table 5).

Final Score	Special Description	Classification
95–100	Outstanding	Super premium specialty
94–90	Excepcional	Premium specialty
85–89	Excellent	Specialty
84-80	Very good	Specialty
75–79	Good	Good quality-normal
74–70	Weak	Medium quality

Table 5. Coffee beverage classification according to the cup quality.

Source: Specialty Coffee Association of America (SCAA) (2009).

Statistical analyses

After model validation and analysis of variance indicating differences among treatments (p < 0.05), the response variables were submitted to Tukey's test (p < 0.05) on the R 3.3.1 environment [44]. Principal component analyses (PCA) were performed to correlate the agronomic variables with the coffee beverage variables and yield. In the PCA, two components (Dim1 and Dim2) were used to represent the total data variability. The package Facto MineR (version 1.42) was used in the R software.

5. Conclusions

The activity of the polyphenol oxidase enzyme and the cup quality indicate that the ion Cl- reduces the quality of the coffee beverage. The increased application of the Cl-ion increases KL, EC, and TTA, indicators of the loss of coffee quality. K content in the leaves was not influenced by the application of blends of K fertilizer while Cl content increased linearly with KCl applied. The application of KCl and K₂SO₄ blends influenced coffee yield and the optimum proportion was 25% of KCl and 75% of K₂SO₄. The highest score in the cup quality test was observed with 100% K₂SO₄. However, other blends

showed close scores. The decision for the fertilizer should consider the cost of the K source. KL and EC can indirectly show that the Cl can damage the coffee beans and reduce the selective permeability of the cell membrane, with possible negative consequences to the coffee beverage.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/plants12040885/s1, Table S1. Variables analyzed in the coffee beans for the harvest of 2017/2018; Figure S1. Stocks of Cl in the 0-20 and 20-80 cm layers after application of KCl and K_2SO_4 blends as cover fertilization on coffee plants. Harvest of 2017/2018. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O; Figure S2. K and Cl content in the leaves of coffee plants, 20 days after application of the second cover fertilization parcel. Harvest of 2017/2018. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O; Figure S3. Yield of coffee plants and Cl content in the beans at cherry stage (A) and K and Cl removal by the beans (B) after application of blends of KCl e K_2SO_4 as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2017/2018. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% $KCl + 75\% K_2SO_4$; T5: 100% K_2SO_4 ; control did not receive K_2O ; Figure S4. Potassium leaching in coffee beans at stage of cherry after application of blends of KCl e K_2SO_4 as cover fertilization. Harvest of 2017/2018. Means followed by the same letter in the column do not differ according to Tukey's test (p < 0.05). Vertical bars indicate the standard error of the mean (n = 4). T1: 100% KCl; T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄; T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄; T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄; T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O; Figure S5. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2017/2018. PPO = activity of the enzyme polyphenol oxidase; KL = K leaching; TTA = total titratable acidity; EC = electric conductivity; Pol = total phenolic compounds; Caf = content of caffeine; TS = content of total sugars; K in the soil 20 = stock of K in the 0-20 cm layer; K in the soil 80 = stock of K in the 20-80 cm layer; Cl in the soil 20 = stock of Cl in the 0-20 cm layer; Cl in the soil 80 = stock of Cl in the 20-80 cm layer, K rem. by beans: K removal by the beans, Cl rem. by beans: Cl removal by the beans. T1: 100% KCl, T2: 75% KCl + 25% K₂SO₄, T3: 50% KCl + 50% K₂SO₄, T4: 25% KCl + 75% K₂SO₄, T5: 100% K₂SO₄; control did not receive K₂O. Figure S6. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2018/2019 considering agronomic data. Figure S7. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2019/2020 considering agronomic data. Figure S8. Principal component analysis for the harvest of 2017/2018.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, D.G., T.H.P.R., T.R.d.S., V.R.B. and C.S.; methodology, D.G. and C.S.; software, M.G.M.G.; validation, D.G., C.S., M.R.M. and D.P.O.; formal analysis, M.G.M.G. and C.S.; investigation, C.S., T.L.d.S., W.F.T.C., M.E.A.d.M., A.D.C.L. and L.B.d.A.; resources, D.G.; data curation, C.S., M.R.M., F.M.B., A.A.A.P., H.E.P.M.; writing—original draft preparation, C.S., D.G., T.H.P.R. and T.R.d.S.; writing—review and editing, D.G., C.S., D.P.O., M.R.M., A.A.A.P. and H.E.P.M.; visualization, C.S. and D.G.; supervision, D.G.; project administration, D.G.; funding acquisition, D.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Yara International, National Council for Scientific Development and Technology (Process: 310572/2020-7), the Agency for Improvement of Higher-Level Personnel and Minas Gerais Research Foundation.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the Agency for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel, the National Council for Scientific Development and Technology, and the Foundation for Research Support of Minas Gerais.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. EMBRAPA Faturamento Das Lavouras Dos Cafés Do Brasil Totaliza R\$ 62 Bilhões Em. 2022. Available online: https://www.embrapa.br/busca-de-noticias/-/noticia/73860835/faturamento-das-lavouras-dos-cafes-do-brasil-totaliza-
- r-62-bilhoes-em-2022#:~:text=Faturamento das lavouras dos Cafés,bilhões em 2022-Portal Embrapa (accessed on 15 January 2023).
 Fridell, G. Fair Trade Slippages and Vietnam Gaps: The Ideological Fantasies of Fair Trade Coffee. *Third World Q* 2014, 35, 1179–1194. [CrossRef]
- 3. Murthy, P.S.; Madhava Naidu, M. Sustainable Management of Coffee Industry By-Products and Value Addition—A Review. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* 2012, *66*, 45–58. [CrossRef]
- Simões, R.O.; Faroni, L.R.D.; Queiroz, D.M. Qualidade Dos Grãos de Café (*Coffea arabica* L.) Em Coco Processados Por via Seca. *Rev. Caatinga* 2008, 21, 139–146. (In Portuguese)
- 5. Toci, A.T.; Farah, A. Volatile Fingerprint of Brazilian Defective Coffee Seeds: Corroboration of Potential Marker Compounds and Identification of New Low Quality Indicators. *Food Chem.* **2014**, *153*, 298–314. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Martinez, H.E.P.; Clemente, J.M.; De Lacerda, J.S.; Neves, Y.P.; Pedrosa, A.W. Nutrição Mineral Do Cafeeiro e Qualidade Da Bebida. *Rev. Ceres* 2014, *61*, 838–848. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, X.; Guo, D.; Blennow, A.; Zörb, C. Mineral Nutrients and Crop Starch Quality. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 2021, 114, 148–157. [CrossRef]
- Ernani, P.R.; Almeida, J.A.; Santos, F.C. Potássio. In *Fertilidade do solo*; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2007; Volume 114, pp. 551–594. (In Portuguese)
- 9. Malavolta, E. Manual de Nutrição Mineral de Plantas; Agronômica Ceres: São Paulo, Brazil, 2006. (In Portuguese)
- Koch, M.; Naumann, M.; Pawelzik, E. Cracking and Fracture Properties of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Tubers and Their Relation to Dry Matter, Starch, and Mineral Distribution. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2019, 99, 3149–3156. [CrossRef]
- 11. Dechen, A.R.; Nachtigall, G.R.; Carmello, Q.A.C.; Santos, L.A.; Sperandio, M.V. Micronutrientes. In *Nutrição Mineral de Plantas*; Sociedade Brasileira de Ciência do Solo: Viçosa, Brazil, 2018; Volume 17, pp. 528–531. (In portuguese)
- 12. Geilfus, C.M. Review on the Significance of Chlorine for Crop Yield and Quality. Plant Sci. 2018, 270, 114–122. [CrossRef]
- Leite, I.P.; de Carvalho, V.D. Influência Do Local de Cultivo e Do Tipo de Colheita Nas Características Físicas, Composição Química Do Grão e Qualidade Do Café. Pesqui. Agropecuária Bras. 1994, 29, 299–308.
- 14. Gouny, P. Observaciones Sobre El Comportamiento Del Vegetal En Presencia de Ions de Cloro. *Rev. la Potassa.* **1973**, 45, 1–14. (In Espanhol)
- 15. Dias, K.G.D.L.; Guimarães, P.T.G.; do Carmo, D.L.; Reis, T.H.P.; Lacerda, J.J.D.J. Alternative Sources of Potassium in Coffee Plants for Better Soil Fertility, Productivity, and Beverage Quality. *Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras.* **2018**, *53*, 1355–1362. [CrossRef]
- Silva, E.D.B.; Nogueira, F.D.; Gumares, P.T.G.; Chagas, S.J.D.R.; Costa, L. Fontes E Doses De Potássio Na Produção E Qualidade Do Grão De Café Beneficiado (Sources and Doses of Potassium on the Yield and Quality of Green Coffee). *Pesq. Agropec. Bras* 1999, 34, 335–345. [CrossRef]
- Ribeiro, A.C.; Guimarães, P.T.G.; Alvarez, V.V.H. Recommendations for the Use of Soil Amendments and Fertilizers in Minas Gerais: 5th Estimate; Ribeiro, A.C., Guimarães, P.T.G., Alvarez, V.V.H., Eds.; Comissão de Fertilidade do Solo do Estado de Minas Gerais: Viçosa, Brazil, 1999. (In Portuguese)
- Borggaard, O.K. Influence of Iron Oxides on the Non-specific Anion (Chloride) Adsorption by Soil. J. Soil Sci. 1984, 35, 71–78. [CrossRef]
- 19. Clemente, J.M.; Martinez, H.E.P.; Alves, L.C.; Finger, F.L.; Cecon, P.R. Effects of Nitrogen and Potassium on the Chemical Composition of Coffee Beans and on Beverage Quality. *Acta Sci. Agron.* **2015**, *37*, 297–305. [CrossRef]
- Martinez, H.E.P.; Menezes, J.F.S.; Souza, R.B.; Alvarez, V.V.H.; Guimarães, P.T.G. Critical Nutrient Ranges and Evaluation of Nutritional Status in Coffee-Tree Plantations of Minas Gerais. *Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras.* 2003, 38, 703–713. [CrossRef]
- 21. Geilfus, C.M.; Mühling, K.H. Microscopic and Macroscopic Monitoring of Adaxial-Abaxial PH Gradients in the Leaf Apoplast of Vicia Faba L. as Primed by NaCl Stress at the Roots. *Plant Sci.* **2014**, *223*, 109–115. [CrossRef]
- 22. Marschner, R.A. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants.; Academic Press: London, UK, 1995.
- Marenco, R.A.; Lopes, N.F. Fisiologia Vegetal: Fotossíntese, Respiração, Relações Hídricas e Nutrição Mineral; UFV Editor: Viçosa, Brazil, 2009. (In Portuguese)
- Magen, H. Potassium Chloride in Fertigation. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Water, Tel Aviv, Israel, 13–16 May 1996; ICL Fertil: Tel-Aviv, Israel, 1996.
- Mancuso, M.A.C.; Soratto, R.P.; Cusciol, C.A.C.; Castro, G.S.A. Effect of Potassium Sources and Rates on Arabica Coffee Yield, Nutrition and Macronutrient Export. *Rev. Bras. De Ciência Do Solo* 2014, *38*, 1448–1456. [CrossRef]
- 26. de Moraes, F.R.P.; Catani, R.A. A Absorção de Elementos Minerais Pelo Fruto Do Cafeeiro Durante Sua Formação. *Bragantia* **1964**, 23, 331–336. [CrossRef]
- Pimenta, C.J.; De Resende Chagas, S.J.; Costa, L. Polifenoloxidase, Lixiviação de Potássio e Qualidade de Bebida Do Café Colhido Em Quatro Estádios de Maturação. *Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras.* 1997, 32, 171–177.
- Goulart, P.F.P.; Alves, J.D.; Castro, E.M.; Magalhães, F.D.D.; Magalhães, M.M.; Melo, H.C. Aspectos Histoquímicos e Morfológicos de Grãos de Café de Diferentes Qualidades. *Ciência Rural.* 2007, 37, 662–666. [CrossRef]
- Prete, C.E.C. Condutividade Elétrica Do Exsudato de Grãos de Café (Coffea arabica L.) e Sua Relação Com a Qualidade Da Bebida; Escola Superior de Agricultura Luiz de Queiroz: São Paulo, Brazil, 1992. (In Portuguese)

- Amorim, H.V. Aspectos Bioquímicos e Histoquímicos Do Grão Do Café Verde Relacionados Com a Deterioração de Qualidade; Escola Superior de Agricultura Luiz de Queiroz: São Paulo, Brazil, 1978. (In Portuguese)
- 31. Reinato, C.H.R. Influência Da Secagem, Em Diferentes Tipos de Terreiro, Sobre a Qualidade Do Café Ao Longo Do Armazenamento. *Coffee Sci.* 2007, 2, 48–60. (In Portuguese)
- de Carvalho, V.D.; de Rezende, S.J.; Chalfoun, S.M.; Botrel, N.; Junior, E.S.G.J. Relação Entre a Composição Físico-Química e Química Do Grão Beneficiado e a Qualidade de Bebida Do Café. *Pesqui. Agropecuária Bras.* 1994, 29, 449–454.
- Silva, E.B.; Nogueira, F.D.; Guimarães, P.T.G. Qualidade Dos Grãos de Café Em Função de Doses de Potássio. Acta Sci. Agron. 2002, 24, 1291–1297. (In Portuguese) [CrossRef]
- 34. Robinson, D.S.; Eskin, N.A.M. Oxidative Enzymes in Foods; Elsevier Applied Science: New York, NY, USA, 1991.
- Santos, H.G.; Lumbreras, J.F.; Coelho, M.R.; Araujo Filho, J.C. Sistema Brasileiro de Classificação de Solos; Embrapa: Brasília, Brazil, 2013. (In Portuguese)
- Guimarães, P.T.G.; Garcia, A.W.R.; Alvarez V, V.H.; Prezotti, L.C.; Viana, A.S.; Miguel, A.E.; Malavolta, E.; Corrêa, J.B.; Lopes, A.S.; Nogueira, F.D.; et al. Recomendações Para o Uso de Corretivos e Fertilizantes Em Minas Gerais, 5^a Aproximação. In *Recomendações Para o Uso de Corretivos e Fertilizantes em Minas Gerais, 5^a Aproximação*; Estado de Minas Gerais—CFSEMG: Viçosa, Brazil, 1999; Volume 32, pp. 289–302.
- Malavolta, E.; Vitti, G.C.; Oliveira, S.A. Avaliação Do Estado Nutricional de Plantas: Princípios e Aplicações; Potafos: Piracicaba, Brazil, 1997. (In Portuguese)
- Loeffler, T.M.; Tekrony, D.M.; Egli, B.D. The Bulk Conductivity Test as Na Indicator of Soybean Quality. Seed Tecnol. 1988, 12, 37–53.
- AOAC. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International; EUA: Washington, DC, USA, 1999.
- 40. Dische, Z. Carbohydrate Chemistry. In General Color Reactions; Academic Press: New York, NY, USA, 1962; pp. 477-512.
- 41. Goldstein, L.J.; Swain, T. Changes in Tannins. Phytochemistry 1963, 2, 371–383. [CrossRef]
- 42. Li, S.; Berger, J.; Hartland, S. UV Spectrophotometric Determination of Theobromine and Caffeine in Cocoa Beans. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **1990**, 232, 409–412. [CrossRef]
- 43. SCAA. Cupping Specialty Coffee Protocols; Specialty Coffee Association of America: Chelmsford, UK, 2009.
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2018.

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland www.mdpi.com

Plants Editorial Office E-mail: plants@mdpi.com www.mdpi.com/journal/plants



Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.





Academic Open Access Publishing

mdpi.com

ISBN 978-3-0365-9583-2